
Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         August 3, 2020 
Revised 8/1/2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 1 
 
 

RUSSELL COUNTY 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISOR’S MEETING 
 

AGENDA – AUGUST 3, 2020 
 

BOS Board Room                Regular Meeting               5:00 PM 
 

Russell County Governmental Center 
Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

 

 
 

 
The Russell County Board of Supervisors Meetings will be held pursuant to the Russell County Emergency Ordinance of April 
6, 2020 to allow for the Continuity of Government Operations During the Pandemic, including Altering the Process for Conducting Public 
Meetings; Restricting the Use of Public Buildings or Facilities; Providing Additional Powers to the Director of Emergency Management to 
Incur Costs, Waive Procedures, and Take Other Temporary Actions; and Suspending Deadlines and Procedures.  
 
 
CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL – Clerk of the Board 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION (CLOSED) – Legal Matters  
(SCHEDULED ONE HOUR BEFORE REGULAR BOS MEETING - - REGULAR BOS MEETING BEGINS AT 6 P.M.) 
 
INVOCATION – Chairperson  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

1.  Approval of Minutes.  Consider approval of the minutes of the  
 following meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors………………A-1 

 
a. Unapproved minutes of July 6, 2020 
b. Unapproved minutes of July 8, 2020 

 
2. Approval of Expenditures. Consider approval of expenditures                                         

presented for payment….……………………….……………………………….…….A-2 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         August 3, 2020 
Revised 8/1/2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 2 
 
 

3. Committee Appointments for Board Consideration. 
 

RC Industrial Development Authority 
 

David Mullins                    Four-Year Term         August 1, 2020 
 

 Community Policy Management Team 
 
 Patrick Brunty  Three-Year Term    August 7, 2020 
 Joni Lester   Three-Year Term    August 7, 2020 
    
 SWVA Community Correctional Criminal Justice Board 
 
 Doug Howard  Two-Year Term    June 2020 
 
CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD 
 
CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
   

1. RC PSA Consolidation, Financial, & Support Agreements………………………B-1 
 

2. RC PSA Glade Hollow Water Project………………………………………………...B-2 
 

3. RC IDA Tobacco Commission Grant………………………………………………...B-3 
 

4. Continuity of Government Operations………………………………………………B-4 
 

5. Personnel Policy…………………………………………………………………………B-5 
 

6. RC Courthouse Design-Build RFP……………………………………………………B-6 
 

7. Courthouse Security Ordinance Public Hearing…………………………………..B-7 
 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS AND REQUESTS 

 
REPORTS 
 
1. LEMPG Grant FY 2020………..…………………………………………………………C-1 

 
2. Cumberland Mountain Community Services FY 2021 Contract…………………C-2 

 
3. Honaker & Castlewood Canneries……………………………………………………C-3 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         August 3, 2020 
Revised 8/1/2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 3 
 
 

4. RC GIS System Upgrade,,……………………………………………………………...C-4 
 

5. RC Fitness Center……………………………………………………………………….C-5 
 

REQUESTS 
  

6. Federal CARES Relief Fund Certification.…………………………………….…….C-6 
 

7. VDOT Smart Scale Resolutions for Rte. 19 & Rte. 58 Projects…..……………...C-7 
 

8. VTC WanderLOVE Marketing Grant ($10,000)…………………..………………….C-8 
 

9. DHCD Town of Cleveland Sewer Plant PER Contract…………………………….C-9 
 

10. LEMPG Grant FY 2021 ($7,500)……..………………………………………………...C-10 
 

11. VFIRS Hardware Grant ($86,763)……………………………………………………..C-11 
 

12. Oak Grove Community Facility Addition……………………………………………C-12 
 

13. DCJS School Resource Officer Grant ($57,287)…………………………………...C-13  
 

14. Highway Abundant Life Church Pump and Haul Septic System………………..C-14 
 

15. Travel Request……………………………………………………………………………C-15 
 

MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE BOARD 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
COUNTY AGENCY / BOARD REPORTS: 
        

• Treasurer’s Report ………………………………………………………………………D 
• RC IDA …………………………………………………………………………………….E 
• RC PSA …………………………………………………………………………………... F 
• RC Tourism……………………………………………………………………………….G 
• RC Planning Commission ……………………………………………………………..H 
• Conference Center………………………………………………………………………I 
• RC Fitness Center……………………………………………………………………….J 
• RC Transportation & Safety…………………………………………………………...K 
• RC Cannery Reports…………………………………………………………………….L 
• RC Building Inspector…………………………………………………………………..M 
• RC Litter Report………………………………………………………………………….N 
• CPWMA Report…………………………………………………………………………..O   



CLOSED SESSION 
 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by the 
Board of Supervisors enter into closed session to discuss Legal Matters pursuant to 
Section 2.2-3711(A) (6) & (8) Discussion concerning public investment and proposed 
Tobacco Commission Grant and Revenue Sharing Agreement; and (8) Consultation of 
legal counsel concerning merger of the RC Public Service Authorities.  

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     

CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED SESSION 
 
Pursuant to §2.2-3712 (D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended, each member of the 
Board of Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (i) only 
public business matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were 
identified in the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was convened were heard, 
discussed or considered in the meeting by the Board of Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the 
substance of the departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 

Are there any Supervisors who believe a departure has taken place? 

Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, discussed or considered during the 
closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was 
convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace - 

Lou Ann Wallace - 

Carl Rhea - 

Steve Breeding - 

David Eaton - 

Rebecca Dye - 

Oris Christian - 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by 
the Board of Supervisors to return to regular session. 

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     



 
     Board of Supervisors                       Action Item A-1 

137 Highland Drive  Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

       Meeting: 8/3/20       6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Minutes  

Request approval of the minutes from the following meeting: 

• Unapproved minutes of July 6, 2020 
• Unapproved minutes of July 8, 2020 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board discretion 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve Board Minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Board Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



July 06, 2020 

The regular monthly meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Monday, July 06, 
2020 at 5:00 pm beginning with Executive (closed) Session followed by the regular meeting at 6:00 pm 
at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

The Clerk called the meeting to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 

Tim Lovelace 
Lou Wallace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Oris Christian 
 
Lonzo Lester, Clerk 
Vick Porter, Deputy Clerk 
Katie Patton, County Attorney 
 
 
Absent: 
None 

EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
enter into Executive (closed) Session pursuant to Section 2.2-3712(5) of the Code of Virginia to discuss 
legal matters pursuant to 2.2-3711(A), (1), (7) and (8). 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

 
 
 
 



CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Pursuant to § 2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (I) only public business 
matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were identified in the motion(s) by which 
the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed or considered in the meeting by the Board of 
Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (I) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the 
departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 
 
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place?  Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, 
discussed or considered during the closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the 
closed meeting was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace – AYE 
Lou Wallace – AYE 
Carl Rhea – AYE 
David Eaton – AYE 
Rebecca Dye - AYE 
Steve Breeding – AYE 
Oris Christian - AYE 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

Motion made by Lou Wallace, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the agenda as amended. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 01, 2020 MINUTES 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Oris Christian and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the June 01, 2020 minutes and dispense with reading thereof. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Oris Christian, Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea and Rebecca Dye  
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 17, 2020 MINUTES 
 

Motion made by Carl Rhea, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the June 17, 2020 minutes and dispense with reading thereof. 
 
The vote was: 



Aye:  Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF GENERAL COUNTY INVOICES 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve general county invoices in the amount of $1,124,077.70, including reoccurring and 
withholdings. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  Nay 
 
Citizens Comment 
 
The Chair opened citizens comment period. 
 
Michelle Vance, Lebanon stated that the BOS needs to be more transparent and respectful of the 
citizens of the County.   
 
Shawn Vance, Lebanon commented that he is concerned about the monument located in the Town of 
Lebanon. He feels that no one has the right to remove it since it is owned by the taxpayers. 
 
Larry Hughes, Lebanon thinks “our nation is in dismay” and worries about future generations.  He voiced 
his opinion about the protests that have been happening near our community and the push to take 
down confederate statues and monuments.   
 
The Chair closed citizens comment. 
 
County Attorney Reports and Requests 
 
 

APPROVAL OF A VRA RESOLUTION FOR THE RUSSELL COUNTY PSA FINANCING AND SUPPORT 
AGREEMENTS 

 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a VRA resolution for The Russell County Public Service Authority Financing and Support 
Agreement and authorize the Chairperson to sign. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF A VRA RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE RUSSELL COUNTY PSA AND THE SUPPORT 
AGREEMENT FOR THE GLADE HOLLOW PROJECT 

Motion made by Carl Rhea, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a VRA resolution concerning The Russell County Public Service Authority Financing and Support 
Agreement for the Glade Hollow Project and authorize the Chair to sign. 



 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO REFLECT A NAME CHANGE TO AN IDA LOAN AND MORAL 
OBLIGATION  

 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve an amendment changing the name from Polycap to Greenfield ICI Holdings for an IDA loan and 
moral obligation. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
County Administrator Reports and Requests 
 
APPROVAL OF A MERCHANT CREDIT CARD ACCOUNT FOR THE RUSSELL COUNTY TREASURER’S OFFICE 

 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a merchant credit card account as requested by the Treasurer of Russell County. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Tim Lovelace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
   

APPROVAL OF A VICTIM WITNESS GRANT FROM DCJS 
 

Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a Victim Witness Grant from DCJS in the amount of $70,000. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
The Chair appointed Tim Lovelace and Rebecca Dye to the CARES oversight committee. 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF DONNIE RAMEY’S RESIGNATION FROM THE CMCSB 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
accept the resignation of Donnie Ramey from the Cumberland Mountain Community Services Board 
effective immediately. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 



 
MICHELLE VANCE APPOINTED TO THE CMCSB 

 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
appoint Michelle Vance to the Cumberland Mountain Community Services Board to fill the unexpired 
term of Donnie Ramey, said term expires December 31, 2022. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF A PLAT FOR SAMUEL AND PATRICIA LAMBERT 
 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a plat for Samuel and Patricia Lambert as requested by the Russell County Planning 
Commission. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
Abstain:  Lou Wallace 
 

APPROVAL TO ADJOURN TO RECONVENE ON WEDNESDAY, JULY 08, 2020 AT 8:00 AM 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Oris Christian and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn to reconvene on Wednesday, July 08, 2020 at 8:00 am. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Oris Christian, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and David Eaton 
Nay:  None 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________                                       ________________________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                                                                  Chairperson 



July 08, 2020 

A reconvened meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Wednesday, July 08, 2020 
at 8:00 am in the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia.  Board members present 
traveled to Gaps Mill and Caldwell West Virginia.             

The Clerk called the meeting back to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 
 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Oris Christian 
 
Absent: 
 
Lou Wallace 
Tim Lovelace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
 
The Board toured and discussed businesses in Gaps Mill, West Virginia and Caldwell, West Virginia. 

No further business was conducted and the Chairperson adjourned the meeting. 

 

 

 

____________________________________                                     ______________________________ 

Clerk of the Board                                                                                     Chairperson 



 
                                                      Board of Supervisors                         Action Item A-2 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

       Meeting: 8/3/20      6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Expenditures 

Request approval of the County’s July 2020 Monthly Expenditures: 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):  
County’s July 2020 Monthly Expenditures are in compliance with budget and operational services. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve County’s July 2020 Monthly Expenditures. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• July 2020 Monthly Expenditures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 























 
Board of Supervisors      Action Item 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson  
Lebanon, VA 24266 

        Meeting: 8/3/20        6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

Board Appointments 
Committee Appointments for Board Consideration. 

 
RC Industrial Development Authority 

 
David Mullins            Four-Year Term            August 1, 2020 
 

 Community Policy Management Team 
 
 Patrick Brunty Three-Year Term    August 7, 2020 
 Joni Lester  Three-Year Term    August 7, 2020 
    
 SWVA Community Correctional Criminal Justice Board 
 
 Doug Howard  Two-Year Term    June 2020 
 

Staff Recommendation:  
 

Board Discretion. 

















                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
    Board of Supervisors   Action Item 

137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Attorney 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

         Meeting: 8/3/20        6:00 PM 
 

 
County Attorney Reports 

 
 

1. RC PSA Consolidation, Financial, & Support Agreements………………………B-1 
 

2. RC PSA Glade Hollow Water Project………………………………………………...B-2 
 

3. RC IDA Tobacco Commission Grant………………………………………………...B-3 
 

4. Continuity of Government Operations………………………………………………B-4 
 

5. Personnel Policy…………………………………………………………………………B-5 
 

6. RC Courthouse Design-Build RFP……………………………………………………B-6 
 

7. Courthouse Security Ordinance Public Hearing…………………………………..B-7 
 

 
Staff Recommendation: 

 
Board Discretion. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
Motion Required.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
• Various 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



From: Carter R. Brothers
To: Katie Patton; Rhonda Lester; Hughes, Darlene - RD, Richmond, VA; Megan Martz Gilliland

(mmgilliland@kaufcan.com); Shawn B. Crumlish
Cc: Rita Baker; lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us; Andrea Pearson; Hilt, Robert - RD, Lebanon, VA
Subject: Draft Resolutions for consolidation project and Glade Hollow/Glade Hill [STB-WORKSITE.FID913284]
Date: Wednesday, July 15, 2020 6:06:56 PM
Attachments: Authorizing Resolution (Castlewood facilities bond assumption).DOC

RCPSA_C-515284-02_Pmt Schedule.PDF
Russell County PSA - Wastewater Financing Assumption Agreement (6 27 20).DOC
Authorizing Resolution (drinking water master financing agreement).DOC
RCPSA__WSL-RC-02 Pmt Schedule.PDF
RCPSA_WSL-RC-01 0%.PDF
Russell County PSA Drinking Water Master Financing Agreement (all existing drinking water loans 6 27 20).DOC
Authorizing Resolution (Glade Hollow_Glade Hill project).DOC
Russell County PSA_Drinking Water Financing Agreement (WSL-020-18)_1....DOC

Everyone,
 
I have attached:
 

1.      Draft authorizing resolution for the assumption of The Castlewood WSA's bond
financed by VRA, as Administrator of the Water Facilities Revolving Fund and to
authorize new bond for remaining principal amount under the Financing Assumption
Agreement

2.      Current repayment schedule for this new VRA bond
3.      Current version of the Financing Assumption Agreement
4.      Draft authorizing resolution for the assumption of the remaining Castlewood WSA

bonds (RD and VRA) and County bonds (RD and VRA) and the restatement of the
existing PSA VRA bonds (two new bonds will be issued replacing the VRA (Water
Supply) bonds under the Master Financing Agreement; the RD bonds will just be
assumed--Darlene, let me know what else might be required.

5.      Current repayment schedules for the two new VRA bonds under the Master
Financing Agreement.

6.      Current version of the Master Financing Agreement
7.      Draft authorizing resolution for the Glade Hollow/Glade Hill project
8.      Current version of the Glade Hollow financing agreement

 
Megan and I have worked up the authorizing resolutions so that the consolidation pieces in
theory happen immediately before the new Glade Hollow\Glade Hill financing closes. When
the dust settles, the outstanding obligations of the PSA will be the 3 County RD bonds now
assumed by the PSA, the 3 Castlewood RD bonds now assumed by the PSA, the three
"new" consolidation bonds, and the Glade Hollow/Glade Hill bond.
 
I hope to circulate draft opinions tomorrow.
 
Timing is getting tight if the PSA wants to adopt the resolutions at its Tuesday, July 21st

meeting so please get me comments as quickly as you can. 
 
Thanks,
Carter
 
Carter R. Brothers
Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC
Member

mailto:CBrothers@spilmanlaw.com
mailto:kpatton@chafinlaw.com
mailto:rcpsa@bvu.net
mailto:darlene.hughes@usda.gov
mailto:mmgilliland@kaufcan.com
mailto:mmgilliland@kaufcan.com
mailto:SCrumlish@VirginiaResources.org
mailto:rbaker@t-l.com
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
mailto:APearson@VirginiaResources.org
mailto:robert.hilt@usda.gov

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BOND OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $23,173.29 AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATED ACTIONS

The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”) is a public body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”).

The Authority is authorized to acquire, construct, operate and maintain a water and sewer system in certain areas of Russell County and to borrow money and to issue its revenue bonds to pay all or part of the cost of such system.

The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project), previously issued and sold to the Virginia Services Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund, in consideration of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s  transfer and conveyance to the Authority of the  facilities financed by such debt, and to issue, as evidence of the assumption of such debt, a water and sewer revenue bond of the Authority in a maximum principal amount of $23,173.29. 


The Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund, has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project) and the purchase of the Authority’s revenue bond upon certain terms and conditions, and the Authority, after mature consideration of the condition of the municipal bond market and other methods of selling its bonds, has determined to satisfy such terms and conditions and award the bond to the VRA.


BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY:


ARTICLE I


Definitions

Section 1.1.
Definitions.  Whenever used in this resolution, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:


“Act” means the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended).


“Authority” means The Russell County Public Service Authority, a public body politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, and by a certificate of incorporation issued by the State Corporation Commission of Virginia on April 4, 1986, as amended.


 “Board of Supervisors” means the Board of Supervisors of the County.


“Bond” means the Authority's water and sewer revenue bond issued pursuant to this resolution.


“Closing Date” means the date on which the Bond is delivered to the VRA upon payment or partial payment of the purchase price for the Bond.


“Consulting Engineer” means the engineering firm or individual engineer as may be employed by the Authority as Consulting Engineer in accordance with the Financing Agreement.


“County” means Russell County, Virginia.


“Financing Assumption Agreement” means the financing agreement executed by the Authority and the VRA in accordance with Section 4.1 of this resolution.


“Fund” means the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund acting by and through the Virginia Resources Authority, its successors and assigns.

“Government” means the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities Service, United States Department of Agriculture.


“Master Parity Agreement” means the agreement executed by the Authority, the VRA, and the Government dated as of July 1, 2020.


“Maximum Amount” means $23,179.29.

“Parity Bonds” means


1.  $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project);

2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project);

3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);

4. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project);


5. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project);


6. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A);


7. $6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B; 


8. $5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C; and


9. $418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D.


“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, of which the Project constitutes the whole or is a part, owned, operated or maintained by the Authority and used in connection with the collection, storage, treatment or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater.

“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 among the Authority, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority, and the County.


“VRA” means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, its successors and assigns, as Administrator of the Fund.

ARTICLE II


Authorization of Project

Section 2.1.
The Project.  It is determined to be advisable, necessary and expedient for the Authority to assume the obligation to pay the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project), in consideration for the Authority’s acquisition of the facilities financed by such bond (the “Project”).

ARTICLE III


Authorization, Award, Details, Execution, Form,


Registration and Delivery of Bond

Section 3.1.
Authorization of Bond.  Pursuant to the Act, there is authorized to be issued and sold a water and sewer revenue bond of the Authority in the principal amount not to exceed the Maximum Amount (the “Bond”), as evidence of the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project).


Section 3.2.
Award of Bond.  After mature consideration of the methods of sale of such bond and current conditions of the municipal bond market, it is determined that it is in the best interest of the Authority for the Authority to deliver the Bond the VRA in exchange for the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (the “CWSA”), with the consent of VRA, transferring to the Authority certain facilities of the CWSA, in accordance with the Transfer Agreement and the Financing Assumption Agreement.  

Section 3.3.
Details of Bond.   



(a)  
The Bond shall bear an appropriate designation as determined by either of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority, each of whom is authorized to provide the designation for the Bond in order to appropriately identify it.    The Bond shall be issued as a single, fully registered bond without coupons, shall be dated the Closing Date, shall be numbered R-1, shall bear interest at a rate not to exceed three percent (3.00%) per annum. The principal of and interest on the Bond shall be in the amount and shall be payable semi-annually in the amounts and on the dates established in accordance with subsection (b) below.



(b)
Each of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized and directed to determine the principal amount of the Bond and to accept the dates on which, and the amounts in which, principal of and interest on the Bond will be due, as established by the VRA before the Closing Date; provided, however, that the principal amount of the Bond shall not exceed the Maximum Amount, and the final maturity of the Bond shall be no greater than ten (10) years after the Closing Date.  The execution and delivery of the Bond as described in Section 3.4 and Section 3.7 of this resolution shall conclusively evidence such principal amount and payment dates and amounts established by VRA as having been so accepted as authorized by this Resolution.  Principal of and interest on the Bond shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  


Section 3.4.
Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be signed by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority, and the Authority's seal shall be affixed to the Bond and attested by the Authority's Secretary.


Section 3.5.
Form of Bond.  The Bond shall be in substantially the following form, with such variations, insertions and omissions as shall be consistent with this resolution, the execution and delivery of the Bond constituting conclusive evidence that any variations, insertions and omissions are so consistent:


[To be completed at Closing—Form of Bond only]


No. R-1
$[amount]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA


COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY


Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A

Dated [date]

The Russell County Public Service Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), for value received, promises to pay, solely from the revenues described and pledged in the Financing Agreement, as defined below, to the payment of this Bond, to the order of the Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), or registered assigns, the principal sum equal to the aggregate amount of principal advances shown on the attached Schedule of Principal Advances, but not to exceed the sum of

[amount] DOLLARS


($[amount])

with interest on the unpaid principal from the date of each principal advance shown on the attached Certificate of Principal Advances until payment of the entire principal sum at the annual rate of three percent (3.00%). 



The principal of and interest on this Bond shall be due and payable as follows: 



Interest only on all amounts disbursed under the Bond shall be due and payable on [date].  Commencing [date], and continuing semi-annually thereafter on [month] 1 and [month] 1 in each year, principal and interest due under the Bond shall be due and payable in equal installments of $[amount], with a final installment of $[amount] due and payable on [date], when if not sooner paid, all amounts due under this Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each installment shall be applied first to payment of interest accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.  If principal advances up to the maximum authorized amount are not made, the principal amount due on this Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Authority and VRA agree otherwise in writing, until all payments due hereunder shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of this Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due hereunder or change the amount of such installment unless the principal amount due under this Bond is less than the amount of such installment.  

In addition, if any installment of principal of or interest on this Bond is not received by the registered owner of this Bond within ten (10) days from its due date, the Authority shall pay to the registered owner of this Bond a late payment charge in the amount equal to five percent (5.00%) of such overdue installment.  Principal of and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States.

Neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia nor the faith and credit of any county, city, town or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia are pledged to the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond.

This Bond has been authorized by a resolution duly adopted by the Authority on July 21, 2020 (the “Bond Resolution”) and is issued pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the “Act”), and pursuant to the terms of a Financing Assumption Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 between the VRA, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund, and the Authority (the “Financing Assumption Agreement”) to evidence the assumption of a loan made by the VRA to the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (the “CWSA”) in consideration of the transfer to the Authority of the CWSA’s facilities originally financed by such loan.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution and the Financing Assumption Agreement and any amendments to it for the provisions, among others, describing the pledge and covenants securing this Bond, the nature and extent of the security, the terms and conditions upon which this Bond is issued, the rights and obligations of the Authority and the rights of the bondholder.  Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined have the meanings given them in the Financing Assumption Agreement.


Principal of and interest on this Bond are payable solely from the revenues of the System pledged to the payment of them in the Financing Assumption Agreement and from amounts, if any, received pursuant to the Support Agreement, as defined in the Bond Resolution. 



In accordance with the Financing Assumption Agreement, the lien of the pledge of revenues securing the payment of the principal of and interest on this Bond is and shall be on parity with the lien of any pledge of revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds as defined in the Financing Assumption Agreement.


No notation is required to be made on this Bond of the payment of any principal on normal installment payment dates or of any prepayments of principal.  HENCE, THE FACE AMOUNT OF THIS BOND MAY EXCEED THE PRINCIPAL SUM REMAINING OUTSTANDING AND DUE HEREUNDER. 


Transfer of this Bond may be registered upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Bond Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of and interest on this Bond  and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner. 


This Bond is subject to optional prepayment to the extent and on the terms set forth in the Financing Agreement. 


If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Assumption Agreement) occurs, the principal of and interest on this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the holder by written notice to the Authority. 


Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the principal and interest provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay such additional amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in full of all amounts due under the Financing Assumption Agreement. 


All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond have happened, exist and have been performed. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be signed by the Chairman of the Authority, its seal to be affixed this Bond and attested by the Secretary of the Authority, and this Bond to be dated the date first shown above.


		(SEAL)

ATTEST:

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_____________________________

Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority

		

		[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_________________________________


Chairman, The Russell County Public Service Authority



		

		

		





		

		

		

		

		





SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL ADVANCES


The amount and date of principal advances not to exceed the face amount hereof shall be entered hereon by an authorized officer of the VRA, when the proceeds of each such principal advance are delivered to the Authority.

		Amount





		

		Date





		

		Authorized Signature








[End of Bond Form]


Upon request of the VRA, the Authority shall arrange to have prepared, executed, authenticated and delivered in exchange as soon as practicable bonds in printed form in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Bond in typewritten form, in denominations of $5,000 and multiples of $5,000, except for one bond which may be issued in an odd denomination of not less than $5,000, of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested by the VRA or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  The typewritten bond surrendered in any such exchange shall be canceled.


Section 3.6.
Registration and Exchange of Bond.  Transfer of the Bond may be registered upon books maintained for that purpose at the office of the Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.


Section 3.7.
Delivery of Bond.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman and the Secretary of the Authority are authorized and directed to take all proper steps to have the Bond prepared and executed in accordance with its terms and to deliver the Bond to the VRA in accordance with the terms of the Financing Assumption Agreement.

Section 3.8.
Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If the Bond has been mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the Treasurer and cancellation of, such mutilated Bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond; provided, however, that the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver a new Bond only if its registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority in connection therewith and, in the case of a lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond (i) has filed with the Registrar evidence satisfactory to him or her that such Bond was lost, stolen, or destroyed and that the holder of the Bond was its registered owner and (ii) has furnished to the Authority indemnity satisfactory to the Registrar.  If the Bond has matured, instead of issuing a new Bond, the Authority may pay the Bond without surrender upon receipt of the aforesaid evidence and indemnity.


ARTICLE IV


Financing Agreement, Support Agreement, Master Parity Agreement, and Revenues 


Section 4.1.
Authorization of Financing Agreement, Support Agreement, Master Parity Agreement, and Other Matters.  The Financing Assumption Agreement between the VRA and the Authority (the “Financing Assumption Agreement”), the Support Agreement among the Authority, the County, and the VRA, and the Master Parity Agreement (collectively, the “Financing Documents”), the forms of which have been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the records of the Authority, are approved.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Financing Documents in substantially the forms submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of each of the Financing Documents.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Bond, and the Financing Documents, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed.


Section 4.2.
Pledge of Revenues.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the Financing Assumption Agreement, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bond.  Such pledge shall be on parity with the pledge of such revenues securing the payment of the Parity Bonds.   


Section 4.3
Transfer Agreement.  The Authority confirms its approval of the Transfer Agreement, the form of which has been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the records of the Authority.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Transfer Agreement in substantially the form submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of the Transfer Agreement.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Transfer Agreement, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed.


ARTICLE V


Miscellaneous

Section 5.1.
Contract with Bondholder.  The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a contract between the Authority and the holder of the Bond for so long as the Bond is outstanding.


Section 5.2.
Authority of Officers and Agents.  The officers and agents of the Authority shall do all acts and things required of them by this resolution, the Bond, the Financing Agreement, the Support Agreement, and the Act for the complete and punctual performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained therein.


Section 5.3.
Limitation of Rights.  Nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this resolution or the Bond is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company other than the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this resolution or any covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained; this resolution and all of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond as herein provided.


Section 5.4.
Limitation of Liability of Officials of Authority.  No covenant, condition or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the Authority nor any officer thereof executing the Bond shall be liable personally on the Bond or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof.  No member, officer, employee or agent of the authority shall incur any personal liability with respect to any other action taken by him pursuant to this resolution or the Act, provided he acts in good faith.


Section 5.5.
Trust Funds.
In accordance with Section 15.2-5140 of the Act, any officer to whom, or any bank, trust company or other fiscal agent to which, moneys received pursuant to the Act are paid shall act as trustee of such moneys and shall hold and apply the same for the purposes provided in the Act, subject to such regulations as this resolution or the Financing Agreement may provide.


Section 5.6.
Conditions Precedent.  Upon the issuance of the Bond, all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia or this resolution to happen, exist and to be performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bond shall have happened, exist and have been performed.


Section 5.7.
Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of this resolution to be invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate any other provision of this resolution.


Section 5.8.
Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements of the Authority contained in this resolution shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.


Section 5.9.
Headings.  Any headings in this resolution are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of the resolution nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


Section 5.10
Filing of Resolution.  The Secretary of the Authority is directed to file a certified copy of this resolution with the Circuit Court of Russell County, Virginia, pursuant to Section 15.2-5126 of the Act.


Section 5.11.
Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately.


*     *     *


The undersigned Secretary of The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”), certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on July __, 2020.  I further certify that such meeting was a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing resolution, a quorum was present.  I further certify that the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the members and the voting on the foregoing resolution as follows:


		Member

		Attendance

		Vote



		Carter McGlothlin, Chair

		

		



		Clifford Hess, Vice-Chair

		

		



		Chris Dye

		

		



		Terry Powers

		

		



		Joe Huff

		

		



		David Edmonds, Jr.

		

		





WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of The Russell County Public Service Authority, this __ day of July, 2020.


(SEAL)


Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority


#13164201

016049.0009




Borrower: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest: 0.00%


Loan Number: C-515284-02 Late Fee:  5.00%


Loan Amount: 23,173.29$
Interest 3.00%
Principal Payments: 5


PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF FUNDS PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE PORTION PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 11/1/2020 23,173.29$ 4,845.29$ 347.60$ 4,497.69$ 18,675.60$
2 5/1/2021 18,675.60 4,845.29$ 280.13$ 4,565.16$ 14,110.44
3 11/1/2021 14,110.44 4,845.29 211.66 4,633.63 9,476.81
4 5/1/2022 9,476.81 4,845.29 142.15 4,703.14 4,773.67
5 11/1/2022 4,773.67 4,845.28 71.61 4,773.67 -


24,226.44$ 1,053.15$ 23,173.29$






K&C Draft 6/27/2020


FINANCING ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

dated as of __________ 1, 2020


BETWEEN

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, 


as Administrator of the


Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund


AND

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

Virginia Resources Authority


Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund


TABLE OF CONTENTS


[To Be Updated]


Page

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.
Definitions 
1


Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction 
4


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower 
5


ARTICLE III

AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF FINANCING AGREEMENT

Section 3.1.
Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreement
7


Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Entering into the Financing Agreement 
7


ARTICLE IV

USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT

Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds 
9


Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project 
10


Section 4.3.
Permits 
11


Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors 
11


Section 4.5.
Engineering Services 
11


Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project 
11


ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES

Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant 
12


Section 5.2.
Annual Budget 
12


Section 5.3.
Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report 
12


ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS

Section 6.1.
Payment of Local Bond
13


Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments 
14


ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS

Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bond 
14


ARTICLE VIII

OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM

Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System 
14


Section 8.2.
Maintenance 
14


Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications 
14


Section 8.4.
Use of System 
15


Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records 
15


Section 8.6.
Ownership of System 
15


Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance 
15


Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues 
16


Section 8.9.
No Free Service 
16


Section 8.10.
No Competing Service 
16


Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection 
16


Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges 
16


ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

Section 9.1.
Insurance 
17


Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies 
18


Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation 
18


Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction 
18


Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title 
19


ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence 
19


Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements 
19


Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default 
20


Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness 
20


Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds 
20


Section 10.6.
Further Assurances 
21


Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness 
22


Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower 
22


Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act 
22


Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel 
26


Section 10.11.
Continuing Disclosure Obligations 
22


Section 10.12.
Service Contracts 
26


Section 10.13.
Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study 
23 


ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 11.1.
Events of Default 
26


Section 11.2.
Notice of Default 
27


Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default
27


Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver
28


Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept
28


ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns 
28


Section 12.2.
Amendments 
28


Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability
28


Section 12.4.
Applicable Law 
29


Section 12.5.
Severability 
29


Section 12.6.
Notices 
29


Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default 
30


Section 12.8.
Headings 
30


Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement 
30


Section 12.10.
Termination of Original Financing Agreement 
30


Section 12.11.
Counterparts 
30


EXHIBITS


Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond


Exhibit B - Project Description


Exhibit C - Project Budget


Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel


Exhibit E - Form of Requisition


Exhibit F - Existing Parity Bonds 


Exhibit G - Operating Data


Exhibit H - Form of Budget


Exhibit I - Support Agreement

FINANCING ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT



THIS FINANCING ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of __________, 2020, between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER FACILITIES REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”), and THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporation and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”).



Pursuant to Chapter 22, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the State Water Control Board, the Authority administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of wastewater treatment facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-224 of the Act.


The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (the “Original Borrower”), has previously issued its __________ (the “Original Bond”) pursuant to a Financing Agreement, dated as of __________ 1, 20__ between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Original Borrower (the “Original Financing Agreement”).



The Original Borrower has agreed to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the Original Bond and the Borrower has agreed to assume the Original Bond.  The parties desire to provide for the assumption by the Borrower of the obligations of the Original Borrower with respect to the Original Bond, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement.


ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS


Section 1.1.
Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Act:



“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.



“Agreement” means this Financing Assumption Agreement between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower, together with any amendments or supplements hereto.



“Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in Section 6.1 payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services attributable to the Local Bond.


“Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to perform the act or sign the document in question.



“Board” means the State Water Control Board.



“Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as Consulting Engineer under this Agreement.


“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual 

“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.



“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default.



“Department” means the Department of Environmental Quality, created and acting under Chapter 11.1, Title 10.1, of the Code of Virginia, as amended.



“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.



“Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond.



“Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its annual accounting period.



[“Funding Agreement” means the Funding Agreement, dated as of the date of the Original Financing Agreement, between the Authority and the Borrower.]


“Local Bond” means the bond relating to the assumption of the Original Bond, substantially in the form attached to this Financing Agreement as Exhibit A, issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement.


“Local Bond Proceeds” means the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement.



“Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the execution, issuance and delivery of the Local Bond.



“Master Parity Agreement” means the Master Parity Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, among the Authority, the Borrower and United States of America, acting by and through the Rural Utilities Service, an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture.


“Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds.



“Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense.



“Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of (i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business.



“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, reasonably acceptable to the Authority.



“Original Bond” has the meaning set forth in the preambles to this Agreement.


“Original Borrower” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.


“Original Financing Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preambles to this Agreement.


“Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower issued under Section 10.5.



“Prior Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower  secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was superior to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond.


“Project” means the particular project described in Exhibit B, the costs of the acquisition of which are to be financed by or refinanced in whole or in part with the Local Bond.



“Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.


“Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or otherwise, and (v)  any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment of its Local Bond.



“Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority [Add any service contracts transferred from Castlewood WSA and Russell County].



“Subordinate Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, including but not limited to such existing bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower, secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly made subordinate to the pledge of Revenues to secure the payment of the Local Bond.


“Support Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Support Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto.



“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist.



“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, among the Borrower, the County and the Original Borrower.


Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise:




(a)
Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice versa.




(b)
All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.




(c)
The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS


Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement:




(a)
The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” (as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law.




(b)
The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and deliver the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the System, (iv) fix, charge and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the System, (v) construct, acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or refinance the Project Costs by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement and the issuance of the Local Bond, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System  to the payment of the Local Bond, and (vii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bond.




(c)
This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bond were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and are in substantially the same form as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its meeting at which the Local Resolution was adopted.




(d)
All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bond, (iii) the performance and enforcement of the obligations of the Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation and use of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the System.  The Borrower knows of no reason why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals not obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed.




(e)
This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their terms.




(f)
When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and this Agreement, the Local Bond will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.




(g)
The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, including the Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Borrower or its property.




(h)
The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.




(i)
The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and (ii) is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and the compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the foregoing.




(j)
There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond or the issuance or delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bond or any agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond, (v) in any way affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bond.



(k)
No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to the Authority.




(l)
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person. 




 (m)
There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond except any Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit F.



(n)
The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts.



(o)
No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing.



(p)
All of the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are true and correct and all terms of the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are reaffirmed, ratified and confirmed.

ARTICLE III

AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF FINANCING AGREEMENT


Section 3.1.
Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreement; Assumption of Local Bond.  (a)  This Agreement in part constitutes an amendment and restatement of the Financing Agreement with respect to the Local Bond; however, this Agreement shall not constitute a novation of the original debt evidenced by the respective Local Bond.


(b)
The Borrower agrees to assume each of the Original Borrower’s obligations to make payments of the principal and other sums that become due under the Local Bond after the Closing Date.  The Authority agrees to release the Original Borrower from its obligations under the Local Bond, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.


Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Entering into the Master Financing Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be effective until the Authority shall have received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority:



(a)
The Local Bonds, [the Funding Agreement,] the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement.



(b)
A certified copy of the Local Resolution.




(c)
A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require.




(d)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and satisfied by it as of such date.




(e)
An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed to the Fund and the Authority.




(f)
An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.




(g)
Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable to the Authority that the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are valid and enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary qualifications.

ARTICLE IV


USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT


Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds.



(a)
The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further agrees to exhibit to the Department or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse money from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each calendar month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Department) of the following:




(1)
A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement;




(2)
If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen,





(i)
a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the Project; and





(ii)
a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or discharged upon payment of the requisition.



Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and approval thereof by the Department, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder to or for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the extent approved by the Department and shall note the date and amount of each such disbursement on a schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is in default hereunder nor shall the Department have any obligation to approve any requisition if the Borrower is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.



(b)
The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Department, disbursements shall be held at ninety-five percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in Section 4.2 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, the Authority, to the extent approved by the Department and subject to the provisions of this Section and Section 4.2, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds to the extent of such approval.



The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1.



Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Department.  All plans, specifications and designs shall be approved by all applicable regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the Department through their duly authorized representatives to inspect such books and records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the Authority, with the consent of the Department, may amend the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B.



When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the Authority and the Department a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substantially in accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, as approved by the Department, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project Costs.



Section 4.3.
Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, promptly furnish to the Authority and the Department copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.  The Borrower shall also comply with all applicable lawful program or procedural guidelines or requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Department in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable federal laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection with the Project and the funding thereof from the Fund.  Where noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the Authority or the Department, the issue shall be referred to the proper governmental authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action.



Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority, the Department and the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during the construction period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  Upon request of the Authority, the Department or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each contractor to furnish evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority, the Department and the Board.



Section 4.5.
Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, the Authority and the Department as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Department the certificates required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2.



Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the Borrower’s payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement.


ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES


Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  (a) Subject to the Borrower’s right to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby pledged to the Authority, on behalf of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the execution and delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act.  The lien of this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge securing the Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of the Borrower to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of whether such parties have notice of this pledge.



(b)
The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to pay the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Additional Payments and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles (the “Rate Covenant”).  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to satisfy the foregoing covenant, the Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide sufficient Revenues to satisfy such requirement.



(c)
On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the Rate Covenant, the Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any deficiency.



Section 5.2.  
Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit H to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority.


Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the Rate Covenant, within two hundred ten (210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making recommendations as to the proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be established by the Borrower to satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to the Authority and, subject to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining such report.



(b)
If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the Rate Covenant when such measures have been implemented and become fully effective.  Such alternative plan shall be filed with the Authority not later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant’s report along with a detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for rejecting the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Authority reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and require the Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.

ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS


Section 6.1.
Payment of Local Bond.  (a)  The Local Bond shall be dated the date of its delivery to the Authority.  The Cost of Funds on the Local Bond shall be computed on disbursed principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate of __________ percent (_____%) per annum, consisting of the following:




(i)
interest of __________ percent (_____%) per annum payable for the benefit of the Fund, and




(ii)
__________ percent (_____%) per annum payable as an Annual Administrative Fee.



(b)
The Cost of Funds only on all amounts disbursed under the Local Bond shall be due and payable on ________ 1, 20__.  Commencing _______ 1, 20__, and continuing semi-annually thereafter on __________ 1 and __________ 1 in each year, principal and Cost of Funds due under the Local Bond shall be payable in equal installments of $___________, with a final installment of $___________ due and payable on __________ 1, 20__, when, if not sooner paid, all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing, until all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such installment.  If any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local Bond is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue installment.



Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Borrower agrees to pay on demand of the Authority the following Additional Payments:




(1)
The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and




(2)
All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant to the provisions hereof.



The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid.


ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS


Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bond.  At its option and after giving at least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local Bonds at any time, in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the date on which the Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bonds will be prepaid in full or in part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial prepayment shall be applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bonds but shall not postpone the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bonds, or change the amount of such installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing.


ARTICLE VIII

OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM


Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.



Section 8.2.
Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.



Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifications and improvements shall become part of the System.



Section 8.4.
Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the cost of making the same.



Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The Authority and the Department and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System.



Section 8.6.
Ownership of System.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes.



Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing:




(a)
The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the System;




(b)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and




(c)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, and then, if such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bond under Article VII hereof.



Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect all rates, fees and other charges due to it and shall perfect liens on premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower.



Section 8.9.
No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or any use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges.



Section 8.10.
No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would compete with the System.



Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall adopt and enforce rules and regulations consistent with applicable laws, requiring the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; provided, however, such rules and regulations may permit and provide that any such building already in existence at the time the services of the System became available to the applicable lot or parcel may continue to use a private sewage disposal system approved by the applicable board of health or health officer until such approved private sewage disposal system shall cease to be approved or shall require major repairs to continue to be approved, at which time such building shall be required to connect to the System.



Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the “Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues (collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten (10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement.


ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION


Section 9.1.
Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character to the System, including, without limitation:




(a)
Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.




(b)
Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of $2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation or use of the System.




(c)
Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, workers’ compensation insurance.



The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance.



The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect.



Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law.



Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of (i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations.



Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to the prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII.



Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any such condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to the prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII.


ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS


Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without consent of the Authority and the Department, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and the Department, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bond and this Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Department an Opinion of Counsel acceptable to the Authority and the Department subject only to customary exceptions and qualifications, to the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.



Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower during such Fiscal Year satisfied the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall furnish to the Authority copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by the Borrower.  Such report shall include statements in reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the Borrower’s operations and changes in the financial position of its funds for the Fiscal Year.  



Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it.



Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds.



Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on parity with the Local Bond with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (ii) refund some or all of the Local Bond, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, or (iii) effect some combination of (i) and (ii); provided in each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or delivered, the Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following:




(a)
Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds.




(b)
A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds.




(c)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding of the Local Bonds, Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection (iv)(C) below, a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant, to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent Consultant, as applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the issuance of the Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds available to the Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will be sufficient to pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time which will be required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the Parity Bond proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such improvements or acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of Revenues, or (C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the improvements or the acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing this certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person and entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues of the System to be derived under then existing contractual agreements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the Borrower.




(d)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bonds (with the consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds, either (i) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory to the Authority that the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each of the years the Local Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded would have been outstanding which are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each such year on the Local Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant to the effect that during the first two complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the certificate described in clause (ii), the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account the factors described in the last two sentences of subsection (c) of this Section.



(e)
An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute compliance with the provisions of this Section. 


Section 10.6.
Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement and all rights of the Authority, the Department and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and demands of all persons.



Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection therewith.



Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Department.  If the Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Department.  If the Authority and the Department consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and the Department are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority and the Department by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the Local Bond and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bond and this Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations.


Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 513 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended. 


Section 10.10.   American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with Section 608 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be produced in the United States as required under such act.   The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials.

Section 10.11.
Continuing Disclosure Obligations.  (a) For purposes of this Section, the following terms and phrases shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Financial Information” with respect to any Fiscal Year for the Borrower, means the following:


(i)
the financial statements (consisting of at least a balance sheet and statement of revenues and expenses) of the System, or, if not available, the financial statements (consisting of at least a balance sheet and a statement of revenues and expenses) of the Borrower, which financial statements must be (A) prepared annually in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time consistently applied (provided that nothing in this clause (A) will prohibit the Borrower after the date of this Agreement from changing such other principles so as to comply with generally accepted accounting principles as then in effect or to comply with a change in applicable law) and (B) audited by an independent certified public accountant or firm of such accountants in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as in effect from time to time (provided that if audited financial statements are not available for filing when required by this Section or the Rule (as defined herein), unaudited financial statements will be filed and audited financial statements will be filed as soon as possible thereafter); and


(ii)
operating data of the type set forth in Exhibit G.

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean any person, reasonably acceptable to the Authority, whom the Borrower contracts in writing to perform its obligations as provided in subsection (b) of this Section.

“Leveraging Bonds” means the bonds and other evidences of indebtedness issued and sold by the Authority pursuant to the Virginia Resources Authority Act, Chapter 21, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, the Act, and any successor provisions of law, including without limitation the bonds and other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Authority under the Amended and Restated Master Indenture of Trust dated as of April 1, 2010, between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as supplemented and amended.

“Local Government” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 62.1-199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.

“Local Obligations” shall mean any bonds, notes, debentures, interim certificates, bond, grant or revenue anticipation notes, leases or any other evidences of indebtedness of a Local Government evidencing a loan made by the Authority to a Local Government from the Fund or the proceeds of Leveraging Bonds.

“Make Public” or “Made Public” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection (c) of this Section.

“Material Local Government” shall mean a Local Government that satisfies a set of objective criteria established by the Authority at the time of sale of each series of Leveraging Bonds and based on the level of participation of each Local Government in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Local Obligations.  For all Leveraging Bonds currently outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, a Material Local Government is any Local Government whose aggregate outstanding principal amount of Local Obligations represents twenty percent (20%) or more of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Local Obligations.

“Rule” means Rule 15c2‑12, as it may be amended from time to time, under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and any similar rules of the SEC relating to disclosure requirements in the offering and sale of municipal securities, all as in effect from time to time.

“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b)
The Borrower shall Make Public or cause to be Made Public:



(1)
Within 270 days after the end of the Borrower’s Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year in which the Closing Date occurs), Annual Financial Information for such Fiscal Year as of the end of which the Borrower constitutes a Material Local Government.  Annual Financial Information may be set forth in the documents Made Public or may be included by reference in a document Made Public to any document previously filed with the SEC.  If the document referred to is a final official statement within the meaning of the Rule, then it must be available from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”).

(2)
In a timely manner, notice of any failure by the Borrower to Make Public or cause to be Made Public Annual Financial Information pursuant to the terms of part (1) of this subsection.



(c)
For purposes of this Section, information and notices shall be deemed to have been Made Public if transmitted to the Authority and to the MSRB for publication on its Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”).  All documents provided to the MSRB shall be accompanied by identifying information prescribed by the Authority and the MSRB.



(d)
The Borrower shall also notify the Authority within five (5) business days of becoming aware of any of the following events that may from time to time occur with respect to the Local Bond:

(1)
principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(2)
non‑payment related defaults;

(3)
unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

(4)
unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement reflecting financial difficulties;

(5)
substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(6)
adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Local Bond, or other events affecting the tax status of the Local Bond;

(7)
modifications to rights of the holders of the Local Bond;

(8)
bond calls and tender offers;

(9)
defeasances of all or any portion of the Local Bond;

(10)
release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Local Bond;

(11)
rating changes;

(12)
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Borrower*;

(13)
the consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the Borrower or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Borrower, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms;

(14)
appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change in the name of a trustee;


(15)
Incurrence of a financial obligation** of the Borrower, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation of the Borrower, any of which affect security holders, if material; and


(16) 
Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the Borrower, any of which reflect financial difficulties



(e)
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower need not comply with the provisions of subsections (a) through (d) above unless and until the Authority has notified the Borrower that it satisfied the objective criteria for a Material Local Government as of the end of the Authority’s immediately preceding fiscal year.



(f)
The obligations of the Borrower under this Section will terminate upon the redemption, defeasance (within the meaning of the Rule) or payment in full of all of the Leveraging Bonds.



(g)
The Borrower may modify its continuing disclosure obligations in this Section without the consent of holders of the Leveraging Bonds provided that this Section as so modified complies with the Rule as it exists at the time of modification.  The Borrower shall within a reasonable time thereafter send to the Authority and the MSRB through EMMA a description of such modification(s).



(h)
(1)
If the Borrower fails to comply with any covenant or obligation set forth in this Section, any holder (within the meaning of the Rule) of Leveraging Bonds then Outstanding may, by notice to the Borrower, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the holders by an action for specific performance of the Borrower’s covenants or obligations set forth in this Section.




(2)
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any failure of the Borrower to comply with any obligation regarding Annual Financial Information specified in this Section (i) shall not be deemed to constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement and (ii) shall not give rise to any right or remedy other than that described in part (h)(1) of this Section.



(i)
The Borrower may from time to time disclose certain information and data in addition to that required under this Section.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower shall not incur any obligation to continue to provide, or to update, such additional information or data.



(j)
The Borrower may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligation to Make Public the Annual Financial Information, and may discharge any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.

Section 10.12.
Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement.


Section 10.13.
  [Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the Borrower on or before __________, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors of the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates for a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) that satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, on or before __________, 2020 for review.]

[Add language regarding debt service and/or operating reserve]

[Add language regarding control over PSA and County leachate]


 

ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES


Section 11.1.
Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default”:


(a)
The failure to pay when due any payment of principal and Cost of Funds due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bond or this Agreement;




(b)
The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions of the Local Bond, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the Default is corrected;




(c)
Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of the Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bond is false or misleading in any material respect;




(d)
[The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 5.3(b) and (c) thereof;]



(e)
The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder;




(f)
An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after the entry thereof;




(g)
Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances secured by or payable from Revenues; or




(h)
Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after filing.



Section 11.2.
Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the existence thereof.



Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-228 of the Act, have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the following remedial steps:




(a)
Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due on the Local Bond and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and




(b)
Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bond and under this Agreement or to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s, the Department’s or the Board’s rights under this Agreement or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bond, which the Borrower hereby agrees are assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.



Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereto.


Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, to secure payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, if payment of such principal and Cost of Funds shall not be paid when the same shall become due and payable.


ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS


Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.



Section 12.2.
Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in a writing and shall be signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 10.4, 10.5 and 10.11 of this Agreement.


Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the Local Bond or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bond nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower, and the Borrower shall not be obligated to pay the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond or other costs incident thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of fraud, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be liable personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bond or for any other action taken by such individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or the Local Bond.



Section 12.4.
Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable laws of Virginia.



Section 12.5.
Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law.



Section 12.6.
Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bond or this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:



Fund:


Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund


c/o Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Authority:

Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Department

State Water Control Board



  and Board:

Department of Environmental Quality


P. O. Box 1105


Richmond, VA  23218


Attention:  Executive Director


Borrower:

The Russell County Public Service Authority


____________________


__________, Virginia  _____


Attention:  Chairman


A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other parties named.  The Authority, the Department, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention the same shall be directed.



Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or to perform any act required by it under the Local Bond or this Agreement, the Authority without prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bond.



Section 12.8.
Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement.



Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bond previously or simultaneously shall have been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bond and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement.



Section 12.10.  Termination of Original Financing Agreement.  The Original Financing Agreement heretofore executed between the parties thereto is cancelled and terminated as of the Closing Date, provided that such cancellation and termination shall not be construed as a waiver, relinquishment or release of any claims, damages, liability, rights of action or causes of action that the parties thereto may have against the other thereunder and that have accrued before the effective date of this Agreement.


Section 12.11.
Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.


[Signature Page Follows]



WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


EXHIBIT A

Form of Local Bond

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


EXHIBIT B

Project Description


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Be Provided]


EXHIBIT C

Project BUDGET


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Be Provided]


EXHIBIT D

Opinion of Borrower’s Counsel

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


EXHIBIT E

FORM OF REQUISITION


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority


[To Come]


EXHIBIT F

Prior Bonds AND Existing Parity Bonds


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


Prior Bonds:


None


Existing Parity Bonds:


EXHIBIT G


OPERATING DATA

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

Description of Borrower.  A description of the Borrower including a summary description of the System, and its management and officers.


Debt.  A description of the terms of the Borrower’s outstanding debt including a historical summary of outstanding debt and a summary of annual debt service on outstanding debt as of the end of the preceding Fiscal Year.  The Annual Financial Information should also include (to the extent not shown in the latest audited financial statements) a description of contingent obligations as well as pension plans administered by the Borrower and any unfunded pension liabilities.



Financial Information and Operating Data.  Financial information for the System as of the end of the preceding Fiscal Year, including a description of revenues and expenditures, largest users, a summary of rates, fees and other charges of the System, amounts (if any) paid by the County, whether under a support agreement or otherwise, and a historical summary of debt service coverage.

EXHIBIT H

FORM OF BUDGET

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead)


[Date]


Executive Director


Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Dear Mr./Ms. __________:


Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and the Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated below.


		Revenues1

		Operation & Maintenance Expense

		Net Revenues Available for Debt Service


( Revenues – O&M Expense)

		Debt Service

		Coverage


(Net Revenues Available for Debt Service/Debt Service)



		

		

		

		

		





__________________________________________


1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement.


All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement[s].


Very truly yours,


By: __________________________


Its: _________________________


EXHIBIT I


AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY


THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the first day of __________, 2020, by and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia (the “County”), THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER FACILITIES REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as purchaser of the Local Bond, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Financing Agreement dated as of the date hereof (the “Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower.


RECITALS:


WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns and operates the System in the County;



WHEREAS, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (the “Original Borrower”), has previously issued its __________ (the “Original Bond”) pursuant to a Financing Agreement, dated as of __________ 1, 20__ between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Original Borrower;



WHEREAS, the Borrower desires to assume the obligations of the Original Borrower with respect to the Original Bond; 



WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________, 2020, a resolution authorizing, among other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board to consider certain appropriations in support of the Local Bond.


Agreement


NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 



 1.
Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreement.



 2.
No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__, the Borrower shall notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under the Financing Agreement, the Local Bond and any other indebtedness secured by or payable from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit F to the Financing Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the Additional Payments in full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the following July 1.


3.
The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual Deficiency Amount.



 4.
If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment. 



 5.
The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the County’s next fiscal year. 



 6.
The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of Supervisors do likewise. 



7.
The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing the Local Bond, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such nonpayment.


 8.
Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the County to the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bond or to any other person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein. 



 9.
Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to ____________________, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to ____________________, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may designate any other address for notices or requests by giving notice. 



10.
It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 



11.
This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bond and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Financing Agreement have been paid in full. 



12.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 


[Signature page follows]


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be executed in their respective names as of the date first above written. 


BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________

* This event is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Borrower in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Borrower, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Borrower.


** The term “financial obligation” is defined to mean a (A) debt obligation; (B) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (C) a guarantee of (A) or (B). The term “financial obligation” does not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been otherwise provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.






RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $12,058,187.38 AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATED ACTIONS

The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”) is a public body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”).

The Authority is authorized to acquire, construct, operate and maintain a water and sewer system in certain areas of Russell County (the “County”) and to borrow money and to issue its revenue bonds to pay all or part of the cost of such system.

The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of certain bonds of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority previously issued and sold to the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities Service, United States Department of Agriculture (the “Government”) and to the Virginia Services Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), in consideration of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s transfer and conveyance to the Authority of the facilities financed by such bonds.


 The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of certain bonds of the County previously issued and sold to the Government and to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, in consideration of the County’s transfer and conveyance to the Authority of the facilities financed by such bonds.


The Authority, as part of the assumption of these bonds of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority and the County, has requested that the loans to the Authority from the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, be amended and restated. 


The VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the County’s bonds sold to VRA and the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s bonds sold to VRA and to the amendments and restatements of its loans to the Authority upon the issuance of new revenue bonds of the Authority and to purchase these revenue bonds upon certain terms and conditions, and the Authority, after mature consideration of the condition of the municipal bond market and other methods of selling its bonds, has determined to satisfy such terms and conditions and award the bonds to the VRA.

The Government has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the County’s bonds sold to the Government and the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s bonds sold to the Government upon certain terms and conditions set forth in the Government’s letter dated July ___, 2020. 


BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY:


ARTICLE I


Definitions

Section 1.1.
Definitions.  Whenever used in this resolution, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:


“Act” means the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended).


“Authority” means The Russell County Public Service Authority, a public body politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, and by a certificate of incorporation issued by the State Corporation Commission of Virginia on April 4, 1986, as amended.

“Authority VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto issued by the Authority to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described in Exhibit F of the Master Financing Agreement.


“Authority Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and the VRA as further described on Exhibit G of the Master Financing Agreement.

 “Board of Supervisors” means the Board of Supervisors of the County.


“Bonds” means the Authority's water and sewer revenue bonds issued pursuant to this resolution.


“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.


“Castlewood WSA RD Bonds” means the following bonds issued by the Castlewood WSA:

1. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project), 


2. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project), and

3. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A).

“Castlewood WSA Bonds” means the Castlewood WSA RD Bonds and the Castlewood WSA VRA Bonds.


“Castlewood WSA VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto issued by the Castlewood WSA to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described in Exhibit F of the Master Financing Agreement.

“Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and Castlewood WSA as further described on Exhibit G of the Master Financing Agreement. 

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Bonds are delivered to the VRA upon payment or partial payment of the purchase price for the Bonds.


“County” means Russell County, Virginia.

“County Bonds” means the County RD Bonds and the County VRA Bonds.


“County RD Bonds” means the following bonds issued by the County:


1. $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project);

2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project);

3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);

“County VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto issued by the County to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described in Exhibit F of the Master Financing Agreement.


“County Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and the County as further described on Exhibit G of the Master Financing Agreement.

“Master Financing Agreement” means the financing agreement executed by the Authority and the VRA in accordance with Section 4.1 of this resolution.


“Fund” means the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund acting by and through the Virginia Resources Authority, its successors and assigns.

“Government” means the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities Service, United States Department of Agriculture.


“Master Parity Agreement” means the agreement executed by the Authority, the VRA, and the Government dated as of July 1, 2020.


“Maximum Amount” means $12,058,187.38.


“Parity Bonds” means


1.  $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project);

2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project);

3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);

4. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project);


5. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project);


6. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A);


7. $23,179.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A;


8. $418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D; 




and shall include each of the Bonds issued pursuant to this resolution and the Master Financing Agreement. 

“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, of which the Project constitutes the whole or is a part, owned, operated or maintained by the Authority and used in connection with the collection, storage, treatment or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater.

“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 among the Authority, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority, and the County.


“VRA” means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, its successors and assigns, as Administrator of the Fund.

ARTICLE II


Authorization of Project

Section 2.1.
The Project.  It is determined to be advisable, necessary, and expedient for the Authority to assume the obligation to pay the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds, in consideration for the Authority’s acquisition of the facilities financed by such bonds, and the amendments of and restatements to the Authority Financing Agreements related to the Authority Bonds (the “Project”).

Section 2.2
Government Letter of Conditions.  It is determined that it is in the best interest of the Authority for the Authority to accept the Government’s terms and conditions set forth in the Government’s letter dated July ___, 2020 related to the Authority’s assumption of the Castlewood WSA RD Bonds and the County RD Bonds (the “Assumption LOC”).  

ARTICLE III


Authorization, Award, Details, Execution, Form,


Registration and Delivery of Bonds

Section 3.1.
Authorization of Bonds.  Pursuant to the Act, there is authorized to be issued and sold water and sewer revenue bonds of the Authority in the principal amount not to exceed the Maximum Amount (the “Bonds”), as evidence of the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood WSA VRA Bonds and the County VRA Bonds and as evidence of the amendments and restatements of the Authority Financing Agreements.


Section 3.2.
Award of Bonds.  After mature consideration of the methods of sale of such bond and current conditions of the municipal bond market, it is determined that it is in the best interest of the Authority for the Authority to deliver the Bonds to the VRA in exchange, in part, for (i) the Castlewood WSA and the County, with the consent of VRA, transferring to the Authority certain facilities of the Castlewood WSA and the County, in accordance with the Transfer Agreement and the Master Financing Agreement, and (ii) the amendments and restatements of the Authority Financing Agreements in accordance with the Master Financing Agreement.  

Section 3.3.
Details of Bonds.   



(a)  
The Bonds shall bear an appropriate designation as determined by either of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority, each of whom is authorized to provide the designation for the Bonds in order to appropriately identify it.    The Bonds shall be issued as two separate fully registered bonds without coupons, shall each be dated the Closing Date, shall be numbered R-1 and R-2, respectively, one of the Bonds shall bear a Cost of Funds at a rate not to exceed two and twenty-five hundredths percent (2.25%) per annum (referred to in this resolution and in the Financing Agreement as the “Cost of Funds” on the Bond), composed of interest to the Fund of 0.75% and a fee of 1.50% for administrative management services, and the other shall bear no interest. The principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds shall be in the amount and shall be payable semi-annually in the amounts and on the dates established in accordance with subsection (b) below.



(b)
Each of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized and directed to determine the principal amount of the Bonds and to accept the dates on which, and the amounts in which, principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds will be due, as established by the VRA before the Closing Date; provided, however, that the principal amount of the Bonds shall not exceed the Maximum Amount, and the final maturity of the Bonds shall be no greater than thirty (30) years after the Closing Date.  The execution and delivery of the Bonds as described in Section 3.4 and Section 3.7 of this resolution shall conclusively evidence such principal amount and payment dates and amounts established by VRA as having been so accepted as authorized by this Resolution.  Principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  


Section 3.4.
Execution of Bonds.  Each of the Bonds shall be signed by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority, and the Authority's seal shall be affixed to the Bonds and attested by the Authority's Secretary.


Section 3.5.
Form of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be in substantially the following form, with such variations, insertions and omissions as shall be consistent with this resolution, the execution and delivery of the Bonds constituting conclusive evidence that any variations, insertions and omissions are so consistent:


[To be completed at Closing—Form of Bond only]


No. R-1
$[amount]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA


COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY


Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020[B][C]

Dated [date]

The Russell County Public Service Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), for value received, promises to pay, solely from the revenues described and pledged in the Financing Agreement, as defined below, to the payment of this Bond, to the order of the Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), or registered assigns, the principal sum [equal to the aggregate amount of principal advances shown on the attached Schedule of Principal Advances, but not to exceed the sum of]

[amount] DOLLARS


($[amount])

[with interest (the “Cost of Funds”), including the portion allocable to the annual administrative fee payable as set forth in Section 6.1 of the “Financing Agreement”) defined below, on the unpaid principal from the date [hereof] [of each principal advance shown on the attached Certificate of Principal Advances] until payment of the entire principal sum at the annual rate of two and twenty-five hundredths percent 2.25%), composed of interest to the Fund of 0.75% and a fee of 1.50% for administrative management services][without interest]. 



The principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond shall be due and payable as set forth on the attached payment schedule. 



[Each installment shall be applied first to payment of Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.]  If principal advances up to the maximum authorized amount are not made, the principal amount due on this Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Authority and VRA agree otherwise in writing, until all payments due hereunder shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of this Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due hereunder or change the amount of such installment unless the principal amount due under this Bond is less than the amount of such installment.  

In addition, if any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on this Bond is not received by the registered owner of this Bond within ten (10) days from its due date, the Authority shall pay to the registered owner of this Bond a late payment charge in the amount equal to five percent (5.00%) of such overdue installment.  Principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States.

Neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia nor the faith and credit of any county, city, town or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia are pledged to the payment of the principal of or Cost of Funds on this Bond.

This Bond is one of an issue of bonds in the aggregate amount of $12,058,187.38 authorized by a resolution duly adopted by the Authority on July 21, 2020 (the “Bond Resolution”) and is issued pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the “Act”), and pursuant to the terms of a Master Financing Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 between the VRA, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund, and the Authority (the “Master Financing Agreement”) to evidence the assumption of certain loans made by the VRA to the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority  and to the County of Russell, Virginia  in consideration of the transfer to the Authority of the facilities originally financed by such loans and to evidence amendments and restatements of certain loans made by the VRA to the Authority.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution and the Master Financing Agreement and any amendments to it for the provisions, among others, describing the pledge and covenants securing this Bond, the nature and extent of the security, the terms and conditions upon which this Bond is issued, the rights and obligations of the Authority and the rights of the bondholder.  Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined have the meanings given them in the Master Financing Agreement.


Principal of [and Cost of Funds on] this Bond [is] [are] payable solely from the revenues of the System pledged to the payment of them in the Master Financing Agreement and from amounts, if any, received pursuant to the Support Agreement, as defined in the Bond Resolution. 



In accordance with the Master Financing Agreement, the lien of the pledge of revenues securing the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond is and shall be on parity with the lien of any pledge of revenues securing the following bonds issued by the Authority: 


$672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project);

$900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project);

$119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);


$350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project);


$937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project);


$2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A);

$23,173.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A; and

[$6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B;]

[$5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C.]

No notation is required to be made on this Bond of the payment of any principal on normal installment payment dates or of any prepayments of principal.  HENCE, THE FACE AMOUNT OF THIS BOND MAY EXCEED THE PRINCIPAL SUM REMAINING OUTSTANDING AND DUE HEREUNDER. 


Transfer of this Bond may be registered upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Bond Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond  and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner. 


This Bond is subject to optional prepayment to the extent and on the terms set forth in the Financing Agreement. 


If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Assumption Agreement) occurs, the principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the holder by written notice to the Authority. 


Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the principal and Cost of Funds provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay such additional amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in full of all amounts due under the Master Financing Agreement. 


All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond have happened, exist and have been performed. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be signed by the Chairman of the Authority, its seal to be affixed this Bond and attested by the Secretary of the Authority, and this Bond to be dated the date first shown above.


		(SEAL)

ATTEST:

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_____________________________

Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority

		

		[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_________________________________


Chairman, The Russell County Public Service Authority



		

		

		





		

		

		

		

		





SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL ADVANCES


The amount and date of principal advances not to exceed the face amount hereof shall be entered hereon by an authorized officer of the VRA, when the proceeds of each such principal advance are delivered to the Authority.

		Amount





		

		Date





		

		Authorized Signature








[End of Bond Form]


Upon request of the VRA, the Authority shall arrange to have prepared, executed, authenticated and delivered in exchange as soon as practicable bonds in printed form in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Bonds in typewritten form, in denominations of $5,000 and multiples of $5,000, except for one bond which may be issued in an odd denomination of not less than $5,000, of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested by the VRA or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  The typewritten bond surrendered in any such exchange shall be canceled.


Section 3.6.
Registration and Exchange of Bonds.  Transfer of the Bonds may be registered upon books maintained for that purpose at the office of the Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.


Section 3.7.
Delivery of Bonds.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman and the Secretary of the Authority are authorized and directed to take all proper steps to have the Bonds prepared and executed in accordance with its terms and to deliver the Bonds to the VRA in accordance with the terms of the Master Financing Agreement.

Section 3.8.
Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If either of the Bonds has been mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new bond of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the Treasurer and cancellation of, such mutilated bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen, or destroyed bond; provided, however, that the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver a new bond only if its registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority in connection therewith and, in the case of a lost, stolen, or destroyed bond (i) has filed with the Registrar evidence satisfactory to him or her that such bond was lost, stolen, or destroyed and that the holder of the bond was its registered owner and (ii) has furnished to the Authority indemnity satisfactory to the Registrar.  If either of the Bonds has matured, instead of issuing a new bond, the Authority may pay such bond without surrender upon receipt of the aforesaid evidence and indemnity.


ARTICLE IV


Financing Documents and Revenues 


Section 4.1.
Authorization of Assumption LOC, Financing Agreement, Support Agreement, Master Parity Agreement, and Other Matters.  The Assumption LOC, the Master Financing Agreement between the VRA and the Authority (the “Master Financing Agreement”), the Amended and Restated Support Agreement among the Authority, the County and the VRA (the “Support Agreement”), the Amended and Restated Funding Agreement between the VRA and the Authority (the “Funding Agreement”), and the Master Parity Agreement (collectively, the “Financing Documents”), the forms of which have been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the records of the Authority, are approved.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Financing Documents in substantially the forms submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of each of the Financing Documents.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Bonds, and the Financing Documents, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed.


Section 4.2.
Pledge of Revenues.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the Assumption LOC, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Castlewood WSA RD Bonds and the County Bonds.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the Master Financing Agreement, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds.  these pledges shall be on parity with the pledge of such revenues securing the payment of the Parity Bonds.   


Section 4.3
Transfer Agreement.  The Authority confirms its approval of the Transfer Agreement, the form of which has been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the records of the Authority.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Transfer Agreement in substantially the form submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of the Transfer Agreement.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Transfer Agreement, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed.


ARTICLE V


Miscellaneous

Section 5.1.
Contract with Bondholder.  The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a contract between the Authority and the holder of the Bonds for so long as the Bonds are outstanding.


Section 5.2.
Authority of Officers and Agents.  The officers and agents of the Authority shall do all acts and things required of them by this resolution, the Bonds, the Master Financing Agreement, the Support Agreement, and the Act for the complete and punctual performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained therein.


Section 5.3.
Limitation of Rights.  Nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this resolution or the Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company other than the parties hereto and the holder of the Bonds any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this resolution or any covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained; this resolution and all of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the holder of the Bonds as herein provided.


Section 5.4.
Limitation of Liability of Officials of Authority.  No covenant, condition or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the Authority nor any officer thereof executing the Bonds shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof.  No member, officer, employee or agent of the authority shall incur any personal liability with respect to any other action taken by him pursuant to this resolution or the Act, provided he acts in good faith.


Section 5.5.
Trust Funds.
In accordance with Section 15.2-5140 of the Act, any officer to whom, or any bank, trust company or other fiscal agent to which, moneys received pursuant to the Act are paid shall act as trustee of such moneys and shall hold and apply the same for the purposes provided in the Act, subject to such regulations as this resolution or the Financing Agreement may provide.


Section 5.6.
Conditions Precedent.  Upon the issuance of the Bonds, all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia or this resolution to happen, exist and to be performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bonds shall have happened, exist and have been performed.


Section 5.7.
Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of this resolution to be invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate any other provision of this resolution.


Section 5.8.
Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements of the Authority contained in this resolution shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.


Section 5.9.
Headings.  Any headings in this resolution are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of the resolution nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


Section 5.10
Filing of Resolution.  The Secretary of the Authority is directed to file a certified copy of this resolution with the Circuit Court of Russell County, Virginia, pursuant to Section 15.2-5126 of the Act.


Section 5.11.
Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately.


*     *     *


The undersigned Secretary of The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”), certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on July 21, 2020.  I further certify that such meeting was a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing resolution, a quorum was present.  I further certify that the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the members and the voting on the foregoing resolution as follows:


		Member

		Attendance

		Vote



		Carter McGlothlin, Chair

		

		



		Clifford Hess, Vice-Chair

		

		



		Chris Dye

		

		



		Terry Powers

		

		



		Joe Huff

		

		



		David Edmonds, Jr.

		

		





WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of The Russell County Public Service Authority, this __ day of July, 2020.


(SEAL)


Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority


#13168379

016049.0009




Borrower: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest:  0.75%


Loan Number: WSL-RC-02 Admin. Fee:  1.50%


Loan Amount: 5,901,097.65$ Late Fee:  5.00%


Cost of Funds: 2.25%
Principal Payments: 54


PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE FUNDS PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 1/1/2021 5,901,097.65$ 279,721.77$ 66,387.35$ 213,334.42$ 5,687,763.23$
2 7/1/2021 5,687,763.23 222,367.68 63,987.34 158,380.34 5,529,382.89
3 1/1/2022 5,529,382.89 220,585.90 62,205.56 158,380.34 5,371,002.55
4 7/1/2022 5,371,002.55 222,314.51 60,423.78 161,890.73 5,209,111.83
5 1/1/2023 5,209,111.83 220,493.24 58,602.51 161,890.73 5,047,221.10
6 7/1/2023 5,047,221.10 222,261.88 56,781.24 165,480.64 4,881,740.46
7 1/1/2024 4,881,740.46 220,400.22 54,919.58 165,480.64 4,716,259.82
8 7/1/2024 4,716,259.82 222,209.88 53,057.92 169,151.96 4,547,107.87
9 1/1/2025 4,547,107.87 220,306.92 51,154.96 169,151.96 4,377,955.91


10 7/1/2025 4,377,955.91 222,158.64 49,252.00 172,906.64 4,205,049.27
11 1/1/2026 4,205,049.27 220,213.44 47,306.80 172,906.64 4,032,142.63
12 7/1/2026 4,032,142.63 218,685.01 45,361.60 173,323.41 3,858,819.22
13 1/1/2027 3,858,819.22 216,735.13 43,411.72 173,323.41 3,685,495.81
14 7/1/2027 3,685,495.81 209,654.36 41,461.83 168,192.53 3,517,303.28
15 1/1/2028 3,517,303.28 207,762.19 39,569.66 168,192.53 3,349,110.75
16 7/1/2028 3,349,110.75 200,488.14 37,677.50 162,810.64 3,186,300.11
17 1/1/2029 3,186,300.11 198,656.52 35,845.88 162,810.64 3,023,489.47
18 7/1/2029 3,023,489.47 200,363.97 34,014.26 166,349.71 2,857,139.77
19 1/1/2030 2,857,139.77 198,492.53 32,142.82 166,349.71 2,690,790.06
20 7/1/2030 2,690,790.06 200,238.81 30,271.39 169,967.42 2,520,822.65
21 1/1/2031 2,520,822.65 198,326.67 28,359.25 169,967.42 2,350,855.23
22 7/1/2031 2,350,855.23 192,906.27 26,447.12 166,459.15 2,184,396.09
23 1/1/2032 2,184,396.09 191,033.61 24,574.46 166,459.15 2,017,936.94
24 7/1/2032 2,017,936.94 181,959.64 22,701.79 159,257.85 1,858,679.10
25 1/1/2033 1,858,679.10 180,167.99 20,910.14 159,257.85 1,699,421.25
26 7/1/2033 1,699,421.25 181,452.75 19,118.49 162,334.26 1,537,086.99
27 1/1/2034 1,537,086.99 179,626.49 17,292.23 162,334.26 1,374,752.73
28 7/1/2034 1,374,752.73 126,363.57 15,465.97 110,897.60 1,263,855.14
29 1/1/2035 1,263,855.14 125,115.97 14,218.37 110,897.60 1,152,957.54
30 7/1/2035 1,152,957.54 70,856.08 12,970.77 57,885.31 1,095,072.24
31 1/1/2036 1,095,072.24 70,204.87 12,319.56 57,885.31 1,037,186.93
32 7/1/2036 1,037,186.93 71,019.55 11,668.35 59,351.20 977,835.74
33 1/1/2037 977,835.74 70,351.85 11,000.65 59,351.20 918,484.54
34 7/1/2037 918,484.54 71,188.03 10,332.95 60,855.08 857,629.47
35 1/1/2038 857,629.47 70,503.41 9,648.33 60,855.08 796,774.39
36 7/1/2038 796,774.39 71,361.90 8,963.71 62,398.19 734,376.21
37 1/1/2039 734,376.21 70,659.92 8,261.73 62,398.19 671,978.02
38 7/1/2039 671,978.02 65,194.20 7,559.75 57,634.45 614,343.58
39 1/1/2040 614,343.58 64,545.82 6,911.37 57,634.45 556,709.13
40 7/1/2040 556,709.13 57,257.59 6,262.98 50,994.61 505,714.52
41 1/1/2041 505,714.52 56,683.90 5,689.29 50,994.61 454,719.91
42 7/1/2041 454,719.91 50,598.32 5,115.60 45,482.72 409,237.19
43 1/1/2042 409,237.19 49,181.44 4,603.92 44,577.52 364,659.67
44 7/1/2042 364,659.67 47,499.18 4,102.42 43,396.76 321,262.91
45 1/1/2043 321,262.91 46,991.47 3,614.21 43,377.26 277,885.65
46 7/1/2043 277,885.65 47,616.65 3,126.21 44,490.44 233,395.21
47 1/1/2044 233,395.21 47,096.22 2,625.70 44,470.52 188,924.69
48 7/1/2044 188,924.69 36,512.79 2,125.40 34,387.39 154,537.30
49 1/1/2045 154,537.30 36,105.59 1,738.54 34,367.05 120,170.25
50 7/1/2045 120,170.25 28,735.67 1,351.92 27,383.75 92,786.51
51 1/1/2046 92,786.51 30,250.33 1,043.85 29,206.48 63,580.03
52 7/1/2046 63,580.03 25,794.40 715.28 25,079.12 38,500.92
53 1/1/2047 38,500.92 25,512.26 433.14 25,079.12 13,421.80
54 7/1/2047 13,421.80 13,572.80 151.00 13,421.80 -


$7,196,357.80 $1,295,260.15 $5,901,097.65








Locality: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest:  0.00%


Project Number: WSL-RC-01 Admin. Fee:  0.00%


Loan Amount: 6,157,089.73$ Late Fee:  5.00%


Cost of Funds: 0.00%
Principal Payments: 42


PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE FUNDS PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 10/1/2020 6,157,089.73$ 16,920.20$ -$ 16,920.20$ 6,140,169.53$
2 4/1/2021 6,140,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,097,669.53
3 10/1/2021 6,097,669.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,055,169.53
4 4/1/2022 6,055,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,012,669.53
5 10/1/2022 6,012,669.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 5,970,169.53
6 4/1/2023 5,970,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 5,927,669.53
7 10/1/2023 5,927,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,762,669.53
8 4/1/2024 5,762,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,597,669.53
9 10/1/2024 5,597,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,432,669.53


10 4/1/2025 5,432,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,267,669.53
11 10/1/2025 5,267,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,102,669.53
12 4/1/2026 5,102,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,937,669.53
13 10/1/2026 4,937,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,772,669.53
14 4/1/2027 4,772,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,607,669.53
15 10/1/2027 4,607,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,442,669.53
16 4/1/2028 4,442,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,277,669.53
17 10/1/2028 4,277,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,112,669.53
18 4/1/2029 4,112,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,947,669.53
19 10/1/2029 3,947,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,782,669.53
20 4/1/2030 3,782,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,617,669.53
21 10/1/2030 3,617,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,452,669.53
22 4/1/2031 3,452,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,287,669.53
23 10/1/2031 3,287,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,122,669.53
24 4/1/2032 3,122,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,957,669.53
25 10/1/2032 2,957,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,792,669.53
26 4/1/2033 2,792,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,627,669.53
27 10/1/2033 2,627,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,462,669.53
28 4/1/2034 2,462,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,297,669.53
29 10/1/2034 2,297,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,132,669.53
30 4/1/2035 2,132,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,967,669.53
31 10/1/2035 1,967,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,802,669.53
32 4/1/2036 1,802,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,637,669.53
33 10/1/2036 1,637,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,472,669.53
34 4/1/2037 1,472,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,307,669.53
35 10/1/2037 1,307,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,142,669.53
36 4/1/2038 1,142,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 977,669.53
37 10/1/2038 977,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 812,669.53
38 4/1/2039 812,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 647,669.53
39 10/1/2039 647,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 482,669.53
40 4/1/2040 482,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 317,669.53
41 10/1/2040 317,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 152,669.53
42 4/1/2041 152,669.53 152,669.53 - 152,669.53 -


6,157,089.73$ $6,157,089.73






K&C Draft: 6/27/2020

MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT

dated as of __________ 1, 2020


BETWEEN

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, 


as Administrator of the


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


AND

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

Virginia Resources Authority


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


TABLE OF CONTENTS


[To Be Updated]


Page

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.
Definitions 
1


Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction 
4


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower 
5


ARTICLE III

ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BONDS

Section 3.1.
Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements
7


Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Entering into Master Financing Agreement
7


ARTICLE IV

USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT

Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds 
9


Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project 
10


Section 4.3.
Permits 
11


Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors 
11


Section 4.5.
Engineering Services 
11


Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project 
11


ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES

Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant 
12


Section 5.2.
Annual Budget 
13


Section 5.3.
Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report 
13

ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS

Section 6.1.
Payment of Local Bonds 
13


Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments 
14


ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS

Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bonds 
14


ARTICLE VIII

OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM

Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System 
15


Section 8.2.
Maintenance 
15


Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications 
15


Section 8.4.
Use of System 
15


Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records 
15


Section 8.6.
Ownership of System 
15


Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance 
16


Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues 
16


Section 8.9.
No Free Service 
16


Section 8.10.
No Competing Service 
17


Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection 
17


Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges 
17


ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

Section 9.1.
Insurance 
17


Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies 
18


Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation 
18


Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction 
18


Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title 
19


ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence 
19


Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements 
19


Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default 
20


Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness 
20


Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds 
20


Section 10.6.
Further Assurances 
22


Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness 
22


Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower 
22


Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act 
22


Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel 
22


Section 10.11.
Recordkeeping and Reporting 
23


Section 10.12.
Service Contracts 
23 


Section 10.13.
Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study 
23 


ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 11.1.
Events of Default 
23


Section 11.2.
Notice of Default 
24


Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default
24


Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver
25


Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept
25


ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns 
25


Section 12.2.
Amendments 
25


Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability
25


Section 12.4.
Applicable Law 
25


Section 12.5.
Severability 
26


Section 12.6.
Notices 
26


Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default 
26


Section 12.8.
Headings 
27


Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement 
27


Section 12.10.
Termination of Original Financing Agreements 
27


Section 12.11.
Counterparts 
27


EXHIBITS


Exhibit A - Form of Local Bonds


Exhibit B - Project Descriptions


Exhibit C - Project Budgets


Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel


Exhibit E - Form of Requisition


Exhibit F - Original Bonds


Exhibit G - Original Financing Agreements


Exhibit H - Existing Parity Bonds 


Exhibit I - Debt Service Schedules

Exhibit J - Form of Budget


Exhibit K - Support Agreement

MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT



THIS MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of __________, 2020, between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”), and THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”).



Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act.



The Borrower has requested certain loans from the Fund and has evidenced its obligation to repay such loans by its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower.  The Borrower has requested that the Authority agree to amendments to and restatements of the Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G (the “Russell PSA Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower, with respect to the Russell PSA Bonds.


The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and Castlewood WSA (the “Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements”).  Castlewood WSA has agreed to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the Borrower has agreed to assume the Castlewood WSA Bonds.  The parties desire to provide for the assumption by the Borrower of the obligations of the Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood WSA Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement.



The County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the County (the “County Financing Agreements”).  The County has agreed to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the County Bonds and the Borrower has agreed to assume the County Bonds.  The parties desire to provide for the assumption by the Borrower of the obligations of the County with respect to the County Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement.


ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS


Section 1.1.
Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Act:



“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.



“Agreement” means this Master Financing Agreement between the Authority and the Borrower, together with any amendments or supplements hereto.



“Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services attributable to certain of the Local Bonds.


“Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to perform the act or sign the document in question.



“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.


“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.



“Castlewood WSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described in Exhibit F issued by Castlewood WSA to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and Castlewood WSA as further described on Exhibit G.


“Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as Consulting Engineer under this Agreement.

“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, if any, payable as set forth in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I. 


“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.



“County Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described in Exhibit F issued by the County to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“County Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and the County as further described on Exhibit G.


“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default.



“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.



“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.



“Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit H, that on the respective dates of the Local Bonds’ issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds.



“Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its annual accounting period.



“Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements.


[“Funding Agreement” means the Funding Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower.]


“Local Bonds” means the bonds relating to the assumption of the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds and the amendment and restatement of the Russell PSA Bonds, substantially in the forms attached to this Financing Agreement as Exhibit A, issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement.



“Local Bond Proceeds” means the aggregate proceeds from the sale of the Local Bonds pursuant to this Agreement.



“Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the execution, issuance and delivery of the Local Bonds.



“Master Parity Agreement” means the Master Parity Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, among the Authority, the Borrower and United States of America, acting by and through the Rural Utilities Service, an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture.


“Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds.



“Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense.



“Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of (i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business.



“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable to the Authority.



“Original Bonds” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Bonds, the County Bonds and the Russell PSA Bonds.



“Original Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements.



“Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower issued under Section 10.5.



“Prior Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower  secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was superior to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds.



“Project” means, collectively, the particular projects described in Exhibit B, the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of which were financed or financing in whole or in part with the Local Bond Proceeds.



“Project Budgets” means, collectively, the budgets for the financing or the refinancing of each Project, copies of which are attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C.



“Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of each Project, as further described in the Project Budgets, and such other costs as may be approved in writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act.



“Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.



“Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment of its Local Bonds.



“Russell PSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described in Exhibit F issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“Russell PSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements between the Authority and Borrower as further described on Exhibit G.


“Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority [Add any service contracts transferred from Castlewood WSA and Russell County].



“Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower  secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly made subordinate to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds.



“Support Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Support Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of Exhibit K hereto.



“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist.



“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, among the Borrower, the County and The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.



Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise:




(a)
Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice versa.




(b)
All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.




(c)
The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS


Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement:




(a)
The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” (as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law.




(b)
The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and deliver the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the System, (iv) fix, charge and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the System, (v) construct, acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or refinance the Project Costs by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement and the issuance of the Local Bonds, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System  to the payment of the Local Bonds, and (vii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bonds.




(c)
This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and are in substantially the same form as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its meeting at which the Local Resolution was adopted.




(d)
All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds, (iii) the performance and enforcement of the obligations of the Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation and use of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the System.  The Borrower knows of no reason why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals not obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed.




(e)
This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their terms.




(f)
When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and this Agreement, the Local Bonds will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.




(g)
The issuance of the Local Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, including the Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Borrower or its property.




(h)
The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.




(i)
The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and (ii) is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and the compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the foregoing.




(j)
There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds or the issuance or delivery of the Local Bonds, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bonds or any agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds, (v) in any way affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bonds.



(k)
No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to the Authority.




(l)
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person. 




 (m)
There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds except any Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H.




(n)
The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts.



(o)
No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing.



(p)
All of the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are true and correct and all terms of the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are reaffirmed, ratified and confirmed.

ARTICLE III

AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF FINANCING AGREEMENTS


Section 3.1.
Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements; Assumption of Local Bonds.  (a)  This Agreement in part constitutes an amendment and restatement of the Financing Agreements with respect to the Local Bonds; however, this Agreement shall not constitute a novation of the original debt evidenced by the respective Local Bonds.



(b)
The Borrower agrees to assume each of Castlewood WSA’s and the County’s obligations to make payments of the principal and other sums that become due under its respective Local Bonds after the Closing Date.  The Authority agrees to release Castlewood WSA and the County from their respective obligations under its respective Local Bonds, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.


Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Entering into the Master Financing Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be effective until the Authority shall have received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority:




(a)
The Local Bonds, [the Funding Agreement,] the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement.




(b)
A certified copy of the Local Resolution.




(c)
A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require.




(d)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and satisfied by it as of such date.




(e)
An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed to the Fund and the Authority.




(f)
An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.




(g)
Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable to the Authority that the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are valid and enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary qualifications.


ARTICLE IV


USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT


Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds.



(a)
The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further agrees to exhibit to the Department or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse money from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each calendar month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Department) of the following:




(1)
A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement;




(2)
If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen,





(i)
a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the Project; and





(ii)
a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or discharged upon payment of the requisition.



Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and approval thereof by the Department, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder to or for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the extent approved by the Department and shall note the date and amount of each such disbursement on a schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is in default hereunder nor shall the Department have any obligation to approve any requisition if the Borrower is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.



(b)
The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Department, disbursements shall be held at ninety-five percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in Section 4.2 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, the Authority, to the extent approved by the Department and subject to the provisions of this Section and Section 4.2, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds to the extent of such approval.



The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1.



Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Department.  All plans, specifications and designs shall be approved by all applicable regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the Department through their duly authorized representatives to inspect such books and records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the Authority, with the consent of the Department, may amend the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B.



When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the Authority and the Department a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substantially in accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, as approved by the Department, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project Costs.



Section 4.3.
Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, promptly furnish to the Authority and the Department copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.  The Borrower shall also comply with all applicable lawful program or procedural guidelines or requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Department in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable federal laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection with the Project and the funding thereof from the Fund.  Where noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the Authority or the Department, the issue shall be referred to the proper governmental authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action.



Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority, the Department and the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during the construction period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  Upon request of the Authority, the Department or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each contractor to furnish evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority, the Department and the Board.



Section 4.5.
Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, the Authority and the Department as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Department the certificates required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2.



Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the Borrower’s payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement.

ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES


Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the execution and delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act.  The lien of this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the Revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of the Borrower to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of whether such parties have notice of this pledge.



(a)
The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to pay the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Additional Payments and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles (the “Rate Covenant”).  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to satisfy the foregoing covenant, the Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide sufficient Revenues to satisfy such requirement.



(b)
On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the Rate Covenant, the Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any deficiency.


Section 5.2.
Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit J to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority.



Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the Rate Covenant, within two hundred ten (210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making recommendations as to the proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be established by the Borrower to satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to the Authority and, subject to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining such report.



(b)
If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the Rate Covenant when such measures have been implemented and become fully effective.  Such alternative plan shall be filed with the Authority not later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant’s report along with a detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for rejecting the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Authority reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and require the Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.

ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS


Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bonds.  The Local Bonds shall be dated as of the Closing Date.  The Cost of Funds, if any, of each of the Local Bonds shall be computed on the disbursed principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate set forth on Exhibit I with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Principal and the Cost of Funds, if any, due under each of the Local Bonds shall be payable in equal installments as set forth on Exhibit I with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  All amounts due hereunder and under each of the Local Bonds shall be due and payable in full with the final installment of principal and Cost of Funds, if any, due as set forth on Exhibit I with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Each installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds, if any, accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.   If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing, until all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such installment.  If any installment of principal of or the Cost of Funds, if any, on any of the Local Bonds is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay the Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue installment on such Local Bonds.


Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Borrower agrees to pay on demand of the Authority the following Additional Payments:





(1)
The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and





(2)
All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant to the provisions hereof.



The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid.


ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS


Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bonds.  At its option and after giving at least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local Bonds at any time, in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the date on which the Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bonds will be prepaid in full or in part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial prepayment shall be applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bonds but shall not postpone the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bonds, or change the amount of such installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing.


ARTICLE VIII

OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM


Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.



Section 8.2.
Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.



Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifications and improvements shall become part of the System.



Section 8.4.
Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the cost of making the same.



Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System.



Section 8.6.
Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes.



Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing:




(a)
The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the System;




(b)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and




(c)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, and then, if such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bonds under Article VII hereof.



Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower.



Section 8.9.
No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges.



Section 8.10.
No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would compete with the System.



Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower.



Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the “Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues (collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten (10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement.


ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION


Section 9.1.
Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character to the System, including, without limitation:




(a)
Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.




(b)
Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of $2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation or use of the System.




(c)
Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, workers’ compensation insurance.



The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance.



The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect.



Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law.



Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of (i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations.



Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII.



Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any such condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII.


ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS


Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bonds and this Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.



Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower during such Fiscal Year satisfied the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall furnish to the Authority copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by the Borrower.  Such report shall include statements in reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the Borrower’s operations and changes in the financial position of its funds for the Fiscal Year.  



Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it.



Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds.



Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on parity with the Local Bonds with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bonds, Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); provided in each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or delivered, the Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following:




(a)
Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds.




(b)
A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds.




(c)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding of the Local Bonds, Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection (iv)(C) below, a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant, to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent Consultant, as applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the issuance of the Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds available to the Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will be sufficient to pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time which will be required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the Parity Bond proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such improvements or acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of Revenues, or (C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the improvements or the acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing this certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person and entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues of the System to be derived under then existing contractual agreements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the Borrower.




(d)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bonds (with the consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds, either (i) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory to the Authority that the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each of the years the Local Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded would have been outstanding which are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each such year on the Local Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant to the effect that during the first two complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the certificate described in clause (ii), the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account the factors described in the last two sentences of subsection (c) of this Section.



(e)
An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute compliance with the provisions of this Section.



Section 10.6.
Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and demands of all persons.



Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection therewith.



Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bonds and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the Local Bonds and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bonds and this Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations.



Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as amended.


Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials.


Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities.


Section 10.12.
Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement.


Section 10.13.
  [Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the Borrower on or before __________, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors of the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates for a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) that satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, on or before __________, 2020 for review.]

[Add language regarding debt service and/or operating reserve]

[Add language regarding control over PSA and County leachate]


ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES


Section 11.1.
Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default”:




(a)
The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds, if any, due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bonds or this Agreement;




(b)
The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions of the Local Bonds, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the Default is corrected;




(c)
Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bonds is false or misleading in any material respect;




(d)
[The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 5.3(b) and (c) thereof;]




(e)
The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder;




(f)
An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after the entry thereof;




(g)
Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances secured by or payable from Revenues; or




(h)
Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after filing.



Section 11.2.
Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the existence thereof.



Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the following remedial steps:




(a)
Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due on the Local Bonds and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and




(b)
Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bonds and under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bonds, which the Borrower hereby agrees are assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.



Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereto.


Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds, if any, shall not be paid when the same shall become due and payable.


ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS


Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.



Section 12.2.
Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement.


Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the Local Bonds or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bonds nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds or other costs incident thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of fraud, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be liable personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bonds or for any other action taken by such individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or the Local Bonds.



Section 12.4.
Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable laws of Virginia.



Section 12.5.
Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law.



Section 12.6.
Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bonds or this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:



Fund:


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


c/o Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Authority:

Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Board:


Virginia Department of Health


109 Governor Street


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  State Health Commissioner


Borrower:

The Russell County Public Service Authority


____________________


__________, Virginia  _____


Attention:  Chairman


A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention the same shall be directed.



Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or to perform any act required by it under the Local Bonds or this Agreement, the Authority without prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bonds.



Section 12.8.
Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement.



Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bonds previously or simultaneously shall have been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bonds and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bonds and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement.



Section 12.10.
Termination of Original Financing Agreements.  The Original Financing Agreements heretofore executed between the parties thereto is cancelled and terminated as of the Closing Date, provided that such cancellation and termination shall not be construed as a waiver, relinquishment or release of any claims, damages, liability, rights of action or causes of action that the parties thereto may have against the other thereunder and that have accrued before the effective date of this Agreement.


Section 12.11.
Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.


[Signature Page Follows]



WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


EXHIBIT A

LOCAL BONDS

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]


EXHIBIT B

Project DescriptionS


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]


EXHIBIT C

Project BudgetS

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]

EXHIBIT D

Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


EXHIBIT E


FORM OF REQUISITION


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Come]


EXHIBIT F


ORIGINAL BONDS


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

“Original Bonds” means, collectively, (a) the following bonds issued by the Borrower (the “Russell PSA Bonds”):


(1) $99,775 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Green Valley Project);


(2) $1,534,941 The Russell County Public Service Authority Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Big A Mountain Phase II Project);


(3) $325,227 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, Series 2010-A (Back Valley—Big A Mountain Interconnection Project);


(4) $1,059,765 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, Series 2011-A (Green Valley West Water Line Extension Project);


(5) $103,783 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, Series 2011-B  (Long Branch/Strouth Creek/Fuller Mt. Water Line Extension Project);


(6) $700,843 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, Series 2012-A (New Garden/Finney Water Line Extension Project);


(7) $3,537,000 Water Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014;


(8) $93,071 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Mountain Meadows Line Extension Project);


(9) $294,202 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (iPerl Radio Read Meter Replacement Project);


(10) $445,925 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Route 656 East Water Line Extension Project);


(11) $197,027 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Thompson Creek/Tunnel Road Waterline Extension Project); and


(12) $512,023 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Fincastle Estates Waterline Extension Project);


and (b) the following bonds issued by the County that have been assumed by the Borrower (the “County Bonds”):


(13) $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project);


(14) $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project);


(15) $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);

(16) $935,690 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001A (Big A Mountain Project);


(17) $1,678,400 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001B (Belfast Project);


(18) $344,477 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001C (Pine Creek Project);


(19) $822,366 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2002A (Swords Creek Public Service Authority) (Clark’s Valley Project);


(20) $556,538 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Drill Mountain Project);


(21) $91,439 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005B (Clark’s Valley—South Extension Water Project);


(22) $1,906,717 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005E  (Belfast –Rosedale Project);


(23) $415,518 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2006A (Miller Creek/Frank’s Hollow/Honeysuckle Lane Project); and


(24) $197,170 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2007A (Belfast—Highlands and Yates Project);


and (c) the following bonds issued by Castlewood WSA that have been assumed by the Borrower (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”):


(25) 

(26) $640,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2001 (Red Oak Ridge Water Project);


(27) $653,250 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002 (Mew Road Water Project);


(28) $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project);


(29) $661,019 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2004 (Carbo/Back Valley Water Project);


(30) 

(31) $299,409 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Seven Springs Water Project); 


(32) $359,813 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Castlewood Heights Water Project); 


(33) $200,400 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008B (Blue Devil Water Project);


(34) $167,012 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2010 (Kingland Heights Water Project); 


(35) $100,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2011 (Castlewood Phase One Water Project); 


(36) $325,473 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2012 (Route 58/Memorial Drive/Greystone Water Project); 


(37) 

(38) $163,680 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Upper Bear Wallow Water Project); and

(39) $317,151 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Radio Read Meter Replacement and Telemetry Installation Project).

EXHIBIT G


ORIGINAL FINANCING AGREEMENTS


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]

EXHIBIT H

Prior Bonds AND Existing Parity Bonds


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE Authority

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


Prior Bonds:


None


Existing Parity Bonds:


EXHIBIT I


DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]


EXHIBIT J

FORM OF BUDGET

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead)


[Date]


Executive Director


Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Dear Mr./Ms. __________:


Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated below.


		Revenues1

		Operation & Maintenance Expense

		Net Revenues Available for Debt Service


( Revenues – O&M Expense)

		Debt Service

		Coverage


(Net Revenues Available for Debt Service/Debt Service)



		

		

		

		

		





__________________________________________


1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,    


   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement.


All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement[s].


Very truly yours,


By: __________________________


Its: _________________________


EXHIBIT K


AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the first day of __________, 2020, by and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia (the “County”), THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as purchaser of the Local Bonds, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Master Financing Agreement dated as of the date hereof (the “Master Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower.


RECITALS:


WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns and operates the System in the County;



WHEREAS, the Borrower has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the “Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower;



WHEREAS, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  Castlewood WSA;



WHEREAS, the County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  Castlewood WSA;



WHEREAS, the Borrower desires to amend and restate its obligations with respect to the Russell PSA Bonds, assume the obligations of Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood WSA Bonds and assume the obligations of the County with respect to the County Bonds; 



WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________, 2020, a resolution authorizing, among other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board to consider certain appropriations in support of the Castlewood WSA Bonds, the County Bonds and the Russell PSA Bonds (collectively, the “Local Bonds”).


Agreement


NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 



 1.
Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement shall have the meaning given it in the Master Financing Agreement.



 2.
No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__, the Borrower shall notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under the Master Financing Agreement, the Local Bonds and any other indebtedness secured by or payable from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H to the Master Financing Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the Additional Payments in full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the following July 1.


 3.
The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual Deficiency Amount.



 4.
If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment. 



 5.
The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the County’s next fiscal year. 



 6.
The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of Supervisors do likewise. 



7.
The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local Bonds without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing the Local Bonds, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such nonpayment.


 8.
Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bonds or to any other person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein. 



 9.
Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to ____________________, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to ____________________, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may designate any other address for notices or requests by giving notice. 


10.
It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 



11.
This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bonds and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Master Financing Agreement have been paid in full. 



12.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.


[Signature page follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be executed in their respective names as of the date first above written. 


BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


EXHIBIT A

LOCAL BONDS

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

[To Be Provided]


A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONSTRUCTION AND FINANCING OF IMPROVEMENTS TO THE WATER SYSTEM OF THE 
RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY TO IMPROVE AND EXTEND SERVICE IN THE GLADE HOLLOW AND GLADE HILL AREAS OF RUSSELL COUNTY AND THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND AWARD OF A NOT TO EXCEED $418,700 WATER REVENUE BOND AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE BOND

The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”) is a public body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”).

The Authority is authorized to acquire, construct, operate and maintain a water system in certain areas of Russell County and to borrow money and to issue its revenue bonds to pay all or part of the cost of such system.

The Authority has determined to construct and equip improvements and extensions to its waterlines and water service in the Glade Hollow and Glade Hill areas in its service area and to issue its revenue bond in an amount not greater than the Maximum Amount, defined below, the proceeds of which, together with other available funds, are estimated to be sufficient to pay the cost of the Project authorized by this resolution.

The Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund, has offered to purchase such revenue bond upon certain terms and conditions, and the Authority, after mature consideration of the condition of the municipal bond market and other methods of selling its bonds, has determined to satisfy such terms and conditions and award the bond to the VRA.


BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY:


ARTICLE I


Definitions

Section 1.1.
Definitions.  Whenever used in this resolution, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:


“Act” means the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended).


“Authority” means The Russell County Public Service Authority, a public body politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, and by a certificate of incorporation issued by the State Corporation Commission of Virginia on April 4, 1986, as amended.


 “Board of Supervisors” means the Board of Supervisors of the County.


“Bond” means the Authority's water and sewer revenue bond issued pursuant to this resolution.


“Closing Date” means the date on which the Bond is delivered to the VRA upon payment or partial payment of the purchase price for the Bond.


“Consulting Engineer” means the engineering firm or individual engineer as may be employed by the Authority as Consulting Engineer in accordance with the Financing Agreement.


“County” means Russell County, Virginia.


“Financing Agreement” means the financing agreement executed by the Authority and the VRA in accordance with Section 4.1 of this resolution, and acknowledged, consented and agreed to by the County.


“Fund” means the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund acting by and through the Virginia Resources Authority, its successors and assigns.

“Government” means the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities Service, United States Department of Agriculture.


“Parity Bonds” means

1. $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project)


2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project)


3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs Project);

4. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project);


5. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project);


6. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A);

7. $23,173.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A; 

8. $6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B; and

9.
$5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C.

“Maximum Amount” means $418,700.

“Project” means the improvements to, and extensions of, waterlines and water service in the Glade Hollow and Glade Hill areas in the service area of the Authority, together with related expenses, and as may be more fully described in the Financing Agreement. 


“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, of which the Project constitutes the whole or is a part, owned, operated or maintained by the Authority and used in connection with the collection, storage, treatment or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater.

“VRA” means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, its successors and assigns, as Administrator of the Fund.

ARTICLE II


Authorization of Project

Section 2.1.
The Project.  The construction and equipping of the Project is authorized. The Project is found and ordered to be a part of the System.


ARTICLE III


Authorization, Award, Details, Execution, Form,


Registration and Delivery of Bond

Section 3.1.
Authorization of Bond.  Pursuant to the Act, there is authorized to be issued and sold a water and sewer revenue bond of the Authority in the principal amount not to exceed the Maximum Amount (the “Bond”), to provide funds, together with other available funds, to finance the cost of the Project.   


Section 3.2.
Award of Bond.  After mature consideration of the methods of sale of such bond and current conditions of the municipal bond market, it is determined that it is in the best interest of the Authority and the County for the Authority to accept the offer of the VRA to purchase the Bond upon certain terms and conditions set forth in the Financing Agreement.


Section 3.3.
Details of Bond.   



(a)  
The Bond shall bear an appropriate designation as determined by either of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority, each of whom is authorized to provide the designation for the Bond in order to appropriately identify it.  The Bond will provide for principal advances to be made and noted on the Bond from time to time as funds are advanced by the VRA under the Bond.  The Bond shall be issued as a single, fully registered bond without coupons, shall be dated the Closing Date, shall be numbered R-1, shall bear a Cost of Funds not to exceed two and fifty one hundredths percent (2.50%) per annum (referred to in this resolution and in the Financing Agreement as the “Cost of Funds” on the Bond), composed of interest to the Fund of 1.00% and a fee of 1.50% for administrative management services. The principal of and the Cost of Funds on the Bond shall be in the amount and shall be payable semi-annually in the amounts and on the dates established in accordance with subsection (b) below.



(b)
Each of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized and directed to determine the principal amount of the Bond and to accept the dates on which, and the amounts in which, principal of and the Cost of Funds on the Bond will be due, as established by the VRA before the Closing Date; provided, however, that the principal amount of the Bond shall not exceed the Maximum Amount, and the final maturity of the Bond shall be no greater than thirty-five (35) years after the Closing Date.  The execution and delivery of the Bond as described in Section 3.4 and Section 3.7 of this resolution shall conclusively evidence such principal amount and payment dates and amounts established by VRA as having been so accepted as authorized by this Resolution.  Principal of and the Cost of Funds on the Bond shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  


Section 3.4.
Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be signed by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority, and the Authority's seal shall be affixed to the Bond and attested by the Authority's Secretary.


Section 3.5.
Form of Bond.  The Bond shall be in substantially the following form, with such variations, insertions and omissions as shall be consistent with this resolution, the execution and delivery of the Bond constituting conclusive evidence that any variations, insertions and omissions are so consistent:


[To be completed at Closing—Form of Bond only]


No. R-1
$[amount]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA


COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY


Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020

Dated [date]

The Russell County Public Service Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), for value received, promises to pay, solely from the revenues described and pledged in the Financing Agreement, as defined below, to the payment of this Bond, to the order of the Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), or registered assigns, the principal sum equal to the aggregate amount of principal advances shown on the attached Schedule of Principal Advances, but not to exceed the sum of

[amount] DOLLARS


($[amount])

with interest (the “Cost of Funds”), including the portion allocable to the annual administrative fee payable as set forth in Section 6.1 of the “Financing Agreement” defined below, on the unpaid principal from the date of each principal advance shown on the attached Certificate of Principal Advances until payment of the entire principal sum at the annual rate of two and fifty one hundredths percent (2.50%), composed of interest to the Fund of 1.00% and a fee of 1.50% for administrative management services. 



The principal of and the Cost of Funds on this Bond shall be due and payable as follows: 



The Cost of Funds only on all amounts disbursed under the Bond shall be due and payable on [date].  Commencing [date], and continuing semi-annually thereafter on [month] 1 and [month] 1 in each year, principal and the Cost of Funds due under the Bond shall be due and payable in equal installments of $[amount], with a final installment of $[amount] due and payable on [date], when if not sooner paid, all amounts due under this Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.  If principal advances up to the maximum authorized amount are not made, the principal amount due on this Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Authority and VRA agree otherwise in writing, until all payments due hereunder shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of this Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due hereunder or change the amount of such installment unless the principal amount due under this Bond is less than the amount of such installment.  

In addition, if any installment of principal of or the Cost of Funds on this Bond is not received by the registered owner of this Bond within ten (10) days from its due date, the Authority shall pay to the registered owner of this Bond a late payment charge in the amount equal to five percent (5.00%) of such overdue installment.  Principal of and the Cost of Funds on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States.

Neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia nor the faith and credit of any county, city, town or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia are pledged to the payment of the principal of or the Cost of Funds on this Bond.

This Bond has been authorized by a resolution duly adopted by the Authority on [date] (the “Bond Resolution”) and is issued pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the “Act”), and pursuant to the terms of a Financing Agreement dated as of [date] between the VRA and the Authority (the “Financing Agreement”) to evidence a loan from the Fund to the Authority, to provide funds, together with other available funds, to finance the cost of constructing and equipping improvements to, and extensions of, waterlines and water service in the Glade Hollow and Glade Hill areas in the service area of the Authority in Russell County, Virginia, together with related expenses.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution and the Financing Agreement and any amendments to it for the provisions, among others, describing the pledge and covenants securing this Bond, the nature and extent of the security, the terms and conditions upon which this Bond is issued, the rights and obligations of the Authority and the rights of the bondholder.  Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined have the meanings given them in the Financing Agreement.


Principal of and the Cost of Funds on this Bond are payable solely from the revenues of the System pledged to the payment of them in the Financing Agreement and from amounts, if any, received pursuant to the Support Agreement, as defined in the Bond Resolution. 



In accordance with the Financing Agreement, the lien of the pledge of revenues securing the payment of the principal of and the Cost of Funds on this Bond is and shall be on parity with the lien of any pledge of revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds as defined in the Financing Agreement.

No notation is required to be made on this Bond of the payment of any principal on normal installment payment dates or of any prepayments of principal.  HENCE, THE FACE AMOUNT OF THIS BOND MAY EXCEED THE PRINCIPAL SUM REMAINING OUTSTANDING AND DUE HEREUNDER. 


Transfer of this Bond may be registered upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Bond Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond  and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner. 


This Bond is subject to optional prepayment to the extent and on the terms set forth in the Financing Agreement. 


If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Agreement) occurs, the principal of and the Cost of Funds on this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the holder by written notice to the Authority. 


Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the principal and Cost of Funds provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay such additional amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in full of all amounts due under the Financing Agreement. 


All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond have happened, exist and have been performed. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be signed by the Chairman of the Authority, its seal to be affixed this Bond and attested by the Secretary of the Authority, and this Bond to be dated the date first shown above.


		(SEAL)

ATTEST:

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_____________________________

Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority

		

		[NOT FOR SIGNATURE]

_________________________________


Chairman, The Russell County Public Service Authority



		

		

		





		

		

		

		

		





SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL ADVANCES


The amount and date of principal advances not to exceed the face amount hereof shall be entered hereon by an authorized officer of the VRA, when the proceeds of each such principal advance are delivered to the Authority.

		Amount





		

		Date





		

		Authorized Signature








[End of Bond Form]


Upon request of the VRA, the Authority shall arrange to have prepared, executed, authenticated and delivered in exchange as soon as practicable bonds in printed form in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Bond in typewritten form, in denominations of $5,000 and multiples of $5,000, except for one bond which may be issued in an odd denomination of not less than $5,000, of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested by the VRA or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  The typewritten bond surrendered in any such exchange shall be canceled.


Section 3.6.
Registration and Exchange of Bond.  Transfer of the Bond may be registered upon books maintained for that purpose at the office of the Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.


Section 3.7.
Delivery of Bond.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman and the Secretary of the Authority are authorized and directed to take all proper steps to have the Bond prepared and executed in accordance with its terms and to deliver the Bond to the VRA in accordance with the terms of the Financing Agreement.

Section 3.8.
Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If the Bond has been mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the Treasurer and cancellation of, such mutilated Bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond; provided, however, that the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver a new Bond only if its registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority in connection therewith and, in the case of a lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond (i) has filed with the Registrar evidence satisfactory to him or her that such Bond was lost, stolen, or destroyed and that the holder of the Bond was its registered owner and (ii) has furnished to the Authority indemnity satisfactory to the Registrar.  If the Bond has matured, instead of issuing a new Bond, the Authority may pay the Bond without surrender upon receipt of the aforesaid evidence and indemnity.


ARTICLE IV


Financing Agreement, Funding Agreement, Support Agreement, Transfer Agreement, and Revenues 


Section 4.1.
Authorization of Financing Agreement, Funding Agreement, Support Agreement, and Other Matters.  The Financing Agreement between the VRA and the Authority, and acknowledged, consented and agreed to by the County (the “Financing Agreement”), the Funding Agreement between the VRA and the Authority (the “Funding Agreement”), and the Support Agreement among the Authority, the County and the VRA, the forms of which have been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the records of the Authority, are approved.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Financing Agreement, the Funding Agreement, and the Support Agreement in substantially the forms submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of the Financing Agreement, the Funding Agreement, and Support Agreement.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Bond, the Financing Agreement, the Funding Agreement, or the Support Agreement, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed.


Section 4.2.
Pledge of Revenues.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the Financing Agreement, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Bond.  Such pledge shall be on parity with the pledge of such revenues securing the payment of the Parity Bonds.  


ARTICLE V


Miscellaneous

Section 5.1.
Contract with Bondholder.  The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a contract between the Authority and the holder of the Bond for so long as the Bond is outstanding.


Section 5.2.
Authority of Officers and Agents.  The officers and agents of the Authority shall do all acts and things required of them by this resolution, the Bond, the Financing Agreement, the Funding Agreement, the Support Agreement, and the Act for the complete and punctual performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained therein.


Section 5.3.
Limitation of Rights.  Nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this resolution or the Bond is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company other than the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this resolution or any covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained; this resolution and all of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond as herein provided.


Section 5.4.
Limitation of Liability of Officials of Authority.  No covenant, condition or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the Authority nor any officer thereof executing the Bond shall be liable personally on the Bond or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof.  No member, officer, employee or agent of the authority shall incur any personal liability with respect to any other action taken by him pursuant to this resolution or the Act, provided he acts in good faith.


Section 5.5.
Trust Funds.
In accordance with Section 15.2-5140 of the Act, any officer to whom, or any bank, trust company or other fiscal agent to which, moneys received pursuant to the Act are paid shall act as trustee of such moneys and shall hold and apply the same for the purposes provided in the Act, subject to such regulations as this resolution or the Financing Agreement may provide.


Section 5.6.
Conditions Precedent.  Upon the issuance of the Bond, all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia or this resolution to happen, exist and to be performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bond shall have happened, exist and have been performed.


Section 5.7.
Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of this resolution to be invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate any other provision of this resolution.


Section 5.8.
Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements of the Authority contained in this resolution shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.


Section 5.9.
Headings.  Any headings in this resolution are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of the resolution nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


Section 5.10
Filing of Resolution.  The Secretary of the Authority is directed to file a certified copy of this resolution with the Circuit Court of Russell County, Virginia, pursuant to Section 15.2-5126 of the Act.


Section 5.11.
Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately.


*     *     *


The undersigned Secretary of The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”), certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on July _, 2020.  I further certify that such meeting was a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing resolution, a quorum was present.  I further certify that the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the members and the voting on the foregoing resolution as follows:


		Member

		Attendance

		Vote



		Carter McGlothlin, Chair

		

		



		Clifford Hess, Vice-Chair

		

		



		Chris Dye

		

		



		Terry Powers

		

		



		Joe Huff

		

		



		David Edmonds, Jr.

		

		





WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of The Russell County Public Service Authority, this __ day of July, 2020.


(SEAL)


Secretary, The Russell County Public Service Authority


#13022350

016049.0009


KC Draft: 08/12/2019

FINANCING AGREEMENT

dated as of __________ 1, 2019

BETWEEN

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, 


as Administrator of the


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


AND

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

Virginia Resources Authority


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


Loan No. WSL-020-18

Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project

TABLE OF CONTENTS


Page

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.
Definitions 
1


Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction 
4


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower 
5

ARTICLE III

ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND

Section 3.1.
Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond 
7

Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond 
7

ARTICLE IV

USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT

Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds 
9

Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project 
10

Section 4.3.
Permits 
11

Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors 
11

Section 4.5.
Engineering Services 
11

Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project 
12

ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES

Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant 
12

Section 5.2.
Annual Budget 
13

Section 5.3.
Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report 
13

ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS

Section 6.1.
Payment of Local Bond 
13

Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments 
14

ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS

Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bond 
14

ARTICLE VIII

OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM

Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System 
15

Section 8.2.
Maintenance 
15

Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications 
15

Section 8.4.
Use of System 
15

Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records 
15

Section 8.6.
Ownership of Land 
15

Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance 
16

Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues 
16

Section 8.9.
No Free Service 
16

Section 8.10.
No Competing Service 
17

Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection 
17

Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges 
17

ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

Section 9.1.
Insurance 
17

Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies 
18

Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation 
18

Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction 
18

Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title 
19

ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence 
19

Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements 
19

Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default 
20

Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness 
20

Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds 
20

Section 10.6.
Further Assurances 
22

Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness 
22

Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower 
22

Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act 
22

Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel 
22

Section 10.11.
Recordkeeping and Reporting 
23

Section 10.12.
Service Contracts 
23 


Section 10.13.
Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study 
23 


ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 11.1.
Events of Default 
23

Section 11.2.
Notice of Default 
24

Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default
24

Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver
25

Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept
25

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns 
25

Section 12.2.
Amendments 
25

Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability
25

Section 12.4.
Applicable Law 
25

Section 12.5.
Severability 
26

Section 12.6.
Notices 
26

Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default 
26

Section 12.8.
Headings 
27

Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement 
27

Section 12.10.
Commitment Letter 
27

Section 12.11.
Counterparts 
27

EXHIBITS


Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond


Exhibit B - Project Description


Exhibit C - Project Budget


Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel


Exhibit E - Requisition for Disbursement


Exhibit F - Prior Bonds and Existing Parity Bonds 


Exhibit G - Form of Budget


Exhibit H - Support Agreement

FINANCING AGREEMENT



THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of __________, 2019, between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND, and THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”).



Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act.



The Borrower has requested a loan from the Fund and will evidence its obligation to repay such loan by the Local Bond the Borrower will issue and sell to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.  The Borrower will use the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the Authority to finance that portion of the Project Costs not being paid from other sources, all as further set forth in the Project Budget.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS


Section 1.1.
Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Act:



“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.



“Agreement” means this Financing Agreement between the Authority and the Borrower, together with any amendments or supplements hereto.



“Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in Section 6.1(a)(ii) payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services attributable to the Local Bond.


“Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to perform the act or sign the document in question.



“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.



“Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.



“Commitment Letter” means the commitment letter from the Authority to the Borrower, dated __________, 2019, and all extensions and amendments thereto.



“Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as Consulting Engineer under this Agreement.

“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, payable as set forth in Section 6.1. 


“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.



“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default.



“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.



“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.



“Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond.



“Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its annual accounting period.



“Funding Agreement” means the Funding Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower.


“Local Bond” means the bond in substantially the form attached to this Financing Agreement as Exhibit A issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement.



“Local Bond Proceeds” means the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement.



“Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the execution, issuance and delivery of the Local Bond.



“Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds.



“Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense.



“Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of (i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business.



“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable to the Authority.



“Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower issued under Section 10.5.



“Prior Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, as further described in Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was superior to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond.



“Project” means the particular project described in Exhibit B, the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of which are to be financed or refinanced in whole or in part with the Local Bond Proceeds.



“Project Budget” means the budget for the financing or the refinancing of the Project, a copy of which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C, with such changes therein as may be approved in writing by the Authority.



“Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of the Project, as further described in the Project Budget, and such other costs as may be approved in writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act.



“Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.



“Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment of its Local Bond.


“Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority [ADD ANY SERVICE CONTRACTS TRANSFERRED FROM CASTLEWOOD WSA].



“Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower described on Exhibit F, secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly made subordinate to the pledge of Revenues securing the payment of the Local Bond.



“Support Agreement” means the Support Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto.



“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist.



“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2019, between the Borrower and ____________________.



Section 1.2.
Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise:




(a)
Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice versa.




(b)
All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.




(c)
The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.


ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS


Section 2.1.
Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement:




(a)
The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” (as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law.




(b)
The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and deliver the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the System, (iv) fix, charge and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the System, (v) construct, acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or refinance the Project Costs by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement and the issuance of the Local Bond, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System  to the payment of the Local Bond, and (vii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bond.



(c)
This Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bond were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and are in substantially the same form as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its meeting at which the Local Resolution was adopted.




(d)
All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bond, (iii) the performance and enforcement of the obligations of the Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation and use of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the System.  The Borrower knows of no reason why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals not obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed.




(e)
This Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their terms.




(f)
When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and this Agreement, the Local Bond will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.




(g)
The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, including the Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Borrower or its property.




(h)
The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.




(i)
The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and (ii) is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and the compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the foregoing.




(j)
There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond or the issuance or delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bond or any agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond, (v) in any way affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bond.



(k)
There have been no defaults by any contractor or subcontractor under any contract made by the Borrower in connection with the construction or equipping of the Project.




(l)
No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to the Authority.




(m)
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person. 




 (n)
There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond except any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds set forth on Exhibit F.




(o)
The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts.



(p)
No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing.


ARTICLE III

ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND


Section 3.1.
Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond. The Borrower agrees to borrow from the Authority and the Authority agrees to lend to the Borrower, from the Fund, the principal amount equal to the sum of the principal disbursements made pursuant to Section 4.1, but not to exceed $_____ for the purposes herein set forth, a portion of which may be made from federal financial assistance.  The Borrower’s obligation shall be evidenced by the Local Bond, which shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof and delivered to the Authority on the Closing Date.  The Local Bond shall be in the original principal amount of the loan and shall mature, bear a Cost of Funds and be payable as hereinafter provided.


Section 3.2.
Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond.  The Authority shall not be required to make the loan to Borrower and purchase the Local Bond unless the Authority shall have received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority:




(a)
The Local Bond, the Funding Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement.




(b)
A certified copy of the Local Resolution.




(c)
A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require.




(d)
A closing certificate from the Department certifying that the Project is in compliance with all federal and state laws and project requirements applicable to the Fund.



(e)
A certificate of the Consulting Engineer estimating the total Project Costs to be financed with the Local Bond Proceeds, which estimate is in an amount and otherwise compatible with the financing plan described in the Project Budget.



(f)
A certificate of the Consulting Engineer to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer (i) the Project will be a part of the System, and (ii) the Local Bond Proceeds and funds available from the other sources specified in the Project Budget will be sufficient to pay the estimated Project Costs.




(g)
A certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant that in the opinion of the Qualified Independent Consultant, during the first two complete Fiscal Years of the Borrower following completion of the Project, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will satisfy the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  In providing this certificate, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person or entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues to be derived under existing contractual arrangements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the consumer base of the Borrower.




(h)
A certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the date the Borrower is expected to complete the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project.




(i)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that all governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals for the Project required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained and a statement of the Consulting Engineer that he knows of no reason why any future required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals cannot be obtained as needed.




(j)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has obtained or has made arrangements satisfactory to the Authority to obtain any funds or other financing for the Project as contemplated in the Project Budget.




(k)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and satisfied by it as of such date.




(l)
An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed to the Fund and the Authority.




(m)
An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.




(n)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has complied with the insurance provisions set forth in Sections 9.1 and 9.2 hereof.




(o)
Evidence that the Borrower has satisfied all conditions precedent to the issuance of the Local Bond as a “Parity Bond” under the financing agreements for the Existing Parity Bonds.




(p)
Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Service Contracts are in full force and effect and that they are binding and enforceable agreements as to each of the Borrower and the other parties to such agreements.




(q)
Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable to the Authority that the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are valid and enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary qualifications.

ARTICLE IV

USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT


Section 4.1.
Application of Proceeds.



(a)
The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further agrees to exhibit to the Board or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse money from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each calendar month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Board) of the following:




(1)
A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement;




(2)
If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen,





(i)
a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the Project; and





(ii)
a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or discharged upon payment of the requisition.



Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and approval thereof by the Board, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder to or for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the extent approved by the Board and shall note the date and amount of each such disbursement on a schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is in default hereunder nor shall the Board have any obligation to approve any requisition if the Borrower is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.



(b)
The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, disbursements shall be held at ninety-five percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in Section 4.2 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, the Authority, to the extent approved by the Board and subject to the provisions of this Section and Section 4.2, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds to the extent of such approval.



The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1.



Section 4.2.
Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Board.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to complete the Project by the date set forth in the certificate provided to the Authority pursuant to Section 3.2(h).  All plans, specifications and designs shall be approved by all applicable regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the Board through their duly authorized representatives to inspect such books and records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the Authority, with the consent of the Board, may amend the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B.



When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the Authority and the Board a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substantially in accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, as approved by the Board, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project Costs.



Section 4.3.
Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with, and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, promptly furnish to the Authority and the Board copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.  The Borrower shall also comply with all lawful program or procedural guidelines or requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Board in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable federal laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection with the Project and the funding thereof from the Fund, including, but not limited to, the federal “crosscutting” requirements identified in Schedule A of the Commitment Letter.  Where noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the Authority or the Board, the issue shall be referred to the proper federal authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action.


Section 4.4.
Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority and the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during the construction period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  Upon request of the Authority or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each contractor to furnish evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority and the Board.



Section 4.5.
Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, the Authority and the Board as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Board the certificates required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2.



Section 4.6.
Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the Authority or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the Borrower’s payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement.


ARTICLE V

PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES


Section 5.1.
Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the execution and delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act.  The lien of this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the Revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of the Borrower to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of whether such parties have notice of this pledge.



(a)
The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to pay the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Additional Payments and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to satisfy the foregoing covenant, the Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide sufficient Revenues to satisfy such requirement.



(b)
On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the rate covenant in subsection (a) of this Section, the Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any deficiency.


Section 5.2.
Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit H to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority.



Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a), within two hundred ten (210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making recommendations as to the proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be established by the Borrower to satisfy the rate covenant in Section 5.1(a).  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to the Authority and, subject to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining such report.



(b)
If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a) when such measures have been implemented and become fully effective.  Such alternative plan shall be filed with the Authority not later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant’s report along with a detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for rejecting the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Authority reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and require the Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.

ARTICLE VI

PAYMENTS


Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bond. (a)
The Local Bond shall be dated the date of its delivery to the Authority.  The Cost of Funds on the Local Bond shall be computed on the disbursed principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate of two and fifty one-hundredths percent (2.50%) per annum, consisting of the following:



(i)
interest of one percent (1.00%) per annum payable for the benefit of the Fund, and



(ii)
one and fifty one-hundredths percent (1.50%) per annum payable as an Annual Administrative Fee.



(b)
The Cost of Funds only on all amounts disbursed under the Local Bond shall be due and payable on __________ 1, 20__.  Commencing __________ 1, 20__ and continuing semi-annually thereafter on __________ 1 and __________ 1 in each year, principal and Cost of Funds due under the Local Bond shall be payable in equal installments of $_____, with a final installment of $_____ due and payable on __________ 1, 20__, when, if not sooner paid, all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing, until all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such installment.  If any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local Bond is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue installment.


Section 6.2.
Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Borrower agrees to pay on demand of the Authority the following Additional Payments:





(1)
The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and





(2)
All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant to the provisions hereof.



The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid.


ARTICLE VII

PREPAYMENTS


Section 7.1.
Prepayment of Local Bond.  Upon completion of the Project and after giving at least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local Bond at any time, in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the date on which the Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bond will be prepaid in full or in part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial prepayment shall be applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bond but shall not postpone the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing.


ARTICLE VIII

OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM


Section 8.1.
Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.



Section 8.2.
Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.



Section 8.3.
Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifications and improvements shall become part of the System.



Section 8.4.
Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the cost of making the same.



Section 8.5.
Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System.



Section 8.6.
Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes.



Section 8.7.
Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing:




(a)
The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the System;




(b)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and



(c)
The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, and then, if such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bond under Article VII hereof.



Section 8.8.
Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower.



Section 8.9.
No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges.



Section 8.10.
No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would compete with the System.



Section 8.11.
Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower.



Section 8.12.
Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the “Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues (collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten (10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement.


ARTICLE IX

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION


Section 9.1.
Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character to the System, including, without limitation:




(a)
Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.




(b)
Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of $2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation or use of the System.




(c)
Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, workers’ compensation insurance.



The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance.



The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect.



Section 9.2.
Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law.



Section 9.3.
Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of (i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations.



Section 9.4.
Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII.


Section 9.5.
Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any such condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII.

ARTICLE X

SPECIAL COVENANTS


Section 10.1.
Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bond and this Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.



Section 10.2.
Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower during such Fiscal Year satisfied the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  The Borrower shall furnish to the Authority copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by the Borrower.  Such report shall include statements in reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the Borrower’s operations and changes in the financial position of its funds for the Fiscal Year.  



Section 10.3.
Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it.



Section 10.4.
Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds.



Section 10.5.
Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on parity with the Local Bond with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bond, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); provided in each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or delivered, the Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following:




(a)
Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds.




(b)
A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds.




(c)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding of the Local Bond, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection (iv)(C) below, a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant, to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent Consultant, as applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the issuance of the Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds available to the Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will be sufficient to pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time which will be required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the Parity Bond proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such improvements or acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of Revenues, or (C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the improvements or the acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bond, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing this certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person and entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues of the System to be derived under then existing contractual agreements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the Borrower.




(d)
If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bond (with the consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, either (i) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory to the Authority that the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each of the years the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds to be refunded would have been outstanding which are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each such year on the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or the Prior Bonds to be refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant to the effect that during the first two complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bond, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the certificate described in clause (ii), the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account the factors described in the last two sentences of subsection (c) of this Section.



(e)
An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute compliance with the provisions of this Section.



Section 10.6.
Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and demands of all persons.



Section 10.7.
Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection therewith.



Section 10.8.
Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the Local Bond and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bond and this Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations.



Section 10.9.
Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as amended.


Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials.


Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities.


Section 10.12.
Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement.


Section 10.13.
  Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the Borrower on or before March 31, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors of the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates for a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) that satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, on or before March 31, 2020 for review.

ARTICLE XI

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES


Section 11.1.
Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default”:




(a)
The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bond or this Agreement;




(b)
The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions of the Local Bond, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the Default is corrected;




(c)
Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bond is false or misleading in any material respect;




(d)
The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 5.3(b) and (c) thereof.



(e)
The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder;




(f)
An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after the entry thereof;




(g)
Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances secured by or payable from Revenues; or




(h)
Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after filing.



Section 11.2.
Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the existence thereof.



Section 11.3.
Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the following remedial steps:




(a)
Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due on the Local Bond and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and




(b)
Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bond and under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bond, which the Borrower hereby agrees are assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.


Section 11.4.
Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereto.


Section 11.5.
State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds shall not be paid when the same shall become due and payable.


ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS


Section 12.1.
Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.



Section 12.2.
Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement.


Section 12.3.
Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the Local Bond or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bond nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local Bond or other costs incident thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of fraud, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be liable personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bond or for any other action taken by such individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or the Local Bond.



Section 12.4.
Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable laws of Virginia.



Section 12.5.
Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law.



Section 12.6.
Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bond or this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:



Fund:


Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund


c/o Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Authority:

Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  Executive Director



Board:


Virginia Department of Health


109 Governor Street


Richmond, VA  23219


Attention:  State Health Commissioner


Borrower:

The Russell County Public Service Authority

____________________

__________, Virginia  _____

Attention:  Chairman

A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention the same shall be directed.



Section 12.7.
Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or to perform any act required by it under the Local Bond or this Agreement, the Authority without prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bond.



Section 12.8.
Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement.



Section 12.9.
Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bond previously or simultaneously shall have been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bond and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement.



Section 12.10.
Commitment Letter.  The Commitment Letter is an integral part of this Agreement and shall survive closing hereunder.



Section 12.11.
Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.


[Signature Page Follows]



WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________

EXHIBIT A

Form of Local Bond

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


EXHIBIT B

Project Description


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18


The Project includes financing the replacement of water lines in the Glade Hollow community and the extension of water service to the Glade Hill community, together with related expenses.  


EXHIBIT C

Project Budget

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

[To Be Provided]

EXHIBIT D

Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


EXHIBIT E


REQUISITION FOR DISBURSEMENT


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

[LETTERHEAD OF BORROWER]


[Date]


__________, Director


Office of Drinking Water, 6th Floor


Virginia Department of Health


109 Governor Street


Richmond, VA 23219


Re:
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund



The Russell County Public Service Authority


Loan No. WSL-020-18

Dear Mr./Ms. __________:



This requisition, Number ___, is submitted in connection with the Financing Agreement and Funding Agreement, each dated as of __________ 1, 2019 (together, the “Agreements”) between the Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), and The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Borrower”).  Unless otherwise defined in this requisition, all capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in Article I of the Agreements.  The undersigned Authorized Representative of the Borrower hereby requests disbursement of loan proceeds under the Agreements in the amount of $___________, for the purposes of payment of the Project Costs as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto.



Attached hereto are invoices relating to the items for which payment is requested.



The undersigned certifies that (a) the amounts requested by this requisition will be applied solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs, and (b) any materials, supplies or equipment covered by this requisition are not subject to any lien or security interest or such lien or security interest will be released upon payment of the requisition.  In addition, the undersigned certifies that the Borrower has conducted adequate oversight for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts through (a) the review of payrolls and associated certifications, and (b) the posting of all wage determinations and additional classifications (as appropriate) on the work site, and through this oversight, the Borrower has determined to the best of its ability that the Project complies with the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts.  The Borrower further certifies that all products included in this request satisfy the appropriate provisions of the American Iron and Steel requirements included in the Agreement.

The undersigned further certifies that (a) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing, and no condition exists which, with the passing of time or with the giving of notice or both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder, and (b) the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the Agreements are true, correct and complete and the Borrower has performed all of its obligations thereunder required to be performed as of the date hereof.

This requisition includes an accompanying Certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the performance of the work.


Sincerely,


___________________________________________


(Authorized Representative of the Borrower)


Attachments


cc:
VDH Project Engineer (with all attachments)


CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER


FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT


Loan No. WSL-020-18


This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agreements referred to in the Requisition.



The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually furnished to or installed in the Project.




     
       SEAL
                 
  










______________________________










[Consulting Engineer]








Date: ________________________


SCHEDULE 1


VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND


FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT


REQUISITION # ________


BORROWER: THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

LOAN NUMBER:  WSL-020-18

CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ______________________________


TITLE: ______________________________________


		Cost Category




		Amount


Budgeted




		Previous


Disbursements




		Expenditures


This


Period




		Total


Expenditures


to Date




		Net Balance


Remaining






		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		TOTALS:

		                      

		

		

		

		





Total Loan Amount $_________________


Previous Disbursements $_________________


This Request $_________________


Loan Proceeds Remaining $_________________

EXHIBIT F


Prior Bonds AND Existing Parity Bonds


THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel]


Prior Bonds:


None


Existing Parity Bonds:


EXHIBIT G

FORM OF BUDGET

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead)


[Date]


Executive Director


Virginia Resources Authority


1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920


Richmond, VA  23219


Dear Mr./Ms. __________:


Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated below.


		Revenues1

		Operation & Maintenance Expense

		Net Revenues Available for Debt Service


( Revenues – O&M Expense)

		Debt Service

		Coverage


(Net Revenues Available for Debt Service/Debt Service)



		

		

		

		

		





__________________________________________


1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,    


   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement.


All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement[s].


Very truly yours,


By: __________________________


Its: _________________________


EXHIBIT H

SUPPORT AGREEMENT

THE Russell County Public Service Authority

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project)

WSL-020-18

THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the first day of __________, 2019, by and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia (the “County”), THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as purchaser of the Local Bond, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Financing Agreement dated as of the date hereof (the “Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower.


RECITALS:


WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns and operates the System in the County; and



WHEREAS, the Borrower has determined that it is in its best interest to issue and sell a water and sewer system revenue bond in an original aggregate principal amount not to exceed $_____ (the “Local Bond”) to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreement in order to finance the Project; and



WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________, 2019, a resolution authorizing, among other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board to consider certain appropriations in support of the Local Bond and the Project.


Agreement


NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 



 1.
Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreement.



 2.
The Borrower shall use its best efforts to issue the Local Bond, to use the proceeds thereof to pay the costs of the Project, and to construct and place the Project in operation at the earliest practical date.



 3.
No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__, the Borrower shall notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under the Financing Agreement, the Local Bond and any other indebtedness secured by or payable from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit F to the Financing Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the Additional Payments in full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the following July 1.


 4.
The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual Deficiency Amount.



 5.
If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment. 



 6.
The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the County’s next fiscal year. 



 7.
The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of Supervisors do likewise. 



8.
The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing the Local Bond, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such nonpayment.


 9.
Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bond or to any other person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein. 



 10.
Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to ____________________, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to ____________________, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may designate any other address for notices or requests by giving notice. 


11.
It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 



12.
This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bond and all other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Financing Agreement have been paid in full. 



13.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.


[Signature page follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be executed in their respective names as of the date first above written. 


BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________


VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund

By: ____________________________________________


Title: ___________________________________________



O 540.512.1805
M 540.556.9857
cbrothers@spilmanlaw.com

From: Carter R. Brothers <CBrothers@spilmanlaw.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 3:21 PM
To: Katie Patton <kpatton@chafinlaw.com>; lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
Cc: Rhonda Lester <rcpsa@bvu.net>; Rita Baker <rbaker@t-l.com>
Subject: Meeting materials for BOS July 6th meeting: authorizing resolutions and financing
agreements [STB-WORKSITE.FID913284]
 
Katie,
 
Here are the resolutions that need to be approved by the County in order to authorize the
new support agreements for the consolidated bonds and the new Glade Hill bond.  I've also
attached the current version of the three financing agreements related to the project, each
of which has the support agreement as an exhibit.
 
Summary:

1.      For the consolidation project, VRA intends to replace all of the existing VRA debt
owed by Castlewood WSA, the County, and the PSA with three new bonds. 

a.      Two of the bonds will be consolidations of the outstanding debt owed to VRA
on the drinking water side, set up as one bond with 0% interest and one
bond with cost of funds at 2.25%.  These bonds will be issued pursuant to
the attached "Master Financing Agreement,  which requires the County to
sign the support agreement found as Exhibit K. 

b.      The third consolidation bond will replace the Castlewood WSA's existing
wastewater bond.  This new bond will be issued pursuant to the Wastewater
Financing Assumption Agreement, which requires the County's signature to
the support agreement found at Exhibit I.

c.      The resolution authorizing the County to sign the support agreements for the
consolidation project is attached as "BOS Resolution authorizing Support
Agreements for consolidation project."

2.      The Glade Hill/Glade Hollow bond will be issued pursuant to the Drinking Water
Financing Agreement (WSL-020-18), which requires the County's signature to the
support agreement found at Exhibit H.

a.      The resolution authorizing the County to sign the support agreement for the
Glade Hill/Glade Hollow bond is attached as "BOS Resolution authorizing
Support Agreement for new money."

 
Please let me know if these resolutions can be added to the BOS agenda for July
6th.  I apologize for the late notice.  If these resolution are considered, the clerk will need to
complete the vote/attendance certificate on the last page of each resolution.  The Financing
Agreements (and the Support Agreements attached as exhibits) do not get signed on the
6th but should be provided to the BOS at the meeting to review; once closing is scheduled, I
will circulate closing instructions to all involved.
 
Thanks,
Carter

mailto:cbrothers@spilmanlaw.com


 
Carter R. Brothers
Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC
Member
O 540.512.1805
M 540.556.9857
cbrothers@spilmanlaw.com

From: Gilliland, Megan M. <mmgilliland@kaufcan.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 2:21 PM
To: Carter R. Brothers <CBrothers@spilmanlaw.com>
Subject: Russell PSA financing agreements
 
Here are latest circulated versions.
 
Megan Martz Gilliland
Kaufman & Canoles, P.C.
Two James Center
1021 East Cary Street, Suite 1400
Richmond, VA 23219-4058
T (804) 771.5742
F (888) 360.9092
mmgilliland@kaufcan.com
www.kaufCAN.com
 

The information contained in this electronic message is legally privileged and
confidential under applicable law, and is intended only for the use of the individual or
entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you are
hereby notified that any use, distribution, copying or disclosure of this communication
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify
Kaufman & Canoles at (757) 624-3000 or by return e-mail to helpdesk@kaufcan.com,
and purge the communication immediately without making any copy or distribution.

mailto:cbrothers@spilmanlaw.com
mailto:mmgilliland@kaufcan.com
mailto:CBrothers@spilmanlaw.com
mailto:mmgilliland@kaufcan.com
http://www.kaufcan.com/
mailto:helpdesk@kaufcan.com


Borrower: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest:  0.75%

Loan Number: WSL-RC-02 Admin. Fee:  1.50%

Loan Amount: 5,901,097.65$ Late Fee:  5.00%

Cost of Funds: 2.25%
Principal Payments: 54

PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE FUNDS PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 1/1/2021 5,901,097.65$ 279,721.77$ 66,387.35$ 213,334.42$ 5,687,763.23$
2 7/1/2021 5,687,763.23 222,367.68 63,987.34 158,380.34 5,529,382.89
3 1/1/2022 5,529,382.89 220,585.90 62,205.56 158,380.34 5,371,002.55
4 7/1/2022 5,371,002.55 222,314.51 60,423.78 161,890.73 5,209,111.83
5 1/1/2023 5,209,111.83 220,493.24 58,602.51 161,890.73 5,047,221.10
6 7/1/2023 5,047,221.10 222,261.88 56,781.24 165,480.64 4,881,740.46
7 1/1/2024 4,881,740.46 220,400.22 54,919.58 165,480.64 4,716,259.82
8 7/1/2024 4,716,259.82 222,209.88 53,057.92 169,151.96 4,547,107.87
9 1/1/2025 4,547,107.87 220,306.92 51,154.96 169,151.96 4,377,955.91

10 7/1/2025 4,377,955.91 222,158.64 49,252.00 172,906.64 4,205,049.27
11 1/1/2026 4,205,049.27 220,213.44 47,306.80 172,906.64 4,032,142.63
12 7/1/2026 4,032,142.63 218,685.01 45,361.60 173,323.41 3,858,819.22
13 1/1/2027 3,858,819.22 216,735.13 43,411.72 173,323.41 3,685,495.81
14 7/1/2027 3,685,495.81 209,654.36 41,461.83 168,192.53 3,517,303.28
15 1/1/2028 3,517,303.28 207,762.19 39,569.66 168,192.53 3,349,110.75
16 7/1/2028 3,349,110.75 200,488.14 37,677.50 162,810.64 3,186,300.11
17 1/1/2029 3,186,300.11 198,656.52 35,845.88 162,810.64 3,023,489.47
18 7/1/2029 3,023,489.47 200,363.97 34,014.26 166,349.71 2,857,139.77
19 1/1/2030 2,857,139.77 198,492.53 32,142.82 166,349.71 2,690,790.06
20 7/1/2030 2,690,790.06 200,238.81 30,271.39 169,967.42 2,520,822.65
21 1/1/2031 2,520,822.65 198,326.67 28,359.25 169,967.42 2,350,855.23
22 7/1/2031 2,350,855.23 192,906.27 26,447.12 166,459.15 2,184,396.09
23 1/1/2032 2,184,396.09 191,033.61 24,574.46 166,459.15 2,017,936.94
24 7/1/2032 2,017,936.94 181,959.64 22,701.79 159,257.85 1,858,679.10
25 1/1/2033 1,858,679.10 180,167.99 20,910.14 159,257.85 1,699,421.25
26 7/1/2033 1,699,421.25 181,452.75 19,118.49 162,334.26 1,537,086.99
27 1/1/2034 1,537,086.99 179,626.49 17,292.23 162,334.26 1,374,752.73
28 7/1/2034 1,374,752.73 126,363.57 15,465.97 110,897.60 1,263,855.14
29 1/1/2035 1,263,855.14 125,115.97 14,218.37 110,897.60 1,152,957.54
30 7/1/2035 1,152,957.54 70,856.08 12,970.77 57,885.31 1,095,072.24
31 1/1/2036 1,095,072.24 70,204.87 12,319.56 57,885.31 1,037,186.93
32 7/1/2036 1,037,186.93 71,019.55 11,668.35 59,351.20 977,835.74
33 1/1/2037 977,835.74 70,351.85 11,000.65 59,351.20 918,484.54
34 7/1/2037 918,484.54 71,188.03 10,332.95 60,855.08 857,629.47
35 1/1/2038 857,629.47 70,503.41 9,648.33 60,855.08 796,774.39
36 7/1/2038 796,774.39 71,361.90 8,963.71 62,398.19 734,376.21
37 1/1/2039 734,376.21 70,659.92 8,261.73 62,398.19 671,978.02
38 7/1/2039 671,978.02 65,194.20 7,559.75 57,634.45 614,343.58
39 1/1/2040 614,343.58 64,545.82 6,911.37 57,634.45 556,709.13
40 7/1/2040 556,709.13 57,257.59 6,262.98 50,994.61 505,714.52
41 1/1/2041 505,714.52 56,683.90 5,689.29 50,994.61 454,719.91
42 7/1/2041 454,719.91 50,598.32 5,115.60 45,482.72 409,237.19
43 1/1/2042 409,237.19 49,181.44 4,603.92 44,577.52 364,659.67
44 7/1/2042 364,659.67 47,499.18 4,102.42 43,396.76 321,262.91
45 1/1/2043 321,262.91 46,991.47 3,614.21 43,377.26 277,885.65
46 7/1/2043 277,885.65 47,616.65 3,126.21 44,490.44 233,395.21
47 1/1/2044 233,395.21 47,096.22 2,625.70 44,470.52 188,924.69
48 7/1/2044 188,924.69 36,512.79 2,125.40 34,387.39 154,537.30
49 1/1/2045 154,537.30 36,105.59 1,738.54 34,367.05 120,170.25
50 7/1/2045 120,170.25 28,735.67 1,351.92 27,383.75 92,786.51
51 1/1/2046 92,786.51 30,250.33 1,043.85 29,206.48 63,580.03
52 7/1/2046 63,580.03 25,794.40 715.28 25,079.12 38,500.92
53 1/1/2047 38,500.92 25,512.26 433.14 25,079.12 13,421.80
54 7/1/2047 13,421.80 13,572.80 151.00 13,421.80 -

$7,196,357.80 $1,295,260.15 $5,901,097.65



Locality: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest:  0.00%

Project Number: WSL-RC-01 Admin. Fee:  0.00%

Loan Amount: 6,157,089.73$ Late Fee:  5.00%

Cost of Funds: 0.00%
Principal Payments: 42

PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE FUNDS PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 10/1/2020 6,157,089.73$ 16,920.20$ -$ 16,920.20$ 6,140,169.53$
2 4/1/2021 6,140,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,097,669.53
3 10/1/2021 6,097,669.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,055,169.53
4 4/1/2022 6,055,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 6,012,669.53
5 10/1/2022 6,012,669.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 5,970,169.53
6 4/1/2023 5,970,169.53 42,500.00 - 42,500.00 5,927,669.53
7 10/1/2023 5,927,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,762,669.53
8 4/1/2024 5,762,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,597,669.53
9 10/1/2024 5,597,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,432,669.53

10 4/1/2025 5,432,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,267,669.53
11 10/1/2025 5,267,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 5,102,669.53
12 4/1/2026 5,102,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,937,669.53
13 10/1/2026 4,937,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,772,669.53
14 4/1/2027 4,772,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,607,669.53
15 10/1/2027 4,607,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,442,669.53
16 4/1/2028 4,442,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,277,669.53
17 10/1/2028 4,277,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 4,112,669.53
18 4/1/2029 4,112,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,947,669.53
19 10/1/2029 3,947,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,782,669.53
20 4/1/2030 3,782,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,617,669.53
21 10/1/2030 3,617,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,452,669.53
22 4/1/2031 3,452,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,287,669.53
23 10/1/2031 3,287,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 3,122,669.53
24 4/1/2032 3,122,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,957,669.53
25 10/1/2032 2,957,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,792,669.53
26 4/1/2033 2,792,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,627,669.53
27 10/1/2033 2,627,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,462,669.53
28 4/1/2034 2,462,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,297,669.53
29 10/1/2034 2,297,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 2,132,669.53
30 4/1/2035 2,132,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,967,669.53
31 10/1/2035 1,967,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,802,669.53
32 4/1/2036 1,802,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,637,669.53
33 10/1/2036 1,637,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,472,669.53
34 4/1/2037 1,472,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,307,669.53
35 10/1/2037 1,307,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 1,142,669.53
36 4/1/2038 1,142,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 977,669.53
37 10/1/2038 977,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 812,669.53
38 4/1/2039 812,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 647,669.53
39 10/1/2039 647,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 482,669.53
40 4/1/2040 482,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 317,669.53
41 10/1/2040 317,669.53 165,000.00 - 165,000.00 152,669.53
42 4/1/2041 152,669.53 152,669.53 - 152,669.53 -

6,157,089.73$ $6,157,089.73



Borrower: Russell County Public Service Authority Interest: 0.00%

Loan Number: C-515284-02 Late Fee:  5.00%

Loan Amount: 23,173.29$
Interest 3.00%
Principal Payments: 5

PMT. DATE LOAN BALANCE AT      PAYMENT COST OF FUNDS PRINCIPAL LOAN BALANCE
# DUE START OF PERIOD        DUE PORTION PORTION AT END OF PERIOD
1 11/1/2020 23,173.29$ 4,845.29$ 347.60$ 4,497.69$ 18,675.60$
2 5/1/2021 18,675.60 4,845.29$ 280.13$ 4,565.16$ 14,110.44
3 11/1/2021 14,110.44 4,845.29 211.66 4,633.63 9,476.81
4 5/1/2022 9,476.81 4,845.29 142.15 4,703.14 4,773.67
5 11/1/2022 4,773.67 4,845.28 71.61 4,773.67 -

24,226.44$ 1,053.15$ 23,173.29$



  
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF WATER 
AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC 
SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $12,058,187.38 
AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE 
BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATED ACTIONS 

The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”) is a public body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the 
Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia 
(the “Board of Supervisors”). 
 

The Authority is authorized to acquire, construct, operate and maintain a water and sewer 
system in certain areas of Russell County (the “County”) and to borrow money and to issue its 
revenue bonds to pay all or part of the cost of such system. 
 

The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of 
certain bonds of the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority previously issued and sold to the 
United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities Service, United States Department of 
Agriculture (the “Government”) and to the Virginia Services Authority (the “VRA”), as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), in consideration of the 
Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s transfer and conveyance to the Authority of the facilities 
financed by such bonds. 

 
 The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of 

certain bonds of the County previously issued and sold to the Government and to the VRA, as 
Administrator of the Fund, in consideration of the County’s transfer and conveyance to the Authority 
of the facilities financed by such bonds. 

 
The Authority, as part of the assumption of these bonds of the Castlewood Water and Sewage 

Authority and the County, has requested that the loans to the Authority from the VRA, as 
Administrator of the Fund, be amended and restated.  
 

The VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the 
County’s bonds sold to VRA and the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s bonds sold to VRA 
and to the amendments and restatements of its loans to the Authority upon the issuance of new 
revenue bonds of the Authority and to purchase these revenue bonds upon certain terms and 
conditions, and the Authority, after mature consideration of the condition of the municipal bond 
market and other methods of selling its bonds, has determined to satisfy such terms and conditions 
and award the bonds to the VRA. 

 
The Government has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the County’s bonds sold 

to the Government and the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s bonds sold to the 
Government upon certain terms and conditions set forth in the Government’s letter dated July ___, 
2020.  

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY: 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



 
ARTICLE I 

 
Definitions 

 
Section 1.1. Definitions.  Whenever used in this resolution, unless a different meaning 

clearly appears from the context: 
 

“Act” means the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, 
Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended). 

 
“Authority” means The Russell County Public Service Authority, a public body 

politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Act by the 
Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, and by a certificate of incorporation issued by the 
State Corporation Commission of Virginia on April 4, 1986, as amended. 

 
“Authority VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto 

issued by the Authority to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described in Exhibit F of 
the Master Financing Agreement. 

 
“Authority Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 

between the Authority and the VRA as further described on Exhibit G of the Master Financing 
Agreement. 

 
 “Board of Supervisors” means the Board of Supervisors of the County. 
 
“Bonds” means the Authority's water and sewer revenue bonds issued pursuant to this 

resolution. 
 
“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority. 
 
“Castlewood WSA RD Bonds” means the following bonds issued by the Castlewood 

WSA: 
 
1. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water 

Project),  
2. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 

Project), and 
3. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A). 
 
“Castlewood WSA Bonds” means the Castlewood WSA RD Bonds and the 

Castlewood WSA VRA Bonds. 
 
“Castlewood WSA VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges 

thereto issued by the Castlewood WSA to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described 
in Exhibit F of the Master Financing Agreement. 



 
“Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing 

agreements between the Authority and Castlewood WSA as further described on Exhibit G of the 
Master Financing Agreement.  

 
“Closing Date” means the date on which the Bonds are delivered to the VRA upon 

payment or partial payment of the purchase price for the Bonds. 
 

“County” means Russell County, Virginia. 
 
“County Bonds” means the County RD Bonds and the County VRA Bonds. 
 
“County RD Bonds” means the following bonds issued by the County: 

 
1. $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s 

Creek Project); 
2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante 

Project); 
3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD 

Lynn Springs Project); 
 
“County VRA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto issued 

by the County to the VRA, as Administrator of the Fund, that are described in Exhibit F of the 
Master Financing Agreement. 

 
“County Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 

between the Authority and the County as further described on Exhibit G of the Master Financing 
Agreement. 

 
“Master Financing Agreement” means the financing agreement executed by the 

Authority and the VRA in accordance with Section 4.1 of this resolution. 
 

“Fund” means the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund acting by and through the 
Virginia Resources Authority, its successors and assigns. 

 
“Government” means the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities 

Service, United States Department of Agriculture. 
 
“Master Parity Agreement” means the agreement executed by the Authority, the 

VRA, and the Government dated as of July 1, 2020. 
 
“Maximum Amount” means $12,058,187.38. 

 
“Parity Bonds” means 
 
1.  $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s 



Creek Project); 
2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante 

Project); 
3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD 

Lynn Springs Project); 
4. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water 

Project); 
5. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 

Project); 
6. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 
7. $23,179.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A; 
8. $418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D;  

 
  and shall include each of the Bonds issued pursuant to this resolution and the Master 
Financing Agreement.  

 
“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, of which the 

Project constitutes the whole or is a part, owned, operated or maintained by the Authority and used 
in connection with the collection, storage, treatment or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater. 

 
“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 among 

the Authority, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority, and the County. 

“VRA” means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, its successors and assigns, as Administrator 
of the Fund. 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
Authorization of Project 

 
Section 2.1. The Project.  It is determined to be advisable, necessary, and expedient for the 

Authority to assume the obligation to pay the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds, in 
consideration for the Authority’s acquisition of the facilities financed by such bonds, and the 
amendments of and restatements to the Authority Financing Agreements related to the Authority 
Bonds (the “Project”). 

 
Section 2.2 Government Letter of Conditions.  It is determined that it is in the best interest 

of the Authority for the Authority to accept the Government’s terms and conditions set forth in the 
Government’s letter dated July ___, 2020 related to the Authority’s assumption of the Castlewood 
WSA RD Bonds and the County RD Bonds (the “Assumption LOC”).   
 

ARTICLE III 
 

Authorization, Award, Details, Execution, Form, 



Registration and Delivery of Bonds 
 

Section 3.1. Authorization of Bonds.  Pursuant to the Act, there is authorized to be issued 
and sold water and sewer revenue bonds of the Authority in the principal amount not to exceed the 
Maximum Amount (the “Bonds”), as evidence of the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood 
WSA VRA Bonds and the County VRA Bonds and as evidence of the amendments and restatements 
of the Authority Financing Agreements. 

 
Section 3.2. Award of Bonds.  After mature consideration of the methods of sale of such 

bond and current conditions of the municipal bond market, it is determined that it is in the best 
interest of the Authority for the Authority to deliver the Bonds to the VRA in exchange, in part, for 
(i) the Castlewood WSA and the County, with the consent of VRA, transferring to the Authority 
certain facilities of the Castlewood WSA and the County, in accordance with the Transfer 
Agreement and the Master Financing Agreement, and (ii) the amendments and restatements of the 
Authority Financing Agreements in accordance with the Master Financing Agreement.   
 

Section 3.3. Details of Bonds.    
 
 (a)   The Bonds shall bear an appropriate designation as determined by either of the 

Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority, each of whom is authorized to provide the designation 
for the Bonds in order to appropriately identify it.    The Bonds shall be issued as two separate fully 
registered bonds without coupons, shall each be dated the Closing Date, shall be numbered R-1 and 
R-2, respectively, one of the Bonds shall bear a Cost of Funds at a rate not to exceed two and 
twenty-five hundredths percent (2.25%) per annum (referred to in this resolution and in the 
Financing Agreement as the “Cost of Funds” on the Bond), composed of interest to the Fund of 
0.75% and a fee of 1.50% for administrative management services, and the other shall bear no 
interest. The principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds shall be in the amount and 
shall be payable semi-annually in the amounts and on the dates established in accordance with 
subsection (b) below. 
 
  (b) Each of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized and 
directed to determine the principal amount of the Bonds and to accept the dates on which, and the 
amounts in which, principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds will be due, as 
established by the VRA before the Closing Date; provided, however, that the principal amount of the 
Bonds shall not exceed the Maximum Amount, and the final maturity of the Bonds shall be no 
greater than thirty (30) years after the Closing Date.  The execution and delivery of the Bonds as 
described in Section 3.4 and Section 3.7 of this resolution shall conclusively evidence such principal 
amount and payment dates and amounts established by VRA as having been so accepted as 
authorized by this Resolution.  Principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds shall be 
payable in lawful money of the United States of America.   

 
Section 3.4. Execution of Bonds.  Each of the Bonds shall be signed by the Chairman or 

Vice Chairman of the Authority, and the Authority's seal shall be affixed to the Bonds and attested 
by the Authority's Secretary. 
 

Section 3.5. Form of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be in substantially the following form, with 



such variations, insertions and omissions as shall be consistent with this resolution, the execution 
and delivery of the Bonds constituting conclusive evidence that any variations, insertions and 
omissions are so consistent: 

 
[To be completed at Closing—Form of Bond only] 

 
No. R-1 $[amount] 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020[B][C] 
 

Dated [date] 
 

The Russell County Public Service Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia (the “Authority”), for value received, promises to pay, solely from the revenues described 
and pledged in the Financing Agreement, as defined below, to the payment of this Bond, to the order 
of the Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply 
Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), or registered assigns, the principal sum [equal to the aggregate 
amount of principal advances shown on the attached Schedule of Principal Advances, but not to 
exceed the sum of] 

 
[amount] DOLLARS 

($[amount]) 
 

[with interest (the “Cost of Funds”), including the portion allocable to the annual administrative fee 
payable as set forth in Section 6.1 of the “Financing Agreement”) defined below, on the unpaid 
principal from the date [hereof] [of each principal advance shown on the attached Certificate of 
Principal Advances] until payment of the entire principal sum at the annual rate of two and twenty-
five hundredths percent 2.25%), composed of interest to the Fund of 0.75% and a fee of 1.50% for 
administrative management services][without interest].  
 
 The principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond shall be due and payable as set forth on the 
attached payment schedule.  
 
 [Each installment shall be applied first to payment of Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to 
the payment date and then to principal.]  If principal advances up to the maximum authorized 
amount are not made, the principal amount due on this Bond shall not include such undisbursed 
amount.  However, unless the Authority and VRA agree otherwise in writing, until all payments due 
hereunder shall have been paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized 
amount of this Bond shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due hereunder or 
change the amount of such installment unless the principal amount due under this Bond is less than 



the amount of such installment.   
 

In addition, if any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on this Bond is not received by 
the registered owner of this Bond within ten (10) days from its due date, the Authority shall pay to 
the registered owner of this Bond a late payment charge in the amount equal to five percent (5.00%) 
of such overdue installment.  Principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond are payable in lawful 
money of the United States. 

 
Neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia nor the faith and credit 

of any county, city, town or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia are 
pledged to the payment of the principal of or Cost of Funds on this Bond. 

 
This Bond is one of an issue of bonds in the aggregate amount of $12,058,187.38 authorized 

by a resolution duly adopted by the Authority on July 21, 2020 (the “Bond Resolution”) and is 
issued pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of 
Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the “Act”), and pursuant to the terms of a Master Financing 
Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 between the VRA, as Administrator of the Virginia Water 
Supply Revolving Fund, and the Authority (the “Master Financing Agreement”) to evidence the 
assumption of certain loans made by the VRA to the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority  and 
to the County of Russell, Virginia  in consideration of the transfer to the Authority of the facilities 
originally financed by such loans and to evidence amendments and restatements of certain loans 
made by the VRA to the Authority.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution and the Master 
Financing Agreement and any amendments to it for the provisions, among others, describing the 
pledge and covenants securing this Bond, the nature and extent of the security, the terms and 
conditions upon which this Bond is issued, the rights and obligations of the Authority and the rights 
of the bondholder.  Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined have the meanings 
given them in the Master Financing Agreement. 
 

Principal of [and Cost of Funds on] this Bond [is] [are] payable solely from the revenues of 
the System pledged to the payment of them in the Master Financing Agreement and from amounts, if 
any, received pursuant to the Support Agreement, as defined in the Bond Resolution.  

 
 In accordance with the Master Financing Agreement, the lien of the pledge of revenues 
securing the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond is and shall be on parity 
with the lien of any pledge of revenues securing the following bonds issued by the Authority:  
 

$672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s 
Creek Project); 
$900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante 
Project); 
$119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD 
Lynn Springs Project); 
$350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water 
Project); 
$937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 
Project); 



$2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 
$23,173.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A; and 
[$6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B;] 
[$5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C.] 

 
No notation is required to be made on this Bond of the payment of any principal on normal 

installment payment dates or of any prepayments of principal.  HENCE, THE FACE AMOUNT OF 
THIS BOND MAY EXCEED THE PRINCIPAL SUM REMAINING OUTSTANDING AND DUE 
HEREUNDER.  
 

Transfer of this Bond may be registered upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar.  
Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Bond Registrar shall treat the registered 
owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond  
and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.  

 
This Bond is subject to optional prepayment to the extent and on the terms set forth in the 

Financing Agreement.  
 
If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Assumption Agreement) occurs, the 

principal of and Cost of Funds on this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the 
holder by written notice to the Authority.  

 
Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the 

principal and Cost of Funds provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay such additional 
amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in full of all amounts due under the 
Master Financing Agreement.  
 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this 
Bond have happened, exist and have been performed.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be signed by the Chairman 

of the Authority, its seal to be affixed this Bond and attested by the Secretary of the Authority, and 
this Bond to be dated the date first shown above. 
 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE] 
_____________________________ 
Secretary, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 

  
 
 
 

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE] 
_________________________________ 
Chairman, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 

   
     



SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL ADVANCES 

The amount and date of principal advances not to exceed the face amount hereof shall be 
entered hereon by an authorized officer of the VRA, when the proceeds of each such principal 
advance are delivered to the Authority. 
 

Amount 
 
  
 
  
 
  

 Date 
 
  
 
  
 
  

 Authorized Signature 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 

[End of Bond Form] 
 

Upon request of the VRA, the Authority shall arrange to have prepared, executed, 
authenticated and delivered in exchange as soon as practicable bonds in printed form in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Bonds in typewritten form, in denominations of 
$5,000 and multiples of $5,000, except for one bond which may be issued in an odd denomination of 
not less than $5,000, of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested by the 
VRA or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  The typewritten bond surrendered in 
any such exchange shall be canceled. 

 
Section 3.6. Registration and Exchange of Bonds.  Transfer of the Bonds may be registered 

upon books maintained for that purpose at the office of the Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for 
registration of transfer the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled 
to payment of principal and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner. 
 

Section 3.7. Delivery of Bonds.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman and the Secretary of 
the Authority are authorized and directed to take all proper steps to have the Bonds prepared and 
executed in accordance with its terms and to deliver the Bonds to the VRA in accordance with the 
terms of the Master Financing Agreement. 

 
Section 3.8. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If either of the Bonds has been 

mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new bond of like date 
and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the Treasurer and cancellation of, 
such mutilated bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen, or destroyed bond; 
provided, however, that the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver a new bond only if its 
registered owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority in connection 
therewith and, in the case of a lost, stolen, or destroyed bond (i) has filed with the Registrar evidence 
satisfactory to him or her that such bond was lost, stolen, or destroyed and that the holder of the bond 
was its registered owner and (ii) has furnished to the Authority indemnity satisfactory to the 
Registrar.  If either of the Bonds has matured, instead of issuing a new bond, the Authority may pay 
such bond without surrender upon receipt of the aforesaid evidence and indemnity. 

ARTICLE IV 



 
Financing Documents and Revenues  

 
Section 4.1. Authorization of Assumption LOC, Financing Agreement, Support 

Agreement, Master Parity Agreement, and Other Matters.  The Assumption LOC, the Master 
Financing Agreement between the VRA and the Authority (the “Master Financing Agreement”), the 
Amended and Restated Support Agreement among the Authority, the County and the VRA (the 
“Support Agreement”), the Amended and Restated Funding Agreement between the VRA and the 
Authority (the “Funding Agreement”), and the Master Parity Agreement (collectively, the 
“Financing Documents”), the forms of which have been presented to the Authority at this meeting 
and filed with the records of the Authority, are approved.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
of the Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Financing 
Documents in substantially the forms submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or 
omissions as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be 
evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of each of the Financing Documents.  The 
Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to 
execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and 
to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the 
transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Bonds, and the Financing 
Documents, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, 
are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed. 
 

Section 4.2. Pledge of Revenues.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the 
Assumption LOC, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Castlewood WSA RD Bonds and the County Bonds.  To the extent 
and on the terms provided in the Master Financing Agreement, revenues derived from the System 
shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of and, if applicable, Cost of Funds on the Bonds.  
these pledges shall be on parity with the pledge of such revenues securing the payment of the Parity 
Bonds.    

 
Section 4.3 Transfer Agreement.  The Authority confirms its approval of the Transfer 

Agreement, the form of which has been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the 
records of the Authority.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to 
execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Transfer Agreement in substantially the form 
submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and 
delivery of the Transfer Agreement.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other 
officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other 
instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or 
contemplated by the Transfer Agreement, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by 
such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

Miscellaneous 



 
Section 5.1. Contract with Bondholder.  The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a 

contract between the Authority and the holder of the Bonds for so long as the Bonds are outstanding. 
 

Section 5.2. Authority of Officers and Agents.  The officers and agents of the Authority 
shall do all acts and things required of them by this resolution, the Bonds, the Master Financing 
Agreement, the Support Agreement, and the Act for the complete and punctual performance of all 
the terms, covenants and agreements contained therein. 

 
Section 5.3. Limitation of Rights.  Nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied 

from this resolution or the Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company 
other than the parties hereto and the holder of the Bonds any legal or equitable right, remedy or 
claim under or in respect to this resolution or any covenants, conditions and agreements herein 
contained; this resolution and all of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereof being intended 
to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the holder of the Bonds as 
herein provided. 

 
Section 5.4. Limitation of Liability of Officials of Authority.  No covenant, condition or 

agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of a present 
or future member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority in his individual capacity, and neither 
the members of the Authority nor any officer thereof executing the Bonds shall be liable personally 
on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance 
thereof.  No member, officer, employee or agent of the authority shall incur any personal liability 
with respect to any other action taken by him pursuant to this resolution or the Act, provided he acts 
in good faith. 

 
Section 5.5. Trust Funds. In accordance with Section 15.2-5140 of the Act, any officer to 

whom, or any bank, trust company or other fiscal agent to which, moneys received pursuant to the 
Act are paid shall act as trustee of such moneys and shall hold and apply the same for the purposes 
provided in the Act, subject to such regulations as this resolution or the Financing Agreement may 
provide. 
 

Section 5.6. Conditions Precedent.  Upon the issuance of the Bonds, all acts, conditions 
and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia or this 
resolution to happen, exist and to be performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bonds shall 
have happened, exist and have been performed. 
 

Section 5.7. Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision 
of this resolution to be invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate any other 
provision of this resolution. 

 
Section 5.8. Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and 

agreements of the Authority contained in this resolution shall bind and inure to the benefit of its 
successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 
 

Section 5.9. Headings.  Any headings in this resolution are solely for convenience of 



reference and shall not constitute a part of the resolution nor shall they affect its meaning, 
construction or effect. 

 
Section 5.10 Filing of Resolution.  The Secretary of the Authority is directed to file a 

certified copy of this resolution with the Circuit Court of Russell County, Virginia, pursuant to 
Section 15.2-5126 of the Act. 

 
Section 5.11. Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately. 



*     *     * 
The undersigned Secretary of The Russell County Public Service Authority (the 

“Authority”), certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution duly 
adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on July 21, 2020.  I further certify that such meeting was 
a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing resolution, a 
quorum was present.  I further certify that the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the 
members and the voting on the foregoing resolution as follows: 
 

Member Attendance Vote 
Carter McGlothlin, Chair   
Clifford Hess, Vice-Chair   

Chris Dye   
Terry Powers   

Joe Huff   
David Edmonds, Jr.   

 
 

WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of The Russell County Public Service Authority, this __ 
day of July, 2020. 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 

 ________________________________________  
Secretary, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 
 
 
 
 
 

#13168379 
016049.0009 
 
 
 
 



K&C Draft: 6/27/20207/16/2020 
 
 
 

MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 

dated as of __________ 1, 2020 
 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY,  

as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 

AND 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 

Virginia Resources Authority 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 
 

$6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B 
 

$5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

[To Be Updated] 
Page 

 
ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.1. Definitions  ................................................................................................................1 
Section 1.2. Rules of Construction  ...............................................................................................4 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower  ..................................................................................5 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BONDS 

 
Section 3.1. Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements.........................................7 
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Entering into Master Financing Agreement .....................7 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
Section 4.1. Application of Proceeds 9Article IV ........................................................................9 
Section 4.2. Application of Proceeds  ..........................................................................................9 
Section 4.3. Agreement to Accomplish Project  ........................................................................10 
Section 4.3. Permits  ..................................................................................................................11 
Section 4.4. Permits  ..................................................................................................................11 
Section 4.5. Construction Contractors  ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.54.6.Engineering Services  ............................................................................................11 
Section 4.64.7.Borrower Required to Complete Project  ...............................................................11 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant  .....................................................................12 
Section 5.2. Annual Budget  ......................................................................................................13 
Section 5.3. Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report ..........................................................13 
 
 



ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bonds  .......................................................................................13 
Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments ..........................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bonds  ..................................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System  .................................................15 
Section 8.2. Maintenance  ..........................................................................................................15 
Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications .................................................................................15 
Section 8.4. Use of System  .......................................................................................................15 
Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records  ...................................15 
Section 8.6. Ownership of System  ............................................................................................15 
Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance  ............................................................................................16 
Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues  .........................................................................................16 
Section 8.9. No Free Service .....................................................................................................16 
Section 8.10. No Competing Service  ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.12. Lawful Charges  .....................................................................................................17 
Section 8.13. Operating Budget ...................................................................................................17 
Section 8.14. Operating Reserve  .................................................................................................17 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
Section 9.1. Insurance  ...............................................................................................................17 
Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies  ......................................................................................18 
Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation  .............................................18 
Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction  .......................................................................................18 
Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title  ...........................................................................19 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence  .....................................................................................19 



Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements  ........................................................................19 
Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default  ..................................................................................20 
Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness ........................................................................................20 
Section 10.5. Parity Bonds  ..........................................................................................................20 
Section 10.6. Further Assurances ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower  ......................................................................................22 
Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act  ...................................................................................................22 
Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel  .......................................................................................22 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting ...............................................................................23 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts  ..................................................................................................23  
 
Section 10.13. Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study  ........................................23  

 
ARTICLE XI 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
Section 11.1. Events of Default  ..................................................................................................23 
Section 11.2. Notice of Default ...................................................................................................24 
Section 11.3. Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................24 
Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver ..................................................................................................25 
Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept .................................................................................................25 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns .........................................................................................25 
Section 12.2. Amendments  .........................................................................................................25 
Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability ........................................................................25 
Section 12.4. Applicable Law  .....................................................................................................25 
Section 12.5. Severability  ...........................................................................................................26 
Section 12.6. Notices  ..................................................................................................................26 
Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default  ............................................................................................26 
Section 12.8. Headings  ...............................................................................................................27 
Section 12.9. Term of Agreement  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.10. Termination of Original Financing Agreements  ...................................................27 
Section 12.11. Counterparts  ..........................................................................................................27 
 
 

 



EXHIBITS 
 
 
Exhibit A - Form of Local Bonds 
Exhibit B - Project Descriptions 
Exhibit C - Project Budgets 
Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel 
Exhibit E - Form of Requisition 
Exhibit F - Original Bonds 
Exhibit G - Original Financing Agreements 
Exhibit H - Prior Bonds and Existing Parity Bonds  
Exhibit I - Debt Service Schedules 
Exhibit J - Form of Budget 
Exhibit K - Amended and Restated Support Agreement 



MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of 
__________, 2020, between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body 
corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as 
Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”), and 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate 
and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”). 
 
 Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), 
the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water 
Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority 
administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to 
and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water 
supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act. 
 
 The Borrower has requested certain loans from the Fund and has evidenced its obligation 
to repay such loans by its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant 
to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of 
the Fund, and the Borrower.  The  (the “Russell PSA Financing Agreements”).  In connection 
with the transfers and assumptions described below, the Borrower has requested that the 
Authority agree to amendments to and restatements of the Russell PSA Financing Agreements as 
described on Exhibit G (the “Russell PSA Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and 
the Borrower, with respect to the Russell PSA Bonds on the terms and conditions stated in this 
Agreement. 
 
 The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has previously issued 
its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to Financing 
Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and 
Castlewood WSA (the “Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements”).  Castlewood WSA has agreed 
to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the Borrower 
has agreed to assume the Castlewood WSA Bonds.  The parties desire to provide for the assumption 
by the Borrower of the obligations of the Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood WSA 
Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
 
 The County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds as described 
on Exhibit F (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, 
between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the County (the “County Financing 
Agreements”).  The County has agreed to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the 
County Bonds and the Borrower has agreed to assume the County Bonds.  The parties desire to 
provide for the assumption by the Borrower of the obligations of the County with respect to the 
County Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
 
 



ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1. Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not 
defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and 
any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms 
in the Act: 
 
 “Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2. 
 
 “Agreement” means this Master Financing Agreement between the Authority and the 
Borrower, together with any amendments or supplements hereto. 
 
 “Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in 
Section 6.1 and Exhibit I payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services 
attributable to certain of the Local Bonds. 
  
 “Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower 
authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to 
perform the act or sign the document in question. 
 
 “Board” means the Virginia Board of Health. 
 

“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority. 
 

 “Castlewood WSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto 
described in Exhibit F issued by Castlewood WSA to the Authority, as Administrator of the 
Fund. 
 
 “Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing 
agreements between the Authority and Castlewood WSA as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Local Bonds to the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers 
of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do 
business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s 
consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 4.6 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such 
individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until 
the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed 
and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as 
Consulting Engineer under this Agreement. 

 
“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual 

Administrative Fee, if any, payable as set forth in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I.  



 
“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia. 
 

 “County Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described in 
Exhibit F issued by the County to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “County Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 
between the Authority and the County as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of 
time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default. 
 
 “Department” means the Virginia Department of Health. 
 
 “Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1. 
 
 “Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences 
of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit H, that on the respective dates of the Local 
Bonds’ issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity 
with the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its 
annual accounting period. 
 
 “Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing 
Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements. 
 
 [“Funding Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, dated as 
of the date hereof, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower.] 
 
 “Local Bonds” means , collectively, the bonds relating to the assumption of the 
Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds and the amendment and restatement 
amendments and restatements of the Russell PSA Bonds, substantially in the forms attached to 
this Financing Agreement as Exhibit A, issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 “Local Bond Proceeds” means the aggregate proceeds from the sale of the Local Bonds 
pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 “Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body 
of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the 
execution, issuance and delivery of the Local Bonds. 
 



 “Master Parity Agreement” means the Master Parity Agreement dated as of __________, 
2020, among the Authority, the Borrower and United States of America, acting by and through the 
Rural Utilities Service, an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture. 
 
 “Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation 
award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other 
expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 
 
 “Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts 
necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense. 
 
 “Operating Reserve Fund” means the operating reserve fund established in Section 
8.13. 
 
 “Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining 
the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of 
(i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other 
items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, 
repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for 
administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business. 
 
 “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable 
to the Authority. 
 
 “Original Bonds” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Bonds, the County Bonds 
and the Russell PSA Bonds. 
 
 “Original Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing 
Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements. 
 
 “Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower 
issued under Section 10.5. 
 
 “Prior Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower  
secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was superior to the 
pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Project” means, collectively, the particular projects described in Exhibit B, the costs of 
the construction, acquisition or equipping of which were financed or financing in whole or in 
part with the Local Bond Proceeds. 
 
 “Project Budgets” means, collectively, the budgets for the financing or the refinancing 
of each Project, copies of which are attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C. 
 



 “Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of each 
Project, as further described in the Project Budgets, and such other costs as may be approved in 
writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act. 
 
 “Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant 
having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval 
required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including 
without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the 
Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public 
accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority. 
 
 “Required Operating Reserve” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.13. 
 
 “Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to 
the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the 
Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject 
to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any 
insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money 
or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be 
appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or 
otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment 
of its Local Bonds. 
 
 “Russell PSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described 
in Exhibit F issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Russell PSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 
between the Authority and Borrower as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 
2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale 
Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; 
Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the 
Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between 
the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water 
dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority . 
[Add any service contracts transferred from Castlewood WSA and Russell County]. 
 
 “Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the 
Borrower  secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly made subordinate to the 
pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Support Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Support Agreement, dated the 
date hereof, among the Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of 
Exhibit K hereto. 
 



 “System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not 
limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection 
with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist. 
 
 “Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, 
among the Borrower, the County and The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority. 
 
 Section 1.2. Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the 
construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise: 
 
  (a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and 
vice versa. 
 
  (b) All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are 
references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. 
 
  (c) The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they 
affect its meaning, construction or effect. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
 Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following 
representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement: 
 
  (a) The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” 
(as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with 
the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law. 
 
  (b) The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local 
Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support 
Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and 
deliver the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the 
System, (iv) fix, charge and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the 
System, (v) construct, acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or 
refinance the Project Costs by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement 
and the issuance of the Local Bonds, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System to the payment of 
the Local Bonds, and (vii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the 
Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bonds. 
 
  (c) This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, 
the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and 
are in substantially the same form as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its 
meeting at which the Local Resolution was adopted. 



 
  (d) All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, 
authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this 
Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the 
execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the 
Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds, (iii) the performance and 
enforcement of the obligations of the Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, 
equipping, occupation, operation and use of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the 
System.  The Borrower knows of no reason why any such required governmental permits, 
licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals not obtained as of the date 
hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 
 
  (e) This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement 
and the Transfer Agreement have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the 
Borrower and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable 
against the Borrower in accordance with their terms. 
 
  (f) When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and 
this Agreement, the Local Bonds will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized 
officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the 
Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms. 
 
  (g) The issuance of the Local Bonds and the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement 
and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the 
Borrower and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the 
best of the Borrower’s knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, 
including the Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other 
instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, 
regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having 
jurisdiction over the Borrower or its property. 

  (h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or 
interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument 
under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event 
or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any 
such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with 
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder. 

  (i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in 
violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a 
material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and (ii) is not in default under any 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other 
agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it 
is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on 
its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support 



Agreement or the Local Bonds.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, 
the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and the compliance with the terms and conditions 
thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the 
foregoing. 

  (j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, 
threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, 
equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization 
or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to 
prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local 
Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds or the issuance or 
delivery of the Local Bonds, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability 
of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bonds or any 
agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or 
resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition 
(financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under 
the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds, (v) in any way 
affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power 
of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bonds. 

  (k) No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the 
Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to 
the Authority. 
 
  (l) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will 
not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.  

   (m) There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a 
pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the 
Local Bonds except any Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H. 
 
  (n) The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of 
default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not 
currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the 
Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies 
available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts. 
 
  (o) No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing. 
 
  (p) All of the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the 
Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are true and correct and all terms of the 
Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are reaffirmed, ratified and confirmed. 

 
 



ARTICLE III 
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

 
 Section 3.1. Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements; Assumption 
of Local Bonds.  (a)  This Agreement in part constitutes an amendment and restatement of the 
Financing Agreements with respect to the Local Bonds; however, this Agreement shall not 
constitute a novation of the original debt evidenced by the respective Local Russell County PSA 
Bonds. 

 (b) The Borrower agrees to assume each of Castlewood WSA’s and the County’s 
obligations to make payments of the principal and other sums that become due under its respective 
Local Bonds after the Closing Date.   
 
 (c) The Borrower’s obligations with respect to the amendments and restatements of the 
Russell PSA Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Bonds and the assumption of the 
Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds shall be evidenced by the Locals Bonds. The 
Authority agrees to release Castlewood WSA and the County from their respective obligations 
under its respective Local Bonds, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Entering into the Master Financing 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be effective until the Authority shall have received the 
following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority: 
 
  (a) The Local Bonds,[ the Funding Agreement,]  the Master Parity 
Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement. 
 
  (b) A certified copy of the Local Resolution. 
 
  (c) A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set 
forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require. 
 
  (d) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed 
and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and 
satisfied by it as of such date. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed 
to the Fund and the Authority. 
 
  (f) An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Authority. 
 
  (g) Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the 
Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable 
to the Authority that the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer 
Agreement are valid and enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary 
qualifications. 
 



  (h)  Deposit into the Operating Reserve Fund the amount of $________ from 
the Borrower’s available funds. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
 Section 4.1. Application of Article IV.  The provisions of Article IV shall only apply 
with respect to the following Original Bonds: 
 
 [WSL-022-15E in the amount of $_____] 
 
 [WSL-028-14E in the amount of $_____] 
 
 Section 4.2. Application of Proceeds. 
 
 (a) The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to 
the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further 
agrees to exhibit to the Department or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale 
or other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse 
money from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each 
calendar month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the 
Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Department) of the following: 
 
  (1) A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department 
shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information 
called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement; 
 
  (2) If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, 
builders or materialmen, 
 
   (i) a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such 

work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment 
were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the 
Project; and 

 
   (ii) a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either 

that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or 
security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or 
discharged upon payment of the requisition. 

 
 Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and 
approval thereof by the Department, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder 
to or for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the 
extent approved by the Department and shall note the date and amount of each such 
disbursement on a schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The 



Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is 
in default hereunder nor shall the Department have any obligation to approve any requisition if 
the Borrower is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 (b) The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, 
regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Department, disbursements shall be held at ninety-
five percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory 
completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in 
Section 4.2 4.3 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then 
entitled, the Authority, to the extent approved by the Department and subject to the provisions of 
this Section and Section 4.24.3, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond 
Proceeds to the extent of such approval. 
 
 The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the 
amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the 
maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the 
Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1. 
 
 Section 4.24.3. Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to 
cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in 
Exhibit B and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs 
prepared by the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Department.  All plans, specifications 
and designs shall be approved by all applicable regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to 
maintain complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and permit the Authority 
and the Department through their duly authorized representatives to inspect such books and 
records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the Authority, with the consent of the 
Department, may amend the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B. 
 
 When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the 
Authority and the Department a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the 
Borrower and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substan-
tially in accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, 
as approved by the Department, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of 
occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation 
have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project 
Costs. 
 
 Section 4.34.4. Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply 
with and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, 
equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, promptly 
furnish to the Authority and the Department copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.  The 
Borrower shall also comply with all applicable lawful program or procedural guidelines or 



requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Department in connection 
with the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from 
the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable federal 
laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection with the 
Project and the funding thereof from the Fund.  Where noncompliance with such requirements is 
determined by the Authority or the Department, the issue shall be referred to the proper 
governmental authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action. 
 
 Section 4.44.5. Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor 
employed in the accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to 
furnish a performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent 
(100%) of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the 
Authority, the Department and the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to 
maintain during the construction period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s 
risk insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage 
insurance and vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting 
Engineer.  Upon request of the Authority, the Department or the Board, the Borrower shall cause 
each contractor to furnish evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority, the Department 
and the Board. 
 
 Section 4.54.6. Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting 
Engineer to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the 
supervision and inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall 
certify to the Fund, the Authority and the Department as to the various stages of the completion 
of the Project as disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion 
of the Project provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Department the certificates required by 
Sections 4.1 4.2 and 4.24.3. 
 
 Section 4.64.7. Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond 
Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the 
Project at its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, 
the Authority, the Department or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the 
Borrower’s payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
 Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to 
apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby 
pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s 
obligations under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall 
immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further 
act.  The lien of this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the 



Revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of 
the Borrower to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have 
priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be 
valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of 
whether such parties have notice of this pledge. 
 
 (a) The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other 
charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from 
time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues 
Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to 
pay the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Additional Payments and all 
other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without 
limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted 
accounting principles (the “Rate Covenant”).  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to 
satisfy the foregoing covenant, the Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its 
rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide 
sufficient Revenues to satisfy such requirement. 
 
 (b) On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the 
adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates 
the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the Rate Covenant, the 
Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its rates, fees and other charges or 
reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any deficiency. 
 
 Section 5.2. Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal 
Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise 
being in the form of, Exhibit J to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of the 
rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be 
generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, 
repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as 
approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  
The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal 
Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of 
the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority. 
 
 Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any 
Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the Rate Covenant, within two hundred ten 
(210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall obtain a report from the 
Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making recommendations as to the proper 
maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal Year 
and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be 
established by the Borrower to satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a 
copy of such report to the Authority and, subject to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement 
the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant within ninety (90) days of 
obtaining such report. 



 
 (b) If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s 
recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other 
procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the Rate Covenant 
when such measures have been implemented and become fully effective.  Such alternative plan 
shall be filed with the Authority not later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified 
Independent Consultant’s report along with a detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for 
rejecting the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything 
herein to the contrary, the Authority reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such 
alternate procedures and require the Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent 
Consultant’s recommendations. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
 Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bonds.  The Local Bonds shall be dated as of the Closing 
Date.  The Cost of Funds, if any, of each of the Local Bonds shall be computed on the disbursed 
principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate set forth on Exhibit I 
with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Principal and the Cost of Funds, if any, due under each 
of the Local Bonds shall be payable in equal installments as set forth on Exhibit I with respect to 
each of the Local Bonds.  All amounts due hereunder and under each of the Local Bonds shall be 
due and payable in full with the final installment of principal and Cost of Funds, if any, due as 
set forth on Exhibit I with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Each installment shall be applied 
first to payment of the Cost of Funds, if any, accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to 
principal.   If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond 
are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not include such undisbursed 
amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing, until all 
amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been paid in full, less than full 
disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond shall not postpone the due 
date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such 
installment.  If any installment of principal of or the Cost of Funds, if any, on any of the Local 
Bonds is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay the 
Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue 
installment on such Local Bonds. 
 
 Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of 
principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Borrower agrees to pay on 
demand of the Authority the following Additional Payments: 
 
   (1) The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board 

in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable 
fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and 

 



   (2) All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any 
amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant 
to the provisions hereof. 

 
 The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) 
above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five 
percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
 Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bonds.  At its option and after giving at least ten 
(10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local Bonds at any time, 
in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the date on which the 
Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bonds will be prepaid in full or in 
part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial prepayment shall be 
applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bonds but shall not postpone 
the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bonds, or change the amount of such 
installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
 Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may 
otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the 
System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by 
any other entity or person. 
 
 Section 8.2. Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate 
the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal 
requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to 
time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 
 
 Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from 
time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it 
deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or 
operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or 
improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, 
permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifi-
cations and improvements shall become part of the System. 
 
 Section 8.4. Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements 
of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently 
enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental 



policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the 
cost of making the same. 
 
 Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The 
Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such 
reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the 
Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the 
books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System. 
 
 Section 8.6. Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or 
install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire 
title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless 
such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, 
pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right 
or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been 
approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s 
purposes. 
 
 Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, 
leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the 
following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in 
writing: 
 
  (a) The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or 
under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the 
System; 
 
  (b) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace 
such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and 
 
  (c) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of 
unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized 
Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the 
System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any 
other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there 
shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer 
stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the 
proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that 
may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, and 
then, if such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bonds under 
Article VII hereof. 
 



 Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect 
all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on 
premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges 
where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, 
discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the 
System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than 
through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace 
periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.9. No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the 
use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge 
therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges. 
 
 Section 8.10. No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any 
franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would 
compete with the System. 
 
 Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable 
law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may 
reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been 
constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; 
provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the 
standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the 
System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.12. Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, 
assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the 
“Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the 
Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the 
System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to 
pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects 
which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues 
(collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten 
(10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in 
good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the 
Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any 
subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the 
lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or 
Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an 
appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon 
request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental 
Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 8.13.  Operating Budget.  The Borrower agrees to include a reserve in the 
amount of $300,000 in the Annual Budget for each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2021 
through June 30, 2022. 



 
 Section 8.14. Operating Reserve. (a)  There is hereby established the “Russell County 
PSA Operating Reserve Fund” (the “Operating Reserve Fund”) to be held by the Borrower in a 
separate and segregated account.  Until the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and 
the Existing Parity Bonds and all amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement have been paid or 
provided for in full, the Borrower agrees to deposit in the Operating Reserve Fund the following 
amounts on the dates provided for below: 
 

  (i) On the Closing Date, the amount of $________ from the Borrower’s 
available funds (the “Initial Required Operating Reserve”). 

 
  (ii) On or before June 30, 2023, an amount that equals the Required Operating 

Reserve (as defined below), taking into account the deposit of the Initial Required Operating 
Reserve. 

 
  (iii) To the extent there is any deficiency in the Operating Reserve Fund due to 

an increase in the prior Fiscal Year’s Operation and Maintenance Expense, in the next Fiscal 
Year an amount equal to such deficiency, such that by the end of the next Fiscal Year the 
Operating Reserve Fund shall hold the Required Operating Reserve. 

 
  (iv) To the extent funds are drawn from the Operating Reserve Fund for the 

payment of Authorized Expenses (as defined below), commencing in the next Fiscal Year and 
continuing in each Fiscal Year thereafter until the deficiency is eliminated, an amount equal to 
one-third of the amount of such deficiency, such that by the end of the third Fiscal Year 
following the payment of the Authorized Expenses the Operating Reserve Fund shall hold the 
Required Operating Reserve. 
  
 “Required Operating Reserve” means an amount that equals $450,000. 

   
(b) Except as set forth in subsection (d) below, amounts in the Operating Reserve 

Fund may only be disbursed, upon written notice to the Authority for amounts up to $50,000 and 
upon the written consent of the Authority for the remainder of the Required Operating Reserve, 
to pay extraordinary maintenance or repair expenses related to the operation of the System to the 
extent available funds, including cash or other reserves, of the Borrower are insufficient to pay 
such expenses (the “Authorized Expenses”). 

 
 (c) Failure to deposit the Required Operating Reserve under subsections (a)(i) and (ii) 
above or failure to replenish any deficiency in the Operating Reserve Fund under subsections 
(a)(iii) and (iv) above in the time specified shall constitute an Event of Default under Section 
11.1.  The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any Local Bond Proceeds if the 
Borrower has not satisfied the provisions contained in this Section. 
 

(d) Any amounts in the Operating Reserve Fund, including investment earnings 
thereon, in excess of the Required Operating Reserve shall be transferred to the Borrower as of 
the end of each Fiscal Year; provided, that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, 
such amounts shall be maintained in the Operating Reserve Fund.  Unless the Authority agrees 



otherwise, the Borrower shall deposit or invest, as appropriate, monies in the Operating Reserve 
Fund, as the Borrower may direct in writing, in accounts covered and secured under the Virginia 
Security for Public Deposits Act (Chapter 44, Title 2.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended), 
or in a “Permitted Investments” (as defined below), with a term of not more than five years.  
“Permitted Investments” are (a) bonds, notes and other direct obligations of the United States of 
America, (b) securities unconditionally guaranteed as to the timely payment of principal, if 
applicable, and interest by the United States of America, (c) bonds, notes and other obligations of 
any agency of the United States of America unconditionally guaranteed as to the timely payment 
of principal and interest by the United States of America, or (d) obligations of Federal Home 
Loan Banks and obligations of Federal Farm Credit Banks. 
 

(e) The Borrower’s obligations to make deposits under subsection (a) above and to 
make payments as scheduled under the Local Bond shall not be discharged in whole or in part by 
any transfer made by the Borrower from the Operating Reserve Fund. 

 
(f) The Authority and the Borrower acknowledge that the Operating Reserve Fund is 

being established and maintained for the benefit of the System.   
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
 Section 9.1. Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the 
Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as 
are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character 
to the System, including, without limitation: 
 
  (a) Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s 
insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended 
coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler 
leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such 
endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the 
time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may 
provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement 
cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full 
replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized 
appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority. 
 
  (b) Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and 
for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, 
operation or use of the System. 
 
  (c) Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, 
workers’ compensation insurance. 
 



 The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the 
procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to 
policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance. 
 
 The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of 
the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the 
insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect. 
 
 Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be 
maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the 
Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with 
deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of 
like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such 
policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) 
days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer 
licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus 
Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any 
successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the 
Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law. 
 
 Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of 
(i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part 
of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any 
loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or 
negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice 
thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, 
taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations. 
 
 Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or 
damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay 
in full the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property 
damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, 
with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the 
capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended 
to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of 
insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such 
restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not 
sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as 
may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property 
constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the 
cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bonds pursuant to 
Article VII. 
 
 Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or 
any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost 
because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full 



the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any 
such condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to 
substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  
If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower 
shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are 
derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds 
remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment 
of the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII. 
  

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
 Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as 
a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without 
consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer 
all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political 
subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and 
the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bonds and this 
Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel 
acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to 
the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
 Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper 
books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally 
accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs 
related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the 
Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent 
certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal 
Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower 
during such Fiscal Year satisfied the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall furnish to the Authority 
copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by the Borrower.  Such report shall include 
statements in reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial 
position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the Borrower’s operations and 
changes in the financial position of its funds for the Fiscal Year.   
 
 Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the 
Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a 
certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the 
date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or 
existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has 



happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event 
or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it. 
 
 Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness 
or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge 
of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 10.5. Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the 
Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on 
parity with the Local Bonds with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to 
complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, 
equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be 
necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bonds, Parity 
Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); provided in 
each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise consented and 
agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or delivered, the 
Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following: 
 
  (a) Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower 
authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (b) A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the 
purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will 
apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (c) If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding 
of the Local Bonds, Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection (iv)(C) below, a 
certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant, to the 
effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent Consultant, as 
applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the issuance of the 
Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds available to the 
Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will be sufficient to 
pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time which will be 
required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the Parity Bond 
proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such improvements or 
acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of Revenues, or 
(C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the improvements or the 
acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, the projected Net 
Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County 
pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each 
such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the 
Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or 
payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are 
treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing this 
certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future 



System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing 
body of the Borrower and any other person and entity required to give approval for the rate increase 
to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration 
additional future revenues of the System to be derived under then existing contractual agreements 
entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the 
Borrower. 
 
  (d) If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bonds (with the 
consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds, either (i) a certificate, including 
supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory to the Authority that 
the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each of the years the Local 
Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded would have been outstanding which 
are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each such year on the Local Bonds, Existing 
Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting 
documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant to the effect that during the first two 
complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net 
Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County 
pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each 
such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the 
Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or 
payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are 
treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the 
certificate described in clause (ii), the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account 
the factors described in the last two sentences of subsection (c) of this Section. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary 
exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of 
the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this 
Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute 
compliance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
 Section 10.6. Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted 
by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, 
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the 
better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other 
funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of 
this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, 
preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement 
and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and 
demands of all persons. 
 
 Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts 
required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection 
therewith. 
 



 Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the 
Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as 
defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If 
the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with 
the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and 
the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s 
obligations under the Local Bonds and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the 
assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the 
Local Bonds and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee 
enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and 
assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bonds and this 
Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be 
construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations. 
 
 Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon 
Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and 
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at 
rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United 
States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act 
and related acts, as amended. 
 

Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 
federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, 
P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended 
and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements 
include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be 
produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the 
following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole 
covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, 
structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials. 

 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 

recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as 
amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as 
performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect 
to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the 
Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities. 



 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the 

Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service 
Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to 
ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement. 

 
 

Section 10.13.   [Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The 
Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the 
Borrower on or before __________, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors 
of the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates 
for a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) 
that satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future 
projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the 
Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business 
Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, 
as amended, on or before __________, 2020 for review.] 
 
[Add language regarding debt service and/or operating reserve] 
 
[Add language regarding control over PSA and County leachate] 
 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 Section 11.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of 
Default”: 
 
  (a) The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds, if 
any, due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bonds or 
this Agreement, including payments required to fund the Operating Reserve Fund to the amount 
of the Required Operating Reserve or restore the balance in the Operating Reserve Fund to the 
Required Operating Reserve upon any shortfall therein; 
 
  (b) The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, 
agreements or conditions of the Local Bonds, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the 
continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the 
Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the 
Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, 
however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the 
applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of 
such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and 
diligently pursued until the Default is corrected; 
 



  (c) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of 
Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in 
reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bonds is 
false or misleading in any material respect; 
 
  (d) [The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 
5.3(b) and (c) thereof;] 
 
  (e) The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any 
Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure 
such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder; 
 
  (f) An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the 
Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent 
or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after 
the entry thereof; 
 
  (g) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors 
or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state 
statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances 
secured by or payable from Revenues; or 
 
  (h) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted 
by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or 
hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) 
days after filing. 
 
 Section 11.2. Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt 
written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is 
entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition 
which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the 
existence thereof. 
 
 Section 11.3. Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 
Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other 
remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, 
have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the 
following remedial steps: 
 
  (a) Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due 
on the Local Bonds and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall 
become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and 
 



  (b) Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bonds and 
under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights 
under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements 
or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bonds, which the Borrower hereby agrees are 
assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
 
 Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and 
every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or 
shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies 
consequent thereto. 
 

Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may 
take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds, if any, 
shall not be paid when the same shall become due and payable. 

 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to 
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 12.2. Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent 
of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be 
signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written 
consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend 
Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 8.13, 8.14, 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the 
Local Bonds or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general 
obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically 
pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bonds nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create 
or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not 
be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds or other costs 
incident thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of 
fraud, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be 
liable personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bonds or for any other action taken by 
such individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or 
the Local Bonds. 



 
 Section 12.4. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable 
laws of Virginia. 
 
 Section 12.5. Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall 
be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or 
Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced 
as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  
If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then 
such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority 
and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 12.6. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, 
approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bonds or this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person 
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 Fund:   Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

c/o Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Authority:  Virginia Resources Authority 

1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Board:   Virginia Department of Health 

109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  State Health Commissioner 

 
Borrower:  The Russell County Public Service Authority 

____________________ 
137 Highland Drive 
__________Lebanon, Virginia  _____24266 
Attention:  Chairman 

 
 
A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other 
communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other 
parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given 
hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, 
consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention 
the same shall be directed. 



 
 Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or 
to perform any act required by it under the Local Bonds or this Agreement, the Authority without 
prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or 
default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All 
amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by 
the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at 
the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under 
this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bonds. 
 
 Section 12.8. Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.9. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its 
execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bonds previously or simultaneously shall have 
been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under 
the Local Bonds and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bonds and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.10. Termination of Original Financing Agreements.  The Original 
Financing Agreements heretofore executed between the parties thereto is are cancelled and 
terminated as of the Closing Date, provided that such cancellation and termination shall not be 
construed as a waiver, relinquishment or release of any claims, damages, liability, rights of 
action or causes of action that the parties thereto may have against the other thereunder and that 
have accrued before the effective date of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized. 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF LOCAL BONDS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 
 



 
EXHIBIT B 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 
 



EXHIBIT C 
 

PROJECT BUDGETS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT D 
 

OPINION OF BORROWER’S BOND COUNSEL 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 



EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF REQUISITION 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 

[To Come[LETTERHEAD OF BORROWER] 
 

[Date] 
 
__________, Director 
Office of Drinking Water, 6th Floor 
Virginia Department of Health 
109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 
 
Re: Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 
 The Russell County Public Service Authority 
 Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 
 This requisition, Number ___, is submitted in connection with the Master Financing 
Agreement and Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, each dated as of __________ 1, 2020 
(together, the “Agreements”) between the Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), and The Russell County Public Service 
Authority (the “Borrower”).  Unless otherwise defined in this requisition, all capitalized terms used 
herein shall have the meaning set forth in Article I of the Agreements.  The undersigned Authorized 
Representative of the Borrower hereby requests disbursement of loan proceeds under the 
Agreements in the amount of $___________, for the purposes of payment of the Project Costs as set 
forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto. 
 
 Attached hereto are invoices relating to the items for which payment is requested. 
 
 The undersigned certifies that (a) the amounts requested by this requisition will be applied 
solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of 
Project Costs, and (b) any materials, supplies or equipment covered by this requisition are not 
subject to any lien or security interest or such lien or security interest will be released upon payment 
of the requisition.  In addition, the undersigned certifies that the Borrower has conducted adequate 
oversight for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts through (a) the review of 
payrolls and associated certifications, and (b) the posting of all wage determinations and additional 
classifications (as appropriate) on the work site, and through this oversight, the Borrower has 
determined to the best of its ability that the Project complies with the requirements of the Davis-
Bacon Act and related acts.  The Borrower further certifies that all products included in this request 
satisfy the appropriate provisions of the American Iron and Steel requirements included in the 
Agreements. 
 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is 



continuing, and no condition exists which, with the passing of time or with the giving of notice or 
both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder, and (b) the representations and warranties of 
the Borrower contained in the Agreements are true, correct and complete and the Borrower has 
performed all of its obligations thereunder required to be performed as of the date hereof. 
 

This requisition includes an accompanying Certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the 
performance of the work. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Authorized Representative of the Borrower) 

 
Attachments 
cc: VDH Project Engineer (with all attachments) 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER 
 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

 
Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
 
 This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated 
_________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalization 
terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agreements referred 
to in the Requisition. 

 
 The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the 
amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or 
materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were 
actually furnished to or installed in the Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             SEAL                      
  

 
   
 
      ______________________________ 
        [Consulting Engineer] 
 
 Date: ________________________



SCHEDULE 1 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 
REQUISITION # ______ 
BORROWER: The Russell County Public Service Authority 
LOAN NUMBER: WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ________________________________ 
TITLE: ___________________________________ 
 

Cost Category Amount 
Budgeted 

Previous 
Disbursements 

Expenditures This 
Period 

Total Expenditures 
to Date 

Net Balance 
Remaining 

      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      

 
Total Funding Amount $ ____________________ 

Previous Disbursements $ ____________________ 
This Request $ ____________________ 

             Loan Proceeds Remaining $ ____________________



EXHIBIT F 
 

ORIGINAL BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

“Original Bonds” means, collectively, (a) the following bonds issued by the Borrower 
(the “Russell PSA Bonds”): 

(1) $99,775 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2006 (Green Valley Project); 

(2) $1,534,941 The Russell County Public Service Authority Revenue Bond, Series 
2008A (Big A Mountain Phase II Project); 

(3) $325,227 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2010-A (Back Valley—Big A Mountain Interconnection Project); 

(4) $1,059,765 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-A (Green Valley West Water Line Extension Project); 

(5) $103,783 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-B  (Long Branch/Strouth Creek/Fuller Mt. Water Line Extension Project); 

(6) $700,843 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2012-A (New Garden/Finney Water Line Extension Project); 

(7) $3,537,000 Water Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014; 

(8) $93,071 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Mountain Meadows Line Extension 
Project); 

(9) $294,202 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (iPerl Radio Read Meter 
Replacement Project); 

(10) $445,925 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Route 656 East Water Line 
Extension Project); 

(11) $197,027 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Thompson Creek/Tunnel Road 
Waterline Extension Project); and 

(12) $512,023 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Fincastle Estates Waterline 
Extension Project); 

and (b) the following bonds issued by the County that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “County Bonds”): 



 

(13) $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek 
Project); 

(14) $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project); 

(15) $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn 
Springs Project); 

(16) $935,690 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001A (Big A Mountain 
Project); 

(17) $1,678,400 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001B (Belfast Project); 

(18) $344,477 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001C (Pine Creek Project); 

(19) $822,366 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2002A (Swords Creek Public 
Service Authority) (Clark’s Valley Project); 

(20) $556,538 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Drill Mountain Project); 

(21) $91,439 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005B (Clark’s Valley—South 
Extension Water Project); 

(22) $1,906,717 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005E  (Belfast –Rosedale 
Project); 

(23) $415,518 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2006A (Miller Creek/Frank’s 
Hollow/Honeysuckle Lane Project); and 

(24) $197,170 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2007A (Belfast—Highlands and 
Yates Project); 

and (c) the following bonds issued by Castlewood WSA that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”): 

(25) $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (Castlewood Water Project); 

(26) $640,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2001 (Red Oak Ridge Water 
Project); 

(27) $653,250 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002 (Mew Road Water 
Project); 

(28) $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project); 

(28) (29)$661,019 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2004 (Carbo/Back Valley 
Water Project); 



(29) (30)$937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 
Project); 

(30) (31)$299,409 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Seven Springs Water 
Project);  

(31) (32)$359,813 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Castlewood 
Heights Water Project);  

(32) (33)$200,400 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008B (Blue Devil Water 
Project); 

(33) (34)$167,012 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2010 (Kingland Heights 
Water Project);  

(34) (35)$100,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2011 (Castlewood Phase 
One Water Project);  

(35) (36)$325,473 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2012 (Route 58/Memorial 
Drive/Greystone Water Project);  

(36) (37)$2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 

(37) (38)$163,680 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Upper Bear Wallow 
Water Project); and 

(38) (39)$317,151 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Radio Read Meter 
Replacement and Telemetry Installation Project). 



 
EXHIBIT G 

 
ORIGINAL FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT H 
 

PRIOR BONDS AND EXISTING PARITY BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 
Prior Bonds: 
 
None 

 
 

Existing Parity Bonds: 
 
$672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project) 
 
$900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project) 
 
$119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs 
Project) 
 
$350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project) 
 
$937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project) 
 
$2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A) 
 
$23,173.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A 
 
$418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D 



EXHIBIT I 
 

DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Be Provided]



EXHIBIT J 
 

FORM OF BUDGET 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead) 
 

[Date] 
 
Executive Director 
Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The 
Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is 
enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated 
below. 
 
Revenues1 Operation & 

Maintenance Expense 
Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service 
( Revenues – O&M 
Expense) 

Debt Service Coverage 
(Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service/Debt 
Service) 

     

__________________________________________ 
1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,     
   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement. 
 
 
 All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing 
Agreement[s]. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
        
By: __________________________ 
 
        
Its: _________________________ 



EXHIBIT K 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the 

first day of __________, 2020, by and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL 
COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia 
(the “County”), THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the 
“Borrower”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as 
Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as 
purchaser of the Local Bonds, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Master Financing Agreement 
dated as of the date hereof (the “Master Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the 
Borrower. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and 
Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns 
and operates the System in the County; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the 
“Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower; 
 
 WHEREAS, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has 
previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to 
certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  
Castlewood WSA; 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds 
as described on Exhibit A (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between 
the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  Castlewood WSA; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower desires to amend and restate its obligations with respect to the 
Russell PSA Bonds, assume the obligations of Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood 
WSA Bonds and assume the obligations of the County with respect to the County Bonds;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________July 6, 2020, a resolution authorizing, 
among other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the 
Board to consider certain appropriations in support of the Castlewood WSA Bonds, the County 
Bonds and the Russell PSA Bonds (collectively, the “Local Bonds”). 
 



AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual 
covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:  
 
  1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement 
shall have the meaning given it in the Master Financing Agreement. 
 
  2. No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__2020, the Borrower 
shall notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower 
reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under 
the Master Financing Agreement, the Local Bonds and any other indebtedness secured by or 
payable from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H to the 
Master Financing Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the 
Additional Payments in full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the 
following July 1. 

 
 3. The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall 

include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following 
fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County 
Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s 
budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether 
the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual 
Deficiency Amount. 
 
  4. If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred 
to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of 
such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from 
the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.  
 
  5. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to 
paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next 
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification 
requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority 
as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such 
appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to 
the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the 
County’s next fiscal year.  
 
  6. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such 
amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the 
fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any 
binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to 
make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of 
Supervisors do likewise.  
 



 7. The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local 
Bonds without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the 
Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-
199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a 
nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such 
nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing 
the Local Bonds, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, 
providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will 
immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to 
the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment 
continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of 
them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such 
nonpayment. 
 
  8. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the 
County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bonds or to any other 
person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit 
or the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate 
the Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.  
 
  9. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if 
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 
____________________137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia  24266, Attention: County 
Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to ____________________137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, 
Virginia  24266, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main Street, 
Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may designate 
any other address for notices or requests by giving notice.  
 
 10. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

 
 11. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bonds and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Master Financing Agreement have been paid 
in full.  
 
 12. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature page follows] 
 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.  
 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, 
VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
    
 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 

 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 



EXHIBIT A 
 

LOCAL ORIGINAL BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Be Provided] 
“Original Bonds” means, collectively, (a) the following bonds issued by the Borrower 

(the “Russell PSA Bonds”): 

(1) $99,775 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2006 (Green Valley Project); 

(2) $1,534,941 The Russell County Public Service Authority Revenue Bond, Series 
2008A (Big A Mountain Phase II Project); 

(3) $325,227 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2010-A (Back Valley—Big A Mountain Interconnection Project); 

(4) $1,059,765 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-A (Green Valley West Water Line Extension Project); 

(5) $103,783 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-B  (Long Branch/Strouth Creek/Fuller Mt. Water Line Extension Project); 

(6) $700,843 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2012-A (New Garden/Finney Water Line Extension Project); 

(7) $3,537,000 Water Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014; 

(8) $93,071 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Mountain Meadows Line Extension 
Project); 

(9) $294,202 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (iPerl Radio Read Meter 
Replacement Project); 

(10) $445,925 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Route 656 East Water Line 
Extension Project); 

(11) $197,027 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Thompson Creek/Tunnel Road 
Waterline Extension Project); and 

(12) $512,023 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Fincastle Estates Waterline 
Extension Project); 

and (b) the following bonds issued by the County that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “County Bonds”): 



(13) $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek 
Project); 

(14) $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project); 

(15) $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn 
Springs Project); 

(16) $935,690 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001A (Big A Mountain 
Project); 

(17) $1,678,400 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001B (Belfast Project); 

(18) $344,477 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001C (Pine Creek Project); 

(19) $822,366 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2002A (Swords Creek Public 
Service Authority) (Clark’s Valley Project); 

(20) $556,538 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Drill Mountain Project); 

(21) $91,439 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005B (Clark’s Valley—South 
Extension Water Project); 

(22) $1,906,717 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005E  (Belfast –Rosedale 
Project); 

(23) $415,518 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2006A (Miller Creek/Frank’s 
Hollow/Honeysuckle Lane Project); and 

(24) $197,170 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2007A (Belfast—Highlands and 
Yates Project); 

and (c) the following bonds issued by Castlewood WSA that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”): 

(25) $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (Castlewood Water Project); 

(26) $640,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2001 (Red Oak Ridge Water 
Project); 

(27) $653,250 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002 (Mew Road Water 
Project); 

(28) $661,019 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2004 (Carbo/Back Valley 
Water Project); 

(29) $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 
Project); 



(30) $299,409 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Seven Springs Water 
Project);  

(31) $359,813 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Castlewood Heights 
Water Project);  

(32) $200,400 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008B (Blue Devil Water 
Project); 

(33) $167,012 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2010 (Kingland Heights Water 
Project);  

(34) $100,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2011 (Castlewood Phase One 
Water Project);  

(35) $325,473 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2012 (Route 58/Memorial 
Drive/Greystone Water Project);  

(36) $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 

(37) $163,680 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Upper Bear Wallow 
Water Project); and 

(38) $317,151 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Radio Read Meter 
Replacement and Telemetry Installation Project). 



  
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A WATER 
AND SEWER REVENUE BOND OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC 
SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $23,173.29 
AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE 
BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATED ACTIONS 

The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Authority”) is a public body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the 
Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act by the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia 
(the “Board of Supervisors”). 
 

The Authority is authorized to acquire, construct, operate and maintain a water and sewer 
system in certain areas of Russell County and to borrow money and to issue its revenue bonds to pay 
all or part of the cost of such system. 
 

The Authority has determined it necessary and expedient to authorize the assumption of the 
Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-
B (Dante Sewer Project), previously issued and sold to the Virginia Services Authority, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund, in consideration of the Castlewood 
Water and Sewage Authority’s  transfer and conveyance to the Authority of the  facilities financed 
by such debt, and to issue, as evidence of the assumption of such debt, a water and sewer revenue 
bond of the Authority in a maximum principal amount of $23,173.29.  
 

The Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water 
Facilities Revolving Fund, has agreed to the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood Water 
and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer 
Project) and the purchase of the Authority’s revenue bond upon certain terms and conditions, and the 
Authority, after mature consideration of the condition of the municipal bond market and other 
methods of selling its bonds, has determined to satisfy such terms and conditions and award the bond 
to the VRA. 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY: 

 
ARTICLE I 

 
Definitions 

 
Section 1.1. Definitions.  Whenever used in this resolution, unless a different meaning 

clearly appears from the context: 
 

“Act” means the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, 
Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended). 

 
“Authority” means The Russell County Public Service Authority, a public body 

politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia duly created pursuant to the Act by the 
Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, and by a certificate of incorporation issued by the 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



State Corporation Commission of Virginia on April 4, 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Board of Supervisors” means the Board of Supervisors of the County. 
 
“Bond” means the Authority's water and sewer revenue bond issued pursuant to this 

resolution. 
 
“Closing Date” means the date on which the Bond is delivered to the VRA upon 

payment or partial payment of the purchase price for the Bond. 
 

“Consulting Engineer” means the engineering firm or individual engineer as may be 
employed by the Authority as Consulting Engineer in accordance with the Financing Agreement. 

 
“County” means Russell County, Virginia. 

 
“Financing Assumption Agreement” means the financing agreement executed by the 

Authority and the VRA in accordance with Section 4.1 of this resolution. 
 

“Fund” means the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund acting by and through 
the Virginia Resources Authority, its successors and assigns. 

 
“Government” means the United States of America, acting through Rural Utilities 

Service, United States Department of Agriculture. 
 
“Master Parity Agreement” means the agreement executed by the Authority, the 

VRA, and the Government dated as of July 1, 2020. 
 
“Maximum Amount” means $23,179.29. 
 
“Parity Bonds” means 
 
1.  $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s 

Creek Project); 
2. $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante 

Project); 
3. $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD 

Lynn Springs Project); 
4. $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water 

Project); 
5. $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 

Project); 
6. $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 
7. $6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B;  
8. $5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C; and 
9. $418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D. 
 



 
 

 
 
 
“System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, of which the 

Project constitutes the whole or is a part, owned, operated or maintained by the Authority and used 
in connection with the collection, storage, treatment or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater. 

 
“Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 among 

the Authority, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority, and the County. 

“VRA” means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, its successors and assigns, as Administrator 
of the Fund. 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
Authorization of Project 

 
Section 2.1. The Project.  It is determined to be advisable, necessary and expedient for the 

Authority to assume the obligation to pay the Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante Sewer Project), in consideration for the 
Authority’s acquisition of the facilities financed by such bond (the “Project”). 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

Authorization, Award, Details, Execution, Form, 
Registration and Delivery of Bond 

 
Section 3.1. Authorization of Bond.  Pursuant to the Act, there is authorized to be issued 

and sold a water and sewer revenue bond of the Authority in the principal amount not to exceed the 
Maximum Amount (the “Bond”), as evidence of the assumption by the Authority of the Castlewood 
Water and Sewage Authority’s $142,481 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002-B (Dante 
Sewer Project). 

 
Section 3.2. Award of Bond.  After mature consideration of the methods of sale of such 

bond and current conditions of the municipal bond market, it is determined that it is in the best 
interest of the Authority for the Authority to deliver the Bond the VRA in exchange for the 
Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (the “CWSA”), with the consent of VRA, transferring to 
the Authority certain facilities of the CWSA, in accordance with the Transfer Agreement and the 
Financing Assumption Agreement.   
 

Section 3.3. Details of Bond.    
 



 (a)   The Bond shall bear an appropriate designation as determined by either of the 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority, each of whom is authorized to provide the designation 
for the Bond in order to appropriately identify it.    The Bond shall be issued as a single, fully 
registered bond without coupons, shall be dated the Closing Date, shall be numbered R-1, shall bear 
interest at a rate not to exceed three percent (3.00%) per annum. The principal of and interest on the 
Bond shall be in the amount and shall be payable semi-annually in the amounts and on the dates 
established in accordance with subsection (b) below. 
 
  (b) Each of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized and 
directed to determine the principal amount of the Bond and to accept the dates on which, and the 
amounts in which, principal of and interest on the Bond will be due, as established by the VRA 
before the Closing Date; provided, however, that the principal amount of the Bond shall not exceed 
the Maximum Amount, and the final maturity of the Bond shall be no greater than ten (10) years 
after the Closing Date.  The execution and delivery of the Bond as described in Section 3.4 and 
Section 3.7 of this resolution shall conclusively evidence such principal amount and payment dates 
and amounts established by VRA as having been so accepted as authorized by this Resolution.  
Principal of and interest on the Bond shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of 
America.   

 
Section 3.4. Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be signed by the Chairman or Vice 

Chairman of the Authority, and the Authority's seal shall be affixed to the Bond and attested by the 
Authority's Secretary. 
 

Section 3.5. Form of Bond.  The Bond shall be in substantially the following form, with 
such variations, insertions and omissions as shall be consistent with this resolution, the execution 
and delivery of the Bond constituting conclusive evidence that any variations, insertions and 
omissions are so consistent: 

 
[To be completed at Closing—Form of Bond only] 

 
No. R-1 $[amount] 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A 
 

Dated [date] 
 

The Russell County Public Service Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia (the “Authority”), for value received, promises to pay, solely from the revenues described 
and pledged in the Financing Agreement, as defined below, to the payment of this Bond, to the order 
of the Virginia Resources Authority (the “VRA”), as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities 



Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), or registered assigns, the principal sum equal to the aggregate amount 
of principal advances shown on the attached Schedule of Principal Advances, but not to exceed the 
sum of 

 
[amount] DOLLARS 

($[amount]) 
 

with interest on the unpaid principal from the date of each principal advance shown on the attached 
Certificate of Principal Advances until payment of the entire principal sum at the annual rate of three 
percent (3.00%).  
 
 The principal of and interest on this Bond shall be due and payable as follows:  
 
 Interest only on all amounts disbursed under the Bond shall be due and payable on [date].  
Commencing [date], and continuing semi-annually thereafter on [month] 1 and [month] 1 in each 
year, principal and interest due under the Bond shall be due and payable in equal installments of 
$[amount], with a final installment of $[amount] due and payable on [date], when if not sooner paid, 
all amounts due under this Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each installment shall be applied 
first to payment of interest accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to principal.  If principal 
advances up to the maximum authorized amount are not made, the principal amount due on this 
Bond shall not include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Authority and VRA agree 
otherwise in writing, until all payments due hereunder shall have been paid in full, less than full 
disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of this Bond shall not postpone the due date of any 
semi-annual installment due hereunder or change the amount of such installment unless the principal 
amount due under this Bond is less than the amount of such installment.   
 

In addition, if any installment of principal of or interest on this Bond is not received by the 
registered owner of this Bond within ten (10) days from its due date, the Authority shall pay to the 
registered owner of this Bond a late payment charge in the amount equal to five percent (5.00%) of 
such overdue installment.  Principal of and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the 
United States. 

 
Neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia nor the faith and credit 

of any county, city, town or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia are 
pledged to the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond. 

 
This Bond has been authorized by a resolution duly adopted by the Authority on July 21, 

2020 (the “Bond Resolution”) and is issued pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities 
Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the “Act”), and pursuant to the 
terms of a Financing Assumption Agreement dated as of July 1, 2020 between the VRA, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund, and the Authority (the “Financing 
Assumption Agreement”) to evidence the assumption of a loan made by the VRA to the Castlewood 
Water and Sewage Authority (the “CWSA”) in consideration of the transfer to the Authority of the 
CWSA’s facilities originally financed by such loan.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution and 
the Financing Assumption Agreement and any amendments to it for the provisions, among others, 
describing the pledge and covenants securing this Bond, the nature and extent of the security, the 



terms and conditions upon which this Bond is issued, the rights and obligations of the Authority and 
the rights of the bondholder.  Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined have the 
meanings given them in the Financing Assumption Agreement. 
 

Principal of and interest on this Bond are payable solely from the revenues of the System 
pledged to the payment of them in the Financing Assumption Agreement and from amounts, if any, 
received pursuant to the Support Agreement, as defined in the Bond Resolution.  

 
 In accordance with the Financing Assumption Agreement, the lien of the pledge of revenues 
securing the payment of the principal of and interest on this Bond is and shall be on parity with the 
lien of any pledge of revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds as defined in the Financing 
Assumption Agreement.  
 

No notation is required to be made on this Bond of the payment of any principal on normal 
installment payment dates or of any prepayments of principal.  HENCE, THE FACE AMOUNT OF 
THIS BOND MAY EXCEED THE PRINCIPAL SUM REMAINING OUTSTANDING AND DUE 
HEREUNDER.  
 

Transfer of this Bond may be registered upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar.  
Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the Bond Registrar shall treat the registered 
owner as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of and interest on this Bond  and the 
exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.  

 
This Bond is subject to optional prepayment to the extent and on the terms set forth in the 

Financing Agreement.  
 
If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Assumption Agreement) occurs, the 

principal of and interest on this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the holder by 
written notice to the Authority.  

 
Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the 

principal and interest provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay such additional 
amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in full of all amounts due under the 
Financing Assumption Agreement.  
 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this 
Bond have happened, exist and have been performed.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be signed by the Chairman 

of the Authority, its seal to be affixed this Bond and attested by the Secretary of the Authority, and 
this Bond to be dated the date first shown above. 



 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE] 
_____________________________ 
Secretary, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 

  
 
 
 

[NOT FOR SIGNATURE] 
_________________________________ 
Chairman, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 

   
     

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL ADVANCES 

The amount and date of principal advances not to exceed the face amount hereof shall be 
entered hereon by an authorized officer of the VRA, when the proceeds of each such principal 
advance are delivered to the Authority. 
 

Amount 
 
  
 
  
 
  

 Date 
 
  
 
  
 
  

 Authorized Signature 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 

[End of Bond Form] 
 

Upon request of the VRA, the Authority shall arrange to have prepared, executed, 
authenticated and delivered in exchange as soon as practicable bonds in printed form in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the unpaid principal of the Bond in typewritten form, in denominations of 
$5,000 and multiples of $5,000, except for one bond which may be issued in an odd denomination of 
not less than $5,000, of the same form and maturity and registered in such names as requested by the 
VRA or its duly authorized attorney or legal representative.  The typewritten bond surrendered in 
any such exchange shall be canceled. 

 
Section 3.6. Registration and Exchange of Bond.  Transfer of the Bond may be registered 

upon books maintained for that purpose at the office of the Registrar.  Prior to due presentment for 
registration of transfer the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the person exclusively entitled 
to payment of principal and the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner. 
 

Section 3.7. Delivery of Bond.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman and the Secretary of the 
Authority are authorized and directed to take all proper steps to have the Bond prepared and 
executed in accordance with its terms and to deliver the Bond to the VRA in accordance with the 
terms of the Financing Assumption Agreement. 

 
Section 3.8. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If the Bond has been mutilated, 

lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like date and tenor 



in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the Treasurer and cancellation of, such 
mutilated Bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond; provided, 
however, that the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver a new Bond only if its registered 
owner has paid the reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority in connection therewith and, in 
the case of a lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond (i) has filed with the Registrar evidence satisfactory to 
him or her that such Bond was lost, stolen, or destroyed and that the holder of the Bond was its 
registered owner and (ii) has furnished to the Authority indemnity satisfactory to the Registrar.  If 
the Bond has matured, instead of issuing a new Bond, the Authority may pay the Bond without 
surrender upon receipt of the aforesaid evidence and indemnity. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

Financing Agreement, Support Agreement, Master Parity Agreement, and Revenues  
 

Section 4.1. Authorization of Financing Agreement, Support Agreement, Master Parity 
Agreement, and Other Matters.  The Financing Assumption Agreement between the VRA and the 
Authority (the “Financing Assumption Agreement”), the Support Agreement among the Authority, 
the County, and the VRA, and the Master Parity Agreement (collectively, the “Financing 
Documents”), the forms of which have been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with 
the records of the Authority, are approved.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Authority is authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Financing Documents 
in substantially the forms submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as 
may be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced 
conclusively by the execution and delivery of each of the Financing Documents.  The Chairman, the 
Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and 
deliver on behalf of the Authority such other instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and 
perform such things and acts, as they shall deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the 
transactions authorized by this resolution or contemplated by the Bond, and the Financing 
Documents, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by such officers of the Authority, 
are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed. 
 

Section 4.2. Pledge of Revenues.  To the extent and on the terms provided in the Financing 
Assumption Agreement, revenues derived from the System shall be pledged to the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Bond.  Such pledge shall be on parity with the pledge of such 
revenues securing the payment of the Parity Bonds.    

 
Section 4.3 Transfer Agreement.  The Authority confirms its approval of the Transfer 

Agreement, the form of which has been presented to the Authority at this meeting and filed with the 
records of the Authority.  Each of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Authority is authorized to 
execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority the Transfer Agreement in substantially the form 
submitted to the Authority, with such changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman, whose approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and 
delivery of the Transfer Agreement.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary and any other 
officer of the Authority are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of the Authority such other 
instruments, documents or certificates, and to do and perform such things and acts, as they shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to carry out the transactions authorized by this resolution or 
contemplated by the Transfer Agreement, and all of the foregoing, previously done or performed by 



such officers of the Authority, are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

Miscellaneous 
 

Section 5.1. Contract with Bondholder.  The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a 
contract between the Authority and the holder of the Bond for so long as the Bond is outstanding. 
 

Section 5.2. Authority of Officers and Agents.  The officers and agents of the Authority 
shall do all acts and things required of them by this resolution, the Bond, the Financing Agreement, 
the Support Agreement, and the Act for the complete and punctual performance of all the terms, 
covenants and agreements contained therein. 

 
Section 5.3. Limitation of Rights.  Nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied 

from this resolution or the Bond is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company 
other than the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim 
under or in respect to this resolution or any covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained; 
this resolution and all of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereof being intended to be and 
being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the holder of the Bond as herein 
provided. 

 
Section 5.4. Limitation of Liability of Officials of Authority.  No covenant, condition or 

agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of a present 
or future member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority in his individual capacity, and neither 
the members of the Authority nor any officer thereof executing the Bond shall be liable personally 
on the Bond or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance 
thereof.  No member, officer, employee or agent of the authority shall incur any personal liability 
with respect to any other action taken by him pursuant to this resolution or the Act, provided he acts 
in good faith. 

 
Section 5.5. Trust Funds. In accordance with Section 15.2-5140 of the Act, any officer to 

whom, or any bank, trust company or other fiscal agent to which, moneys received pursuant to the 
Act are paid shall act as trustee of such moneys and shall hold and apply the same for the purposes 
provided in the Act, subject to such regulations as this resolution or the Financing Agreement may 
provide. 
 

Section 5.6. Conditions Precedent.  Upon the issuance of the Bond, all acts, conditions and 
things required by the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia or this resolution 
to happen, exist and to be performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bond shall have 
happened, exist and have been performed. 
 

Section 5.7. Severability.  If any court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision 
of this resolution to be invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate any other 
provision of this resolution. 

 



Section 5.8. Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and 
agreements of the Authority contained in this resolution shall bind and inure to the benefit of its 
successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 
 

Section 5.9. Headings.  Any headings in this resolution are solely for convenience of 
reference and shall not constitute a part of the resolution nor shall they affect its meaning, 
construction or effect. 

 
Section 5.10 Filing of Resolution.  The Secretary of the Authority is directed to file a 

certified copy of this resolution with the Circuit Court of Russell County, Virginia, pursuant to 
Section 15.2-5126 of the Act. 

 
Section 5.11. Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately. 



*     *     * 
The undersigned Secretary of The Russell County Public Service Authority (the 

“Authority”), certifies that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution duly 
adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on July __, 2020.  I further certify that such meeting was 
a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing resolution, a 
quorum was present.  I further certify that the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the 
members and the voting on the foregoing resolution as follows: 
 

Member Attendance Vote 
Carter McGlothlin, Chair   
Clifford Hess, Vice-Chair   

Chris Dye   
Terry Powers   

Joe Huff   
David Edmonds, Jr.   

 
 

WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of The Russell County Public Service Authority, this __ 
day of July, 2020. 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 

 ________________________________________  
Secretary, The Russell County Public Service 
Authority 
 
 
 
 
 

#13164201 
016049.0009 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 10 

TRANSFER AGREEMENT 
 
 

This Transfer Agreement is dated as of  the ___ day of July, 2020, by and between 
THE CASTLEWOOD WATER AND SEWAGE AUTHORITY, a political subdivision 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the CWSA), RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA, a 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the County), and THE RUSSELL 
COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia (the RCPSA). 

 
The CWSA has been created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities 

Act (the Act) for the purpose of acquiring, operating and maintaining a water and sewer 
system in Russell County, Virginia. 
 

The CWSA has owned and operated a water and sewer system in the County (the 
CWSA System). 

 
 The CWSA has financed the cost of the System through the issuance by the CWSA of 
its Bonds, see Exhibit A, to the United States of America (the Government) and to the 
Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund (the VRA). 
 
 The County also currently owns and operates a water and sewer System in the County 
(the County System). 
 
 The County has financed the cost of the County System through the issuance by the 
County of its Bonds, see Exhibit A, to the United States of America (the Government) and to 
the Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund, and as Administrator of the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund (the VRA). 
 
 The RCPSA has been created pursuant to the Act for the purpose of acquiring, 
operating and maintaining a water and sewer system in Russell County, Virginia. 
 
 The RCPSA currently owns and operates a water and sewer system in the County (the 
RCPSA System). 
 
 The RCPSA has financed the cost of the System through the issuance by the RCPSA 
of its Bonds, see Exhibit A, to the Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the VRA). 
 
 The CWSA joined the RCPSA by Certificate of Joinder issued June 24, 2019, under 
which process it was agreed the CWSA System would be transferred to the RCPSA and the 
CWSA Bonds would be assumed by the RCPSA.  
 
 In connection with the refinancing of the CWSA Bonds and the County Bonds by the 
RCPSA’s assumption thereof, the CWSA and the County now wish to provide for the 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Page 2 of 10 

transfer of the CSWA System and the County System to the RCPSA, the assumption by the 
RCPSA of the payment and performance of obligations of the CWSA with respect to the 
CSWA System, the assumption by the RCPSA of the payment and performance of 
obligations of the County with respect to the County System, and the assumption by the 
RCPSA of the obligations of the CWSA and the County under the CWSA Bonds and the 
County Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated herein. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual benefits to be 
derived hereunder, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. On the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the CWSA transfers 
to the RCPSA, and the RCPSA accepts from the CWSA, all the assets, funds and real and 
personal properties of  the CWSA (the “CWSA Assets”) including but not limited to the 
following: 
 

a. All plants, facilities, pump stations, intakes, mains, laterals, 
meters, valves and equipment constituting a part of, or used or 
usable in connection with, the CWSA System; 

 
b. The parcels of real estate or interests therein described in the 

instruments listed on the attached Exhibit B, and all 
improvements thereon; 

 
c. All real property rights, easements, and appurtenances; 
 
d. All rights for money due or to become due in connection with 

services provided by the CWSA System and all funds or 
reserves, and all moneys therein, held by the CWSA in 
connection with the CWSA Bonds or the CWSA System; 

 
e. All inventory and supplies; 
 
f. All rights under the CWSA’s contracts, commitments, orders, 

agreements or other material arrangements existing in 
connection with the ongoing operation of the CWSA System, 
and all material manufacturer, supplier or contractor warranties 
or guarantees respecting the CWSA System: 

 
g. All licenses, permits and other governmental authorizations to 

operate the CWSA System as presently operated (the 
“Permits”); 

 
h. All books and records; provided, however, that the CWSA 

shall have the right and privilege to retain and use such books 
and records until its final audit is completed; 

 



Page 3 of 10 

i. All equipment, vehicles and trailers; and 
 
j. All the CWSA’s right and interest to and in customer deposits, 

if any. 
 

2. On the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the County transfers 
to the RCPSA, and the RCPSA accepts from the County, all the assets, funds and real and 
personal properties of  the County (the “County Assets”) including but not limited to the 
following: 
 

a. All plants, facilities, pump stations, intakes, mains, laterals, 
meters, valves and equipment constituting a part of, or used or 
usable in connection with, the County System; 

 
b. The parcels of real estate or interests therein described in the 

instruments listed on the attached Exhibit C, and all 
improvements thereon; 

 
c. All real property rights, easements, and appurtenances; 
 
d. All rights for money due or to become due in connection with 

services provided by the County System and all funds or 
reserves, and all moneys therein, held by the County in 
connection with the County Bonds or the County System; 

 
e. All inventory and supplies; 
 
f. All rights under the County’s contracts, commitments, orders, 

agreements or other material arrangements existing in 
connection with the ongoing operation of the County System, 
and all material manufacturer, supplier or contractor warranties 
or guarantees respecting the County System: 

 
g. All licenses, permits and other governmental authorizations to 

operate the County System as presently operated (the 
“Permits”); 

 
h. All books and records; provided, however, that the County 

shall have the right and privilege to retain and use such books 
and records until its final audit is completed; 

 
i. All equipment, vehicles and trailers; and 

 
j. All the County’s right and interest to and in customer deposits, if any. 

 



Page 4 of 10 

3. In consideration for the transfer of the CWSA Assets to it, the RCPSA shall 
(a) assume obligations of the CWSA (including the obligations under the CWSA Bonds), all 
pursuant to a Lenders’ Assumption and Parity Agreement, substantially in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit D. (the "Lenders’ Agreement") to be executed at later date.   
 

4. In consideration for the transfer of the County Assets to it, the RCPSA shall 
(a) assume obligations of the County (including the obligations under the County Bonds), all 
pursuant to the Lenders’ Agreement.  
 

5. The transfer of the CWSA Assets and the County Assets shall take place on or 
before December 17, 2019, in Virginia, or on such other date and at such other place as the 
parties may designate by written agreement.  The parties recognize and agree that for a 
reasonable period following the closing, the County may remain in control of the billing and 
collection operations and facilities in order to complete its last billing cycle, apply customer 
deposits to outstanding bills and then transfer the remaining funds to the County.  
 

6. Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, the CWSA and the County 
each make no representation or warranty, express or implied, whether of merchantability, 
fitness for a particular purpose or otherwise as to any item or document to be conveyed or 
assigned hereunder, and the RCPSA will make and rely on its own inspection of the tangible 
personal property and will accept it in “as is, where is” condition.   
 

7. The CWSA represents and warrants to the RCPSA: 
 
  7.1  Organization of CWSA.  The CWSA is duly organized, validly existing 
and in good standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and has full corporate 
power and CWSA to own and operate the Assets.   
 
  7.2  Authorization.  The CWSA has full corporate power and the CWSA to 
enter into this Agreement, to consummate the contemplated transactions and to perform its 
obligations hereunder.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the contemplated transactions have been duly authorized by all requisite 
corporate action.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the CWSA and is 
a valid and binding obligation of the CWSA, enforceable against it in accordance with its 
terms. 
 
  7.3  Title to Property.  Except as expressly disclosed in writing to the RCPSA, 
the CWSA has done nothing to adversely affect good and marketable title to the Assets or to 
impose on the Assets any security interest or other encumbrance, lien, charge or restriction of 
any kind or character. 
 



Page 5 of 10 

  7.4  No Conflict or Violation.  Neither the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in (a) a 
material violation of or a conflict with any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or 
Bylaws of the CWSA, or (b) a material violation by the CWSA of any statute, rule, 
regulation, ordinance, code, order, judgment, writ, injunction, decree, or award, or any event 
which with notice, lapse of time, or both, would result in any such material violation. 
 
  7.5  Audited Financial Statements; Books and Records.  The audited financial 
statements for the period ending June 30, 2019, fairly present the financial condition of the 
CWSA as of the date thereof and reflect all known claims against and all debts and liabilities 
of the CWSA.  The books and records of the CWSA are in all material respects true, 
complete, correct and up to date and have been maintained in accordance with reasonable 
business practice. 
 
  7.6  Material Contracts.  Currently, there are no outstanding leases, contracts, 
agreements or other undertakings relating to the Sewer System, to which the CWSA is a 
party or to which any of the properties of the CWSA is subject (the “Contracts”).  
 
  7.7  Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities.  The CWSA has no material liability 
or obligation, secured or unsecured, whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, 
known or unknown, except as disclosed on Exhibit A. 
 
  7.8  Documents.  The CWSA is not subject to, or a party to, any existing 
charter, bylaw, mortgage, lien, lease, license, permit, agreement, contract, instrument, order, 
judgment or decree, or any other restriction of any kind or character which materially 
adversely affects the CWSA System or the CWSA Assets, or which would prevent 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, compliance by the 
CWSA with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof. 
 
  7.9  Litigation and Compliance Matters.  The CWSA (a) is not engaged in or a 
party to, or to the knowledge of the CWSA threatened with, any legal action or other 
proceeding before any court, arbitration or other tribunal or administrative agency, (b) has 
not been charged with and, to the knowledge of the CWSA, is not under investigation with 
respect to any charge concerning, any violation of any law or administrative regulation in 
respect of its System and (c) is not in default under or in violation of any judgment, order, 
decree, regulation or rule of any court of governmental CWSA applicable to it.  The CWSA 
is not subject to any existing judgment, order or decree entered in any lawsuit or proceeding 
which may have an adverse effect on any of its operations, business practices or on its ability 
to acquire any property or conduct business in any area.   
 



Page 6 of 10 

  7.10  Environmental Conditions.  To the best of CWSA’s knowledge, the 
CWSA is in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, ordinances, 
decrees, rules, orders and notices relating to the environment and applicable in any way to 
the CWSA and/or to the System.  To the best of CWSA’s knowledge, there are no adverse 
environmental conditions or liabilities affecting the Assets, the System or the CWSA, or any 
other property leased or used by CWSA, including, but not limited to, any related to the use, 
treatment, storage, release, or disposal of petroleum products or hazardous or toxic 
substances, materials, pollutants, wastes or contaminants.  To the knowledge of the CWSA, 
there are no underground storage tanks located in any real property owned by the CWSA. 
 
  7.11  Governmental Regulations; Permits; Licenses; Franchises, Etc.  All 
Permits are in full force and effect, valid and outstanding.  The CWSA has complied with all 
of the terms and conditions under which each is held or has been granted a waiver or 
variance and no event has occurred which permits or, upon the giving of notice or the lapse 
of time or otherwise, would permit the revocation or termination of any of the foregoing or 
would materially adversely affect the rights of the CWSA thereunder.  To the best knowledge 
of the CWSA, there are no other permits required by the CWSA to conduct its System.  No 
Permit has ever been revoked, canceled or suspended or the subject of any investigation or 
proceeding for the suspension, revocation or cancellation thereof. 
 

8. The County represents and warrants to the RCPSA: 
 
  8.1  Authorization.  The County has full corporate power and authority to 
enter into this Agreement, to consummate the contemplated transactions and to perform its 
obligations hereunder.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the contemplated transactions have been duly authorized by all requisite 
corporate action.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the County and is 
a valid and binding obligation of the County, enforceable against it in accordance with its 
terms. 
 
  8.2  Title to Property.  Except as expressly disclosed in writing to the RCPSA, 
the County has done nothing to adversely affect good and marketable title to the Assets or to 
impose on the Assets any security interest or other encumbrance, lien, charge or restriction of 
any kind or character. 
 
  8.3  No Conflict or Violation.  Neither the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in  a 
material violation by the County of any statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, order, 
judgment, writ, injunction, decree, or award, or any event which with notice, lapse of time, or 
both, would result in any such material violation. 
 



Page 7 of 10 

  8.4  Audited Financial Statements; Books and Records.  The audited financial 
statements for the period ending June 30, 2019, fairly present the financial condition of the 
County as of the date thereof and reflect all known claims against and all debts and liabilities 
of the County.  The books and records of the County are in all material respects true, 
complete, correct and up to date and have been maintained in accordance with reasonable 
business practice. 
 
  8.5  Material Contracts.  Currently, there are no outstanding leases, contracts, 
agreements or other undertakings relating to the Sewer System, to which the County is a 
party or to which any of the properties of the County is subject (the “Contracts”).  
 
  8.6  Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities.  The County has no material liability 
or obligation, secured or unsecured, whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, 
known or unknown as it applies to the assets contemplated herein, except as disclosed on 
Exhibit A. 
 
  8.7  Documents.  The County is not subject to, or a party to, any existing 
charter, bylaw, mortgage, lien, lease, license, permit, agreement, contract, instrument, order, 
judgment or decree, or any other restriction of any kind or character which materially 
adversely affects the County System or the County Assets, or which would prevent 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, compliance by the 
County with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof. 
 
  8.8  Litigation and Compliance Matters.  The County is currently involved in 
litigation in Russell County Circuit Court regarding the assessment of machine and tool tax 
pertaining to a local company. The pending litigation is unrelated to any of the obligations 
and assets contained in this agreement. Notwithstanding the above, the County (a) is not 
engaged in or a party to, or to the knowledge of the County threatened with, any legal action 
or other proceeding before any court, arbitration or other tribunal or administrative agency, 
(b) has not been charged with and, to the knowledge of the County, is not under investigation 
with respect to any charge concerning, any violation of any law or administrative regulation 
in respect of its System and (c) is not in default under or in violation of any judgment, order, 
decree, regulation or rule of any court of governmental authority applicable to it.  The 
County is not subject to any existing judgment, order or decree entered in any lawsuit or 
proceeding which may have an adverse effect on any of its operations, business practices or 
on its ability to acquire any property or conduct business in any area.   
 
  8.9  Environmental Conditions.  To the best of County’s knowledge, the 
County is in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, ordinances, 
decrees, rules, orders and notices relating to the environment and applicable in any way to 
the County and/or to the County System.  To the best of the County’s knowledge, there are 
no adverse environmental conditions or liabilities affecting the County Assets, the County 
System or any other property leased or used by the County in connection with the County 
Assets. To the knowledge of the County, there are no underground storage tanks located in 
any real property owned by the County. 
 



Page 8 of 10 

  8.10  Governmental Regulations; Permits; Licenses; Franchises, Etc.  All 
Permits are in full force and effect, valid and outstanding.  The County has complied with all 
of the terms and conditions under which each is held or has been granted a waiver or 
variance and no event has occurred which permits or, upon the giving of notice or the lapse 
of time or otherwise, would permit the revocation or termination of any of the foregoing or 
would materially adversely affect the rights of the County thereunder.  To the best 
knowledge of the County, there are no other permits required by the County to conduct the 
County System.  No Permit has ever been revoked, canceled or suspended or the subject of 
any investigation or proceeding for the suspension, revocation or cancellation thereof. 
 

9. At the closing, the parties shall perform the following actions: 
 

a. The CWSA shall sell, convey and transfer to the RCPSA the 
CWSA Assets by delivering to the RCPSA such bills of sale, 
special warranty deeds and assignments as may be necessary or 
desirable to transfer them to the RCPSA, free and clear of all 
liens and encumbrances created by the CWSA. 

 
b. The County shall sell, convey and transfer to the RCPSA the 

County Assets by delivering to the RCPSA such bills of sale, 
special warranty deeds and assignments as may be necessary or 
desirable to transfer them to the RCPSA, free and clear of all 
liens and encumbrances created by the County. 

 
c. The CWSA, the County, the RCPSA, the Government and the 

VRA shall execute and deliver the Lenders’ Agreement. 
 
d. Title Opinion 
 
e. Counsel Closing Opinions 
 

  f. Each instrument of conveyance will contain the following covenant: 
 
 The property described herein was obtained or improved with Federal 

financial assistance and is subject to the nondiscrimination provisions of Title 
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title 9 of the Education Amendments of 
1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and other similarly 
worded Federal statutes, and the regulations issued pursuant thereto that 
prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, handicap, 
religion, age, or sex in programs or activities receiving Federal financial 
assistance.  Such provisions apply for as long as the property continues to be 
used for the same or similar purposes for which the Federal assistance was 
extended, or for so long as the purchaser owns it, whichever is later. 

 
10. For a reasonable time following the closing hereunder until the CWSA is 

dissolved, the CWSA will assist the RCPSA in connection with the orderly transfer of the 



Page 9 of 10 

operation of the CWSA System and the billing and collecting for the services of the CWSA 
System. The County will also continue to assist the RCPSA in connection with the orderly 
transfer of the operation of any County Systems and the billing and collecting for the services 
of the County. 

 
12. 11. Leachate Service Agreement The County and the RCPSA agree to enter into a 

Leachate Service Agreement pursuant to which the RCPSA will treat County leachate 
from its landfill operations at the Dante Sewer Treatment Plant.  The RCPSA will ensure 
that the required licenses and permits are obtained and remain in place to handle such 
leachate treatment.  In addition, the RCPSA agrees to permit the County to jointly 
manage the employment of any individuals that are responsible for the treatment of the 
County leachate at the Dante Sewer Treatment Plant.  Each party agrees that it shall, 
upon the request of the other, execute and deliver such further documents (in the form 
and substance reasonably acceptable to the requesting party) and do such other acts and 
things as are reasonably necessary and appropriate to effectuate the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement. 

 
13. This Agreement shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws 

of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 



 
 

 
WITNESS the following signatures and seals: 

 
 CWSA 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 By:  ______________________________________ 
 Name:    Title:  Chairman 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
Secretary 
  
 
 

Russell County 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 By:  ______________________________________ 
 Name:   
 Title:    Chairman, Board of Supervisors  
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
Clerk 
 
 RCPSA 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 By:  ______________________________________ 
 Name:    
 Title:  Chairman 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
Secretary 



 
 

 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
 Exhibit A  -  Outstanding Obligations of CWSA, RCPSA and Russell County 
 Exhibit B  -  Deed from CWSA to RCPSA 
 Exhibit C -   Deed from RCBOS to RCPSA 
 Exhibit D – Lender’s Agreement 
 Schedules 
 
 
 
   

  

 



KC Draft: 08/12/2019 
 
 
 

FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 

dated as of __________ 1, 2019 
 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY,  

as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 

AND 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 

Virginia Resources Authority 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 

Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project 
 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.1. Definitions  ................................................................................................................1 
Section 1.2. Rules of Construction  ...............................................................................................4 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower  ..................................................................................5 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND 

 
Section 3.1. Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond  ................................................7 
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond  .............................................7 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
Section 4.1. Application of Proceeds  ..........................................................................................9 
Section 4.2. Agreement to Accomplish Project  ........................................................................10 
Section 4.3. Permits  ..................................................................................................................11 
Section 4.4. Construction Contractors  ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.5. Engineering Services  ............................................................................................11 
Section 4.6. Borrower Required to Complete Project  ...............................................................12 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant  .....................................................................12 
Section 5.2. Annual Budget  ......................................................................................................13 
Section 5.3. Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report ..........................................................13 
 
 



ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bond  ........................................................................................13 
Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments ..........................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bond  ...................................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System  .................................................15 
Section 8.2. Maintenance  ..........................................................................................................15 
Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications .................................................................................15 
Section 8.4. Use of System  .......................................................................................................15 
Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records  ...................................15 
Section 8.6. Ownership of Land  ...............................................................................................15 
Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance  ............................................................................................16 
Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues  .........................................................................................16 
Section 8.9. No Free Service .....................................................................................................16 
Section 8.10. No Competing Service  ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.12. Lawful Charges  .....................................................................................................17 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
Section 9.1. Insurance  ...............................................................................................................17 
Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies  ......................................................................................18 
Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation  .............................................18 
Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction  .......................................................................................18 
Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title  ...........................................................................19 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence  .....................................................................................19 
Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements  ........................................................................19 
Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default  ..................................................................................20 



Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness ........................................................................................20 
Section 10.5. Parity Bonds  ..........................................................................................................20 
Section 10.6. Further Assurances ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower  ......................................................................................22 
Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act  ...................................................................................................22 
Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel  .......................................................................................22 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting ...............................................................................23 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts  ..................................................................................................23  
Section 10.13. Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study  ........................................23  
 

 
ARTICLE XI 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
Section 11.1. Events of Default  ..................................................................................................23 
Section 11.2. Notice of Default ...................................................................................................24 
Section 11.3. Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................24 
Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver ..................................................................................................25 
Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept .................................................................................................25 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns .........................................................................................25 
Section 12.2. Amendments  .........................................................................................................25 
Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability ........................................................................25 
Section 12.4. Applicable Law  .....................................................................................................25 
Section 12.5. Severability  ...........................................................................................................26 
Section 12.6. Notices  ..................................................................................................................26 
Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default  ............................................................................................26 
Section 12.8. Headings  ...............................................................................................................27 
Section 12.9. Term of Agreement  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.10. Commitment Letter  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.11. Counterparts  ..........................................................................................................27 
 
 

 



EXHIBITS 
 
 
Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond 
Exhibit B - Project Description 
Exhibit C - Project Budget 
Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel 
Exhibit E - Requisition for Disbursement 
Exhibit F - Prior Bonds and Existing Parity Bonds  
Exhibit G - Form of Budget 
Exhibit H - Support Agreement 



FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of __________, 2019, 
between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND, and THE RUSSELL COUNTY 
PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”). 
 
 Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), 
the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water 
Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority 
administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to 
and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water 
supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act. 
 
 The Borrower has requested a loan from the Fund and will evidence its obligation to repay 
such loan by the Local Bond the Borrower will issue and sell to the Authority, as Administrator of 
the Fund.  The Borrower will use the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the Authority to 
finance that portion of the Project Costs not being paid from other sources, all as further set forth in 
the Project Budget. 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1. Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not 
defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and 
any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms 
in the Act: 
 
 “Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2. 
 
 “Agreement” means this Financing Agreement between the Authority and the Borrower, 
together with any amendments or supplements hereto. 
 
 “Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in 
Section 6.1(a)(ii) payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services 
attributable to the Local Bond. 
  
 “Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower 
authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to 
perform the act or sign the document in question. 
 
 “Board” means the Virginia Board of Health. 
 



 “Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Commitment Letter” means the commitment letter from the Authority to the 
Borrower, dated __________, 2019, and all extensions and amendments thereto. 

 
 “Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers 
of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do 
business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s 
consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such 
individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until 
the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed 
and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as 
Consulting Engineer under this Agreement. 

 
“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual 

Administrative Fee, payable as set forth in Section 6.1.  
 
“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia. 

 
 “Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of 
time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default. 
 
 “Department” means the Virginia Department of Health. 
 
 “Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1. 
 
 “Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences 
of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance 
and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the pledge 
of Revenues securing the Local Bond. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its 
annual accounting period. 
 
 “Funding Agreement” means the Funding Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, 
between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower. 
 
 “Local Bond” means the bond in substantially the form attached to this Financing 
Agreement as Exhibit A issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, 
pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 “Local Bond Proceeds” means the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the 
Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement. 
 



 “Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body 
of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the execution, issuance and delivery 
of the Local Bond. 
 
 “Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation 
award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other 
expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 
 
 “Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts 
necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense. 
 
 “Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining 
the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of 
(i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other 
items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, 
repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for 
administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business. 
 
 “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable 
to the Authority. 
 
 “Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower 
issued under Section 10.5. 
 
 “Prior Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of 
indebtedness, as further described in Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance and 
delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was 
superior to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond. 
 
 “Project” means the particular project described in Exhibit B, the costs of the 
construction, acquisition or equipping of which are to be financed or refinanced in whole or in 
part with the Local Bond Proceeds. 
 
 “Project Budget” means the budget for the financing or the refinancing of the Project, a 
copy of which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C, with such changes therein as may be 
approved in writing by the Authority. 
 
 “Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of the 
Project, as further described in the Project Budget, and such other costs as may be approved in 
writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act. 
  
 “Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant 
having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval 
required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including 
without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the 



Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public 
accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority. 
 
 “Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to 
the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the 
Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject 
to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any 
insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money 
or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be 
appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or 
otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment 
of its Local Bond. 
 
 “Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 
2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale 
Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; 
Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the 
Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between 
the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water 
dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority 
[ADD ANY SERVICE CONTRACTS TRANSFERRED FROM CASTLEWOOD WSA]. 
 
 “Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the 
Borrower described on Exhibit F, secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly 
made subordinate to the pledge of Revenues securing the payment of the Local Bond. 
 
 “Support Agreement” means the Support Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the 
Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto. 
 
 “System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not 
limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection 
with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist. 
 
 “Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2019, 
between the Borrower and ____________________. 
 
 Section 1.2. Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the 
construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise: 
 
  (a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and 
vice versa. 
 
  (b) All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are 
references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. 
 



  (c) The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they 
affect its meaning, construction or effect. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
 Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following 
representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement: 
 
  (a) The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” 
(as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with 
the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law. 
 
  (b) The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local 
Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer 
Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and deliver the Local Bond to 
the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the System, (iv) fix, charge 
and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the System, (v) construct, 
acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or refinance the Project Costs 
by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement and the issuance of the Local 
Bond, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System  to the payment of the Local Bond, and (vii) carry 
out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the Local Resolution, this 
Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bond. 
 
  (c) This Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the 
Local Bond were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and are in substantially the same form 
as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its meeting at which the Local Resolution 
was adopted. 
 
  (d) All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, 
authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this 
Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the 
execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer 
Agreement and the Local Bond, (iii) the performance and enforcement of the obligations of the 
Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation and use 
of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the System.  The Borrower knows of no reason 
why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations 
and approvals not obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 
 
  (e) This Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement have 
been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and constitute a legal, 
valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance 
with their terms. 
 



  (f) When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and 
this Agreement, the Local Bond will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized 
officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the 
Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms. 
 
  (g) The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the 
Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will not 
conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, including the 
Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other instrument to 
which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree 
or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the 
Borrower or its property. 

  (h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or 
interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument 
under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event 
or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any 
such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with 
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder. 

  (i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in 
violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a 
material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and (ii) is not in default under any 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other 
agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it 
is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on 
its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support 
Agreement or the Local Bond.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, 
the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and the compliance with the terms and conditions 
thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the 
foregoing. 

  (j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, 
threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, 
equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization 
or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to 
prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local 
Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond or the issuance or 
delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability 
of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bond or any 
agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or 
resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition 
(financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under 
the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond, (v) in any way 



affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power 
of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bond. 

  (k) There have been no defaults by any contractor or subcontractor under any 
contract made by the Borrower in connection with the construction or equipping of the Project. 
 
  (l) No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the 
Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to 
the Authority. 
 
  (m) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will 
not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.  

   (n) There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a 
pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the 
Local Bond except any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds set forth on Exhibit F. 
 
  (o) The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of 
default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not 
currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the 
Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies 
available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts. 
 
  (p) No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing. 

 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND 

 
 Section 3.1. Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond. The Borrower 
agrees to borrow from the Authority and the Authority agrees to lend to the Borrower, from the 
Fund, the principal amount equal to the sum of the principal disbursements made pursuant to 
Section 4.1, but not to exceed $_____ for the purposes herein set forth, a portion of which may 
be made from federal financial assistance.  The Borrower’s obligation shall be evidenced by the 
Local Bond, which shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit A attached hereto and made a 
part hereof and delivered to the Authority on the Closing Date.  The Local Bond shall be in the 
original principal amount of the loan and shall mature, bear a Cost of Funds and be payable as 
hereinafter provided. 
 
 Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond.  The Authority 
shall not be required to make the loan to Borrower and purchase the Local Bond unless the 
Authority shall have received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority: 
 
  (a) The Local Bond, the Funding Agreement, the Support Agreement and the 
Transfer Agreement. 



 
  (b) A certified copy of the Local Resolution. 
 
  (c) A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set 
forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require. 
 
  (d) A closing certificate from the Department certifying that the Project is in 
compliance with all federal and state laws and project requirements applicable to the Fund. 
 
  (e) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer estimating the total Project Costs 
to be financed with the Local Bond Proceeds, which estimate is in an amount and otherwise 
compatible with the financing plan described in the Project Budget. 
   
  (f) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer to the effect that in the opinion of 
the Consulting Engineer (i) the Project will be a part of the System, and (ii) the Local Bond 
Proceeds and funds available from the other sources specified in the Project Budget will be 
sufficient to pay the estimated Project Costs. 
 
  (g) A certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified 
Independent Consultant that in the opinion of the Qualified Independent Consultant, during the 
first two complete Fiscal Years of the Borrower following completion of the Project, the 
projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will satisfy the rate covenant made by the 
Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  In providing this certificate, the Qualified Independent Consultant 
may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have 
been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person or entity 
required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified 
Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues to be derived 
under existing contractual arrangements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable 
estimates of growth in the consumer base of the Borrower. 
 
  (h) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the date the Borrower is 
expected to complete the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project. 
 
  (i) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that all governmental permits, 
licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals for the Project required to have 
been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained and a 
statement of the Consulting Engineer that he knows of no reason why any future required 
governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals cannot be 
obtained as needed. 
 
  (j) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has obtained or 
has made arrangements satisfactory to the Authority to obtain any funds or other financing for 
the Project as contemplated in the Project Budget. 
 



  (k) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed 
and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and 
satisfied by it as of such date. 
 
  (l) An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed 
to the Fund and the Authority. 
 
  (m) An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Authority. 
 
  (n) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has complied 
with the insurance provisions set forth in Sections 9.1 and 9.2 hereof. 
 
  (o) Evidence that the Borrower has satisfied all conditions precedent to the 
issuance of the Local Bond as a “Parity Bond” under the financing agreements for the Existing 
Parity Bonds. 
 
  (p) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Service Contracts are in full 
force and effect and that they are binding and enforceable agreements as to each of the Borrower 
and the other parties to such agreements. 
 
  (q) Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the 
Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable 
to the Authority that the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are valid and 
enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary qualifications. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
 Section 4.1. Application of Proceeds. 
 
 (a) The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to 
the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further 
agrees to exhibit to the Board or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or 
other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse money 
from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each calendar 
month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the 
Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Board) of the following: 
 
  (1) A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department 
shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information 
called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement; 
 
  (2) If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, 
builders or materialmen, 



 
   (i) a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such 

work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment 
were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the 
Project; and 

 
   (ii) a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either 

that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or 
security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or 
discharged upon payment of the requisition. 

 
 Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and 
approval thereof by the Board, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder to or 
for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the 
extent approved by the Board and shall note the date and amount of each such disbursement on a 
schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The Authority shall have 
no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is in default hereunder 
nor shall the Board have any obligation to approve any requisition if the Borrower is not in 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 (b) The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, 
regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, disbursements shall be held at ninety-five 
percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory 
completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in 
Section 4.2 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, 
the Authority, to the extent approved by the Board and subject to the provisions of this Section 
and Section 4.2, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds to the 
extent of such approval. 
 
 The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the 
amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the 
maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the 
Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1. 
 
 Section 4.2. Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the 
Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B 
and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by 
the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Board.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to 
complete the Project by the date set forth in the certificate provided to the Authority pursuant to 
Section 3.2(h).  All plans, specifications and designs shall be approved by all applicable 
regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain complete and accurate books and records 
of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the Board through their duly authorized 
representatives to inspect such books and records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the 



Authority, with the consent of the Board, may amend the description of the Project set forth in 
Exhibit B. 
 
 When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the 
Authority and the Board a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower 
and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substantially in 
accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, as 
approved by the Board, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of 
occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation 
have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project 
Costs. 
 
 Section 4.3. Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with, 
and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, 
equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, 
promptly furnish to the Authority and the Board copies of all such permits, consents and 
approvals.  The Borrower shall also comply with all lawful program or procedural guidelines or 
requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Board in connection with 
the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from 
the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable 
federal laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection 
with the Project and the funding thereof from the Fund, including, but not limited to, the federal 
“crosscutting” requirements identified in Schedule A of the Commitment Letter.  Where 
noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the Authority or the Board, the issue 
shall be referred to the proper federal authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action. 
 
 Section 4.4. Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the 
accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a 
performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) 
of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority and 
the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during the construction 
period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, workers’ 
compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and vehicle 
liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  Upon 
request of the Authority or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each contractor to furnish 
evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority and the Board. 
 
 Section 4.5. Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer 
to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and 
inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, 
the Authority and the Board as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as 
disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project 
provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Board the certificates required by Sections 4.1 and 
4.2. 



 
 Section 4.6. Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds 
are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at 
its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the 
Authority or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the Borrower’s 
payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
 Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to 
apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby 
pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations 
under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall immediately be 
subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act.  The lien of 
this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the Revenues securing the 
Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of the Borrower to apply 
Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have priority over all other 
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding 
against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of whether such parties 
have notice of this pledge. 
 
 (a) The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other 
charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from 
time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues 
Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to 
pay the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Additional Payments and all other 
indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without limitation, 
indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting 
principles.  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to satisfy the foregoing covenant, the 
Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce 
its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide sufficient Revenues to satisfy such 
requirement. 
 
 (b) On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the 
adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates 
the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the rate covenant in 
subsection (a) of this Section, the Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its 
rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any 
deficiency. 
 
 Section 5.2. Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal 
Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise 



being in the form of, Exhibit H to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of 
the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be 
generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, 
repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as 
approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  
The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal 
Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of 
the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority. 
 
 Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any 
Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the rate covenant made by the Borrower in 
Section 5.1(a), within two hundred ten (210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower 
shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making 
recommendations as to the proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System 
for the next ensuing Fiscal Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other 
charges which should be established by the Borrower to satisfy the rate covenant in Section 
5.1(a).  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to the Authority and, subject 
to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining such report. 
 
 (b) If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s 
recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other 
procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the rate covenant 
made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a) when such measures have been implemented and 
become fully effective.  Such alternative plan shall be filed with the Authority not later than 
thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant’s report along with a 
detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for rejecting the Qualified Independent 
Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Authority 
reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and require the 
Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
 Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bond. (a) The Local Bond shall be dated the date of its 
delivery to the Authority.  The Cost of Funds on the Local Bond shall be computed on the 
disbursed principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate of two and 
fifty one-hundredths percent (2.50%) per annum, consisting of the following: 
 

 (i) interest of one percent (1.00%) per annum payable for the benefit of the Fund, and 
 
 (ii) one and fifty one-hundredths percent (1.50%) per annum payable as an Annual 
Administrative Fee. 

 



 (b) The Cost of Funds only on all amounts disbursed under the Local Bond shall be 
due and payable on __________ 1, 20__.  Commencing __________ 1, 20__ and continuing 
semi-annually thereafter on __________ 1 and __________ 1 in each year, principal and Cost of 
Funds due under the Local Bond shall be payable in equal installments of $_____, with a final 
installment of $_____ due and payable on __________ 1, 20__, when, if not sooner paid, all 
amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each 
installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the 
payment date and then to principal.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized 
amount of the Local Bond are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not 
include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree 
otherwise in writing, until all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been 
paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond 
shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change 
the amount of such installment.  If any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local 
Bond is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the 
Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue 
installment. 
 
 Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of 
principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Borrower agrees to pay on demand of the 
Authority the following Additional Payments: 
 
   (1) The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board 

in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable 
fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and 

 
   (2) All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any 

amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant 
to the provisions hereof. 

 
 The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) 
above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five 
percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
 Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bond.  Upon completion of the Project and after 
giving at least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local 
Bond at any time, in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the 
date on which the Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bond will be 
prepaid in full or in part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial 
prepayment shall be applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bond but 
shall not postpone the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bond, or change the 
amount of such installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing. 



 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
 Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may 
otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the 
System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by 
any other entity or person. 
 
 Section 8.2. Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate 
the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal 
requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to 
time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 
 
 Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from 
time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it 
deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or 
operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or 
improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, 
permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifi-
cations and improvements shall become part of the System. 
 
 Section 8.4. Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements 
of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently 
enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental 
policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the 
cost of making the same. 
 
 Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The 
Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such 
reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the 
Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the 
books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System. 
 
 Section 8.6. Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or 
install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire 
title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless 
such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, 
pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right 
or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been 
approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s 
purposes. 
 



 Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, 
leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the 
following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in 
writing: 
 
  (a) The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or 
under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the 
System; 
 
  (b) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace 
such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and 
 
  (c) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of 
unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized 
Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the 
System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any 
other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there 
shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer 
stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the 
proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that 
may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, and then, if 
such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bond under Article 
VII hereof. 
 
 Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect 
all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on 
premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges 
where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, 
discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the 
System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than 
through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace 
periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.9. No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the 
use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge 
therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges. 
 
 Section 8.10. No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any 
franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would 
compete with the System. 
 
 Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable 
law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may 
reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been 



constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; 
provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the 
standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the 
System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.12. Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, 
assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the 
“Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the 
Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the 
System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to 
pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects 
which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues 
(collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten 
(10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in 
good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the 
Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any 
subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the 
lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or 
Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an 
appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon 
request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental 
Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 
 
 Section 9.1. Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the 
Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as 
are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character 
to the System, including, without limitation: 
 
  (a) Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s 
insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended 
coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler 
leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such 
endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the 
time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may 
provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement 
cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full 
replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized 
appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority. 
 
  (b) Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and 
for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, 
operation or use of the System. 



 
  (c) Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, 
workers’ compensation insurance. 
 
 The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the 
procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to 
policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance. 
 
 The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of 
the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the 
insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect. 
 
 Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be 
maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the 
Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with 
deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of 
like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such 
policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) 
days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer 
licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus 
Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any 
successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the 
Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law. 
 
 Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of 
(i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part 
of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any 
loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or 
negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice 
thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, 
taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations. 
 
 Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or 
damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay 
in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property 
damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, 
with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the 
capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended 
to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of 
insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such 
restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not 
sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as 
may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property 
constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the 
cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to 
Article VII. 



 
 Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or 
any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost 
because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full 
the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any such 
condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to 
substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  
If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower 
shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are 
derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds 
remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment 
of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII. 
  

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
 Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as 
a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without 
consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer 
all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political 
subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and 
the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bond and this 
Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel 
acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to 
the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
 Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper 
books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally 
accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs 
related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the 
Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent 
certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal 
Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower 
during such Fiscal Year satisfied the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  The 
Borrower shall furnish to the Authority copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by 
the Borrower.  Such report shall include statements in reasonable detail, certified by such 
accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the 
results of the Borrower’s operations and changes in the financial position of its funds for the 
Fiscal Year.   
 



 Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the 
Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a 
certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the 
date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or 
existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has 
happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event 
or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it. 
 
 Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness 
or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge 
of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 10.5. Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the 
Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on 
parity with the Local Bond with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to 
complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, 
equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be 
necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bond, Parity 
Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); 
provided in each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise 
consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or 
delivered, the Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following: 
 
  (a) Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower 
authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (b) A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the 
purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will 
apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (c) If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding 
of the Local Bond, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection 
(iv)(C) below, a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant, to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent 
Consultant, as applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the 
issuance of the Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds 
available to the Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will 
be sufficient to pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time 
which will be required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the 
Parity Bond proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such 
improvements or acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of 
Revenues, or (C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the 
improvements or the acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, 
the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available 
by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount 



required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bond, this 
Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, and all other 
indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without 
limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted 
accounting principles.  In providing this certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent 
Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate 
increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person and 
entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified 
Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues of the System to be 
derived under then existing contractual agreements entered into by the Borrower and from 
reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the Borrower. 
 
  (d) If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bond (with the 
consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, either (i) a 
certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory 
to the Authority that the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each 
of the years the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds to be refunded 
would have been outstanding which are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each 
such year on the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or the Prior Bonds to be 
refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant to the effect that during the first two complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of 
the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at 
least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due 
under the Local Bond, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior 
Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, 
including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under 
generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the certificate described in clause (ii), the 
Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account the factors described in the last two 
sentences of subsection (c) of this Section. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary 
exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of 
the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this 
Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute 
compliance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
 Section 10.6. Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted 
by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, 
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the 
better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other 
funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of 
this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, 
preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement 
and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and 
demands of all persons. 



 
 Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts 
required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection 
therewith. 
 
 Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the 
Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as 
defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If 
the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with 
the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and 
the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s 
obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the 
assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the 
Local Bond and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee 
enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and 
assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bond and this 
Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be 
construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations. 
 
 Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon 
Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and 
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at 
rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United 
States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act 
and related acts, as amended. 
 

Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 
federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, 
P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended 
and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements 
include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be 
produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the 
following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole 
covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, 
structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials. 

 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 

recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as 
amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as 
performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect 
to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the 
Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities. 



 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the 

Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service 
Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to 
ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement. 

 
Section 10.13.   Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The 

Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the 
Borrower on or before March 31, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors of 
the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates for 
a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) that 
satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future 
projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the 
Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business 
Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, 
as amended, on or before March 31, 2020 for review. 
 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 Section 11.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of 
Default”: 
 
  (a) The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds 
due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bond or this 
Agreement; 
 
  (b) The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, 
agreements or conditions of the Local Bond, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the 
continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the 
Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the 
Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, 
however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the 
applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of 
such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and 
diligently pursued until the Default is corrected; 
 
  (c) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of 
Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in 
reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bond is 
false or misleading in any material respect; 
 
  (d) The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 
5.3(b) and (c) thereof. 
 



  (e) The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any 
Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure 
such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder; 
 
  (f) An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the 
Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent 
or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after 
the entry thereof; 
 
  (g) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors 
or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state 
statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances 
secured by or payable from Revenues; or 
 
  (h) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted 
by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or 
hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) 
days after filing. 
 
 Section 11.2. Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt 
written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is 
entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition 
which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the 
existence thereof. 
 
 Section 11.3. Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 
Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other 
remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, 
have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the 
following remedial steps: 
 
  (a) Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due 
on the Local Bond and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall 
become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and 
 
  (b) Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bond and 
under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights 
under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements 
or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bond, which the Borrower hereby agrees are 
assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
 
 Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 



construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and 
every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or 
shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies 
consequent thereto. 
 

Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may 
take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds shall not be paid 
when the same shall become due and payable. 

 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to 
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 12.2. Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent 
of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be 
signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written 
consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend 
Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the 
Local Bond or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general 
obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically 
pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bond nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create 
or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not 
be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local Bond or other costs incident 
thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of fraud, no 
present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be liable 
personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bond or for any other action taken by such 
individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or the 
Local Bond. 
 
 Section 12.4. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable 
laws of Virginia. 
 
 Section 12.5. Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall 
be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or 
Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced 
as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  
If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then 



such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority 
and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 12.6. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, 
approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bond or this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person 
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 Fund:   Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

c/o Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Authority:  Virginia Resources Authority 

1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Board:   Virginia Department of Health 

109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  State Health Commissioner 

 
Borrower:  The Russell County Public Service Authority 

____________________ 
__________, Virginia  _____ 
Attention:  Chairman 

 
A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other 
communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other 
parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given 
hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, 
consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention 
the same shall be directed. 
 
 Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or 
to perform any act required by it under the Local Bond or this Agreement, the Authority without 
prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or 
default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All 
amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by 
the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at 
the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under 
this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bond. 
 



 Section 12.8. Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.9. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its 
execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bond previously or simultaneously shall have 
been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under 
the Local Bond and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bond and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.10. Commitment Letter.  The Commitment Letter is an integral part of this 
Agreement and shall survive closing hereunder. 
 
 Section 12.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized. 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF LOCAL BOND 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 



 
EXHIBIT B 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 
 The Project includes financing the replacement of water lines in the Glade Hollow 
community and the extension of water service to the Glade Hill community, together with related 
expenses.   
 



EXHIBIT C 
 

PROJECT BUDGET 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT D 
 

OPINION OF BORROWER’S BOND COUNSEL 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 

 



EXHIBIT E 
 

REQUISITION FOR DISBURSEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[LETTERHEAD OF BORROWER] 
 

[Date] 
 
__________, Director 
Office of Drinking Water, 6th Floor 
Virginia Department of Health 
109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 
 
Re: Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 
 The Russell County Public Service Authority 
 Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 
 This requisition, Number ___, is submitted in connection with the Financing Agreement and 
Funding Agreement, each dated as of __________ 1, 2019 (together, the “Agreements”) between the 
Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the 
“Fund”), and The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Borrower”).  Unless otherwise 
defined in this requisition, all capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in 
Article I of the Agreements.  The undersigned Authorized Representative of the Borrower hereby 
requests disbursement of loan proceeds under the Agreements in the amount of $___________, for 
the purposes of payment of the Project Costs as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto. 
 
 Attached hereto are invoices relating to the items for which payment is requested. 
 
 The undersigned certifies that (a) the amounts requested by this requisition will be applied 
solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of 
Project Costs, and (b) any materials, supplies or equipment covered by this requisition are not 
subject to any lien or security interest or such lien or security interest will be released upon payment 
of the requisition.  In addition, the undersigned certifies that the Borrower has conducted adequate 
oversight for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts through (a) the review of 
payrolls and associated certifications, and (b) the posting of all wage determinations and additional 
classifications (as appropriate) on the work site, and through this oversight, the Borrower has 
determined to the best of its ability that the Project complies with the requirements of the Davis-
Bacon Act and related acts.  The Borrower further certifies that all products included in this request 
satisfy the appropriate provisions of the American Iron and Steel requirements included in the 
Agreement. 
  



The undersigned further certifies that (a) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is 
continuing, and no condition exists which, with the passing of time or with the giving of notice or 
both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder, and (b) the representations and warranties of 
the Borrower contained in the Agreements are true, correct and complete and the Borrower has 
performed all of its obligations thereunder required to be performed as of the date hereof. 

 
This requisition includes an accompanying Certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the 

performance of the work. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Authorized Representative of the Borrower) 

 
Attachments 
cc: VDH Project Engineer (with all attachments) 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER 
 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

 
Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 
 This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 
20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalized terms used herein shall 
have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agreements referred to in the Requisition. 

 
 The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the 
amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or 
materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually 
furnished to or installed in the Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             SEAL                        

 
   
 
      ______________________________ 
        [Consulting Engineer] 
 
 
      Date: ________________________ 



SCHEDULE 1 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

REQUISITION # ________ 
BORROWER: THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
LOAN NUMBER:  WSL-020-18 
CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ______________________________ 
TITLE: ______________________________________ 
 

Cost Category 
 
 
 

Amount 
Budgeted 

 
 

Previous 
Disbursements 

 
 

Expenditures 
This 

Period 
 

Total 
Expenditures 

to Date 
 

Net Balance 
Remaining 

 
 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

TOTALS:                            

 
Total Loan Amount $_________________ 

Previous Disbursements $_________________ 
This Request $_________________ 

Loan Proceeds Remaining $_________________ 



EXHIBIT F 
 

PRIOR BONDS AND EXISTING PARITY BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 

Prior Bonds: 
 
None 

 
 
Existing Parity Bonds: 
 



 
EXHIBIT G 

 
FORM OF BUDGET 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead) 
 

[Date] 
 
Executive Director 
Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The 
Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is 
enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated 
below. 
 

Revenues1 Operation & Maintenance 
Expense 

Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service 
( Revenues – O&M Expense) 

Debt Service Coverage 
(Net Revenues Available for 
Debt Service/Debt Service) 

     

__________________________________________ 
1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,     
   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement. 
 
 
 All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing 
Agreement[s]. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
        
By: __________________________ 
 
        
Its: _________________________ 



EXHIBIT H 
 

SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 
THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the first day of __________, 2019, by 

and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the 
“Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia (the “County”), THE 
RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), and the 
VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as purchaser of the 
Local Bond, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Financing Agreement dated as of the date 
hereof (the “Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and 
Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns 
and operates the System in the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower has determined that it is in its best interest to issue and sell a 
water and sewer system revenue bond in an original aggregate principal amount not to exceed 
$_____ (the “Local Bond”) to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to the terms 
of the Financing Agreement in order to finance the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________, 2019, a resolution authorizing, among 
other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board 
to consider certain appropriations in support of the Local Bond and the Project. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual 
covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:  
 
  1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement 
shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreement. 
 
  2. The Borrower shall use its best efforts to issue the Local Bond, to use the 
proceeds thereof to pay the costs of the Project, and to construct and place the Project in 
operation at the earliest practical date. 
 
  3. No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__, the Borrower shall 
notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower 
reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under 
the Financing Agreement, the Local Bond and any other indebtedness secured by or payable 



from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit F to the Financing 
Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the Additional Payments in 
full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the following July 1. 

 
 4. The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall 

include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following 
fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County 
Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s 
budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether 
the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual 
Deficiency Amount. 
 
  5. If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred 
to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of 
such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from 
the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.  
 
  6. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to 
paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next 
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification 
requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority 
as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such 
appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to 
the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the 
County’s next fiscal year.  
 
  7. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such 
amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the 
fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any 
binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to 
make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of 
Supervisors do likewise.  
 



 8. The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local 
Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the 
Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-
199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a 
nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such 
nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing 
the Local Bond, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, 
providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will 
immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to 
the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment 
continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of 
them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such 
nonpayment. 
 
  9. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the 
County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bond or to any other person, 
and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or the 
taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the 
Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.  
 
  10. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if 
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 
____________________, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to 
____________________, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main 
Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may 
designate any other address for notices or requests by giving notice.  
 
 11. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

 
 12. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bond and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Financing Agreement have been paid in full.  
 
 13. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature page follows] 
 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.  
 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, 
VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
    
 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 

 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 1                                              

GRANT AGREEMENT 

 

This Grant Agreement (this “Agreement”) made and entered the 18th day of May 2020 (the 

“Award Date”), by and between the TOBACCO REGION REVITALIZATION COMMISSION, 

a body corporate and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

“Commission”), and the RUSSELL COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(the “Grantee”), and Clinch River Hemp Company, a Virginia limited liability company (the 

“Company”) whose Federal Employer Identification Number is ______________, and 

RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Locality”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth 

of Virginia. 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, the Virginia General Assembly created the Commission to, among other 

things, stimulate the economic growth and development of tobacco-dependent communities in 

the Southern and Southwest regions (the “Region”) of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

“Commonwealth”), and 

 

WHEREAS, the Grantee has submitted an application, which by this reference is 

incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement (the “Application”), to the Commission 

for funding to acquire, construct, improve, equip, furnish and/or otherwise undertake the project 

entitled Project Grow described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Project”), and 

WHEREAS, the Commission, in reliance upon the information set forth in the 

Application, has determined that the Project benefits the Region and is consistent with and in 

furtherance of the Commission’s public purposes and approved a grant to the Grantee in the 

amount of $250,000.00 (the “Grant”) to fund the Project, the approval and funding of such Grant 

the Commission has determined constitutes a valid public purpose for the expenditure of public 

funds and is the animating purpose for the Grant, and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission, the Company and the Grantee desire to set forth their 

understanding and agreement as to the use of the Grant and the obligations of the Company and 

the Grantee regarding the use of the Grant, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Locality joins in this Agreement for the sole purpose of making certain 

revenue sharing commitments as described in the Revenue Sharing Addendum attached as 

Exhibit D to this Agreement. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 

receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby represent, 

warrant, covenant and agree as follows: 

 

1. Project and Budget. The Grantee agrees to use the Grant to provide funds for that 

portion of the Project not being paid from other sources as set forth in the budget for the Project 

attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Project Budget”). The Grantee will provide a dollar-for-dollar 

Grant # 3649 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 2                                              

match to the Grant as required by Va. Code Section 3.2-3103. The Project Budget identifies the 

matching funds that the Grantee will provide. 

 

No portion of the Grant shall be used for any purpose whatsoever other than the Project 

without the prior written approval of the Executive Director of the Commission (the “Executive 

Director”). 

 

No material changes shall be made in the scope of the Project or to the Project Budget, 

including the source or nature of matching funds, without the prior written approval of the 

Executive Director. Any document signed by the Executive Director accepting a change in the 

scope of the Project or to the Project Budget shall explicitly set forth the accepted change. If the 

maximum authorized amount of the Grant exceeds the amount necessary to complete the Project, 

the excess shall not be disbursed to the Grantee but shall remain with the Commission.  If excess 

funds were previously disbursed, such funds shall be returned to the Commission within thirty 

(30) days of the earlier of the completion of the Project or the expiration of this Agreement. 

 

The Company and the Grantee agree to cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, 

improved, equipped, furnished and/or otherwise undertaken as described in Exhibit A and will 

cause the Project to be completed on or before the expiration of this Agreement.  The Company 

represents and warrants that Grant funds and funds available from the other sources specified in 

the Project Budget will be sufficient to cause the Project to be completed. 

 

The Grantee and the Company agree to comply with all applicable federal, state, and 

local laws and regulations pertaining to the Project and the use and application of Grant funds. 

 

2. Payment of Grant Funds.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement and at the sole 

discretion of the Commission shall be disbursed on a reimbursement basis.  Disbursement shall 

only be made after the Grantee Certification attached hereto as Exhibit C has been completed by 

the Grantee and delivered to and approved by the Commission in its sole discretion. 

 

The Grantee shall be eligible for reimbursement upon submission of a signed payment 

request on the Commission’s then-current form (“Payment Request Form”) with adequate 

supporting documentation.  The Grantee and the Company agree to comply with the 

Commission’s General Funding Policies, Grant Disbursement Guidelines, and Guidelines for 

Advance of Funds as they may be updated from time to time.  

 

Expenses incurred prior to the execution of this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement.  Prior to any disbursement, the Commission shall have on record documentation 

from the Grantee designating the officers, employees, or agents authorized to make a 

reimbursement request (such documentation may be in the form of a resolution or minutes of the 

Grantee appointing such designee).  

 

Reimbursement requests shall be submitted not more frequently than quarterly, unless the 

Executive Director otherwise agrees.  Appropriate supporting documentation shall be attached to 

all Payment Request Forms and may include, but is not limited to, invoices from goods 

purchased and services performed, receipts, vouchers, reporting forms or other evidence of the 

actual payment of costs related to the Project and consistent with the Project Budget. The 

Grantee and the Company shall also provide appropriate supporting documentation of the 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 3                                              

expenditure and application of the required matching funds for the Project.  The Commission 

may in its sole discretion refuse to make a disbursement if the Grantee’s documentation is not 

adequate or if such disbursement does not appear to be within the Project Budget or is otherwise 

contrary to or in violation of the provisions hereof. The Commission in its sole discretion may 

refuse to disburse any funds to the Grantee if the Grantee has previously received a grant award 

and a final grant report for the previous grant award has not been received by the Commission.  

 

3. Employment Obligation. The Company shall employ at least 50 persons in 

connection with the Project in the Locality with a quarterly aggregate payroll of at least 

$568,750.   For the purposes of this Agreement, the number of persons “employed” means the 

number of persons to whom the Company pays wages in any given quarter and is calculated by 

adding together the number of persons to whom the Company paid wages in each month of the 

quarter and dividing that sum by three (3).  Said employment and payroll will be in addition to 

those already employed in the Locality by the Company and paid during the calendar quarter 

ending on March 31, 2020 hereinafter called the “Base Quarter.”  Persons employed by the 

Company in the Locality shall be counted as employed hereunder only to the extent that they (a) 

exceed the aggregate number of employees at all Company locations within the Commonwealth 

during the Base Quarter, and (b) are not counted as fulfilling any other employment obligation 

made to the Commission by the Company under any other agreement. 

In order for the Grantee to earn the portion of the Grant allocated to the employment obligation 

described above and not have a repayment obligation under Section 7, the Company must fully 

meet its employment obligations hereunder not later than thirty-six (36) months after the end of 

the Base Quarter.  The Company’s employment obligations will be deemed to have been fully 

met when it documents any three (3) consecutive calendar quarters after the Base Quarter in 

which: 

(i) the average number of persons employed by the Company during each of those 

three (3) consecutive quarters exceeds the average number of persons employed 

by the Company in the Base Quarter by at least the number promised in Section 3 

above, AND 

(ii) the total wages paid by the Company to employees in each of those three quarters 

exceed the wages paid by the Company to employees in the Base Quarter by at 

least the amount promised in Section 3 above, AND 

(iii) all such employees worked in the Locality, AND  

(iv) all Company employees in Virginia have been reported to the Virginia 

Employment Commission (“VEC”) in accordance with VEC regulations. The 

Company’s failure to satisfy such requirements shall be a breach hereof, and shall 

constitute an Event of Default hereunder by the Company. Employment gains by 

the Company in the Locality that are offset by employment losses elsewhere in 

Virginia shall not be counted as employment hereunder.  

 

All determinations of performance made under this Section shall be based upon reports made by, 

or on behalf of, the Company to the VEC including but not limited to VEC Form FC-20 

Employer’s Quarterly Tax Report and O.M.B. Form No 1220-0134 Multiple Worksite Report – 

BLS 3020 (or any successor forms designated by VEC, or accepted by VEC in lieu thereof).  If 

such filings include Company employees who did not work in the Locality, it shall be the duty of 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 4                                              

the Company to provide additional information sufficient to identify those employees who did 

work in the Locality.  Employees of control affiliates (e.g., subsidiary companies, parent 

companies, entities under common ownership or control) or employees of independent 

contractors hired by the Company shall not be counted as employees of the Company in 

fulfillment of its promise hereunder UNLESS such entities and their relationship to the Company 

are disclosed to and approved by the Executive Director in writing, AND such entities supply the 

Commission with the same employment documentation as described herein.  

4. Taxable Assets Obligation.  The Company shall locate or construct taxable assets 

associated with the Project in the Locality having an assessed value of at least $2,015,500.00, as 

determined by the Locality’s Commissioner of Revenue (“COR”). Said taxable assets will be in 

addition to those counted in fulfillment of any other taxable asset or capital investment obligation 

made to the Commission by the Company under any other agreement. If the Company is exempt 

from the payment of property taxes on certain assets by state law, the Company shall not be 

entitled to receive or keep any portion of the Grant allocated to its investment in those certain 

assets.  

In order for the Grantee to earn the portion of the Grant allocated to the taxable asset 

obligation, the Company must meet its taxable asset obligations hereunder not later than thirty-

six (36) months after the Base Quarter.  Company assets located, constructed, or leased in the 

Locality prior to the Base Year will not be counted in fulfillment of the Company’s taxable asset 

obligation. For purposes of this Agreement, the calendar year that includes the Base Quarter shall 

be called the “Base Year.”   

 Leased assets not on record with the COR in the name of the Company will be counted in 

fulfillment of the Company’s taxable asset obligation only if a copy of the lease is submitted to 

the Commission indicating that the asset(s) under lease meet the other requirements listed above 

and were not leased from the Locality or its control affiliates at a substantial discount from 

market rates. 

The Commission’s determination as to whether the Company satisfied its taxable asset 

obligation will be based on asset values assessed by the COR and will be the sum of the 

following: 

a. the highest real property assessed value of record for any one of the three calendar 

years following the Base Year, less the assessed value of the Base Year, PLUS 

 

b. the first personal property assessed value for each asset first appearing of record  

during the three calendar years following the Base Year. 

 

The Commission shall rely upon the information described above as the same is reported 

to the Commission by the COR in writing, without exception. 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 5                                              

 Taxable assets owned by subsidiary companies, related entities, or entities under common 

ownership or control shall not be counted as taxable assets of the Company in fulfillment of its 

taxable asset obligation hereunder UNLESS such entities and their relationships to the Company 

are disclosed to and approved by the Executive Director in writing, AND such entities supply the 

Commission with the same taxable assets documentation as described herein. 

5. Verification of Performance. The Company hereby expressly grants its consent for 

(a) the COR to release to the Commission or the Grantee records necessary to disclose the 

information required in this Agreement, and (b) the VEC to release to the Commission all 

Company employment records of any kind held by the VEC. 

If any of the taxable assets described in Section 4 have been acquired or improved on behalf of 

the Company by a lessor, the Company shall be responsible for gathering and reporting to the 

Commission information regarding the taxable assets acquired or improved by the lessor on 

behalf of the Company. 

6. Events of Default. If any of the following should occur within the thirty-six (36) 

month period after the end of the Base Quarter, it shall constitute an “Event of Default” and the 

Commission may, at its election, accelerate the obligation of the Company and Grantee to repay 

the portion of the Grant that has not been earned as of the date of the Event of Default: 

a. The Company applies for or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee or 

liquidator of all or a substantial part of its assets, files a voluntary petition of 

bankruptcy, makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, files a 

petition or an answer seeking reorganization or arrangement with creditors, or if 

an order, judgment or decree shall be entered by any court of competent 

jurisdiction, on the application of a creditor, adjudicating the Company as 

bankrupt or insolvent or approving a petition seeking reorganization of the 

Company or appointing a receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Company or of all 

or a substantial part of its assets which remains undismissed, undischarged or 

unstayed for a period of forty-five (45) days; 

b. The Company ceases to be of record and in good standing with the Virginia State 

Corporation Commission, and such failure is not cured within sixty (60) days 

from notice thereof, unless Company obligations hereunder have been assumed 

by another entity and that assumption was approved by the Executive Director 

and the Grantee; 

c. The Company fails, for reasons other than an Event of Force Majeure (as defined 

herein), to fulfill at least twenty-five percent (25%) of either its employment 

obligation described in Section 3 above or its taxable asset obligation described in 

Section 4 above within eighteen (18) months after the end of the Base Quarter; 

d. The Company’s employment level is less than 75% of that found in the Base 

Quarter in more than two (2) calendar quarters following the Base Quarter; 

e. The Company fails to provide verification to the Commission as described in 

Section 5 within sixty (60) days from a written request from the Commission; or 

f. The Company closes its business in the Locality for a period of more than thirty 

(30) days during the thirty-six (36) months following the Base Quarter. 

 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 6                                              

7. Repayment Obligation. In the event that the Company does not meet its obligations 

hereunder within thirty-six (36) months after the end of the Base Quarter, or an Event of Default 

occurs, the Company shall repay to the Grantee the unearned portion of the Grant.  For the 

purposes of determining the amount of the repayment obligation of the Company and Grantee, 

fifty percent (50%) of the Grant is allocated for the Company’s taxable asset obligation set forth 

in Section 4 and fifty percent (50%) of the Grant is allocated for the Company’s employment 

obligation set forth in Section 3.  

 

The amount that the Company and Grantee must repay will be calculated as follows: 

a. The Company must locate or construct taxable assets in the Locality with an 

assessed value of at least $1 million (the “Minimum Investment Requirement”) in 

order to earn any portion of the Grant. If the Company does not satisfy the 

Minimum Investment Requirement, the Company and Grantee must repay 100% 

of the Grant. 

b. Subject to the terms of Section 7.c. below, so long as the Company satisfied the 

quarterly aggregate payroll requirement described in Section 3, the fraction of the 

Grant allocated to employment that the Company and Grantee may retain is 

determined by dividing the average number of persons the Company employed 

during the three consecutive quarters with the highest employee count as 

determined in Section 3 by the number of jobs promised in Section 3.  

c. The method of computation set forth in Paragraph 7.b. above will be used only if 

the quarterly aggregate payroll for the three consecutive quarters described in 

Section 3 equals or exceeds that promised in Section 3.  If the actual quarterly 

aggregate payroll is less than that promised in Section 3, the number of qualifying 

employees shall be reduced in proportion to the shortfall in quarterly aggregate 

payroll and the reduced number of employees shall be used to determine whether 

Company has satisfied its employment obligation hereunder.  

d. After exceeding the Minimum Investment Requirement, the fraction of the Grant 

allocated to taxable assets that is earned by the Company is determined by 

dividing the greatest value of assets assessed by the COR under Sections 4 and 5 

above by the taxable assets promised in Section 4. 

e. All unearned portions of the Grant shall be repaid by the Company to the Grantee 

not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Commission notifies the 

Company and the Grantee of the unearned amount. The Grantee agrees to remit 

the same to the Commission.  Any refund owed by the Company to the Grantee 

hereunder shall immediately constitute an obligation of the Grantee to repay the 

Commission and such Grantee’s obligation shall not be contingent upon 

successful collection of any amount from the Company. The Grantee shall be 

liable for repayment to the Commission that portion of the Grant determined 

by the Commission to be due under the terms of this Section and hereby 

agrees to make such repayment without regard to whether Grantee has 

received repayment from the Company as further certified on Exhibit C 

attached hereto. 
f. Interest shall accrue on unpaid balances at the rate of three percent (3%) per 

annum beginning on the 31st day after the Company and Grantee are notified of 

the amount due.   

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 7                                              

g. If the Company does not meet its employment obligations or taxable asset 

obligations hereunder by the date which is thirty-six (36) months after the end of 

the Base Quarter because of an Event of Force Majeure arising after the date of 

this Agreement (as defined herein), the date by which a requirement to meet such 

commitments shall be extended day-for-day for a period equal to the time elapsed 

during the Event of Force Majeure.  “Event of Force Majeure” means any of the 

following:  acts of God, strikes, lockouts, crime, insurrections, riots, epidemics, 

pandemics, landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, hurricanes, tornadoes, storms, 

floods, washouts, draughts, or explosions. 

h. In the event the Commission is required to take legal action under this Agreement, 

the Grantee and the Company, jointly and severally, shall be liable for all of the 

Commission’s costs expended for the administration and enforcement of this 

Agreement, including but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and court 

costs. 

 

8. Revenue Sharing. The Locality is party to this Agreement solely for the purposes of 

agreeing to the Revenue Sharing Addendum attached hereto as Exhibit D.  The Locality shall, 

upon receipt of tax revenue from the Company, calculate and return to the Commission a portion 

of tax revenue as described in Exhibit D. 

 

9. Right of Inspection.  The Commission, and its employees and agents, shall have the 

right to inspect the Project upon reasonable notice to the Grantee and the Company being 

provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, inspection may be made, to preserve the 

integrity of the Grant and its original intended purpose, with notice to the Grantee and the 

Company being given at the earliest practicable time.   

 

10.  Parties’ Relationship.   In connection with the award or the administration of the 

Grant, the Commission does not and shall not assume any liability for any financial or other 

obligations of the Grantee and/or the Company, made to third parties, whether or not related to 

the Project.  The Grantee and/or the Company is and will be acting as an independent contractor 

in the performance of the Project, and agrees to be responsible, to the extent permitted by 

applicable Virginia law, for negligent acts or omissions of its employees, agents or officers 

arising out of its obligations under this Agreement. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed an 

express or implied waiver of the sovereign immunity of the Commission or the Commonwealth 

 

In the event the Commission is required to take legal action under this Agreement, the 

Company and Grantee shall jointly and severally liable to the extent allowable by Virginia law, 

for all of the Commission’s costs expended for the administration and enforcement of this 

Agreement, including but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs.  

 

11.  Recordkeeping.  The Grantee shall maintain proper books of record and account 

with respect to the Grant and the Project in which accurate and timely entries shall be made in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, during the term of this Agreement.  

The Grantee shall retain all invoices from goods purchased and services performed, receipts, 

vouchers, reporting forms or other evidence of the actual payment of costs related to the Project.  

All books of record and account and all records of receipts and expenditures with respect to the 

Grant and the Project and copies of Payment Request Forms with supporting documentation and 

annual and final reports submitted to the Commission shall be retained for at least three (3) years 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 8                                              

after the later of the completion of the Project or the expiration of this Agreement.  The 

Commission, and its members, employees, and agents, shall have the right to inspect and make 

copies of the books and records of the Grantee related to the Project 

 

12.  Annual Reports.  The Grantee and the Company shall submit to the Commission 

annual financial and narrative reports reflecting activity in the Fund and progress made toward 

completion of the Project.  Annual financial reports shall be presented on the Commission’s grant 

reporting form then in effect (the “Grant Reporting Form”). Annual narrative reports shall 

indicate the progress made toward achieving the goals of the Grant and shall be submitted with 

the Grant Reporting Form.  Annual reports shall be due one year from the Award Date and 

annually thereafter until the Project is complete.  The Commission reserves the right to request 

additional information to supplement the information provided in the Grant Reporting Form or 

the annual narrative reports, including but not limited to, the Company’s audited financial 

statements. 

 

13.  Final Report.  The Grantee and the Company shall provide a final financial and 

narrative report to the Commission with the final reimbursement request.  The final report shall 

contain the type of information contained in the annual reports, including a narrative as to the 

success of the Project and a description of the long-term achievements and expectations for the 

Project and shall be presented on the Commission’s Grant Reporting Form.  The Commission 

will not pay the final reimbursement until the Company and Grantee have submitted a final 

report. 

 

14.  Interim Reports.  In addition to the annual reports and final report required by 

Sections 12 and 13 of this Agreement, the Commission may reasonably request that the Grantee 

and the Company submit additional or interim information from time to time to ensure that the 

provisions of this Agreement are properly carried out, administered and enforced. 

 

15.  Misuse of Award; Rights of Commission.  If the Commission determines that any 

part of the Grant has not been used for the Project or for a purpose otherwise approved in writing 

by the Executive Director, or that the Grantee and/or the Company has failed to comply with any 

material term or condition or obligation of the Grantee and/or the Company in this Agreement, 

including but not limited to, the Grantee and/or the Company making in any material respect a 

false or misleading statement or other written or oral representation, warranty or statement 

furnished or made to the Commission in this Agreement, the Application or otherwise, the 

Commission in its sole discretion may withhold any further disbursements to the Grantee and, in 

addition:  

 

(a) rescind the Grant by written notice to the Grantee, in which event the 

Grantee shall be obligated to return to the Commission, within five (5) days following 

receipt of such notice, an amount, from legally available funds, equal to all Grant 

payments received pursuant to this Agreement, plus interest from the date of receipt of 

such notice at the prime rate set forth in the Wall Street Journal on the date of such 

notice; 

 

(b) take any action as necessary to preserve the integrity of the Grant and to 

preserve Grant funds for appropriate uses;  

 



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 9                                              

(c) determine that the Grantee and/or Company is ineligible to receive future 

grant funding through the Commission; 

 

(d) withhold any and all disbursements requested by the Grantee from the 

Commission under any other grant approved by the Commission; and/or 

 

(e) take such judicial action as is necessary to collect any amounts owed, 

including legal action for breach of this Agreement.   

 

 

 16.  Sale or Encumbrance; Security Interest.  None of the assets or property acquired, 

constructed, improved, equipped, and/or furnished as part of the Project shall be leased, sold, 

exchanged, disposed of, hypothecated, mortgaged or encumbered without the prior written 

approval of the Executive Director.  In the event that such asset or property is leased, sold, 

exchanged, disposed of, hypothecated, mortgaged or encumbered without the prior written 

approval of the Executive Director, the Commission may assert its interest in the asset or 

property to recover the Commission’s share of the value of such asset or property and/or recover 

from the Grantee and/or the Company, unless otherwise prohibited by law. 

 

 Grantee and/or the Company hereby pledges, delivers and assigns to the Commission a 

security interest in all property purchased with the Grant. Upon the request of the Commission, 

Grantee and/or the Company will execute, provide and sign all documents necessary to establish 

and/or perfect Commission’s security interest in such property, including deeds of trust, 

supplemental deeds of trust, amendments or modifications thereto, financing statements, 

continuation statements or other instruments and documents which may be reasonably required 

from time to time.   

 

17.  Press Releases.  The Company and the Grantee each agree that it shall not issue any 

press releases or other public statements regarding the Grant without the prior written consent of 

the Commission. 

 

18.  Future Funding.  The Grant provided pursuant to this Agreement shall not be 

deemed to be an actual or implied promise of the Commission to fund the Project except as 

provided for herein. No representation by the Commission, or its members, employees or agents, 

shall be binding unless set forth in writing and signed by the Executive Director. In addition to 

the other remedies provided by law or in this Agreement, if the Company or Grantee fails to 

comply with the terms of this Agreement, the Project shall not be entitled to additional funding 

by the Commission.    

 

19.  Entire Agreement.  To the extent there are inconsistencies between this Agreement 

and its supporting documents, including the Application and the exhibits attached hereto, this 

Agreement shall control.  This Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements 

between the Commission, the Company and the Grantee and may not be modified except in a 

writing signed by the Commission, the Company and the Grantee.   

 

20.  Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by the 

applicable laws of the Commonwealth. The venue of any judicial action shall be in the Circuit 

Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, and such litigation shall only be brought in such court. 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 10                                              

 

21.  Limitation of Commission’s Liability.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to be a 

covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member of the Commission or of an 

employee or agent of the Commission.  No member, employee or agent of the Commission shall 

incur any personal liability with respect to any action taken by him or her pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

22.  Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid by any court 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate any other provision hereof. 

 

23.  Public Documents.  Unless specifically exempted pursuant to the Virginia Freedom 

of Information Act (Virginia Code Section 2.2-3700 et seq., as amended), all reports, documents, 

financial data and other information provided to the Commission shall be public records. 

 

24.  Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all notices, approvals, consents, 

correspondence and other communications pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be deemed received upon receipt or refusal after mailing of the same in the United States 

Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return 

of certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee) to (a) the 

Commission at 701 East Franklin Street, Suite 501, Richmond, Virginia 23219, Attention: 

Executive Director, (b) the Grantee at the address set forth below, or (c) the Company at the 

address set forth below. 

 

25.  Conditional Funding.  In the event that disbursement of Grant funds is contingent 

upon the happening of an event or events described herein that have not yet occurred as of the 

Award Date, the Commission may withdraw the Grant if such event or events have not been 

substantiated with appropriate documentation satisfactory to the Commission within twelve (12) 

months of the Award Date. This Agreement is subject to the availability of Commission funds.  

If such funds become unavailable and the Commission is unable to obtain sufficient funds, this 

Agreement shall be amended or terminated, as appropriate. 

 

26.  Expiration.  Thirty-six (36) months after the date on which the Grant is approved, 

the Grant shall be automatically rescinded with respect to all funds not yet disbursed by the 

Commission, unless an extension is granted in writing by the Commission. Any Grant funds 

disbursed but not spent on the approved Project at the end of the 36-month period will be 

returned to the Commission.     

 

27.  Assignment.  Neither this Agreement nor any rights under this Agreement may be 

assigned, by operation of law or otherwise, by the Company or the Grantee without the prior 

written consent of the other parties hereto.  The provisions of this Agreement shall bind and 

inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

 

28.  Survival.  The rights and remedies available to the Commission shall survive any 

expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

29.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which 

shall be an original, and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 11                                              

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date 

first written above. 

 

TOBACCO REGION REVITALIZATION COMMISSION, a body corporate and 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

 

Signature of Executive Director:         

Printed Name of Executive Director:   Evan Feinman     

Date:        

Grantee Information 

RUSSELL COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Signature of Grantee’s Chief Executive: _________________________________________ 

Printed Name of Grantee’s Chief Executive: ______________________________________ 

Date: ______________________ 

Address_____________________________________________________________________ 

Phone #______________________  e-mail_________________________________________ 

Company 

Company Name:_____________________________________________ 

Signature of Company’s Chief Executive: _____________________________________ 

Printed Name of Company’s Chief Executive: _________________________________ 

Date: ______________________ 

Address_____________________________________________________________________ 

Phone #______________________  e-mail_________________________________________ 

Federal ID #______________________ 

 

 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 12                                              

Locality Information 

RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

Signature of Locality’s Chief Executive: _________________________________________ 

Printed Name of Locality’s Chief Executive: ______________________________________ 

Date: ______________________ 

Address_____________________________________________________________________ 

Phone #______________________  e-mail_________________________________________ 

 

  

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 13                                              

Exhibit A 

 

Project Description 

The Grantee will use the Grant to induce the Company to locate taxable assets and employ 

person in the Locality. 

 

The Grantee will tender the Grant to the Company for its use and benefit, provided the Company 

achieves certain goals relating to employment, salary and construction or location of taxable 

assets in the Locality.  The Company’s employment, salary and taxable asset obligations 

(“Performance Obligations”) are described in Sections 3 and 4 of this Agreement.  In order for 

the Grantee to fully earn the Grant, the Company shall meet the Performance Obligations within 

36 months of the Award Date. 

 

The Company will utilize the Grant to purchase hemp processing and related equipment 

including distillation equipment, isolation equipment, high-performance grow lights, mechanized 

drying equipment and refining equipment (the “Equipment”).  The Equipment shall consist of the 

following:  

 

Shimadzu HPLC   

Colorado Extraction 

System Spray Vap  

 

Biotage Flash Chromotography  

 

The Company will use the Equipment to increase hemp processing capacity and product lines, 

greenhouse production and harvesting efficiency which will result in new employment and 

taxable assets in the Locality. The Company shall purchase the Equipment and shall submit 

eligible reimbursable expense requests to the Grantee who shall then submit to the Commission 

for review and approval in accordance with the Agreement.  

  



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 14                                              

 

Exhibit B 

 

Project Budget 

 

 

 

The Budget Worksheet is available as a separate attachment. 

 

See Attached. 

  



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 15                                              

Exhibit C 

 

Grantee Certification 

The RUSSELL COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (the 

“Grantee”) hereby certifies that (a) it unconditionally guarantees the Company’s performance 

under and pursuant to the Performance Agreement (this “Agreement”) dated as of May 18, 2020, 

by and among the TOBACCO REGION REVITALIZATION COMMISSION, a body corporate 

and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commission”), the Grantee, 

and Clinch River Hemp Company, a Virginia limited liability company (the “Company”), and 

(b) it holds collateral security from the Company sufficient to provide a secondary source of 

repayment in the event that the Company cannot or will not repay the unearned portion of the 

Grant (as defined in the Agreement) to the Commission. Such collateral security is described as 

follows: 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________. 

The Grantee hereby acknowledges that the sufficiency of the collateral security for the 

Grant is the sole responsibility of the Grantee. 

 

GRANTEE 

By:________________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 

 

 

  



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 16                                              

Exhibit D 

Revenue Sharing Addendum 

 RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Locality”), a political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth, hereby guarantees to pay the TOBACCO REGION REVITALIZATION 

COMMISSION, a body corporate and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

(the “Commission”), an amount equal to 5% of annual net new taxes collected by the Grant 

described in the Grant Agreement (this “Agreement”) dated as of May 18, 2020, by and among 

the Grantee, the Commission, the Locality and Clinch River Hemp Company, a Virginia limited 

liability company (the “Company”).   The total amount of Local tax revenue provided to the 

Commission shall not exceed 105% of the Grant amount. 

“Local tax revenue” means the amount of taxes assessed by the Locality to the Company 

under Title 58.1, Subtitle III of the Code of Virginia, including, but not limited to, real property 

taxes, business and occupational license taxes, machinery and tools taxes, and tangible personal 

property taxes. 

“Generated by the Grant” means local taxes assessed on taxable property (personal and 

real) and activities built and/or generated by the Company in performance of its obligations in 

Section 4 of the Agreement. For new Companies, this shall be determined to be all applicable 

taxes generated by the Company.  For expansions of existing Companies, this shall be all 

additional taxes above the tax year prior to the base year of this grant. 

The amount of payment shall be calculated based on annual assessments (“the 

Assessment”) as issued to the Company by the Commissioner of the Revenue for Russell 

County.  Subsequent appeals or revised assessments shall be taken into consideration solely at 

the discretion of the Commission.  

The payment obligation of the Locality under this Addendum is contingent upon receipt 

of tax payments by the Company. 

The first payment is due and shall be made to the Commission within thirty (30) 

days of the due date found on the Company’s tax assessment after the agreements are 

signed.  Extensions to this date may be made at the sole discretion of the Commission.  

In the event of a repayment obligation pursuant to Section 7 of the Agreement, any 

payments by the Locality to the Commission under this Addendum shall be credited to the 

Grantee. 

 

 

 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission                     Page 17                                              

Exhibit D cont. 

 

The Company hereby expressly grants its consent for the Commissioner of the Revenue 

for Russell County to release to the Commission records of all local tax assessments made to the 

Company for all tax periods including and beginning after May 18, 2020. 

 

TOBACCO REGION REVITALIZATION 

COMMISSION 

By:_________________________________ 

        Evan Feinman, Executive Director 

Date:_______________________________ 

 

      GRANTEE 

By:_________________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 

 

COMPANY 

By:_________________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 

 

LOCALITY 

By:_________________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 



Emergency Ordinance to Allow for the Continuity of Government Operations During the 
Pandemic, including Altering the Process for Conducting Public Meetings; Restricting the 
Use of Public Buildings or Facilities; Providing Additional Powers to the Director of 
Emergency Management to Incur Costs, Waive Procedures, and Take Other Temporary 
Actions; and Suspending Deadlines and Procedures  
 

 WHEREAS, on January 31, 2020, the U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Services 
declared a public health emergency in response to the spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-
19); and 
 
 WHEREAS, on March 12, 2020, the Governor, in Executive Order Fifty-One, declared a 
state of emergency in the Commonwealth of Virginia, acknowledging the spread of COVID-19 as 
a disaster as defined in Virginia Code § 44-146.16; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Executive Order Fifty-One authorized local governments to render 
appropriate assistance and to alleviate conditions, as appropriate, to prepare for and mitigate the 
effects of the virus; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, the President of the United States found and declared the 
outbreak of COVID-19 to constitute a national emergency, beginning March 1, 2020; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on March 17 and 23, the Governor requested and then directed Virginians to 
avoid non-essential gatherings of more than 10 people; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Russell County Board of Supervisors held a special called meeting on 
March 17, 2020 Board determined that COVID-19 constituted a “disaster” as contemplated in 
section 15.2-1413 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended and pursuant to Virginia Code § 
44-146.21, declared a local state of emergency in Russell County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has determined that COVID-19 constitutes a 
communicable disease of public health threat which has caused a disaster as those terms are 
defined in Virginia Code § 44-146.16; and  
 
 WHEREAS, while the Board of Supervisors values transparency in government and 
public engagement, it also finds that emergency measures are necessary to mitigate the spread of 
COVID-19 and to protect the health, safety, and welfare of residents and employees, while still 
providing for government operations to continue during this state of emergency; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Virginia Code § 15.2-1413 provides that the Board of Supervisors, 
notwithstanding any contrary provision of law, may adopt an ordinance to assure the continuity of 
government operations during this disaster and for up to six months; and. 
 
 WHEREAS, Virginia Code § 44-146.21 further provides that a local director of 
emergency management or any member of a governing body in his absence may upon the 
declaration of a local emergency proceed without regard to time-consuming procedures and 
formalities prescribed by law, except for mandatory constitutional requirements; and  

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



 
 WHEREAS, Virginia Code § 15.2-1200 provides the county with authority to adopt 
necessary regulations to prevent the spread of contagious diseases among its residents; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors also has the inherent authority to vary the county’s 
policies, procedures, and practices to assure the continuity of government operations; and 
 

WHEREAS, government operations includes the work of the Board of Supervisors and 
other local public bodies, and the personnel who work for or on behalf of local public bodies; and 

 
WHEREAS, Virginia Code § 2.2-3708.2(A)(3) allows, under certain procedural 

requirements including public notice and access, that members of the Board of Superviosrs may 
convene solely by electronic mean “to address the emergency;” And 

 
WHEREAS, the open public meeting requirements of the Virginia Freedom of 

Information Act (“FOIA”) are limited only by a properly claimed exemption provided under that 
Act or “any other statute;” and 

 
WHEREAS, the Attorney General of Virginia issued an opinion dated March 20, 2020 

stating that localities have the authority during disasters to adopt ordinances to ensure the 
continuity of the government; and 

 
WHEREAS, this emergency ordinance in response to the disaster caused by the COVID-

19 pandemic promotes the public health, safety, and welfare, and its adoption is consistent with 
the law of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the Virginia Constitution and the United States 
Constitution. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that this uncodified ordinance is hereby 
enacted as follows: 
 
An Emergency Ordinance Allowing for the Continuity of Government Operations During 
the Pandemic 
 
Sec. 1.  Purpose; Effective Date; Expiration 
 
 This ordinance allows for variances from state laws and county ordinances in order to 
protect the health, safety, and welfare of residents and employees from the spread of COVID-19 
while still providing for government operations to continue during this state of emergency. 
 

The operation of government includes management of all county facilities, management of 
the school system, and the work of all local boards, including the Board of Supervisors, the Russell 
County School Board, the Russell County Industrial Development Authority, the Russell County 
Public Service Authority, the Russell County Department of Social Services, and any other local 
or regional board, commission, committee, or authority created by the board of supervisors or to 
which the board of supervisors appoints or recommends for appointment all or a portion of its 
members (collectively “Public Bodies” and individually “Public Body”), including employees 



who work for or on behalf of any Public Body.  Accordingly, the provisions of this emergency 
ordinance applies to all such “Public Bodies”. 
 

At this time, public health experts recommend against assembling groups of people in 
confined spaces. Accordingly, this ordinance contains modifications for public meetings which 
should be followed while it is deemed unwise or unsafe to gather in one location a quorum for any 
Public Bodies, or to invite members of the public to physically gather together for public meetings.   

 
 Moreover, the spread of COVID-19 may make it impossible or impractical for government 
operations to meet all normally imposed deadlines, regulations, and time frames, or to comport, in 
some instances, with lengthy procedures and processes such as procurement or employment 
processes.  
 
 This emergency ordinance is effective immediately and will remain in effect for 60 days 
unless amended, rescinded, or readopted in conformity with the notice provisions of Virginia Code 
§ 15.2-1427; however, in no event will the ordinance be effective for more than six months from 
the effective date of this ordinance. At the end of the six months, if a state of emergency still exists 
then this ordinance may be renewed the same way it was originally enacted. Upon repeal or 
expiration of this ordinance, normal government operations will resume.  
 
Sec. 2.  Public Meetings and Public Hearings 
 
A. Any regularly scheduled or regular meeting of any Public Body may be canceled by the 
chair if there is no essential business that needs to occur or if conditions otherwise make it 
impractical to meet. Notice of the cancellation must be provided to the Public Body members and 
the public as soon as practicable.   
 
B. In the alternative, any regularly scheduled or regular meeting of any Public Body may  
be held by solely electronic or telephonic means without a quorum of members physically present 
and without members of the public physically present, provided the following occurs: 
 
 1)  Any such electronic meeting of the Public Entities shall be open to electronic 
participation by the public and closed to in-person participation by the public. The meeting is 
accessible to the public through live audio or video on the County’s or Public Body’s website, a 
dial-in telephone number, or a social media platform. 
 
 2) The agenda and public notice for the meeting must: 

a) include a statement that the meeting is being held using electronic means under this 
ordinance; 

b) contain specific information about how members of the public can access the 
meeting; and  

c) if there are any public hearing or public comment items, specifically identify how 
members of the public can provide comment, including one or more of the 
following: by e-mail, in writing, by telephone, through a social media platform, or 
via other electronic means. 
 



 
 3) The agenda is posted on the County’s or Public Body’s website at least three days prior 
to the meeting.  Other materials associated with the meeting, if any, must be made available to the 
public at the same time they are provided to the Public Body members. 
 
 4) For public hearings and any items for which public comment is permitted, the following 
rules apply: 

a) Normal rules of order apply with respect to requiring the name and home address 
of the commenter, that comments relate to the hearing or comment topic, that 
appropriate limits on the number of comments per person per item apply, and that 
comments be of reasonable length. 

b) Public Bodies may allow public comments to be submitted via phone call, e-mail, 
or in writing, up until a reasonable time before the start of the meeting so long as 
those comments are provided to the Public Body members prior to any decision on 
an item.  

c) If available, members of the public may provide comments through leaving a 
voicemail on a dedicated phone number up until a reasonable time before the start 
of the meeting so long as those comments are then provided to the Public Body 
members prior to any decision on an item. 

d) If available, members of the public may provide comments through telephonic or 
interactive electronic means (call-in meeting access, social media platform) during 
the meeting so long as those comments are received by or provided to the Public 
Body members prior to any decision on an item. 

e) The Public Body may choose to receive additional comments through any means 
for a period of time after the public hearing or public meeting, so long as it 
announces and publicizes that opportunity and those comments are provided to the 
Public Body members prior to any decision on an item.  

f) All public comments must be made a part of the record of the Public Body either by 
being summarized in or included with the meeting minutes. 
 

 5) Any votes taken during the meeting must be taken by roll call, individually recording 
each member’s name and vote. 
 
 6) The minutes of any meeting under this ordinance must conform to the requirements of 
law, including identifying the forms of electronic communication used, the members participating 
and the means by which they participated, the opportunities for public access or participation, a 
summary of the public comments, if any, and the actions taken at the meeting. The Public Entities 
may approve minutes of an electronic meeting at a subsequent electronic meeting and shall later 
approve all such minutes at a regular or special meeting after the emergency and disaster has ended. 
 
C. Public Bodies may hold special meetings consistent with the provisions in (B) except that 
notice of the special meeting need only be provided at least three working days prior to the meeting, 
and the agenda and associated materials, if any, need to be made available to the public at the same 
time as they are made available to the Public Body members. 
 
 



 
D. Public Bodies may hold emergency meetings consistent with Virginia Code § 2.2-3708. 
 
E. Any item on an agenda for a regularly scheduled, regular, special, or emergency meeting 
held hereunder may be continued to a later date or time for the purpose of reviewing and 
considering comments from the public. 
 
F. Non-emergency public hearings and action items of Public Bodies may be postponed to a 
date certain provided that public notice is given so that the public are aware of how and when to 
present their views. 
 
G. Nothing in this Emergency Ordinance shall prohibit Public Bodies from holding in-
person public meetings provided that public health and safety measures as well as social 
distancing are taken into consideration. 
 
Sec. 3.  Public Buildings, Facilities, Real Property and Events 
 

The director of emergency management is empowered to restrict members of the public 
from entering or congregating around county-owned buildings, facilities, and real property as is 
reasonably necessary to ensure the health, safety, and welfare of the public or county staff. 
Moreover, the director of emergency management may cancel, postpone, or reschedule any events 
scheduled for any county-owned building, facility or property as necessary to ensure the health, 
safety, and welfare of the public or county staff.  

 
Sec. 4.  Additional powers of director of emergency management 
 
A. Funding and Contracts. To the extent of unobligated funds available in excess of 
appropriations in the approved budget, the director of emergency management may enter into 
contracts and incur obligations necessary to protect the health and safety of persons and property, 
and to provide emergency assistance to persons affected by this disaster. 

 
B. Procedures. The director of emergency management may proceed without regard to time-
consuming procedures and formalities prescribed by law (except mandatory constitutional 
requirements) pertaining to the performance of public work, entering into contracts, incurring 
obligations, employing workers, renting equipment, purchasing supplies and materials, and other 
expenditures of public funds. 

 
C. Other Temporary Actions. The director of emergency management may temporarily take 
any of the following actions: waive or reduce fees imposed by county ordinance; waive 
enforcement, in whole or in part, of any county ordinance; and modify, limit, waive, suspend, or 
amend any county program, service, function, process, or procedure. The director must apply the 
action uniformly for similar situations and not on a case-by-case basis. The director’s actions will 
only be effective until the next regular meeting of the board of supervisors. The board of 
supervisors may ratify and extend the time for which the director’s action remains in effect. 
 
 
 



 
Sec. 5.  Suspension of Deadlines, Time Frames, and Procedures 
 

County personnel are encouraged to take action as is practical and appropriate to meet 
deadlines or time frames established under state law or county ordinances, however, 
notwithstanding any provision of law, regulation, or policy to the contrary, any deadlines requiring 
action by the county, any Public Body, or county employees are suspended. Time frames for 
review or expedited reviews are also suspended. Failure to meet any deadline or time frame will 
not constitute a default, violation, approval, ratification, or recommendation. Any policies or 
procedures inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby suspended. 
 
Sec. 6 Adoption by Incorporated Towns within the Boundaries of Russell County 

 
Each incorporated town within the boundaries of Russell County are encouraged, 

authorized and/or directed to declare its own state of local emergency and disaster or incorporate 
by reference the County’s local state of emergency and disaster and to adopt an ordinance for the 
continuity of town government.  
 
Sec. 7 Validity and Duration of Ordinance and Resumption of Normal Governmental 
Authority 
 

The provisions herein are presumptively valid, however in the event that any provision of 
this ordinance is declared to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction all remaining 
provisions shall not be invalidated and remain in full force and effect. The provisions of this 
Emergency Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect for a period of 60 days, unless amended, 
rescinded or readopted by the Russell County Board of Supervisors in conformity with the notice 
provisions set forth in Virginia Code §15.2-1427 but in no event shall such ordinance be effective 
for more than 6 months after the conclusion of the disaster.  Upon rescission by the Russell 
County Board of Supervisors or automatic expiration as described herein, this emergency 
ordinance shall terminate and normal practices and procedures of government shall resume. 
  
2. This ordinance shall be effective upon adoption. 
 

ADOPTED by the Russell County Board of Supervisors. 

        APPROVED 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
        Rebecca Dye 
        Chairperson    
  
 
 
 
                    



ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Lonzo Lester 
County Administrator 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
M. Katherine Patton 
County Attorney 
 
 

 



 

 

RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 

 
CONCEPTUAL PHASE 

DESIGN-BUILD OF COURTHOUSE RENOVATION AND EXPANSION UNDER THE VIRGINIA 
PUBLIC PRIVATE EDUCATION FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE ACT (PPEA) 

 
 
Russell County, Virginia desires to contract with an experienced Private Entity under the Public 
Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act (PPEA) for design-build services for the renovation 
and expansion of the Russell County Courthouse. Issues with the existing courthouse facility that are 
to be addressed include space needs and security concerns, upgrades and/or replacement of existing 
building systems, inadequate restroom facilities, accessibility concerns, and adequate parking. 
 
RFP Documents will be issued on August 12, 2020. These documents are available on Russell 
County’s website at https://russellcountyva.us/. Direct inquires for information to: Curtis Elswick at 
curtis.elswick@skanska.com or 540-423-2860. All responses to this solicitation shall be in strict 
accordance with the requirements set forth in the Request for Proposal documents accessed through 
the Russell County website. A non-mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference to include a tour of the 
existing courthouse facility and site will be held at 1:30 p.m. local time, on August 27, 2020, at the 
Russell County Courthouse located at 53 East Main Street in Lebanon, Virginia. 
 
All requests for clarifications or questions regarding this request for proposal must be made in writing, 
by email to curtis.elswick@skanska.com and received by 5:00 p.m., local time, September 4, 2020. 
Any alteration or changes to this Request for Proposals will be made only by written addendum 
issued by the County. Sealed proposals will be accepted prior to 2:00 p.m. local time, September 
11, 2020. This is a private opening and only the names of firms responding will be available for 
announcement. Proposals received after the stated due date and time shall not be considered. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Lonzo Lester, County Administrator  

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



1 

 

 

RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 

For 

CONCEPTUAL PHASE 

DESIGN-BUILD OF COURTHOUSE RENOVATION AND EXPANSION 

UNDER THE VIRGINIA PUBLIC PRIVATE EDUCATION FACILITIES AND 

INFRASTRUCTURE ACT (PPEA)  

Date: August 12, 2020 

CLOSING DATE:  September 11, 2020 at 2:00 pm Local Time 

NON-MANDATORY PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE: August 27, 2020 at 1:30 pm at the Russell County 

Courthouse located at 53 East Main Street, Lebanon, Virginia. 

DEADLINE FOR QUESTIONS:   September 4, 2020 at 5:00 pm Local Time.  All questions should be 

submitted in writing by the deadline to the contact noted below. 

The Request for Proposals (RFP) can be downloaded “free of charge” at:    

https://russellcountyva.us/ 

NOTE:  ALL ADDENDA CAN BE ACCESSED AT THE WEBSITE ADDRESS ABOVE  

For inquiries contact:  

Curtis Elswick 

Sr. Vice President/Regional Executive 

Skanska USA Building Inc. 

540-423-2860 (Phone) 

curtis.elswick@skanska.com 

 

 

 

 

 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



2 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) UNDER PPEA FOR DESIGN-BUILD OF  

COURTHOUSE RENOVATION AND EXPANSION 

CONCEPTUAL PHASE 

 

Russell County, Virginia 

  

1.   INTRODUCTION/SUMMARY  

 

1.1. Background: 

 

Russell County, Virginia (herein described as ”Owner”  or ”County”) desires to contract with an 

experienced Private Entity under the Public Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act 

(herein referred to as “PPEA”) for design-build services for the Courthouse Renovation and 

Expansion project (herein referred to as “Project”).  The Project is described in this Request for 

Proposals document (herein referred to as ”RFP”).   

 

The current Russell County Courthouse is a two and three-story building of roughly 44,000 SF to 

include courthouse, jail, addition and miscellaneous space.  The size of the building needs to be 

verified.  The original section was a two-story building constructed in 1874. Later additions include a 

significant three-story jail addition to the northwest of the original section and a three-story 

addition to the east.  The Courts processes approximately 24,000 cases per year and see 

approximately 494 people per month on average with up to 863 cases on certain days which is a 

significant concern.  Increased case load has resulted in additional judges and court dates needed 

for Russell County.  In addition, the Courts are being encouraged to move away from combined 

courts. 

The County would like to renovate and expand the existing courthouse facility to address several 

issues including: 

 

• Space needs and security concerns as well as needed upgrades to the facility. 

• Restroom facilities outside combined courtroom are inadequate.  There is only one women’s 

toilet and one men’s toilet on the main floor of the courthouse. 

• Additional private hearing space is needed. 

• General District Court is held five days per week in one courtroom. 

• There are no dedicated witness waiting rooms.  Witness waiting areas are not secure and are 

shared with general waiting in the hallway outside of the courtrooms. 

• There is inadequate parking. 

• The alley adjacent to the courthouse is a security concern.  There is no secure parking, no sally 

port, so separate stairs or elevators for judges, etc.  There is no dedicated jury parking lot and no 

dedicated jury parking spaces.  Inmates/detainees from the regional jail are brought to the 

courthouse via a van which is parked outside the courthouse and then escorted across the alley 

into the building.  There is no secure circulation for prisoners. 

• Courtrooms are generally no accessible.  There are no designated handicap/wheelchair areas in 

the courtroom or jury box.  There are steps to the witness stands, judges’ benches, and court 

reporter stations.  The Circuit Courtroom does not meet accessibility standards.  There is 

inadequate space/furnishings, environmental controls, and technology provisions. In the 



3 

 

General District Court Courtroom, all parties utilize the same entrance except for access to the 

Judge’s Chambers and this courtroom does not meet accessibility standards.  As with the Circuit 

Courtroom, there are inadequate space/furnishings, environmental controls, and technology 

provisions. 

• Front doors of courthouse remain locked as there are ADA issues (no way for someone in a 

wheelchair to access the front door).  

• The jail (which is a part of the courthouse building) is empty and not being used. 

 

A facility condition assessment has not been completed nor has a geotechnical engineering study.  This 

information will be obtained and provided once a shortlist of firms has been determined to receive a 

request for Detailed Phase Proposals or a design-build team has been selected.  A HAZMAT survey 

report was completed in January 2019 and will be made available to the firm(s) selected to submit a 

Detailed Phase Proposal.   

 

1.2. The Project includes the design and renovation of the existing courthouse with potential 

expansion(s) and all associated abatement, demolition, sitework, utilities, and required parking.  At this 

time, it is anticipated that the existing courthouse will remain in operation during any renovations 

and/or additions. 

 

1.2.1. Programmatically, the facility will need to house the following: 

• Circuit Court and Support Space 

• Clerk of Courts 

• General District Court and Support Space 

• Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court and Support Space 

• Deputy Clerks (5) 

• Probation and Court Services to include Public Defender’s Office, Courthouse Security, 

and Probation Officer 

• Commonwealth Attorney 

• Sheriff’s Department 

• Holding Cells 

• MIS, Buildings & Grounds, Storage, and Common Areas 

• Vehicular sally port 

• Enclosed, secure parking for Judges. 

 

1.2.2. The proposed renovation and expansion will be on the existing Russell County Courthouse 

property generally located at 53 East Main Street, Lebanon, Virginia.  See Appendix C for site 

and property information.   

 

1.2.3. The jail which is part of the courthouse building is empty and will not be used in the 

future.  The scope and cost of demolition of the jail should be assumed by the Private Entity in 

their proposal. 

 

1.2.4. Adequate parking is currently a concern and the Project must consider adequate parking 

needed at peak times to include parking for staff and public and needs to be a design 

consideration. 



4 

 

 

1.2.5. Front doors of the courthouse remain locked due to accessibility issues.  The County 

would like to re-open these doors for use and be accessible for all. 

 

1.3. The County adopted a document entitled, "County of Russell: Public-Private Education Facilities and 

Infrastructure Act of 2002, As Amended”.  These guidelines were adopted by Russell County, Virginia on 

October 2019.   

 

1.4. The County adopted a Resolution on February 19, 2020 declaring the Courthouse Project 

Renovations as a qualifying project under the Public-Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 

2002 (herein referred to as “PPEA”) and Russell County now seeks to obtain competitive negotiable 

proposals for the Courthouse Renovation and Expansion required to meet the long-term facility and 

space needs of the court system.  The County determined that the PPEA may offer opportunities for 

innovative solutions to meet the needs of Russell County’s court system.    

 

1.5. The County will consider proposals that provide conceptual phase design, anticipated schedule for 

design and construction, and estimates of cost for the Courthouse Renovation and Expansion. 

 

1.6. Design of the proposed facility should meet the following minimum criteria:  

 

1.6.1 Conceptual phase design for a proposal which will meet the space needs of the Russell 

County court system. 

 

1.6.2 Comply with the Virginia Courthouse Facilities Guidelines, latest edition as of approval of 

Design Development or otherwise agreed upon between the County and Private Entity.  Current 

Edition is Revision February 2015.  A copy of the current Virginia Courthouse Facility Guidelines 

is included as Appendix B.   

 

1.6.3 Be designed to provide necessary security and protection, lighting, acoustics, electrical, 

mechanical, fire protection, structural, data/telecommunications, and audio-video systems in 

accordance with nationally recognized court design standards and the Virginia Uniform 

Statewide Building Code.  

 

1.7. Courthouse operations currently housed within the existing courthouse facility will remain in 

operation during construction activity. 

 

1.8. The procurement, delivery and installation of all loose furnishings, fixtures and equipment (FF&E) 

will be managed by the County.  The Private Entity should include all fixed casework, fixed shelving, 

security equipment, and fixed courtroom seating in their scope of work. 

 

1.9. Public-Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 for the County are being followed 

for this PPEA selection, which provide for a two part proposal submission process consisting of an initial 

Conceptual Phase Request for Proposals (RFP) and subsequent Detailed Stage Proposals.    

 



5 

 

1.10. The objective of this RFP is to select a shortlist of highly qualified Private Entities deemed most 

suitable for this particular project. The short list of proposers will be requested to submit and participate 

in the Detailed Stage of the proposal. The County may, at any time, require the proposer to provide 

additional information, additional copies of prior submissions, and/or clarification to any submission.  

Since this is a solicited proposal, there is no proposal review fee required from the Private Entity.  

 

1.11. A stipend may be paid to those Proposers selected to participate in the Detailed Stage and who 

submit satisfactory proposals. The amount of the stipend, if any, will be determined at a later date. 

 

1.12. The County intends to enter into an Interim Agreement and follow-on Comprehensive Agreement 

with the successful Proposer that will have specific contract provisions that may include, but not limited 

to: an initial Contract Cost Limit for all design and construction costs including site improvements and 

building costs; design fees; lump sum fees; Guaranteed Maximum Price at or near 65% design or 

possibly at or near 100% design; open book contracting; design review process; allowances and unit 

price items; reimbursable costs; contingencies; and may include liquidated damages.  

 

1.13. Project Schedule - These dates are preliminary and are subject to change:  

 

1.13.1 RFP Issuance Date: August 12, 2020 

 

1.13.2 Pre-Proposal Meeting: August 27, 2020 at 1:30 pm Local Time 

 

1.13.3 Last Day for Questions on RFP: September 4, 2020 by 5:00 pm Local Time 

 

1.13.4 Conceptual Phase Proposals Due:  September 11, 2020 by 2:00 pm Local Time 

 

1.13.5 Announce Shortlist of Successful Concept Phase Proposals: September 2020 

 

1.13.6 Issue Request for Detailed Stage Proposals: October 2020 

 

1.13.7 Detailed Stage Proposals due: November/December 2020 

 

1.13.8 Interviews with Firms Presenting Detailed Proposals: December 2020 

 

1.13.8 Enter into negotiations with the Successful Detailed Phase Proposer: December 2020 

 

1.14. Additional information may be made available to firms selected to provide Detailed Stage 

Proposals to include, but may not be limited to: 

 

• As-built drawings of existing courthouse 

• HAZMAT survey report(s) 

• Fire flow test data 

• Geotechnical report 

 



6 

 

2.   CONTACTS  

 

2.1 Contact shall be with Curtis Elswick, Sr. Vice President/Regional Executive, Skanska USA Building Inc. 

(curtis.elswick@skanska.com or 540-423-2860).  No contact shall be made with County administrative 

staff, judges, court staff or sheriff office staff without the prior approval of Russell County. Any contact 

with County representatives other than the contact listed above may serve as grounds for rejection of 

proposals. 

 

2.2. Issuing Office:  

Lonzo Lester, County Administrator 

Russell County, Virginia 

137 Highland Drive  

Lebanon, VA 24266 

Office: (276) 889-8000 

 

3.   GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

3.1. A Pre-Proposal Meeting shall be held at the Russell County Courthouse located at 53 East Main 

Street, Lebanon, Virginia on August 27, 2020 at 1:30 pm.  This meeting is not mandatory but highly 

recommended.  Those interested in participating in the Pre-Proposal Meeting should meet at the main 

lobby of the courthouse prior to the start time noted above.  The purpose is to review the administrative 

requirements of the RFP, steps for completing the Design-Build proposal, review the site and to receive 

any questions concerning the RFP process.  

 

3.2. The County will announce by letter the shortlist of the selected Proposers that will be asked to 

respond to the Request for Detailed Stage Proposals for the Project.  

 

3.3. This document, and all referenced documents included on Russell County’s website constitute the 

entire Request for Proposal package.  The RFP Documents are only for the purpose of obtaining 

Qualification Proposals for the Work and do not confer a license or grant to Proposers for any other use.   

 

3.4. On request, the County will provide each Proposer access to the Site to conduct such examinations 

and investigations as each Proposer deems necessary for submission of a Proposal.    

 

3.5. All questions shall be in written form by email to Curtis Elswick at curtis.elswick@skanska.com.  

 

3.6. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Owner in response to such questions will 

be issued by Addenda and posted on Russell County’s website.  Proposers are solely responsible for 

checking this website regularly for all Addenda.    

 

3.7. Questions received after the posted deadline may not be answered.  Only questions answered by 

formal written Addenda will be binding.  Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will not be 

binding.  

 



7 

 

3.8. Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Proposal Documents as deemed necessary.  

 

4.   SUBMITTAL INFORMATION - MANDATORY CRITERIA 

 

An unsatisfactory response to any item in the category titled “Mandatory Criteria” may be considered 

sufficient cause to disqualify an applicant from further consideration for short-listing for this Project. 

Responses to the RFP shall be complete for criteria requested by the County as it relates to the project. 

Additional information, examples of work, data shall be issued in a separate binder or identified by Index 

Tab as supplemental information. 

 

4.1. Responsiveness to RFP – Only responsive applications will be considered and evaluated.  A 

responsive application must be completed according to the instructions, and include all required 

attachments and requested information. 

 

4.2 Debarment Status – By submitting an application, the Proposer certifies that neither it nor any 

affiliated entity is currently debarred from submitting bids or has otherwise agreed not to submit bids 

on contracts with any government or business entity.  If the Proposer experiences a material change in 

its debarment status after the application is submitted and prior to the award of the contract for the 

project, the Proposer shall notify the County of the change in writing at the time the change occurs or as 

soon thereafter as is reasonably practicable.  If at any time during the evaluation process the Proposer is 

issued a debarment judgment then this will be considered grounds for automatic disqualification.  

 

4.3 License – The Proposer must provide copies of their firm’s Commonwealth of Virginia Contractor’s 

and Architect’s Licenses with the RFP response.  

 

4.4 Bonding Capacity/Statement – Proposers must provide a signed statement from their Surety stating 

that, based on present circumstances, the Surety will provide, at a minimum, a $12 million (or value of 

the proposal, whichever is more) performance and payment bond for the Proposer in connection with 

the Project.  

 

4.5. Conflict of Interest - Identify any persons known to the applicant who would be obligated to 

disqualify themselves from participation in any transaction arising from or in connection to the project 

pursuant to Virginia State and Local Government Conflict of Interest Act (Va. Code §§ 2.2-3100 et seq.).  

 

5.   EVALUATION FACTORS  

 

In considering a Proposer for short listing, the County will be the sole judge of the Proposer’s 

qualifications and experience, including experience with similar projects, experience with PPEA projects, 

demonstration of ability to perform work; leadership structure; project manager’s experience, project 

team and experience working together, management approach, financial condition, project 

understanding and project schedule.  The Project understanding shall include the County’s desired level 

of construction quality, building site improvements, County administration and court operation 

procedures, traffic and pedestrian flow, and general design intent as deemed appropriate for the 

County.   Evaluation factors are listed in no order of preference:  



8 

 

 

5.1. Qualifications and Experience  

 

5.1.1. Experience with similar projects/ability/PPEA methods to perform work – During the 

evaluation of experience and ability to perform the work, emphasis will be placed on a 

Proposer’s performance on recent projects of a similar size and nature to the Project, including 

Proposer’s ability to manage costs within an established construction budget and to develop a 

comprehensive agreement.  Other factors include, but not limited to, delivery of a quality 

product, and meet scheduled completion dates.  Preference will be given to firms with the 

following experience:    

 

1. Construction Experience including the following:  

 

A. Successful completion (on time, within budget, and per client’s 

specifications) of at least two (2) building construction projects of $10 

million or more in the last five (5) years by the general contractor similar in 

scope to the Project in this RFP.  Acceptable delivery methods include 

Design-Bid-Build, Design-Build and CM at Risk. 

 

2. Design Experience including the following:  

 

B. Courthouse Experience - Successful completion (on time, within budget, and 

per client’s specifications) of at least one Courthouse design by the 

designated Design Project Manager and Project Architect.  

 

5.1.2. Resources.  Provide details explaining how the firm or firms involved have current 

resources available to perform this Project.    

 

5.1.3. Leadership structure/key personnel experience – Provide resumes demonstrating that 

the qualifications of the persons proposed for the following positions have relevant experience 

on projects of similar size and scope.  Proposer must dedicate all key personnel to the project 

and may not make changes without written approval from the County. No substitutions of the 

key personnel represented below will be accepted without prior approval by the County.  

Request for approval to substitute may be submitted by the Proposer only for reasons beyond 

the Proposer’s control.   

 

1. Key Personnel include the following:  

 

A. Design/Build Project Manager – Experience on design/build projects of similar 

scope is required.  

 

B. Design Project Manager and Project Architect - Experience with Courthouse 

facilities is required.  

 



9 

 

C. Construction Project Manager, if different than Design/Build Project Manager 

– Experience with projects of similar scope is preferred.  

 

D. Construction Superintendent – Experience with projects of similar scope is 

preferred.  

 

2. Other Team Members include the following:  

 

A. Civil Engineer - Experience working on projects within Russell County or with 

municipalities within Southwest Virginia is preferred.  

 

B. Mechanical, Plumbing, Fire Protection and Electrical Engineer(s) – Experience 

with Courthouse or similar facilities is preferred.   

 

C. Security Consultant – Experience with Courthouse facilities is required.  

 

D. Audio/Visual Consultant – Experience with Courthouse facilities is required. 

 

5.1.4. Management Approach.  Provide a narrative explaining your approach to successfully 

manage the design and construction of the Project.  Include a description and examples of how 

you will manage cost, quality and schedule.  Schedule shall begin at “Notice to Proceed” and end 

with “Owner Occupancy” and assume an Interim Agreement will be executed. 

 

5.1.5. References – The County reserves the right to contact any reference listed or non-listed 

party it deems appropriate. By submitting a response to this Request for Proposals, the Proposer 

releases the County and any references from all liability concerning this exchange of 

information.  

 

1. Include a minimum of 5 references. Preference is given to references that are 

of civic architecture and courthouse construction projects. 

 

5.1.6. Financial Condition – Financial data will be reviewed and compared to industry standards.  

Include on AIA Document A305. 

 

5.1.7. Safety Performance – Safety data will be reviewed and compared to industry standards. 

Safety Performance (Contractor) – Please provide the following information on a separate sheet 

of paper:  

 

1. Experience Modification Factor (EMF) for past five years.  

2. A list of OSHA citations levied during the past three years.  Describe the 

infractions and indicate whether there was a warning or fine imposed and the 

dollar amount of each.  

3. Details from your organization’s OSHA 300 “Log of Work-Related Injuries and 

Illnesses” indicating:  



10 

 

 

• Number of lost workday cases  

• Number of restricted workday cases  

• Number of cases with medical attention only  

• Number of fatalities 

 

5.1.8. Claims/Final Resolution/Judgments – Evaluation of this data will be based on the number 

of affirmative answers to the questions and the details provided in the explanation for each 

occurrence. Include on AIA Document A305. 

 

5.1.9. Failure to Complete – Evaluation of the Proposer’s failure to complete projects will be 

based primarily on the number of failure-to-complete occurrences and the explanations for the 

failure-to-complete occurrences. Include on AIA Document A305. 

 

5.1.10. Other Relevant Criteria – Under separate Index Tab on binder include any relevant 

information, deemed to be in the best interest of the proposer and for benefit of the County but 

is not identified as mandatory to the Conceptual Phase proposal.   

 

1. Proposer is encouraged (not mandatory) to present design schemes/options 

for consideration. Design with emphasis on court and government 

administration operations, use of site, parking, and cost benefit that may show 

the proposers understanding and creativity of the project. 

2. Proposer is encouraged (not mandatory) to offer any creative methods for 

construction means and methods that may reduce the time for construction, 

phasing considerations, and/or minimize disruptions acknowledging the 

courthouse will remain in operation during construction. 

 

6.  PROCESS AND CRITERIA FOR REVIEW OF PROPOSALS AND SELECTION: 

 

Only proposals complying with the requirements of the PPEA that contain sufficient information for a 

meaningful evaluation, and that are provided in an appropriate format, as described in this solicitation, 

will be considered for further review at the Detailed Stage proposal. 

 

6.1 Review Committee - The County will establish a selection Committee to review proposals received 

under this solicitation. 

 

6.2 Criteria for Selection - The following items will be considered in the evaluation and selection of the 

Conceptual Phase proposals.  The County however reserves and retains the right to reject any request or 

proposal at any time for any reason whatsoever. 

 

6.2.1 Qualifications and Experience: Conceptual Phase proposal factors to be 

considered in the County’s review to determine whether the proposer possessed 

the requisite qualifications and experience may include but shall not be limited to: 

 



11 

 

a. Experience with similar projects; 

 

b. Demonstration of ability to perform work; 

 

c. Leadership structure; 

 

d. Project manager’s experience; 

 

e. Management approach; 

 

f. Financial condition; and 

 

g. Project ownership. 

 

6.2.2 Project Characteristics: Design Phase proposal factors to be considered in 

determining the project characteristics may include but shall not be limited to: 

 

a. Project definition; 

 

b. Proposed project schedule; 

 

c. Operation of the project; 

 

d. Technology, technical feasibility; 

 

e. Conformity to laws, regulations, and standards; 

 

f. Environmental impacts; 

 

g. State and local permits; 

 

h. Maintenance of the project. 

 

6.2.3 Project Costs: Design Phase proposal factors to be considered in determining 

whether the proposed project costs are adequate for funding available may include 

but shall not be limited to: 

 

Estimated costs for design fees, all anticipated site construction to include site 

utilities, site improvements, landscaping and parking; all building and/or renovation 

construction costs; and fixed furnishings and equipment. 

 

7.   SUBMITTAL OF PROPOSALS  

 



12 

 

7.1. Six (6) copies of the Proposal, and an electronic copy on USB drive, shall be submitted to 

the County on or before the due date and time listed in order to be considered.  Late proposals 

will not be accepted.  Proposals shall be clearly idenPfied with ― Request for Proposals for the 

Russell County Courthouse Renovation and Expansion.  

 

7.2. Proposals shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope or box, marked with the Project 

title and name and address of Proposer and accompanied by all required documents.  If the 

Proposal is sent through the mail or other delivery system the sealed envelope or box shall be 

enclosed in a separate envelope or box with the notaPon ― PROPOSAL ENCLOSED on the face 

of it.    

 

7.3. All Proposers should be available to give a presentation to the County with Key Staff present 

if required.  

 

8.   MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL  

 

A proposal may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same 

manner that a Proposal must be executed and shall be delivered to the County prior to the date and 

time for the opening of the Proposals.  

 

9.   OPENING OF PROPOSALS  

 

The County will establish a selection Committee to review proposals received under this solicitation.  

Proposals will be opened privately.  

 

10.   OWNER’S RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES  

 

As set forth in the County’s PPEA Guidelines, the County reserves all rights available to it by law in 

administering these Guidelines including, without limitation, the right in its sole discretion to:  

 

10.1. Reject any and all proposals at any time;  

 

10.2. Terminate consideration or evaluation of any and all proposals at any time;  

 

10.3. Suspend, discontinue and/or terminate discussions regarding confidentiality agreements, 

interim agreements and comprehensive agreements at any time prior to the authorized 

execution of such agreements by all parties;  

 

10.4. Suspend or eliminate conceptual phase review and proceed directly to detailed phase 

review;  

 

10.5. Negotiate with a proposer without being bound by any provision in its proposal;  

 

10.6. Negotiate with fewer than all proposers at any given time;  



13 

 

 

10.7. Request and/or receive additional information regarding any proposal;  

 

10.8. Issue addenda to and/or cancel RFP;  

 

10.9. Revise, supplement or withdraw all or any part of these Guidelines;  

 

10.10. Request revisions to conceptual or detailed phase proposals.    

 

10.11. A Proposer who submits a proposal agrees to hold the County, its officers, employees, 

agents and volunteers harmless and free from all liability, loss, injury, and/or cost and expense 

which might be incurred by such Proposer in responding to, or as a consequence of the RFP, and 

agrees to waive any and all claims for damages arising in connection with the procurement 

process contemplated by the RFP.  

 

11.   PROPOSAL CONTENT  

 

11.1 Proposal documents are generally subject to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act 

(FOIA) except for specific exemptions of certain documents from public disclosure.  Clearly mark 

any information that is considered confidential and proprietary.    

 

11.2   The Proposals submitted shall be structured in an orderly manner addressing all requested 

information and requirements.  Contents for Information shall be satisfactory for posting and 

publication, unless expressly waived by the County.  

 

12.   INFORMATION TO BE PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL:  

 

Conceptual Proposals should follow the format specified in Section IV of Appendix A - Public-Private 

Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 Russell County Board of Supervisor Guidelines but 

include, at a minimum: 

 

A. Mandatory Criteria (see Section 4 of RFP). 

 

B. Qualifications and Experience Forms (AIA Document A305 and B305). 

 

C. Past project information supplied by General Contractor. 

 

D. Past project information supplied by Architect/Engineer/Consultants. 

 

E. Other relevant information as required by Section 2.09 of Appendix A - Public-Private Education 

Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 Russell County Board of Supervisor Guidelines and 

Section 5 and 6 of this RFP. 

E.   Other relevant materials as desired by Proposer but not mandatory by RFP (Separate Tab). 



14 

 

  

13.   APPENDIX 

 

A. Public-Private Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 Russell County Board of 

Supervisor Guidelines 

B. Virginia Courthouse Facility Guidelines, Rev. 2/15 

C. General Site Information 

D. Sample Qualifications and Experience Forms (AIA Document A305 and B305). 

 

END OF DOCUMENT 

  

  



curtis.elswick
Text Box
APPENDIX A - RUSSELL COUNTY PPEA GUIDELINES





























































 

VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE 
FACILITY GUIDELINES 

The 2015 edition was made possible with the support of Grant No. 
SJI-13-T-204 from the State Justice Institute (SJI). 

 
 
 

 

Prepared by: Don Hardenbergh 
Court works 

Williamsburg, Virginia 
 

For Office of the Executive Secretary 
Supreme Court of Virginia 

Richmond, Virginia 
 

 

curtis.elswick
Text Box
APPENDIX B - VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE i   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

INTRODUCTION.................................................................................................. Introduction-1 

CHAPTER 1 - VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION ........................................................ 1-1 

I. SUPREME COURT .................................................................................................... 1-1 

II. COURT OF APPEALS ............................................................................................... 1-2 

III. CIRCUIT COURTS .................................................................................................... 1-2 

IV. DISTRICT COURTS .................................................................................................. 1-3 

V. MAGISTRATES ......................................................................................................... 1-4 

CHAPTER 2 - COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION ............ 2-1 

I. GETTING STARTED ................................................................................................ 2-1 

A. Planning Oversight Committee ............................................................................ 2-2 
B. Planning Consultant and Architect ...................................................................... 2-3 
C. Preliminary Budget .............................................................................................. 2-3 
D. Factors Affecting Construction Cost ................................................................... 2-3 
E. Public Support ...................................................................................................... 2-4 

II. SHOULD WE RENOVATE? ..................................................................................... 2-4 

A. Restoration ........................................................................................................... 2-5 
B. Rehabilitation ....................................................................................................... 2-5 
C. Remodeling .......................................................................................................... 2-5 
D. Conservation ........................................................................................................ 2-6 
E. Problems Usually Encountered During Renovation ............................................ 2-7 
F. Can Another Type Facility Be Used for Courts? ................................................. 2-7 
G. Project Phasing..................................................................................................... 2-8 

III. PRE-DESIGN PLANNING ........................................................................................ 2-9 

A. Needs Assessment ................................................................................................ 2-9 
B. Master Planning and Determination of Alternative Solutions ........................... 2-10 
C. Preparation of the Architectural Program .......................................................... 2-10 

IV. DESIGN .................................................................................................................... 2-14 

A. Schematic Design............................................................................................... 2-14 
B. Design Development .......................................................................................... 2-14 
C. Construction Documents .................................................................................... 2-15 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE ii   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

V. CONSTRUCTION BIDS AND CONSTRUCTION ................................................ 2-16 

VI. PROJECT DELIVERY METHODS ........................................................................ 2-16 

CHAPTER 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES                              
AND FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS .............................................. 3-1 

I. LOCAL GOVERNMENT RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING               
COURTHOUSE .......................................................................................................... 3-1 

II. FINANCING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ............................................................ 3-1 

A. Public Financing .................................................................................................. 3-2 
B. Private Financing ................................................................................................. 3-3 

CHAPTER 4 - COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS ........................................................ 4-1 

I. GENERAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES ........................................................................... 4-1 

A. Building Image..................................................................................................... 4-1 
B. Green Building Design ........................................................................................ 4-2 
C. Controlled Circulation ......................................................................................... 4-2 
D. Public Circulation ................................................................................................ 4-3 
E. Private Circulation ............................................................................................... 4-4 
F. Secure Circulation ................................................................................................ 4-5 
G. Secondary Circulation .......................................................................................... 4-6 
H. Horizontal and Vertical Circulation ..................................................................... 4-7 

II. LOCATION AND ORGANIZATION OF COURTHOUSE                  
COMPONENTS .......................................................................................................... 4-8 

III. EXPANSION, ADAPTABILITY AND FLEXIBILITY ............................................ 4-9 

A. Physical Expansion .............................................................................................. 4-9 
B. Adaptability and Flexibility ................................................................................. 4-9 

CHAPTER 5 - SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE ................................... 5-1 

I. COURTROOMS ......................................................................................................... 5-1 

II. COURTHOUSE OCCUPANTS ................................................................................. 5-1 

III. PERSONNEL .............................................................................................................. 5-2 

IV. BARRIER FREE ACCESS ........................................................................................ 5-2 

V. SPACE STANDARDS AND GROSSING FACTORS .............................................. 5-2 

A. Net Square Feet (NSF) ......................................................................................... 5-4 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE iii   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

B. Component Gross Square Feet (CGDF) .............................................................. 5-4 
C. Building Gross Square Feet (BGSF).................................................................... 5-5 
D. Net to Gross Ratios/Efficiency Factors ................................................................ 5-5 
E. Ratio of Total Building Area to Total Number of Courtrooms ........................... 5-5 

CHAPTER 6 - GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS ............................................................ 6-1 

I. SITE PLANNING AND ACQUISITION .................................................................. 6-1 

A. Location ............................................................................................................... 6-2 
B. Public and Pedestrian Access ............................................................................... 6-3 
C. Parking ................................................................................................................. 6-3 

II. ACCOMMODATING THE PUBLIC ........................................................................ 6-4 

A. Waiting Areas ...................................................................................................... 6-4 
B. Food Service ........................................................................................................ 6-5 
C. Public Information and Signage ........................................................................... 6-5 

III. PLANNING FOR EXTENDED HOURS ACCESS................................................... 6-7 

IV. PLANNING FOR ACOUSTICS ................................................................................ 6-7 

V. PLANNING FOR LIGHTING ................................................................................... 6-8 

VI. BUILDING CODES ................................................................................................... 6-8 

VII. PLANNING FOR ERGONOMIC DESIGN ............................................................... 6-9 

A. Workstation Seating ............................................................................................. 6-9 
B. Posture and Location of VDT ............................................................................ 6-10 

CHAPTER 7 - PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY ............................................................... 7-1 

I. RESPONDING TO CHANGING TECHNOLOGY .................................................. 7-1 

A. Automated Case Management ............................................................................. 7-2 
B. Videoconferencing ............................................................................................... 7-3 
C. Evidence Presentation .......................................................................................... 7-3 
D. Electronic Access ................................................................................................. 7-4 
E. Imaging and Workflow ........................................................................................ 7-5 

II. GENERAL DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS FOR TECHNOLOGY .......................... 7-5 

A. Future Implementation of Technology ................................................................ 7-6 
B. Floor Systems....................................................................................................... 7-7 
C. Workstations ........................................................................................................ 7-7 
D. Video Conferencing ............................................................................................. 7-7 
E. Video Cameras in the Courtrooms ....................................................................... 7-7 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE iv   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

F. Sound Reinforcement Systems ............................................................................ 7-8 
G. Assistive Listening Systems ................................................................................ 7-8 
H. Public Address System ........................................................................................ 7-9 
I. Acoustics .............................................................................................................. 7-9 
J. Lighting ................................................................................................................ 7-9 

III. ELECTRICAL POWER AND ELECTRICAL CLOSETS ...................................... 7-10 

A. Emergency and Standby Power Systems ........................................................... 7-10 
B. Uninterruptible Power System (UPS) ................................................................ 7-10 

IV. TELECOMMUNICATIONS .................................................................................... 7-10 

V. BUILDING BACKBONE ........................................................................................ 7-11 

VI. SERVICE ENTRY ROOM ....................................................................................... 7-11 

VII. MAIN DATA ROOMS (MDR) ................................................................................ 7-12 

VIII. INDIVIDUAL DATA ROOM (IDR) ....................................................................... 7-13 

IX. DEDICATED AV CABINETS/CLOSETS .............................................................. 7-14 

X. LOBBY TECHNOLOGIES ...................................................................................... 7-14 

CHAPTER 8 - PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY ........................................................ 8-1 

I. SITE AND PERIMETER ........................................................................................... 8-2 

II. WINDOWS AND GLAZING .................................................................................... 8-3 

III. PUBLIC PARKING .................................................................................................... 8-4 

IV. SECURE PARKING ................................................................................................... 8-4 

V. ENTRANCES AND LOBBY ..................................................................................... 8-4 

A. Entrance Screening Station .................................................................................. 8-4 
B. Staff Entrances ..................................................................................................... 8-5 
C. Service Entrance .................................................................................................. 8-5 

VI. ALARMS AND CONTROL SYSTEMS ................................................................... 8-6 

A. Duress Alarms ...................................................................................................... 8-6 
B. Intrusion Alarms .................................................................................................. 8-7 
C. Access Controls ................................................................................................... 8-8 
D. Environmental Controls ....................................................................................... 8-8 

VII. VIDEO SURVEILLANCE ......................................................................................... 8-8 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE v   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

VIII. PUBLIC ADDRESS ................................................................................................... 8-9 

IX. CENTRAL SECURITY CONTROL OFFICE ........................................................... 8-9 

X. VEHICULAR SALLY PORT .................................................................................. 8-10 

XI. CENTRAL PRISONER HOLDING ......................................................................... 8-10 

XII. COURT FLOOR HOLDING AREAS ...................................................................... 8-11 

CHAPTER 9 - PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA ......................................... 9-1 

I. BACKGROUND ........................................................................................................ 9-1 

II. FOR MORE INFORMATION ................................................................................... 9-1 

III. COURTROOMS ......................................................................................................... 9-2 

A. Recommendations for Best Practice .................................................................... 9-3 
B. Public Seating / Gallery ....................................................................................... 9-4 
C. Jury Boxes and Witness Stands ........................................................................... 9-4 
D. Judges' Benches and Courtroom Workstations .................................................... 9-4 
E. Court Reporter Station ......................................................................................... 9-5 
F. Attorney Tables .................................................................................................... 9-5 

IV. JURY ASSEMBLY AREAS ...................................................................................... 9-5 

V. JURY DELIBERATION AREAS .............................................................................. 9-5 

A. Assistive Listening Systems ................................................................................ 9-5 
B. Courthouse Holding Facilities ............................................................................. 9-5 
C. Other Courthouse Areas ....................................................................................... 9-6 

CHAPTER 10 - COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS.............................................................. 10-1 

I. COURTROOMS ....................................................................................................... 10-1 

II. GENERAL DESIGN CRITERIA ............................................................................. 10-1 

A. Size and Shape ................................................................................................... 10-1 
B. Location of Bench .............................................................................................. 10-2 
C. Number and Size of Courtrooms ....................................................................... 10-2 
D. Environmental Controls ..................................................................................... 10-4 
E. Acoustics ............................................................................................................ 10-4 
F. Technology ........................................................................................................ 10-4 
G. Video Conferencing ........................................................................................... 10-5 
H. Sound Reinforcement and Audio Recording Systems ....................................... 10-6 
I. Computer workstations and monitors ................................................................ 10-7 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE vi   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

III. CIRCUIT COURTROOMS ...................................................................................... 10-7 

A. Courtroom Entrances ......................................................................................... 10-7 
B. Judge’s Bench .................................................................................................... 10-7 
C. Clerk’s Station ................................................................................................... 10-9 
D. Witness Stand................................................................................................... 10-11 
E. Jury Box ........................................................................................................... 10-12 
F. Counsel Tables ................................................................................................. 10-13 
G. Lectern ............................................................................................................. 10-13 
H. Display Area .................................................................................................... 10-14 
I. Bailiff Station ................................................................................................... 10-14 
J. Court Reporter Station ..................................................................................... 10-14 
K. Defendant’s Station .......................................................................................... 10-16 
L. Public Gallery and Spectator Seating .............................................................. 10-16 

IV. GENERAL AND JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS                   
DISTRICT COURTROOMS .................................................................................. 10-17 

A. Hearing Rooms ................................................................................................ 10-18 
B. Conference Rooms ........................................................................................... 10-19 
C. Witness Waiting Room .................................................................................... 10-19 
D. Attorney-Client Conference Room .................................................................. 10-20 

V. JURY OPERATIONS ............................................................................................. 10-21 

A. Jury Deliberation Room ................................................................................... 10-21 
B. Jury Assembly .................................................................................................. 10-22 
C. Grand Jury Room ............................................................................................. 10-24 

VI. JUDICIAL CHAMBERS ........................................................................................ 10-24 

VII. COURT REPORTER’S OFFICE ........................................................................... 10-27 

VIII. CLERK OF COURT ............................................................................................... 10-28 

A. Public Counters ................................................................................................ 10-30 
B. Signage ............................................................................................................. 10-32 
C. Staff Work Spaces ............................................................................................ 10-32 
D. Records Storage ............................................................................................... 10-33 
E. Exhibit Storage................................................................................................. 10-34 
F. Office Support Spaces...................................................................................... 10-35 
G. Technology Considerations ............................................................................. 10-35 

IX. COMMONWEALTH ATTORNEY ....................................................................... 10-36 

 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
TABLE OF CONTENTS  PAGE vii   

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

X. PRISONER HOLDING AND TRANSPORTATION ............................................ 10-39 

A. Vehicular Sally Port ......................................................................................... 10-39 
B. Central Prisoner Holding ................................................................................. 10-40 
C. Court Floor Holding Areas .............................................................................. 10-42 
D. Juvenile Holding Facility ................................................................................. 10-42 

XI. MAGISTRATES ..................................................................................................... 10-43 

XII. SPECIAL SERVICES AND RELATED JUSTICE AGENCIES .......................... 10-46 

A. Probation and Court Services ........................................................................... 10-46 
B. Attorney Lounge .............................................................................................. 10-46 
C. Law Library ..................................................................................................... 10-47 
D. Victim Witness ................................................................................................. 10-48 
E. Interpreters and Services for Limited English Proficiency .............................. 10-49 
F. Pro Se Litigants/Self – represented Litigants ................................................... 10-51 
G. Press and News Media Accommodations ........................................................ 10-51 
H. Police Waiting/ Workroom .............................................................................. 10-52 

XIII. PUBLIC SERVICES ............................................................................................... 10-52 

A. Lobby ............................................................................................................... 10-52 
B. Central Security Control Office in Lobby ....................................................... 10-53 
C. Food Service .................................................................................................... 10-53 
D. Building Support Services ............................................................................... 10-53 

XIV. PROGRAM PARKING - JUDGES, ELECTED OFFICIALS ............................... 10-54 

GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING AND DESIGN TERMS ............... Glossary-1 

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR COURT                     
FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN .............................................................. Bibliography-1 

 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
INTRODUCTION PAGE Introduction-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Virginia’s stock of courthouses is enormously varied and still contains many buildings 
constructed in the early 20th and even during the 19th Century. While many, if not all, of 
Virginia’s more populated cities and counties have replaced their aging courthouses (Norfolk, 
Virginia Beach, Arlington, Fairfax) many of the Commonwealth’s rural jurisdictions still occupy 
aging facilities that are overcrowded and lack the essential features of a modern, efficient court 
building. These include features such the separation of public, private/staff, and prisoner 
circulation; building entry screening; and the ability to use modern information management and 
communications technologies. 
 
These Guidelines were originally developed and published in 1987 and revised slightly in 1999. 
They sought to provide some unifying guidance to judges, public officials, and architects to the 
planning and design of court facilities for Virginia. Some of the comments made at the time of 
the original publication are still relevant today. 
 

 As one of the original thirteen colonies, Virginia has a long judicial tradition that 
manifests itself in a substantial number of historic landmark courthouses that are 
still in use and that should be preserved when possible.  

 Virginia’s population is not evenly distributed and courthouses range in size from 
buildings with one courtroom to those such as Fairfax that have as many as 40 
courtrooms. The demands on these larger facilities are much different that on the 
small rural courthouses, and one solution is not suitable for all. There must be 
some flexibility in how these guidelines are applied to both highly urbanized and 
small rural courts.  

 Among the responsibilities of the Circuit Clerks in Virginia are the recording and 
maintenance of land and other records that are often performed by separate 
registrars in other states. These functions place the Circuit Clerks in the center of 
local public activity and create substantial space and security demands on the 
facility.  

 The relationship of the Courts to the State and communities they serve create 
circumstances that, although not unique to Virginia, merit both consideration and 
understanding in any construction or renovation project. Although the Courts are 
state courts with judges and staff being paid by the State, the communities they 
serve are required by law to provide them “adequate” facilities. As a result it was 
not uncommon to find one or more of the Courts sharing a facility with one or 
more city or county offices. This is becoming less common as county and city 
executive agencies have moved out of the courthouses over the years in favor of 
their own administrative type facilities.  

 As with courts in other states throughout the country, Virginia has been 
automating  nearly all aspects of its judicial operations and making greater use of 
such technologies as digital records keeping, automated case management, video 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
INTRODUCTION PAGE Introduction-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

conferencing, and audio visual presentation systems in the courtroom. All new 
construction must provide the wiring and cabling and building infrastructure 
needed to accommodate not only today’s technologies but also those to tomorrow.  

As the name implies, these are guidelines, not minimum standards. They represent “best 
practices”. Because the size, caseload, and location of Virginia’s courts vary widely as do the 
financial resources local governments have at their disposal, the guidelines should not be applied 
the same in all situations. Their application should allow for flexibility in how they are 
implemented.  
 
Finally, the guidelines are intended for a varied audience with differing levels of expertise in 
courts and building design. First and foremost they are design to assist judges and court officials 
by providing them with the necessary information they need to assess their facilities and address 
remedies with their local governing bodies. Next, they are meant to provide local officials and 
design professionals who may not be familiar with the unique facility requirements of courts 
with information they need to understand court operations and their space and building 
requirements.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION  PAGE 1-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 1 -  VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION 

The historic and ongoing presence of the judicial system in the fabric of Virginia life is most 
readily visible through the presence of the local courthouse. And while judicial presence is a 
constant, the ways in which the courts are organized has changed over the years. To meet the 
demands of a growing and shifting population, changes in the courts' jurisdiction, procedures, 
supervision and management, and in the use of technology occur.  
 

 
 
The organization of Virginia's courts today illustrates the results of these changes. Virginia has a 
four tiered court system composed of district courts, circuit courts, a court of appeals, and a 
supreme court. In addition, magistrates serve as judicial officers with authority to issue various 
types of processes. The courts are organized into 31 judicial circuits and 32 similar judicial 
districts. The counties and cities served by the circuit and district courts must provide facilities 
for these courts. Legislation requires that these facilities be owned and not leased.  
 
I. SUPREME COURT 

The Supreme Court was founded in 1779 and exercises both original and appellate 
jurisdiction. The Chief Justice has responsibility for the overall supervision of the Virginia 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION  PAGE 1-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

judicial system. The seven justices of the Supreme Court generally sit in Richmond in the 
Supreme Court Building. These facilities are provided by the state. 

 
II. COURT OF APPEALS  

In 1983, the General Assembly created an intermediate court of appeals, effective January 
1, 1985. It consists of 11 judges who sit in panels of at least three. The Court of Appeals 
provides for intermediate appellate review of all circuit court decisions in traffic infractions 
and criminal cases, except where a sentence of death has been imposed; circuit court 
decisions involving domestic relations matters; and circuit court decisions arising out of 
administrative agency appeals. It also hears appeals from decisions of the Workers 
Compensation Commission. While appeals in criminal and traffic infraction cases are 
presented by a petition for appeal, most other appeals to the Court of Appeals are as a 
matter of right. The Court of Appeals also has original jurisdiction to issue writs of 
mandamus, prohibition, and habeas corpus in any cases over which the court would have 
appellate jurisdiction, and writs of actual innocence based on non-biological evidence. 

 
The Court of Appeals sits at such locations as the chief judge designates. The panels 
regularly use circuit court courtrooms within the state. 

 
III. CIRCUIT COURTS  

Virginia’s general jurisdiction trial court is the circuit court. In civil cases involving $4,500 
to $25,000, circuit courts have concurrent jurisdiction with the general district courts. They 
have exclusive jurisdiction in matters involving over $25,000. Equity matters, claims 
seeking a judgment for something other than money (such as adoptions or divorce), are also 
heard in the circuit courts.  

 
In criminal cases, the circuit court has jurisdiction over the trial of all felonies and of those 
misdemeanors originally charged in circuit court. The circuit court also has jurisdiction 
over juveniles aged fourteen and older who are charged with felonies and whose cases have 
been certified by the judge of a juvenile and domestic relations district court for trial in a 
circuit court.  
 
Appeals from district courts are heard de novo (completely new) by the circuit courts, as are 
appeals from certain administrative agencies.  
 
Jury trials may be held in the circuit court. Citizens who might otherwise not have contact 
with the courts may find themselves called to jury duty in the circuit courts.  
 
The clerk of the circuit court is a constitutional official and is elected to an eight-year term 
by the voters of the locality. The clerk handles administrative matters for the court, has 
authority to probate wills, grant administration of estates, appoint guardians, and serves as 
the custodian of the court records. Citizens may visit the clerk's office for many reasons, 
including recording deeds and applying for marriage licenses.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION  PAGE 1-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

IV. DISTRICT COURTS 

In 1973, creation of a unified district court system replaced a number of municipal and 
county courts throughout the state. Each city and county has both a general district and a 
juvenile and domestic relations district court, although many smaller cities and counties 
have a combined clerk’s office that serves both courts.   
 
The general district court hears all criminal cases involving misdemeanors under state law 
and offenses that are violations of ordinances, laws, and by-laws of the county or city where 
the court is located. A misdemeanor is any charge that carries a penalty of up to one year in 
jail or a fine of up to $2,500, or both. 
 
The general district courts also conduct preliminary hearings for felonies. Jurisdiction in 
traffic matters extends to all cases in which an adult is charged with a traffic offense.  
General district courts have exclusive civil jurisdiction in matters involving up to $4,500, 
and concurrent civil jurisdiction with the circuit courts in suits involving amounts between 
$4,500 and $25,000. A separate small claims division has jurisdiction over civil actions 
when the amount claimed does not exceed $5,000. The chief judge of the district court may 
elect to establish divisions within the court, although few districts have exercised this 
option. The district courts do not conduct jury trials. 
 
Juvenile and domestic relations district courts have exclusive original jurisdiction over 
matters and proceedings involving juveniles and families, except for adoption and divorce, 
which are handled by the circuit courts. Courtroom attendance for matters heard in these 
courts is generally restricted to those persons involved in the proceedings. These courts 
handle cases involving:  
 
 Juvenile delinquency and status offenses 
 Juveniles accused of traffic violations 
 Children in need of services or supervision 
 Children subjected to abuse or neglect 
 Children who are abandoned or without parental guardianship 
 Foster care and entrustment agreements 
 Children for whom relief of custody or termination of parental rights is requested 
 Adults accused of child abuse or neglect, or of offenses against family or household 

members 
 Adults involved in disputes concerning the custody, visitation or support of a child 
 Spousal support 
 Minors seeking emancipation or work permits 
 Court-ordered rehabilitation services 
 Court consent for certain medical treatments 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
VIRGINIA COURT ORGANIZATION  PAGE 1-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Juvenile and domestic relations district courts differ from other courts in their duty to 
protect the confidentiality and privacy of juveniles and their families who have legal 
matters before the court. In addition to protecting the public and holding delinquent 
juveniles accountable, the court considers services needed to provide for rehabilitation. 
Like the general district court, this court does not conduct jury trials. 

 
V. MAGISTRATES 

Since 1974, the principal function of the magistrate in the Virginia judicial system has been 
to provide an independent, unbiased review of complaints brought by police officers, 
sheriffs, deputies, and citizens. In each city and county in Virginia, the position of the 
magistrate represents a key point of interface between the judicial system and the citizenry. 
 
Magistrates perform work that is highly interactive, as well as paper and procedure-
intensive. The work involves conducting judicial hearings in response to requests from law 
enforcement officials, privately employed security guards, and citizens. These judicial 
hearings may be conducted in the presence of both the complainant and the accused as well 
as by video conference. Magistrates conduct interviews with complaining parties, the 
accused, and other appropriate persons to obtain the facts necessary to establish probable 
cause or to determine committal/release. Magistrates preside over the judicial hearings, 
maintain order and proper decorum, administer oaths, define issues, interpret and explain 
pertinent laws, take testimony, question parties, and issue legal processes. 
 
Among their many responsibilities Magistrates issue arrest and search warrants, admit to 
bail or commit to jail, issue subpoenas, administer oaths, accept prepayments for traffic and 
certain minor misdemeanor offenses, issue emergency custody orders, issue civil, criminal, 
and medical emergency temporary detention orders, and issue emergency protective orders. 
In addition, magistrates provide general information on judicial processes and procedures.  
 
Magistrates are called upon to determine whether there is probable cause to deny persons 
their liberty -- taking into account such factors as the evidence brought before them, the 
seriousness of the accusation, and the potential danger to society or to the accused. These 
judicial hearings may be conducted with the arrestee on site or by video conference with the 
arrestee located at a remote site such as a jail or police station.  
 
Virginia is divided into eight magisterial regions comprised of between three and five 
judicial districts. A chief magistrate supervises the magistrates serving within each judicial 
district. Each region has a regional magistrate supervisor who provides direct supervision to 
the chief magistrates. Each magistrate is authorized to exercise his or her powers 
throughout the magisterial region for which he or she is appointed. Magistrates provide 
services on an around-the-clock basis, seven days a week, conducting judicial hearings in 
person and through videoconferencing systems.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-1 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 2 -  COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 

The success of any long term renovation or construction project depends upon several factors 
that include: 1) The development of a strategic planning process, 2) Good communication among 
the stakeholders and the public, 3) Development of consensus, and 4) Strong project 
management. 
  
Most courthouse projects go through five phases beginning with the initial identification of a 
need for new or improved facilities through design, construction and, finally, occupancy. The 
following provides an overview of each of the typical project stages, beginning with preparation 
of a needs assessment and evaluation of current facilities through occupancy. The road is not 
always a straight one and there may be many starts and stops along the way. Changing 
conditions, growth rates, and operational environment (as well as funding problems) all may 
necessitate revisions to the original plan and require additional planning. It is essential, however, 
that the planning stages of the project not be side stepped. Changes in project scope at this point 
are relatively inexpensive, while changes and alterations later on during design and even 
construction are much more expensive. 
 

 
 
I. GETTING STARTED 

The first phase of any courthouse project should be planning. It is during this step that the 
project and scope are defined. The need is identified and documented and a decision made 
as to what type of project is needed. Is it a minor remodel or a major renovation? Is more 
space needed that requires an addition?  
 

 
 
Or, are the needs so great that an entirely new building is needed? Options are defined and 
evaluated and finally consensus is reached on a solution. It is also during this phase that a 
preliminary project budget and construction costs are identified. If it is to be a new building 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-2 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

a site will be selected. If the issues are clear cut this stage may proceed quickly but often a 
long time is required before consensus can be reached on the proper solution and issues of 
financing can be resolved.  

 
A. Planning Oversight Committee 

It is recommended that early in the planning process a Planning Committee be formed 
to provide advice and input into the development of needs and planning options, and 
to provide guidance throughout the project. The most successful committees include 
representatives from the major stakeholders in the justice system as well as the local 
governing body.  

 
The committee may or may not be given 
formal authority to make decisions; it 
may, for instance, act only as an advisory 
panel to the local governing body or 
funding authority. The committee would 
typically include some or all of the 
following: 

 
o Judge of the circuit court; 
o Judge of the general district court; 
o Judge of the juvenile and domestic 

relations district court; 
o Clerks of each of the above courts; 
o Sheriff 
o Commonwealth Attorney 
o Representatives of the local public works department, the city manager or 

county administrator. 
 

Others who might be included are a member of the board of supervisors or city 
council, the chief magistrate, representative of the local bar association, and perhaps a 
member of the public. 

 
Each of the committee members should be familiar with the operations, personnel, 
and space requirements of the court, department, or office they represent and should 
be authorized to speak on their behalf. It is also essential that the committee members 
serve for the duration of the project in order to avoid the disruption that may result 
from the appointment of new members who are not familiar with the reasons for 
previous decisions.  

 
The committee should prepare a description of the present facilities and document its 
deficiencies. This should include an inventory the number and types of spaces within 
the courthouse, such as courtrooms, offices, jury and public areas, etc., and their 
approximate area, and a detailed description of current problems, inadequacies, 
deficiencies, and bottlenecks. Members of the committee, or their representatives, 

Advisory Committee Relationships

Planners

Project 
Manager

Courts/Users

Funding 
Authority

Bar
Association

Citizens

Owners

Architects 
/Engineers

Advisory
Committee



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-3 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Construction 

Site Work and Utilities 

Architect and Engineering Fees 

Construction Management 

Land Acquisition 

Furniture and Fixtures 

Telephone/Networks/Security Systems 

Quality Control 

Computers and othe IT Equipment 

Audio Visual Equipment 

Permits and Fees 

Value Engineering 

Other Costs 

Contingency 

should be able to compile much of this information on their own. Non-committee 
members, such as operating personnel and local attorneys, may be interviewed for 
their input and ideas. The clerks of the respective courts generally have the broadest 
perspective of the various operations of the courthouse, and should be consulted as to 
the particular problems in their court. 

 
B. Planning Consultant and Architect 

While it is not essential that an outside planning consultant or architect be hired at 
this point, in larger projects it might be desirable to have an outside expert familiar 
with court planning, forecasting, and space planning to provide guidance and 
assistance.  
 
It may be necessary for the funding agency to make an initial appropriation to cover 
the committee’s expenses and early project planning costs, including the possible 
employment of the planning consultant or architect. This will ensure that the 
committee will have the necessary professional assistance, and that its preliminary 
work will provide a sound basis for determining the best alternative to pursue. 

 
C. Preliminary Budget 

Regardless of whether the decision is to renovate, enlarge, or construct a new 
building, the availability of funds for the project is critical and an understanding of all 
of the costs involved is essential for good decision making. The local funding 
authority or governing body may have the expertise to make preliminary estimates of 
project and construction costs. In larger 
protects, the committee or local governing body 
may want to hire a cost consultant at this point 
to provide estimates of total project costs. Any 
architect hired later on to prepare schematic and 
conceptual designs will need a preliminary 
budget figure from which to work. 

 
D. Factors Affecting Construction Cost 

When preparing or reviewing cost estimates it 
should be kept in mind that courthouse 
construction is more complex and costly than 
the construction of the typical office building.  
Among the factors that affect courthouse 
construction costs are: 

 
o Large bay sizes needed to provide 

column free courtroom space 
o Higher ceiling heights to create proper 

proportions in courtrooms 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-4 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

o Specialized acoustical requirements to insure audibility in litigation spaces 
and to isolate sensitive areas such as jury rooms, prisoner holding areas, and 
judicial chambers from noise 

o Extensive security provisions to assure the safety of the public, public records, 
and judges and staff. 

o Additional circulation space to provide for the separation of public, staff, and 
in-custody defendants well as to accommodate the large number of visitors 

o Holding cells for in-custody detainees 
o Specialized HVAC requirements to minimize vibration and noise, and to 

provide flexibility in control of courtrooms  
o Specialized millwork in courtrooms, and 
o Special design features and materials to support the importance of the 

structure and to convey the appropriate image of justice. 
 

E. Public Support 

It is important to keep the public and other interested parties informed during the 
planning process. There are several things the committee and planners can do, such as 
to make information available on the various options being considered in order to 
invite public comment. Presentations might be given to the local bar association and 
civic groups, and continuing information given to the local press and other media. 
Providing information to the public is essential throughout the planning process and 
may consist of planning reports, public hearings, presentations by the planners or 
architects, the construction of scale models of the site and proposed building, and 
conceptual design sketches.  
 
It may be advantageous to form a small special committee to handle public relations 
for the project and to make special presentations to interested civic groups and the bar 
association. 

 
II. SHOULD WE RENOVATE?1 

At some point in the life of the courthouse it becomes time to decide whether to keep the 
old structure in use through some type of improvement project, whether it be an addition or 
renovation, or to replace the courthouse with a new purpose designed facility. Depending 
on the age of the building, its physical integrity, its functionality, its architectural or 
historical interest or importance, and the feelings of the community toward the courthouse 
the issue can quickly become controversial. 
 
The project may involve the addition of new space, either for a new courtroom or support 
functions, retrofitting existing space for courtrooms, and upgrading building systems. Even 
when there is a planned addition to the building, renovation of the existing facility is 
desirable in order to have the new and the old work together. This may mean that the entire 

                                                 
1 Some materials are adapted from J. Mac Gregor Smith, series editor.  National Clearinghouse for Criminal Justice 
Planning and Architecture.  “Trial Court Facility,” Monograph B5 in the: Guidelines for the Planning and Design of 
State Court Programs and Facilities (Champaign, IL: University of Illinois, 1976.) 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-5 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

building (new and old) needs to be entirely reorganized in order to achieve the proper 
circulation flows, zoning separations, and work adjacencies. 
 
It is important for the courts planner or architect to consider the various alternatives 
available, which range from demolition and new construction to preservation of the 
courthouse for continued judicial or other use. The first step should include a complete 
assessment of the existing building, its space resources, structural condition, and building 
systems such as heating, ventilation, lighting, electrical, and plumbing. Often if the building 
systems are in fine shape, it is worth reusing the facility, but if major renovation of such 
systems is necessary, it may be time to replace the building. 
We often refer to “renovation” when talking about changes to an existing facility, in fact 
there are several different types of projects often covered by this term: 

 
A. Restoration  

“Restoration proposes, through scholarly research and on-site investigation, to return 
each portion of the building, including environmental systems, to some date or era — 
frequently that of the original construction. The National Trust realizes that this 
alternative is generally used only for the most outstanding architectural examples, and 
only if the original is reasonably intact. It is also possible that restoration can be 
considered for the most significant features of a courthouse, such as a bell tower or 
ceremonial courtroom, if not for the entire building.” 2 

 
B. Rehabilitation 

“Rehabilitation consists of minor alterations required to bring the building up to 
modern planning, environmental control and public safety standards, but have little 
major effect on the original fabric. Included are the many long-deferred maintenance 
items such as roofing, water proofing, painting, and tuck-pointing. If done with care, 
rehabilitation can greatly increase a building's life and performance, and do little 
damage to the historic elements. Examples of rehabilitation include addition of 
modern heating, air conditioning or lighting systems, addition of stair towers or 
elevators, and inclusion of modern office landscaping plans in the larger spaces.”3  

 
C. Remodeling  

“Remodeling is defined by the National Trust as a program which makes important 
functional changes to a building, but tends to ignore important historic or 
architectural features, removing or replacing these features without evaluating the 
significance of their contribution to the character of the building. Examples might be 
installation of suspended ceilings or sheet paneling in an ornately decorated 
courtroom, bricking up windows or doors, or removing important original features 
such as staircases, bell towers, or massive doors.”4   

                                                 
2 Ibid. 
3 Ibid. 
4 Ibid. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-6 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

D. Conservation  

“Conservation refers to a procedure of restoring the exterior of the building to a stable 
condition, and incorporating contemporary court planning techniques and 
environmental systems such as heating, lighting and air conditioning, being careful to 
integrate the new with the old. Conservation can involve major changes to the interior 
of the structure, such as insertion of mezzanine levels in old, high-ceilinged spaces or 
capturing additional space from attics or basements that can be made useable by 
installation of lighting, ventilation, or air conditioning systems. By careful planning, 
even major changes such as these can be accomplished without significantly altering 
the original building.”5 
 
The decision of when to “renovate” and when to build new requires consideration of 
many factors: 

 
‒ The physical integrity of the existing facility; 
‒ The historical or architectural values of the building; 
‒ Use of the facility by other offices or functions; 
‒ Adherence to local building codes; 
‒ Life cycle costs; 
‒ Functionality; 
‒ Growth of the courts and the building’s continued potential for expansion; 
‒ Ability to meet operational needs of the courts; 
‒ Ability to comply with accepted court design standards; 
‒ Security and safety of the public and building occupants; 
‒ Ability to accommodate prisoner custody requirements; 
‒ Accessibility requirements; and 
‒ Impact on other departments and functions housed in the facility. 

 
Of critical importance to the courts is whether the existing facility can meet court 
design guidelines and standards, even when renovated. While some compromises 
may need to be made, fundamental issues of public safety, prisoner access and 
control, and functionality for court operations should not be sacrificed. When 
considering whether courthouse design guidelines can be met it should be kept in 
mind that there is often more than one way in which to achieve this. The separation of 
public, private, and prisoner circulation is a good example. The standard is not 
necessarily three separate circulation systems. The standard to be achieved is the 
separation of the public, judges and staff, and prisoners. Usually this is best achieved 
through separate circulation, but in some situations this also can be achieved through 
operational means.  

 

                                                 
5 Ibid. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-7 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

E. Problems Usually Encountered During Renovation 

The renovation, or retrofit, of an existing facility for courts (courtrooms, chambers, 
and clerks’ offices) typically presents a number of problems and frequently requires 
compromises. Among the problems that are likely to be encountered are: 
 

‒ Spaces too small to accommodate properly sized courtrooms or other 
functions; 

‒ Low floor to ceiling heights for courtrooms; 
‒ Inability to achieve proper adjacencies, such as between courtrooms and 

jury deliberation rooms; 
‒ No logical location for an addition that permits circulation systems to 

work efficiently; 
‒ Inadequate electrical, plumbing, and HVAC systems requiring extensive 

upgrades; 
‒ Hidden problems such as asbestos; 
‒ Need to make renovated spaces handicapped accessible;  
‒ Need to provide temporary space in which to house the courts during 

construction; and 
‒ Difficulty in providing proper security in the building; 

 
Probably the most critical issues are those related to finding adequate spaces in which 
to build properly sized and designed courtrooms, the need for proper adjacencies, and 
the need to provide a minimum level of security and safety within the building. Too 
often renovation or retrofit projects result in courtrooms that are too narrow, too 
small, lack the proper floor to ceiling heights, lack safe prisoner access; lack adequate 
litigation space, and/or lack necessary public waiting and attorney conference areas.  

 
Among the questions that must be asked early in any project that contemplates the 
reuse of existing facilities or locating courts in a facility other than one designed as a 
courthouse, are: 
 

‒ Are there spaces large enough and suitable for courtrooms? 
‒ Where will prisoners enter the building and can they reach the courtrooms 

without having to be escorted through public or private corridors and work 
areas? 

‒ Can the facility accommodate three circulation systems (public, private, 
and prisoner) and zones? 

‒ Can the building be made secure? and 
‒ Are the main building systems (electrical, plumbing, HVAC) sound? 

 
F. Can Another Type Facility Be Used for Courts? 

While it is most common for renovation projects to involve the courthouse, it is not 
uncommon for consideration to be given to retrofitting other types of facilities for 
court use. The most common type facility are general office buildings, but schools, 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-8 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

hospitals, shopping centers, post offices, and department stores have been retrofitted 
to be used as courthouses.  
 
As a general rule, it is nearly always easier and less expensive to renovate court 
spaces for general office functions than to renovate general office space for courts. 
The reuse of general office space, whether built for government or business, is not 
suitable for many court operations. Most general office buildings do not have 
adequate vertical circulation system (elevators) and the proper floor plates to 
accommodate three separate circulations systems or zones.   

 
Secondly, the floor to ceiling heights in most general office buildings is too low to 
properly accommodate courtrooms that should have a minimum of about 14 feet from 
floor to ceiling. While general office space may not be appropriate for courtroom and 
chambers, it is perfectly acceptable for many court support functions, or ancillary 
offices, such as the Commonwealth’s Attorney, public defender, or probation. These 
may either remain in a county or city administration building or be located in other 
general office spaces that have been renovated for their use, as long as it remains 
close to the courthouse.  

 
It also is important to think of the image that the retrofitted building will present to 
the community and how it will affect attitudes of litigants. Will the building project a 
sense of decorum and dignity that is essential to all court facilities or will it project an 
image of retail or assembly line justice?  

 
Shopping centers have an advantage in that there is generally plenty of parking, a 
commodity that is all too often lacking in many downtown courthouses. Further, 
many shopping centers are built with high ceilings and fairly large spaces between 
support columns, permitting great flexibility in locating courtrooms. While it may not 
be considered appropriate for general jurisdiction trial courts, shopping center 
locations may be very functional for limited jurisdiction courts that handle high 
volume functions such as traffic and misdemeanor cases. The disadvantage of a 
shopping center is that they are almost always one story structures which make it 
difficult to achieve prisoner access to all courts without penetrating either the public 
or private circulation.  

 
G. Project Phasing  

A major problem with nearly any renovation projects is the need to phase the work so 
that the courts may continue to operate during construction. It is often necessary to 
find temporary quarters for the courts to occupy while the existing space is being 
worked on. This can add extra costs and time to the project if it is necessary to lease 
temporary space that first must be retrofitted to provide minimum functionality for 
courts. Where there is also a new addition being built along with renovation of 
existing facilities, the new facilities may serve as the temporary swing space for 
courts while space in the existing facility is being renovated.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-9 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Generally speaking any project that involves renovation and reuse of an existing 
facility for courts will require a project that is completed in phases and may require 
courts and their offices to move several times during the project.  

 
III. PRE-DESIGN PLANNING  

Most projects are initiated with an assessment of the current facilities. Someone determines 
that the facilities are inadequate: too small; in poor physical condition; lack security and 
safety; and/or is inefficient or overcrowded. It is important at this stage to conduct a 
systematic evaluation of the facilities and document their deficiencies. This is one of the 
ways in which these guidelines can be used, and have been used in the past. Many projects 
are initiated with a judicial court order requiring the local government to provide adequate 
facilities. One of the prime resources judges and others use when making this determination 
is the Virginia Courthouse Facility Guidelines. These guidelines provide a benchmark 
against which existing facilities may be evaluated.  

 
A. Needs Assessment  

A typical needs assessment examines the facilities in terms of their physical integrity, 
the condition of the electrical, plumbing, and HVAC systems, the amount and types 
of spaces provided, the circulation systems (particularly the secure prisoner 
circulation), the safety and security of the buildings, their ability to adapt to future 
growth and changes, and ability to incorporate and make use of new technologies. 
The needs assessment also may look at future growth and make some projections of 
both future judge and staffing 
requirements as well as future 
space requirements. A typical 
forecast horizon is 20 years. It 
is important to look ahead at 
least 20 years because most 
building projects take from 
five to ten years to complete 
and if the plan only 
accommodates the current 
need in many cases the courts 
will have outgrown the new 
facilities by the time they are 
occupied.  

 
The needs assessment may be performed as a separate step or may be done as part of 
a larger master planning effort that also examines possible solutions such as 
renovation, new addition, or new building.   

 

Caseload Projections

0
10 20

Projected

Actual
History

Year

Number 
of Cases

30

Upper Confidence Interval

Lower Confidence Interval



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-10 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

B. Master Planning and Determination of Alternative Solutions 

The next phase of the project is the development of a facility master plan that 
identifies various options, discusses their pros and cons, and provides preliminary 
costs estimates that can be used by the funding authority and users to make decisions 
on the best course of action. At this stage it may not be clear whether the best 
approach is to renovate the existing facility with perhaps the construction of an 
addition or to build an entirely new facility.  
 
If an evaluation and assessment of the condition of the existing facilities was not done 
as part of a needs assessment one should be done now as part of the master planning 
process. This information is critical to the decision of whether to renovate all or some 
portion of the courthouse.  
 
With the help of the architect, planning consultant, or a qualified person from the 
local government’s public works 
department, the committee should 
determine the approximate 
construction costs of different 
alternative solutions, including (1) 
renovation of the existing facility, (2) 
its enlargement, (3) renting additional 
space for offices not directly related 
to court operations, combined with 
renovation or enlargement, or (4) 
construction of a new facility. 
Consideration of construction costs of 
a new facility must address whether 
construction should be on the present 
site or on a newly acquired site and 
include either the costs of demolition of the present facility and the temporary 
relocation of operations, or the cost of acquiring a new site. 

 
After such preliminary determination of the costs of the alternative solutions, the 
committee should determine whether the space requirements can best be met by 
renovation, enlargement, renting additional space, or construction of a new facility 
and destruction or other use of the present facility. One method of comparison of the 
various alternatives is to annualize the cost of each alternative by dividing the total 
cost by the estimated years of use. Selecting a workable solution will require 
balancing conflicting needs, costs, and time priorities.  

 
C. Preparation of the Architectural Program 

The next step in the planning process is the preparation of the detailed facility space 
program. This is more detailed than the estimate of overall space needs made during 
the needs assessment. The “program” on the other hand documents the present 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Relationship of 
Caseload Growth to Personnel and Space Needs

Present

Caseload

Future

Judicial 
Positions 
& Staff

Space 
Needs



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-11 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

organization and operation of the courts and their related functions, details both their 
current and future space needs, and the necessary components of the courthouse and 
their spatial and functional relationships.  
 
It is more detailed than, and goes beyond, what is required during the needs 
assessment and master planning phases. It serves to inform the architect of the 
problems to be solved in the design of the facility. The preparation of the program 
will most likely be beyond the capabilities of the committee, and it is here that the use 
of an outside planning consultant, familiar with court operations and the design of 
court facilities, is essential.  
 
The information obtained during the needs assessment and master planning phases 
will be pertinent to the development of the program. Program development requires 
additional research, greater detail, and further analysis in order to prepare a written 
description on which the design can be predicated. For this purpose the program 
should describe the organization and operations of each of the courts. Current 
deficiencies, bottlenecks, and other problems should be described along with 
suggested changes and improvements. The information should include historical, 
current, and projected caseload data, demographic trends, and space and personnel 
requirements, as well as forecasts of future trends in court operations and 
management. This requires forecasting future judge and staffing levels, and the 
number and type of courtrooms that will be needed. It should be noted that an 
increase in the number or size of the required spaces will also require a corresponding 
increase in the public circulation and waiting areas. The program should include 
descriptions of all the offices to be included in the building, including adult probation 
or court services. 
 
1. Determining Future Needs 

 
Determination of future court facility needs is part science and part guess work. 
One approach is to ask each stakeholder for (1) their estimate of the amount of 
space and number of staff required in the future, (2) the additional space needed 
to properly accommodate the current staff and operations, (3) the anticipated 
growth in workload and staff for the next 15 to 20 years, and (4) the types of 
spaces that will be required to accommodate the anticipated growth. This 
approach, however, requires stakeholder to provide a fair assessment of their 
current needs and to make reasonable assumptions about their future needs.  
 
Different courts, departments, and offices are likely to experience different rates 
of growth or decreases in workload. Short-range forecasts, based on projections of 
current workloads may be sufficiently accurate if based on adequate information 
and not projected too far into the future, but because public buildings are 
generally used for extended periods of years, more sophisticated techniques are 
required to achieve long-term forecasts of 20 plus years. Forecasting is a complex 
science and should be undertaken by those with sufficient technical expertise to 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-12 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 

Example of a Circulation and 
Adjacency Diagram 

 
 
 

Public 
Queuing /
Waiting

Deputy Clerk
Workstations

Clerk’s 
Office

Supply
Storage

Photocopy 
Workroom

Records
Storage

Secure
Entrance

Counter/Window
Counter
Workstations

Staff
Toilet

General District Court Clerk

Main Public Circulation

Staff
Breakroom

Private / Staff Circulation

know how to select an appropriate forecasting model and interpret the results. 
This is another area in which the use of a planning consultant is advisable.  

 
2. Contents of the Architectural Program 

 
The degree of detail in the program may vary depending on whether the plan is 
for the renovation of the existing facility, its enlargement, or the construction of a 
new building. Typically the program will contain the following elements. 

 
a. A description of the organizational structure and operational procedures 

carried on by the courts, court related offices, and other governmental entities 
in the building. The description should differentiate between the type of court 
(Circuit, General District, and 
Juvenile and Domestic 
Relations District) and court 
procedures in criminal, civil, 
juvenile, and domestic 
relations proceedings, and 
identify the relationship of 
these proceedings with the 
other occupants of the 
building. Flow charts 
reflecting the sequence of 
operations and the workflow 
may be helpful as are the use 
of adjacency diagrams. 

 
b. A detailed description of the 

condition of present facilities, 
including not only courtrooms and offices, but other building support spaces 
such as electrical rooms and closets, toilets, storage areas, etc., and the 
number and size of each. This description can be accomplished most easily by 
obtaining an up-to-date space plan or as-built drawings of the present facility. 
If one is not available it may be necessary for the consultant or architect to 
prepare one. 

 
c. A description of the problems with, and inadequacies of, the present facilities. 

The extent to which current problems and inadequacies have affected the 
organizational structure and operational procedures should be noted so that 
these can be eliminated in the new design. 

 
d. A detailed accommodation schedule listing the type and size of all 

spaces/rooms that will be required in the new design. The program should 
remind the architect that the design of the new facility should permit future 
expansion to meet unanticipated needs. To the extent feasible, the square foot 
area of these spaces should be in accordance with the guidelines hereinafter 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-13 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

set forth. The trend toward smaller courtrooms should be recognized, as 
should the use of multipurpose rooms for hearings, jury assembly, etc. in 
smaller courthouses. 

 
e. A description of the optimum location of the major spaces and their 

relationship to each other, using adjacency diagrams. While this description 
will not work out the actual location of spaces it should outline their basic 
functional relationships. High-volume functions and activities, such as clerks’ 
offices and fine payment windows, should be located near the main public 
entrance, on the first floor, whenever possible. This will reduce visitor traffic 
on other floors where courtrooms are located, thus enhancing security. Court 
functions that have similar operational and spatial requirements should be 
located as conveniently as possible to each other. Similarly, offices that need 
the same type of security may be located together. 

 
f. A description of the optimum size and the physical features of each space in 

accordance with the following recommended guidelines. Such description 
should include its size, environmental needs, security requirements, 
handicapped accessibility requirements, circulation and adjacency needs, and 
level of furnishings and finishes. It is important to note the acoustical 
requirements for spaces in which privacy is essential such as courtrooms, 
judges’ chambers, jury deliberation rooms, attorney and client conference 
rooms, and the offices of the Commonwealth’s Attorney staff. 

 
g. The program should contain an estimate of the costs involved in the 

implementation of the program through the completion of the working 
drawings. In addition, the program should contain an estimate of the total net 
square feet required based on the number of spaces and their sizes. To this 
must be added the approximate areas of corridors, elevators, stairways, walls, 
ducts, and service areas to determine the approximate total building gross 
square feet to be used in determining the approximate costs of the project. The 
involvement of an architect and the planning consultant, as well as a cost 
consultant, will be necessary. If a new site is to be acquired, its estimated 
costs should also be determined and included. 

 
h. A timetable from the date of completion of the program, through the design 

phase, to completion of construction. The timetable should describe any 
phased implementation of the project, taking into account the disruptions 
inherent in the construction process, any temporary relocations during 
construction, and a plan for handling such disruptions. As early as possible in 
the planning process the funding agency should be working on the method for 
financing the project. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-14 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

IV. DESIGN  

When the written program has been completed, a request for proposal (RFP) based on the 
program should be advertised and sent to prospective architects. The committee and the 
funding agency will review the responses and select an architect and enter into negotiations. 
Selection criteria should include prior courthouse design experience; organizational 
capacity to handle the project, availability of proposed project staff, ability to manage and 
complete comparable projects within budget; and presence and qualifications of necessary 
experts such as security, acoustics, and technology planning. Typically on larger projects, a 
local architect will team with a larger national firm that has expertise in courthouse design. 

 

 
 

A. Schematic Design 

Schematic design begins upon approval of the architectural program and the project 
budget. The objective of this step is to conceptually organize the functional 
components that were defined in the Program Statement. The architect will prepare 
and submit preliminary sketches showing the location and size of the various 
courthouse components such as courtrooms, chambers, clerks’ offices, and other 
offices. The sketches will show the three major circulation systems (public, the staff, 
and prisoners), and studies of the exterior appearance of the building. The schematic 
plans should identify alternative features that can be added or eliminated and the 
architect should furnish preliminary cost estimates of the schematic plans, including 
the alternatives.  
 
These alternative sketches should be reviewed by the committee in consultation with 
the architect, keeping in mind the program requirements, the budget, and these 
guidelines. Changes at this point in the project can easily be made without incurring 
much additional cost. Subsequent steps will add detail to these decisions with the 
primary objective of producing documents from which construction can be initiated. 

 
B. Design Development 

The next step is design development, during which the Architect will refine the 
overall design providing more detail with each subsequent iteration. The architect 
prepares preliminary plans showing the layout and size of all of the components of 
the facility including all rooms, closets, toilets, storage and service areas, stairways, 
elevators and corridors. Indications of surface treatments, decorations and the 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-15 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

locations of equipment also should be shown. Deliverables during this phase include: 
floor plans, key area plans, building elevations, typical wall sections, key interior 
elevations, preliminary finish schedule, preliminary door and frame schedule, 
preliminary window schedule, and 
preliminary specialty hardware 
schedule. There are additional 
engineering, mechanical, 
landscaping, security, acoustical, and 
technology diagrams and schedules 
that are part of the design 
development stage. At each stage of 
the design new costs estimates 
should be provided.  
 
These preliminary plans should be 
reviewed and any changes agreed 
upon before proceeding further. This 
is the last good opportunity for changes, since changes in the next step, working 
drawings, are very costly and time consuming. The final preliminary plans should be 
approved in writing by the committee, the architect, and the funding agency. 
 

C. Construction Documents 

The final stage prior to 
proceeding with the ground 
breaking and construction of 
the building is the preparation 
of the construction documents 
upon which final cost estimates 
can be made and which will be 
the basis for construction bids. 
The working drawings should 
be reviewed to make sure that 
they are in accordance with the 
final preliminary plans and the 
building code, and should be 
approved in writing. Final cost 
estimates should then be made 
and, if within budget, the plans 
should be submitted for construction bids. If necessary, changes can be made prior to 
approval, but such changes will add substantially to the cost and delay of the project. 
Changes made at this stage must be carefully considered and made only if critical to 
the basic serviceability of the facility. 

 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

 

Cost Control Opportunities

Maximum $$

Planning Design Bidding Construction

Project Phase

Opportunity
for

Savings

Cost of 

Changes

0

Project Schedule Comparison

Traditional Approach

Planning

Fast–Track Approach 

Design Bid/A
ward

Construction

Single Bid Package

Completion

Planning

Multiple 
Bid 
Packages 

Construction Completion



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-16 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

V. CONSTRUCTION BIDS AND CONSTRUCTION 

The Architect prepares the bid package containing all the information contractors will need 
in order to prepare bids on the project. After advertising the project a pre-bid conference 
should be held where contractors and subcontractors can receive information on the project 
and ask questions. Once bids have been received and opened, the planning 
consultant/architect will assist the committee and the funding body in reviewing the 
construction bids for approval. If the bids do not fit within the proposed budget, it may be 
necessary to review and modify the working drawings to eliminate some aspects of the 
project so that supplemental construction bids can be obtained that will more closely 
coincide with the budget. Often, however, by working with the winning contractor to 
review the bid in detail it is possible to trim construction costs. 
 
The actual construction should be observed and inspected by the architect and the 
committee, as well as by the public works department to ensure that the construction 
complies with the working drawings and the building codes. Supervision must include 
installation of equipment. If such observation and inspection is systematically carried out 
and noted errors are corrected, final inspection and approval should be accomplished 
without difficulty. In larger more complicated projects, local jurisdictions often elect to 
engage a program or construction manager that is responsible for quality control, schedule, 
and progress payment requests.  

 
VI. PROJECT DELIVERY METHODS 

The traditional method of delivering a 
finished courthouse is through what is 
referred to as the design-bid-build method 
where an architect is hired by the local 
government to prepare a design and 
construction documents. Then the project is 
announced for bids to be received from 
contractors. The bids are reviewed and a 
contractor selected to build the courthouse.  
 
The advantage of the design-bid-build 
approach is that the full details of the 
construction are known prior to soliciting 
the bids. The awarding jurisdiction knows 
the final price at bid opening, unless change 
orders are permitted during the construction 
process. Also the architect remains the 
owner’s representative and can cite the 
contractor if faulty work is observed. 
 
A potential disadvantage of this traditional 
approach is that the design and construction steps are completed sequentially A frequently 

 
 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Traditional Management Approach

Sub–Contractors

Owner

Architects & 
Engineers

Construction 
Manager

Construction Management Approach

Prime 
Contractor

Architects & 
Engineers

Construction 
Manager

Consultant

Sub–Contractors Sub–Contractors

Owner Owner

Architects & 
Engineers

Construction 
Manager



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES  
COURTHOUSE PLANNING, DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PAGE 2-17 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

used alternative is the use of design-build. In this process the design and construction 
process is integrated and the Architect is an employee or subcontractor of the contractor. 
Advantages of this approach is that the contracting entity (local government) has a single 
point of contact (the contractor) for the entire project and the project can usually be 
delivered is less time because of the overlap in the design and construction phases. It also 
eliminates the need for a second bid process to select the building contractor. 
 
 Sometimes the design-build team is selected upon completion to the master planning step 
and will prepare the conceptual design, preliminary design, construction documents and 
then build the facility. A slightly different approach is for the city/county to hire an 
architect to complete the conceptual design (usually in conjunction with the master 
planning step) and then seeks bids from a design-build team that will complete the 
construction documents and construct the building. 
 
The disadvantage to this process can be the relative inaccessibility of the design expertise 
since the architect is a subcontractor and can be insulated by the contractor. In the design-
build approach, the architect’s allegiance is to the contractor and not the owner. Of course, 
the architect is bound by professional ethics to report any faulty construction methods and 
is liable to the owner and contractor for design errors, but the direct relationship with the 
owner can be lost in the design-build method. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND  PAGE 3-1 
FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS   
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 3 -  RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND FINANCING 
COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS  

I. LOCAL GOVERNMENT RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING COURTHOUSE 

Localities in Virginia are required by  Va. Code § 15.2-1638 to provide courthouses and 
suitable facilities for the judges and staff of district and circuit courts, including Circuit 
Court Clerks, and upon request space for the Commonwealth Attorney. The costs of doing 
so are to be paid by the locality and facilities are to be provided in government owned 
property and not leased. This has traditionally been a responsibility of local government in 
Virginia.  
 
If the court facilities are deemed to be insufficient or inadequate, the Code of Virginia sets 
out a process that can be used to compel improvements to a court facility by local Circuit 
Courts (§ 15.2-1643). Dating at least to the early 1900s, this process has been used by 
Circuit Court judges to force jurisdictions to update and upgrade their court facilities. Over 
the past 15 years this process has been used in a number of communities, including 
Williamsburg/James City County, Rockbridge County, Dickenson County, and the City of 
Portsmouth. 
 
If a county plans to construct a courthouse at a new location which is not adjacent to the 
existing courthouse, Va. Code §§ 15.2-1644 and 15.2-1646 requires citizen approval 
through a referendum.  
 

II. FINANCING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

There are two court fees that may be collected for the purpose of funding courthouse 
maintenance and construction. Under a statute first adopted in 1990, Va. Code§ 17.1-281, 
localities may assess up to a $2 fee on all civil, criminal, traffic and local ordinance cases 
for the purposes of construction, renovation, or maintenance of the courthouse or jail and 
court-related facilities and to defray increases in the cost of heating, cooling, electricity, and 
ordinary maintenance. The money raised by this fee, however, is generally insufficient to 
fund most courthouse construction projects and according to JLARC the money has 
generally been placed in the locality’s general fund to offset facility building maintenance 
(JLARC, Operational and Capital Funding for District and Circuit Courts, 2009).  
 
Since 2009, localities may assess an additional $3 fee per case, specifically for courthouse 
construction as long as the Department of General Services (DGS) certifies the courthouse 
as noncompliant with the Virginia Courthouse Facility Guidelines. The circuit court clerk 
is responsible for collecting courthouse fees and transferring them to the local treasurer. 
This money is “solely for the construction, reconstruction, renovation of, or adaptive re-use 
of a structure for a courthouse.” Va. Code § 17.1-281 (D). 
 
According to DGS, during the first five years of the act 29 jurisdictions requested such 
certification by DGS. 

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-1638
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-1643
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-1644
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-1646
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/17.1-281
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/17.1-281


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND  PAGE 3-2 
FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS   
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Localities wishing to impose this $3 filing fee must submit a self-evaluation of their court 
facility to DGS, indicating how their facility is non-compliant with the Virginia Courthouse 
Facility Guidelines. A DGS building inspector then conducts an on-site inspection of the 
facility to confirm that it is out of compliance. DGS reviews the case and issues a 
certification of noncompliance, which then authorizes the locality to adopt an ordinance 
imposing the fee. The locality must reimburse DGS for the site visit and other related costs, 
which according to DGS have generally been in the range of $1,100 to $1,400 in localities 
that have been certified.  
 
The most common financing arrangement is the general obligation bond. There are 
basically three options when it comes to financing a capital project such as a courthouse: 1) 
financing without debt, 2) financing with short-term debt, and 3) financing with long-term 
debt.  
 
It is usually not possible to finance a capital improvement project out of operating funds. In 
Virginia, as noted earlier, local governments may charge a filing fee to cover improvements 
to the courthouse. The amount of funds that can be generated through this method however 
are generally not enough to fund anything but small renovation or improvement projects.  
When the indebtedness is not large and the time needed to retire the debt is short, the use of 
short-term debt, such as grant anticipation notes, tax anticipation notes, and lines of credits, 
or bonds that can be retired in less than five years may be possible. Such funding 
mechanisms however may best be reserved for initiating a project when there is a need to 
get a project started quickly or for minor renovations. 
As noted earlier most courthouse projects are financed with long-term debt, such as general 
obligation bonds. There are however some alternatives that may be used. Long term 
financing can be broken down into public financing options and private financing options.  
 
A. Public Financing  

Early in the planning process it will usually be necessary to provide some funding for 
expenses and to hire an architect or courts planner to conduct a review of the current 
facilities and a needs assessment. This may be funded out of general revenues, as is 
usually the master plan if one is to be done. Once a decision has been made to go 
forward with the project it is necessary to secure more substantial funding to cover 
not only the design architect fees but the site acquisition and construction costs. With 
very few exceptions this will require some form of loan. Two of the most prevalent 
public funding options are general obligation bonds and revenue bonds. The choice of 
which method to use may depend on the length of the project, the political viability of 
public funding that normally requires a referendum, and the expected life of  the 
building.   
 
1. General Obligation Bonds (GOB) 

 
General obligation bonds are the most commonly used means of financing long-
term large public capital improvement projects. They are relatively inexpensive 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND  PAGE 3-3 
FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS   
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

and easy to sell, assuming a good bond rating. The use of GOBs, however, 
requires voter approval, which is sometimes difficult to receive. The public’s 
appetite for expensive public works projects is limited and courts have to compete 
with other needs such as schools and roads. If obtained, however, voter approval 
can insulate public officials from later criticisms.  Besides anticipated voter 
rejection, other disadvantages include 1) tax and debt limitations; 2) need to 
proceed quickly 3) poor bond ratings, and 4) the desire to avoid restrictive laws in 
the construction of public buildings. 

 
2. Revenue Bonds  

 
Revenue bonds financing is available through a variety of public agencies such as 
a local industrial development authority. The advantage of revenue bonds is that 
they circumvent the lengthy and unpredictable political process required with 
GOBs and there may be some latitude in applying laws governing the 
construction of public buildings.  

 
B. Private Financing  

Private financing is becoming more popular as communities seek ways to leverage 
their tax revenues to greater advantage to finance long needed capital improvements. 
In general private financing works much like a home mortgage. A private entity 
provides the funds to construct the facility and the local government body then buys 
back the facility through a lease purchase agreement that may last 30 years. The loans 
are paid back through possible revenue that may be generated by the property or 
through general tax revenue. 

 
1. Certificates of Participation (COPS)  

 
One private financing method is the use of certificates of participation (COPs) 
which can be used as an alternative to GOBs. The COP is based on sale of 
interests in lease revenue from a capital project; for instance, the revenue from a 
parking garage that is constructed as part of the project or a bridge for which tolls 
are levied. 

 
2. Private Educational Facilities Infrastructure Act 

 
In Virginia, as well as a number of other states, the use of lease/purchase 
arrangements through a private builder/developer is becoming a more common 
method of financing public facilities.  

 
In Virginia, the Public-Private Education and Infrastructure Act of 2002 (PPEA) 
was intended to bring private sector expertise to bear on public capital 
improvement projects, thus saving time and money. It allows private entities, to 
“acquire, design, construct, improve, renovate, expand, equip, maintain or operate 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND  PAGE 3-4 
FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS   
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

qualifying projects.” Its purpose is to encourage innovative approaches to 
financing construction and renovation of public facilities. 
Qualifying facilities must be devoted primarily to public use, typically involving 
public health, safety, and welfare. The Act grants responsible public entities the 
authority to create public-private partnerships if it is determined that private 
involvement may be able to deliver the project in a more timely or cost-effective 
fashion or lead to improvements in the public entities’ processes or delivery of 
services.  

 
The private partner provides cost or completion guarantees for which it is given 
an equity investment in the project. The project requires a dedicated revenue 
stream with which to pay back the investors. Financing options might include the 
use of special purpose entities, sale and lease-back transactions, enhanced use 
leasing, property exchanges, development agreements, conduit financing and 
other methods allowed by law. Inherent in this type of financing arrangement is 
the need for the local governing body to identify the source of revenue that will 
support the lease payments for the term of the agreement.   

 
This method eases many of the front-end political problems of GOBs and other 
methods requiring public approval. The retirement of the debt shows up in the 
operating budget in the form of rental or lease costs. It provides good cost 
controls because there is a single entity which is accountable and there is less 
likelihood of cost-related changes in the project, the project can be completed 
faster and there is less likelihood of delays, and it defers the need for public funds 
because the builder picks up a lot of the early costs. Other benefits include: 

 
‒ A private enterprise can bring expertise and efficiencies to the project that 

would not otherwise be available to a public construction project;   
‒ The private enterprise, not the government entity, incurs the long term 

debt. Therefore, voter approval is not required and the governmental 
entity’s debt load is not affected;   

‒ The cost of the project can be distributed to the government over a longer 
period of time;   

‒ The overall cost of the project may be less, based on the assumption that 
the project will be completed in a shorter time frame and construction 
costs are expected to increase over time;   

‒ The loan does not affect the debt load of the governmental entity;   
‒ The private enterprise carries the risks associated with the project, 

including cost overruns and delays; and   
‒ Ongoing maintenance of the facility can be a component of the agreement 

with performance. 
 

Some of the drawbacks of this method are that the project scope and cost may not 
be defined until late in the process giving the local governing body and court less 
control over design issues, the learning curve for public officials and the public 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROVIDING FACILITIES AND  PAGE 3-5 
FINANCING COURTHOUSE CAPITAL PROJECTS   
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

means they may be apprehensive of the process, questions of whether the best 
possible price was obtained, and the lengthy and complicated negotiations. Also, 
the public entity may lose some control over the design process because cost 
control becomes a critical factor in order to maintain the viability of the project. 
Other disadvantages are: 

 
‒ A P3 project bypasses public approval and subjects the project, the 

funding body, and the governing entity to resistance from the 
voters/general public.   

‒ Experience to date with P3 projects demonstrates that these projects 
receive a limited number of bidders; typically one to three entities submit 
bids. This reduced competition could be detrimental; in contrast, 
competition among a larger number of bidders generally reduces the 
overall cost and increases the quality of a project.  

‒ The overall payment for the P3 financing may be higher than a traditional 
financing method, given that a private entity pays higher interest rates than 
government entities to borrow money. A P3 project also includes a profit 
margin for the private entity.   

‒ The financing for a P3 project typically extends out over a longer period 
of time than in a traditional building model, with the court leasing the 
facility over a period of up to thirty years.   

 
To date, PPEA has been adopted in Virginia and several other states including 
Florida, Texas, Utah, Maryland, Arizona, California, and Michigan.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 4 -  COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS 

I. GENERAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES 

The courthouse should be designed to make maximum use of energy saving features. This 
involves proper selection of building materials, placement, size and types of windows, 
potential use of solar devices and appropriate internal zoning of heating and air 
conditioning. Energy systems are important for court facilities being planned now to last for 
fifty or more years. 
 
Opportunities for dual uses of some interior spaces should be considered when possible. 
The jury assembly room, for example, may be used in the evenings as a civic meeting room 
or for training programs when not needed for jurors. Unfinished, shelled-in courtrooms can 
be used for records storage or other purposes until full expansion is needed. 

 
A. Building Image 

The architectural design for a new court facility should present a bold but dignified 
and appropriate judicial appearance that reflects the community’s traditions and 
culture. 

 
In general the design should present 
an image that:  
 
 Engenders public trust and 

confidence through an image of 
transparency, openness, fairness 
and dignity; 

 Reinforces the independence of 
the judicial system with a design 
that is distinctive and emblematic 
of the courts; 

 Reflects the importance, authority and stability of the justice system without being 
extravagant or ostentatious; 

 Conveys a sense of efficiency and decorum; 

 Is readily comprehensible and accessible to visitors; and 

 Recognizes the historical nature of the community and its traditions and culture. 

 

 
Historic Williamsburg Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

B. Green Building Design 

Over the past decade there has been a growing emphasis on green building 
construction, including courthouses. This is evident in the greater use of day-lighting 
in recently built courthouses throughout the country, even in courtrooms, use of local 
materials, and greater energy efficiency. Many localities have sought to have their 
courthouses LEED certified. LEED is a proprietary certification process and can be 
expensive. Many localities, instead of seeking the final certification, specify that the 
courthouse be designed and built to a certain LEED level, such as silver, without 
getting the final certification.  
 
In lieu of seeking LEED certification, an alternative is the new International Green 
Construction Code (IGCC). Begun in 2009 as a cooperative effort of the American 
Institute of Architects (AIA) and ASTM International, the International Green 
Construction Code regulates construction of new and existing commercial buildings.  
 
 The code addresses site development and land use, including the preservation of 

natural and material resources as part of the process. 

 The code seeks to improve indoor air quality and support the use of energy-
efficient appliances, renewable energy systems, water resource 
conservation, rainwater collection and distribution systems, and the recovery of 
used water, also known as greywater. 

 The IGCC emphasizes building performance, including a requirement for building 
system performance verification along with building owner education, to ensure 
the best energy-efficient practices are being carried out. 

 A key feature is a section devoted to "jurisdictional electives", which will allow 
customization of the code beyond its baseline provisions to address local priorities 
and conditions. 

C. Controlled Circulation 

The courthouse is a busy center of local government and should operate safely and 
efficiently in order to serve citizens who come to conduct their legal business. 
Circulation should be simple and direct, and users and visitors should be able to find 
their way easily throughout the courthouse.  

 
The hallmark of good courthouse planning is the development of a building-wide 
circulation system that provides three separate and distinct paths of movement for the 
public, court professionals –judiciary and staff, and in-custody accused persons. 
There must be no unwanted cross traffic between the paths and no awkward 
blockages to the movement within each circulation. This controlled circulation should 
be clear and direct, efficient and effective; it is essential for both security and safety 
reasons as well as for the operational efficiency of the court. 

 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Renewable_energy
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rainwater_harvesting
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greywater


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
 

The following discussions apply to new courthouse construction. When renovating 
older buildings it is permissible to make some minor compromises in the 
recommended circulation patterns although it is never acceptable to have in-custody 
detainees escorted through public spaces. In older and smaller rural courthouses it 
may be necessary for staff to walk through public spaces, although every effort 
should be made to limit the extent to which judges need to walk through public areas. 
It also is permissible for prisoners to be escorted though private circulation corridors 
if staff can be excluded from the corridors during the time prisoners are in the space. 
This may be done by use of doors that can be temporarily closed to block off sections 
of the private corridor in order to make it secure while prisoners are being taken to or 
from a courtroom. Another option may be to limit the times during which prisoners 
are escorted to and from the courtrooms and have security personnel ensure that all 
staff are securely sequestered in their offices. Both of these options are only suitable 
in smaller courthouses with minimal staff and infrequent prisoner movement.  

 
D. Public Circulation 

The public circulation system provides unrestricted public access from the main 
building entrance to the various public and functional components of the building. 
This includes the main lobby, corridors, public elevators and escalators, public 
washrooms, waiting areas, court clerk counters and reception areas. It also includes 
access to the many court and ancillary offices, such as the Commonwealth Attorney, 
and other offices such as Juvenile Court Services, or Community Corrections if 
located in the courthouse. 
 

Typical Building Component Organization and Circulation

Juvenile & 
Domestic 
Relations 

District 
Court

General 
District 
Court

Circuit 
Court

Clerks’ Offices

Adult 
ProbationSheriff 

Administration
Commonwealth 

Attorney
Victim

Witness Entry Lobby &
Public 

Services

Juvenile 
Court Services

Judiciary

Building
Management

Sally Port & 
Prisoner 
Handling

Secure Judicial
Parking

Judicial 
Entrance

Public Entrance

Public Circulation

Private Circulation

Secure Circulation

Private Circulation   

Public Circulation    

Prisoner Circulation 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
 
Users of the public circulation include courthouse staff, prosecutors, lawyers, police 
officers, witnesses, reporters, accused persons not in custody, members of the public 
present for family or civil cases, persons with business at the clerks’ offices, and 
courtroom spectators. Public access should be clearly articulated and direct from the 
main building entrance to all public destinations within the building. Public and staff 
access into the building should be through the main entrance monitored by security 
screening staff when the courts are operating. 

 
The building should have a single main entrance for both public and staff. It is 
acceptable for the entrance area to include more than one entry point into the queuing 
zone in front of the security screening; however, all staff and visitors should pass 
through a single security screening point. This should be the only point of access into 
the courthouse other than the sally port, a secure judicial entrance if provided, the 
controlled loading dock (larger courthouse), and the secure controlled entries 
provided through judicial parking. 

 
It is permissible for there to be a by-pass for court staff at the security screening point 
at the main building entrance that requires an access card and that is reserved for the 
quick processing of staff. In cases where specific proceedings require extra measures 
of security, public visitors may be screened again before being admitted into the 
courtroom. 

 
E. Private Circulation 

The private circulation system provides controlled access to authorized court staff and 
is not used by the general public unless they are escorted. Both the judiciary and 
authorized court staff will use the private circulation system. The judiciary will use 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

the private circulation system for access between judicial offices and courtrooms, and 
secure judicial parking. Similarly, authorized court staff will use private circulation 
for access to the courtrooms and judicial offices. All other users must receive specific 
permission to enter private circulation and must be escorted. It may on occasion be 
justified to escort vulnerable witnesses through private circulation and jurors also 
may be escorted through the private circulation to reach jury deliberation rooms. 

 

 
 

The need to separate the judiciary from other courthouse users has both a security and 
a privacy component. For security reasons, private circulation must include judicial 
access from secure judicial parking facilities to private elevators and offices. 

 
There must be direct access to private circulation from the Judiciary Component as 
well as the appropriate parts of the Clerks’ offices.  

 
All access points to the private circulation system must be controlled.  

 
F. Secure Circulation 

The entire Prisoner Handling Component, including the vehicle sallyport, holding 
cells, control room, staff offices and ancillary spaces must be treated as a secure 

Typical Courthouse Model

Public 
Elevators/ 
Circulation

Public

Courtroom

Prisoner 
Holding 

and 
Elevator/

Circulation Interface

Private

Controlled Access 
for Attorneys

Attorney 
Conference 

Vestibule

Private
Elevators/ 
Circulation

Attorney 
Conference

Judicial/Office Suite Jury 
Deliberation

Judge Jury

T
T

T

Service 
Elevator

Seating

Entry



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

entity, along with the secure prisoner circulation system and courtroom holding cells. 
It must be physically separate from all non-secure spaces and circulation systems in 
the courthouse. 

 
Security officers escorting in-custody defendants between the courtrooms and the 
prisoner handling area will use the secure circulation system. In-custody defendants 
are not allowed into public or private circulation. 

 
In-custody defendants will enter the courthouse through a secure vehicular sally port, 
be taken through a prisoner receiving area to a secure admitting and staging area, and 
then will normally be placed in a holding cell in the central prisoner holding area 
prior to being escorted to the courtroom for their hearing or trial. Where the 
courthouse is adjacent to a jail or detention facility, it is permissible for in-custody 
detainees to be brought to the courthouse through a secure walkway. In such 
situations the size of the central holding area may be reduced or even eliminated and 
prisoners escorted directly to the holding areas adjacent to the courtrooms.  

 
The location of temporary prisoner holding cells immediately adjacent to courtrooms 
reduces the time needed to produce prisoners in court by allowing prisoners to be 
staged close to courtrooms. It also allows unruly prisoners to be quickly removed 
from the courtroom and isolated. Located with the courtroom holding cells should be 
a lawyer/prisoner interview cubicle that allows lawyers quick access to their clients 
during hearings and trials. Additional lawyer/prisoner interview cubicles should be 
located with the central holding areas in larger courthouses to permit attorneys an 
opportunity to meet with their clients prior to court.  

 
A secure prisoner elevator that serves holding cells between pairs of courtrooms is the 
easiest and most efficient method of obtaining direct prisoner access to courtrooms 
without crossing private judicial/staff corridors and is essential in large multi-storied 
buildings. 

 
A connection is required from the Prisoner Handling Component to public 
circulation, via a double-door pedestrian sally port to permit security officers to move 
about the building. 

 
G. Secondary Circulation 

There is generally a secondary circulation zone for staff and building services in 
larger courthouses. This zone is largely contained within the space envelope of the 
staff areas of the building. The integrity of this zone relies on controlled access 
between public and private circulation. 

 
Included in the service zone are all those spaces that serve as building support areas 
for the courthouse, such as the receiving dock, program and building storage areas, 
building maintenance areas, and the mechanical spaces that are accessed in a 
secondary circulation zone. The entrances to the building through the receiving dock 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-7  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

must be secure and access must be controlled. Entry from public circulation into these 
areas should be via a door with controlled access. 

 
H. Horizontal and Vertical Circulation  

Horizontal travel distances for public, private and prisoner circulation should be 
minimized through efficient floor layouts that provide easy navigation, unobstructed 
sightlines and adequate space for people passing abreast of each other.  

 
The location of court functions with high traffic volumes such as clerks and high 
volume courtroom such as General District Court will have an impact on the vertical 
transportation requirements. Efficient and rapid public access to these areas is 
essential. Peak loads must be accommodated. 

 
Depending on the size of the building, one or two elevators will be required as part of 
private circulation for use by the judiciary, court staff and escorted jurors. The private 
elevators must serve all floors with courtrooms, the clerks’ offices, the judiciary, and 
the secure judicial parking. 
 
In large buildings a separate dedicated service elevator is desirable for the movement 
of materials and furniture through the building. The service elevator should be close 
to the receiving area and should serve all floors of the building. 

 

 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-8  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

In large courthouses with high foot traffic consideration should be given to installing 
escalators between the lower floors with high volume functions such as clerk’s offices 
and high volume courtrooms such as traffic court. 
 

II. LOCATION AND ORGANIZATION OF COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS 

The location of offices and functions within the courthouse has a lot to do with how well 
the building promotes the efficient and safe operation of the courts, and how it is perceived 
by courthouse occupants and members of the community. High volume functions and 
activities that attract heavy foot traffic or outside visitors should be located on lower floors, 
or near the main public entrance. These include clerks’ offices, public service counters, and 
high volume courtrooms such as General District Court or a traffic courtroom.  

 
While trial courtrooms typically draw many participants, they may be located away from 
the lobby and entrance because of the need for quiet and few distractions. Chambers also 
must be located away from high volume public areas with their noise and distractions.  

 
The secure circulation can be handled much more efficiently if courtrooms are stacked. In 
this way, one prisoner elevator can service several courtrooms on different floors.  

 
Other benefits of separating high and lower volume activities include the reduction in stair 
or elevator traffic, noise reduction near the courtrooms, security enhancement and ease of 
future expansion of individual functions. 

 
Functions that should be adjacent or close to courtrooms include courtroom-holding 
facilities, public waiting, attorney interview rooms, and prisoner holding cells. 

 
Judicial offices may be located on a separate floor where judges can have quick and easy 
access to courtrooms via private elevator, or behind the courtrooms separated by a private 
staff corridor. This also provides judges with a quiet and dignified space in which to 
conduct their legal research and prepare for court, and it allows for the sharing of 
appropriate administrative support functions and spaces. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-9  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

III. EXPANSION, ADAPTABILITY AND FLEXIBILITY 

All courthouses should be built to accommodate future changes and growth in the courts. 
This requires buildings that can be expanded easily, spaces that can be used for more than 
one purpose, and spaces that can adapt over time to 
new uses and needs. 

 
A. Physical Expansion  

Changes to the facility may become 
necessary at some time in the future. 
Planning should consider expansion options 
in the event of unforeseen future growth. 
Such planning should consider how the 
building might be expanded through the 
addition of courtroom modules or other 
operations within the building. Consideration 
also should be given to how the horizontal 
and vertical portions of the three circulation 
systems would be extended to service the 
expanded operations.  

 
B. Adaptability and Flexibility 

Adaptability refers to the capacity of space to be converted for use by other functions. 
The level of adaptability can be increased by creating a design that is based on 
modules and structured around well-defined primary circulation routes. One means of 

expansion is to move a component into a new 
building or addition and to use the vacated 
space for expansion of courtrooms or other 
core court functions. This kind of adaptability 
that makes it possible to convert space into 
additional courtrooms requires a structural 
system design with appropriate column 
spacing and floor-to-floor heights to 
accommodate future courtroom modules.  

 
Flexibility refers to the capacity of individual 
spaces to be used for a variety of functions 
over the lifetime of the building. One way of 

maximizing flexibility is to have a limited range of enclosed office spaces and a 
majority of the work processing space in open office areas where the screens and 
furniture can be readily reconfigured to meet evolving needs without reconfiguring 
walls. 

 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

 

Future Horizontal Expansion

Courts Offices Future

Conversion of Adjacent 
Space to Courtrooms

Courts
Shell 
Space 

Finishing of Shell Space

Expanded 
Facility 

Planned Addition 

Courts

Provisions For Future Vertical Expansion

Low Volume 
Courtrooms

Court–Related 
Agencies

High Volume 
Court & Related 
Agencies

Entry 
Level 

Support

Potential 
Expansion



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE DESIGN CONCEPTS  PAGE 4-10  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Other ideas include the use of building structural systems and core designs that are 
flexible and adaptable to multiple future uses and needs. Space should be designed 
with an alternative future use in mind. For example, conference rooms should be 
sized to permit their easy conversion to standard sized offices. Another strategy might 
be to make all enclosed spaces (supply closets or storage rooms) large enough that 
they also can be converted to office space in the future as staff is added. It also means 
making sure that all spaces are equipped with sufficient electrical, data, and voice 
lines. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 5 -  SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE 

The following key factors determine the required floor area of a courthouse. Understanding these 
determinants and how they determine overall size will help in developing a functional plan and 
design. 
 
I. COURTROOMS 

The number of courtrooms is the main determinant of the scale of a courthouse. 
Courtrooms are used for different types of hearings in addition to regular trials, including 
first appearances, preliminary hearings, motions hearings, pretrial hearings, and guilty pleas 
and sentencing. 

 
The number of courtrooms is a primary indicator of size for courthouses. Courtrooms are 
large spaces, and each has associated with it a constellation of support spaces, such as 
attorney client conference rooms, public waiting, and prisoner holding. Additionally, the 
courtrooms are the major factor determining the number and size of the judicial, clerk, 
public, technical and other spaces throughout the building. 

 
The courtroom is an area where the public, private and secure circulation systems converge. 
Courtrooms must be easily accessible to the public. Staff and judges must be able to enter 
the courtroom by means of a private corridor, while in-custody defendants must enter 
directly from secure circulation and a holding area adjacent to the courtroom. It is generally 
recommended that each courtroom have 

 
 At least two attorney client interview rooms  

 An entry vestibule to keep the noise in the corridors out of the courtroom 

 Access to secure circulation 

 Access to associated in-custody holding cells 

 Access to judges’ chambers by means of private circulation 

 Access to jury deliberation rooms (Circuit Court) by means of private circulation 

 Associated public waiting area 

Courtrooms also generally require associated storage rooms and an audio-visual equipment 
room.  

 
II. COURTHOUSE OCCUPANTS 

Determining the occupants of the courthouse is up to the local city or county. The 
courtrooms, the judiciary and court clerks are central to the functioning of the courts. In 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

addition, certain functions, such as prisoner handling and basic public services are 
considered part of the essential court functions that are included in all courthouses.  

 
Other functions may be included in courthouses to enhance efficiency of the overall system.  

 
 Commonwealth Attorney 

 Victim Witness Program  

 Day offices for outside social agencies (CASA, etc.) 

 Mediation 

 Juvenile Court Services 

 Community Corrections/Adult Probation 

 Public Defender 

III. PERSONNEL 

Staff occupies much of the space provided in a courthouse and, as with all office space, is 
an important factor in determining required space.  

 
IV. BARRIER FREE ACCESS 

The need to provide access for persons with disabilities often requires additional space to 
provide wheelchair access. The addition of ramps and space for turning has necessitated 
some additional space in courtrooms and other spaces such as restrooms and offices. The 
Americans with Disabilities Act govern requirements for barrier-free access in the 
courthouse. 

 
V. SPACE STANDARDS AND GROSSING FACTORS 

A major determinant of overall courthouse space is the space allocation standards used 
when designing a courthouse. Space allocation standards recommended in this document 
are based on best/current practice for court facilities using examples from recent courthouse 
construction in Virginia as well as from around the country. Many local jurisdictions also 
have their own space standards for general office design and construction which may be 
used for many of the general office spaces in the courthouse such as occur in the 
Commonwealth Attorney’s Office and clerks’ offices. 

 
The following table lists the most common workspaces incorporated in most court facilities. 
Workspaces 1 to 3 are open or landscaped, while the remaining workspaces are enclosed 
offices or rooms. The areas noted for the majority of rooms are measured to the center point 
of the enclosing partitions. Net areas for landscaped workstations are measured to the 
outside face of enclosing screens. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
 

Workspace Area Enclosure Typical Applications

Home Base 36 ft2 Open
‘Home base’ for staff who normally work away from their workstation. 
This includes volunteers and staff who might spend most of their 
workday in the courtroom or out of the building.

Workstation 48 ft2 Open Staff without regular need to consult others at their workstation and 
without special equipment needs. 

Workstation 70 ft2 Open

Staff at all levels, with regular need to consult one other person in 
workstation, and with additional work surface, reference storage and 
special equipment needs; or staff at all levels, with need to consult with 
two other persons in workstation, and additional storage/reference 
needs, but without special equipment needs.

Small Meeting/ 
Interview Room 90 ft2 Enclosed

Space for up to four persons to have a short meeting with acoustical 
privacy but no storage needs. Also used as interview room or attorney 
client interview room.

Standard Office 100-120 ft2 Enclosed

Personnel with role requiring space for regular meetings with up to two 
other persons, acoustical privacy, reference and file storage. Also can 
be used for day offices for visiting social service agencies such as 
CASA. Judicial Secretary, Investigator, law clerk.

Professional/Attorney 
Office 120-140 ft2 Enclosed

Professionals such as assistant commonwealth attorney, public 
defender attorney, or probaiton officer. Requires acoustical privacy, 
reference and file storage.

Supervisor's Office 130-150 ft2 Enclosed Professional and management workspace with room for three visitors, 
acoustical privacy, reference and file storage. 

Department Head 
Office 180-240 ft2  Enclosed Chief probation officer, District Court Clerk, J&DR Court Clerk

Judge's 
/Constitutional 
Officer's Office

300-380 ft2 Enclosed Judge workspace with room for five visitors and a washroom. Also 
used for Circuit Clerk and Commonwealth Attorney offices.

Jury Assembly 10-15 sq. ft 
per juror Enclosed Jury Assemble should hold 50 - 120 jurors. Courtroom may be used 

for jury assembly in small courthouses.

Jury Deliberation 265-400 ft2 Enclosed 15-20 sq. ft. per juror plus space for toilets, coat room, and kitchenette, 
and vestibule. Should hold a minimum of 14 persons.

Grand Jury Room 265-400 ft2 Enclosed Accommodates witness, court reporter, prosecutor, and jurors. Jury 
deliberation room may be used.

Law Library Variable Enclosed Depends upon size of collection. May be used as conference room.

Large Circuit 
Courtroom 2,000-2,200 Enclosed If thre is only one Circuit Courtroom in the Courthouse it should be a 

large courtroom to accommodate a variety of proceedings.
Regular Circuit 
Coourtroom 1,400-1,600 Enclosed Standard jury trial courtroom. 

Large General 
District Courtroom 2,000-2,200 Enclosed

Used for traffic or other high volume functions. If there is only one 
General District Courtroom in the Courthouse it should be approx. 
2,000 in order to handle all types of proceedings.

Standard General 
District Courtroom 1,200-1,400 Enclosed Standard non-jury courtroom. 

Large J&DR 
Courtroom 1,200-1,400 Enclosed Limited spectator seating. Litigation area should accommodate 

several counsel tables.

Standard J&DR 
Courtroom 1,000-1,200 Enclosed Limited spectator seating. Litigation area should accommodate 

several counsel tables.

Summary of Space Standards



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

A. Net Square Feet (NSF) 

For the purposes of these guidelines, net square feet (NSF) is the amount of space 
required for a particular function, such as a single workstation or private office, 
exclusive of interior walls or circulation space around the functional area. The NSF is 
the assignable, or functional, space in the building. These facility guidelines include 
space standards that are described in net square feet (NSF).  

 
Net areas for open office shelving and file cabinets, including high-density filing and 
mechanical filing units include the required working area in front of the unit to allow 
the files and shelves to be accessed.  

 
Net areas for reception counters and service counters include space to allow the staff 
to sit or stand behind the counter and for the public to stand in front of the counter.  
 

B. Component Gross Square Feet (CGDF) 

To make individual functional spaces work in conjunction with each other, such as a 
cluster of offices or workstations, a circulation/grossing factor is added to the NSF. 
The circulation factor adds space for interior walls and partitions, internal corridors, 
and circulation among functional components. This is the amount of area that is 
required for a department or component such as the clerk’s office or Commonwealth 
Attorney’s Office to function within the building. This is the Component Gross 
Square Feet and is calculated by multiplying the total NSF in a component by a factor 
that estimates the additional space needed for partitions, interior circulation, and 
structural members and columns. Depending upon the type of space the appropriate 
factors may vary from 1.2 to 1.5.   

 
The CGSF needed in a courthouse is reasonably consistent with similar requirements 
in commercial office or government administration buildings except in highly 
specialized areas, such as courtrooms and prisoner holding facilities that require 
considerably more internal circulation.  
  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

C. Building Gross Square Feet (BGSF) 

To link various functional departments within a courthouse and to transport people 
among floors additional space has to be added to the CGSF. Basic core functions, 
beyond net assignable square feet, and beyond CGSF, are required in any building. 
For a courthouse, this includes major public corridors linking departments; private 
corridors linking courtrooms, judges' chambers, jury deliberation rooms, and other 
dedicated courtroom-support spaces; secure corridors linking courtrooms with 
prisoner detention facilities; 
public elevators and elevator 
lobbies; private and secure 
elevators; stairs; mechanical, 
electrical, and plumbing 
chases; public toilet facilities; 
and the exterior walls of the 
building. It is suggested that 
main lobby areas, bulk storage 
areas, and major mechanical 
systems are best treated as net 
assignable spaces in order to 
assure sufficient space. 

 
Because courthouses have unique security and circulation requirements, more total 
space is needed to make individual departmental areas work than in an office building 
or other government buildings. Courthouses require additional private corridors and 
private and secure elevator cores. Because judicial facilities must handle large 
numbers of people with efficiency and a sense of decorum, main lobbies, elevator 
cores and elevator lobbies, and public corridors must be larger than in a typical office 
building. This additional space is referred to as building gross square feet (BGSF).    

 
D. Net to Gross Ratios/Efficiency Factors 

During the planning process it is necessary to estimate both the CGSF and the BGSF. 
Both can be estimated by multiplying the net area by a grossing factor. To arrive at an 
estimate of CGSF the net area is multiplied by a factor of 1.2 to 1.3. To arrive at a 
BGSF estimate the typical courthouse should have a net to gross ratio of 1.35 to 1.65.  
The NSF should be multiplied by a factor of 1.35 to 1.65 to estimate total BGSF. The 
average ratio among recent projects nationwide is about 1.50. 

 
E. Ratio of Total Building Area to Total Number of Courtrooms 

Another way to estimate total BGSF is to make use of the ratio of BGSF to the 
number of courtrooms. This might be done in order to obtain a rough order of 
magnitude estimate during the early planning discussions prior to the hiring of a cost 
consultant. An examination of recent court project nationally provided a range of 
12,000 to 17,000 BGSF per courtroom. A critical factor in determining this ratio is 

Net Area

Component Gross  Area 1.2 -1.3 x Net

Building Gross  Area 1.40 -1.65 x Net

Typical Courthouse Efficiency and Grossing Factors



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SIZE DETERMINANTS OF THE COURTHOUSE  PAGE 5-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

what is to be included in the courthouse. In Virginia, a courthouse that includes 
Juvenile Court Services and Community Corrections within the building will have a 
slightly higher BGSF/courtroom ratio than one that does not.  Also, Virginia’s courts 
on average operate with fewer staff, such as judicial secretaries/ assistants, law clerks, 
and other judicial support staff, than do many courts around the country, thus 
Virginia’s courthouses are likely to have a lower BGSF to courtroom ratio on average 
than do courthouses in other areas of the country. For the purposes of early planning a 
good ratio for courts in Virginia is be between 13,000 and 16,000 BGSF per 
courtroom.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-1 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 6 -  GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS 

While many elements of a courthouse can be described as discrete units that combine to create 
individual areas of the building, other elements are pervasive and affect the ultimate utility of the 
facility. These guidelines address the pervasive elements first to emphasize their importance. The 
effects of elements such as location, circulation, and security are hard to quantify. Yet the 
successful integration of these elements into the building will be apparent to, and appreciated by, 
all users of the facility, while failure to do so will quickly be apparent. 
 
I. SITE PLANNING AND ACQUISITION 

If new construction is the option chosen, information about the availability, suitability, and 
cost of alternative sites is necessary. A major consideration should be the impact that a 
move will have on the public and client populations. How accessible is the new location? Is 
public transportation available? Is there sufficient parking?  

 
Another factor to be considered is the affect that a move will have on the movement of in-
custody defendants and how transportation costs will be affected. 
 
Among the criteria that usually need to be considered are, 
 

 Ease of public access. 

 Availability of public 
transportation and 
parking. 

 Proximity to other 
government buildings 
and programs. 

 Relationship to other 
services such as 
restaurants, office 
supplies, libraries, copy 
centers and attorney 
offices.  

 Relationship to civic 
center. 

 Impact on surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

 Prominence of site. 

 Availability and cost of site. 

 
City of Portsmouth Courthouse, Site Plan 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-2 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 Expansion potential. 

 Site amenities. 

 Physical constraints of the site. 

 Site use restrictions. 

 Prisoner accessibility. 

Initial consideration of site acquisition should be kept “in house” to prevent land cost 
escalation. Public hearings on site selection, with publication of advance notice of the 
hearings, is advisable in order to obtain the views of various interest groups and to obviate 
subsequent opposition on the ground that conflicting interests were not taken into 
consideration in the site selection process. 

 
A. Location 

When planning a new courthouse, the site should be one that is easily reached by the 
general public, either by car or public transportation. It is desirable that it be in 
proximity to the main business district and any cluster of professional offices, 
particularly attorneys, and near other government offices with which the court 
interacts. While it is not essential that the courts be located near the jail, it is often 
desirable. Those courts that have direct access from the jail to the court experience 
fewer problems and reduced expense for transportation of prisoners. Where this is not 
possible, a special entry, or vehicular sally port, for prisoner transport vehicles is 
required.  

 
Today many new courthouses are built on the perimeter of the community in which 
they were once located because of congested downtown locations and the scarcity of 
suitable building sites large enough to accommodate the new building’s requirements. 

 
It is rare to have everyone agree on an ideal location for the new court facility but 
deliberations should involve considerations for the public, business and professional 
communities and other government activities. Careful study of the past and projected 
growth of the locality and its demographics could prove useful in designating the best 
available site.  

 
Whenever possible, all three courts (Circuit Court, General District Court, and 
Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court) should be located in the same 
facility, or in facilities in close proximity to one another, as in a judicial or 
government complex or campus. The public perceives the courts as a whole, and 
looks to the courthouse as the logical place to go for matters relating to “court.” When 
the Circuit, General District, and Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Courts are 
located in different parts of the community, it can be confusing to members of the 
public. It can also detract from the notion of a unified court system, particularly when 
there is a noticeable difference in the quality of the facilities housing the three courts.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-3 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

B. Public and Pedestrian Access 

Access to the courthouse should be both safe and convenient for everyone. Ideally it 
would be located where individuals have easy, inexpensive access to the building, 
where it is located on public transportation routes, within easy walking distance of 
major government and commercial buildings, and close to major public roads with 
plenty of parking. Unfortunately, this is not always possible. Small rural communities 
often do not have public transportation and in many of our larger urban centers 
walking to the courthouse is not possible unless you are in the immediate vicinity. 
Most people will arrive at the courthouse by car, so it is critical that the courthouse be 
located on a main thoroughfare and that there be plenty of accessible parking.  

 
C. Parking 

Adequate parking should be available near all court facilities, with special provisions 
made for judges, Constitutional Officers, and if possible jurors. 

 
In addition to judges and staff, attorneys, litigants, family, friends, jurors, media 
personnel, and witnesses all come to the courthouse daily for trials, other court 
hearings, and to conduct business with the courts. In Virginia, land records bring title 
searchers, attorneys, and members of the public to the courthouse. Lack of adequate 
parking not only creates traffic problems, as people drive around looking for places to 
park, it can cause court delays when trial participants are late to court because they 
cannot find a place to park.  

 
Judges and Constitutional Officers should be proved secure parking, preferably in an 
enclosed garage with direct access to the court’s private circulation system. Judges 
should never be provided unsecured parking in the public parking area and judges’ 
parking spaces should never be identified. 

 
Determining the proper number of parking spaces is contingent on a number of 
factors, including:   

 
 The number and type of courtrooms.  

 The availability of and the expected use of public transit.  

 The availability of carpooling and public transportation programs to reduce staff 
parking requirements.  

 The number of employees.  

 The average number of attorneys, visitors, witnesses, litigant, and jurors expected 
daily and their expected length of stay.  

 Availability of existing parking within a three- to five-minute walk from the 
courthouse.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-4 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 The average number of official vehicles expected daily at the site.  

Demand for parking spaces at court facilities is not well documented. Limited data 
from several recent court projects indicate a parking demand for all courthouse users, 
excluding judicial officers who are given secured parking, ranges from about 2 to 4 
spaces per 1,000 gross building square feet. No single standard for courthouse 
parking exists: geographic location; number of and type of courtrooms; number of 
employees; proximity to downtown and public transit systems; availability of shared 
parking with other offices; and land uses all affect parking demand.  

 
Handicapped-accessible parking spaces in the quantities required by code relative to 
the overall size of the parking lot must be provided. Accessible spaces should be 
located adjacent (or as close as possible) to the building’s main entry.  

 
A drop-off zone may be provided near the building’s main entry. If provided it should 
be outside any defined security zone protected by bollards, berms, or other type of 
barrier. 

 
Provide a loading/delivery zone for delivery vehicles that do not need to use the 
loading dock, or where a loading dock is not provided.  

 
II. ACCOMMODATING THE PUBLIC 

Court facilities must include public waiting areas with access to pay telephones, drinking 
fountains, and restrooms, in or near courtrooms and offices where the public comes to 
conduct business.  

 
A. Waiting Areas 

Public waiting areas should be easily accessible from the public entrances. Seating 
areas should be provided, but should not obstruct traffic patterns. In addition to a 
lobby area near the main entrance, large hallways or special waiting rooms, with 
comfortable seating, in which 
visitors may wait and attorneys 
can meet with their clients, 
should be planned near 
courtrooms. In planning and 
furnishing these spaces 
consideration should be given to 
minimizing noise transmission 
from the waiting area to the 
courtroom. Because the 
aesthetics of the waiting area 
may have an effect on litigants 
and witnesses coming to court, 
care should be taken in selecting 

 
Fairfax County Courthouse, Public Waiting Area 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-5 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

the colors and textures of wall coverings and furnishings. Public restrooms, pay 
telephones, and water fountains should be conveniently located in or near these areas. 
Basic first-aid services may be provided. 

 
Waiting space needs vary with the type of court being served. General district courts 
with their large misdemeanor and traffic calendars will generally require more public 
waiting space than circuit courts. A public address system facilitates moving people 
from the waiting area to the courtrooms at the appropriate times. Juvenile and 
Domestic Relations District Courts also require larger waiting areas to accommodate 
persons waiting for their hearing. Unlike General District Court and Circuit Courts 
where persons generally wait for their hearing in the courtroom, J&DR Courts 
generally restrict seating in the courtroom to persons participating in the hearing 
while everyone else waits outside. 

 
Circuit courts generally require less waiting area. Smaller hallways with seating areas 
may be appropriate. To be effective, waiting areas must be planned to accommodate 
the court’s busiest days. Large numbers of people with no place to wait can create 
confusion in the courthouse and present a security and safety problem. 

 
Offices such as the clerk’s office should include open space to accommodate waiting 
lines and limited seating on the public side of the counter. 

 
B. Food Service 

Where food service is not 
available near the courthouse 
consideration should be given to 
providing some type of food 
service in the courthouse. 
Depending on the court’s size and 
level of activity, this need may be 
addressed by vending machines, a 
snack bar, or a cafeteria. For 
courts situated in a government 
complex, a central cafeteria may 
be available which would serve 
the courts’ needs. 

 
C. Public Information and Signage 

In large busy courthouses, a staffed information desk may be considered. If included, 
it should be located in a highly visible area near the main entrance just inside the 
security perimeter and clearly identified. Interactive touch screen displays that can 
provide directional as well as other building or case information can be located in the 
lobby or elsewhere in the building.  

 

 
City of Portsmouth Courthouse, Vending Area 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-6 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Good signage answers questions before they are asked and promotes good will with 
the public. It also eliminates the need to ask for directions or instructions from court 
staff that are busy working. There are many signage styles available, and several 
should be considered prior to selection.  

 
Facility planners should try to insure continuity of the signage supplier since internal 
changes are inevitable – and using the same type for new signs is desirable. Hand 
lettered signs should be avoided except as a very temporary measure. 

 
1. Case Information and Dockets 

 
In the main lobby and outside 
each courtroom should be an 
area where daily dockets can 
be displayed. In the past this 
was in the form of typed or 
printed sheets providing the 
defendant name, case number, 
time, and courtroom. Most 
new court facilities are 
making use of automated 
video docket display systems. 
These require power and data 
jacks positioned on the wall usually at a height of about seven to eight feet from 
the floor. Also required are mounting brackets to hold the video panels.  

 
2. Building Directions and Directory 

 
Prominent directional and informational signs should be used in the courthouse. 
Signs directing the public within a court facility should complement the interior 
decor of the facility and should be designed to be uniform and professional in 
appearance. Such signs should be located in the lobby and on each floor of the 
courthouse. 

 
There should be a building directory and a building schematic diagram located at 
the main public entrance that lists all offices in the building. Among the other 
types of signs that should be installed are: office names; room numbers; officials’ 
names and titles; counter signs such as criminal or civil; restricted access; 
warnings; directional signs with arrows; special handicap facilities; quiet zones; 
and brief procedural guidelines (i.e. “order and pay for photocopies here”). 

 
3. Limited English Proficiency 

 
There should be clearly displayed signage as soon as one enters a courthouse to 
indicate the availability of free language access services. It is desirable for this 
message to appear in English and also in any language for which there are at least 

 
Colonial Heights Courthouse, Video Docket in Lobby 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-7 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

1000 individuals served by the courthouse within a one year period (to the degree 
that each language possesses a written component).   

 
Additional signage is useful for those with limited English proficiency (LEP).  In 
particular, this material may be functional rather than tied to specific court 
terminology.  So, rather than identifying a “Docket,” a sign may be more useful 
for someone with LEP if it were to send the message, “Verify case information 
here.” All signs should be reviewed for accuracy on a regular basis as offices and 
functions may shift locations within a courthouse, and the signs should contain 
the English equivalent in addition to its translation.  In no event should signs be 
updated in English, without its translated equivalent being updated as well.  
Courts should especially consider multilingual signs to identify important 
locations for post-court obligations (i.e. fine paying station).  Signs can and 
should rely on images whenever possible, given the fact that any individual 
without visual impairment can understand them, regardless of language 
proficiency.  Many courts currently use such image signs to specify items that are 
forbidden within a court building, to advertise the existence of a non-smoking 
policy, and to identify the locations of male and female restrooms.                                                                   

 
III. PLANNING FOR EXTENDED HOURS ACCESS 

There is often a need for after-hours access to some parts of the building. The 
Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office often needs to work after-hours and on weekends. If 
Juvenile Court Services and Community Corrections are in the courthouse, they too may 
desire after-hours access to meet with clients and provide special programs. The 
Magistrates, if in the courthouse, require 24-hour access seven days a week.  

 
The layout of the courthouse should facilitate public and staff after-hours access to these 
areas while still maintaining overall building security. After hours use by one component 
must not jeopardize the security of other components in the building.  

 
IV. PLANNING FOR ACOUSTICS 

Careful consideration must be given to the choice of textures and materials used for carpets, 
screens, and wall coverings. Normal privacy between open-office workstations can be 
provided through use of high sound absorptive ceilings, moderately high screens, and 
sufficient ambient sound (either through general sounds in the office, or through use of an 
electronic sound masking system).  

 
Areas of the courthouse that require special acoustic consideration include jury deliberation 
rooms, judicial chambers, attorney / client interview rooms, probation offices, and attorney 
offices, as well as the prisoner holding areas and cells. Courtrooms have slightly difference 
acoustic requirements to assist all the participants to hear clearly. For this reason it is 
important to eliminate outside noises from being heard in the courtroom. This include 
outside street noises, conversations and noise from the corridors, and especially noise 
generated from within the court floor holding cells. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-8 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

V. PLANNING FOR LIGHTING 

Special mention is made of lighting requirements in areas where video display terminals 
(VDTs) are in use. Where VDTs are being used, light intensity and contrast between room 
surfaces must be reduced. This becomes more difficult in courtrooms where there is a need 
for clear observation and recognition of facial features and expressions and court exhibits. 
As a general rule, where VDTs are in use, illumination levels must be generally lower to 
ensure user comfort; display screens should be capable of being tilted and rotated; the top 
of the screen should be lower than the eyes of the user; and illumination levels ranging from 
20-50 foot candles should be provided on horizontal work surfaces. In general, a moderate 
level of general illumination combined with high performance task lighting should be used 
throughout the buildings.  

 
Courtroom lighting has traditionally been designed to provide general illumination (30 FC) 
throughout the room and higher illumination levels (70 FC) in the litigation well. With the 
use of VDTs at the judge’s bench, clerk’s workstation, jury box, witness stand, and attorney 
tables, workstations should be provided specific lighting and individual lighting controls.  

 
Workstation Lighting 

 
At the workstations, individual lighting requirements should be met through the use of 
individual control of the light sources illuminating the respective work areas, and through 
the use of localized task lighting.  

 
Screen clarity and office lighting affect worker well-being when using a VDT. 

 
 Glare from outside light sources creates eye strain.  

 The VDT should be positioned at a 90 degree angle to strong light sources such as 
windows or bright lights.  

 The screen angle should be adjusted to reduce glare if needed.  

 Screen filters may be needed to reduce glare if other methods fail.  

 The screen should have adequate character resolution and luminance.  

 Displays that have a perceptible “flitter” should be avoided.  

 Avoid intense light sources in the peripheral field of vision if possible.  

 
VI. BUILDING CODES 

All applicable state and local building and health and safety codes must be followed in the 
construction or renovation of court facilities. Building codes address quality of construction 
and safety of people. In the safety area, fire protection is the most critical because of the 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-9 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

swift and devastating effect of the by-products of combustion. Fire protection starts with 
prevention and then addresses early detection for evacuation or quick suppression and 
finally fast response by fire fighters. 
 

VII. PLANNING FOR ERGONOMIC DESIGN 

People whose occupations involve spending prolonged periods of time at a computer 
workstation are subjected to stresses that may lead to painful, debilitating conditions. 
Ergonomic standards in the workplace promote worker productivity, safety and health. For 
this reason, all workstations whether located in offices, courtrooms, or other areas of the 
courthouse should be designed to meet basic ergonomic design requirements, such as those 
specified in ANSI/HFES 100-2007, Human Factors Engineering of Computer 
Workstations.  

 
Office and furniture design should consider a wide range of ergonomic issues, including the 
type of seating, the location and placement of the keyboard, mouse or other input devices, 
the location and placement of the video display terminal (VDT), and lighting. Adjustable 
chairs and desks, well-designed keyboards, and proper lighting all contribute to the 
reduction of physical stresses.  

 
 Workstations (including built-in counter workstations) should provide appropriate 

clearances for knees; clearances to undersides of fixed work surfaces; clearances 
for adjustable height work surfaces; and ADA accessibility. 

 Hand controls, drawer pulls, handles, knobs, etc. should provide adequate space 
for hands and fingers. 

 Frequently used hand controls should be within easy reach and be in the 
operator’s primary reach zone. 

 Storage units should be designed with closures that minimally intrude into work 
activity and circulation zones. 

A. Workstation Seating 

 Seating should be designed to meet ANSI/HFS 100-2007.  

 The chair should accommodate a variety of seated postures. 

 The angle between the seat pan and backrest should be adjustable: 

 Chairs should provide a five blade base with swivel caster. 

 Chairs should have an adjustable seat height so that thighs are nearly horizontal 
and feet can rest flat and comfortably on the floor. 

 There should be a footrest if feet are unable to rest comfortably on the floor.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GENERAL BUILDING CONCEPTS   PAGE 6-10 
 

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 There should be an angle of 60 to 100 degrees between the upper and lower legs, 
when feet are flat on the floor or on a foot support. 

 The chair should permit an angle of not less than 90 degrees, with 100 degrees as 
preferable, between the seat pan and seat back.  

 An adjustable backrest should provide support for the curvature in the lower back.  

B. Posture and Location of VDT 

 Elbows should be kept close to the sides of the body to reduces upper back and 
shoulder muscle tension. 

 A 90 degree angle should be maintained between the upper and lower arm. This is 
considered “neutral,” although any position between 70 and 135 degrees is 
acceptable. 

 The wrist and forearm should be held in a straight line with the forearm should be 
roughly parallel to the floor to reduce tendon and nerve stress.  

 Wrists should be supported near the keyboard by a wrist support to help provide a 
neutral (straight) arm/wrist position. 

 The keyboard should slope between 0 and 25 degrees.  

 The head should be up, with the VDT about 48 to 25 inches from the eyes. The 
minimum acceptable eye-to-screen distance is 12 inches.  

 The VDT display should be located at a comfortable viewing angle and distance. 
Current research suggests that the entire display should be slightly below (about 
20 degrees below the horizon) the horizontal line of sight. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 7 -  PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY 

I. RESPONDING TO CHANGING TECHNOLOGY 

The past decade has seen dramatic changes in the work and organization of courts, and in 
the technology and equipment needed to support that work. The use of technologies such as 
video conferencing and the internet is changing how courts conduct business. Changes in 
video and telecommunications technology make it possible to conduct trials without having 
to bring the witnesses, jurors, and judge together in one room. The day may come when 
video testimony replaces the appearance of witnesses at the courthouse. Even jurors could 
participate from their homes and offices, perhaps by viewing an edited video record rather 
than the live proceedings. A video trial could be cheaper, safer, less time-consuming, and 
easier to schedule; make more efficient use of judges' and attorneys' time; reduce pressures 
on courtroom facilities and be more considerate of and more convenient for victims and 
witnesses1. While this vision of the future may not be realized, even today recorded 
depositions may be entered as evidence in some cases, children may offer testimony via 
remote closed-circuit television in certain stressful situations, and judges conduct 
arraignments and hold preliminary hearings by remote video hookups. 

 
In order to make the most use of these technologies, court facilities will need to be designed 
to support: 

 
 Communication and data networks (LANS, WANS, and wireless networks) that 

permit independence and data exchange. This means that the infrastructure should 
be designed to serve multiple computer platforms in the building‘s backbone2. 

 Distributed computing among courts and court-related agencies; including desk-
based legal research, videoconferencing, E-mail, automated case management 
systems, document imaging, and records and document storage systems. 

 Multimedia systems including interactive video technology for arraignments and 
other non-dispositive hearings, evidence presentation and display, court 
interpreting, intake interviews, initial appearances and probable cause hearings, 
and staff training.  

 Remote electronic access to court systems, for case/document filing, fine 
payment, and public information from remote sites (including law offices, motor 
vehicles offices, or satellite court facilities, other public offices).  

 Assistive Listening devices, TDD (Telecommunication Device for the Deaf) 
service to public, and other assistive devices in courtrooms, offices and court-
support areas (jury assembly, hearing rooms, etc.). 

                                                 
1 Virginia Futures Report 
2 The backbones is that part of the building that supporters the main building systems, such as electrical and power, 
HVAC, plumbing, etc. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

The interface of the following systems through the use of communication protocols over 
connected wiring and cabling systems: 

 
 Generator or standby power systems 
 Un-interruptible power supply 
 Emergency lighting 
 Lighting control systems 
 PBX or telecommunication systems 
 Office automation 
 Management Information Systems 
 Energy Management Systems (EMS) 
 Temperature Monitoring Systems (TMS) 
 Control systems on packaged equipment, including chillers, boilers, 

computer room HVAC, kitchen equipment, laboratory equipment, etc. 
 Fire Management (Life Safety) Systems, including detection and 

smoke control devices 
 Security Management Systems and Access Control Systems 
 Maintenance Management Systems 
 Miscellaneous Building Systems 
 Elevator Control Systems 

 
Continued improvements in office and office-related technologies can be expected to 
improve individual worker productivity, improve communications, reduce movement 
between and within offices, reduce physical use of paper and physical storage needs, and 
create a host of other changes in court operations, and public and individual work spaces.  

 
Less quantifiable, but equally important, changes can be expected as the severing of 
physical ties allows managers to consider new operational methods and “teaming” 
arrangements, and allows workers more freedom of movement. This translates to a need for 
flexibility in office areas to accommodate potential changes in court operations and staffing 
needs. 
 
A. Automated Case Management 

The future of case management systems will include the integration of the electronic 
case file with imaged information, word processing and other functions performed by 
computers. Attorneys may file pleadings from their offices; signed documents may be 
disseminated electronically without physically routing the documents to the judge and 
other participants; fines, fees, and other payments can be made using electronic 
commerce and appeals may be made with electronic transfer of trial court records.  

 
One of the most important physical limitations on court facility planning has been the 
need to maintain a close spatial relationship between the physical case file and those 
who need to use it (judges, clerks, or the public/attorneys). With automated case 
management systems, physical adjacencies is less important permitting courtrooms 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

and chambers to be located in different buildings from the clerk’s office, while 
providing remote access to all case records. 

 
Future clerks may function more like a data processing center or reference library. 
Many, perhaps most, inquiries may be handled over the Internet with fewer attorneys 
coming to the office. Only litigants and pro se individuals may need to come into the 
clerk’s office to make inquiries. Other offices, such as probation or the 
Commonwealth Attorney, will be able to do so much quicker and easier from their 
offices, or from their laptop, tablet, or smart device. 

 
The long-term future will see the elimination of large record rooms and record 
storage vaults as more information is automated, imaged, stored and made available 
electronically. The need for imaging equipment workstations, public access stations, 
or work carrels will increase, but these spaces may be located anywhere, even outside 
of the courthouse. 

 
B. Videoconferencing 

Video conferencing is changing the interactions among litigants/defendants and the 
court. The use of video conferencing for arraignments and other types of preliminary 
hearings means fewer prisoners being brought to the courtroom. This will reduce the 
prisoner traffic in the courthouse and may mean smaller holding facilities.  

 
Videoconferencing has also become prevalent among court interpreters and 
magistrates and will become commonplace in other areas, such as the clerks’ offices, 
Commonwealth Attorneys, public defenders, probation officers, social workers, and 
others who need to interview and make visual assessments of persons with whom 
they are speaking, or who need to travel a lot in their investigations.   

 
Videoconferencing will reduce the number of face-to-face meetings, thus reducing 
the amount of time in transit and increase the amount of productive time in the office. 
The use of video conferencing frees people from the need of physical adjacency and 
permits greater flexibility in the 
organization of the courthouse.  

 
C. Evidence Presentation 

The challenge with the inclusion 
of evidence presentation systems 
in the courtroom has been to make 
it appear unobtrusive. This means 
raised floors for cabling and wires, 
built-in equipment and flat panel 
video display monitors at multiple 
locations so that they do not block 
peoples’ view, and careful 

 
Courtroom Electronic Evidence Display System 

Fairfax County Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

consideration regarding the 
location of cameras, display 
monitors, and other equipment so 
that it is usable without 
interfering with movement and 
sight.  

 
With video cameras and 
individual display monitors 
everyone has a “front row seat”. 
Jurors can clearly see and hear 
the witness even if located on the 
far side of the courtroom. Sight 
lines and distance become less 
important as long as there still 
remains a semblance of visual contact. 

 
Equipment must be located where it supports the trial activities without disrupting 
normal functions of the court and the individual work areas in the courtroom.  

 
The following are some of the possible design features that may be required to 
accommodate and facilitate seamless court technology. 

 
 Raised floors to permit wiring and re-wiring; 

 Built-in video monitors for jurors, the judge, witness, court staff, and attorneys; 

 Built-in computer workstations for judge and clerks; 

 Equipment/AV rooms to house servers, AV and computer equipment that do not 
need to be in the courtroom; and 

 Larger clerk’s station with storage space to accommodate computer, scanner, 
printer, and other equipment.  

D. Electronic Access 

The use of remote electronic access to the courts has been growing steadily as a way 
of increasing efficiency and improving public service. Attorneys can file documents 
electronically, documents can be distributed electronically, parties in a case can look 
up court calendars and the status of a case and people can pay fines over the internet 
and download court forms.  

 
Court staff will be able to work from any location in the courthouse and even outside. 
They will carry their office with them in the form of tablet computers with built in 
Wi-Fi. This will be important for prosecutors and public defenders that need to be in 
and out of court all day, but may not be able to get back to their “office.” The same 

 
Evidence Display Monitor Located at Jury Box 

Fairfax County Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

may be true for probation officers and other court service staff, or social workers, 
who need to come to court.  

 
Just as with electronic filing and other technologies, the biggest impact will be on the 
need for people to come to the courthouse. With the exception of those who do not 
have access to computers and persons who are ordered to appear in court, or wish to 
observe court, people will no longer need to come to the courthouse to conduct 
routine business. The reduction in the number of persons having to come to the 
courthouse also will relieve pressures on parking and mean that much less public 
circulation may be required in future courthouses. 

 
E. Imaging and Workflow 

Over 80 courts in Virginia now have document imaging systems and are beginning to 
scan criminal case documents. As this trend accelerates, the need for large court 
record rooms and record storage vaults will diminish as more information is 
automated, imaged, stored, and made available electronically. The space needed for 
imaging equipment and workstations, public access terminals and work carrels or 
other public access workstations, may increase. But, these spaces may be located 
outside the courthouse in the form public accessible workstations such as might be 
found in the public library, thus reducing the number of people that need to come to 
the courthouse to conduct their business.  

 
Considerable savings in space can occur in clerk’s records areas as the result of 
replacing lien books, order books, judgment books, and even case files with imaged 
documents stored electronically. The greatest impact on court operations and 
courthouse design, however, will be the result of the ability to conduct court from any 
location and have immediate access to court case files by phone or data line. 
Adjacency needs of the courts and support offices will change as work can be done 
without being physically close to the case files.  

 
II. GENERAL DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS FOR TECHNOLOGY 

The responsibility for providing the technology equipment in the courthouse is split 
between the Virginia Supreme Court and the local governing body. The Virginia Supreme 
Court provides all of the computer equipment for the judges and clerks, including the 
judge’s bench and clerk’s workstation in the courtrooms. In general the county/city is 
responsible for everything else, including the Commonwealth Attorney Office and any 
video equipment or electronics at the jury box and the attorney tables. The local 
government also provides the wiring/cabling to OES specifications. This currently requires 
CAT 6 wiring to every jack in the building.   

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

As a general rule, judges will use laptop computers in chambers but require a desktop 
computer and two video display monitors at the bench3. One display is for viewing 
documents and case information on the computer and the other is dedicated for viewing the 
evidence display system. 
 
The designer shall coordinate the requirements and configuration of the utility supply 
connections and technology design requirements with the Office of the Executive Secretary 
and the utility service providers to determine service criteria. In order for the office to have 
sufficient time to review the design, this should be done before the completion of 60% 
architectural documents. Telephone and data lines 
should be provided underground to the building’s 
main terminal connection point. The building 
should have conduits for telecommunication and 
data transmission systems to all current and future 
identified workstations. The same applies to 
electrical supply.  

 
It should be assumed that the courts and other 
building tenants will each have their own 
computer system with personal computers (PCs) 
connected via Local Area Network (LAN) or 
Wide Area Network (WAN), with internet access. It should also be assumed that wireless 
networks will rapidly become the standard in many areas of the courthouse. Separate data 
server rooms may be required for the courts, Sheriff, Commonwealth Attorney, and other 
agencies in the building. 

 
A. Future Implementation of Technology 

The most critical consideration in planning 
for the future implementation of technology 
is to ensure that there is sufficient flexibility 
to permit the easy upgrade of current 
systems in the future. This means that the 
courthouse should be designed to make it as 
simple as possible to handle general 
expansion of systems as well as frequent 
changes and upgrades to existing systems. 
Telecommunications and data connections 
should be considered in light of the 
relatively short life of today’s systems. 
Raceways for voice, data, and power 
cabling/wiring should be designed to 
provide the greatest amount of future 

                                                 
3 The second display monitor is for viewing evidence.  If an electronic evidence display system in not going to be 
installed in the courtroom(s) the second monitor is not needed.  However, wiring and cabling should be installed to 
allow for future installation. 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Courtroom Electronics Transfer

Reporter
Judge

Clerk

Witness

Bailiff
Attorney

Jury

— Duress Alarm
— Speakers
— Microphone
— Computers

— Evidence Display Monitor

 
Raised Access Floor System 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-7  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

flexibility for hookups to all areas of the courthouse, and the ability to add and 
replace wiring and cabling in the future as new technologies are installed.  
 

B. Floor Systems 

The rapid pace of technological improvements requires the upgrade and addition of 
new equipment at ever more frequent intervals. Additionally, the continued transition 
from centralized data processing to distributed processing, and the use of local and 
wide area networks means continual changes to equipment locations and wiring. With 
these changes in technology, come changes to office workflows and processes in 
courts and court-related offices, which mean movement and changes to office 
workstations and equipment. In order to avoid obsolescence, it is essential to maintain 
flexibility in the building’s capacity and ability to change in response to these needs. 
One means of achieving this flexibility is through the use of access flooring. 
Consideration may be given to their use in open-office environments and courtrooms. 

 
C. Workstations 

It should be assumed that every workstation, or office, in the courthouse will require a 
computer workstation with video display monitor, a printer, and document scanner. 
Many workstations will require dual monitors. Other devices that may need to be 
accommodated include phone chargers, battery chargers, and computer tablets.  

 
Additional computer workstations will include the public counters in the clerks’ 
offices and Circuit Clerk’s records room. Counter workstations should have the 
capability of including a document scanner and printer. Generally it should be 
assumed that each workstation will require at least two data and one voice line (3 
CAT 6 lines), and a minimum of two quadriplex electrical outlets. Specialized 
workstations may require additional electrical outlets. Because of the heat generated 
by electrical equipment, steps should be taken to ensure that equipment is cooled. 
Plans should include room for considerable growth in electrical demand. 

 
D. Video Conferencing  

Design of courtroom workstations, office spaces, and conference and meeting rooms 
should anticipate use of video conferencing for communications in the future. All 
courtrooms, judicial chambers, and judicial conference rooms should have access to 
video conferencing equipment for the purposes of viewing remote witness testimony, 
including expert and child witnesses, as well as the ability to conduct remote hearings 
and interviews.  

 
E. Video Cameras in the Courtrooms 

All courtrooms should have security cameras installed that terminate at the Sheriff’s 
security control center. Security cameras should have the ability to record events 
within the courtroom.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-8  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Another use of video cameras is to view the proceedings from a remote location. In 
situations where the press and media are permitted to broadcast live images of court 
proceedings, the court may want to give consideration to equipping several 
courtrooms with video cameras for this purpose. The advantage to the court of 
installing its own equipment is that it avoids the necessity of setting up portable 
cameras within the confines of the courtroom. It also provides the court with greater 
control over their use and in the images broadcast.  

 
If installed, cameras should be located to view the judge and witness, the attorney 
tables, and public gallery. Cameras should not show the jurors at any point in the 
proceedings. All controls for such video cameras should be located at the clerk’s 
workstation and the judge should have a switch with which to turn off the cameras at 
any point.  

 
F. Sound Reinforcement Systems 

Courtrooms over 1,000 SF need audio amplification to permit the judge, jurors, 
litigants, and public spectators to hear clearly and understand the participants. Instead 
of hard surfaces in the courtrooms, soft acoustic surfaces should be installed 
whenever audio enhancement systems are installed. 

 
Microphones should be located at the bench, clerk’s workstation, witness stand, 
lectern, jury box (where present), and attorney tables. Controls should be located at 
the clerk’s station.  

 
Sound reinforcement systems consist of microphones, electronic mixers, signal 
processors, amplifiers and speakers. The sound system should be designed to operate 
automatically with automatic mixers controlling microphones (turning on 
microphones which are being spoken into). Microphone switches should be provided 
at each microphone, which will function as Off-Auto. Automatic volume controllers 
should be used to help compensate for variations in voice levels and microphone 
distances.  

 
Systems also should be provided with electronics equalization to compensate for the 
acoustic properties of the finished courtrooms, speakers, and microphones. The 
master controls should be located at the clerk’s station, or judge’s bench, and should 
include a power switch, master volume control, and override controls.  

 
G. Assistive Listening Systems 

Permanently installed assistive listening systems should be provided in courtrooms, 
hearing rooms, jury deliberation rooms, and jury assembly or orientation rooms. Fifty 
percent, but not less than one of each type of courtroom, is to have a permanently 
installed assistive listening system. Additionally, 50% but not less than one of each of 
the following types of spaces is to have a permanently installed assistive listening 
system: hearing rooms, jury deliberation rooms, and jury assembly or orientation 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-9  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

rooms. The minimum number of receivers shall be four percent of the room’s 
occupant load, but not less than two receivers.  

 
Because it is not always possible to change courtrooms or jury deliberation rooms if 
someone requires an assistive listening device, consideration should be given to 
installing such equipment in all courtrooms and jury deliberation rooms. 

 
H. Public Address System 

Each courthouse should be equipped with a public address system reaching all public 
areas of the courthouse. Especially in large courthouses, it is possible that a paging 
system may be needed to locate parties. When court schedules fall behind or move 
ahead more rapidly than anticipated, the court may benefit from a means of paging 
parties throughout the courthouse. Such systems should not operate in courtrooms or 
office areas. 

 
I. Acoustics 

The growing use of hands-free telephones and advances in voice recognition systems 
and their integration into office workstations increases the importance of acoustics in 
the design of all work spaces. Design of courtroom workstations, offices, counter 
positions and public reception area positions require good sound clarity where 
teleconferencing or video conferencing is likely to be used.  

 
Careful consideration must be given to the choice of textures and materials used for 
carpets, screens, and wall coverings. Ceilings, floors, and all furniture and 
workstation construction require high levels of sound absorption. Normal privacy 
between open-office workstations can be provided through use of high sound 
absorptive ceilings, moderately high screens, and sufficient ambient sound (either 
through general sounds in the office, or through use of an electronic sound masking 
system). Confidential privacy in open-office areas is very difficult to achieve and 
requires use of tall screens and highly absorptive ceilings and floors.  

 
J. Lighting 

Where video display terminals are being used, lighting intensity and contrast between 
room surfaces must be reduced. This becomes more difficult in courtrooms where 
there is a need for clear observation and recognition of facial features and 
expressions, and court exhibits. As a general rule, where VDTs are in use, 
illumination levels should be generally lower to ensure user comfort; display screens 
should be capable of being tilted and rotated; the top of the screen should be lower 
than the eyes of the user; and illumination levels ranging from 20-50 foot candles 
should be provided on horizontal work surfaces. In general, a moderate level of 
general illumination combined with high performance task lighting should be used 
throughout the buildings.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-10  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Courtroom lighting has traditionally been designed to provide general illumination 
(30 FC) throughout the room and higher illumination levels (70 FC) in the litigation 
well. With the use of VDTs at the judge’s bench, clerk’s workstation, and attorney 
tables, workstations should be provided specific lighting and individual lighting 
controls.  

 
At the workstations, individual lighting requirements should be met through the use 
of individual control of the halogen lamp sources illuminating the respective work 
areas, and through the use of localized task lighting.  

 
III. ELECTRICAL POWER AND ELECTRICAL CLOSETS 

The building’s vertical power distribution system should be designed for easy change and 
modification through vertical stacking of electrical closets and provision of simplified 
modular connections to horizontal distribution systems. A minimum of two electrical 
closets per floor should be provided. 
 
A. Emergency and Standby Power Systems 

The need for and capacity of the emergency power system should be carefully 
evaluated, based on the building size, location, and usage. The purpose of an 
emergency power system is to: comply with code requirements; provide safe 
evacuation of the court building; and to allow for the orderly shutdown of building 
systems. The fuel storage capacity should be based on the minimum requirements to 
provide life safety and egress lighting.  

 
Each project should undergo and document an evaluation process to document the 
specific need for emergency and standby power. 

 
B. Uninterruptible Power System (UPS) 

UPS should be small, localized, rack-mounted units to serve individual racks or 
equipment. In a larger facility, one or more centralized UPS may be appropriate. 
During the project Schematic Phase, a review should be made of the projected UPS 
loads along with their locations and supporting functions in order to determine the 
optimal UPS system solution for the facility. In the study, the confirmation of the 
required battery backup time should be confirmed, taking into consideration outage 
scenarios and the availability of onsite generators. UPS for the data processing 
equipment should include rectifier/battery charger, solid-state inverter, static bypass 
transfer switch; maintenance-free batteries sized for 15 minutes, and synchronized 
circuitry. External maintenance bypass switches should be provided. 

 
IV. TELECOMMUNICATIONS  

The functions provided by traditional telephone systems are becoming part of the services 
provided by computers through the data server rooms. Voice over IP (VoIP) phone 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-11  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

technology is growing rapidly as is video transmission over the IP-data networks. Shortly, 
VoIP may replace the traditional phone systems in most new buildings.  
The telephone system should provide one telephone line per workstation in office areas and 
telephone lines in the courtroom to the judge’s bench, clerk’s workstation, attorney tables, 
and bailiff’s station. Telephones located at any of these locations in the courtroom should 
be equipped with lighted rather than acoustic ring. A telephone should also be located in the 
prisoner holding areas.  

 
Public phones should be provided in the lobby. While the advent of mobile phones has 
generally caused the disappearance of the public telephone, many courts prohibit such 
phones from the courthouse and provision should be made for the availability of public pay 
phones in the lobby or other public location.  

 
Telephone jacks should be available in all waiting areas, such as police waiting rooms, 
attorney/client conference rooms, witness waiting rooms, and police waiting areas. (Phones 
may not be installed in all cases, but provided as needed.)  

 
V. BUILDING BACKBONE 

The courthouse should be designed with a service entrance or main data room (MDR) for 
voice/data/AV communication systems. This room should be planned to terminate wiring 
and to house building electronics and cabling systems. The building should be designed 
with a fiber optic backbone with riser facilities formed by stacking communications/data 
rooms, and providing sleeves/slots through the floors. The backbone/riser facility should 
extend from the service entrance room to the floor IDR rooms, and provide a pathway for 
intra-building cable and for communication system ground. 

 
VI. SERVICE ENTRY ROOM 

A combined telecommunications and data entry room is needed to serve the entire building. 
This is the main entry location for all communications, data lines, and service provided 
termination components into the building and should be the main connections for all 
telecommunications equipment, video conferencing systems, and network servers for all 

offices in the building. From here, 
telecommunication and data lines go to the 
building’s main data room.  
 
The placement of the entrance facility will 
depend on the location of service provider 
networks, overall building size, the location 
of the electrical power entrance, and location 
of other building communications rooms. 
Whenever possible, co-locate the entrance 
facility within the main distribution facility 
to minimize the need to develop a separate, 
dedicated space. 

 
Communications Room Cable Trays 

Fairfax County Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-12  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

It should be planned to terminate wiring for the public switched network and to house 
building-level electronics and cross-connected inter- and intra-building cabling systems, 
using wiring distribution frames/backboards, protective blocks and other equipment 
required by the telephone and cable utilities. 
 
The entry room should be equipped with proper lighting for maintenance and access. The 
equipment should be installed in a manner that provides sufficient access to the back of 
equipment panels. Access also must be made available to the file server and 
telecommunication devices for installation, upgrades, and maintenance of equipment.  

 
All equipment should be protected from power surges and brown outs with the installation 
of power conditioning equipment and an uninterruptible power supply (UPS). 

 
The entry room should be approximately 300 square feet and planned to support logical 
expansion in place, or accommodate future equipment and entrance conduits for future 
expansion. It should be located at ground level on a perimeter wall adjacent to the local 
telephone company access. It should not be located in an area where flooding may occur. 

 
The room should be safe, secure, and dust free and protected by full-height fire walls of at 
least two-hour rating with no windows and no false ceilings. Ceilings should be 
waterproofed.  
 
It should be positively pressured to 
prevent dust infiltration. An ambient air 
temperature of 72 degrees F and 45% 
relative humidity should be maintained. 
A backup system to control room 
temperature and relative humidity is 
required and must be on the emergency 
power panel.  

 
VII. MAIN DATA ROOMS (MDR) 

A separate telecommunications and data 
room needs to be provided to serve the 
courts, clerks, and all other offices located in the building. The room should contain all of 
the buildings and court’s communications and data equipment. If the court and other offices 
have separate computer networks the room will need to be partitioned for the different 
servers.  

 
The room must be equipped with a secure cipher lock, card reader, or keypad to limit access 
to authorized persons.  

 
Temperature and humidity control is essential. It should be positively pressured to prevent 
dust infiltration. A/C units should be on emergency generated power and should be 

 
Computer Server and Communications Room,  

Fairfax County Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-13  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

independent from the building air. For security and temperature reasons the room should be 
located away from outside windows and doors.  

 
The data room should be equipped with proper fire extinguisher devices and smoke 
detectors.  
 
Floors must be leveled and be free of excessive vibration. Data rooms are usually 
unfinished with exposed concrete block walls, sealed concrete floors, and not finished 
ceiling. Carpeting should not be used. Smooth tiles with raised access flooring may be 
provided. 

 
All equipment should be protected from power surges and brown outs with the installation 
of power conditioning equipment and an uninterruptible power supply (UPS).  

 
The electrical feed should be isolated, including neutral and ground, from the rest of the 
building’s electrical system. 

 
Cable runs should not be placed in areas where high electromagnetic field strength exists. 

 
VIII. INDIVIDUAL DATA ROOM (IDR) 

At least one IDR should be provided on each floor (two for larger floors) to house floor-
level electronics and cross-connect the building 
backbone to horizontal building wiring. Closets 
should be positioned so that the maximum cable 
length from the closet to the termination point is 
90 meters.  
 
Rooms should be stacked vertically (common 
walls) and be pathway interconnected between 
floors. 
 
Rooms should be positioned so that it is possible 
to gain access without disrupting normal office 
work and sized to allow an engineer to work 
within the room and provide front and back 
access to the cabinets with space for additional 
wall mounted data patching frames.  
 
The room must be equipped with a secure cipher 
lock, card reader, or keypad to limit access to 
authorized persons.  
 
Temperature and humidity control is essential. It should be positively pressured to prevent 
dust infiltration. A/C units should be on emergency generated power and should be 

 
Dedicated Courtroom AV Closet,  

Fairfax County Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-14  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

independent from the building air. For security and temperature reasons the room should be 
located away from outside windows and doors.  
 
The room should be equipped with proper fire extinguisher devices and smoke detectors.  
Floors must be leveled and be free of excessive vibration. Data rooms are usually 
unfinished with exposed concrete block walls, sealed concrete floors, and not finished 
ceiling. Carpeting should not be used.  
 
All equipment should be protected from power surges and brown outs with the installation 
of power conditioning equipment and an uninterruptible power supply (UPS).  
The electrical feed should be isolated, including neutral and ground, from the rest of the 
building’s electrical system. 
 
Cable runs should not be placed in areas where high electromagnetic field strength exists. 
Access flooring may be used to accommodate the cables entering from the riser, connecting 
to the frames and accessing the secondary distribution system.  
 
Telecommunications pathways, or conduit, should not be located in elevator shafts. 
Rooms should have waterproof ceilings and no windows, HVAC ducting and pipe work 
should be kept out of the telecommunications risers. 
 

IX. DEDICATED AV CABINETS/CLOSETS 

With the advent of electronic evidence display systems being used in many new 
courthouses, consideration should be given to providing a space associated with each 
courtroom for multiple audiovisual racks. This may be an AV cabinet located within the 
courtroom or a closet that is accessible from the courtroom depending upon the amount of 
equipment required. In either case, attention must be given to providing the proper 
ventilation and cooling. 

 
X. LOBBY TECHNOLOGIES 

The lobby of the courthouse should contain a building directory and diagrams of the floor 
plan to assist in guiding visitors to the proper location. A bulletin board should be provided 
for the posting of public information such as daily court dockets. Provision also should be 
made for the installation of electronic directories and electronic docketing systems, using 
overhead-mounted video monitors in public areas, to display court cases being heard in 
each courtroom. Additional docket display locations may be located on individual court 
floors. Locations should be determined now and wiring provided for future installation if 
systems are not to be installed immediately. The courts also may want to consider touch 
screen displays, or kiosks, to provide individualized directions and case information4. 
 
 
 

                                                 
4 Caution should be exercised because kiosks and touch screen systems are limited to one user at a time and should 
be used only for specialized information. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-15  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Summary of Technology Requirements 
 

LOCATION EQUIPMENT 
ELECTRICAL, DATA, AUDIO, 

COMMUNICATIONS 
DISTRIBUTION 

LIGHTING 

Bench 

 Concealed, silent, supervised 
duress alarm.  

 Desktop computer with silent 
keyboard and flat panel video 
display. 

 Notebook computer. 
 Separate built-in flat panel 

video display monitor for 
evidence display.  

 Microphone connected to a 
mixer and amplifier controlled 
by the judge or clerk. 

 A minimum of two flush- 
mounted quadriplex 
electrical outlets. 

 One dedicated computer 
power receptacle. 

 Two data jacks and two 
audio jacks. 

 One phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting 
augmented by task lighting 
directly above the bench. 
Lighting controls for the 
entire courtroom should be 
located at or near the bench 
or clerk’s station. Lighting 
controls should have preset 
setting 

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 

Clerk Station 

 Concealed, silent, supervised 
duress alarm. 

 Desktop computer with silent 
keyboard and flat panel video 
display monitor.  

 Document scanner and quiet 
color printer. 

 The control console for the 
sound amplification system may 
be located at the clerk's station. 

 Controls for video and 
teleconferencing equipment. 

 Microphone connected to a 
mixer and amplifier controlled 
by the judge or clerk. 

 Telephone with silent ring. 

 A minimum of two flush- 
mounted quadriplex 
electrical outlets. 

 One dedicated computer 
power receptacle. 

 Two data jacks. 
 Two audio jacks. 
 One phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting 
augmented by task lighting 
directly above. Lighting 
controls for the entire 
courtroom should be 
located at or near the bench 
or clerk’s station. Lighting 
controls should have preset 
setting. 

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 

Attorney 
Tables 

 Microphone. 
 Flat panel video display monitor 

for attorneys to view evidence, 
documents, and video 
conferences. 

  

 Minimum of two quadriplex 
electrical outlet per table, 
flush mounted in the floor.  

 Two data jacks and two 
phone jacks per table. 

 Two audio jacks per table. 

 Normal room lighting.  
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors. 

Witness Stand 
 Flat panel video display 

monitors for evidence and 
document display. 

 Microphone. 

 One quadriplex power 
outlet.  

 Two data jacks. 
 One audio jack. 

 Normal room lighting.  
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors. 

Evidence 
Display 

 Video Projection screen and/or 
large screen video monitor for 
evidence display. 

 Marker board or electronic “Soft 
Board.” 

 Minimum of one flush-
mounted quadriplex 
electrical outlet. 

 Two data jacks. 

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 

Court 
Reporter 

 Steno machine (provided by 
reporter). 

 Space for a laptop computer. 
 Audio Recorder.  

 Minimum of one flush-
mounted quadriplex 
electrical outlet. 

 Two data jacks. 

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting from above. 

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-16  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

LOCATION EQUIPMENT 
ELECTRICAL, DATA, AUDIO, 

COMMUNICATIONS 
DISTRIBUTION 

LIGHTING 

Jury Box 

 Microphone. 
 Video display monitors for 

viewing electronic evidence 
displays, remote witness 
testimony, and documents (one 
for every two jurors).  

 One flush-mounted 
quadriplex electrical outlets 
located at opposite ends of 
the jury box. 

 Data jacks for flat panel 
video monitors. 

 Two audio jacks. 

 Normal room lighting.  
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors. 

Lectern 

 Lectern should house the 
electronic evidence display 
system.  

 Combo VCR/DVD player. 
 PC with flat panel video 

monitor. 
 Microphone. 

 A minimum of two flush 
mounted quadriplex 
electrical outlets.  

 Two data jacks and two 
phone jacks. 

 Two audio jacks. 

 Normal room lighting. 
 Task lighting for reading. 

Spectators 
 One or two large screen video 

monitors that can be viewed by 
spectators are optional. 

  Normal room lighting. 

Security 
Officer 

 Supervised, silent duress 
alarm. 

 Telephone with visual 
display/silent ring. 

 Notebook computer (optional). 

 One quadriplex power outlet  
 Two data jacks and one 

phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting. 

Courtroom 
Generally 

 Sound amplification system 
with controls located at clerk’s 
station. 

 Video conferencing system for 
viewing remote or expert 
witness testimony. 

 Security cameras. 
 Assistive listening devices. 

 Appropriate power and 
cabling. 

 Normal room lighting. 

Judge’s Office 

 Each office should be equipped 
with a personal computer, 
monitor, printer, TV, and 
telephone. 

 Office may also be equipped for 
future video conferencing.  

 Normal power supply for 
private office.  

 One dedicated computer 
power receptacle. 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jacks, and a cable 
TV outlet. 

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the desk. 

Judicial 
Secretary 

 Each workstation should be 
equipped with a personal 
computer with monitor and 
printer, and telephone. 

  

 Each workstation should 
have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle.  

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack.  

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the desk. 

Law Clerk 

 Each workstation should be 
equipped with a personal 
computer with monitor and 
printer, and telephone. 

 Each workstation should 
have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle, 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the desk. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-17  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

LOCATION EQUIPMENT 
ELECTRICAL, DATA, AUDIO, 

COMMUNICATIONS 
DISTRIBUTION 

LIGHTING 

Court 
Reporter 

 Each workstation should be 
equipped with a personal 
computer with monitor and 
printer, and telephone. 

 Each workstation should 
have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle, 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the desk. 

Interpreter 

 Each workstation should be 
equipped with a personal 
computer with monitor and 
printer, and telephone. 

 Each workstation should 
have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle, 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the desk. 

Support 
Equipment 

 Other office equipment may 
include a shared printer, copier, 
facsimile machine, coffee 
machine, microwave, and other 
miscellaneous office 
equipment.  

 Sufficient electrical 
receptacles for noted 
equipment. 

 

Judicial 
Conference 

 Personal computer workstation 
with keyboard and video display 
monitor.  

 Printer. 
 Facsimile machine. 
 Photocopier. 
 Video conferencing equipment. 
 Telephone. 
 Video screen and video 

projector equipment.  
 Large screen video display 

monitor mounted on wall. 
 Marker board. 

 Each identified workstation 
should have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle.  

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack located at each 
identified station.  

 At least one cable TV outlet. 

 Normal room lighting.  
 Room should be capable of 

being dimmed for viewing 
presentations. 

Clerk 
Workstations 

 Each workstation should be 
equipped with a personal 
computer with monitor, printer, 
and scanner. Some 
workstations may require two 
monitors. 

 Each workstation should 
have two quadriplex 
electrical outlets and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle.  

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack.  

 Normal room lighting with 
individual task lighting at the 
work area. 

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 

Public 
Counter Staff 
Workstation 

 Personal computer with 
keyboard and video display 
monitor. 

 Two quadriplex power 
outlets per workstation and 
one dedicated computer 
power receptacle. 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting with 
individual task lighting at the 
work area.  

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors. 

Cashier 
Station 

 Personal computer with register 
printer and video monitor.  

 Security camera at all cashier 
stations. 

 Duress alarm. 

 Two quadriplex power 
outlets per workstation and 
one dedicated computer 
power receptacle. 

 Two data jacks and one 
phone jack. 

 Normal room lighting with 
individual task lighting at the 
work area.  

 Need to avoid glare on 
video monitors 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR TECHNOLOGY  PAGE 7-18  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

LOCATION EQUIPMENT 
ELECTRICAL, DATA, AUDIO, 

COMMUNICATIONS 
DISTRIBUTION 

LIGHTING 

Public Access 
Areas 

 At least one public access 
computer terminals with 
keyboard and video monitor in 
each clerk’s office, located at 
the public counter. 

 One quadriplex power outlet 
per public access station. 

 Two data jacks. 

 Normal room lighting. 
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors 

Records 
Rooms 

 Security cameras. 
 Document viewing stations 

require one large screen video 
display monitor and computer 
terminal with keyboard.  

 Printers. 
 Photocopiers. 

 Two data jacks for each 
document imaging review 
workstation. 

 Each identified workstation 
requires one quadriplex 
power outlet, and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle. 

 Normal room lighting. 
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors. 

Document 
Scanning 
Station 

 Each document scanning 
workstation should include 2 
PCs with 2 large document 
video monitors and 2 printers. 

 Scanner. 

 Four data jacks and one 
phone jack per workstation. 

 Each identified workstation 
requires two quadriplex 
power outlets, and one 
dedicated computer power 
receptacle. 

 Normal room lighting. 
 Need to avoid glare on 

video monitors. 

Support 
Equipment 
and Work 
Rooms 

 Photocopiers. 
 Shared printers. 
 Facsimile machines. 

 Wiring, power supply, 
HVAC, and acoustical 
design should meet 
individual equipment and 
systems specifications. 

 Normal room lighting. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 8 -  PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY 

There are few traditions in our nation as cherished as that of free-and-open access to justice. The 
expectation and reality of judicial safety, both inside and outside the courthouse is integral to 
fulfilling our justice system's promise of accessibility, impartiality, transparency, and the right to 
a fair and impartial trial. Free and open access to justice requires a safe and secure environment 
in which all those who come to the courthouse are free from fear and intimidation. Judges, 
employees, and the public users of the facility need to feel safe if they are to conduct themselves 
in a fair and impartial manner and in accordance with a sense of judicial decorum. Security 
measures, however, should remain as unobtrusive as possible. The use of overt security measures 
evokes an image of justice held hostage. In addition to these guidelines additional security 
recommendations may be found in the Court Security Handbook drafted by the CCJ/COSCA 
Joint Committee on Court Security.  
 
A broad approach to court security should be adopted; one that assesses the likelihood of all 
potential threats and develops appropriate plans to protect people, property, and information. In 
today’s environment the threat of terrorism is a natural concern, but evidence suggests that most 
of the violence that occurs in the courthouse is case related and that the most dangerous cases are 
family and domestic matters. Other safety concerns range from the possibility of assaults, theft of 
property, harassment, damage to property or equipment, to disruptions of judicial proceedings 
because of natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes, and other severe weather events. Each 
courthouse should periodically have a threat risk assessment completed and have in place a 
building security plan that addresses the most likely threat scenarios. 
 
When planning a new courthouse or performing a major renovation of an existing courthouse, 
the planning and design should assure a high degree of security and safety within and about the 
building. The site, landscaping, building exterior, internal organization and circulations systems, 
and environmental and building systems should be planned to maximize the security and safety 
of judges, court staff and all visitors; the physical structures, equipment, and property; and the 
information contained in the courthouse.  
 
The goal of Courthouse Security is to protect persons, property and information. The courthouse 
should provide an environment in which the work of the courts can proceed in a safe and 
dignified manner with relatively little danger to the judiciary, the staff, and the public who are in 
court. The judiciary, court employees, victims and witnesses, accused and family members, 
attorneys, and member of the public should be able to perform their duties and conduct their 
business without the fear of intimidation, harassment, or physical harm.  
 
Additionally, the courthouse’s physical structure and equipment contained therein represent a 
major public investment. Damage to the building(s) or the equipment can cause delays and 
threaten the fair administration of justice. Finally, record keeping is central to the operations and 
functioning of any court. The information, including land records, court orders, and other case 
and government records are all vital information that must be protected.  
 
Security is achieved through a combination of architectural/physical, personnel and operations, 
and technological/equipment measures. The appropriate choice depends on the costs of 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

construction and operations, propriety, legality, effectiveness of responses, adaptability to 
change, administrative control, and timeliness.  
 
A key element in courthouse security is the separation of the public, judiciary and staff, and in-
custody defendants. In small rural courthouses this may be achieved through operational means, 
but in larger courthouses this is best achieved architecturally through the maintenance of three 
separate and distinct circulation systems. This is essential for security and safety reasons as well 
as the operational efficiency of the court. 
 
At a minimum, architectural features that enhance safety include: 
 

 A single point of public entry to the building; 

 An entry screening station where everyone entering the courthouse is screened for 
weapons; 

 Separation of public, judicial/staff, and prisoner circulation systems; 

 Secure vehicular sally port for transfer of prisoners to and from the building; 

 Use of central and court-floor in-custody holding areas accessed by secure 
circulation; 

 Sufficient public waiting space to separate opposing parties, particularly in 
domestic cases;  

 Elimination of blind areas and dead ends within the building or places where 
people can hide and the use of large open spaces to increase visibility; 

 The installation of Intrusion systems to monitor the status of doors, windows, and 
other exterior openings in the building;  

 Access control systems to control entry to restricted areas of the building; 

 The installation of fences, walls, or other physical barriers to define the perimeter 
of the building and prevent attacks on the exterior of the building; 

 The installation of exterior lighting to illuminate accesses to the building and 
parking areas; and 

 Secure parking for the judiciary within the building with secure access to the 
building and the private circulation. 

I. SITE AND PERIMETER 

It is recommended that when possible the courthouse be set back from the perimeter of the 
property to protect the exterior from vehicular attack. Also, the use of decorative walls, 
bollards, planters, berms or other structures may be used to prevent vehicles from 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

approaching too close to the building. The following actions directed toward securing the 
site and perimeter are recommended. 

 
 Determine appropriate standoff distance from the street (a minimum of 50’ from 

the curb is suggested) 

 The perimeter of the courthouse grounds should be clearly defined by fences, 
walls, or other physical barriers. All exposed fixtures should be weather and 
tamper resistant.  

 Maintain clear access routes for first responders.   

 Illuminate exterior of the building, site perimeter, walkways, and drives and 
parking areas. 

 Where it is not possible to provide adequate standoff, provide appropriate barriers 
to prevent a vehicle from approaching the building and adequate protection from 
potential blast effects. 

 Natural barriers such as trees and constructed barriers such as planting boxes, 
heavy masonry benches and tables, access ramps with masonry walls, fences, and 
bollards can be used.  

 Built in landscaping such as planters against the building up to window height 
provide a barrier to vehicles without elevating the building. 

 Retaining walls can be used to define the property boundary and serve as barriers 
within the landscape design.  

 Where landscaping features such as trees and fences are used, they should not 
hinder visibility or provide the opportunity for concealment of people or vehicles. 

 Landscape features that provide places for potential intruders to hide weapons or 
other dangerous items should be eliminated.  

 If video cameras are used to observe the site, their sightlines should not be 
impeded by leaf canopies or areas that are hidden from overhead observation.  

II. WINDOWS AND GLAZING 

The most severe injuries in a blast event are the result of shattered glass. Typically the 
choices range from regular glazing such as would be used in a general office building to 
either a bullet resistant or attack resistant glazing. Bullet resistant glazing is designed to 
withstand the impact of a high velocity projectile but generally does not withstand low 
velocity heavy objects (such as a chair or brick) or the impact of a bomb blast. Based on the 
level of risk assessment, a decision should be made regarding the type of glazing to be used 
on all exterior windows and doors. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

At a minimum, it is recommended that all ground floor windows and doors should be 
equipped with attack resistant glazing to prevent breakage from vandalism or storms. 

 
III. PUBLIC PARKING 

No public parking should be located under, or in, the courthouse. Any public parking 
facility should be built adjacent to the building with a minimum 100 foot separation. 

 
IV. SECURE PARKING 

All courthouses should have secure parking for judges and Constitutional Officers 
provided. Secure judicial parking ideally should be located in an underground garage with 
secure access. There should be a roll down security gate that is continually monitored by 
CCTV and intercom from the Sheriff’s central control center. Separate entrances should be 
provided for the judicial and elected official parking and the Sheriff’s and prisoner transport 
vehicles. Once inside the secure parking area, judges and officials should be able to reach 
their offices by means of the private circulation system. 

 
If underground parking is not possible then secure parking may be provided at grade level 
within a secured compound with secure access. If secured parking is not feasible, judges 
may be provided unmarked reserved parking spaces located as near as possible to a secure 
building entrance. This area should be patrolled frequently. There should never be any 
signage that identifies who is parking in the space.  

 
V. ENTRANCES AND LOBBY 

Weapons screening is a standard practice in nearly all large urban courthouses. All 
courthouses should have a single public entrance through which all persons, including 
employees, should pass.   

 
A. Entrance Screening Station 

The weapons screening station requires electrical power for the installation of metal 
detectors and x-ray machines. Depending upon the number of persons entering the 
building on a daily basis, more than one screening station may be required to cover 
peak hours of activity. Best practices recommend that the screening area should be 
located outside the main mass of the building structure to lessen potential blast effects 
on the main structure in case of an IED discovery at the entrance. 

 
Sufficient space should be allowed to permit at least 20 people to line up within the 
building prior to walking through the screening stations. People should not have to 
wait outside in hot, cold or inclement weather.  

 
Space needs to be provided for at least two security officers per screening station (one 
to operate the x-ray machine and another to hand check persons who set off the metal 
detector).  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

All courthouses require the following,  
 

 A single point of public entry to the building is preferred; 

 An entry screening station at every public entrance where everyone entering the 
courthouse is screened for weapons; 

 That all deliveries, packages, mail, as well as couriers and delivery persons should 
be screened or visually inspected for weapons, explosive devices, or hazardous 
materials. Courthouses with receiving docks should have personnel and 
equipment available to screen all incoming materials.  

 An area outside the security screening area where the public may queue prior to 
being screened. This area should be sheltered to protect persons from the 
elements.  

 Sufficient staff and screening equipment at the security screening station to permit 
the screening of everyone coming to the courthouse in a timely and efficient 
manner at peak hours. 

 A building security control room located off the lobby overlooking the main 
public entrance for ease of surveillance. The control room should be coordinated 
with the holding cell control room so that its surveillance responsibilities are 
transferred to the main floor after hours. 

 There should be no places outside the screening area where persons can store or 
hide anything prior to being screened. 

B. Staff Entrances 

It is a best practice to have all employees entering the building screened like everyone 
else, including the use of a metal detector and x-ray machine. The building may be 
designed with a separate employee entrance to avoid having employees wait in line 
with visitors entering the building. The employee entrance should be located near the 
main area where employees are to park. The entrance will need to be staffed by 
security staff and requires a single metal detector and x-ray machine.  

 
It is a common practice, however, to have a separate employee entrance where staff 
may enter by displaying a court issued ID.  

 
C. Service Entrance 

Larger courthouses should have a service entrance for the delivery of supplies, 
equipment, and other large items, and the collection of trash and recycling. Everyone 
entering the building through this location should be screened.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

The receiving dock security screening area should be located immediately adjacent to 
the receiving dock bay(s) where all packages and deliveries to the building can be 
screened or x-rayed. It must be wired for a large x-ray machine and metal detector.  

 
The receiving dock requires CCTV cameras inside and outside the receiving dock. 
The Sheriff’s command and control center should have local and remote control of 
overhead and access doors. A duress alarm is required in the general receiving area 
and there should be an intercom between the receiving dock security station and the 
outside receiving area. 

 
Consideration should be given to creating a mail receiving room adjacent to the 
receiving dock where all mail deliveries can be received and the mail x-rayed as 
needed.  
 

VI. ALARMS AND CONTROL SYSTEMS 

The courthouse should be equipped with intrusion and duress alarms. 
 
Duress alarms are designed to signal for 
immediate help.  
 
Intrusion alarms are designed to alert 
security staff to unauthorized entry after 
hours. The alarms can be of several 
varieties, including space alarms, vibration 
alarms, and door contact alarms. The alarm 
system can be set to produce a loud sound 
to alert the police and deter entry, or 
alarms can be silent to alert police only. 
After hours the alarms should sound at the 
nearest police station. 
 
Door alarms should also be placed at all 
exits from the building. Staff sometimes prop doors open for breaks and then forget to close 
them. Side doors should be marked, “Emergency exit only; alarm will sound.”  
 
The alarm should sound at the court’s central security control station and at the responding 
local law enforcement agency. 

 
A. Duress Alarms 

A supervised alarm system (duress alarm) should be installed in the courthouse. In 
non-supervised systems, if the wires between the switch in the courtroom or 
chambers are severed, the circuit is rendered inoperative with no indication at the 
monitoring location. The circuit remains inoperative until it is tested and repaired. In 

 
Court Central 

Security Control Unit

Floor Control Stations

Officer

Intercom System

Public Address
System

Fire Alarms 

Duress Alarms 
Video Security

Cameras

External
Emergency

Personnel
Door Access 

System

Security
Control

Unit

Equipment
Room

Security
Workroom

Toilets



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-7  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

a supervised system, whenever the circuit is broken the alarm sounds. This occurs if 
the alarm button is pressed or if the wires are severed for some reason.  

 
The alarms should sound at the Sheriff’s command and control center. If a fixed 
system is installed, buttons should be located at the following locations: 

 
 All public counters,  
 All cashier stations, 
 All courtrooms at the judges’ bench and clerks’ station,  
 All judicial chambers, 
 All holding areas, 
 Sally port, 
 Entry screening stations, 
 Probation Offices, 
 Court Service Offices, 
 Commonwealth Attorney Office. 

 
The most common type of duress alarm is a hard-wired system with fixed positions. 
Newer systems are wireless and may be triggered by a device that is carried by judges 
and court employees on their person. It has the advantage of being able to be 
activated from any location without having to get to a fixed location. The signal is 
picked up by receiving stations located throughout the building and passed on to the 
central security control. The control monitors will identify which receiving station is 
relaying the signal as well as identify the person who activated the alarm. 

 
B. Intrusion Alarms 

Intrusion systems monitor the status of doors, windows, and other exterior openings. 
They can be coordinated with an access control system to alert of unauthorized or 
forced access of doors, glass breakage, or roof intrusion.  

 
All movable, accessible openings into the courthouse within 18 feet of firm ground 
should be alarmed. Glass or composition panels should be protected with glass break 
sensors. The alarms should annunciate at the Sheriff’s central command and control 
console.    

 
It is also recommended that CCTV cameras be installed at all entrances and exits. The 
unauthorized opening or attempting to open an exit door should activate the camera 
and a recording (see section on video surveillance). 

 
Motion detectors also may be considered for monitoring against after-hours 
unauthorized intrusion in sensitive areas of the building. Any motion detectors should 
alert the security staff in the Sheriff’s command and control center or nearest local 
law enforcement station. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-8  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

C. Access Controls 

Access control systems control entry to restricted areas of the building. Typically 
activated by numeric keypad or card / proximity readers, access control systems allow 
door release to the private circulation systems and other “secure” areas of the 
building.  

 
All doors in the courthouse should be equipped with an electronic access control 
system.  

 
D. Environmental Controls 

All environmental controls in the courthouse should be secured, with access restricted 
to authorized personnel. In order to avoid tampering and sabotage, access to controls 
for heating, air conditioning, ventilation should be limited to authorized staff. Outside 
air intake mechanisms should also be secured so they cannot be used as access to the 
building or as a conduit for biochemical attack. Outside air intake also should not be 
located near any loading dock or other area where trucks or other vehicles may idle to 
prevent exhaust fumes from entering the building. 

 
VII. VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 

Typically video cameras are used in prisoner holding areas to monitor prisoners and 
prisoner movement. They also are used to observe entrances to the building, particularly 
receiving docks and service entrances that may not have a permanent security presence, to 
monitor public and private corridors and access to sensitive areas, as well as to monitor 
courtrooms.  

 
 Security cameras should be placed to observe the natural approaches to the 

courthouse. 

 Wall mounted cameras should be located on the opening side of entrance doors at 
controlled entrances to obtain a profile picture of the individual entering the 
building as well as viewing the area immediately around the door. 

 Cameras should be placed at the entrance to the judges/officials parking garage.  
Cameras should be installed so as to observe the judges’/officials’ automobiles 
and the walkways to the elevator/entrance. The size of the parking garage and 
walking distances should determine the number of cameras required. 

 Security cameras should be mounted on the interior side of all emergency exit 
doors. When the door is opened the alarm should sound at the command and 
control center monitoring console and the switcher should bring up the camera to 
a large central monitor. 

 Unless a credible threat exists hallway cameras are not essential, except in the 
public waiting areas of the juvenile and domestic relations courts. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-9  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Isle of Wight Courthouse, Security Control Room 

 Cameras should be installed inside all courtrooms. One camera should observe the 
front portion of courtroom, one observe the spectators, and one observe the main 
entrance door. The cameras should be monitored in the Sheriff’s command and 
control center.  

Other areas that should be monitored include: 
 

 Lobby 
 Entrance screening stations 
 All public counters and cashier stations 
 The receiving dock and service entrance 
 Prisoner holding cells 
 Prisoner circulation corridors and elevators 
 Courtroom holding areas and cells 
 Vehicular sally port 

 
VIII. PUBLIC ADDRESS 

The courthouse should be equipped with a public address system reaching all public areas 
of the building. Especially in large courthouses, a paging system may be needed to locate 
parties when court schedules fall behind or move ahead more rapidly than anticipated. Such 
systems should not operate in courtrooms or office areas. The public address system also is 
useful in the event of an emergency in the courthouse.  

 
IX. CENTRAL SECURITY CONTROL OFFICE  

The central security control office is the location from which all security zones and safety 
alarm systems are monitored throughout 
the building. From this unit, the 
courthouse may be monitored through the 
use of closed circuit television systems, 
duress alarms, intrusion sensors and other 
security systems.  
 
The security control office may best be 
located near the main public entrance or 
may be located with the central holding 
area control room.  
 
Also located with the central security 
control office is the protective equipment 

such as security and duress alarms, fire alarm, emergency elevator control, public address 
system, fire alarm enunciator panel, etc.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-10  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

All power and lighting for this room should be from the building’s emergency electrical 
service. All equipment should be on an uninterruptible power supply and all electricity 
should be conditioned. 

 
Access to the life safety equipment panel should be limited to building management.  

 
X. VEHICULAR SALLY PORT 

The courthouse should have a secure vehicular sally port for the secure transfer of in-
custody persons to and from transport vehicles. The sally port should be sized to hold at 
least one transport van. It should be located within the Sheriff’s secure parking area and 
have a security gate. It needs to be well ventilated and lighted. Many courthouses make use 
of a drive through sally port in order to eliminate the need for a turnaround area. 
Courthouses with a direct connection to a jail may not require a separate sally port if 
detainees coming to court from other facilities are able to be processed through the jail. 

 
In-custody detainees should enter the building’s central holding area directly from the sally 
port. 

 
XI. CENTRAL PRISONER HOLDING  

In-custody defendants and witnesses need to be separated from the public while 
maintaining their safety and constitutional rights. Prisoner detention facilities increase the 
efficiency of the courts by allowing in-custody persons to be located close to the courtroom 
at the scheduled time of appearance.  
 
All but the smallest courthouse should have a central holding area located on the ground 
floor or basement of the building that will service all courts within the building. It should be 
located immediately adjacent to the vehicular sally port.   
 
The holding area should consist of the following elements: holding cells for adult males and 
females; holding cells for juvenile males and females; a control center to monitor and 
control in-custody movement; entry vestibule at the entrance from the sally port; a 
processing and transfer area or room; staff offices; staff toilets; elevators to the court floors; 
elevator lobby; equipment room; and attorney / client visitation booths for attorneys to meet 
privately with clients prior to court.  
 
Sight and sound separation needs to be maintained between males and females, and adults 
and juveniles.  
 
The building’s central control center may also be located in this area, either as part of the 
holding control room or as a separate facility adjacent to the holding area. 
 
The holding area control center monitors the operations all movement of prisoners and 
controls access to the holding cells. The officer(s) staffing the station should have a direct 
view into the holding cells or have visibility through CCTV monitors and should be able to 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-11  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

see and control all entrances and exits. The control station should be secured from 
unauthorized entry and should include a dedicated staff toilet. Intercoms and CCTV 
cameras should be located at all doors.  
 
All cells should have their own toilet facility. This eliminates the need for security officers 
to escort prisoners to and from toilets. Drains are necessary in any cell with toilets. Drains 
for sinks and toilets should be large enough so that they cannot be easily blocked. A 
modesty panel should be provided around the cell toilets to maintain proper privacy.  
 
Toilets and drains should be installed along a wall on the corridor side of the holding 
facility or along an accessible service duct so that repairs can be made from the outside.  
 
Sufficient transfer areas for moving in-custody individuals should be provided near the 
sally port entrance as well as the secure elevators. Corridors should be wide enough to 
prohibit detainees from grabbing officers and to allow adequate two-way passage and 
prohibit the transfer of contraband from one prisoner to another. 
 
Attorney/client interview booths should be provided at the central holding area. These 
booths should be divided with appropriate security glazing to separate the parties. Attorneys 
should not have to enter the holding areas to enter the conference booth. The booths should 
have a paper pass to permit the signing of any documents. 
 
Temporary holding cells for prisoners awaiting court appearances should conform to 
appropriate state and American Correctional Association standards for lighting, ventilation, 
heating, and cooling in short-term holding and detention facilities. 
 
Lighting fixtures and ventilation registers should be secured in place to prevent their 
removal and use as weapons. The cells should be equipped with vandal-resistant furniture.  
It is extremely important that holding areas be soundproofed.  
 
All prisoner areas should be accessible to persons with disabilities. 
  
The holding cells should have solid ceilings. 

 
XII. COURT FLOOR HOLDING AREAS   

In larger courthouses, separate prisoner holding cells should be located adjacent to the 
courtrooms in addition to the central holding facility located adjacent to the secured 
prisoner entrance to the courthouse. These court floor holding facilities are best located 
between pairs of courtrooms and serviced by a dedicated prisoner elevator that transports 
prisoners to and from the central holding area or prisoner entrance. 
 
The court floor holding area should consist of a security officer station, holding cells, and 
entrance vestibule in front of the elevator, and, if possible, attorney/prisoner interview 
booths. The security station need not be enclosed and should provide the security officer 
with direct visibility to all areas.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR COURT SECURITY PAGE 8-12  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Court Floor Holding Cell, Isle of Wight Courthouse 

There should be separate holding cells for 
men and women with sight and sound 
separation. Also if juveniles are to be held 
in a court floor holding area that may also 
contain adults, sight and sound separation 
needs to be maintained. 
 
It is not unusual for in-custody defendants 
to attempt to disrupt court proceedings by 
shouting insults, using abusive language, 
banging on walls, or flushing toilets. Such 
noise from court floor-holding cells 
disrupts court proceedings, causes 
embarrassment, and intimidates witnesses 

or jurors. It is critical that the holding area be soundproofed so that no sound from the 
holding area is heard in the courtroom.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 9 -  PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA 

Access to justice is a fundamental right that can only be guaranteed if courthouses are easily 
accessible to all the public. Persons with disabilities must be provided convenient entry to the 
courthouse and barrier-free access to all appropriate interior spaces. Courthouses, however, 
present a special problem for persons with disabilities, because courthouses traditionally have 
been designed and built to project an image of strength and dignity. Architectural elements such 
as large columns, heavy doors, and grand staircases that have traditionally been used to convey a 
reverence for the law impede accessibility.  
 
The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requires that people with disabilities be afforded 
equal access to government buildings and services. All courthouses should comply with the 
requirements of The Americans with Disabilities Act and all Commonwealth accessibility 
requirements. 

 
I. BACKGROUND 

The laws on accessibility in public buildings such as courthouses were significantly 
strengthened by the enactment of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. The 
Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 had mandated the removal of barriers in buildings and 
facilities constructed or altered by the federal government or with federal funds after 1969 
(or after 1977 in the case of leased facilities).  
 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits recipients of federal financial 
assistance from discriminating on the basis of handicap. This legislation also required 
"program accessibility" in existing buildings. A program or activity "when viewed in its 
entirety" must be "readily accessible to handicapped persons ... through such means as 
redesign of equipment or reassignment of classes or other services." It mandated 
accessibility to government services, but did not require the physical removal of existing 
barriers. Recipients of federal aid were permitted to reschedule their services to make them 
accessible to the handicapped. Amendments in 1978 extended the mandate to "programs 
conducted by federal agencies," as well as to recipients of federal funds. 
 
On June 20, 1994, the Access Board published in the Federal Register an interim rule for 
judicial facilities (Section 11) to ADAAG. On that same date, the Department of Justice and 
the Department of Transportation published notices of proposed rulemaking to adopt 
sections 11 through 14 as standards.  
 
Most recently, the Department of Justice published revised regulations for Titles II and III 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 in the Federal Register on September 15, 
2010.  
 

II. FOR MORE INFORMATION 

For information about the ADA, including the revised 2010 ADA regulations, visit the DOJ 
website www.ada.gov;  

http://www.ada.gov/


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Courtesy of HOK Architects and Engineers. 

Wheelchair Accessible Courtroom

W itness Clerk

Jury
Box

Private Corridor

Secure
Holdin

Public Corridor

Vestibule

W heelchair
Locati on

W heelchair
T urni ng Circle

Lectern

Attorney Tables
Bailiff

Judge
up

Storage Storage

up up

Reporter

The final report of the Access Board on Courthouse Accessibility can be found at the 
following website: http://www.access-board.gov/guidelines-and-standards/buildings-and-
sites/about-the-ada-standards/ada-standards/single-file-version#a4. 
 
The following is a brief summary of some of the standards pertaining to judicial facilities. 
This is not intended to be an exhaustive discussion of accessibility standards, but should 
serve to provide general guidance concerning some of the major requirements.  

 
III. COURTROOMS 

The leading issue in designing accessible courthouses is wheelchair access to raised areas 
such as jury boxes, witness stands, and judges’ benches. The ADA requires that all public 
areas of the courtroom (public seating, witness stand, attorney tables, jury box, court 
reporter stations, and bailiff location) must be located on an accessible route and 
accommodate a wheelchair.  
 
Areas that are accessed by ramps or platform lifts shall provide unobstructed turning space. 
Vertical access to a raised judge’s bench or courtroom Clerks’ workstation need not be 
installed immediately, provided that the areas maneuvering spaces, and, if appropriate, 
electrical service are installed at the time of initial construction to permit future installation 
of either ramps or lifts without requiring substantial reconstruction of the space.  
 
While the Access Board generally discourages 
the use of platform lifts they are allowed in 
courtrooms and have become a common means 
of providing access to witness stands and 
judges’ benches. Common issues, however, 
include platform deflection and downward 
settlement; interlock malfunctions; and 
operation requiring assistance such as the 
removal of steps, platforms or millwork.  
 
Ramps often are preferred for a number of 
reasons. While ramps may take up more space, 
they generally cost less than lifts and are easily 
constructed. Ramps require minimal 
maintenance and require railings only if the 
level change is greater than 6 inches. No power 
source is required, nor are mechanical parts that 
can malfunction involved. Most importantly, 
ramps permit all users, including people who 
use wheelchairs, to use the element 
independently, with no disruption to court 
proceedings. Ramps are always useable in case 
of emergency evacuation, and require no 
assistance.  

http://www.access-board.gov/guidelines-and-standards/buildings-and-sites/about-the-ada-standards/ada-standards/single-file-version#a4
http://www.access-board.gov/guidelines-and-standards/buildings-and-sites/about-the-ada-standards/ada-standards/single-file-version#a4


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

The following are the minimum requirements for ramps that are utilized as part of an 
accessible route: 
 

 Ramps must be permanent, not pull-out, flip-down or removable. 

 Ramps must provide a minimum clear width of 36 inches between handrails. 

 Landings where ramps change directions must have a minimum dimension of 60 
inches x 60 inches. 

 If a door is located at the top or bottom of a ramp, the landing must be large 
enough for adequate maneuvering clearances at the door. If the door swings back 
over the landing, there must be adequate landing space to back up to clear the 
door swing. 

 Raised platforms accessed by ramps must have a turning space to allow an 
individual to turn around to go down the ramp. 

 Ramps must have a maximum slope of 1:12. 

 Ramp runs and landings with drop-offs must have edge protection, such as a curb, 
barrier, or extended surface as specified in the guidelines. 

 Ramps with a rise of greater than 6 inches need handrails. Handrails must be 
located along both sides of a ramp at a height above the ramp surface of 34 inches 
to 38 inches measured to the top of the handrail. 

 Most model building codes require a guard where there is a drop-off of more than 
30 inches. If the ramp or landing has such a drop-off along any side, it must also 
have a guard at that location in addition to handrails. The minimum height of a 
guard is 42 inches with maximum openings of 4 inches. 

A. Recommendations for Best Practice 

Ramps should not be located where 
they will be a tripping hazard for 
other circulation routes through the 
space. 
 
Ramps should not be located where 
they will block the means of egress, 
including maneuvering clearances at 
doors. 
 
Ramps should be located along the 
same path of travel as provided for the 
general population. 

 
Electronic Lift at Judge’s Bench, Isle of Wight 

Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

When ramps are exterior, they should be located or designed to limit the 
accumulation of water, ice and snow. 
 
When ramps lead to doors that may be locked, a turning space should be provided at 
the door to allow someone to turn around if they cannot enter. This is also advisable 
at exterior doors because the force to open the door may be too high for some people 
with disabilities to operate. 
 
Although ramps with a rise of 6 inches or less are not required to have handrails, 
where possible, handrails to provide stability for people with ambulatory impairments 
are recommended for all ramps. 
 

B. Public Seating / Gallery 

The public seating area of the courtroom is treated as an assembly area and must 
include wheelchair seating space. Also all courtrooms must be equipped with 
assistive listening devices. 
 

C. Jury Boxes and Witness Stands 

All jury boxes and witness stands are required to be fully accessible. Section 808.3 
requires that each jury box and witness stand should be large enough to accommodate 
a wheelchair within its defined area. In alterations, the wheelchair spaces may be 
located outside the defined area of the jury box or witness stand, if the ramp or lift 
access poses a hazard to any required egress from the courtroom.  
 
A simple solution to both jury box and witness accessibility is to place the first tier of 
the jury box and the witness stand at floor level, thus eliminating the need for ramps 
or lifts at these locations. Care needs to be exercised, however, to ensure that this 
does not interfere with proper sightlines within the courtroom. Depending on the 
location of the witness stand, lowering it to floor level may partially obstruct the view 
of the witness by attorneys or some jurors.  
 

D. Judges' Benches and Courtroom Workstations 

Judges’ benches and workstations for clerks and other court personnel must be 
accessible. The ADA and ABA guidelines provide an exception for vertical access to 
judges’ benches and raised employee stations. Under this exception, it is not required 
to provide vertical access at the time of construction provided that clear floor space, 
maneuvering space, and electrical service for lifts are provided at the time of initial 
construction for later installation of lifts for ramps. 
 
A preferred practice for vertical access to judges’ benches is locating ramps or lifts 
outside the courtroom or at least out of view from the well and public gallery. 
Further, for purposes of emergency or security evacuation, as well as ease of 
independent operation, judges may prefer ramp access. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

E. Court Reporter Station 

The court reporter's station must be accessible with adequate access to the work area 
and maneuvering room.  
 

F. Attorney Tables 

The counsel tables must be accessible with adequate maneuvering room behind the 
table. Microphones should be movable and have a long neck.  

 
IV. JURY ASSEMBLY AREAS 

If provided, the jury assembly area shall be on an accessible route from the main public 
entrance and provide a minimum of 5% wheelchair accessible spaces at any fixed or built-
in seating or tables. Refreshment areas, kitchenettes and fixed or built-in refreshment 
dispensers are to be fully accessible. If fixed seating is used, the number of accessible 
wheelchair spaces, location, and dispersal must comply with those requirements for 
assembly areas included in the ADA Accessibility Guidelines.  

 
V. JURY DELIBERATION AREAS 

Jury deliberation rooms shall accommodate at least one accessible wheelchair space at built 
in seating and tables. Other requirements are identical to those required for the jury 
assembly room. Refreshment area, kitchenette, and toilets must be accessible.  

 
A. Assistive Listening Systems 

Permanently installed assistive listening systems shall be provided in each courtroom. 
The minimum number of receivers shall be four percent of the room occupant load, as 
determined by applicable State or local codes, but not less than two receivers. An 
informational sign indicating the availability of an assistive listening system must be 
posted in a prominent place.  

 
Where an instructional or orientation video is shown provisions must be made for the 
visually impaired. 
 
Fifty percent of each type of jury deliberation room shall have a permanently installed 
assistive listening system. A portable assistive listening system may be used in the 
remaining deliberation rooms. From an operational point of view, it may be easier 
and more efficient to make every deliberation room fully accessible than to rely on 
moving equipment to and from different rooms and it may not be feasible to have 
jurors make use of alternative jury rooms to accommodate handicapped jurors. 

 
B. Courthouse Holding Facilities 

Where separate central holding cells or court floor holding cells are provided for adult 
male, juvenile male, adult female or juvenile female, one of each type at each location 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
PLANNING FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND ADA  PAGE 9-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

must be accessible. Where central-holding cells are provided, which are not separated 
by age or sex, at least one cell shall be accessible.  

 
Each accessible cell shall provide an accessible turning space, doors, toilets, 
lavatories; grab bars, and drinking fountain. An exception is allowed for doors 
operated only by security personnel. 

 
C. Other Courthouse Areas 

 Parking spaces – Designation of handicapped parking. 

 Entrances to buildings – Use of ramps. 

 Elevators – Use of Braille lettering and audio recordings for identification. 

 Restrooms – Design of lavatories and toilets. 

 Drinking fountains – Lower height. 

 Entrance doors to all offices – use of wide doors with lever type door handles. 

 Clerks counters and public access computer terminals – Lower counter height. 

 Records room – Increased space between aisles and entrances. 

 Public telephone – wheelchair accessible 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-1  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

CHAPTER 10 -  COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS 

I. COURTROOMS 

The courtroom is the focal point of courthouse activity and provides the setting for 
conducting most legal proceedings. In varying numbers and combinations the following 
participants may be involved in, or present during, courtroom proceedings: judge, jurors, 
bailiff or deputy sheriff, court reporter, clerk, attorneys, litigants, witnesses, probation 
personnel, media representatives, and spectators. Courtroom design must accommodate the 
particular needs of each participant while facilitating the flow of proceedings within the 
courtroom. When combined, the individual elements of courtroom design should blend to 
produce a dignified, functional space conducive to court proceedings. 

 
II. GENERAL DESIGN CRITERIA 

Each courtroom should be designed and furnished to create a dignified yet functional 
setting for the matters to be conducted in the courtroom. The symbolism attached to a 
courtroom as a hall of justice requires that care be given to the design and furnishings of 
each courtroom. The final product will vary depending on the type of court. Circuit court 
courtrooms require jury boxes; district court courtrooms do not. Juvenile and domestic 
relations district court courtrooms have less need for spectator seating than do general 
district and circuit court courtrooms. In all cases, however, the importance of the 
appearance of the courtroom to the public should not be overlooked. Certain common 
elements should be incorporated into the plans of all courtrooms. 

 
A. Size and Shape 

Courtroom shape and size should be determined by the anticipated use of the 
courtroom and in consultation with the judges. The traditional shape of a courtroom is 
rectangular and can be divided into two areas: the public gallery (spectator) and the 
litigation well. 

 
Most courthouses require at least one large courtroom, perhaps capable of holding 
100 or more spectators, to accommodate ceremonial functions, public and civic 
meetings, large motions calendars, or docket calls. Where two or more courtrooms 
are required, the second and subsequent courtrooms may be smaller, depending upon 
their projected use. The present and future demands on the courts should be taken into 
account when planning both the size and shape of the courtrooms. 

 
Type of Courtroom Public Seating Area (Sq. Ft.) 
Hearing room 20 persons 1,040 
Standard General District 60 persons 1,200 – 1,400 
Large General District 150 persons 2,000 –2,200 
Standard J & DR 30 persons 1,000 – 1,200 
Large J&DR 60 persons 1,200 – 1,400 
Standard Circuit 60 persons 1,400 – 1,600 
Large Circuit 100 persons 2,000 – 2,200 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-2  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 

Colonial Heights Courthouse, General District Courtroom 
with center bench 

Fairfax County J&DR Courtroom with corner bench 

B. Location of Bench 

The judge should be able to clearly 
view the entire courtroom and all of 
its occupants. Generally, all 
participants within the litigation area 
should have a clear unobstructed 
view of each other. It is particularly 
important that jurors have a clear 
view of the witnesses, defendant, 
judge, and attorneys. 
 
The traditional arrangement is to 
have the bench centered on the back 
wall of the courtroom. Most judges 
prefer this arrangement because of its prominent location and the view that it provides 
of the courtroom. An alternative location is in the corner. The corner bench 
arrangement generally provides better sightlines for courtroom participants and 
makes more efficient use of space.  

 
C. Number and Size of Courtrooms 

The number of courtrooms required will depend upon a number of factors, including 
the size of the court’s caseload, the types of cases, the scheduling practices of the 
court, and the number of judges. While it is possible to provide some general 
guidelines regarding the number of courtrooms, the exact number and size of 
courtrooms that are required will need to be determined during the programming 
phase of the project. 
 
Generally, most communities will 
want to have separate courtrooms for 
their circuit, general district, and 
juvenile and domestic relations 
district courts. In small counties 
(cities) where cases are scheduled for 
only one or two days each week 
courts may be able to share 
courtrooms. This most commonly 
occurs with the general district and 
the J&DR district courts. 
 
Circuit courtrooms must handle both jury and non-jury cases, involving all types of 
matters, including divorce, criminal, and civil. To accommodate this wide variety of 
needs, each courthouse should have at least one large jury circuit courtroom, capable 
of seating approximately 100 spectators that can also be used for jury assembly and 
selection, ceremonial purposes, and other public functions. If additional circuit 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-3  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

courtrooms are needed, medium-sized courtrooms may be adequate, depending upon 
their projected use. 
 
General district courts, because of their high volume caseloads (traffic and 
misdemeanor), will require a large non-jury courtroom capable of seating 100-150 
persons. In multi-judge courts the second courtroom may be somewhat smaller, 
depending upon the court’s calendar and scheduling practices. Also, some smaller 
rural communities may require only a medium-sized, non-jury courtroom for its 
general district court. Again, these are issues that are normally decided during the 
master planning or programming phases of the project. 
 
Juvenile and domestic relations (J & DR) district courts may be smaller than other 
courtrooms.  While certain delinquency cases and cases involving adults are open to 
the public, most juvenile hearings are not open to the public.  The general practice 
among J&DR courts around the state is to include in the courtroom only the 
immediate participants in the case and to have everyone else wait outside the 
courtroom. For most J&DR courtrooms capacity to seat 25-30 persons in the public 
seating area would be sufficient. Consequently, J&DR courtrooms require more 
public seating outside the courtroom than do the other courts. 
 
The following space guidelines give approximate seating and space requirements for 
a variety of courtroom types: 

 
 Courtroom design must include separate work areas for all participants and 

provide adequate circulation for participants within the litigation area. 

 Court proceedings will progress more smoothly if participants have sufficient 
workspace suited to their particular needs. Properly designed and furnished 
workspaces allow individuals to perform their tasks more easily and with less 
distraction to others in the court.    

 Courtrooms should be easily accessible to the public. In all courtrooms, the public 
should enter through a single public entrance vestibule and the judge and court 
staff should be able to enter the courtroom by means of a private entrance at the 
back of the courtroom from a private corridor. In-custody defendants should enter 
directly from a secure holding area adjacent to the courtroom. When entering the 
courtroom, prisoners and defendants should not be escorted near the judge, the 
public, jurors, or witnesses. Prisoners should enter the courtroom from the 
opposite side of the courtroom from the jury. Likewise, jurors should not have to 
pass near the defendant or the public when entering or exiting the courtroom. 
Jurors should be able to exit the courtroom immediately from the jury box and 
enter the deliberation room. 

 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-4  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

D. Environmental Controls 

Each courtroom should be equipped with controls accessible by court staff for the 
heating, cooling, ventilation, and lighting systems for the courtroom. 

 
Maintaining suitable environmental conditions within the courtroom is important. A 
courtroom that is too hot or too cold can adversely affect the participants. The ability 
to regulate the heating, cooling, and ventilation will help maintain a proper 
atmosphere within the courtroom. 
 
Similarly, courtroom lighting should be controlled by court staff and be located where 
they are easily accessible by court personnel. Keeping these controls within the reach 
of court personnel also prevents distractions or problems caused by intentional or 
accidental contact with the controls by others in the courtroom. 
 

E. Acoustics 

Courtrooms should be designed with superior 
acoustics within the courtroom and large 
courtrooms should include a public address system. 
 
Courtrooms should be designed to enhance the 
acoustics within the well, that area occupied by the 
judge, jury, witnesses and litigants. Features such 
as soundproofing between courtroom and 
surrounding spaces (particularly holding cells), 
double door entry ways from public corridors, and 
carpeting help to reduce the extraneous noise 
within the courtroom. Larger courtrooms, 
particularly those in general district courts should 
be equipped with a public address system.  
 

F. Technology 

Courtrooms are forums for the presentation of 
evidence, and judges, court staff, and attorneys need access to audio/visual 
equipment, computers, communication devices, and information databases. The 
following are among the different technologies that need to be incorporated into a 
modern courtroom: 

 
 Large flat panel video display monitors to view evidence displays and remote 

witness testimony; 

 Electronic evidence display system, 

 VCR/DVD Player; 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Acoustical Characteristics

Litigation
Area

Absorptive Surface

Reflective Surface

Moderate Sound Absorption

High Sound Absorption Area



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-5  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 Real-time transcription capability; 

 Audio recording and playback systems; 

 Video recording system (optional); 

 Teleconferencing; 

 Video conferencing for remote testimony, expert witness testimony, arraignments, 
and preliminary hearings; 

 Document scanners; 

 Laser and color printers; 

 Facsimile machine; 

 Light pens for marking video screens; 

 Desktop personal computers; 

 Notebook and tablet computers; 

 Assistive listening devices; 

 Audio enhancement equipment; 

 Interpreting services; 

 CCTV security surveillance cameras; 

 Security and duress alarms. 

G. Video Conferencing  

Courtroom design should 
anticipate the need to incorporate 
video conferencing capabilities in 
the courtroom.  

 
Each type of courtroom has 
different needs for video 
conferencing within the 
courtroom and should be 
equipped with a video 
conferencing system for the 
purpose of viewing remote witness testimony, including expert and child witnesses, 
conducting video arraignments, and other types of remote hearings and conferences.  

 

Video Arraignment System

Courthouse
Jail

Defendant

Telecommunications
Link

Defense Prosecution

Courtroom

Arraignment
Room

Video Monitor
Camera 

Above

Microphone
Speaker
Telephone Handset



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-6  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Microphones need to be located at the bench, clerk’s workstation, and witness stand, 
lectern, and attorney tables. Controls should be located at the clerk’s station or 
judge’s bench.  
 
District courtrooms should have audio recording and playback equipment available, 
as well as video arraignment equipment installed. This requires video and audio 
communication between a prisoner at the jail and persons in the courtroom, including 
the judge, defense attorney, Commonwealth Attorney, and clerk. Controls should be 
located at the judge’s bench or clerk’s workstation. Each participant requires a video 
monitor, camera, microphone and speaker. A video recording capability for the 
preparation of a combined audio and video record of the proceeding would be 
optional. 
 
A facsimile machine at both ends of the video link may be used to transmit 
paperwork with signatures, and telephones permit attorneys to speak privately with 
their clients at the jail. An alternative configuration would be to use scanners and to 
transmit documents (with signatures) via e-mail.  
 

H. Sound Reinforcement and Audio Recording Systems 

All courtrooms over 1,000 square feet need audio amplification to permit the judge, 
jurors, litigants, and public spectators to hear clearly and understand the participants.  
 
Sound reinforcement systems consist of microphones, electronic mixers, signal 
processors, amplifiers and speakers. The sound system should be designed to operate 
automatically with automatic mixers controlling microphones (turning on 
microphones, which are being spoken into). Microphone switches should be provided 
at each microphone, which will function as Off-Auto. Automatic volume controllers 
should be used to help compensate for variations in voice levels and microphone 
distances. Systems should also be provided with electronics equalization to 
compensate for the acoustic properties of the finished courtrooms, speakers, and 
microphones. The master controls should be located at the clerk’s station, or judge’s 
bench, and should include a power switch, master volume control, and override 
controls.  
 
When audio amplification is used in courtrooms, soft acoustic surfaces should be 
installed instead of hard surfaces. 
 
Cables run over carpeted floors are not only unsightly, they also pose a sfety hazard. 
Planning sufficient convenient locations for audio jacks for public address systems, 
audio recording, and video equipment will keep the courtroom functional and 
uncluttered. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-7  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

 
 

Courtroom Access and Circulation

Litigation
Area

Spectator
Area

Attorneys  
Witness 
Parties

Public

Victims/
Witness

Jury

StaffJudge

Prisoners

I. Computer workstations and monitors 

Personal computers in both circuit and 
district court courtrooms should be 
located at the bench and court clerk's 
station. Computers should be 
connected to the courts’ case 
management system and other and 
have access to the internet. 
 
In addition to the judge’s bench and 
clerk’s station, flat panel video display 
monitors for the purpose of viewing 
evidence should be planned for the 
attorney tables, lectern, witness stand, 
and jury box for the viewing of 
electronically displayed evidence. The 
coming use of computer tablets with 
WiFi networks may make the 
installation of fixed video display 
monitors obsolete in the future. 
 
Judges may wish to make use of notebook computers with a docking station located 
in their chambers and on the bench instead of using a desktop personal computer. 
 

III. CIRCUIT COURTROOMS 

A. Courtroom Entrances 

Courtrooms should have separate entrances from restricted, secure, and public 
corridors. Controlling access to the courtroom from each of the three circulation 
systems increases courtroom security and facilitates the movement of people within 
the courthouse. Entrances from all public corridors should have a vestibule with 
double sets of doors to serve as a sound-lock. 

 
B. Judge’s Bench 

The courtroom should have a dignified 
elevated bench that provides sufficient 
work space for the judge. The 
construction of the bench should 
enhance the safety of the judge while 
in the courtroom. 

 
The judge’s work area should be 
equipped with adequate task lighting. 
Each bench should be equipped with a shelf to hold bench books and copies of the 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Judge/Clerk Relationship

Clerk Judge



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-8  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Judge’s Bench

Attorney

Judge

Shelf

Controls

Alarm •

21”
to
24”

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Judge/Clerk Relationship

UP UP

Clerk Judge

Paper
Pass

Virginia Code, and a place for side bar conferences. The judge should have a clear 
view of all parties in the courtroom. 

 
 The judge is the symbol of the 

administration of justice and the 
judge's bench needs to reflect the 
dignity and authority of the 
judiciary. The judge must be able 
to view and hear all courtroom 
participants, address all persons in 
the courtroom, and pass and 
receive documents from attorneys 
and the court clerk. The judge 
should have a clear view of all 
parties in the courtroom while in 
both an upright position as well as 
while reclining in a swivel-back 
chair.  

 The size of the bench should be 
proportionate to the size of the 
courtroom. 

 The bench should be raised at least 
two risers (14 inches) above the floor. 
While seated, the judge’s eye level 
should be higher than that of a 
standing person of average height. 

 If at least six feet of space is allowed behind the judge's desk, the judge can move 
freely for side-bar conferences, reach for reference books, and easily enter and 
exit the bench. Space should allow for the future installation of a ramp or lift for 
wheelchair access. 

 In order to shield the judge’s work 
surface and prevent attorneys and others 
from reading documents of the judge’s 
desk, there should be a barrier, such as 
an ornamental rail or shelf, along the 
front of the bench.  

 Several drawers should be provided for 
forms, supplies, and personal items, as 
well as a book shelf for legal references. 

 The bench should be designed to 
facilitate the transfer of documents and 

 
Barrier/Shelf at Judge’s Bench, Isle of Wight 

Courthouse 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-9  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Courtroom Clerk Workstation, Isle of Wight Courthouse 

verbal communication with the court clerk and court reporter, as well as provide 
clear lines of sight to the witness.  

 Benches may either be centered along the back wall of the courtroom (the 
traditional arrangement) or in the corner. Corner benches, while not favored by 
many judges offer excellent sightlines and tend to make more efficient use of the 
courtroom space.  

 Each bench should be constructed of, or lined with, a projectile resistant material.  

 A silent duress alarm system should be installed in the bench, accessible to and 
clearly marked for activation, by the judge in case of emergency. Care should be 
taken to avoid placement where the alarm could be activated accidentally. 

 The bench should be located in the courtroom so that the judge approaches the 
bench from a private entrance off a restricted access passage. A large clock should 
be mounted on the wall opposite the judge’s bench. 

 Normal room lighting should be augmented by task lighting located directly 
above the bench. Lighting controls for the entire courtroom should be located at 
or near the bench, or clerk’s station. Lighting controls should have preset settings. 

 A minimum of two quadriplex electrical receptacles, two data jacks, two audio 
jacks, one phone line, and video display monitor and desktop or laptop computer 
should be installed at the bench in all courtrooms. All receptacles should be flush-
mounted. Most benches will require two display monitors; one for viewing case 
information and one for viewing evidence presentations. 

 The bench should be equipped with a microphone connected to an amplifier 
controlled by the judge or the clerk. 

C. Clerk’s Station 

A station for the courtroom clerk 
should be located adjacent to the 
judge’s bench, positioned to provide 
a clear view of all courtroom activity 
and equipped with a private writing 
surface, a telephone, and controls for 
courtroom lighting, audio 
amplification systems, and audio 
recording systems if provided. 
The court clerk is responsible for 
maintaining a record of all court 
proceedings, checking case files, and 
recording appropriate case 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-10  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

dispositions. In this capacity, the clerk frequently passes files to and from the judge 
and requires immediate proximity to the judge.  
 
The clerk's station should be compatible with the style and finishes of the judge's 
bench and other courtroom furniture.  
 
The clerk should be elevated at least one riser above the courtroom floor in order to 
provide the clerk with a better view of the courtroom. The height difference between 
the clerk’s station and the judge should not exceed 12". To aid in the transfer of 
documents a “pass-through” or other millwork solutions may be considered. The 
clerk’s station is located on the same side as the bailiff and near a doorway to the 
private corridor. 
 
The court clerk's work surface should be large enough to accommodate the case files 
exhibits, supplies, forms, work papers, and a personal computer with video display 
monitor and keyboard. Space should also be provided for a silent printer and 
document scanner. The counter should be approximately 30 inches in depth and about 
48 inches in length. Approximately 30 to 40 square feet are required for a single 
clerk’s workstation. 
 
 The court clerk's station should have the same amount of task lighting as the 

judge's bench. 

 There should be sufficient space to install a ramp or lift in the future should the 
need arise. A ramp must have a slope of no greater than a 1-foot rise over 12 
linear feet and cannot rise more than 30 inches without a 5-foot level landing. 

 The court clerk's station should have the same duress alarm/intercom system as 
the judge, providing direct linkage with the central security station. 

 Normal room lighting should be augmented by task lighting located directly 
above the bench. 

 An elevated front and/or side on the clerk’s station will provide privacy for note 
taking as well as screening equipment, such as telephone, microphone controls, 
computer, and printer from public view. The separation will avoid participant 
distraction and preserve the dignified appearance of the courtroom.  

 The clerk also is responsible for exhibits during trials. Sufficient space should be 
provided for safe storage of these materials during trials. In addition to drawer and 
shelf space in the clerk’s station, an inconspicuous closet should be provided in 
the courtroom for storing large items during continuing trials. 

 Each workstation should have two quadriplex flush-mounted electrical 
receptacles, one telephone jack, two data jacks for computers and built-in video 
display monitors. Other equipment includes a silent printer and document scanner.   



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-11  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 The clerk should have a phone with silent ring. The control console for the sound 
amplification and video recording systems should be located here, along with a 
microphone connected to a mixer and amplifier controlled by the judge or clerk. 

 All controls for video and teleconferencing equipment should be located at the 
clerk’s station. 

D. Witness Stand 

Each courtroom should have a witness stand clearly visible by the judge, jurors, and 
litigants. The stand should be equipped with a comfortable chair, a modesty panel, a 
sound amplification system, and an 
exhibit display area. A flat panel video 
display monitor may also be located at 
the witness stand to allow witnesses to 
view electronically displayed 
evidence. 
 
The witness, along with the judge, 
should be the focal point of all 
courtroom proceedings. It is critical 
that all courtroom participants clearly 
hear and see all verbal and nonverbal 
communication from the witness. 
Elevating the stand and providing sound amplification facilitates this result, however, 
placing the witness at floor level eliminates the need to provide a ramp or lift for 
wheelchair access. 
 
 The witness stand requires 15-20 sq. ft. The location of the witness stand is 

traditionally next to the judge, but depending upon the configuration of the 
courtroom a free-standing movable witness stand is permitted. 

 The exhibit area for screens, chalkboards or marker boards, and large screen video 
display monitors should be close to the witness stand and easily viewed by the 
witness and other courtroom participants. The exhibit area might be located 
between the witness stand and the jury box for ease of viewing by both the jurors 
and witness. 

 There should be at least one quadriplex, power outlet and two data jacks for a 
video display monitor. A microphone should be mounted unobtrusively at the 
witness stand and be able to receive clearly the testimony of children and 
soft-spoken witnesses. 

 Earphones or other assistive listening devices should be available for hearing 
impaired witnesses. 

 
Courtesy of HOK 

Witness Stand

Attorney

Witness

Exhibit

6-7"



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-12  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

E. Jury Box 

All circuit courtrooms should include a well lit, jury box sized to accommodate at 
least 14 jurors. 
Jurors perform an important function 
in the circuit court. Proper placement 
of the jury box facilitates the juror’s 
ability to observe and follow the 
proceeding. Writing surfaces may be 
included for each juror. Protected 
pathways to and from the courtroom 
and jury deliberation room reduce 
public contact with or harassment of 
jurors. Situating the jury box so jurors 
can see other participants or spectators, 
without being too close, reduces 
opportunities for harassment, 
distraction, or overhearing attorney-client exchanges. Because jurors may be sitting 
for long periods, comfortable chairs and a modesty panel should be provided. 
 
The dimensions should be approximately 8' by 18' and the first row of jurors may be 
at floor level to permit easy wheelchair access without having to provide a ramp or 
lift to the jury box. If the first row is raised above the litigation floor, additional space 
will be required for wheelchair maneuvering and ramps; 
 
 Each juror should have clear lines of sight to the witness stand, the counsel tables, 

the judge, and the evidence display areas. 

 To provide jurors with the best possible view, the rows of seats should be tiered, 
and there should be ample room between the rows for easy entrance and exit of 
jurors.  

 Jurors should have a direct path to and from restricted access corridors; 

 The jurors should have direct access to the jury deliberation room from the 
courtroom by means of the private circulation system; 

 Audio jacks for earphones may be installed at one or two positions for use by the 
hearing impaired. 

 The jury box should be equipped with electrical receptacles and data jacks for the 
installation flat, panel video display monitors for jurors to view evidence and 
documents (at least one for every two jurors). A large screen video monitor for 
viewing evidence is optional. A microphone should be placed near the fore 
person’s position in the jury box.  

 
Courtesy of HOK 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-13  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

F. Counsel Tables 

Each courtroom should have separate tables for defense and plaintiff (prosecution). 
Each table should accommodate from two to four persons, including the litigants or 
defendant. There should be sufficient space for reference books, documents, notes 
and evidence, and notebook computers.  
 
Counsel tables serve several purposes for attorneys in court: a general workspace for 
papers, files, and note taking; a place to confer with clients; and a position from 
which to observe other participants, question the witness, and address the court. To 
accommodate these varying functions, care must be given to the placement of counsel 
tables within the litigation area. Counsel tables should be located so that: 
 
 Counsel and client can see and be seen by all other participants; 

 Counsel has a clear pathway to the bench, witness stand, jury box, clerk’s station, 
and lectern; 

 Conversations between client and counsel will not be overheard by other 
participants, jurors, or spectators. 

 To accommodate cases with large numbers of participants, an additional row of 
chairs or a bench might be provided behind each table just in front of the rail. 

 A minimum of two quadriplex electrical receptacles; two data jacks, one phone 
line, and two audio jacks should be installed for each table. Space should be 
allowed for the installation of a personal / notebook computer, monitor. Space for 
a silent printer and document scanner also may be required.  

G. Lectern  

Space for a moveable lectern with 
a microphone should be provided 
in the courtroom. 
 
The preference of the judges and 
attorneys will determine the actual 
use of the lectern. In many 
recently constructed courthouses 
the lectern has been developed 
into a media presentation center 
with personal computer and 
electronic presentation system that 
includes a video camera.  
 

 
Fairfax County J&DR Courtroom 

Lectern with Evidence Display System 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-14  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Task lighting may be provided at the lectern to aid reading. The lectern should be 
easily accessible from the attorney tables and should not interfere with the view of the 
proceedings by the litigants or the jurors. 

 
H. Display Area 

Each courtroom should include an area for the display of evidence. This may include 
a large flat screen video monitor, a built-in white marker board or softboard, x-ray 
shadow box, or projector screen. All such display equipment should be positioned to 
allow easy viewing by the witness and all other participants.  
 
By incorporating the majority of the equipment needed for evidence display into the 
litigation area’s design, the confusion and clutter of free-standing units can be 
avoided. Traffic patterns within the well should be designed to accommodate access 
to the equipment and the need for additional storage space in the courthouse will be 
limited. The use of flat panel (and perhaps computer tablets) to view electronically 
displayed evidence is replacing many of the older display systems and the need to 
provide space for marker boards and projectors. 

 
I. Bailiff Station 

Space should be provided for a bailiff in each courtroom. Due to the varying duties of 
the bailiff, more than one space may be needed. 
 
The bailiff, or deputy sheriff, is responsible for the security of the courtroom and all 
participants, maintains order in the courtroom, and removes disruptive persons. The 
bailiff generally moves about the courtroom but for convenience and comfort a small 
table with movable swivel chair may be provided. Typical locations include: near the 
bench, by the defendant, near the jury box, and near the main public entrance.  
 
From each location the bailiff should be able to see the entire courtroom and have 
easy access to a silent emergency alarm. In planning for specific courtrooms, the 
judges involved should be consulted. The total area need be no more than 15 square 
feet. 
 
The bailiff workstation requires at least one quadriplex electrical receptacle; one data 
jack, one phone line, and one audio jack. The bailiff’s station may also have a 
telephone with a silent ring.  
 

J. Court Reporter Station 

Each courtroom should provide a workstation near the bench and witness stand for a 
court reporter.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-15  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Most courts in Virginia make use of contract court reporters and the court reporters 
provide their own equipment. The configuration of the court reporter’s space will be 
determined by the method of court reporting used: 
 
Steno type – a moveable chair and adequate electrical outlets are required. 

 
Electronic recording – a permanent work station that will accommodate the required 
recording equipment and space for note taking. Wiring for the sound recording 
equipment should be incorporated into the courtroom’s design. 
 
Computer-aided transcription – a moveable chair, adequate electrical outlets and data 
jack for computer connection. 
 
Videotaping – camera locations, a permanent work station that will accommodate the 
required monitoring equipment and conduits for wiring should be incorporated into 
the courtroom design. 
 
For testimony and proceedings to be recorded accurately, the court reporter should be 
located adjacent to or in front of the witness stand so that the reporter can clearly 
view the witness's facial expressions and hear voice testimony. The court reporter 
should also have an unobstructed view of the entire litigation area. This field of vision 
should include the judge, witness box, jury box, and attorney’s tables.  

 
For a steno-typist or reporter, using computer-aided transcription, being able to hear 
and be heard by the participants is crucial. When sidebar exchanges occur between 
the judge and attorneys, the reporter must be able to move quickly into a position to 
hear and record the remarks. 
 
For electronic recording, proper placement of microphones to pick up each speaker’s 
remarks is crucial. In addition, because log notes indicating the tape counter location 
of each witness’ testimony should be taken, a work surface to accommodate note 
taking should be provided. If a centralized recording system is used, this task may be 
performed by the courtroom clerk, thus eliminating the need for a court reporter’s 
station in the courtroom. A central recording and storage room and extensive wiring 
arrangements would, however, be required. 
 
Although in Virginia, general district and juvenile and domestic relations district 
courts are not considered “courts of record”, these courts also should include court 
reporter stations in the courtrooms. This is because attorneys may wish to provide 
their own reporters to make a transcript in some cases. 
 
The court reporter station should have a minimum of four electrical outlets, two data 
jacks, and two audio jacks. Enough space should be allowed for stenographic 
equipment and a personal computer. A silent printer in the courtroom may be needed 
for producing transcripts.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-16  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

K. Defendant’s Station 

In courtrooms that will be used for criminal trials, the defendant’s station should be 
located near the entrance to the prisoner holding facilities. 
 
Criminal defendants who are in custody should enter the courtroom from restricted 
passages connected to the prisoner holding facilities. For the security of the prisoner 
and those in the courtroom, the distance from this entry to the defense table should be 
kept to a minimum. The defendant should not pass the jury box, the bench, or through 
the spectator area en route to the defense table or defendant’s station.  
 
If feasible, provision should be made to handle the violent defendant. In larger 
courthouses with several courtrooms, at least one courtroom might be equipped with 
a secure holding room adjacent to the courtroom to hold violent prisoners during 
trials. If provided, this room should be equipped with a security glass window 
opening onto the courtroom so that the defendant can be observed by the jurors, 
judge, and other participants. The room should also be wired for a speaker and 
microphone so that the defendant can hear the proceedings and respond to questions 
as necessary. 
 

L. Public Gallery and Spectator Seating 

A seating area for spectators should be provided in all courtrooms, including juvenile 
and domestic relations district courts. Courtrooms used for ceremonial purposes will 
require greater seating capacity. Spectator seating area should be separated from the 
well (litigation area) area by a railing or other physical barrier. 
 
Because the majority of court proceedings are open to the public, including many 
juvenile hearings, spectator seating should be provided. The amount of seating will 
vary depending on the type of courtroom. Decisions about seating capacity should 
take into consideration the following: 
 

o Use of courtroom for jury impaneling 

o Type of activity planned for courtrooms, i.e., criminal courtroom, motions 
courtroom, regular civil trials, traffic court, juvenile, etc. 

o Other public or civic uses 

Fixed, pew-type benches allow greater flexibility in seating capacity than individual 
chairs and reduce courtroom distractions caused by chairs scraping the floor. 
Auditorium (theater) style seating provides greater comfort and may be more 
appropriate in courtrooms with longer proceedings. 

 
 
 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-17  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Approximate Public Seating Capacities by Courtroom Size 
 

Type of Courtroom Spectators 
Large 101-150 
Medium 51-100 
Small 31-50 
Hearing Room 20 

 
IV. GENERAL AND JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS DISTRICT 

COURTROOMS 

District courtrooms have many of the same features and requirements as circuit courtrooms 
with the exception that district courts are not courts of record and do not have jury trials. 
They do not, therefore, require jury boxes or adjacent jury deliberation rooms.  
 
Even though they are not courts of record, district courts use audio recording to record the 
proceedings in the courtroom and private attorneys may on occasion wish to hire a reporter 
to make a transcript of the proceedings. 
 
When planning and designing new district courtrooms, however, consideration should be 
given to possible future changes in court jurisdiction and to how the current courtroom may 
be used in the future. Future flexibility is enhanced by the design of fairly generic 
courtrooms that can be used for a variety of court functions over the years. This would 
mean designing district courtrooms that are at least large enough to accommodate a future 
jury box in case the district courtroom should ever be needed to be used as a circuit 
courtroom. Future expansion strategies may include the possibility that the district court 
will vacate the building to an addition or another building and that the current courtrooms 
be converted to circuit courtrooms. 
 
In most other respects, judges’ benches, witness stand, attorney tables, prisoner holding, 
spectators, and security district court design should follow closely that of circuit courtrooms 
as described above. 
 
Likewise, district courtrooms will have many of the same technology requirements as do 
circuit courtrooms. Generally, however, the evidence display needs are not as elaborate in 
district courts where trials are shorter and usually involve fewer witnesses, and the issues 
presented are less technical. District courts also make use of audio recording instead of live 
court reporters to take the record. Most evidence may still be presented using a DVD player 
or other electronic media, white marker board, or overhead projector.  
 
In many district court proceedings, attorneys and litigants/defendants often stand at the 
bench. There should be a small shelf incorporated into the bench design where attorneys 
can place papers and documents. The shelf also helps to prevent attorneys and others from 
viewing the judge’s notes and documents. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-18  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

While district courts will make use of audio recording to take the record, there may be 
occasions when a live real-time transpiration is required for the hearing impaired or when 
private attorneys wish to have a record made. For those occasions, a court reporter station 
should be located adjacent to, or in front of, the witness stand so that the reporter can 
clearly view the witness's facial expressions and hear voice testimony. The technology 
requirements for the court reporter are the same as for a circuit courtroom. 
 
Cases heard in district court are generally shorter than circuit court with less evidence being 
presented. The space requirements are somewhat less as is the need for electronic 
equipment at the attorney tables. Nonetheless, courtroom functions may change over the 
years and planning should consider possible future requirements. 
 
J&DR district court proceedings are often private and less formal than in general district 
court and circuit court. There are also fewer spectators present in most J&DR proceedings. 
J&DR courtrooms are generally smaller than other courtrooms and need to seat no more 
than 30 in the public gallery.  
 
A. Hearing Rooms 

In multi-judge courthouses and courthouses with a juvenile and domestic relations 
district consideration should be given to providing at least one hearing room in which 
informal hearings may be conducted by judges, commissioners, special justices, or 
magistrates. 

 
Hearing rooms should be provided for hearing minor infractions or small hearings of 
a private nature. Hearing rooms are generally informal, private, and require less 
space. They are particularly well suited to hear private juvenile and domestic matters. 

 
 

Generally, hearing rooms should meet the same standards for environmental controls 
and working standards as courtrooms. They should be well-lit, free from outside noise 
and distractions, and free from obstructions within the room. Because the hearings 
generally involve fewer people, less public seating is required; generally no more 
than 10 persons. There should be work tables for each of the parties, and the judge’s 
bench should be slightly elevated (usually one riser is sufficient). If a witness stand, 
reporter’s station, clerk’s station, or bailiff’s station is required, they should conform 
to the standards of a regular courtroom. Consideration should be given to using 
moveable furniture, including the judge’s bench. 

 
The same standards as to circulation patterns should be followed. The judge should be 
able to enter the hearing room from a secure, private corridor. The public and litigants 
should enter through a separate public entrance. The work area and the public seating 
area should be separated by a physical barrier. The judge should have complete and 
unobstructed view of all participants in the room. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-19  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

A hearing room should accommodate at least 15 people (non-spectators) in the 
litigation area and seat about 10 spectators. A typical hearing room requires 
approximately 700 - 940 sq. ft. 
 
Generally, technology requirements of hearing rooms will be similar to that required 
in courtrooms. Planning should include computers at the bench and clerk’s 
workstation, video conferencing capabilities, and video display monitors to view 
evidence. Electrical outlets, voice and data jacks should be planned for the bench, 
clerk’s workstation, witness box (if present), and attorney tables. 

 
B. Conference Rooms 

Each courthouse should have conference rooms capable of seating four to six persons 
for the use of attorney’s and their clients and the Commonwealth’s attorney’s office. 
Large multi-purpose conference rooms seating ten to fifteen persons may be required 
at other locations in the courthouse for use by judges, the clerk, Sheriff, 
Commonwealth Attorney, or court administration. 
 
Elsewhere in these guidelines mention has been made for the need for witness waiting 
rooms and attorney/client conference rooms. This would fulfill many of the needs for 
conference space needed by attorneys and the Commonwealth’s attorney. Juvenile 
and domestic relations district courts, however, have special needs for conference 
space where private conferences may occur between parties in child custody, neglect, 
and other types of sensitive cases. 
 
Larger conference rooms seating ten to twenty persons may be needed in the clerk’s 
offices and the judges’ chambers. The judges’ conference room may double as a 
small hearing room and consideration should be given to the use of flexible 
furnishings. In small courthouses (one or two judges) the law library may also double 
as a conference space for special meetings or events. 
 
In all cases, the conference rooms should be sound-proofed in order to allow private 
conversations that cannot be heard from outside the door or through the walls. 
 
Conference rooms should be equipped with adequate electrical outlets and data jacks 
to permit users with laptop computers to work and access local or wide area computer 
networks. Larger conference rooms may also be equipped with video conferencing 
equipment for the purpose of long-distance training or meetings. 

 
C. Witness Waiting Room 

Each courtroom should have two witness waiting rooms, located near the courtroom, 
one for each side in a case. 
 
Witnesses often must spend long periods of time waiting in court to be called to 
testify, sometimes at extreme inconvenience. They deserve comfortable, secure, and 
private surroundings. In many older courthouses it is not uncommon for witnesses to 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-20  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

be forced to wait in the courtroom or hallways. Often these accommodations are 
uncomfortable, lack privacy, and place witnesses in positions where they may be 
threatened, intimidated, or come into contact with opposing witnesses. 
 
Witness waiting rooms should be provided in all circuit, general district and juvenile 
and domestic relations district courts. 
The need to protect witnesses, particularly in criminal and juvenile cases, is an 
important consideration in the design of witness waiting areas. Witnesses should not 
be placed in situations where they can be intimidated by defendants or other 
individuals. It is also necessary to provide control over witnesses so that they are 
available to testify when needed. 
 
Attorneys on occasion need to confer in private with witnesses before they are called 
to testify, and witness waiting rooms also can serve this purpose. 
 
Witnesses are generally excluded from courtroom during the testimony of other 
witnesses so that they cannot be influenced by contact with other witnesses, or by 
hearing testimony given by others. Witness rooms should be constructed in a way that 
isolates the rooms from courtroom sounds and activities, and should be soundproofed. 
 
The rooms should be ventilated and well-lighted, require a minimum of 100 sq. ft., 
and hold up to four persons. 
 
Witness waiting rooms should be equipped with a telephone jack and electrical 
outlets so that witnesses might work while waiting (phones might be provided upon 
request).  
 

D. Attorney-Client Conference Room 

Each courtroom should have two rooms for private conferences between attorneys 
and their clients. 
 
There should be at least two conference rooms for each courtroom. Conference rooms 
should be required for circuit and juvenile and domestic relations district courtrooms; 
they should be considered optional for general district courts. 
 
Attorneys need to meet with their clients during the litigation process to discuss 
matters in private. In many courthouses, these conversations must take place in 
crowded corridors or even outside on the courthouse steps. Attorneys could use these 
conference rooms rather than the public areas for their discussions. 
 
In smaller courts, witness waiting rooms or jury deliberation rooms could serve 
double duty. Conference rooms should be located close to the courtroom and be 
accessible from public circulation. A common configuration is to have the conference 
rooms accessed through the courtroom’s entry vestibule.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-21  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 Jury Deliberation Suite

Vestibule
Lounge

Private Circulation

Coats

Men

Women

Deliberation
Room

The minimum space requirement should be approximately 100 sq. ft. The rooms 
should be soundproofed. The rooms may be equipped with PA speakers so users can 
hear public announcements.    
 
The room should be equipped with a telephone jack and electrical outlets (phones 
might be provided upon request). The installation of phone jacks permits the room to 
be used for some other purpose in the future. 

 
V. JURY OPERATIONS 

A. Jury Deliberation Room 

Each jury courtroom should have available a jury deliberation room which is 
accessible by means of the private circulation system. 

 
The jury deliberation room is where jurors confer to reach a verdict. It must protect 
the privacy of the jurors and their deliberations from outside detection. It should also 
be free from distractions and outside interference. The jury deliberation room should 
be sound-proofed, well-ventilated, well lighted, and air conditioned. It should provide 
visual and acoustical privacy for the jurors. To provide security, the room should not 
have vented doors or transoms and should not adjoin the attorney conference or 
witness waiting rooms, because of the possibility of jurors being overheard or 
overhearing conversations by others. Access to and from the jury room should be 
barrier-free. 

 
To minimize contact between jurors and outside persons, the jury room should be 
designed to eliminate the need for jurors to leave the room. A small service area with 
kitchen counter, sink with running water, and space for a coffee machine should be 
located within the room. Handicapped 
accessible toilets for both men and women 
should be provided. The restrooms should be 
soundproofed and acoustically separated 
from the room so that they may be used 
without embarrassment. The doors should 
not open directly into the main jury room to 
preclude jurors having a direct view of the 
toilet facilities. Restrooms should be 
designed for use by the handicapped. 

 
Jurors should have strict privacy while 
deliberating. There should be no contact with 
the public or other persons. To insure their 
security, provision should be made for the 
proper supervision of the jury deliberation 
room by a bailiff or other court staff person. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-22  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Isle of Wight Courthouse, Jury Assembly Room 

There should be a security station outside the jury deliberation room. There should 
also be a signaling system so jurors are able to notify someone of any special needs or 
if they have a question. 

 
 The room should hold a conference table that accommodates 14 jurors, have 

comfortable chairs, and have a blackboard and facilities such as a large video 
display screen to view video recordings or electronically displayed evidence.  

 If the jury deliberation room is located on the ground floor of the courthouse, it 
should not have windows that would allow someone from outside to look into the 
room or from which jurors could view demonstrations or persons outside the 
courthouse. Windows, if any, should be high and should not open onto public 
areas to prevent persons outside the courthouse from hearing the deliberations. 

 In large courthouses with several circuit courtrooms it may not be necessary to 
have one jury deliberation room for every jury courtroom. It is unlikely that each 
court would have a jury in deliberation at the same time. A ratio of one jury 
deliberation room per two or three courtrooms may be sufficient depending upon 
the frequency of jury trials. 

 Smaller courts with infrequent needs for jury deliberation may wish to enlarge the 
jury deliberation room so that it may also serve as a jury assembly room or other 
type of conference space. 

 Deliberation rooms may need to be 
equipped with a wall-mounted 
writing, display, or projection 
surface.  

 Although telephones should not be 
allowed in jury deliberation rooms, 
at least one telephone jack should 
be installed for times when the 
room is not in use by jurors.  

 There should be electrical outlets 
and a data jack connection for a computer and video display monitor to permit the 
review of transcripts and recorded evidence.  

 The space required for a 14-person jury is approximately 265-400 sq. ft. including 
toilet facilities and vestibule. 

B. Jury Assembly 

Each circuit court in which a substantial number of jury trials are held should have a 
jury assembly room. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-23  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Jury duty is a public service often performed at great inconvenience to the individual. 
It is also often the only contact many people will have with the justice system. 
Prospective jurors should be provided a separate jury assembly room where they may 
wait and receive orientation in comfort and safety.  

 
In larger jurisdictions where several jury trials may be held on the same day, the size 
of the jury pool may be large, requiring special facilities to accommodate them. In 
small and rural courthouses where the number of jury trials is limited (an average of 
one or two a year), no special facilities may be required other than an enlarged jury 
deliberation room or large circuit courtroom. 

 
Where the jury assembly room is not needed full-time, the room should be adaptable 
to other uses such as larger conferences, meetings, or training programs. 

 
Once assembled in the jury assembly room, jurors’ movements should be restricted. 
Prospective jurors should not come into contact with parties in the cases in which 
they are likely to serve because of the possibility of affecting the juror’s ability to 
view the case objectively. Provisions should be made for their entertainment and 
comfort. The room may be equipped with a television, comfortable chairs, tables, 
refreshment center or vending machines, coat closet, and toilets. 

 
 All facilities should be handicapped-accessible. Assistive listening devices should 

be available for hearing impaired persons. 

 Access to the jury assembly room should be barrier-free and access to and from 
the courtroom from the assembly room should be likewise barrier-free. 

 Space should be available for a variety of activities such as receiving orientation, 
reading, television viewing, using laptop or notebook computers, or listening to 
music or playing games on electronic devices.  

 The room should contain enough chairs to provide a comfortable seat for each 
prospective juror.  

 The orientation area requires theater type seating and should be large enough to 
seat all prospective jurors. Theater seating requires 8-10 sq. ft per juror.  

 A variety of different seating may be provided. Reading and work carrels require 
30 to 35 sq. ft. per person; table seating requires 25 sq. ft per person; and casual 
seating 20 to 25 sq. ft per person. For early planning purposes an average of 15 
sq. ft. per prospective juror should be adequate. 

 The jury assembly room should be equipped with a large video display or TV to 
view jury instructions and orientation. Several TV cable outlets might be provided 
for televisions for use by waiting jurors. Electrical outlets and WiFi may be 
provided so that jurors with notebook computers, computer tablets, or other 
electronic devices may work or view entertainment while waiting. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-24  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 A reception area is generally needed where jurors check in, receive badges, and 
store personal belongings. The size of the adjacent workstation should be 
sufficient for clerks to call jury panels, prepare jury lists, and arrange payment to 
jurors. 

 The rooms should be well ventilated and acoustically treated to lower interior 
noise and reduce disruptions to adjacent offices.  

 Natural light is desirable, although if located on the ground floor, windows should 
be high to prohibit persons outside from communicating with potential jurors. 

 Jury assembly areas are best located on a lower floor of the courthouse; but not in 
the basement. They should be easily accessible from the main public entrance. For 
convenience, it is helpful if the assembly room is near the snack bar or vending 
area, if a vending area is not provided within the jury assembly area. 

C. Grand Jury Room 

One jury deliberation room in each circuit courthouse should be designed to 
accommodate grand juries. ln the largest circuit courts in the Commonwealth, where 
grand juries regularly meet during each term of court, consideration may be given to 
providing a room dedicated solely to the grand jury’s use. 
 
The major responsibility of the grand jury is to determine whether the 
Commonwealth’s Attorney has sufficient evidence on which to prosecute a suspect. 
The grand jury consists of five to seven individuals and may sit for several days each 
month. A special grand jury consisting of seven to eleven citizens may be called by 
the circuit court to investigate criminal activities. They are generally impaneled in the 
courtroom by the judge, and convene to listen to evidence given by prosecution 
witnesses. Indictments are usually presented to the judge in open court. Present in the 
grand jury room are the witness, court reporter, and (at certain times) the prosecuting 
attorney. 
 
The grand jury room should be a private, secure room, and may be located near the 
Commonwealth’s Attorney’s office. All spaces in the room should he acoustically 
soundproof and should not be located where the public can see or hear the 
proceedings. Adjacent to the grand jury room, but acoustically private, should be a 
witness waiting room. 
 
Grand jurors should be comfortable and have the same requirements for secure toilet 
facilities, refreshments, and environmental controls as petit jurors. 

 
VI. JUDICIAL CHAMBERS 

The group of offices provided for the judge and his or her personal staff is referred to as the 
judge’s chambers. Personal staff may include a judicial secretary and/or law clerk. The 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-25  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 

 

location, size, and furnishings of the judge’s chambers should reflect the dignity and 
importance of the judiciary.  
 
There should be a private office for each 
resident judge in the courthouse.  
 
When not presiding in the courtroom, the 
judge’s work includes legal research, 
preparation of opinions or judgments, 
preparation for upcoming hearings and 
trials, review and study of case files and 
records, and meetings and conferences 
with attorneys and court personnel. 
 
There should be sufficient space for study, 
case preparation, and personal library and 
reference materials. The office also needs to be able to accommodate informal conferences 
between the judge and attorneys and court staff. Larger conference space may be located 
outside the judge’s office and shared with other judges or offices in the court. 
 
The office should accommodate the judge’s desk and work space, files, personal library, an 
informal conference area for at least four persons, coat storage and a restroom. 
 
Generally, space requirements range from 300-380 sq. ft. 
 
Equipment will include a personal computer with monitor and keyboard, personal 
computer, a printer, document scanner, and facsimile machine. The judge’s office should 
have two data jacks and at least one phone jack. Future judges’ offices may also be 
equipped for video conferencing. 
 
The judge should be conveniently located to the courtroom and be able to access the 
courtroom by means of the private circulation system. 
 
It is customary for judicial chambers to be located on a private corridor immediately behind 
the courtroom(s), although it is permissible to locate several chambers together on a court 
floor into a collegial suite in an effort to more easily share common support operations.  
 
In some larger urban courthouses, such as Norfolk, the judicial chambers have been located 
on a separate judicial, or collegial, floor. The advantage of this is that judges can more 
easily share common resources, increased security, and a single point of public access to the 
judicial areas.  
 
Keeping the chambers close to the courtrooms allows judges to robe in private before 
entering the courtroom. During recesses or other breaks in courtroom proceedings the judge 
also can quickly retire to his or her office to handle other matters and it makes it easier for 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-26  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

judges to hold private conferences with attorneys if the chambers are close to the 
courtrooms. 
 
There should be a private, secure 
corridor between the building’s judicial 
entrance and the judges’ chambers. 
 
Security is of great concern. Judges 
should be able to enter and exit the 
building inconspicuously and should not 
be required to encounter the public, 
attorneys, or prisoners being brought to 
court while entering the courtroom or his 
or her chambers. The private circulation 
system should extend from the judicial 
chambers to the main judicial entrance 
(usually the judicial parking area).  
 
Each judge’s chamber should be equipped with a private restroom or the judge should have 
access to one that is convenient and where public access is restricted. 
 
For security reasons the judge should remain separated from the public. In small older 
courthouses it may be acceptable for the judge to share a private restroom with court staff. 
Public access should remain restricted. Generally, 49 - 64 sq. ft. is needed for a private 
restroom. 
 
Each judicial chambers area should have a secured, controlled entrance from public 
circulation where attorneys and other visitors can be screened. 
 
There should be an entrance to the judicial chambers area from public circulation so that 
attorneys and other are able to meet with judges in their chambers. Persons entering the 
chambers area should be screened and if possible escorted back to the judge’s office. This 
may be done by a bailiff, security officer, or judicial secretary or other staff person.  When 
several judges share one or more secretaries, a central reception area may be used. Access 
to the judges’ chambers from this reception area should be controlled by a security door or 
monitored by the judge’s secretary or security personnel. 
 
Each circuit court judge’s chamber should be equipped with space for a judicial secretary. 
 
Not all judges have a judicial secretary, but sufficient space should be allowed for a judicial 
secretary, if one is provided, for each judge. The secretary’s office should be located 
outside and adjacent to the judge’s private office and should also serve as the visitor 
reception area. It should be large enough to accommodate a desk, computer workstation, 
video display monitor, printer, document scanner, several filing cabinets, and bookcase or 
equipment cabinet. Generally 150-200 sq. ft. should be adequate, depending upon the size 
of the reception area. 

 
Judge’s Office, Portsmouth J&DR Court 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-27  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Each secretarial, clerk, or law clerk workstation should have at least two quadriplex 
electrical outlets, two data jacks, and one phone jack. 
 
The judge’s office should be soundproofed, adequately heated, cooled, ventilated, and 
receive natural lighting. 
 
Much of the judge’s work requires quiet and a distraction-free environment. Additionally, 
conversations with other judges, attorneys and litigants regarding pending cases may be 
confidential. For these reasons the judge’s private office should be constructed to be 
soundproof and relatively quiet. It should not have transoms or vented doors. Normal 
conversations held within the offices should not be able to be heard by persons seated 
outside the room. 
 
Environmental controls for the office should be located within the chambers. 
 
Sufficient space should be provided for law clerk and bailiff, if required.   
 
Some courts, particularly larger, urban circuit courts provide law clerks and a bailiff for the 
judges. A bailiff would require approximately 80-100 sq. ft. for an open workstation located 
adjacent to the judge’s private office, while a law clerk requires space to perform legal 
research and review case files.  A private office of approximately 100-120 sq. ft is required. 
 
Each workstation should have at least two quadruplex electrical outlets, two data jacks, and 
one phone jack. 

 
VII. COURT REPORTER’S OFFICE 

Where court reporters are on the court’s payroll, each reporter should have a separate 
private office in which to transcribe court proceedings and to store equipment. 
 
Most courts in Virginia make use of audio recording systems or free-lance court reporters 
and offices for a court reporter are generally not included in the courthouse. All circuit 
court criminal proceedings are recorded, while civil matters are reported at the discretion of 
the parties. Although the district courts are not “courts of record”, some district courts make 
use of audio recording equipment. 
 
Where court reporters are part of the court’s staff, each reporter should have a private office 
in which to transcribe their notes or tapes and store their equipment. In courts that make use 
of free-lance reporters, consideration may be given to providing the reporters with space in 
which to work prior to court and during court recesses. This is optional on the part of the 
local governing body. 
 
If provided, offices should be located near the courtroom so that the reporter can quickly 
move back and forth as required. Because the work requires concentration, offices should 
be soundproofed, and provide a comfortable work environment. Space should be provided 
for a desk, personal computer with video display monitor and storage cabinets to hold the 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-28  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

reporter’s notes or tapes or other storage devices. Each office should be approximately 120-
150 sq.  

 
VIII. CLERK OF COURT 

Separate clerk’s offices serve the circuit and district courts; however the clerks’ offices for 
certain general district and juvenile and domestic relations district courts in Virginia may be 
combined. The circuit clerk is an elected official while the two district court clerks are 
appointed state employees of the Virginia judicial system. In smaller jurisdictions the two 
district court clerks’ offices may be combined under a single clerk.  
 
The court clerk’s office for each court is accountable for all of the business activities and 
record keeping functions of that court. Clerks collect all court fees and fines. Circuit Clerks 
have additional responsibilities beyond those of “clerk of the court,” such as maintaining 
land records, issuing licenses such as marriage licenses and docketing judgments from other 
courts and appeals from the district court. The number and scope of the functions 
performed by each clerk’s office varies depending on the court’s jurisdiction and the size of 
the clerk’s staff. The number of staff may range from two or three to over 100 employees. 
 
Each office should be designed to promote a smooth and efficient work flow. In small 
offices, staff normally is cross trained to perform several functions, while in larger offices 
greater specialization is common. Therefore, as the size of the office increases more spatial 
differentiation between activities is required. 
 
In support of the court’s judicial activities the clerk receives and processes pleadings and 
documents to initiate court cases as well as all subsequent filings in support of on-going 
litigation.  
 
Circuit court clerks in Virginia also are responsible for non-court related recording 
functions, such as recording of deeds and issuance of marriage licenses. These records must 
be received, processed, indexed, and stored securely, while providing convenient public 
access. More and more court records and documents are being received and stored 
electronically, requiring deputy clerks to spend more time working with documents using a 
computer instead of receiving documents at the public counter. 
 
General district courts are high volume courts that process large numbers of traffic and 
misdemeanor cases, while juvenile and domestic relations district court matters involve 
children and families, and many of these records are confidential requiring secure locked 
storage.  
 
Clerks’ offices should be in a highly visible location and easily accessed from the 
building’s main public entrance. As a general rule, the clerk should be located on the first 
floor whenever possible. At the same time, the location of the clerk’s office should allow 
convenient staff access to other areas of the building. When more than one clerk’s office is 
to be located in the courthouse, the office with the greatest volume of traffic should be 
located nearest the main public entrance.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-29  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

It is common practice to locate each clerk’s office near the court it serves. This makes it 
easier for the clerks to service the courtrooms and facilitates fine payments after court. 
Where the clerk may be separated from the courtroom, particularly with the two district 
court clerks, a special fine payment window that is staffed during court hours may be 
located adjacent to the courtroom to make it easier for persons to pay their fines before 
leaving court. 
 
Alternatively it is permissible for all clerks’ offices to be located together on the first floor 
thus providing greater convenience to the public, attorneys, and litigants needing to conduct 
business with the clerk. Such an arrangement also permits the clerks to share common 
support functions such as rest rooms and break areas. 
 
Spaces in each clerk’s office can be classified as (1) public access, (2) staff-only areas, or 
(3) controlled public access. Public access areas include the reception and waiting areas and 
the public counter. The public also requires access to land records, judgments, liens, and 
other recordings in the circuit clerk’s office and to case records in the circuit and general 
district courts.  In the juvenile court, limited public access may be required for access to 
adult records. 
 
Staff-only areas include staff workstations, some judicial records storage, the exhibit room, 
computer equipment room, supplies storage; photocopy machine, sorting areas and other 
behind-the-counter staff work areas and the employee’s break room. 
 
Controlled access should be afforded to the clerk’s private office and deputy clerks’ 
workstations so that visitors can be received in an orderly and professional manner. Another 
area requiring controlled access is the probate office in the circuit clerk’s office and court 
case files. 
 
Each clerk’s office should have its own controls for heating, cooling, and ventilation 
systems as well as lighting appropriate for the various work stations. 
 
Zoned heating and cooling systems within a courthouse are important for comfort as well as 
energy conservation. Energy can be saved when heating or air conditioning is turned down 
in an idle courtroom, however, work goes on in the clerk’s office and the air temperature 
should be controllable. 
 
Lighting requirements may vary in different parts of the office depending on the type of 
activity being pursued. Glare should be reduced wherever employees are working at 
computer terminals or using video display monitors. In areas where the public is reviewing 
land records and other paper documents maximum lighting is needed. 
 
Acoustics should be designed to mute sound from walking and conversation that could 
distract workers or researchers. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-30  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Public Transaction County, Isle of Wight Courthouse 

 

Carpeting, acoustical ceiling tiles, and wall treatment designed to muffle sound are 
appropriate for various parts of the clerk’s office, particularly in high traffic and equipment 
areas. 
 
Where the work requires a high degree of concentration and low interaction with other staff 
members, barriers such as sound-absorbing room dividers may be used. Semi-private 
offices are another possibility but offer less flexibility in rearranging the office layout as 
needs change.  

 
A. Public Counters 

The public reception or waiting area and the public counter should be highly visible 
and large enough to accommodate anticipated needs. 
 
The public reception and counter areas is where most business is transacted. The 
public counter separates the general office area from the public area. The reception or 
waiting area on the public side of the counter should be large enough to avoid 
crowding and should be furnished with chairs or benches if waiting periods of five 
minutes or more are anticipated. Other features might include writing tables if 
individuals need to prepare forms and provision for public access computer terminals.  
 
On the private side of the counter space is needed for several individual workstations 
that include a computer, display terminal, printer, scanner, and cash register. Under 
counter areas can be useful for the storage of forms and supplies used at the counter. 
 
There are generally several 
counter positions so that more 
than one person may be 
served at the same time.  
 
Persons on the public side of 
the counter usually are 
standing. Deputy clerks on the 
private side of the counter 
may either stand or be seated. 
A stand up counter is 
normally 40" high with a 24” 
wide writing surface. A sit 
down counter is desk height 
and useful for interview-type 
contact when a member of the clerk’s staff is receiving information from an 
individual for various applications and a private setting is unnecessary. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-31  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Public Counter, Portsmouth Circuit Clerk 

A split-level counter offers an opportunity for staff members to be seated at a work 
station on the office side and a customer to approach a stand up counter. This 
arrangement has the potential for improved space utilization and quicker response. 
This arrangement is also more appropriate where one or more deputy clerks are 
permanently assigned to work at the public counter. 
 
A decision must be made as to 
whether the public counter will 
be open with no barrier or 
closed with a glass barrier 
between the public and the 
deputy clerks. The former 
design is often preferred by 
circuit clerks while district 
clerks often prefer the latter 
design.  
 
At least one position at the 
counter should be lowered to 
allow wheelchair access by the 
public. 
 
The counter may be located fully within the clerk’s office or built into a wall opening 
on to a public corridor. In the latter case, a secure closure should be installed for non-
office hours security. 
 
Each public counter station should be equipped to handle money transactions.  
 
Counter workstations should have the capability of including a computer, video 
display monitor, document scanner, and printer. Generally it should be assumed that 
each workstation will require at least two data and one voice line (3 CAT 6 lines), and 
a minimum of two quadriplex electrical outlets. Specialized workstations may require 
additional electrical outlets. Because of the heat generated by electrical equipment, 
steps should be taken to ensure that equipment is cooled. Plans should include room 
for considerable growth in electrical demand. 
 
In general district courts where fines are imposed on a large number of traffic 
offenders a semi-secure fine payment area adjacent to the courtroom is often used to 
ensure that defendants take care of payment arrangements before leaving the 
courthouse. This payment area reduces the need for security personnel to escort 
individuals until their transactions are completed. 
 
Judicial and non-judicial records should be reviewed by the public in controlled areas 
to permit staff monitoring and staff assistance when needed. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-32  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

In the land records area of the circuit clerk’s offices, information storage technologies 
are rapidly supplanting the need for vast counter areas to review oversized indexes 
and document books but substantial space is still required for microform readers, 
reader/ printers and computer terminals and printers to view microfilmed and imaged 
documents. Even in the most advanced courts, total conversion to new technologies 
will take time so adequate space for storage of existing books may still be required. 
Entry and exit to the public records room cannot be strictly controlled but it should be 
designed so that monitoring can occur as needed and researchers can be offered 
assistance when necessary. 
 
Review areas for judicial records in all three courts should also be placed to permit 
staff monitoring in a controlled area.  
 

B. Signage 

Signs directing members of the public to various functions of the clerk’s office should 
be of a consistent design and clear in their instructional content. 
 
Appropriate signage can be very helpful both to the public and the staff. Signs can 
smooth the workflow and lessen the need for interaction with the public. The court 
customer will more often know where to go for specific court activities and questions 
seeking direction can be reduced causing fewer staff interruptions. 
 
Signs over the counter will place people at the proper position for various types of 
transactions with the clerk’s office, so there is some likelihood that the staff member 
approaching the counter will know the nature of the person’s business. In busy courts, 
signs could avoid persons waiting in the wrong line and having to be re-directed to 
another location. 
 
Temporary, hand written signs should be avoided.   
 

C. Staff Work Spaces 

Staff work spaces should be designed with sufficient flexibility to accommodate 
increases in staff or changes in organizational structure. 
 
The clerk’s staff is either engaged in public contact work over the counter or internal 
administrative functions, which involves document processing, accounting, or 
telephone communications. Some of the jobs should be done out of public view, such 
as money counting and confidential case processing. Some tasks require special 
equipment such as sorting for filing and processing both incoming and outgoing mail. 
Space requirements are generally estimated at about 48-70 sq. ft. per clerk, excluding 
public areas. While the Clerk and Chief Deputy Clerks will have private offices all 
other work positions should be open workstations. 
 
Each clerk of court should be provided a private office.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-33  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Records Room, Isle of Wight Courthouse 

The size or type of court does not necessarily determine the size or need for a private 
office for the clerk of court since all clerks generally have a similar scope of 
responsibility and need to conduct business in private on occasion, although as a 
Constitutional elected official the circuit clerk may be afforded a slightly larger office 
similar to that of a judge. The clerk’s private office should have a window that 
permits the clerk to view the staff work areas and the public counter if possible. 
 
Total space needed for the clerk’s private office is 180-240 sq. ft. (circuit clerks 300-
380 sq. ft.) 
 
In larger courts where the clerk has a private secretary or administrative assistant, a 
secretarial workstation should be provided that will accommodate several pieces of 
equipment including a desk, phone, personal computer with video display, and 
correspondence filing equipment. Approximately 100 sq. ft. is required for the 
working area and 15 sq. ft. per person for the waiting or reception area. 
 
A semi-private office for supervisory conferences and for dealing with confidential or 
sensitive matters should be provided for the chief deputy clerk. 
 
A chief deputy clerk is often the line supervisor in the clerk’s office. Management 
effectiveness can be significantly increased with an appropriate office space for this 
individual. The chief deputy clerk’s office may be located adjacent to the clerk of 
court’s office or in another location within the main office complex. Placement may 
be a function of the size of the office and whether it is envisioned that the clerk’s 
secretary will also serve the chief deputy on a regular basis. The office should be 
approximately 130-150 sq. ft.  
 

D. Records Storage 

Active case files should be located behind the counter within the private areas of the 
clerk’s office where they are 
readily accessible by deputy clerks. 
 
The size, in filing inches, of the 
active filing system should be 
calculated based on the annual 
quantity of filed material, average 
active life of cases in each case 
type, and the clerk’s judgment as 
to how long closed files should be 
retained in the active system. 
 
Courts are transitioning to 
electronic case files in Virginia, 
but paper case files are still in use in many jurisdictions at this time and older cases 
will still need to be stored. The maximum size of the active filing system for court 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-34  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

case files should be defined based on appropriate calculations and projections. Floor 
space requirements should be determined based on the use of movable open shelf 
filing units. Once court cases are closed they may be moved to an inactive records 
storage area. 
 
It has been traditional for court case files to be stored in a records vault, but with the 
advent of electronic case files this is no longer necessary. Paper files may be stored in 
an open area within the clerk’s office. Some juvenile court records are confidential 
and must be secured in locked storage units.  
 
Inactive court records should be stored in an inactive records storage area that affords 
relatively convenient access. 
 
Inactive records that may not be destroyed should be transferred to storage outside the 
clerk’s office. To maximize space utilization, a system of warehouse-type shelving 
and one cubic foot records storage boxes is recommended for inactive/closed paper 
case files awaiting transfer to archives or destruction in accordance with approved 
court records retention schedules. The less bulky court case indices and related docket 
sheets or case histories are normally stored for lengthy periods in the clerk’s office.  
 

E. Exhibit Storage 

Exhibits received by the court as evidence in criminal cases and civil litigation should 
have their own special, secure storage area. 
 
The storage and eventual return or destruction of exhibits is a responsibility of each 
clerk of court in Virginia. Exhibits are one-of-a-kind irreplaceable items and should 
never be loosely stored in office areas or records rooms. The majority of exhibits 
should be stored in a separate room with highly controlled access. Only exhibits of 
high value or a sensitive nature such as drugs or weapons need to be stored in a 
secure vault. 
 
Exhibit rooms should be a minimum of approximately 100 sq. ft. and should be 
equipped with appropriate shelving for the orderly storage and efficient retrieval of 
exhibits. Security measures, such as secure doors, no windows, and intrusion alarms, 
should be provided for exhibit storage areas. 
 
Space for microfilming and microfilm equipment may no longer be required in the 
clerks’ offices. 
 
Microfilm has been the preferred means of storing court documents and records for 
many years, but with the advent of electronic document imaging the need for 
microfilming equipment and supplies is no longer required. Space, however, still 
needs to be provided for existing microfilm and microfilm readers. Also because 
microfilm is a proven archival medium, electronic images will still be printed to 
microfilm for long term archival storage. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-35  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

F. Office Support Spaces 

To provide positive inventory control over supplies and equipment required in the 
clerk’s office an appropriately sized and properly equipped supply room should be 
provided. 
 
Mismanagement of office and equipment supplies leads to theft, waste and abuse. A 
supply room gives the clerk an element of physical control over supplies. A room of 
100-150 sq. ft., depending on the size of the office, with adjustable shelving on three 
walls should be provided. 
 
A staff lounge and staff restrooms for work breaks and lunch should be provided 
within or near the clerk’s office. 
 
Court staff is constantly under the watchful eye of the public and deserve a place to 
retreat on breaks and during lunch. Size, furnishings, and equipment will depend on 
the office location and staff size. A minimum of 120 sq. ft, or 20 sq. ft per person, is 
desirable. It also is desirable for the break room to be equipped with a small counter, 
kitchen sink, refrigerator, and microwave, and overheard cabinets. Other equipment 
in the break room normally includes a coffee maker. 
 
Depending upon the organization of the courthouse there may be an opportunity for 
different offices to share a break room. 
 

G. Technology Considerations 

Automated case management, electronic case filing, document imaging, and the use 
of electronic media for the payment of fees and fines are all becoming common place, 
therefore offices need adequate electrical receptacles and wiring for both voice and 
data at each workstation, the public counter, and records rooms.  
 
Other equipment include personal computers, facsimile machines, printers, 
photocopiers, document scanners, imaging work stations, and file servers. Each 
workstation, including those at the public counter, requires two quadriplex electrical 
outlets, two data jacks, and one phone jack. Each public counter workstation also 
should have space to install a document scanner and printer.  
 
Public-access computer workstations should be available at the public counter for 
review of case management information. The records rooms will require public 
access document imaging terminals for viewing land records, liens, judgments, and 
court files. At some future date, imaged court records may be available through an 
on-line service provider or the internet, reducing the amount of space needed for on-
site research, and reducing the number of on-site, public access computer 
workstations required.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-36  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Wiring, power supply, HVAC, and acoustical designs for a computer or file server 
room and photocopy room should meet individual equipment and systems 
specifications. General lighting should be provided. Humidity and temperature should 
be controlled according to equipment manufacturer’s requirements. 
 
A separate room is not required for imaging workstations. Space, however, should be 
planned for document imaging workstations and hookups should be provided for the 
eventual installation of public access imaging terminals for viewing imaged 
documents.  
 
A special environmentally controlled room should be provided to house servers and 
other computer equipment serving the courts. 
 
Separate telecommunications and computer rooms need to be provided in the 
courthouse to serve the courts, clerks, and other offices located in the building. The 
room will contain all of the termination equipment for the building 
telecommunications systems, and computer servers for the various computer 
networks in the building. If the court and other offices have separate computer 
networks, the room will need to be partitioned for the different servers. The room 
must be equipped with a secure lock, card reader, or keypad to limit entrance to 
authorized persons.  
 
The telecommunications/computer server room should have controlled temperature 
and humidity. A/C units should be on emergency generated power and should be 
independent from the building air. For security and temperature reasons the room 
should be located away from outside windows and doors and should not be located in 
the basement to avoid possible flooding or water damage.  
 
All equipment should be protected from power surges and brown outs with the 
installation of power conditioning equipment and an uninterruptible power supply 
(UPS) located in the building. The electrical feed for the computer room should be 
isolated, including neutral and ground, from the rest of the building’s electrical 
system. 

 
IX. COMMONWEALTH ATTORNEY 

Space may be made available in each courthouse to accommodate the Commonwealth’s 
attorney’s office. 
 
The Commonwealth’s Attorney prosecutes criminal cases in all three courts and assists 
victims and prosecution witnesses appearing in court. Offices must accommodate 
prosecuting attorneys and staff, visiting private attorneys, witnesses and victims, law 
enforcement officers, and the general public. 
 
While it is not essential for the prosecutor to be located in the courthouse, it is fairly 
common and should be accommodated if at all possible. If located outside the courthouse, it 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-37  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
City of Portsmouth, Commonwealth Attorney Reception 

Window 

is important that the Commonwealth’s Attorney have offices near the courthouse, because 
of the necessity for the prosecutor to be present in court for long periods and to have access 
to court records and personnel. 

 
Because only a small portion of the work occurs in the courtroom, the Commonwealth’s 
Attorney requires a great deal of flexibility and variety in the kinds of space needed.  
 
The offices should project an image compatible with that of a private law firm. The 
Commonwealth Attorney’s private office should be comparable to that of the judges and 
reflect the prosecutor's status and importance in the judicial system and as a Constitutional 
Officer. 
 
In addition to the general office activities, prosecutors need to be able to interview 
witnesses, police officers and victims, conduct legal research, maintain case files, store 
evidence, conduct investigations, and prepare written reports and documents. These 
activities require waiting areas, interview rooms, records and evidence storage areas, 
clerical offices, attorney private offices, conference rooms, library, trial preparation room, 
mail and work room, supply storage, staff lounge, and forensic services.  
 
Attorneys should have private offices that accommodate two to three visitors and are 
located in areas removed from the noise and circulation traffic of the main office. A typical 
attorney office should be 120-140 square feet. Law clerks or interns may use semi-private 
offices.  
 
In smaller offices the library and conference room may be combined and this may also 
serve as a trial preparation room. Larger, busier 
offices may need separate trial preparation 
rooms. Also most interviews may take place in 
the attorney’s private office, but in larger 
jurisdictions separate interview rooms may be 
needed that can accommodate 6-8 persons. 
Additional spaces include file and storage areas, 
records review area, photocopy and work room, 
supply and equipment storage, evidence storage, 
and a staff break area and restrooms.  
 
Because of the need to interview victims and 
witnesses while conducting an investigation, the 
reception area should be directly accessible from 
the public areas of the building. The 
Commonwealth’s Attorney’s office should have 
access to the courtrooms, law library, and the 
clerks’ offices by means of the public circulation 
system. Within the offices there should be a 
semi-private circulation pattern connecting 
spaces used by the attorneys and staff.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-38  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

A special need of the Commonwealth’s Attorney is secure storage of evidence. It is critical 
to effective prosecution that evidence be stored in tamper-proof areas. Access to evidence 
storage areas should be restricted, and storage areas should be equipped with metal shelving 
and tamper-proof doors with locks. 
 
When the Commonwealth’s Attorney is located outside the courthouse, a work or field 
office may be provided in the courthouse for the convenience of attorneys while in the 
courthouse. Such “field” office should be equipped with a desk, chairs, and work table. 
 

 Attorneys require personal computer workstations with video display monitors, 
printers, and document scanner. It is anticipated that attorneys will be connected 
to an office LAN with access to legal data bases, court case management systems, 
and offender and criminal history data bases. Each attorney’s work area requires 
two quadriplex electrical outlets, one phone and two data jacks. The attorney’s 
private office requires normal electrical supply and normal room lighting with 
task lighting at the workstation.  

 The Commonwealth’s Attorney requires a secure room in which to locate a 
computer terminal connection to the State Police criminal data base.  

 The office also will require other shared equipment including facsimile machines, 
photocopiers, shredders, and video conferencing equipment. (Attorneys may 
eventually have desktop videoconferencing capability.)  

 The Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office should have a separate and readily 
identifiable public entry from public circulation.  

 There should be a small reception area with chairs for persons to wait. There 
should be a secure reception window where visitors may be received. Entry to the 
Office should be by means of a secure entrance controlled by the receptionist. 

 The general office area will be separated from the visitor waiting area by a secure 
entry vestibule and public reception counter.  

 The Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office must not be located near the Judges’ 
chambers in order to avoid concerns about a close relationship between judges 
and prosecutors. 

 It is desirable that the Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office be accessible from the 
main entrance for after hours and weekend use.  

 Assistant Commonwealth’s Attorney offices should be lockable and have blinds 
covering any windows or sidelights.  

 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-39  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Isle of Wight Courthouse, Holding Area Control Room 

X. PRISONER HOLDING AND TRANSPORTATION 

Every courthouse in which criminal trials are held, or in which in-custody defendants 
appear in court, should have prisoner holding facilities. 
 
Prisoners awaiting a hearing or trial 
should be kept apart from the public and 
spectators in the courtroom. There 
should be a secure holding facility 
within the courthouse in which to 
temporarily hold in-custody defendants 
and witnesses while they wait the start of 
court or their hearing.  
 
Common practice is to have a central 
holding area normally located in the 
basement of the courthouse and adjacent 
to the vehicular sally port where in-
custody defendants can be processed and 
held before and after their court appearance. This is generally supplemented with temporary 
holding cells immediately adjacent to each courtroom. In small courthouses with only one 
or two courtroom it may not be necessary to have both the central holding and courtroom 
holding areas. The need for holding cells and their capacity should be determined at the 
time of planning and be based upon actual utilization. 
 
Where prisoners must be transported from the jail or other detention center to the 
courthouse by vehicle, there should be a sally port for the delivery of prisoners. In 
communities where the jail is adjacent to the courthouse prisoners may be brought to the 
courthouse by means of a secure walkway or tunnel.  

 
A. Vehicular Sally Port 

The courthouse should have a secure vehicular sally port for the secure transfer of in-
custody persons to and from transport vehicles.  
 
The sally port should be sized to hold at least one transport van. In larger jurisdictions 
where multiple vans (buses) may be used, the sally port should be sized to hold at 
least two vehicles. It should be located within the Sheriff’s secure parking area and 
have a security gate. It needs to be well ventilated and lighted. 
 
A drive through sally port is preferred in order to eliminate the need for a turnaround 
area, but where this is not possible space for vehicle turn around is needed. 
Courthouses with a direct connection to a jail may not require a separate sally port if 
detainees coming to court from other facilities are able to be processed through the 
jail. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-40  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Isle of Wight Court Floor Holding Cell 

In-custody detainees should enter the building’s central holding area directly from the 
sally port. 

 
B. Central Prisoner Holding  

There should be a central holding facility for the temporary holding of in-custody 
defendants and witnesses appearing in court. 
 
In-custody defendants and witnesses need to be separated from the public while 
maintaining their safety and constitutional rights. Prisoner detention facilities increase 
the efficiency of the courts by allowing in-custody persons to be located close to the 
courtroom at the scheduled time of appearance.  
 
All but the smallest courthouse should have a central holding area located on the 
ground floor or basement of the building to service all courts within the building.   
 
The central holding area should consist of the following elements: holding cells for 
adult males and females; holding cells for juvenile males and females; a control 
center to monitor and control in-custody movement; entry vestibule at the entrance 
from the vehicular sally port; a processing and transfer area or room; staff offices; 
staff toilets; elevators to the court floors; elevator lobby; equipment room; and 
attorney / client visitation booths for attorneys to meet privately with clients prior to 
court. Additional space may include an area for photo ID and fingerprinting of 
individuals taken into custody in the courthouse. 
 
The number and type of cells 
should be determined during the 
planning phases of the project and 
will depend upon the number of 
prisoners during peak hours.  
 
Sight and sound separation needs 
to be maintained between males 
and females, and adults and 
juveniles.  
 
The building’s central control 
center may also be located in this 
area, either as part of the holding 
control room or as a separate facility adjacent to the holding area. 
 
The holding area control center monitors the operations all movement of prisoners 
and controls access to the holding cells. The officer(s) staffing the station should have 
a direct view into the holding cells or have visibility through CCTV monitors and 
should be able to see and control all entrances and exits. The control station should be 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-41  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

secured from unauthorized entry and should include a dedicated staff toilet. Intercoms 
and CCTV cameras should be located at all doors.  
 
All cells should have their own toilet facility. This eliminates the need for security 
officers to escort prisoners to and from toilets.  
 
Drains are necessary in any cell with toilets. Drains for sinks and toilets should be 
large enough so that they cannot be easily blocked. A modesty panel should be 
provided around the cell toilets to maintain proper privacy.  
 
Toilets and drains should be installed along a wall on the corridor side of the holding 
facility or along an accessible service duct so that repairs can be made from the 
outside.  
 
The holding cells should have solid ceilings. 
 
Sufficient transfer areas for moving in-custody individuals should be provided near 
the sally port entrance as well as the secure elevators.  
 
Corridors should be wide enough to prohibit detainees from grabbing officers and to 
allow adequate two-way passage and prohibit the transfer of contraband from one 
prisoner to another. 
 
Attorney/client interview booths should be provided at the central holding area. These 
booths should be divided with appropriate security glazing to separate the parties. 
Attorneys should not have to enter the holding areas to enter the conference booth. 
The booths should have a paper pass to permit the signing of any documents. The 
number of such booths will depend upon the number of courtrooms and the number 
of in-custody defendants. 
 
Lighting fixtures and ventilation registers should be secured in place to prevent their 
removal and use as weapons. The cells should be equipped with vandal-resistant 
furniture.  
 
A minimum of 100 sq. ft. should be allowed for up to four prisoners. Additional 
prisoners require an additional 15-20 sq. ft. each. Individual cells should be 70 sq. ft. 
It is extremely important that holding areas be soundproofed.  
 
All prisoner areas should be accessible to persons with disabilities.  
 
Holding cells should conform to appropriate state and American Correctional 
Association standards for lighting, ventilation, heating, and cooling in short-term 
holding and detention facilities.  

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-42  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

C. Court Floor Holding Areas   

In larger courthouses, separate prisoner holding cells should be located adjacent to the 
courtrooms in addition to the central holding facility located adjacent to the secured 
prisoner entrance to the courthouse.  

 
Court floor holding facilities are best located between pairs of courtrooms and 
serviced by a dedicated prisoner elevator that transports prisoners to and from the 
central holding area or prisoner entrance. 
 
The court floor holding area should consist of a security officer’s station, holding 
cells, and entrance vestibule in front of the elevator, and, if possible, a 
attorney/prisoner interview booth. The security station need not be enclosed and 
should provide the security officer with direct visibility to all areas.  
 
There should be separate holding cells for men and women with sight and sound 
separation. Also if juveniles are to be held on a court floor holding area that may also 
contain adults at the same time, sight and sound separation needs to be maintained.  
 
All cells should be well-lit and ventilated. Lighting fixtures and ventilation registers 
should be secured in place to prevent their removal and use as weapons. Cells should 
be equipped with vandal-resistant furniture.  
 
A minimum of 100 sq. ft. should be allowed for up to four prisoners. Additional 
prisoners require an additional 15-20 sq. ft. each. Individual cells should be 70 sq. ft.  
 
It is not unusual for in-custody defendants to attempt to disrupt court proceedings by 
shouting insults, using abusive language, banging on walls, or flushing toilets. Such 
noise from court floor-holding cells disrupts court proceedings, causes 
embarrassment, and intimidates witnesses or jurors. It is critical that the holding area 
be soundproofed so that no sound from the holding area is heard in the courtroom.  
 
Some other means of egress from the court floor holding area should be planned in 
the event of power failures or the breakdown of the elevator. In emergency situations 
it may be permissible to escort in-custody individuals through private corridors if 
staff or judges are not present. 

 
D. Juvenile Holding Facility 

Every juvenile and domestic relations court should be equipped with temporary 
holding facilities for juveniles and adults. 
 
Juvenile and domestic relations district courts handle a wide range of juvenile and 
family cases involving violent and sometimes dangerous juveniles and adults, as well 
as abused, neglected, and other non-violent juveniles. Each court needs facilities that 
can accommodate a wide range of types of juvenile offenders while awaiting hearing 
or trial. Additionally, in-custody adults may be called upon to testify on occasion, and 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-43  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

separate holding areas need to be provided with sight and sound separation from that 
used by juveniles. 
 
All juvenile courts should have a private holding area that is out of the public’s view, 
and separate from adult offenders. Non-violent juveniles should be separated from 
violent and dangerous juvenile offenders and may be kept in a non-secure setting. 
Non-secure holding areas should be furnished to minimize stress, be located near the 
courtroom, and have private toilet facilities. They may be furnished with tables and 
chairs and may double as client interview rooms. 
 
Violent and potentially dangerous juveniles require secure facilities with secure doors 
and windows, although the room should not be made to look like an adult holding 
cell.  
 
Secure detention holding facilities should be equipped with vandal-proof furnishings. 
Provision should be made for constant supervision by court staff. In larger 
courthouses, particularly where the caseload warrants a separate juvenile court 
facility, separate facilities for boys and girls should be provided. 
 
In courts where there is seldom a need to handle violent/dangerous juveniles, the 
construction of secure holding facilities may still be needed for adult defendants who 
appear in juvenile and domestic relations court. 
 
A minimum of 100 sq. ft. should be allowed. Additional juveniles will require an 
additional 15-20 sq. ft. each. Individual cells should be 70 sq. ft.  

 
XI. MAGISTRATES 

Magistrates are part of the Virginia Judicial System and should be provided a private office, 
and a public hearing space equipped to handle small hearings involving 3-4 people.  

 
Since 1974, the principal function of the magistrate in the Virginia judicial system has been 
to provide an independent, unbiased review of complaints brought by police officers, 
sheriffs, deputies, and citizens. In each city and county in Virginia, the position of the 
magistrate represents a key point of interface between the judicial system and the citizenry. 
 
Magistrates perform work that is highly interactive, as well as paper and procedure-
intensive. The work involves conducting judicial hearings in response to requests from law 
enforcement officials, privately employed security guards, and citizens. These judicial 
hearings may be conducted in the presence of both the complainant and the accused as well 
as by video conference. Magistrates conduct interviews with complaining parties, the 
accused, and other appropriate persons to obtain the facts necessary to establish probable 
cause or to determine bond or other terms of release. Magistrates must maintain order and 
proper decorum, administer oaths, define issues, interpret and explain pertinent laws, take 
testimony, question parties, and issue legal processes. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-44  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Magistrates are called upon to determine whether there is probable cause to charge a person 
with a crime and, if so, whether that person’s liberty should be denied -- taking into account 
such factors as the evidence brought before them, the seriousness of the accusation, and the 
potential danger to society or to the accused. These determinations may be conducted at the 
magistrate’s window with the arrestee on site or by video conference with the arrestee 
located at a remote site such as a jail or police station 
 
In addition, magistrates provide general information on criminal processes and procedures.  
 
In 2008, the Code of Virginia was amended and supervisory authority of the magistrate 
system shifted from the Chief Circuit court judge in each Circuit to the Executive Secretary 
of the Supreme Court of Virginia.  This included the elimination of all part-time and on-call 
magistrates, an increase in educational standards and training, and a management system to 
include a Magistrate Regional Supervisor in each region.  Each chief magistrate appointed 
after July 1, 2008 is required to be a member in good standing of the Virginia State Bar. 
 
Virginia is divided into eight magisterial regions comprised of between three and five 
judicial districts. A chief magistrate supervises the magistrates serving within each judicial 
district. Each region has a regional magistrate supervisor who provides direct supervision to 
the chief magistrates.  
 
Each magistrate is authorized to exercise his or her powers throughout the magisterial 
region for which he or she is appointed. Magistrates provide services on an around-the-
clock basis, seven days a week, hearing complaints and taking testimony in person and 
through videoconferencing systems. 
 
The Code of Virginia provides that each county and city is to provide suitable quarters for 
appointed magistrates. Magistrates’ quarters should be located in a public facility and be 
appropriate to conduct the affairs of a judicial officer as well as provide convenient access 
to the public and law-enforcement officers. The county or city is to provide all furniture and 
other equipment necessary for the efficient operation of the office. Some counties and cities 
have established more than one magistrate’s office to best serve their localities. 
 
Magistrates may be located in the courthouse but are often located within the local police 
station, Sheriff’s office, or jail. Regardless of the location the magistrate should be provided 
a private office and a separate public hearing space equipped to hear testimony and 
complaints from as many as  3-4 people.  The design for a magistrate's office should present 
a dignified and judicial appearance to conform to traditional images of justice. 
 
The Magistrate is a judicial officer and the office should be clearly identified as an office of 
the court and not part of the Sheriff or police department.  The Magistrate’s office should 
be conveniently located near an outside entrance to the building with convenient and 
separate public and law enforcement access that is accessible 24 hours a day, without 
having uncontrolled access to the rest of the building.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-45  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Each office should have a small public waiting area with seating for 5 – 6 persons. The 
office should be divided into a public area and a private work area separated by a barrier 
such as a counter, large desk, or security type window. There should be a small holding 
area, or access to a holding area, adjacent to the public area, where in-custody detainees can 
be held. If located in the courthouse, the office should have access to the courthouse’s 
prisoner circulation system.  
 
The office should be equipped with duress alarms that sound at the building’s main security 
station. After hours it should sound at the main dispatch office of the Sheriff or local police 
department. A video surveillance camera should also be installed to cover the main public 
room and holding area. The camera should be viewable at the magistrate’s office and the 
main security office.  
 
For reasons of security, separate reserved, but unmarked parking areas, including spaces 
near private entrances, should be provided. If the magistrate is located in the courthouse the 
magistrate should receive secure parking with the judges. 
 
A small safe is useful for purposes of securing cash that is transacted by way of cash bonds 
and prepayments, etc.  

 
A private bathroom and small kitchenette or break area should be provided to those 
magistrate’s offices that are staffed around the clock.  Other spaces include a supply closet 
to house forms and office supplies and file storage space.  
 
All workstations should be equipped with two quadriplex electrical outlets, at least two data 
lines, and one phone line.  Each workstation should be capable of handling video 
conferences.  Other office equipment will include a desk and chair, file cabinet, book 
shelves, a personal computer with video display monitor and keyboard, printers, 
photocopier, document scanner, fax machine, and document shredder. 
 
Chief magistrates have the same powers as do other magistrates but are also responsible for 
the supervision and administrative operation of the districts’ magistrates. Chief magistrates 
normally need a private office separated from the main public office for conducting private 
discussions with magistrates, governmental officials, and citizens. The chief magistrate’s 
private office should be furnished with a desk and chair, side chairs for guests, filing 
cabinets for personnel and administrative records, bookshelves for storage of various 
manuals and the Code of Virginia, and a credenza.   
 
Any new construction or renovations for magistrate’s offices should be done in consultation 
with the chief magistrate, magistrate regional supervisor and the magistrate IT department.   
 
Office space may also be needed for each magistrate regional supervisor at a location 
within each region. 

 
 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-46  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

XII. SPECIAL SERVICES AND RELATED JUSTICE AGENCIES 

A. Probation and Court Services 

Space may be provided within the courthouse if probation and juvenile Court 
Services wish to be located within the building. Inclusion of either probation or 
juvenile court services within the courthouse is optional. 
 
In Virginia, court services offices handle juvenile and domestic relations cases, 
including the intake procedures for the juvenile court. If located in the courthouse, 
court services should be located so that they are easily accessible from the building’s 
main public entrance. There should be a public waiting area, which is supervised by a 
receptionist and provides a comfortable and pleasant non-threatening environment.  
 
Other requirements include private interview rooms, private offices for court services 
staff, a small conference room, and records storage rooms. Public restrooms should 
be available; staff should have separate private toilet facilities. 
 
The requirements for probation offices are generally the same as for juvenile court 
services.  
 
Staff offices should be centrally located with access to the records room and 
interview rooms. They should be acoustically soundproofed and may double as 
interview rooms. If staff are going to use their private office to conduct interview the 
offices should be enlarge slightly to accommodate several persons and for safety 
reasons. 
 
Space requirements measure approximately 120-140 sq. ft. for intake and private 
offices, 130-150 sq. ft. for a supervisor’s office, and 200-300 sq. ft. for a conference 
room. Interview rooms should allow 100-120 sq. ft.  
 
Each office work area requires two quadriplex electrical outlets, a phone jack and two 
data jacks. Private offices require normal electrical supply and normal room lighting 
with task lighting at the workstation. The office also will require other shared 
equipment including facsimile machines, photocopiers, shredders, and video 
conferencing equipment. 
 

B. Attorney Lounge 

In large multi-judge courts, consideration may be given to providing a lounge for the 
exclusive use of trial attorneys. 
 
An area or lounge for the use of attorneys while waiting for trials to begin or between 
hearings is a useful convenience for members of the bar. The lounge should not, 
however, become a substitute for a client/witness interview room which should be 
located elsewhere. Also it should not become a replacement office for the attorneys. It 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-47  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

 
Law Library and Conference Room, Colonial Heights Courthouse 

should be used for group meetings, conferences with colleagues, making telephone 
calls, and for reading, reviewing case materials, or writing. 
 
The presence of an attorney lounge indirectly benefits the court because attorneys are 
more likely to remain in the courthouse between hearings or during recesses, where 
they are available when needed in court. It also prevents attorneys from waiting in 
clerical or other areas where they may interrupt the work of the court and its staff. 
 
The lounge should be located near the courtrooms and should be accessible to the law 
library. A paging system may be installed to notify attorneys when they are needed in 
court.  
 
The room should be furnished with lounge-type furnishings, such as sofas and chairs, 
and work tables.  
 

C. Law Library 

A law library located in the courthouse is optional. If provided it should be 
conveniently located to all users, particularly judges and law clerks. A public law 
library may also be part of a 
self-help center serving pro se 
litigants. 
 
Once prevalent in all 
courthouses, law libraries are 
becoming smaller and less 
utilized with the advent of 
online legal research 
capabilities and the 
availability of legal references 
on CD or other electronic 
media. Where present, law 
libraries are used by judges 
and private attorneys, and by 
the general public seeking to 
represent themselves in court. While some courts have an organized law library, 
many courts maintain several separate collections of legal reference books. Judges 
often have their own reference collections in their chambers, the Commonwealth’s 
Attorney may have its own, and in some cases the clerks may maintain some 
reference materials. 
 
Even with a central library collection, each judge should have a minimum set of 
reference materials in chambers. Today, most legal references are available on-line or 
on compact disk, so that judges can have easy access to a sizable library in their own 
offices.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-48  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

The library should be conveniently located to all users and located where court staff 
can easily supervise its use. Where significant after hours use of the library is 
anticipated, it should be designed with a separate after hours entrance and 
arrangements made for after hours security. 
 
It should have a quiet environment. It should not be stuffy or hot, nor should there be 
noisy air conditioners or drafts. The library should be soundproofed to prevent 
outside noises from distracting users. Natural lighting is highly desirable where 
possible; overhead lighting should be glare-free. Adequate work surface is important. 
 
Free-standing bookstacks give maximum flexibility. The units should have adjustable 
shelves and space between stacks should be 36". Because of the weight of the books 
and other holdings, consideration should be given to the location of the library, 
particularly when renovating older court facilities or in the construction of larger 
court facilities with a large law library. 
 
Large libraries in multi-judge courts may require a full-time librarian, and separate 
private office space should be located within the library for the librarian. Also, 
libraries should have space for microfilm reading and storage, and a photocopy 
machine. All libraries should be designed with facilities for computer terminals for 
viewing imaged documents and references. Occasionally, especially in smaller 
courthouses, the library may double as a conference room as long as the activities do 
not interfere with normal library use. 
 
All librarian work stations and reading carrels should be equipped with two 
quadriplex electrical outlets, and two data jacks. Locations for printers, fax machine, 
document scanner, and other office equipment are needed and should be located so as 
not to disturb users. 
 
For additional standards governing county law libraries, see American Association of 
Law Libraries’ Standards for County Law Libraries (American Association of Law 
Libraries, 53 West Jackson Boulevard, Chicago, IL 60604). 

 
D. Victim Witness 

Many jurisdictions have a victim witness program to assist and aide victims who 
come to testify in court. These programs are part of the Commonwealth’s Attorney’s 
Office. Depending upon the size of the court and number of victims/witnesses the 
space needs vary from one or two rooms where witnesses may wait to testify to more 
elaborate accommodations that include staff offices, interview rooms, child waiting 
rooms, and perhaps video conferencing equipment for remote testimony.  
 
The entrance to the victim/witness offices should be separate from that of the 
Commonwealth’s Attorney. 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-49  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Staff/counselors should have a private office. In small jurisdictions staff may 
interview witnesses in their offices, while in busier courts separate interview rooms 
may be required.  
 
Waiting rooms with comfortable chairs should be provided as witnesses may have to 
wait long hours before testifying.  
 
Provisions may be needed for remote video conferencing to allow vulnerable or child 
witnesses to testify by video.  
 
The victim/witness offices should be located in a quieter area of the building where 
victims can feel safe from public observation. 
 
The victim/witness offices must have convenient access to the courtrooms, but 
preferably not be on the main traffic flow. 
 
Access to the victim/witness offices should be through an entry vestibule. A reception 
counter with secure glazing will allow staff to control visitor access into the office 
and waiting area with a door release button and card access for staff. 
 
The victim/witness office space must provide a comfortable and secure environment 
for witnesses to wait until their case is heard. The layout should prevent visibility into 
the visitor and child waiting areas from the entry vestibule. 
 
Internal washrooms for clients and a staff washroom are desirable. 

 
E. Interpreters and Services for Limited English Proficiency 

There should be clearly displayed signage as soon as one enters a courthouse to 
indicate the availability of free language access services. It is desirable for this 
message to appear in English and also in any language for which there are at least 
1000 individuals served by the courthouse within a one year period (to the degree that 
each language possesses a written component).   
 
Additional signage is useful for those with limited English proficiency (LEP).  In 
particular, this verbiage may be functional rather than tied to specific court 
terminology.  So, rather than identifying a “Docket,” a sign may be more useful for 
someone with LEP if it were to send the message, “Verify case information here." All 
signs should be reviewed for accuracy on a regular basis as offices and functions may 
shift locations within a courthouse, and the signs should contain the English 
equivalent in addition to its translation.  In no event should signs be updated in 
English, without its translated equivalent being updated as well.  Courts should 
especially consider multilingual signs to identify important locations for post-court 
obligations (i.e. fine paying station).  Signs can and should rely on images whenever 
possible, given the fact that any individual without visual impairment can understand 
them, regardless of language proficiency.  Many courts currently use such image 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-50  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

signs to specify items that are forbidden within a court building, to advertise the 
existence of a non-smoking policy, and to identify the locations of male and female 
restrooms.                                                                                                          
 
Information desks, along with translations of printed maps, forms, checklists, and 
brochures, located in courthouse lobbies offer assistance to those with LEP.  An 
individual self-service computer kiosk with a translated application (e.g. I-Can!) can 
also assist those with LEP when completing court forms that are suitable for filing in 
court.  However, despite a court’s attempts to make written target language materials 
available for those with LEP, the existence of these written options should not be 
considered sufficient to ensure meaningful communication with someone with LEP, 
as the meaning may not have been conveyed adequately. 

 
Interpreters and Equipment 

 
All public transaction counters (windows) such as at the clerks’ offices should have 
an expanded service area where an in-person interpreter may facilitate the transaction 
between the court staff person and the individual with LEP.  This is of particular 
importance when court staff is reliant on the use of over-the-phone interpreters during 
these transactions, as there may be significant noise disruption to the rest of the 
office.   
 
Interpreting equipment, either infrared (line-of-sight, installed within a particular 
location), wired (within a courtroom, to either wired or wireless headsets) or radio 
frequency (portable, rechargeable), should be made readily available in areas that 
frequently use in-person interpreters.  If the equipment is utilized by anyone other 
than a staff interpreter, it should be signed in and out in a similar fashion as that 
interpreter signs in or out on an assignment log.  In-person interpreters also benefit 
from the use of microphones (to include areas such as the judge's bench, witness 
stand, and defense/prosecutor's tables).   
 
Currently, many courts have access to video units.  These offer an exciting option for 
courts to benefit from the visual component of an in-person interpreter and an 
expanded pool of language interpreting resources beyond the court’s immediate 
geographic area.  A court may be required to facilitate the use of interpreters for a 
more private interview than that which would occur openly within a courtroom.  
While this consideration is important in designing meeting space for attorneys and 
LEP clients when utilizing the services of an in-person interpreter within the 
courthouse, it is especially important when deciding where to permanently fix a video 
unit for video remote interpreters, or where to make a speakerphone available for 
over-the-phone interpreters.  One option that might address the need for more private 
exchanges may be to utilize an existing meeting space and a portable speakerphone or 
a courthouse’s Wi-Fi and a portable tablet-style computer as a video remote 
interpreting unit.   

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-51  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

F. Pro Se Litigants/Self – represented Litigants 

Both general district and juvenile district courts have a large number of persons who 
are either unable to afford a lawyer or who choose not to hire counsel to represent 
them. These citizens desire and need detailed information and assistance with the 
tasks of handling their affairs on a pro se basis. Their requests constitute a major 
demand upon the resources of the courts and consume the time of both clerks and 
judges as they try to address pro se litigant needs. Having a location in the courthouse 
where pro se individuals may find and study information on the judicial process and 
the legal issues surrounding their case is a benefit to both the pro se litigants as well 
as the court. The inclusion of such a space is optional but it might be located near or 
within the clerk’s office. It should be readily accessible from the main public 
corridor. It should be furnished with work tables, public access terminals, court 
forms, and instructions. It should be viewable from the clerk's office so that the 
deputy clerks may monitor its use. An alternate location is the law library if one is to 
be provided in the courthouse. 

 
G. Press and News Media Accommodations 

In many multi-judge courts, some accommodation for the day-to-day activities of the 
press is desirable, and should be located in an area outside the courtroom. 
 
With the exception of some juvenile and adoption matters, nearly all court 
proceedings are open to the public and the press. While the number of reporters in 
small communities probably would not be sufficient to warrant separate facilities, in 
larger courthouses with very active trial schedules the number of reporters may be 
considerable. Providing space in which they may conduct interviews and work on 
notes would relieve congestion in the public corridors, helping to make the court less 
crowded and noisy. Even in smaller courthouses where a separate room may not be 
practical, an area of the public space might be made to serve the needs of the 
occasional reporter or television news team. 
 
The media room should be equipped with phone lines, and if video recording is 
present in courtrooms with video feeds connected to the courtrooms, with feed 
capability to mobile radio and television trucks and equipment. The room also should 
be furnished with tables and chairs adequate for working, and perhaps storage and 
work space for audio equipment, cameras and photographic equipment, and television 
video equipment. Because the public access is not a critical concern, the location of 
the press room can be very flexible. Although it should be convenient to courtrooms 
and external exits to the building, it also should not require the press to pass through 
restricted or secure areas of the building. Space requirements should not be great, but 
should probably accommodate one person per local newspaper plus extra room for 
television reporters. Twenty to twenty-five sq. ft. per reporter is sufficient. There 
should be adequate acoustical insulation to provide a quiet environment in which to 
work, as well as to insulate adjacent offices or courtrooms from any typing noise or 
conversations. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-52  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

H. Police Waiting/ Workroom 

On busy court days such as when traffic court is held large numbers of police officers 
may be in the courthouse waiting to testify. By providing officers with a designated 
area outside the public corridors where they may wait while being readily available, 
rather than waiting in other court offices or the courtroom, helps to reduce the 
congestion in the corridors. Here, they may complete reports, review testimony, make 
phone calls, converse, and relax before their court appearance or during recesses.  

 
The size of the waiting area will depend upon the number of officers present in the 
courthouse on the typical court day. Planning should consider at least 25 square feet 
per officer. The workroom should be located near the courtrooms and be readily 
accessible from the public corridor. The workroom should be furnished similarly to 
the attorney lounge, with sofas, chairs, worktables, and telephones. 

 
XIII. PUBLIC SERVICES 

A. Lobby 

There should be a covered area outside the main entrance to provide protection from 
rain and snow for people waiting to enter the courthouse.  

 
The main entry should be configured to allow visitors and staff to enter through a 
dedicated entry door. A dedicated exit door, separate from and adjacent to the entry 
door, should allow people to exit from the building without interfering with the 
security checkpoint or queue.  
 
The size and design of the entry lobby and the location of the queuing should 
accommodate the peak flow of people into the courthouse during the morning’s peak 
hours as well as allow for people to be processed through the security checkpoint(s).  
 
The specified queuing area for security screening should not be included in the 
circulation space. The queuing area for security should be located off to the side so 
that it does not impede the flow of people (i.e., staff entering and staff/public 
leaving). 
 
The building security room should be located close to the main public entry and 
provide space for at least two security staff.  
 
The building security room should be located so that there is a clear, unobstructed 
view of the main entry, including the security screening stations. 
 
From the main entrance, it should be easy to find and access the vertical circulation to 
all courtrooms, any high volume courts such as traffic, jury assembly room, the 
clerks’ public service counters and the entrances to other building occupants.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-53  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

In large busy courthouses, a staffed information desk may be considered. If included, 
it should be located in a highly visible area near the main entrance just inside the 
security perimeter and clearly identified. Interactive touch screen displays that can 
provide directional as well as other building or case information can be located in the 
lobby or elsewhere in the building.  
 
There should be a building directory and a building schematic diagram located at the 
main public entrance that lists all offices in the building. 

 
Automated electronic docket screens should be located in the main lobby of the 
building.  These screens should not display juvenile names. 

 
B. Central Security Control Office in Lobby 

The central security control office is the location from which all security zones and 
safety alarm systems are monitored throughout the building. From this unit, the 
courthouse may be monitored through the use of closed circuit television systems, 
duress alarms, intrusion sensors and other security systems.  
 
The security control office may best be located near the main public entrance or may 
be located within the central holding area control room.  
 
Also located with the central security control office is the protective equipment such 
as security and duress alarms, fire alarm, emergency elevator control, public address 
system, fire alarm enunciator panel, etc.  
 
All power and lighting for this room should be from the building’s emergency 
electrical service. All equipment should be on an uninterruptible power supply and all 
electricity should be conditioned. 
 
Access to the life safety equipment panel should be limited to building management.  

 
C. Food Service 

In larger courthouses a limited food service outlet may be included in the building if 
no food service providers are located near the courthouse. The food service outlet is 
for the use of courthouse visitors and staff. 

 
If a food service outlet is not provided a vending area may be provided near the main 
lobby. 

 
D. Building Support Services 

In larger courthouses an interior delivery bay is desirable for the delivery of 
equipment and supplies and for the removal of trash and recycled materials.  
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
COURTHOUSE COMPONENTS  PAGE 10-54  
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

For the convenience of moving equipment and supplies a service elevator should be 
provided.  
 
All deliveries to the courthouse should be screened by security. In larger courthouses 
it is recommended that a security screening station be located adjacent to the delivery 
bay and that all persons and packages entering the building be screened. 
 
In smaller courthouses (1-4 courtrooms) where a loading dock is not provided a 
loading/delivery zone for delivery vehicles should be provided.  
 
All packages entering the building should be screened at the main security station. 
 
A drop-off zone for persons entering the courthouse may be located near the 
building’s main entry. If provided it should be outside any defined security zone 
protected by bollards, berms, or other type of barrier. 

 
XIV. PROGRAM PARKING - JUDGES, ELECTED OFFICIALS 

Judges and Constitutional Officers should be proved secure parking, preferably in an 
enclosed garage with direct access to the court’s private circulation system. Judges should 
never be provided unsecured parking in the public parking area and judges’ parking spaces 
should never be identified. 
 
Secure judicial parking is best located in the basement of the courthouse, although it is 
acceptable for parking to be located at grade within a secure parking compound. 
 
There should be controlled access to and from the secure parking. This is generally 
monitored by the Sheriff’s Office.  Access may be controlled either remotely or by access 
cards. 
 
Unauthorized vehicles should not be permitted below the courthouse at any time. The 
control point for access to below-grade parking should be at, or prior to, the point where a 
vehicle is at the perimeter line of the courthouse.  
 
The judicial parking area should have direct access to the dedicated elevators and stair that 
provide access to the building’s private circulation and to the judges’ chambers.  
 

 
 
 
 
 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-1 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING AND DESIGN TERMS 
 
Acoustical Panel  A systems furniture panel with acoustical properties to absorb sound 

within the panel structure providing a higher STC rating for the 
overall workspace. 

Access Flooring 
(also raised floor or 
raised access 
computer floor) 

 Access flooring provides an elevated structural floor above a solid 
substrate (often a concrete slab) to create a hidden void for the passage 
of mechanical, electrical services, and air flow. Raised floors are 
widely used in modern office buildings, and in specialized areas such 
as IT data centers and computer rooms. In courthouses it is most 
commonly used in computer rooms, clerks’ offices and courtrooms 
and it permits the easy reconfiguration of office and workspaces. 

ADA  Americans with Disabilities Act. 
Adaptive Re-Use  Conversion of a building into a use other than that for which it was 

designed, such as changing an office building into a courthouse. 
Adjacency 
Requirements 

 Programming information concerning optimal functional proximity of 
various personnel groups and equipment areas. This information is a 
major element of the criteria used in space planning.  

A/E Architecture & Engineering 
Architect An individual, partnership, corporation or other legal entity licensed to 

practice the profession of architecture. 
Architectural 
Program 

A document that defines in tabular, narrative, and graphic form the 
size, functional relationships, budget, and mission of a building. The 
program can be developed independent of the architectural design 
process and is used by the owner to define the scope of the project and 
subsequently by the architect to define the spatial and functional 
requirements. 

Building Backbone The part of a communications network that carries the majority of 
traffic throughout the building from the entry room to cross 
connections on each floor.  

Barrier-Free Design Building and site design which is accessible to all people, regardless 
of age and abilities. 

Bay A vertical division of a façade or a structure division of a building, 
marked by column spacing, roof compartments, windows or similar 
measures. In a courthouse it usually refers to the spacing available for 
courtrooms. 

Block Diagram Initial form of space allocation in which the spatial requirements 
determined in the programming phase are shown. This diagram 
shows, in correct proportion, departments and their proposed locations 
within the courthouse. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-2 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Bond Anticipation 
Note (BAN) 

A short-term interest-bearing security issued in advance of a larger, 
future bond issue issued by corporations and governments, such as 
local municipalities wishing to generate funds for upcoming projects. 
The bond anticipation notes are used as short-term financing, with the 
expectation that the proceeds of the larger, future bond issue will 
cover the anticipation notes.  

Building Envelope The volume of space in a building or courthouse, usually defined by 
dimensional requirements such as setback, stepback, permitted 
maximum height, and maximum permitted lot coverage.  

Building Gross 
Square Feet (BGSF) 

Building gross area, includes the total of all departmental areas, such 
as courtrooms, chambers, etc. with an additional factor to account for 
major public circulation between departments, elevators stairwells, 
mechanical and electrical spaces not specifically included in the 
project space program, exterior walls, and any other common spaces 
not clearly identified as net areas. Building gross area is measured to 
the exterior surface of permanent outer building walls, and includes all 
enclosed areas.  

Buffer A strip of land established to provide separation between land uses 
and typically developed as a landscaped area.  

Building grossing 
factor 

In architectural programming, another multiplier is added to the net 
and departmental gross square footage to account for exterior wall 
thickness, fire stairs, elevators and lobbies, and mechanical rooms that 
serve the entire structure, and not exclusively a department or 
component of the building. The total size of a building is the addition 
of the net area, the departmental grossing factor, and the building 
grossing factor. 

CENTREX A business telephone service offered by the local telephone company 
from a central office. 

Certificate of 
Participation 

A type of financing where an investor purchases a share of the lease 
revenues of a program rather than the bond being secured by those 
revenues. For example, the revenues generated from a future parking 
garage.  

Change Procedures A set of steps, or a plan, used to identify and manage the changes 
during the project life cycle, especially changes in project scope.   

Conduit Conduit is the actual cables or wires that connect equipment to the 
source of energy. In a courthouse where technology is constantly 
changing, the “trays” or “tunnels” that hold the wiring must be easily 
accessible without serious disruption of the operation.  

Construction 
Documents 

The drawings and specifications that are used to solicit bids for the 
construction of the facility are called “construction documents” that 
includes the schematic design, design development, and construction 
drawings of the facility. These documents are used by the contractor 
and subcontractors to first estimate the cost of construction and 
secondly to construct the facility. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-3 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Demolition Dismantling or razing of all or part of an existing building. 
Departmental Gross 
Square Feet (DGSF) 

Departmental area – also called “usable area”– is measured in 
departmental gross square feet, including all net areas and a factor to 
account for interior wall thicknesses, corridors and pathways within a 
department, columns and other structural elements, and inefficiencies 
created by shaft spaces that penetrate through the floors within 
departmental areas, and the like. This value represents the total area 
that is typically used when calculating the area on a floor that a 
specific unit, such as judicial chambers or clerk’s office, would 
require. 

Departmental 
Grossing Factor 

The departmental grossing factor is a percentage of the net area of a 
component of the facility that is added to the net space. This 
percentage or multiplier accounts for the non-assignable space 
associated with a component of the building. For example, the Clerk’s 
area could include workstations, files, and public counters, all of 
which can be defined in terms of net square footage. The non-
assignable areas, such as corridors leading to the work stations, are 
included in the departmental grossing factor.  

Design Guidelines Criteria established to guide development toward a desired level of 
quality through the design of the physical environment, and which are 
applied on a discretionary basis relative to the context of development. 

Elevation A drawing showing an external face of a building with all the features 
shown, as if in a single vertical plane. 

Engineer Any individual, partnership, corporation or other legal entity licensed 
to practice the profession of engineering. 

Facades The exterior wall of a building exposed to public view or that wall 
viewed by persons not within the building. 

Fenestration The arrangement of windows in a building. 
Finish The visual characteristics including color, texture and reflectivity of 

materials. 
Fixture An appliance or device attached to the facade (e.g., awning, sign, 

lighting fixture, conduit, or security gate). 
Floor Plan A horizontal arrangement of one level of the building that typically 

indicates walls, doors and dimensions. 
Floor Plan A scaled drawing showing the various levels of a building, that 

indicates the location of rooms, interior walls, and staircases and 
elevators. 

Footprint Size/ 
Building Footprint 

 The area of the ground floor of a building that consumes site area. 
The term “footprint” refers only to the amount of the site that the 
building occupies at the ground level, and not the entire square 
footage of the structure. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-4 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

General Obligation 
Bonds (GOB) 

A municipal bond backed by the credit and “taxing power” of the 
issuing jurisdiction rather than the revenue from a given project. 
General obligation bonds are issued with the belief that a municipality 
will be able to repay its debt obligation through taxation or revenue 
from projects. No assets are used as collateral. This is the most 
common method of courthouse financing.  

Glazing  A part of a wall or window made of glass. 
Grant Anticipatory 
Note 

A bond issued by a governing body that is secured by future expected 
funding, such as from Federal funding or grants. Governing bodies 
issue grant anticipatory notes to provide immediate cash to keep 
projects on time in anticipation of future funding being received. 

HVAC  Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning 
Improvement Any building, structure, place, work of art, or other object constituting 

a physical betterment of real property, or any part of such betterment. 
Kiosks Free-standing structures that can be located within the lobby of 

courthouses; outside the facility; and/or at remote locations that permit 
a citizen to electronically access information regarding a case; pay 
fines; and transmit documents to the Court are becoming more popular 
as a means of increasing accessibility and convenience to the court 
without creating increased foot traffic within the courthouse.  

Landscape 
improvement 

A physical betterment of real property or any part thereof, consisting 
of natural or artificial landscaping, including but not limited to grade, 
terrace, body of water, stream, rock, hedge, plant, shrub, mature tree, 
path, walkway, road, plaza, wall, fence, step, fountain, or sculpture. 

Mass The combination of the three dimensions of length, height, and depth 
which give a building its overall shape; a building is often composed 
of many masses, hence the term massing, which is often used to 
describe the form or shape of structures. 

Marquee The marquee is a part of the informational signage of the courthouse, 
usually located in the main lobby. The display can be electronic or 
utilize traditional methods to display courtroom assignments, 
directions, and announcements. 

Master plan 
(or facility master 
plan) 

A master plan is a phase of the pre design process that compares 
several different options of achieving the project’s objectives, in order 
to permit the owner or governing body to decide which strategy to 
pursue.   

Microfiche A technique for storing multiple pages of a document on a single sheet 
of photographic film. 

Microfilm The processed photographic film kept for later retrieval and viewing. 
Micrographics A generic term that encompasses microfiche, microfilm, rolled film, 

aperture cards, and similar technologies of storing images of 
documents. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-5 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Millwork Built-in counters, shelving, cabinetry, wall or ceiling paneling, 
moldings, etc. usually found in courtrooms and clerks’ office, that is 
typically fabricated off-site and made of wood and/or similar 
materials.  

Mixed Use A development or area comprised of mixed land uses either in the 
same building or in separate buildings on either the same lot or on 
separate lots or, at a larger scale, in nodes. In courthouse projects it 
might refer to the inclusion of non-court functions as part of the 
project, either on the same site or within the building. 

Modification Any work to an existing improvement or landscape improvement 
other than (a) ordinary maintenance or repair; or (b) any Addition. 

Net Square Feet 
(NSF) 

Net area – also called “programmable area” or net assignable space – 
is measured in net square feet (NSF). Net area describes the actual 
working area of an office, workstation, or support space. Net area 
represents the actual area assigned for a specific space for function, 
excluding permanent structural or architectural elements and internal 
circulation. 

Net Area The net area of a room is the square footage within the walls that 
enclose the space. Net area does not include the wall thickness or the 
corridors that lead to the room or space. Architects design spaces to 
the net area, with an allowance for the square footage to accommodate 
the non-assignable areas such as wall thickness, stairwells, and 
mechanical shafts. 

Occupiable Space A room, or enclosure and accessory installations thereof, which are 
intended for human occupancy or habitation, also generally referred to 
as net area. 

Preservation Providing for the continued use of deteriorated old and historic 
buildings, sites and structure through such means as restoration, 
rehabilitation and adaptive re-use.  

Public Art Site specific artwork created to enhance and animate publicly 
accessible spaces through artistic interpretations that range from 
individual sculpture to integrated architectural and landscape features 
and treatments. 

Publicly Accessible 
Spaces 

Buildings, streets and exterior areas, which may be privately-owned, 
but to which the public has access. 

Public Private 
Partnerships 
(P3 projects) 

A government service or private business venture which is funded and 
operated through a partnership of government and one or more private 
sector entities. These schemes are sometimes referred to as PPP, P3 or 
P3 projects. These are generally design-build-finance projects where a 
private entity or business such as a contractor proposes to design, 
build, and finance the project for the government under an 
arrangement where the governmental entity agrees to lease purchase 
the facility over time.  



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-6 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Renovation Modernization of an old or historic structure which unlike restoration 
may not be consistent with the original design. 

Restoration Accurately recovering the form and details of a building and site as it 
appeared at a particular period of time by means of the removal of 
later work or by the replacement of missing earlier work. 

Revenue Bonds A type of municipal bond that is issued to finance utility or facility 
projects, such as electrical plants, water systems, sewer systems that is 
repaid from the revenues derived from the project. A bond is an 
interest-bearing or discounted debt security that is issued by a 
government or corporation in order to raise funds for capital projects. 

Scale The sense of proportion or apparent size of a building or building 
element as crated by the placement and size of the building in its 
setting; scale usually applies to how the sense is perceived in relation 
to the size of a human being and refers to the apparent size, not actual 
size, since it is always viewed in relationship to another building or 
element. 

Seismic Conditions A seismic condition is an assessment of the potential for an 
earthquake. In the preparation of construction documents, the architect 
is required by building codes to consider the particular seismic zone 
within which the building will be located and certify that the structure 
is designed properly to withstand the intensity of the earthquake. 

Signage Any lettering, signs, or logos in general, used to direct users or 
provide information in the courthouse. 

Site Plan A drawing of the footprint of the building and immediate adjacent 
buildings indicating the location of the proposed work. It is a drawing 
that shows accurately with dimensions the boundaries of the site and 
the location of all buildings, structures, natural features, uses and 
principal site design features proposed for a parcel of land. 

Stepback A setback of the upper floors of a building which is greater than the 
setback of the lower floors. 

Setback The horizontal distance from the property line to the face of a building 
or from natural features to a building. 

Universal Grids Technology is changing rapidly in many spaces within the courthouse. 
The use of “universal grids” is a method of installing cabling either 
beneath the floor or in the ceiling that can be easily altered to 
accommodate new equipment or the replacement of outdated cabling 
systems. 

Utilities Facilities for gas, electricity, telephone, cable television, water and 
waste water, including overhead and underground power and 
telephone lines, al fire hydrants, water mains, storm and sanitary 
sewers. 

Vehicular Sally Port The enclosed or open, but fenced, structure for securing vehicles while 
inmates are being transferred into a booking or court holding area. 

Voir Dire The process of selecting the jury panel is called the “voir dire”. 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
GLOSSARY OF COURTHOUSE PLANNING  PAGE Glossary-7 
AND DESIGN TERMS 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Wayfinding The information available to people which they need to find their way 
around the city and can be verbal, graphic, architectural and spatial. 

Wide Area Network 
(WAN) 

Refers to the connection of several LANs together, usually by leased 
telephone lines, although satellite links are used as well. 

Workstation A table or desk with a three-sided partition surround, usually made for 
individual work. However, workstations are highly customizable, and 
are often used to reduce noise and provide privacy to individual 
employees working in a single room. 

 



VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-1 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR COURT FACILITY 
PLANNING AND DESIGN 
 
The following publications and reports provide additional information on facilities planning and 
court design. If not available locally, most of these publications can be obtained through the 
National Center for State Courts’ library in Williamsburg, Virginia (757) 253-2000 or by 
accessing their website. 

ADA Accessibility Guidelines for Buildings and Facilities (ADAAG). Washington, DC: 
United States Access Board, 2002. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.accessboard.gov/adaag/html/adaag.htm. 

The American Courthouse: Planning and Design for the Judicial Process. Ann Arbor, 
MI: Institute of Continuing Legal Education, 1973. 

Appellate Court Facilities Guidelines. San Francisco, CA: Task Force on Court Facilities, 
Judicial Council of California, 2001. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.courtinfo.ca.gov/reference/documents/Guidelines_Appellate.pdf. 

Building a Better Courthouse: Technology and Design in New Court Facilities: 
Participant Guide. Williamsburg, VA: National Center for State Courts, Institute For Court 
Management, 2003. 

California Trial Court Facilities Standards (draft). (2014). San Francisco: Judicial 
Council of California The California Administrative Office of the Courts has 
the responsibility for design, construction, and management of court facilities, and 
they have determined that it is prudent to develop standards reflecting the best practices and 
successful solutions for basic components of the trial court building. The (draft) standards 
listed in this resource will apply to the design and construction of court facilities. 

Cooper, Eileen B. Widening the Courthouse Doors: Linking Citizens with Disabilities 
and Courts for Access to Justice. Fredericksburg, VA: Court Access Advocacy Coalition 
(CAAC), 1998. 

Courthouse Buildings: Designing Justice for All. New York, NY: Architectural Record, 
1999.  

Courthouse Construction: Better Courtroom Use Data Could Enhance Facility 
Planning and Decision Making. (May 1997). Washington, D.C.: United States General 
Accounting Office This report outlines a study of selected judicial districts and courthouses to 
determine how often and for what purposes courtrooms have been used by U.S. District 
Court judges. It also examines what steps the judiciary is taking to access-space and 
courtroom-usage issues.  

http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/ctcfs2011.pdf
http://www.gao.gov/archive/1997/gg97039.pdf
http://www.gao.gov/archive/1997/gg97039.pdf


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-2 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Courthouse Construction: Information on Courtroom Sharing. Washington, DC: U.S. 
General Accounting Office, 2002. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://Purl.Access.Gpo.Gov/GPO/LPS38583. 

Designing Court Facilities: Facilities, Space and Organizational Goals: Participant 
Guide. Williamsburg, VA: National Center For State Courts, Institute For Court 
Management, 2001. 

Facility Guidelines for Technology in the Courthouse. San Francisco, CA: Judicial 
Council of California, Administrative Office of the Courts, 2002. [accessed July 2006] 
available at http://www.courtinfo.ca.gov/reference/documents/Guidelines_Technical.pdf. 

Facilities Standards for Public Buildings Service. Washington, DC: U.S. General Services 
Administration, 2005. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/GSAMAN/p100.pdf. 

Fautsko, Timothy F. Entry Screening: The Court’s First Line of Defense. (2008). Future 
Trends in State Courts. Universal entry screening of everyone who enters a courthouse - the 
public, staff, and judges - is an essential part of any court security program. NCSC’s Security 
Assessment Team has developed a four-phase plan courts can use to implement universal 
entry screening. 

Feiner, Edward A. Securing Our Future. (2007). Justice System Journal (Vol. 28, No. 
1). The author presents a “philosophical discussion” of the effects that securing the country’s 
courthouses will have on the public’s perception of their government and other civic 
institutions. 

Flango, Victor and Don Hardenbergh. “Courthouse Violence: Protecting the Judicial 
Workplace.” 576 Annals Of The American Academy Of Political and Social Science 8 
(July2001). 

Green Courthouse Design Concepts. Washington, DC: Public Buildings Service, U.S. 
General Services Administration, 1997. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/SUSGSA/green2.pdf. 

Griebel, Michael and Todd S. Phillips. “Architectural Design for Security in Courthouse 
Facilities.” 576 Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 118 (July 
2001). 

Gruen, Martin E. and Samuel H. Solomon. The High-Tech Courtroom: A Design Vision 
for the Future. Williamsburg, VA: Sixth Court Technology Conference, National Center for 
State Courts, 1999. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.ncsconline.org/D_Tech/ctc/showarticle.asp?id=36. 

http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/117
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/94


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-3 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

GSA Leed Application Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. General Services Administration, 
2005. [accessed July 2006] available at http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/GSAMAN/gsaleeda.pdf. 
Superior  

Guidelines for New York State Court Facilities. (2009). New York State Unified Court 
System The New York Unified Court system provides this resource of rules for the Chief 
Judge which outlines the basic guidelines for New York State court facilities. 

Hall, Nathan. Implementing Collegial Chambers as a Means for Courtroom 
Sharing. (2010). Future Trends in State Courts. The evolution of the courthouse work 
environment has dictated that architects and planners rethink traditional courthouse design 
arrangements. One significant trend is a shift away from traditional courtroom/chambers 
arrangements in favor of collegial chambers and shared courtroom configurations. 

Hall, Nathan. Green Courthouse Planning and Design. (2009). Future Trends in State 
Courts. The field of courthouse planning and design is currently undergoing a transformation 
in the process by which buildings are conceived and built. The driving force behind this 
transformation is the changing environmental and economic landscape, which has created a 
national trend to build courthouses that incorporate sustainable building principles. 

Hardenbergh, Don. Trends in Courthouse Design. (2004). Future Trends in State 
Courts. This article focuses on the future of courthouse design and includes such topics as 
child care, public access and accommodation, natural lighting, and planning for future 
growth and expansion. 

Hardenbergh, Don. Virginia Courthouse Facility Guidelines. (2015). The Judicial Council 
of Virginia adopted these guidelines to initiate improvements in their court facilities. These 
guidelines will significantly enhance the ability of courts to discharge their responsibilities in 
a safe, efficient, and convenient environment. 

Hardenbergh, Don, ed. Retrospective of Courthouse Design 1980-
991. (1992).Williamsburg, Va.: National Center for State Courts This classic publication 
features courthouses of many different styles that were built between 1980 and 
1991.  Included in the retrospective are federal courts, appellate courts, general jurisdiction 
courts, limited-jurisdiction courts, and juvenile and family courts. 

Hardenbergh, Don, and Todd S. Phillips, eds. Retrospective of Courthouse Design, 1991-
2001. (2001). Williamsburg, Va.: National Center for State Courts. This classic publication 
features courthouses of many different styles that were built between 1991 and 
2001.  Included in the retrospective are U.S. courthouses, state appellate courts, general-
jurisdiction trial courts, municipal and limited-jurisdiction courts, family and juvenile courts, 
and a section on renovations and additions.  

Hardenbergh, Don, Robert Tobin and Chang-Ming Yeh. The Courthouse: A Planning and 
Design Guide for Court Facilities. (1991). 154 pages. NCSC et al. Includes an overview of 
the stages typically involved in the renovation of an existing court facility or the construction 

http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/GSAMAN/gsaleeda.pdf
http://www.nycourts.gov/rules/chiefjudge/34.shtml
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/161
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/161
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/148
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/124
http://www.courts.state.va.us/courts/vacourtfacility/complete.pdf
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/158
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/158
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/156
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/156
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/74
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/74


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-4 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

of a new one and descriptions of the tasks of planning, design, bidding, construction, and 
occupancy. Note: The 2nd edition of this volume (1998) is available through the NCSC 
Library (NA4471 .H37 1998). 

Hardenbergh, Don. Long Range Forecasting and New Courthouse Planning. Court 
Manager, Winter 2014, pp 22-31. 

Hardenbergh, Don. “Protecting America’s Courthouses.” 44 Judges’ Journal 14 (Summer 
2005). 

Hobstetter, David G., et al. A Next Generation of Distributed Courts. Williamsburg, VA: 
Sixth Court Technology Conference, National Center for State Courts, 1999. [accessed July 
2006] available at http://www.ncsconline.org/D_Tech/ctc/showarticle.asp?id=40. 

Justice for All: Designing Accessible Courthouses.  Recommendations from the 
Courthouse Access Advisory Committee, November 15, 2006. U.S. Access Board.  

Kentucky Court Facilities Criteria. (May 2007). Frankfort: Kentucky Administrative 
Office of the Courts The Kentucky Administrative Office of the Courts sets the criteria for 
court facilities eligible for AOC funding.  This resource outlines the uniform space (facility) 
allowances for those court facilities eligible for financial support. 

Kentucky Court Facilities Design Guide. (May 2007). Frankfort: Kentucky Administrative 
Office of the Courts ”This resource sets forth design guidance (requirements) to be used in 
the development of a design for Court Facilities, Court Support Facilities and Administrative 
Facilities within the Commonwealth of Kentucky, which are supportable, totally or in part, 
with Commonwealth of Kentucky Administrative Office of the Courts funds. It is applicable 
to all construction projects, including additions, alterations, adaptations, rehabilitations, and 
conversions.”--Web site. 

Lochner, William. “The Americans with Disabilities Act and Courthouse Access.” 26 
Justice System Journal 105 (2005). [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.ncsconline.org/WC/Publications/KIS_AmeDisJSJV26No1.pdf. 

The Michigan Courthouse: A Planning and Design Guide for Trial Court Facilities. 
Lansing, MI: Michigan Court Facilities Standards Project Advisory Committee, 2000. 
[accessed July 2006] available at 
http://courts.michigan.gov/scao/resources/standards/#facility. 

Nadel, Barbara A. Building Security: Handbook for Architectural Planning and Design. 
New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2004. 

National Association for Court Management. Achieving and Sustaining the Green Court: 
2009 Mini Guide.  

http://www.access-board.gov/attachments/article/432/report.pdf
http://courts.ky.gov/courtprograms/judicialconstruction/Documents/ProjectDevelopmentGuideSectionII.pdf
http://courts.ky.gov/courtprograms/judicialconstruction/Documents/ProjectDevelopmentGuideSectionIII.pdf


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-5 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

National Institute of Building Sciences. NIBS hosts the Whole Building Design 
Guide (WBDG) and provides an authoritative source of advice for both the private and 
public sector about the use of building science and technology. The WBDG serves as a 
gateway for building professionals to information on “whole building” design techniques and 
technologies.  It is especially useful for information pertaining to federal courts. 

Nebraska Courts Facility Planning: Guidelines and Standards. (1999). Supreme Court of 
Nebraska The Supreme Court of Nebraska has provided these guidelines to assist local and 
county officials identify and solve their facility problems in such a way to meet current and 
future needs.  The standards for courtrooms and court offices are suggested for all 
renovations and new construction. 

Pamphlet: IT Considerations for Courthouse Design. (April 2007). Supreme Court of 
Ohio. Technology Services Section.  When building or renovating a courthouse, it is 
important to consider the implications of all today’s technology. Things such as networking 
wiring, telephone wiring, special facilities for the computers, and space for the IT Personnel 
are all important considerations.  This pamphlet provides a brief overview of such issues. 

Panero, Julius. Human Dimension and Interior Space: A Source Book of Design Reference 
Standards. New York, NY: Whitney Library of Design, 1979. 

Peters, John O. and Margaret T. Peters. Virginia’s Historic Courthouses. (1995). University 
Press of Virginia. This book features 140 color photographs of Virginia’s courthouses and 
provides an overview of the history of 126 courthouses in Virginia. It traces the evolution of 
courthouse design, places the buildings in historical context, and analyzes the symbolic 
significance of Virginia’s houses of justice.  

Phillips, Todd S. and Michael A. Griebel. Building Type Basics for Justice Facilities. 
Indianapolis, IN: Wiley, 2003. 

Standard Level Features and Finishes for U.S. Courts Facilities. (1996).Washington, 
D.C.: U.S. General Services Administration, Public Buildings ServiceThis is a 
complementary document to the “U.S. Courts Design Guide.”  It establishes the baseline, 
standard-level features and finishes for U.S. courts facilities that are funded by the General 
Service Administration.  It is intended to create a level of quality to determine costs. 

Thacker, Gerald. Federal Courthouse. (2012). As part of design guidance from the Whole 
Building Design Guide, this resource provides information on attributes of federal 
courthouses.  In addition to the traditional life-safety and health concerns common to all 
buildings, federal courthouse facilities must adhere to guidelines for their aesthetics, security, 
adjacency and circulation, barrier-free access, mechanical/electrical systems, automation, 
acoustics, interior finishes, and signage. 

Tobin, Robert W. A Court Manager’s Guide to Court Facility Financing. Williamsburg, 
VA: National Center for State Courts, State Justice Institute, 1995. 

http://www.nibs.org/
http://nlc1.nlc.state.ne.us/epubs/S3200/B002-1999.pdf
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/145
http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/GSAMAN/slff.pdf
http://www.wbdg.org/design/federal_courthouse.php


VIRGINIA COURTHOUSE FACILITY GUIDELINES   
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES FOR PAGE Bibliography-6 
COURT FACILITY PLANNING AND DESIGN 
  

 
Office of the Executive Secretary  Prepared by:  Don Hardenberg, Court works 
Supreme Court of Virginia Rev: 2/15 

Twenty Years of Courthouse Design Revisited - Supplement to “The American 
Courthouse.” Chicago, IL: American Bar Association Judicial Administration Division, 
National Center for State Courts, State Justice Institute, 1993. 

U.S. Courts Design Guide. (2007). Washington, D.C.: Administrative Office of the United 
States Courts, Committee on Security and Facilities and the Subcommittee on Space 
Standards This guide serves as a planning tool for federal judges and key judicial personnel 
who are directly involved in the design of a federal court facility. Second, it provides relevant 
information for the General Services Administration (GSA) and an architecture/engineering 
(A/E) team to plan, program, and design a functional, aesthetically appropriate, and cost-
effective court facility. Last, it provides policy guidance for the overall planning, 
programming, and design of federal court facilities throughout the United States and its 
territories. 

Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards. Washington, DC: United States Access Board, 
n.d. [accessed July 2006] available at http://www.access-board.gov/ufas/ufashtml/ufas.htm. 

Utah Judicial System Master Plan for Capital Facilities. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah 
Judicial System, n.d. The Utah Judicial Council has developed design guidelines and space 
standards to be used as a blueprint in the development of new court facilities and the 
renovation of existing ones.  This online resource contains operational and facility planning 
guidelines, judicial design guidelines, and space standards.  

Wong, F. Michael. Judicial Administration and Space Management: A Guide for 
Architects, Court Administrators, and Planners. Gainesville, FL: University Press of 
Florida, 2001. 

Yeh, Chang-Ming. Court Facility Accessibility Reference Guide. Williamsburg, VA: 
National Center for State Courts, State Justice Institute, n.d. [accessed July 2006] available at 
http://www.ncsconline.org/WC/Publications/CS_AmeDis_CtAccessibilitySect6.pdf. 

Zeruba, John E. Courthouse Security - A Direction or a Destination?. (2007).Justice 
System Journal (Vol. 28, No. 1). To ensure that courthouses “meet today’s standards of 
protection,” the author outlines a three-step process that includes a threat analysis, a court 
facility site survey, and a court security committee. 

 
 

http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/113
http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/facilities/id/91


APPENDIX C – GENERAL SITE INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

Russell County Courthouse – 53 East Main Street, Lebanon, Virginia     Bing Aerial Image 

 



 AIA
®

 Document A305 TM – 1986 

Contractor's Qualification Statement 
 

AIA Document A305™ – 1986.  Copyright © 1964, 1969, 1979 and 1986 by The Ameri can Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: 
This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  
Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the maximum extent possible 
under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 09:16:2 7 on 05/25/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which e xpires on 02/02/2017, 
and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1684496740) 

 
1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document 
has added information 
needed for its completion. 
The author may also have 
revised the text of the 
original AIA standard form. 
An Additions and Deletions 
Report that notes added 
information as well as 
revisions to the standard 
form text is available from 
the author and should be 
reviewed. 

This document has important 
legal consequences. 
Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its completion 
or modification. 

This form is approved and 
recommended by the American 
Institute of Architects 
(AIA) and The Associated 
General Contractors of 
America (AGC) for use in 
evaluating the 
qualifications of 
contractors.  No 
endorsement of the 
submitting party or 
verification of the 
information is made by AIA 
or AGC.  

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA ®  Document 
to another electronic file is 
prohibited and constitutes a 
violation of copyright laws 
as set forth in the footer of 
this document. 

The Undersigned certifies under oath that the information provided herein is true and sufficiently complete so as not 

to be misleading. 

 

SUBMITTED TO: «  » 

 

ADDRESS: «  » 

 

SUBMITTED BY: «  » 

 

NAME: «  » 

 

ADDRESS: «  » 

 

PRINCIPAL OFFICE: «  » 

 

[ «  » ] Corporation 

[ «  » ] Partnership 

[ «  » ] Individual 

[ «  » ] Joint Venture 

[ «  » ] Other «  » 

 

NAME OF PROJECT: (if applicable) «Curtiss Elswick» 

 

TYPE OF WORK: (file separate form for each Classification of Work) 

 

[ «  » ] General Construction 

[ «  » ] HVAC 

[ «  » ] Electrical 

[ «  » ] Plumbing 

[ «  » ] Other: (Specify) «  » 

 

§ 1 ORGANIZATION 

§ 1.1 How many years has your organization been in business as a Contractor? «  » 

 

§ 1.2 How many years has your organization been in business under its present business 

name? «  » 

 

§ 1.2.1 Under what other or former names has your organization operated?  

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.3 If your organization is a corporation, answer the following: 

§ 1.3.1 Date of incorporation: «  » 

§ 1.3.2 State of incorporation: «  » 

§ 1.3.3 President's name: «  » 

curtis.elswick
Text Box
APPENDIX D - AIA DOCUMENT A305-1986



AIA Document A305™ – 1986.  Copyright © 1964, 1969, 1979 and 1986 by The Ameri can Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: 
This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  
Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the maximum extent possible 
under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 09:16:2 7 on 05/25/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which e xpires on 02/02/2017, 
and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1684496740) 

 
2 

 

§ 1.3.4 Vice-president's name(s)  

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.3.5 Secretary's name: «  » 

§ 1.3.6 Treasurer's name: «  » 

 

§ 1.4 If your organization is a partnership, answer the following: 

§ 1.4.1 Date of organization: «  » 

§ 1.4.2 Type of partnership (if applicable): «  » 

§ 1.4.3 Name(s) of general partner(s) 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.5 If your organization is individually owned, answer the following: 

§ 1.5.1 Date of organization: «  » 

§ 1.5.2 Name of owner: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.6 If the form of your organization is other than those listed above, describe it and name the principals: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 2 LICENSING 
§ 2.1 List jurisdictions and trade categories in which your organization is legally qualified to do business, and 

indicate registration or license numbers, if applicable. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 2.2 List jurisdictions in which your organization's partnership or trade name is filed. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3 EXPERIENCE 

§ 3.1 List the categories of work that your organization normally performs with its own forces. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.2 Claims and Suits.  (If the answer to any of the questions below is yes, please attach details.) 

§ 3.2.1 Has your organization ever failed to complete any work awarded to it? 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.2.2 Are there any judgments, claims, arbitration proceedings or suits pending or outstanding against 

your organization or its officers? 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.2.3 Has your organization filed any law suits or requested arbitration with regard to construction 

contracts within the last five years? 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.3 Within the last five years, has any officer or principal of your organization ever been an officer or principal of 

another organization when it failed to complete a construction contract?  (If the answer is yes, please attach details.) 

 

«  » 



AIA Document A305™ – 1986.  Copyright © 1964, 1969, 1979 and 1986 by The Ameri can Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: 
This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  
Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the maximum extent possible 
under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 09:16:2 7 on 05/25/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which e xpires on 02/02/2017, 
and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1684496740) 

 
3 

 

 

§ 3.4 On a separate sheet, list major construction projects your organization has in progress, giving the name of 

project, owner, architect, contract amount, percent complete and scheduled completion date. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.4.1 State total worth of work in progress and under contract: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.5 On a separate sheet, list the major projects your organization has completed in the past five years, giving the 

name of project, owner, architect, contract amount, date of completion and percentage of the cost of the work 

performed with your own forces. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.5.1 State average annual amount of construction work performed during the past five years: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.6 On a separate sheet, list the construction experience and present commitments of the key individuals of your 

organization. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4 REFERENCES 

§ 4.1 Trade References: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.2 Bank References: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.3 Surety: 

§ 4.3.1 Name of bonding company: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.3.2 Name and address of agent: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 5 FINANCING 

§ 5.1 Financial Statement. 

§ 5.1.1 Attach a financial statement, preferably audited, including your organization's latest balance sheet 

and income statement showing the following items: 
 

Current Assets (e.g., cash, joint venture accounts, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accrued 

income, deposits, materials inventory and prepaid expenses); 

 

Net Fixed Assets; 
 

Other Assets; 
 

Current Liabilities (e.g., accounts payable, notes payable, accrued expenses, provision for income 

taxes, advances, accrued salaries and accrued payroll taxes); 
 



AIA Document A305™ – 1986.  Copyright © 1964, 1969, 1979 and 1986 by The Ameri can Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: 
This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  
Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the maximum extent possible 
under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 09:16:2 7 on 05/25/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which e xpires on 02/02/2017, 
and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1684496740) 

 
4 

 

Other Liabilities (e.g., capital, capital stock, authorized and outstanding shares par values, earned 

surplus and retained earnings). 

 

§ 5.1.2 Name and address of firm preparing attached financial statement, and date thereof: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 5.1.3 Is the attached financial statement for the identical organization named on page one? 

 

«  » 

 

§ 5.1.4 If not, explain the relationship and financial responsibility of the organization whose financial 

statement is provided (e.g., parent-subsidiary). 

 

«  » 

 

§ 5.2 Will the organization whose financial statement is attached act as guarantor of the contract for construction? 

 

«  » 

 

§ 6 SIGNATURE 

§ 6.1 Dated at this «  » day of «  » «  » 

 

Name of Organization: «  » 

 

By: «  » 

 

Title: «  » 

 

§ 6.2  

 

«  » 

 

M «  » being duly sworn deposes and says that the information provided herein is true and sufficiently complete so 

as not to be misleading. 

 

Subscribed and sworn before me this «  » day of «  » «  » 

 

Notary Public: «  » 

 

My Commission Expires: «  » 

 
 



 AIA
®

 Document B305 TM – 1993 

Architect's Qualification Statement 
 

AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:5 1 on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document 
has added information 
needed for its completion. 
The author may also have 
revised the text of the 
original AIA standard form. 
An Additions and Deletions 
Report that notes added 
information as well as 
revisions to the standard 
form text is available from 
the author and should be 
reviewed. 

This document has important 
legal consequences. 
Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its completion 
or modification. 

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA ®  Document 
to another electronic file is 
prohibited and constitutes a 
violation of copyright laws 
as set forth in the footer of 
this document. 

DATE: «  » 

SUBMITTED TO: «  » 

ADDRESS: «  » 

NAME OF PROJECT (If Applicable): «Curtiss Elswick» 

 

 

1 BASIC INFORMATION 
 

§ 1.1 Architect: (Firm Name and Legal Status) 

 

«  »«  » 

 

§ 1.2 Business Address: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.3 Telephone Number: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.4 Person to Contact: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.5 Type of Organization: (Check one) 

 

[ «  » ] Individual or Sole Proprietorship 

[ «  » ] Professional Corporation/Association 

[ «  » ] Corporation 

[ «  » ] Partnership 

[ «  » ] Joint Venture* 

[ «  » ] Other* 

*If Joint Venture or Other, give details. 

 

«  » 

 

2 GENERAL STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 

«  » 

 

3 GENERAL INFORMATION 
(This information may be provided via the Architect’s brochure which may be attached 

and listed in Article 8.) 

 

§ 3.1 Names of Principals: 

 

«  » 

 

curtis.elswick
Text Box
APPENDIX D - AIA DOCUMENT B305-1993



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
2 

 

§ 3.2 Professional History: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.3 Registration Status: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.4 Professional Affiliations: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.5 Key Personnel: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.6 Total Number of Staff: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.7 Number of Registered Architects: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.8 Honors and Awards: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 3.9 Professional and Civic Involvement: 

 

«  » 

 

4 RELATED PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
(List proposed consultants, if applicable.) 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.1 Structural: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.2 Mechanical: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.3 Electrical: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.4 Interior Design: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 4.5 Others: 

 

«  » 

 



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
3 

 

5 PROJECTS 
(Projects for which personnel of this firm had responsible charge while associated with other firms are indicated by 

an asterisk.) 

 

§ 5.1 The following projects are representative of the Architect’s recent work.  A brief description of each project is 

attached. 

 

«  » 

 

§ 5.2 Other representative projects with dates of completion: 

 

«  » 

 

6 REFERENCES 
 

«  » 

 

7 STATEMENT OF POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 

«  » 

 

8 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
(If attachments are provided, list them here.) 

 

«  » 

 

ARCHITECT: 
 

By: 
 

I hereby certify that, as of the above date, the information provided in this Architect’s Qualification Statement is true 

and sufficiently complete so as not to be misleading. 

 

 

   

(Signature) 

 

«  »«  » 

(Printed name and title) 

 



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
4 

 

ARCHITECT: 
 

«  » 

 

PROJECT: 
 

«  » 

 

Size: «  » 

 

Cost: «  » 

 

Owner: «  » 

 

Owner Contact: «  » 

 

Completion Date: «  » 

 

Contractor/Construction Manager: «  » 

 

Brief Description: «  » 

 



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
5 

 

ARCHITECT: 
 

«  » 

 

PROJECT: 
 

«  » 

 

Size: «  » 

 

Cost: «  » 

 

Owner: «  » 

 

Owner Contact: «  » 

 

Completion Date: «  » 

 

Contractor/Construction Manager: «  » 

 

Brief Description: «  » 

 



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
6 

 

ARCHITECT: 
 

«  » 

 

PROJECT: 
 

«  » 

 

Size: «  » 

 

Cost: «  » 

 

Owner: «  » 

 

Owner Contact: «  » 

 

Completion Date: «  » 

 

Contractor/Construction Manager: «  » 

 

Brief Description: «  » 

 



AIA Document B305™ – 1993 (formerly B431™ – 1993).  Copyright © 1963, 1979 and 1993 by The American In stitute of Architects . All rights 
reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is protected by U.S. Copyright Law and In ternational Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or 
distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in sever e civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecu ted to the 
maximum extent possible  under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:54:51  on 11/08/2016 under Order No.8084274807_1 which 
expires on 02/02/2017, and is not for resale. 
User Notes:    (1917277555) 

 
7 

 

ARCHITECT: 
 

«  » 

 

PROJECT: 
 

«  » 

 

Size: «  » 

 

Cost: «  » 

 

Owner: «  » 

 

Owner Contact: «  » 

 

Completion Date: «  » 

 

Contractor/Construction Manager: «  » 

 

Brief Description: «  » 
 



 

Board of Supervisors Action Item C-1 – C-13 
   137 Highland Drive Presenter: Administrator 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

                   Meeting: 8/3/20         6:00 PM 
 

 

 
 

County Administrator Reports & Requests 
The County Administrator Reports & Request for July 2020: 

 
REPORTS 
 
1. LEMPG Grant FY 2020………..…………………………………………………………C-1 

 
2. Cumberland Mountain Community Services FY 2021 Contract…………………C-2 
3. Honaker & Castlewood Canneries……………………………………………………C-3 

 
4. RC GIS System Upgrade,,……………………………………………………………...C-4 

 
REQUESTS 

  
5. Federal CARES Relief Fund Certification.…………………………………….…….C-5 

 
6. VDOT Smart Scale Resolutions for Rte. 19 & Rte. 58 Projects…..……………...C-5 

 
7. VTC WanderLOVE Marketing Grant ($10,000)…………………..………………….C-6 

 
8. DHCD Town of Cleveland Sewer Plant PER Contract…………………………….C-7 

 
9. LEMPG Grant FY 2021 ($7,500)……..………………………………………………...C-8 

 
10. VFIRS Hardware Grant ($86,763)……………………………………………………..C-9 

 
11. Oak Grove Community Facility Addition……………………………………………C-10 

 
12. DCJS School Resource Officer Grant ($57,287)…………………………………...C-11  

 
13. Highway Abundant Life Church Pump and Haul Septic System………………..C-12 

 
14. Travel Request……………………………………………………………………………C-13 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board Discretion.  

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Board Discretion.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
• Various   

 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

http://www.russellcountyva.us/
http://www.russellcountyva.us/












































From:  Russell County Cannery Initiative Committee 

To: Russell County Board of Supervisors 

 

Due to the Covid 19 Health Pandemic continuing to plague the area, the Russell County Cannery 
Initiative Committee recognizes more than ever the importance of our two Community Canneries to our 
community. We understand the worries of food insecurity and the desires to do what is needed to feed 
our families. And, more importantly we understand the desires and the needs to learn how to preserve 
the food that we are currently growing to help ease our insecurities. More and more of our families are 
growing gardens and buying in bulk to “put away” for the future. Without the knowledge and 
equipment at home to do this at home, our Community Canneries are becoming the solution for a 
growing number of our community members.  

To help address these issues, this Committee is proposing the following changes and additions to the 
current Cannery program: 

• Extended Days of Operation: Both canneries will follow the same operating hours for the 
general public. These will be Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday. The canneries will be 
available on Fridays for Commercial use only. And, Saturdays will be staffed with additional 
trained personnel who will conduct a series of Food Preservation programs for the general 
public who are interested in learning how to use the canneries or how to preserve your food at 
home. Hours of operation will be determined by the cannery supervisors based on the 
appointments of the day. See attachments for more detailed information.  

• Two additional staff personnel will be employed at each cannery to aid in the extended hours. 
• Additional supplies and small equipment will be added to ease in the convenience and use of 

the facilities. This will include the acquisition of glass pint and quart jars, lids and rings, along 
with some standard canning supplies such as canning salt. And, when possible, the purchase of 
metal pint and quart cans.  

• Rate Changes: To ensure a clearer and more sensible fee schedule the Committee is asking for 
the adoption of the attached fee schedule.  

 

Donna Sproles, 

Committee Chair 

Committee Members: 

K.D. Cook 

Richard Moyer 

Brittany Mullins 

Donna Sproles 

Mandy Worrell  



Russell County Community Canneries  

                              2020 Phase Three Covid-19 Pandemic Schedule  
                                         

You must call the cannery to schedule your appointment!! 

Monday        -----General Public----  

Tuesday       -----General Public--- 

Wednesday -----General Public---- 

Thursday     -----General Public---- 

Friday          -----Commercial Processors Only-----  

Saturday     -----General Public with ongoing training sessions----  

Sunday       -----Closed----- 

 

All appointments must be made at least one day prior to the date of appointment. 
Exception-- Monday appointments must be made on Friday.  Commercial processors must 
schedule appointments no later than the Monday prior to the Friday appointment.  

Castlewood Cannery:     276-762-9025 
(Located at 314 Memorial Drive directly behind the Castlewood High School) 

Honaker Cannery:       276-873-4907 

(Located at 37 Cedar Road in Honaker) 

 

 

Please Note:  This schedule is subject to change at any time due to Governor Mandates 

  

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



From: David Bradshaw
To: lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
Subject: RE: Web GIS Update
Date: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 8:17:47 PM

Lonzo,
 
Here is the URL:
https://russcova.interactivegis.com/login/
 
Username:
lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
 
Password:
lonzo.lester
 
 
We developed a new tool that, after you identify a parcel, provides a button that automatically
produces adjoining parcels.  I’ll add that to your site tomorrow morning.
 
I also need to update the data for the parcel update date. 
 
If you need additional information about add-ons such as the Water & Sewer CMOM or the Permits
& Building Inspections tools I can provide that information for you.  We can demonstrate what we
did for The City of Bristol, Virginia for their Permits and Building Inspections Add-on as well as
provide you a reference for that project.  We’ve got others, such as Student Enrollment Project
System as well that we can discuss/present.  Plus we are always looking for new ideas so if you have
some we try to add those in as well. I figure if they are useful to you then other clients may find
them useful as well.
 
Thanks for your time this evening.  Have a nice evening.
 
David
 
 

From: lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 6:49 PM
To: David Bradshaw <dbradshaw@interactivegis.com>
Subject: RE: Web GIS Update
 
David,
 
We have a board meeting on Monday to discuss and we’ll look at available dates.
 
I will get back with you on Tuesday.
 

mailto:dbradshaw@interactivegis.com
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
https://russcova.interactivegis.com/login/
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



 

 
 

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA 
 

 
Aubrey L. Layne, Jr., MBA, CPA 
        Secretary of Finance 

                 P.O. Box 1475 
Richmond, Virginia 23218 

July 28, 2020 

 

 

To:  County and City Elected Officials 

 

Delivered Via: Chief Executive Officer, Manager, or Administrator 

 

From:  Aubrey L. Layne, Jr. 

  Secretary of Finance 

 

Subject:  Second and Final Allocation of Federal Coronavirus Relief Funds 

 

Overview 

On May 12, 2020, I advised you of Governor Northam’s decision to provide the first round of 

allocations to local governments from the federal Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) authorized 

pursuant to the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). On 

June 1, 2020, each locality received its share of the first half, or fifty (50) percent, of the 

locally-based allocations (not including Fairfax County that received its funds directly).  

While the federal CARES Act does not require that states distribute funding to local 

governments with populations less than 500,000 residents, the Governor recognizes that 

localities continue to experience the same COVID-19 related expenses as the Commonwealth. 

Therefore, the Governor recently announced the second and final round to allocate the 

remaining fifty (50) percent of the locally-based allocations from the CRF to local 

governments. When completed, the state will have distributed 100 percent of the local 

allocations the Commonwealth received under the CARES Act providing a total of $1.3 billion 

for local governments. 

Just like the first round, the second round will be based on population. Consequently, the 

second round of allocations will be for the same amount that you received in the first round on 

June 1, 2020. In order to receive the second allocation, localities are required to submit a new 

certification form and complete an online survey regarding the use of the CRF funds. 

As soon as these two documents are fully completed and submitted, the Department of 

Accounts will initiate the transfer of funds to the local Treasurer. Localities may expect to 

receive the transfer by the state Comptroller within five business days following confirmation 

of receipt of these completed documents. 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



County and City Elected Officials and Administrators 

July 28, 2020 

Page 2 

Guidance 

It is extremely important for you to know that all of the same conditions that existed for the first 

round of CRF allocations continue for the second round of allocations. To that end, I encourage 

you to refer to my May 12, 2020, memorandum and to the federal guidance and frequently asked 

questions located at: https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/cares/state-and-local-governments 

This information is routinely updated and has been revised several times since my May 12, 2020, 

memorandum. Compliance with the federal guidance is your responsibility and failure to do so 

could result in disallowed expenses requiring you to repay the associated funds to the federal 

government. As stated previously, if you fail to repay any funds spent for nonqualifying expenses 

as required by the federal government, the state Comptroller will recover such amounts from 

future state payments to your locality via the State Aid Intercept Program.  

In addition to the revised federal guidance, on July 2, 2020, the U.S. Treasury’s Office of the 

Inspector General issued information related to reporting and audit requirements that had not 

been published at the time of my original communication to you. Information regarding the audit 

and reporting requirements can be found at the same link provided above. Further, the State 

Comptroller’s office has subrecipient monitoring responsibilities that will necessitate evaluation 

and additional correspondence with localities regarding the use of funds. 

As a reminder, the overarching federal guidance states that these funds must be used for 

qualifying expenses of state and local governments. Specifically, the CARES Act provides that 

payments from the CRF only may be used to cover costs that: 

1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to 

the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19); 

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the 

date of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and  

3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 

2020. 

The federal guidance continues to state that the CRF funds can be used only for the direct costs 

associated with the response to the COVID-19 pandemic and cannot be used to address revenue 

shortfalls. State and local government officials have requested that this restriction be lifted or that 

additional federal funds be provided to address the loss of state and local revenue. To date, no 

action has been taken by Congress to allow that flexibility or to provide funding for that purpose. 

CRF funds should be considered "one time" monies and should not be used for ongoing services 

and/or base operations. Because the funds must be expended by December 30, localities are 

advised not to create services with expenses beyond that period. Any expenses beyond December 

30, 2020, must be paid entirely by the locality from local funds.  

 

  

https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/cares/state-and-local-governments


County and City Elected Officials and Administrators 

July 28, 2020 

Page 3 

Allocation of CRF Funds to Localities 

The remaining fifty (50) percent of the locally-based allocations will be distributed to counties 

and cities by the Department of Accounts (DOA) after receipt from the locality of a new, signed 

certification form and after completion of a survey on the locality’s actual and planned uses of 

the CRF funds. This distribution will be made to the local treasurer in the same manner that the 

first round of funds were distributed within five business days following receipt of the completed 

documents. 

Each locality’s allocation will be based on the proportion that the locality’s population represents 

of the statewide total population. Appendix A reflects the population used by U.S. Treasury to 

allocate CRF funds to the states. This population data is the basis for determining the allocations 

to each locality.  

This table also reflects each locality’s share of the remaining distribution based on the population 

data displayed. Please note that the population data for each county includes the populations of 

the towns within its borders. Consequently, the allocation indicated for each county includes any 

allocations based on residents that live in the towns located within that county. 

 

Requirements: Survey on the Use of Funds and Certifications 

General 

The amounts listed in Appendix A reflect the funds that will be transferred to each locality after: 

1. completion of an online survey located at: (NOTE: the link to this survey will be provided 

by separate communication later this week), and 

2. receipt of a certification form (Appendix D) from the locality signed by the chief 

executive officer, the chief financial officer (Treasurer), and the chief elected officer. 

Before signing the certification, I recommend that you read and understand the federal guidance 

and the frequently asked questions contained in Appendix B and Appendix C, respectively. The 

most recent information on this guidance and the frequently asked questions can be obtained at: 

https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/cares/state-and-local-governments 

Please note that the certification statement includes an acknowledgment that you may be required 

to return funds to the federal government if it is determined that those funds were spent for 

purposes that do not qualify. Since these funds are being provided to you “up front” rather than 

on a reimbursement basis, it is important for you to understand that the burden of ensuring that all 

CRF funds are spent for qualifying purposes falls to the local government.  

You are responsible for maintaining all necessary documentation to ensure compliance with the 

federal requirements. The State Comptroller is responsible for all subrecipient monitoring and 

may require additional information in the future from each locality to address that responsibility. 

If the federal government determines that you have used CRF funds for purposes that do not 

qualify, you must return those funds to the state promptly so that they may be returned to the 

federal government. As a condition of receiving CRF funds, you are agreeing that the state can 

use state aid intercept to recover any funds necessary for expenses that were not for a qualifying 

purpose or that were unexpended as of December 30, 2020. 

https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/cares/state-and-local-governments


County and City Elected Officials and Administrators 

July 28, 2020 

Page 4 

For Counties Only 

As previously stated, the population data for each county includes the populations of the towns 

within its borders. Consequently, the allocation indicated for each county includes any allocations 

based on residents that live in the towns located within that county. 

Counties must ensure that an equitable share of the CRF funds it receives are shared with and 

granted to each town within its jurisdiction. Just as with the funds retained by the county, the funds 

granted to towns must be spent in accordance with the same requirements and the same 

documentation must be retained for audit purposes. The county issuing the grant is responsible for 

the ensuring compliance with each town’s documentation requirements and must ensure that the 

use of the funds meets the requirements set forth by the federal government.  

Completion of Survey 

The Commonwealth has partnered with Accenture to create a survey to collect data on how each 

locality has used or plans to use its allocation of CRF funds. The survey instrument, which must be 

completed online, will be made available later this week by separate communication. This 

communication will include instructions regarding access to and completion of the survey. For 

questions about completion of the survey, please contact Jason Saunders, General Government 

Coordinator, Department of Planning and Budget, at jason.saunders@dpb.virginia.gov. 

We are requesting that this survey be completed no later than 5:00pm, Monday, August 10, 2020, 

so that we may provide a report on the use of the CRF by locality to the General Assembly when it 

convenes for a special session beginning on August 18, 2020. For surveys that are not received by 

this due date, this report will reflect that the survey results were not received from that locality by 

the requested due date. More importantly, the survey must be completed, along with submission of 

the certification form, in order to receive the second distribution of CRF funds. 

Submission of Certification 

The certification in Appendix D contains more specific details on the responsibilities of the local 

governing body. A fillable .pdf form can be downloaded from the Secretary of Finance’s Website 

under “Recent News” at: http://finance.virginia.gov/  

The signed certification form should be submitted no later than August 10, 2020, to the 

Department of Accounts in electronic or hard copy form: 

By Email to:  GACCT@DOA.Virginia.gov 

By US Mail to:  Department of Accounts 

Attention: Local CRF Certification 

PO Box 1971 

Richmond, VA  23218-1971 

 

If you have any questions regarding the appropriate use of CRF funds, please refer to the U.S. 

Treasury Website and guidance. For questions about this process, you may contact my office at 

(804) 786-1148. If you have technical questions about the certification form or the distribution of 

mailto:jason.saunders@dpb.virginia.gov
http://finance.virginia.gov/
mailto:GACCT@DOA.Virginia.gov


County and City Elected Officials and Administrators 

July 28, 2020 

Page 5 

the funds, please contact Melinda Pearson, Director, General Accounting, Department of 

Accounts, at melinda.pearson@doa.virginia.gov or by phone at 804-225-2376. 

mailto:melinda.pearson@doa.virginia.gov


Appendix A – Local Allocations 

 

    1 

 

Annual Estimates of the Resident 
Population for Counties in Virginia: as of 
July 1, 2019 

 
Statewide 

Total = 
8,535,519 

 
 
 

% of Total 1 
 

 
Current 

Allocation Base 2= 
$744,691,122 

 

Locality Population 
  

.Accomack County, Virginia 32,316 0.3786% $2,819,446 

.Albemarle County, Virginia 109,330 1.2809% $9,538,621 

.Alleghany County, Virginia 14,860 0.1741% $1,296,478 

.Amelia County, Virginia 13,145 0.1540% $1,146,851 

.Amherst County, Virginia 31,605 0.3703% $2,757,414 

.Appomattox County, Virginia 15,911 0.1864% $1,388,173 

.Arlington County, Virginia 236,842 2.7748% $20,663,551 

.Augusta County, Virginia 75,558 0.8852% $6,592,144 

.Bath County, Virginia 4,147 0.0486% $361,810 

.Bedford County, Virginia 78,997 0.9255% $6,892,184 

.Bland County, Virginia 6,280 0.0736% $547,906 

.Botetourt County, Virginia 33,419 0.3915% $2,915,679 

.Brunswick County, Virginia 16,231 0.1902% $1,416,092 

.Buchanan County, Virginia 21,004 0.2461% $1,832,518 

.Buckingham County, Virginia 17,148 0.2009% $1,496,097 

.Campbell County, Virginia 54,885 0.6430% $4,788,505 

.Caroline County, Virginia 30,725 0.3600% $2,680,638 

.Carroll County, Virginia 29,791 0.3490% $2,599,150 

.Charles City County, Virginia 6,963 0.0816% $607,495 

.Charlotte County, Virginia 11,880 0.1392% $1,036,484 

.Chesterfield County, Virginia 352,802 4.1333% $30,780,614 

.Clarke County, Virginia 14,619 0.1713% $1,275,451 

.Craig County, Virginia 5,131 0.0601% $447,660 

.Culpeper County, Virginia 52,605 0.6163% $4,589,583 

.Cumberland County, Virginia 9,932 0.1164% $866,529 

.Dickenson County, Virginia 14,318 0.1677% $1,249,190 

.Dinwiddie County, Virginia 28,544 0.3344% $2,490,354 

.Essex County, Virginia 10,953 0.1283% $955,607 

.Fairfax County, Virginia 1,147,532 13.4442% N/A 

.Fauquier County, Virginia 71,222 0.8344% $6,213,845 

.Floyd County, Virginia 15,749 0.1845% $1,374,040 

.Fluvanna County, Virginia 27,270 0.3195% $2,379,202 

.Franklin County, Virginia 56,042 0.6566% $4,889,448 

.Frederick County, Virginia 89,313 1.0464% $7,792,215 

.Giles County, Virginia 16,720 0.1959% $1,458,756 



Appendix A – Local Allocations 

 

    2 

 

.Gloucester County, Virginia 37,348 0.4376% $3,258,469 

.Goochland County, Virginia 23,753 0.2783% $2,072,358 

.Grayson County, Virginia 15,550 0.1822% $1,356,678 

.Greene County, Virginia 19,819 0.2322% $1,729,131 

.Greensville County, Virginia 11,336 0.1328% $989,022 

.Halifax County, Virginia 33,911 0.3973% $2,958,604 

.Hanover County, Virginia 107,766 1.2626% $9,402,168 

.Henrico County, Virginia 330,818 3.8758% $28,862,595 

.Henry County, Virginia 50,557 0.5923% $4,410,903 

.Highland County, Virginia 2,190 0.0257% $191,069 

.Isle of Wight County, Virginia 37,109 0.4348% $3,237,617 

.James City County, Virginia 76,523 0.8965% $6,676,337 

.King and Queen County, Virginia 7,025 0.0823% $612,904 

.King George County, Virginia 26,836 0.3144% $2,341,338 

.King William County, Virginia 17,148 0.2009% $1,496,097 

.Lancaster County, Virginia 10,603 0.1242% $925,071 

.Lee County, Virginia 23,423 0.2744% $2,043,566 

.Loudoun County, Virginia 413,538 4.8449% $36,079,596 

.Louisa County, Virginia 37,591 0.4404% $3,279,670 

.Lunenburg County, Virginia 12,196 0.1429% $1,064,054 

.Madison County, Virginia 13,261 0.1554% $1,156,971 

.Mathews County, Virginia 8,834 0.1035% $770,732 

.Mecklenburg County, Virginia 30,587 0.3583% $2,668,598 

.Middlesex County, Virginia 10,582 0.1240% $923,239 

.Montgomery County, Virginia 98,535 1.1544% $8,596,799 

.Nelson County, Virginia 14,930 0.1749% $1,302,585 

.New Kent County, Virginia 23,091 0.2705% $2,014,601 

.Northampton County, Virginia 11,710 0.1372% $1,021,652 

.Northumberland County, Virginia 12,095 0.1417% $1,055,242 

.Nottoway County, Virginia 15,232 0.1785% $1,328,933 

.Orange County, Virginia 37,051 0.4341% $3,232,557 

.Page County, Virginia 23,902 0.2800% $2,085,357 

.Patrick County, Virginia 17,608 0.2063% $1,536,230 

.Pittsylvania County, Virginia 60,354 0.7071% $5,265,654 

.Powhatan County, Virginia 29,652 0.3474% $2,587,023 

.Prince Edward County, Virginia 22,802 0.2671% $1,989,387 

.Prince George County, Virginia 38,353 0.4493% $3,346,151 

.Prince William County, Virginia 470,335 5.5103% $41,034,915 

.Pulaski County, Virginia 34,027 0.3987% $2,968,725 

.Rappahannock County, Virginia 7,370 0.0863% $643,004 

.Richmond County, Virginia 9,023 0.1057% $787,222 



Appendix A – Local Allocations 

 

    3 

 

.Roanoke County, Virginia 94,186 1.1035% $8,217,365 

.Rockbridge County, Virginia 22,573 0.2645% $1,969,407 

.Rockingham County, Virginia 81,948 0.9601% $7,149,647 

.Russell County, Virginia 26,586 0.3115% $2,319,526 

.Scott County, Virginia 21,566 0.2527% $1,881,550 

.Shenandoah County, Virginia 43,616 0.5110% $3,805,328 

.Smyth County, Virginia 30,104 0.3527% $2,626,458 

.Southampton County, Virginia 17,631 0.2066% $1,538,237 

.Spotsylvania County, Virginia 136,215 1.5959% $11,884,234 

.Stafford County, Virginia 152,882 1.7911% $13,338,365 

.Surry County, Virginia 6,422 0.0752% $560,295 

.Sussex County, Virginia 11,159 0.1307% $973,580 

.Tazewell County, Virginia 40,595 0.4756% $3,541,757 

.Warren County, Virginia 40,164 0.4706% $3,504,154 

.Washington County, Virginia 53,740 0.6296% $4,688,608 

.Westmoreland County, Virginia 18,015 0.2111% $1,571,739 

.Wise County, Virginia 37,383 0.4380% $3,261,523 

.Wythe County, Virginia 28,684 0.3361% $2,502,568 

.York County, Virginia 68,280 0.8000% $5,957,167 

.Alexandria city, Virginia 159,428 1.8678% $13,909,478 

.Bristol city, Virginia 16,762 0.1964% $1,462,420 

.Buena Vista city, Virginia 6,478 0.0759% $565,181 

.Charlottesville city, Virginia 47,266 0.5538% $4,123,776 

.Chesapeake city, Virginia 244,835 2.8684% $21,360,910 

.Colonial Heights city, Virginia 17,370 0.2035% $1,515,466 

.Covington city, Virginia 5,538 0.0649% $483,169 

.Danville city, Virginia 40,044 0.4691% $3,493,685 

.Emporia city, Virginia 5,346 0.0626% $466,418 

.Fairfax city, Virginia 24,019 0.2814% $2,095,565 

.Falls Church city, Virginia 14,617 0.1712% $1,275,277 

.Franklin city, Virginia 7,967 0.0933% $695,090 

.Fredericksburg city, Virginia 29,036 0.3402% $2,533,279 

.Galax city, Virginia 6,347 0.0744% $553,751 

.Hampton city, Virginia 134,510 1.5759% $11,735,479 

.Harrisonburg city, Virginia 53,016 0.6211% $4,625,442 

.Hopewell city, Virginia 22,529 0.2639% $1,965,568 

.Lexington city, Virginia 7,446 0.0872% $649,635 

.Lynchburg city, Virginia 82,168 0.9627% $7,168,841 

.Manassas city, Virginia 41,085 0.4813% $3,584,508 

.Manassas Park city, Virginia 17,478 0.2048% $1,524,888 

.Martinsville city, Virginia 12,554 0.1471% $1,095,288 



Appendix A – Local Allocations 

 

    4 

 

.Newport News city, Virginia 179,225 2.0998% $15,636,690 

.Norfolk city, Virginia 242,742 2.8439% $21,178,304 

.Norton city, Virginia 3,981 0.0466% $347,327 

.Petersburg city, Virginia 31,346 0.3672% $2,734,818 

.Poquoson city, Virginia 12,271 0.1438% $1,070,597 

.Portsmouth city, Virginia 94,398 1.1059% $8,235,862 

.Radford city, Virginia 18,249 0.2138% $1,592,155 

.Richmond city, Virginia 230,436 2.6997% $20,104,653 

.Roanoke city, Virginia 99,143 1.1615% $8,649,844 

.Salem city, Virginia 25,301 0.2964% $2,207,415 

.Staunton city, Virginia 24,932 0.2921% $2,175,221 

.Suffolk city, Virginia 92,108 1.0791% $8,036,068 

.Virginia Beach city, Virginia 449,974 5.2718% $39,258,497 

.Waynesboro city, Virginia 22,630 0.2651% $1,974,380 

.Williamsburg city, Virginia 14,954 0.1752% $1,304,679 

.Winchester city, Virginia 28,078 0.3290% $2,449,697 

Total Funds Distributed (excludes Fairfax County) $644,573,383 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division 
  

Release Date: March 2020 
  

1 Note: Percentages are displayed as rounded numbers, however, the distributions are calculated 
using the full values. 
2 Note: The total allocation base includes Fairfax County in order to correctly calculate the 
allocation for the remaining localities. 
 



1 

Appendix B: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Guidance from U.S. Treasury 

 

Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments 

Updated June 30, 20201
 

 

The purpose of this document is to provide guidance to recipients of the funding available under section 

601(a) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 

Security Act (“CARES Act”).  The CARES Act established the Coronavirus Relief Fund (the “Fund”) 

and appropriated $150 billion to the Fund. Under the CARES Act, the Fund is to be used to make 

payments for specified uses to States and certain local governments; the District of Columbia and U.S. 

Territories (consisting of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, Guam, 

American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands); and Tribal governments. 

 
The CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that— 

 
1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to 

the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19); 

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the 

date of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and 

3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 

2020.2 

 
The guidance that follows sets forth the Department of the Treasury’s interpretation of these limitations 

on the permissible use of Fund payments. 

 

Necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency 

The requirement that expenditures be incurred “due to” the public health emergency means that 

expenditures must be used for actions taken to respond to the public health emergency. These may 

include expenditures incurred to allow the State, territorial, local, or Tribal government to respond 

directly to the emergency, such as by addressing medical or public health needs, as well as expenditures 

incurred to respond to second-order effects of the emergency, such as by providing economic support to 

those suffering from employment or business interruptions due to COVID-19-related business closures. 

Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not 

otherwise qualify under the statute. Although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue replacement is 

not a permissible use of Fund payments. 

The statute also specifies that expenditures using Fund payments must be “necessary.”  The Department 

of the Treasury understands this term broadly to mean that the expenditure is reasonably necessary for its 

intended use in the reasonable judgment of the government officials responsible for spending Fund 

payments. 

 

Costs not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 

The CARES Act also requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in 

the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020. A cost meets this requirement if either (a) the 

 

1 This version updates the guidance provided under “Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, 

and ends on December 30, 2020”. 
2 See Section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act. 



2 

Appendix B: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Guidance from U.S. Treasury 

 

cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget or (b) the cost 

is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 

allocation. 

The “most recently approved” budget refers to the enacted budget for the relevant fiscal period for the 

particular government, without taking into account subsequent supplemental appropriations enacted or 

other budgetary adjustments made by that government in response to the COVID-19 public health 

emergency. A cost is not considered to have been accounted for in a budget merely because it could be 

met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or similar reserve account. 

 

Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 

Finally, the CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that were 

incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 (the “covered 

period”). Putting this requirement together with the other provisions discussed above, section 601(d) may 

be summarized as providing that a State, local, or tribal government may use payments from the Fund 

only to cover previously unbudgeted costs of necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID–19 

public health emergency during the covered period. 

Initial guidance released on April 22, 2020, provided that the cost of an expenditure is incurred when the 

recipient has expended funds to cover the cost. Upon further consideration and informed by an 

understanding of State, local, and tribal government practices, Treasury is clarifying that for a cost to be 

considered to have been incurred, performance or delivery must occur during the covered period but 

payment of funds need not be made during that time (though it is generally expected that this will take 

place within 90 days of a cost being incurred). For instance, in the case of a lease of equipment or other 

property, irrespective of when payment occurs, the cost of a lease payment shall be considered to have 

been incurred for the period of the lease that is within the covered period, but not otherwise. 

Furthermore, in all cases it must be necessary that performance or delivery take place during the covered 

period. Thus the cost of a good or service received during the covered period will not be considered 

eligible under section 601(d) if there is no need for receipt until after the covered period has expired. 

Goods delivered in the covered period need not be used during the covered period in all cases. For 

example, the cost of a good that must be delivered in December in order to be available for use in January 

could be covered using payments from the Fund. Additionally, the cost of goods purchased in bulk and 

delivered during the covered period may be covered using payments from the Fund if a portion of the 

goods is ordered for use in the covered period, the bulk purchase is consistent with the recipient’s usual 

procurement policies and practices, and it is impractical to track and record when the items were used. A 

recipient may use payments from the Fund to purchase a durable good that is to be used during the current 

period and in subsequent periods if the acquisition in the covered period was necessary due to the public 

health emergency. 

Given that it is not always possible to estimate with precision when a good or service will be needed, the 

touchstone in assessing the determination of need for a good or service during the covered period will be 

reasonableness at the time delivery or performance was sought, e.g., the time of entry into a procurement 

contract specifying a time for delivery. Similarly, in recognition of the likelihood of supply chain 

disruptions and increased demand for certain goods and services during the COVID-19 public health 

emergency, if a recipient enters into a contract requiring the delivery of goods or performance of services 

by December 30, 2020, the failure of a vendor to complete delivery or services by December 30, 2020, 

will not affect the ability of the recipient to use payments from the Fund to cover the cost of such goods 

or services if the delay is due to circumstances beyond the recipient’s control. 



3 

Appendix B: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Guidance from U.S. Treasury 

 

This guidance applies in a like manner to costs of subrecipients. Thus, a grant or loan, for example, 

provided by a recipient using payments from the Fund must be used by the subrecipient only to purchase 

(or reimburse a purchase of) goods or services for which receipt both is needed within the covered period 

and occurs within the covered period. The direct recipient of payments from the Fund is ultimately 

responsible for compliance with this limitation on use of payments from the Fund. 

 

Nonexclusive examples of eligible expenditures 

Eligible expenditures include, but are not limited to, payment for: 

1. Medical expenses such as: 

 COVID-19-related expenses of public hospitals, clinics, and similar facilities. 

 Expenses of establishing temporary public medical facilities and other measures to increase 

COVID-19 treatment capacity, including related construction costs. 

 Costs of providing COVID-19 testing, including serological testing. 

 Emergency medical response expenses, including emergency medical transportation, related 

to COVID-19. 

 Expenses for establishing and operating public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-19- 

related treatment. 

2. Public health expenses such as: 

 Expenses for communication and enforcement by State, territorial, local, and Tribal 

governments of public health orders related to COVID-19. 

 Expenses for acquisition and distribution of medical and protective supplies, including 

sanitizing products and personal protective equipment, for medical personnel, police officers, 

social workers, child protection services, and child welfare officers, direct service providers 

for older adults and individuals with disabilities in community settings, and other public 

health or safety workers in connection with the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

 Expenses for disinfection of public areas and other facilities, e.g., nursing homes, in response 

to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

 Expenses for technical assistance to local authorities or other entities on mitigation of 

COVID-19-related threats to public health and safety. 

 Expenses for public safety measures undertaken in response to COVID-19. 

 Expenses for quarantining individuals. 

3. Payroll expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and similar 

employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID- 

19 public health emergency. 

4. Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures, such 

as: 

 Expenses for food delivery to residents, including, for example, senior citizens and other 

vulnerable populations, to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 

 Expenses to facilitate distance learning, including technological improvements, in connection 

with school closings to enable compliance with COVID-19 precautions. 

 Expenses to improve telework capabilities for public employees to enable compliance with 

COVID-19 public health precautions. 



Appendix B: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Guidance from U.S. Treasury 

  4 

 

 Expenses of providing paid sick and paid family and medical leave to public employees 

to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 

 COVID-19-related expenses of maintaining state prisons and county jails, including as 

relates to sanitation and improvement of social distancing measures, to enable compliance 

with COVID-19 public health precautions. 

 Expenses for care for homeless populations provided to mitigate COVID-19 effects 

and enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 

5. Expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection with the COVID-

19 public health emergency, such as: 

 Expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs 

of business interruption caused by required closures. 

 Expenditures related to a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government payroll 

support program. 

 Unemployment insurance costs related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if 

such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES 

Act or otherwise. 

6. Any other COVID-19-related expenses reasonably necessary to the function of government 

that satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria. 
 

Nonexclusive examples of ineligible expenditures3
 

The following is a list of examples of costs that would not be eligible expenditures of payments from 

the Fund. 

1. Expenses for the State share of Medicaid.4 

2. Damages covered by insurance. 

3. Payroll or benefits expenses for employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated 

to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

4. Expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as the 

reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by 

States to State unemployment funds. 

5. Reimbursement to donors for donated items or services. 

6. Workforce bonuses other than hazard pay or overtime. 

7. Severance pay. 

8. Legal settlements. 
 

3 In addition, pursuant to section 5001(b) of the CARES Act, payments from the Fund may not be expended for an 

elective abortion or on research in which a human embryo is destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of 

injury or death. The prohibition on payment for abortions does not apply to an abortion if the pregnancy is the result 

of an act of rape or incest; or in the case where a woman suffers from a physical disorder, physical injury, or 

physical illness, including a life-endangering physical condition caused by or arising from the pregnancy itself, that 

would, as certified by a physician, place the woman in danger of death unless an abortion is performed. 

Furthermore, no government which receives payments from the Fund may discriminate against a health care 

entity on the basis that the entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions. 

4 See 42 C.F.R. § 433.51 and 45 C.F.R. § 75.306. 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 

1 

The content below was provided by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. 

Coronavirus Relief Fund 

Frequently Asked Questions 

Updated as of July 8, 2020 
 

The following answers to frequently asked questions supplement Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund 

(“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments, dated April 22, 2020, 

(“Guidance”).1 Amounts paid from the Fund are subject to the restrictions outlined in the Guidance and set 

forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 

and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). 
 

Eligible Expenditures 
 

Are governments required to submit proposed expenditures to Treasury for approval? 

No. Governments are responsible for making determinations as to what expenditures are necessary due to the 

public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 and do not need to submit any proposed expenditures to 

Treasury. 
 

The Guidance says that funding can be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public health, 

health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. How does a government determine 

whether payroll expenses for a given employee satisfy the “substantially dedicated” condition? 

The Fund is designed to provide ready funding to address unforeseen financial needs and risks created by the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.  For this reason, and as a matter of administrative convenience in light 

of the emergency nature of this program, a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government may presume that 

payroll costs for public health and public safety employees are payments for services substantially dedicated 

to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency, unless the chief executive (or 

equivalent) of the relevant government determines that specific circumstances indicate otherwise. 
 

The Guidance says that a cost was not accounted for in the most recently approved budget if the cost is for 

a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or allocation.  

What would qualify as a “substantially different use” for purposes of the Fund eligibility? 

Costs incurred for a “substantially different use” include, but are not necessarily limited to, costs of personnel 

and services that were budgeted for in the most recently approved budget but which, due entirely to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, have been diverted to substantially different functions. This would 

include, for example, the costs of redeploying corrections facility staff to enable compliance with COVID-19 

public health precautions through work such as enhanced sanitation or enforcing social distancing measures; 

the costs of redeploying police to support management and enforcement of stay-at-home orders; or the costs 

of diverting educational support staff or faculty to develop online learning capabilities, such as through 

providing information technology support that is not part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary responsibilities. 

Note that a public function does not become a “substantially different use” merely because it is provided 

from a different location or through a different manner. For example, although developing online instruction 

capabilities may be a substantially different use of funds, online instruction itself is not a substantially 

different use of public funds than classroom instruction. 

1 The Guidance is available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for- 

State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf. 

 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf


Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 2 

May a State receiving a payment transfer funds to a local government? 

Yes, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health 

emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. Such funds would be 

subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner consistent with 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

 
May a unit of local government receiving a Fund payment transfer funds to another unit of 

government? 

Yes. For example, a county may transfer funds to a city, town, or school district within the county and a 

county or city may transfer funds to its State, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary 

expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of 

the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. For example, a transfer from a county to a constituent 

city would not be permissible if the funds were intended to be used simply to fill shortfalls in government 

revenue to cover expenditures that would not otherwise qualify as an eligible expenditure. 

 
Is a Fund payment recipient required to transfer funds to a smaller, constituent unit of government 

within its borders? 

No. For example, a county recipient is not required to transfer funds to smaller cities within the county’s 

borders. 

 
Are recipients required to use other federal funds or seek reimbursement under other federal programs 

before using Fund payments to satisfy eligible expenses? 

No. Recipients may use Fund payments for any expenses eligible under section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  Fund payments are not required to be used as the source of 

funding of last resort. However, as noted below, recipients may not use payments from the Fund to cover 

expenditures for which they will receive reimbursement. 

 
Are there prohibitions on combining a transaction supported with Fund payments with other CARES 

Act funding or COVID-19 relief Federal funding? 

Recipients will need to consider the applicable restrictions and limitations of such other sources of 

funding. In addition, expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as 

the reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States to 

State unemployment funds, are not eligible uses of Fund payments. 

 
Are States permitted to use Fund payments to support state unemployment insurance funds generally? 

To the extent that the costs incurred by a state unemployment insurance fund are incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, a State may use Fund payments to make payments to its respective 

state unemployment insurance fund, separate and apart from such State’s obligation to the unemployment 

insurance fund as an employer. This will permit States to use Fund payments to prevent expenses related 

to the public health emergency from causing their state unemployment insurance funds to become 

insolvent. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 3 

Are recipients permitted to use Fund payments to pay for unemployment insurance costs incurred by 

the recipient as an employer? 

Yes, Fund payments may be used for unemployment insurance costs incurred by the recipient as an 

employer (for example, as a reimbursing employer) related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if 

such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or otherwise. 

 
The Guidance states that the Fund may support a “broad range of uses” including payroll expenses for 

several classes of employees whose services are “substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.”  What are some examples of types of covered employees? 

The Guidance provides examples of broad classes of employees whose payroll expenses would be eligible 

expenses under the Fund. These classes of employees include public safety, public health, health care, 

human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. Payroll and benefit costs associated with public 

employees who could have been furloughed or otherwise laid off but who were instead repurposed to 

perform previously unbudgeted functions substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency are also covered. Other eligible expenditures include payroll and 

benefit costs of educational support staff or faculty responsible for developing online learning capabilities 

necessary to continue educational instruction in response to COVID-19-related school closures.  Please 

see the Guidance for a discussion of what is meant by an expense that was not accounted for in the budget 

most recently approved as of March 27, 2020. 

 
In some cases, first responders and critical health care workers that contract COVID-19 are eligible 

for workers’ compensation coverage. Is the cost of this expanded workers compensation coverage 

eligible? 

Increased workers compensation cost to the government due to the COVID-19 public health emergency 

incurred during the period beginning March 1, 2020, and ending December 30, 2020, is an eligible 

expense. 

 
If a recipient would have decommissioned equipment or not renewed a lease on particular office space 

or equipment but decides to continue to use the equipment or to renew the lease in order to respond to 

the public health emergency, are the costs associated with continuing to operate the equipment or the 

ongoing lease payments eligible expenses? 

Yes. To the extent the expenses were previously unbudgeted and are otherwise consistent with section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance, such expenses would be eligible. 

 
May recipients provide stipends to employees for eligible expenses (for example, a stipend to employees 

to improve telework capabilities) rather than require employees to incur the eligible cost and submit for 

reimbursement? 

Expenditures paid for with payments from the Fund must be limited to those that are necessary due to the 

public health emergency. As such, unless the government were to determine that providing assistance in 

the form of a stipend is an administrative necessity, the government should provide such assistance on a 

reimbursement basis to ensure as much as possible that funds are used to cover only eligible expenses. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 4 

May Fund payments be used for COVID-19 public health emergency recovery planning? 

Yes. Expenses associated with conducting a recovery planning project or operating a recovery 

coordination office would be eligible, if the expenses otherwise meet the criteria set forth in section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. 

 
Are expenses associated with contact tracing eligible? 

Yes, expenses associated with contract tracing are eligible. 

 
To what extent may a government use Fund payments to support the operations of private hospitals? 

Governments may use Fund payments to support public or private hospitals to the extent that the costs are 

necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, but the form such 

assistance would take may differ.  In particular, financial assistance to private hospitals could take the 

form of a grant or a short-term loan. 

 
May payments from the Fund be used to assist individuals with enrolling in a government benefit 

program for those who have been laid off due to COVID-19 and thereby lost health insurance? 

Yes. To the extent that the relevant government official determines that these expenses are necessary and 

they meet the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the 

Guidance, these expenses are eligible. 

 
May recipients use Fund payments to facilitate livestock depopulation incurred by producers due to 

supply chain disruptions? 

Yes, to the extent these efforts are deemed necessary for public health reasons or as a form of economic 

support as a result of the COVID-19 health emergency. 

 
Would providing a consumer grant program to prevent eviction and assist in preventing homelessness 

be considered an eligible expense? 

Yes, assuming that the recipient considers the grants to be a necessary expense incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency and the grants meet the other requirements for the use of Fund 

payments under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. As a general matter, 

providing assistance to recipients to enable them to meet property tax requirements would not be an 

eligible use of funds, but exceptions may be made in the case of assistance designed to prevent 

foreclosures. 

 
May recipients create a “payroll support program” for public employees? 

Use of payments from the Fund to cover payroll or benefits expenses of public employees are limited to 

those employees whose work duties are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency. 

 
May recipients use Fund payments to cover employment and training programs for employees that 

have been furloughed due to the public health emergency? 

Yes, this would be an eligible expense if the government determined that the costs of such employment 

and training programs would be necessary due to the public health emergency. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 5 

May recipients use Fund payments to provide emergency financial assistance to individuals and 

families directly impacted by a loss of income due to the COVID-19 public health emergency? 

Yes, if a government determines such assistance to be a necessary expenditure. Such assistance could 

include, for example, a program to assist individuals with payment of overdue rent or mortgage payments 

to avoid eviction or foreclosure or unforeseen financial costs for funerals and other emergency individual 

needs.  Such assistance should be structured in a manner to ensure as much as possible, within the realm 

of what is administratively feasible, that such assistance is necessary. 

 
The Guidance provides that eligible expenditures may include expenditures related to the provision of 

grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures. 

What is meant by a “small business,” and is the Guidance intended to refer only to expenditures to 

cover administrative expenses of such a grant program? 

Governments have discretion to determine what payments are necessary. A program that is aimed at 

assisting small businesses with the costs of business interruption caused by required closures should be 

tailored to assist those businesses in need of such assistance. The amount of a grant to a small business to 

reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures would also be an eligible 

expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as outlined in the Guidance. 

 
The Guidance provides that expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection 

with the public health emergency, such as expenditures related to the provision of grants to small 

businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures, would 

constitute eligible expenditures of Fund payments. Would such expenditures be eligible in the absence 

of a stay-at-home order? 

Fund payments may be used for economic support in the absence of a stay-at-home order if such 

expenditures are determined by the government to be necessary. This may include, for example, a grant 

program to benefit small businesses that close voluntarily to promote social distancing measures or that 

are affected by decreased customer demand as a result of the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

 
May Fund payments be used to assist impacted property owners with the payment of their property 

taxes? 

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the provision of 

assistance to meet tax obligations. 

 
May Fund payments be used to replace foregone utility fees? If not, can Fund payments be used as a 

direct subsidy payment to all utility account holders? 

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the replacement of 

unpaid utility fees. Fund payments may be used for subsidy payments to electricity account holders to the 

extent that the subsidy payments are deemed by the recipient to be necessary expenditures incurred due to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency and meet the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance. For example, if determined to be a necessary expenditure, a 

government could provide grants to individuals facing economic hardship to allow them to pay their 

utility fees and thereby continue to receive essential services. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 6 

Could Fund payments be used for capital improvement projects that broadly provide potential 

economic development in a community? 

In general, no. If capital improvement projects are not necessary expenditures incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, then Fund payments may not be used for such projects. 

However, Fund payments may be used for the expenses of, for example, establishing temporary public 

medical facilities and other measures to increase COVID-19 treatment capacity or improve mitigation 

measures, including related construction costs. 

 
The Guidance includes workforce bonuses as an example of ineligible expenses but provides that 

hazard pay would be eligible if otherwise determined to be a necessary expense. Is there a specific 

definition of “hazard pay”? 

Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship, in 

each case that is related to COVID-19. 

 
The Guidance provides that ineligible expenditures include “[p]ayroll or benefits expenses for 

employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.”  Is this intended to relate only to public employees? 

Yes. This particular nonexclusive example of an ineligible expenditure relates to public employees. A 

recipient would not be permitted to pay for payroll or benefit expenses of private employees and any 

financial assistance (such as grants or short-term loans) to private employers are not subject to the 

restriction that the private employers’ employees must be substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

 
May counties pre-pay with CARES Act funds for expenses such as a one or two-year facility lease, 

such as to house staff hired in response to COVID-19? 

A government should not make prepayments on contracts using payments from the Fund to the extent that 

doing so would not be consistent with its ordinary course policies and procedures. 

 
Must a stay-at-home order or other public health mandate be in effect in order for a government to 

provide assistance to small businesses using payments from the Fund? 

No. The Guidance provides, as an example of an eligible use of payments from the Fund, expenditures 

related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption 

caused by required closures. Such assistance may be provided using amounts received from the Fund in 

the absence of a requirement to close businesses if the relevant government determines that such 

expenditures are necessary in response to the public health emergency. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 7 

Should States receiving a payment transfer funds to local governments that did not receive payments 

directly from Treasury? 

Yes, provided that the transferred funds are used by the local government for eligible expenditures under 

the statute. To facilitate prompt distribution of Title V funds, the CARES Act authorized Treasury to 

make direct payments to local governments with populations in excess of 500,000, in amounts equal to 

45% of the local government’s per capita share of the statewide allocation. This statutory structure was 

based on a recognition that it is more administratively feasible to rely on States, rather than the federal 

government, to manage the transfer of funds to smaller local governments. Consistent with the needs of 

all local governments for funding to address the public health emergency, States should transfer funds to 

local governments with populations of 500,000 or less, using as a benchmark the per capita allocation 

formula that governs payments to larger local governments. This approach will ensure equitable 

treatment among local governments of all sizes. 

For example, a State received the minimum $1.25 billion allocation and had one county with a population 

over 500,000 that received $250 million directly.  The State should distribute 45 percent of the $1 billion 

it received, or $450 million, to local governments within the State with a population of 500,000 or less. 

 
May a State impose restrictions on transfers of funds to local governments? 

Yes, to the extent that the restrictions facilitate the State’s compliance with the requirements set forth in 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance and other applicable requirements such 

as the Single Audit Act, discussed below.  Other restrictions are not permissible. 

 
If a recipient must issue tax anticipation notes (TANs) to make up for tax due date deferrals or revenue 

shortfalls, are the expenses associated with the issuance eligible uses of Fund payments? 

If a government determines that the issuance of TANs is necessary due to the COVID-19 public health 

emergency, the government may expend payments from the Fund on the interest expense payable on 

TANs by the borrower and unbudgeted administrative and transactional costs, such as necessary 

payments to advisors and underwriters, associated with the issuance of the TANs. 

 
May recipients use Fund payments to expand rural broadband capacity to assist with distance learning 

and telework? 

Such expenditures would only be permissible if they are necessary for the public health emergency. The 

cost of projects that would not be expected to increase capacity to a significant extent until the need for 

distance learning and telework have passed due to this public health emergency would not be necessary 

due to the public health emergency and thus would not be eligible uses of Fund payments. 

 
Are costs associated with increased solid waste capacity an eligible use of payments from the Fund? 

Yes, costs to address increase in solid waste as a result of the public health emergency, such as relates to 

the disposal of used personal protective equipment, would be an eligible expenditure. 

 
May payments from the Fund be used to cover across-the-board hazard pay for employees working 

during a state of emergency? 

No.  The Guidance says that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. Hazard pay is a form of payroll 

expense and is subject to this limitation, so Fund payments may only be used to cover hazard pay for such 

individuals. 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 8 

May Fund payments be used for expenditures related to the administration of Fund payments by a 

State, territorial, local, or Tribal government? 

Yes, if the administrative expenses represent an increase over previously budgeted amounts and are 

limited to what is necessary. For example, a State may expend Fund payments on necessary 

administrative expenses incurred with respect to a new grant program established to disburse amounts 

received from the Fund. 
 

May recipients use Fund payments to provide loans? 

Yes, if the loans otherwise qualify as eligible expenditures under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act 

as implemented by the Guidance. Any amounts repaid by the borrower before December 30, 2020, must 

be either returned to Treasury upon receipt by the unit of government providing the loan or used for 

another expense that qualifies as an eligible expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

Any amounts not repaid by the borrower until after December 30, 2020, must be returned to Treasury 

upon receipt by the unit of government lending the funds. 
 

May Fund payments be used for expenditures necessary to prepare for a future COVID-19 outbreak? 

Fund payments may be used only for expenditures necessary to address the current COVID-19 public 

health emergency. For example, a State may spend Fund payments to create a reserve of personal 

protective equipment or develop increased intensive care unit capacity to support regions in its 

jurisdiction not yet affected, but likely to be impacted by the current COVID-19 pandemic. 

May funds be used to satisfy non-federal matching requirements under the Stafford Act? 

Yes, payments from the Fund may be used to meet the non-federal matching requirements for Stafford 

Act assistance to the extent such matching requirements entail COVID-19-related costs that otherwise 

satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria and the Stafford Act. Regardless of the use of Fund payments for 

such purposes, FEMA funding is still dependent on FEMA’s determination of eligibility under the 

Stafford Act. 

Must a State, local, or tribal government require applications to be submitted by businesses or 

individuals before providing assistance using payments from the Fund? 

Governments have discretion to determine how to tailor assistance programs they establish in response to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency. However, such a program should be structured in such a manner 

as will ensure that such assistance is determined to be necessary in response to the COVID-19 public 

health emergency and otherwise satisfies the requirements of the CARES Act and other applicable law. 

For example, a per capita payment to residents of a particular jurisdiction without an assessment of 

individual need would not be an appropriate use of payments from the Fund. 

May Fund payments be provided to non-profits for distribution to individuals in need of financial 

assistance, such as rent relief? 

Yes, non-profits may be used to distribute assistance. Regardless of how the assistance is structured, the 

financial assistance provided would have to be related to COVID-19. 
 

May recipients use Fund payments to remarket the recipient’s convention facilities and tourism 

industry? 

Yes, if the costs of such remarketing satisfy the requirements of the CARES Act. Expenses incurred to 

publicize the resumption of activities and steps taken to ensure a safe experience may be needed due to 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 9 

the public health emergency. Expenses related to developing a long-term plan to reposition a recipient’s 

convention and tourism industry and infrastructure would not be incurred due to the public health 

emergency and therefore may not be covered using payments from the Fund. 

 
May a State provide assistance to farmers and meat processors to expand capacity, such to cover 

overtime for USDA meat inspectors? 

If a State determines that expanding meat processing capacity, including by paying overtime to USDA 

meat inspectors, is a necessary expense incurred due to the public health emergency, such as if increased 

capacity is necessary to allow farmers and processors to donate meat to food banks, then such expenses 

are eligible expenses, provided that the expenses satisfy the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) 

of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. 

The guidance provides that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated 

to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. May Fund payments be used to 

cover such an employee’s entire payroll cost or just the portion of time spent on mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency? 

As a matter of administrative convenience, the entire payroll cost of an employee whose time is 

substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency is eligible, 

provided that such payroll costs are incurred by December 30, 2020. An employer may also track time 

spent by employees related to COVID-19 and apply Fund payments on that basis but would need to do so 

consistently within the relevant agency or department. 

May Fund payments be used to cover increased administrative leave costs of public employees who 

could not telework in the event of a stay at home order or a case of COVID-19 in the workplace? 

The statute requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the budget 

most recently approved as of March 27, 2020. As stated in the Guidance, a cost meets this requirement if 

either (a) the cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget 

or (b) the cost is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, 

allotment, or allocation.  If the cost of an employee was allocated to administrative leave to a greater 

extent than was expected, the cost of such administrative leave may be covered using payments from the 

Fund. 

 

 

Questions Related to Administration of Fund Payments 

 
Do governments have to return unspent funds to Treasury? 

Yes. Section 601(f)(2) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001(a) of the CARES Act, 

provides for recoupment by the Department of the Treasury of amounts received from the Fund that have 

not been used in a manner consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. If a government has 

not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by December 30, 2020, as required by the 

statute, those funds must be returned to the Department of the Treasury. 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 10 

What records must be kept by governments receiving payment? 

A government should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the amount of Fund payments to the 

government has been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 
 

May recipients deposit Fund payments into interest bearing accounts? 

Yes, provided that if recipients separately invest amounts received from the Fund, they must use the 

interest earned or other proceeds of these investments only to cover expenditures incurred in accordance 

with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act and the Guidance on eligible expenses. If a government 

deposits Fund payments in a government’s general account, it may use those funds to meet immediate 

cash management needs provided that the full amount of the payment is used to cover necessary 

expenditures. Fund payments are not subject to the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as 

amended. 
 

May governments retain assets purchased with payments from the Fund? 

Yes, if the purchase of the asset was consistent with the limitations on the eligible use of funds provided 

by section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 
 

What rules apply to the proceeds of disposition or sale of assets acquired using payments from the 

Fund? 

If such assets are disposed of prior to December 30, 2020, the proceeds would be subject to the 

restrictions on the eligible use of payments from the Fund provided by section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act. 
 

Are Fund payments to State, territorial, local, and tribal governments considered grants? 

No. Fund payments made by Treasury to State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments are not 

considered to be grants but are “other financial assistance” under 2 C.F.R. § 200.40. 
 

Are Fund payments considered federal financial assistance for purposes of the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, Fund payments are considered to be federal financial assistance subject to the Single Audit Act (31 

U.S.C. §§ 7501-7507) and the related provisions of the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding 

internal controls, §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient monitoring and management, and 

subpart F regarding audit requirements. 
 

Are Fund payments subject to other requirements of the Uniform Guidance? 

Fund payments are subject to the following requirements in the Uniform Guidance (2 C.F.R. Part 200): 2 

C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding internal controls, 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient 

monitoring and management, and subpart F regarding audit requirements. 
 

Is there a Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number assigned to the Fund? 

Yes. The CFDA number assigned to the Fund is 21.019. 
 

If a State transfers Fund payments to its political subdivisions, would the transferred funds count 

toward the subrecipients’ total funding received from the federal government for purposes of the 

Single Audit Act? 

Yes.  The Fund payments to subrecipients would count toward the threshold of the Single Audit Act and 2 

C.F.R. part 200, subpart F re: audit requirements.  Subrecipients are subject to a single audit or program- 

 



Appendix C: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions 

 

    11 

 

specific audit pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.501(a) when the subrecipients spend $750,000 or more in 

federal awards during their fiscal year. 

 
Are recipients permitted to use payments from the Fund to cover the expenses of an audit 

conducted under the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, such expenses would be eligible expenditures, subject to the limitations set forth in 2 

C.F.R. § 200.425. 

 
If a government has transferred funds to another entity, from which entity would the Treasury 

Department seek to recoup the funds if they have not been used in a manner consistent with 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act? 

 
The Treasury Department would seek to recoup the funds from the government that received the 

payment directly from the Treasury Department. State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments 

receiving funds from Treasury should ensure that funds transferred to other entities, whether pursuant to 

a grant program or otherwise, are used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act as 

implemented in the Guidance. 

 



 

 

Appendix D – Local Certification    1 

 

Appendix D: Certification for Use of Coronavirus 

Relief Fund 

Note: Provided for reference only - download a fillable .pdf copy of this form from the Secretary 

of Finance’s Website under “Recent News” at: http://finance.virginia.gov/  

CERTIFICATION for RECEIPT of  

CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND PAYMENTS  

by 

[INSERT NAME OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT] 

 

We the undersigned represent [insert name of local government] (the locality), and we certify that: 

1. we have the authority to request direct payment on behalf of the locality from the Commonwealth 

of Virginia of revenues from the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) pursuant to section 601(b) of the 

Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 

Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, div. A, Title V (Mar. 27, 2020). 

2. we understand that the Commonwealth of Virginia will rely on this certification as a material 

representation in making a direct payment to the locality.  

3. the locality 's proposed uses of the funds received as direct payment from the Commonwealth of 

Virginia under section 601(b) of the Social Security Act will be used only to cover those costs 

that: 

a. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the 

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19); 

b. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020, for the 

locality; and 

c. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 

2020. 

4. any funds that are not expended or that will not be expended on necessary expenditures on or 

before December 30, 2020, by the locality or its grantee(s), must be returned to Commonwealth 

of Virginia no later than December 30, 2020, and that the Commonwealth of Virginia is entitled 

to invoke state aid intercept to recover any such unexpended funds that have not been returned to 

the Commonwealth within 30 days of December 30, 2020. 

5. we understand that the locality will not receive continued funding beyond December 30, 2020, 

from any source to continue paying expenses or providing services that were initiated or 

previously supported from CRF funds prior to December 30, 2020.  

6. funds received as a direct payment from the Commonwealth of Virginia pursuant to this 

certification must adhere to official federal guidance issued or to be issued regarding what 

constitutes a necessary expenditure.  

7. any CRF funds expended by the locality or its grantee(s) in any manner that does not adhere to 

official federal guidance shall be returned to the Commonwealth of Virginia within 30 days of a 

finding that the expenditure is disallowed, and that the Commonwealth of Virginia is entitled to 

http://finance.virginia.gov/


 

 

Appendix D – Local Certification    2 

 

invoke state aid intercept to recover any and all such funds that are not repaid within 30 days of a 

finding that the expenditure is disallowed.  

8. as a condition of receiving the CRF funds pursuant to this certification, the locality shall retain 

documentation of all uses of the funds, including but not limited to payroll time records, invoices, 

and/or sales receipts. Such documentation shall be produced to the Commonwealth of Virginia 

upon request.  

9. the locality must maintain proper accounting records to segregate these expenditures from those 

supported by other fund sources and that all such records will be subject to audit. 

10. any funds provided pursuant to this certification cannot be used as a revenue replacement for 

lower than expected revenue collections from taxes, fees, or any other revenue source.  

11. any CRF funds received pursuant to this certification will not be used for expenditures for which 

the locality has received funds from any other emergency COVID-19 supplemental funding 

(whether state, federal, or private in nature) for that same expense nor may CRF funds be used for 

purposes of matching other federal funds unless specifically authorized by federal statute, 

regulation, or guideline. 

For counties only 

12. an equitable share of CRF funds received pursuant to this certification shall be shared with and 

granted to each town within its jurisdiction. Such grant(s) shall be used solely for necessary 

expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus Disease 

2019 (COVID-19), that were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 

27, 2020, and that were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on 

December 30, 2020. The county issuing the grant is responsible for the ensuring compliance with 

the documentation requirements required by this certification and shall ensure that the use of the 

funds meets the requirements set forth in this certification.  

We certify that we have read the above certification and our statements contained herein are true and 

correct to the best of our knowledge. 

By:  

_________________________ 

By:  

_________________________ 

By:  

_________________________ 

Signature:  

_________________________ 

Signature:  

_________________________ 

Signature:  

_________________________ 

Title:  

_________________________ 

Title:  

_________________________ 

Title:  

_________________________ 

Date:  

_________________________ 

Date:  

_________________________ 

Date:  

_________________________ 

 



1 

 

Coronavirus Relief Fund  

Frequently Asked Questions 

Updated as of July 8, 2020 

The following answers to frequently asked questions supplement Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund 

(“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments, dated April 22, 2020, 

(“Guidance”).1 Amounts paid from the Fund are subject to the restrictions outlined in the Guidance and 

set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, 

Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). 

Eligible Expenditures 

Are governments required to submit proposed expenditures to Treasury for approval?  

No.  Governments are responsible for making determinations as to what expenditures are necessary due to 

the public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 and do not need to submit any proposed 

expenditures to Treasury.   

The Guidance says that funding can be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public health, 

health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  How does a government 

determine whether payroll expenses for a given employee satisfy the “substantially dedicated” 

condition? 

The Fund is designed to provide ready funding to address unforeseen financial needs and risks created by 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.  For this reason, and as a matter of administrative convenience 

in light of the emergency nature of this program, a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government may 

presume that payroll costs for public health and public safety employees are payments for services 

substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency, unless the 

chief executive (or equivalent) of the relevant government determines that specific circumstances indicate 

otherwise. 

The Guidance says that a cost was not accounted for in the most recently approved budget if the cost is 

for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 

allocation.  What would qualify as a “substantially different use” for purposes of the Fund eligibility? 

Costs incurred for a “substantially different use” include, but are not necessarily limited to, costs of 

personnel and services that were budgeted for in the most recently approved budget but which, due 

entirely to the COVID-19 public health emergency, have been diverted to substantially different 

functions.  This would include, for example, the costs of redeploying corrections facility staff to enable 

compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions through work such as enhanced sanitation or 

enforcing social distancing measures; the costs of redeploying police to support management and 

enforcement of stay-at-home orders; or the costs of diverting educational support staff or faculty to 

develop online learning capabilities, such as through providing information technology support that is not 

part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary responsibilities.   

Note that a public function does not become a “substantially different use” merely because it is provided 

from a different location or through a different manner.  For example, although developing online 

instruction capabilities may be a substantially different use of funds, online instruction itself is not a 

substantially different use of public funds than classroom instruction. 

                                                           
1 The Guidance is available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-

State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf. 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



2 

 

May a State receiving a payment transfer funds to a local government? 

Yes, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health 

emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  Such funds would be 

subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner consistent with 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.   

May a unit of local government receiving a Fund payment transfer funds to another unit of 

government?     

Yes.  For example, a county may transfer funds to a city, town, or school district within the county and a 

county or city may transfer funds to its State, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary 

expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of 

the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, a transfer from a county to a constituent 

city would not be permissible if the funds were intended to be used simply to fill shortfalls in government 

revenue to cover expenditures that would not otherwise qualify as an eligible expenditure. 

Is a Fund payment recipient required to transfer funds to a smaller, constituent unit of government 

within its borders?     

No.  For example, a county recipient is not required to transfer funds to smaller cities within the county’s 

borders.   

Are recipients required to use other federal funds or seek reimbursement under other federal programs 

before using Fund payments to satisfy eligible expenses?   

No.  Recipients may use Fund payments for any expenses eligible under section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  Fund payments are not required to be used as the source of 

funding of last resort.  However, as noted below, recipients may not use payments from the Fund to cover 

expenditures for which they will receive reimbursement.   

Are there prohibitions on combining a transaction supported with Fund payments with other CARES 

Act funding or COVID-19 relief Federal funding? 

Recipients will need to consider the applicable restrictions and limitations of such other sources of 

funding.  In addition, expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as 

the reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States to 

State unemployment funds, are not eligible uses of Fund payments.   

Are States permitted to use Fund payments to support state unemployment insurance funds generally?  

To the extent that the costs incurred by a state unemployment insurance fund are incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, a State may use Fund payments to make payments to its respective 

state unemployment insurance fund, separate and apart from such State’s obligation to the unemployment 

insurance fund as an employer.  This will permit States to use Fund payments to prevent expenses related 

to the public health emergency from causing their state unemployment insurance funds to become 

insolvent.   



3 

 

Are recipients permitted to use Fund payments to pay for unemployment insurance costs incurred by 

the recipient as an employer?  

Yes, Fund payments may be used for unemployment insurance costs incurred by the recipient as an 

employer (for example, as a reimbursing employer) related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if 

such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or otherwise.  

The Guidance states that the Fund may support a “broad range of uses” including payroll expenses for 

several classes of employees whose services are “substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.”  What are some examples of types of covered employees?  

The Guidance provides examples of broad classes of employees whose payroll expenses would be eligible 

expenses under the Fund.  These classes of employees include public safety, public health, health care, 

human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  Payroll and benefit costs associated with public 

employees who could have been furloughed or otherwise laid off but who were instead repurposed to 

perform previously unbudgeted functions substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency are also covered.  Other eligible expenditures include payroll and 

benefit costs of educational support staff or faculty responsible for developing online learning capabilities 

necessary to continue educational instruction in response to COVID-19-related school closures.  Please 

see the Guidance for a discussion of what is meant by an expense that was not accounted for in the budget 

most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.   

In some cases, first responders and critical health care workers that contract COVID-19 are eligible 

for workers’ compensation coverage.  Is the cost of this expanded workers compensation coverage 

eligible? 

Increased workers compensation cost to the government due to the COVID-19 public health emergency 

incurred during the period beginning March 1, 2020, and ending December 30, 2020, is an eligible 

expense. 

If a recipient would have decommissioned equipment or not renewed a lease on particular office space 

or equipment but decides to continue to use the equipment or to renew the lease in order to respond to 

the public health emergency, are the costs associated with continuing to operate the equipment or the 

ongoing lease payments eligible expenses? 

Yes.  To the extent the expenses were previously unbudgeted and are otherwise consistent with section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance, such expenses would be eligible. 

May recipients provide stipends to employees for eligible expenses (for example, a stipend to employees 

to improve telework capabilities) rather than require employees to incur the eligible cost and submit for 

reimbursement? 

Expenditures paid for with payments from the Fund must be limited to those that are necessary due to the 

public health emergency.  As such, unless the government were to determine that providing assistance in 

the form of a stipend is an administrative necessity, the government should provide such assistance on a 

reimbursement basis to ensure as much as possible that funds are used to cover only eligible expenses.    



4 

 

May Fund payments be used for COVID-19 public health emergency recovery planning? 

Yes.  Expenses associated with conducting a recovery planning project or operating a recovery 

coordination office would be eligible, if the expenses otherwise meet the criteria set forth in section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. 

Are expenses associated with contact tracing eligible? 

Yes, expenses associated with contract tracing are eligible. 

To what extent may a government use Fund payments to support the operations of private hospitals? 

Governments may use Fund payments to support public or private hospitals to the extent that the costs are 

necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, but the form such 

assistance would take may differ.  In particular, financial assistance to private hospitals could take the 

form of a grant or a short-term loan. 

May payments from the Fund be used to assist individuals with enrolling in a government benefit 

program for those who have been laid off due to COVID-19 and thereby lost health insurance? 

Yes.  To the extent that the relevant government official determines that these expenses are necessary and 

they meet the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the 

Guidance, these expenses are eligible. 

May recipients use Fund payments to facilitate livestock depopulation incurred by producers due to 

supply chain disruptions? 

Yes, to the extent these efforts are deemed necessary for public health reasons or as a form of economic 

support as a result of the COVID-19 health emergency. 

Would providing a consumer grant program to prevent eviction and assist in preventing homelessness 

be considered an eligible expense? 

Yes, assuming that the recipient considers the grants to be a necessary expense incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency and the grants meet the other requirements for the use of Fund 

payments under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  As a general matter, 

providing assistance to recipients to enable them to meet property tax requirements would not be an 

eligible use of funds, but exceptions may be made in the case of assistance designed to prevent 

foreclosures. 

May recipients create a “payroll support program” for public employees? 

Use of payments from the Fund to cover payroll or benefits expenses of public employees are limited to 

those employees whose work duties are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.   

May recipients use Fund payments to cover employment and training programs for employees that 

have been furloughed due to the public health emergency?  

Yes, this would be an eligible expense if the government determined that the costs of such employment 

and training programs would be necessary due to the public health emergency. 



5 

 

May recipients use Fund payments to provide emergency financial assistance to individuals and 

families directly impacted by a loss of income due to the COVID-19 public health emergency?   

Yes, if a government determines such assistance to be a necessary expenditure.  Such assistance could 

include, for example, a program to assist individuals with payment of overdue rent or mortgage payments 

to avoid eviction or foreclosure or unforeseen financial costs for funerals and other emergency individual 

needs.  Such assistance should be structured in a manner to ensure as much as possible, within the realm 

of what is administratively feasible, that such assistance is necessary. 

The Guidance provides that eligible expenditures may include expenditures related to the provision of 

grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures.  

What is meant by a “small business,” and is the Guidance intended to refer only to expenditures to 

cover administrative expenses of such a grant program? 

Governments have discretion to determine what payments are necessary.  A program that is aimed at 

assisting small businesses with the costs of business interruption caused by required closures should be 

tailored to assist those businesses in need of such assistance.  The amount of a grant to a small business to 

reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures would also be an eligible 

expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as outlined in the Guidance.   

The Guidance provides that expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection 

with the public health emergency, such as expenditures related to the provision of grants to small 

businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures, would 

constitute eligible expenditures of Fund payments.  Would such expenditures be eligible in the absence 

of a stay-at-home order?  

Fund payments may be used for economic support in the absence of a stay-at-home order if such 

expenditures are determined by the government to be necessary.  This may include, for example, a grant 

program to benefit small businesses that close voluntarily to promote social distancing measures or that 

are affected by decreased customer demand as a result of the COVID-19 public health emergency.   

May Fund payments be used to assist impacted property owners with the payment of their property 

taxes? 

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the provision of 

assistance to meet tax obligations.    

May Fund payments be used to replace foregone utility fees?  If not, can Fund payments be used as a 

direct subsidy payment to all utility account holders?  

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the replacement of 

unpaid utility fees.  Fund payments may be used for subsidy payments to electricity account holders to the 

extent that the subsidy payments are deemed by the recipient to be necessary expenditures incurred due to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency and meet the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, if determined to be a necessary expenditure, a 

government could provide grants to individuals facing economic hardship to allow them to pay their 

utility fees and thereby continue to receive essential services.   



6 

 

Could Fund payments be used for capital improvement projects that broadly provide potential 

economic development in a community?  

In general, no.  If capital improvement projects are not necessary expenditures incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, then Fund payments may not be used for such projects. 

However, Fund payments may be used for the expenses of, for example, establishing temporary public 

medical facilities and other measures to increase COVID-19 treatment capacity or improve mitigation 

measures, including related construction costs. 

The Guidance includes workforce bonuses as an example of ineligible expenses but provides that 

hazard pay would be eligible if otherwise determined to be a necessary expense.  Is there a specific 

definition of “hazard pay”? 

Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship, in 

each case that is related to COVID-19.  

The Guidance provides that ineligible expenditures include “[p]ayroll or benefits expenses for 

employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.”  Is this intended to relate only to public employees? 

Yes.  This particular nonexclusive example of an ineligible expenditure relates to public employees.  A 

recipient would not be permitted to pay for payroll or benefit expenses of private employees and any 

financial assistance (such as grants or short-term loans) to private employers are not subject to the 

restriction that the private employers’ employees must be substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

May counties pre-pay with CARES Act funds for expenses such as a one or two-year facility lease, 

such as to house staff hired in response to COVID-19? 

A government should not make prepayments on contracts using payments from the Fund to the extent that 

doing so would not be consistent with its ordinary course policies and procedures.   

Must a stay-at-home order or other public health mandate be in effect in order for a government to 

provide assistance to small businesses using payments from the Fund? 

No. The Guidance provides, as an example of an eligible use of payments from the Fund, expenditures 

related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption 

caused by required closures.  Such assistance may be provided using amounts received from the Fund in 

the absence of a requirement to close businesses if the relevant government determines that such 

expenditures are necessary in response to the public health emergency.   



7 

 

Should States receiving a payment transfer funds to local governments that did not receive payments 

directly from Treasury? 

Yes, provided that the transferred funds are used by the local government for eligible expenditures under 

the statute.  To facilitate prompt distribution of Title V funds, the CARES Act authorized Treasury to 

make direct payments to local governments with populations in excess of 500,000, in amounts equal to 

45% of the local government’s per capita share of the statewide allocation.  This statutory structure was 

based on a recognition that it is more administratively feasible to rely on States, rather than the federal 

government, to manage the transfer of funds to smaller local governments.  Consistent with the needs of 

all local governments for funding to address the public health emergency, States should transfer funds to 

local governments with populations of 500,000 or less, using as a benchmark the per capita allocation 

formula that governs payments to larger local governments.  This approach will ensure equitable 

treatment among local governments of all sizes. 

For example, a State received the minimum $1.25 billion allocation and had one county with a population 

over 500,000 that received $250 million directly.  The State should distribute 45 percent of the $1 billion 

it received, or $450 million, to local governments within the State with a population of 500,000 or less.   

May a State impose restrictions on transfers of funds to local governments?  

Yes, to the extent that the restrictions facilitate the State’s compliance with the requirements set forth in 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance and other applicable requirements such 

as the Single Audit Act, discussed below.  Other restrictions are not permissible. 

If a recipient must issue tax anticipation notes (TANs) to make up for tax due date deferrals or revenue 

shortfalls, are the expenses associated with the issuance eligible uses of Fund payments? 

If a government determines that the issuance of TANs is necessary due to the COVID-19 public health 

emergency, the government may expend payments from the Fund on the interest expense payable on 

TANs by the borrower and unbudgeted administrative and transactional costs, such as necessary 

payments to advisors and underwriters, associated with the issuance of the TANs. 

May recipients use Fund payments to expand rural broadband capacity to assist with distance learning 

and telework? 

Such expenditures would only be permissible if they are necessary for the public health emergency.  The 

cost of projects that would not be expected to increase capacity to a significant extent until the need for 

distance learning and telework have passed due to this public health emergency would not be necessary 

due to the public health emergency and thus would not be eligible uses of Fund payments.   

Are costs associated with increased solid waste capacity an eligible use of payments from the Fund? 

Yes, costs to address increase in solid waste as a result of the public health emergency, such as relates to 

the disposal of used personal protective equipment, would be an eligible expenditure. 

May payments from the Fund be used to cover across-the-board hazard pay for employees working 

during a state of emergency?   

No.  The Guidance says that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  Hazard pay is a form of payroll 

expense and is subject to this limitation, so Fund payments may only be used to cover hazard pay for such 

individuals.     

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



8 

 

May Fund payments be used for expenditures related to the administration of Fund payments by a 

State, territorial, local, or Tribal government?    

Yes, if the administrative expenses represent an increase over previously budgeted amounts and are 

limited to what is necessary.  For example, a State may expend Fund payments on necessary 

administrative expenses incurred with respect to a new grant program established to disburse amounts 

received from the Fund.    

May recipients use Fund payments to provide loans? 

Yes, if the loans otherwise qualify as eligible expenditures under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act 

as implemented by the Guidance.  Any amounts repaid by the borrower before December 30, 2020, must 

be either returned to Treasury upon receipt by the unit of government providing the loan or used for 

another expense that qualifies as an eligible expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  

Any amounts not repaid by the borrower until after December 30, 2020, must be returned to Treasury 

upon receipt by the unit of government lending the funds. 

May Fund payments be used for expenditures necessary to prepare for a future COVID-19 outbreak?  

Fund payments may be used only for expenditures necessary to address the current COVID-19 public 

health emergency.  For example, a State may spend Fund payments to create a reserve of personal 

protective equipment or develop increased intensive care unit capacity to support regions in its 

jurisdiction not yet affected, but likely to be impacted by the current COVID-19 pandemic. 

May funds be used to satisfy non-federal matching requirements under the Stafford Act? 

Yes, payments from the Fund may be used to meet the non-federal matching requirements for Stafford 

Act assistance to the extent such matching requirements entail COVID-19-related costs that otherwise 

satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria and the Stafford Act.  Regardless of the use of Fund payments for 

such purposes, FEMA funding is still dependent on FEMA’s determination of eligibility under the 

Stafford Act. 

Must a State, local, or tribal government require applications to be submitted by businesses or 

individuals before providing assistance using payments from the Fund? 

Governments have discretion to determine how to tailor assistance programs they establish in response to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.  However, such a program should be structured in such a manner 

as will ensure that such assistance is determined to be necessary in response to the COVID-19 public 

health emergency and otherwise satisfies the requirements of the CARES Act and other applicable law.  

For example, a per capita payment to residents of a particular jurisdiction without an assessment of 

individual need would not be an appropriate use of payments from the Fund.   

May Fund payments be provided to non-profits for distribution to individuals in need of financial 

assistance, such as rent relief?  

 

Yes, non-profits may be used to distribute assistance.  Regardless of how the assistance is structured, the 

financial assistance provided would have to be related to COVID-19.   

 

May recipients use Fund payments to remarket the recipient’s convention facilities and tourism 

industry? 

 

Yes, if the costs of such remarketing satisfy the requirements of the CARES Act.  Expenses incurred to 

publicize the resumption of activities and steps taken to ensure a safe experience may be needed due to 



9 

 

the public health emergency.  Expenses related to developing a long-term plan to reposition a recipient’s 

convention and tourism industry and infrastructure would not be incurred due to the public health 

emergency and therefore may not be covered using payments from the Fund.   

 

May a State provide assistance to farmers and meat processors to expand capacity, such to cover 

overtime for USDA meat inspectors? 

If a State determines that expanding meat processing capacity, including by paying overtime to USDA 

meat inspectors, is a necessary expense incurred due to the public health emergency, such as if increased 

capacity is necessary to allow farmers and processors to donate meat to food banks, then such expenses 

are eligible expenses, provided that the expenses satisfy the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) 

of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  

The guidance provides that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated 

to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  May Fund payments be used to 

cover such an employee’s entire payroll cost or just the portion of time spent on mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency?   

As a matter of administrative convenience, the entire payroll cost of an employee whose time is 

substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency is eligible, 

provided that such payroll costs are incurred by December 30, 2020.  An employer may also track time 

spent by employees related to COVID-19 and apply Fund payments on that basis but would need to do so 

consistently within the relevant agency or department. 

May Fund payments be used to cover increased administrative leave costs of public employees 

who could not telework in the event of a stay at home order or a case of COVID-19 in the 

workplace? 

The statute requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the 

budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.  As stated in the Guidance, a cost meets 

this requirement if either (a) the cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or 

allocation within that budget or (b) the cost is for a substantially different use from any expected 

use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or allocation.  If the cost of an employee was 

allocated to administrative leave to a greater extent than was expected, the cost of such 

administrative leave may be covered using payments from the Fund.   

 

Questions Related to Administration of Fund Payments   

Do governments have to return unspent funds to Treasury? 

Yes. Section 601(f)(2) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001(a) of the CARES Act, 

provides for recoupment by the Department of the Treasury of amounts received from the Fund that have 

not been used in a manner consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. If a government has 

not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by December 30, 2020, as required by the 

statute, those funds must be returned to the Department of the Treasury. 

What records must be kept by governments receiving payment? 



10 

 

A government should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the amount of Fund payments to the 

government has been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

May recipients deposit Fund payments into interest bearing accounts?   

Yes, provided that if recipients separately invest amounts received from the Fund, they must use the 

interest earned or other proceeds of these investments only to cover expenditures incurred in accordance 

with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act and the Guidance on eligible expenses.  If a government 

deposits Fund payments in a government’s general account, it may use those funds to meet immediate 

cash management needs provided that the full amount of the payment is used to cover necessary 

expenditures.  Fund payments are not subject to the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as 

amended. 

May governments retain assets purchased with payments from the Fund? 

Yes, if the purchase of the asset was consistent with the limitations on the eligible use of funds provided 

by section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  

What rules apply to the proceeds of disposition or sale of assets acquired using payments from the 

Fund? 

If such assets are disposed of prior to December 30, 2020, the proceeds would be subject to the 

restrictions on the eligible use of payments from the Fund provided by section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act. 

Are Fund payments to State, territorial, local, and tribal governments considered grants?    

No.  Fund payments made by Treasury to State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments are not 

considered to be grants but are “other financial assistance” under 2 C.F.R. § 200.40.  

Are Fund payments considered federal financial assistance for purposes of the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, Fund payments are considered to be federal financial assistance subject to the Single Audit Act (31 

U.S.C. §§ 7501-7507) and the related provisions of the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding 

internal controls, §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient monitoring and management, and 

subpart F regarding audit requirements. 

Are Fund payments subject to other requirements of the Uniform Guidance? 

Fund payments are subject to the following requirements in the Uniform Guidance (2 C.F.R. Part 200): 2 

C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding internal controls, 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient 

monitoring and management, and subpart F regarding audit requirements. 

Is there a Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number assigned to the Fund? 

Yes. The CFDA number assigned to the Fund is 21.019.  

If a State transfers Fund payments to its political subdivisions, would the transferred funds count 

toward the subrecipients’ total funding received from the federal government for purposes of the 

Single Audit Act? 

Yes.  The Fund payments to subrecipients would count toward the threshold of the Single Audit Act and 2 

C.F.R. part 200, subpart F re: audit requirements.  Subrecipients are subject to a single audit or program-



11 

 

specific audit pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.501(a) when the subrecipients spend $750,000 or more in federal 

awards during their fiscal year. 

Are recipients permitted to use payments from the Fund to cover the expenses of an audit conducted 

under the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, such expenses would be eligible expenditures, subject to the limitations set forth in 2 C.F.R. § 

200.425. 

If a government has transferred funds to another entity, from which entity would the Treasury 

Department seek to recoup the funds if they have not been used in a manner consistent with section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act? 

The Treasury Department would seek to recoup the funds from the government that received the payment 

directly from the Treasury Department.  State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments receiving funds 

from Treasury should ensure that funds transferred to other entities, whether pursuant to a grant program 

or otherwise, are used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act as implemented in the 

Guidance. 

 

 







RUSSELL COUNTY                                                                                                                                             
"CARES" FUND ACCOUNT                                                                                                                                           

MARCH 1, 2020 - DECMEMBER 31, 2020                                                                                                 
Compiled:  July 20, 2020

 

RUSSELL COUNTY "CARES" RELIEF FUND TOTAL:  $2,319,526 

Town's CARES Fund (Transferred to Towns)  
Town of Lebanon $266,514
Town of Honaker $120,847
Town of Cleveland $17,615
Town of Saint Paul $15,077
Town's CARES Fund Totals $420,053

County Operational Expenses  
Medical and Protective Supplies (masks, hand sanitizer stations & refills, and gloves, etc.) $29,774
Payroll for Public Personnel (Public personnel dedicatedto Covid-19 responses - EMS, Sheriffs Office, 911 Staff, County Staff, 
Disposal Staff, Janitorial Staff, etc.) $532,482
Voter Registrar's Office (processing absentee ballots) $0
Health & Human Services $0
COVID-related Expenditures $0
Operational Expenses Totals $562,256

Public Facility Safety Modifications  
Cleaning Supplies & Services  (Hiring part-time staff; sanitizing meeting rooms, courts, and government facilities) $31,258
New Medical/Emergency Response  Equipment $0
Decontamination Equipment $0
Safety Modifications to Public Buildings (Touchless Entry Systems, Plexiglass Screening, Air Filters, etc.) $6,086
Public Facility Safety Modifications Totals $37,344

Business Support & Recovery  
Small Business Grant Program $0
PPE Kits for Businesses $0
Creation of Safe Public Spaces $0
Business Support & Recovery Totals $0



Community Assistance Programs  
Nonprofit Support  & Community Partnerships $0
Housing/ Homelessness $0
Volunteer Fire and Rescue $45,000
Community Assistance Programs Totals $45,000

School System Response & Adaptation School Board Managed

Technology & Telework  
Telework Equipment (remote meeting equipment, laptops, etc.) $31,316
Upgrade Financial Software (online bill paying) $0
WIFI Upgrade $0
Techology & Telwork Totals $31,316

Other Covid-19 Related Expenses  
Local match on COVID expenditures $0
Regional Jail Expenses $0
Legal  Expenses $0
Secure a Line of Credit $0
Other Covid-19 Related Expenses Totals $0

Broadband Projects  
Extend Hot Spots $4,256
Broadband Projects Totals $4,256

CARES Funds as Grant Match  
Plan to use CARES Funds to Leverage other Grant Programs $0
CARES Funds as Grant Match Totals $0

CARES Fund Account  

Total CARES Expenditures To-Date (7/20/2020) $1,100,225

CARES Fund Balance:  (7/20/2020) $1,219,301



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Oris Christian   Carl Rhea 
At-Large  District 3  
 
Tim Lovelace  Rebecca Dye, Chairperson David Eaton 
District 1 District 6 District 4 
  
Lou Ann Wallace Steve Breeding, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 2 District 5 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

 

    

    

    

  
 

Resolution of Support 
Virginia Smart Scale Project 

Applications for the                         
County of Russell, Virginia 

WHEREAS, a comprehensive, cooperative, and continuing planning process is to be 
carried out in Russell County Virginia; and 

WHEREAS, Virginia Smart Scale established a prioritization and scoring process to 
evaluate projects for funding and project selection by the Commonwealth 
Transportation Board; and 

WHEREAS, Applications for the Virginia Smart Scale process are due August 17,  
2020; and 

WHEREAS, Counties are eligible to submit projects on Corridors of Statewide 
Significance with a resolution of support from the Russell County Board of 
Supervisors; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Russell County Board of Supervisors as 
follows: 

That the U.S. Route 19 EB Super Elevation Improvements Project in the 
County of Russell, Virginia, is fully supported and endorsed by the 
Russell County Board of Supervisors for the Smart Scale application 
and funding process. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a Resolution of Support for Virginia Smart Scale 
Project Applications for the County of Russell, Virginia is hereby approved. 

RESOLVED this 3rd day of August 2020, by the following vote: 
Recorded Vote: 
Moved By:        _______________ 
Seconded By:  _______________                              _____________________ 
Yeas:  _____      Rebecca Dye, Chairperson 
Nays:  _____       County of Russell Virginia  

 
 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Project :
UPC:
Date:
Estimator:

For Recent Bid History Click Link

 FOR USE IN PRE-SCOPING AND SCOPING CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATES

ITEM Unit Quantity Unit Price Amount
MOBILIZATION LS 1 $113,136 $113,136
CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1 $25,000 $25,000

CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 2 $20,000 $39,669
REGULAR EXCAVATION CY 32444 $17 $551,556
BORROW EXCAVATION CY 0 $15 $0
UNSUITABLE MAT'l. (paid as Regular Excav.) CY 1185 $17 $20,148
BACKFILL STONE (NO. 1) FOR UNSUITABLE MATL. AREAS TONS 2400 $20 $48,000
DRY RIPRAP TONS 0 $40 $0
Sub-Total $659,373
Grading Items Contingency - $98,906

CONCRETE BOX CULVERT LF 0 $2,500 $0
PIPES UNDER 36" LF 300 $125 $37,500
PIPES OVER 36" LF 0 $250 $0
END WALLS FOR PIPES OVER 36" EA 0 $300 $0
DROP INLETS EA 1 $1,000 $1,000
CURB AND GUTTER LF 0 $35 $0
Sub-Total $38,500
Drainage Items Contingency - $1,925

SURFACE COURSE TONS 548 $110 $60,231
INTERMEDIATE COURSE TONS 859 $100 $85,867
BASE COURSE TONS 1717 $90 $154,560
SUBBASE COURSE TONS 4049 $20 $80,984
No.1 STONE TONS 2880 $25 $72,000
DEMOLITON OF PAVEMENT SY 0 $10 $0
PLANNING 0"- 2" FOR OVERLAY SECTION SY 0 $2 $0
Sub-Total $453,642
Pavement Items Contingency - $22,682

RETAINING WALLS (CONC.) CY 0 $400 $0
RURAL PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 4 $2,000 $8,000
URBAN PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $5,000 $0
COMMERCIAL ENTRANCE EA 0 $10,000 $0
Sub-Total $8,000
Incidental Items Contingency - $400

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC (LUMP SUM) LS 1 $300,000 $300,000
FIELD OFFICE MO 0 $2,000 $0
SIDEWALK SY 0 $90 $0
Sub-Total $300,000
Protective Items Contingency - $15,000

19 Superelevation Russell Co
XXXXX
7/29/20
Name

(This is not intended to be a detailed pay item breakdown. It is intended to be tool that assists users in 
preparing early estimates prior to having developed plans. TRNSPRT should be utilized by the PFI stage.)

GRADING ITEMS

DRAINAGE ITEMS

PAVEMENT ITEMS

INCIDENTAL ITEMS

PROTECTIVE ITEMS

Page 2 of 33

http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/bidtab_query2.asp?ht=undefined&ref=http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/items.asp


STORM WATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY EA - - $150,000
SEEDING LB 1200 $15 $18,000
TEMP. SILT FENCE LF 3200 $4 $12,800
CHECK DAMS TY. I OR II EA 32 $500 $16,000
Sub-Total $196,800
E&S Control Items Contingency - $9,840

BELOW GROUND UTILITIES (LUMP SUM $$$$) LF 0 $75 $0
Sub-Total $0
Right of Way Contingency (XX%) - $0

PERMANENT SIGNAL (LUMP SUM) EA 0 $300,000 $0
PAVEMENT MARKINGS (IF APPLICABLE) LF 6400 $1 $6,400
GUARDRAIL LF 0 $25 $0
GUARDRAIL END TREATMENT EA 0 $2,500 $0
GR-FOA'S IF BRIDGE IS ON PROJECT EA 0 $2,000 $0
Sub-Total $6,400
Traffic Items Contingency - $320

NS BRIDGE SF 0 $400 $0
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BRIDGE LS 0 $18 $0
Sub-Total $0
Bridge Items Contingency - $0

Stream Mitigation LF 0 $700 $0
Wetland Mitigation Acre 0 $75,000 $0

Alignment 1 LS $0 $0
Alignment 2 LS $0 $0
Alignment 3 LS $0 $0
Alignment 4 LS $0 $0
Alignment 5 LS $0 $0
Alignment 6 LS $0 $0

$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0

Contingency Total $149,073
$113,136
$25,000

$1,662,715
Total $1,949,924

CEI OF AT LEAST 12% AS A LUMP SUM ITEM LS 1 20.00% $389,985
PROJECT CONTINGENCY 5% $83,136

GRAND TOTAL $2,430,000

Summary Notes
Contingency % can be adjusted based on your comfort level with item quantity
Unit prices can be adjusted.  Use current unit prices as a guide
CEI % can be adjusted
Add any additional items that are important to the estimate in Misc. Section
All items in "green" are locked
PE or RW cost is not included in this estimate 
Cells with RED tabs include comments for clarifications

UTILITIES

EROSION CONTROL

Sub-Total

CEI & CONTIGENCY

Tier I

TRAFFIC AND SAFETY

BRIDGE

STREAM/WETLAND MITIGATION THAT IS INCLUDED IN CONSTRUCTION

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS NOT IN SPREADSHEET CAN BE ADDED HERE

Mobilization
Construction Survey

Page 3 of 33



Project :
UPC:
Date:
Estimator:

For Recent Bid History Click Link

 FOR USE IN PRE-SCOPING AND SCOPING CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATES

ITEM Unit Quantity Unit Price Amount
MOBILIZATION LS 1 $113,136 $113,136
CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1 $25,000 $25,000

CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 2 $20,000 $39,669
REGULAR EXCAVATION CY 32444 $17 $551,556
BORROW EXCAVATION CY 0 $15 $0
UNSUITABLE MAT'l. (paid as Regular Excav.) CY 1185 $17 $20,148
BACKFILL STONE (NO. 1) FOR UNSUITABLE MATL. AREAS TONS 2400 $20 $48,000
DRY RIPRAP TONS 0 $40 $0
Sub-Total $659,373
Grading Items Contingency (XX%) 15.00% $98,906

CONCRETE BOX CULVERT LF 0 $2,500 $0
PIPES UNDER 36" LF 300 $125 $37,500
PIPES OVER 36" LF 0 $250 $0
END WALLS FOR PIPES OVER 36" EA 0 $300 $0
DROP INLETS EA 1 $1,000 $1,000
CURB AND GUTTER LF 0 $35 $0
Sub-Total $38,500
Drainage Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $1,925

SURFACE COURSE TONS 548 $110 $60,231
INTERMEDIATE COURSE TONS 859 $100 $85,867
BASE COURSE TONS 1717 $90 $154,560
SUBBASE COURSE TONS 4049 $20 $80,984
No.1 STONE TONS 2880 $25 $72,000
DEMOLITON OF PAVEMENT SY 0 $10 $0
PLANNING 0"- 2" FOR OVERLAY SECTION SY 0 $2 $0
Sub-Total $453,642
Pavement Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $22,682

RETAINING WALLS (CONC.) CY 0 $400 $0
RURAL PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 4 $2,000 $8,000
URBAN PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $5,000 $0
COMMERCIAL ENTRANCE EA 0 $10,000 $0
Sub-Total $8,000
Incidental Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $400

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC (LUMP SUM) LS 1 $300,000 $300,000
FIELD OFFICE MO 0 $2,000 $0
SIDEWALK SY 0 $90 $0
Sub-Total $300,000
Protective Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $15,000

19 Superelevation Russell Co
XXXXX
7/29/20
Name

(This is not intended to be a detailed pay item breakdown. It is intended to be tool that assists users in 
preparing early estimates prior to having developed plans. TRNSPRT should be utilized by the PFI stage.)

GRADING ITEMS

DRAINAGE ITEMS

PAVEMENT ITEMS

INCIDENTAL ITEMS

PROTECTIVE ITEMS

Page 4 of 33

http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/bidtab_query2.asp?ht=undefined&ref=http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/items.asp


STORM WATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY EA 1 $150,000 $150,000
SEEDING LB 1200 $15 $18,000
TEMP. SILT FENCE LF 3200 $4 $12,800
CHECK DAMS TY. I OR II EA 32 $500 $16,000
Sub-Total $196,800
E&S Control Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $9,840

BELOW GROUND UTILITIES (LUMP SUM $$$$) LF 0 $75 $0
Sub-Total $0
Right of Way Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $0

PERMANENT SIGNAL (LUMP SUM) EA 0 $300,000 $0
PAVEMENT MARKINGS (IF APPLICABLE) LF 6400 $1 $6,400
GUARDRAIL LF 0 $25 $0
GUARDRAIL END TREATMENT EA 0 $2,500 $0
GR-FOA'S IF BRIDGE IS ON PROJECT EA 0 $2,000 $0
Sub-Total $6,400
Traffic Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $320

NS BRIDGE SF 0 $400 $0
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BRIDGE LS 0 $18 $0
Sub-Total $0
Bridge Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $0

Stream Mitigation LF 0 $700 $0
Wetland Mitigation Acre 0 $75,000 $0

Saw Cut LF $0 $0
Demo of Buildings/Clearing Parcels LS $0 $0

SF $0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0

Contingency Total $149,073
$113,136
$25,000

$1,662,715
Total $1,949,924

CEI OF AT LEAST 12% AS A LUMP SUM ITEM LS 1 12.00% $233,991
PROJECT CONTINGENCY 5% $83,136

GRAND TOTAL $2,270,000

Summary Notes
Contingency % can be adjusted based on your comfort level with item quantity
Unit prices can be adjusted.  Use current unit prices as a guide
CEI % can be adjusted
Add any additional items that are important to the estimate in Misc. Section
All items in "green" are locked
PE or RW cost is not included in this estimate 
Cells with RED tabs include comments for clarifications

UTILITIES

EROSION CONTROL

Sub-Total

CEI & CONTIGENCY

Tier I

TRAFFIC AND SAFETY

BRIDGE

STREAM/WETLAND MITIGATION THAT IS INCLUDED IN CONSTRUCTION

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS NOT IN SPREADSHEET CAN BE ADDED HERE

Mobilization
Construction Survey

Page 5 of 33



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Oris Christian   Carl Rhea 
At-Large  District 3  
 
Tim Lovelace  Rebecca Dye, Chairperson David Eaton 
District 1 District 6 District 4 
  
Lou Ann Wallace Steve Breeding, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 2 District 5 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

 

    

    

    

  
 

Resolution of Support 
Virginia Smart Scale Project 

Applications for the                         
County of Russell, Virginia 

WHEREAS, a comprehensive, cooperative, and continuing planning process is to be 
carried out in Russell County Virginia; and 

WHEREAS, Virginia Smart Scale established a prioritization and scoring process to 
evaluate projects for funding and project selection by the Commonwealth 
Transportation Board; and 

WHEREAS, Applications for the Virginia Smart Scale process are due August 17,  
2020; and 

WHEREAS, Counties are eligible to submit projects on Corridors of Statewide 
Significance with a resolution of support from the Russell County Board of 
Supervisors; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Russell County Board of Supervisors as 
follows: 

That the U.S. Route 58 Alt. Turn Lane Improvements at Sundown Drive 
Project in the County of Russell, Virginia, is fully supported and 
endorsed by the Russell County Board of Supervisors for the Smart 
Scale application and funding process. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a Resolution of Support for Virginia Smart Scale 
Project Applications for the County of Russell, Virginia is hereby approved. 

RESOLVED this 3rd day of August 2020, by the following vote: 
Recorded Vote: 
Moved By:        _______________ 
Seconded By:  _______________                              _____________________ 
Yeas:  _____      Rebecca Dye, Chairperson 
Nays:  _____       County of Russell Virginia  

 
 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Project :
UPC:
Date:
Estimator:

For Recent Bid History Click Link

 FOR USE IN PRE-SCOPING AND SCOPING CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATES

ITEM Unit Quantity Unit Price Amount
MOBILIZATION LS 1 $62,578 $62,578
CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1 $12,000 $12,000

CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 1 $20,000 $13,774
REGULAR EXCAVATION CY 4700 $17 $79,900
BORROW EXCAVATION CY 0 $15 $0
UNSUITABLE MAT'l. (paid as Regular Excav.) CY 0 $17 $0
BACKFILL STONE (NO. 1) FOR UNSUITABLE MATL. AREAS TONS 0 $20 $0
DRY RIPRAP TONS 0 $40 $0
Sub-Total $93,674
Grading Items Contingency - $12,287

CONCRETE BOX CULVERT LF 0 $2,500 $0
PIPES UNDER 36" LF 400 $125 $50,000
PIPES OVER 36" LF 0 $250 $0
END WALLS FOR PIPES OVER 36" EA 0 $300 $0
DROP INLETS EA 2 $1,000 $2,000
CURB AND GUTTER LF 0 $35 $0
Sub-Total $52,000
Drainage Items Contingency - $2,600

SURFACE COURSE TONS 176 $110 $19,360
INTERMEDIATE COURSE TONS 184 $100 $18,400
BASE COURSE TONS 552 $90 $49,680
SUBBASE COURSE TONS 763 $20 $15,264
No.1 STONE TONS 0 $25 $0
DEMOLITON OF PAVEMENT SY 222 $10 $2,222
PLANNING 0"- 2" FOR OVERLAY SECTION SY 0 $2 $0
Sub-Total $104,926
Pavement Items Contingency - $5,246

RETAINING WALLS (CONC.) CY 0 $400 $0
RURAL PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $2,000 $0
URBAN PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $5,000 $0
COMMERCIAL ENTRANCE EA 0 $10,000 $0
Sub-Total $0
Incidental Items Contingency - $0

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC (LUMP SUM) LS 1 $250,000 $250,000
FIELD OFFICE MO 6 $2,000 $12,000
SIDEWALK SY 0 $90 $0
Sub-Total $262,000
Protective Items Contingency - $13,100

58 Turn Lanes Russell Co
XXXXX
7/29/20
Name

(This is not intended to be a detailed pay item breakdown. It is intended to be tool that assists users in 
preparing early estimates prior to having developed plans. TRNSPRT should be utilized by the PFI stage.)

GRADING ITEMS

DRAINAGE ITEMS

PAVEMENT ITEMS

INCIDENTAL ITEMS

PROTECTIVE ITEMS

Page 3 of 24

http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/bidtab_query2.asp?ht=undefined&ref=http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/items.asp


STORM WATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY EA - - $0
SEEDING LB 500 $15 $7,500
TEMP. SILT FENCE LF 1600 $4 $6,400
CHECK DAMS TY. I OR II EA 16 $500 $8,000
Sub-Total $21,900
E&S Control Items Contingency - $1,095

BELOW GROUND UTILITIES (LUMP SUM $$$$) LF 400 $75 $30,000
Sub-Total $30,000
Right of Way Contingency (XX%) - $1,500

PERMANENT SIGNAL (LUMP SUM) EA 0 $300,000 $0
PAVEMENT MARKINGS (IF APPLICABLE) LF 3200 $1 $3,200
GUARDRAIL LF 0 $25 $0
GUARDRAIL END TREATMENT EA 0 $2,500 $0
GR-FOA'S IF BRIDGE IS ON PROJECT EA 0 $2,000 $0
Sub-Total $3,200
Traffic Items Contingency - $160

NS BRIDGE SF 0 $400 $0
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BRIDGE LS 0 $18 $0
Sub-Total $0
Bridge Items Contingency - $0

Stream Mitigation LF 0 $700 $0
Wetland Mitigation Acre 0 $75,000 $0

Alignment 1 LS $0 $0
Alignment 2 LS $0 $0
Alignment 3 LS $0 $0
Alignment 4 LS $0 $0
Alignment 5 LS $0 $0
Alignment 6 LS $0 $0

Rock Excavation LS 1 $200,000 $200,000
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0

Contingency Total $35,988
$62,578
$12,000

$767,700
Total $878,266

CEI OF AT LEAST 12% AS A LUMP SUM ITEM LS 1 20.00% $175,653
PROJECT CONTINGENCY 5% $38,385

GRAND TOTAL $1,100,000

Summary Notes
Contingency % can be adjusted based on your comfort level with item quantity
Unit prices can be adjusted.  Use current unit prices as a guide
CEI % can be adjusted
Add any additional items that are important to the estimate in Misc. Section
All items in "green" are locked
PE or RW cost is not included in this estimate 
Cells with RED tabs include comments for clarifications

UTILITIES

EROSION CONTROL

Sub-Total

CEI & CONTIGENCY

Tier I

TRAFFIC AND SAFETY

BRIDGE

STREAM/WETLAND MITIGATION THAT IS INCLUDED IN CONSTRUCTION

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS NOT IN SPREADSHEET CAN BE ADDED HERE

Mobilization
Construction Survey

Page 4 of 24



Project :
UPC:
Date:
Estimator:

For Recent Bid History Click Link

 FOR USE IN PRE-SCOPING AND SCOPING CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATES

ITEM Unit Quantity Unit Price Amount
MOBILIZATION LS 1 $26,815 $26,815
CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING LS 1 $5,000 $5,000

CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 0 $20,000 $9,734
REGULAR EXCAVATION CY 3900 $17 $66,300
BORROW EXCAVATION CY 0 $15 $0
UNSUITABLE MAT'l. (paid as Regular Excav.) CY 0 $17 $0
BACKFILL STONE (NO. 1) FOR UNSUITABLE MATL. AREAS TONS 0 $20 $0
DRY RIPRAP TONS 0 $40 $0
Sub-Total $76,034
Grading Items Contingency (XX%) 15.00% $11,405

CONCRETE BOX CULVERT LF 0 $2,500 $0
PIPES UNDER 36" LF 50 $125 $6,250
PIPES OVER 36" LF 0 $250 $0
END WALLS FOR PIPES OVER 36" EA 0 $300 $0
DROP INLETS EA 0 $1,000 $0
CURB AND GUTTER LF 0 $35 $0
Sub-Total $6,250
Drainage Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $313

SURFACE COURSE TONS 98 $110 $10,756
INTERMEDIATE COURSE TONS 102 $100 $10,222
BASE COURSE TONS 307 $90 $27,600
SUBBASE COURSE TONS 424 $20 $8,480
No.1 STONE TONS 0 $25 $0
DEMOLITON OF PAVEMENT SY 222 $10 $2,222
PLANNING 0"- 2" FOR OVERLAY SECTION SY 0 $2 $0
Sub-Total $59,280
Pavement Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $2,964

RETAINING WALLS (CONC.) CY 0 $400 $0
RURAL PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $2,000 $0
URBAN PRIVATE ENTRANCE EA 0 $5,000 $0
COMMERCIAL ENTRANCE EA 0 $10,000 $0
Sub-Total $0
Incidental Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $0

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC (LUMP SUM) LS 1 $100,000 $100,000
FIELD OFFICE MO 3 $2,000 $6,000
SIDEWALK SY 0 $90 $0
Sub-Total $106,000
Protective Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $5,300

58 Turn Lanes Russell Co
XXXXX
7/29/20
Name

(This is not intended to be a detailed pay item breakdown. It is intended to be tool that assists users in 
preparing early estimates prior to having developed plans. TRNSPRT should be utilized by the PFI stage.)

GRADING ITEMS

DRAINAGE ITEMS

PAVEMENT ITEMS

INCIDENTAL ITEMS

PROTECTIVE ITEMS

Page 5 of 24

http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/bidtab_query2.asp?ht=undefined&ref=http://stauntonapps/main/bridge/inside_vdot/items.asp


STORM WATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY EA 1 $0 $0
SEEDING LB 300 $15 $4,500
TEMP. SILT FENCE LF 800 $4 $3,200
CHECK DAMS TY. I OR II EA 8 $500 $4,000
Sub-Total $11,700
E&S Control Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $585

BELOW GROUND UTILITIES (LUMP SUM $$$$) LF 400 $75 $30,000
Sub-Total $30,000
Right of Way Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $1,500

PERMANENT SIGNAL (LUMP SUM) EA 0 $300,000 $0
PAVEMENT MARKINGS (IF APPLICABLE) LF 1600 $1 $1,600
GUARDRAIL LF 0 $25 $0
GUARDRAIL END TREATMENT EA 0 $2,500 $0
GR-FOA'S IF BRIDGE IS ON PROJECT EA 0 $2,000 $0
Sub-Total $1,600
Traffic Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $80

NS BRIDGE SF 0 $400 $0
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BRIDGE LS 0 $18 $0
Sub-Total $0
Bridge Items Contingency (XX%) 5.00% $0

Stream Mitigation LF 0 $700 $0
Wetland Mitigation Acre 0 $75,000 $0

Saw Cut LF $0 $0
Demo of Buildings/Clearing Parcels LS $0 $0

SF $0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0

Contingency Total $22,147
$26,815
$5,000

$290,864
Total $344,825

CEI OF AT LEAST 12% AS A LUMP SUM ITEM LS 1 12.00% $41,379
PROJECT CONTINGENCY 5% $14,543

GRAND TOTAL $410,000

Summary Notes
Contingency % can be adjusted based on your comfort level with item quantity
Unit prices can be adjusted.  Use current unit prices as a guide
CEI % can be adjusted
Add any additional items that are important to the estimate in Misc. Section
All items in "green" are locked
PE or RW cost is not included in this estimate 
Cells with RED tabs include comments for clarifications

UTILITIES

EROSION CONTROL

Sub-Total

CEI & CONTIGENCY

Tier I

TRAFFIC AND SAFETY

BRIDGE

STREAM/WETLAND MITIGATION THAT IS INCLUDED IN CONSTRUCTION

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS NOT IN SPREADSHEET CAN BE ADDED HERE

Mobilization
Construction Survey

Page 6 of 24



Russell County Receives Virginia Tourism Corporation WanderLove 

Recovery Grant For Tourism Marketing 

 
 Governor Ralph Northam announced July 15, 2020 that Russell County received $10,000 from the Virginia 

Tourism Corporation (VTC) WanderLove Recovery Grant Program, a new grant made available to Virginia’s 

Destination Marketing Organizations (DMOs) across the Commonwealth that have been heavily impacted by the 

novel coronavirus pandemic to fund recovery marketing initiatives. $866,504 in marketing grant funds were 

awarded to 90 Destination Marketing Organizations as part of the DMO WanderLove Recovery Grant program.  

 Russell County Tourism is excited to have received this funding which will support marketing local road trips 

across the county. As people are seeking more outdoor recreational opportunities closer to home, Russell County 

offers a complete package of beauty in the mountains where fishing, kayaking, tubbing, hiking, biking routes, 

motorcycle routes and sightseeing are abundant. There is plenty to experience in Russell County to make a 

wonderful day trip or long get-a-way. 

 To help guide all those who would like to explore the county, several road trip itineraries will be available through 

a new Experience Russell ap for mobile devices thanks to the WanderLove grant. The ap will use gps to get users to 

their destinations. Along the way, there will be an opportunity for visitors to see the many Love signs that are 

available throughout the county. Russell County road trips and outdoor opportunities will also be included in fall 

editions of the Blue Ridge Outdoors magazine, a co-op partner of VTC. 

 As Virginia begins phase three of the Forward Virginia plan, there is a lot of pent-up demand for leisure travel and 

people are seeking safe, close-to-home destinations that allow for social distancing and access to open spaces. With 

this in mind, the WanderLove campaign provides travel inspiration for road trips, outdoor recreation, hidden gems, 

small towns, and Virginia’s signature LOVEworks program. 

 “Virginia tourism is a critical sector of our economy and has been heavily impacted by the coronavirus 

pandemic,” said Governor Ralph Northam. “Getting travelers back on the road and spending money in our cities and 

towns is one of the fastest ways to inject dollars back into our economy and our communities. The Virginia Tourism 

Corporation’s DMO WanderLove Recovery Grants gives localities the ability to market their destination as safe and 

welcoming when visitors are ready to resume travel.” 

 Tourism is one of the Commonwealth’s largest economic engines, with visitors to Russell County spending more 

than 13 million in 2018, supporting 150 work opportunities and contributing nearly 835,000 in local and state tax 

revenue. The tourism and hospitality industries have also been among the hardest-hit by the pandemic, experiencing 

decreased revenue and job loss, along with the temporary closure of many tourism-related businesses. A revived 

tourism economy can help spur new economic activity and inject critical funds back into Virginia communities. 

About Virginia Tourism Corporation 

Virginia Tourism Corporation is the state agency charged with marketing the Commonwealth as a premier travel 

and film destination. In 2018, visitors to Virginia spent $26 billion, which supported 234,000 work opportunities and 

contributed $1.8 billion in state and local taxes. In 2019, Virginia is for Lovers celebrates its 50th anniversary. To 

learn more, visit virginia.org 

 

https://www.virginia.gov/coronavirus/forwardvirginia/
https://www.virginia.gov/coronavirus/forwardvirginia/
https://www.virginia.org/love
http://www.virginia.org/50YearsOfLove
http://www.virginia.org/50YearsOfLove
Lonzo Lester
Highlight



















From: Blevins, Joe
To: lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
Subject: Re: FW: Updated and Signed agreements and Scope of Work Letter
Date: Sunday, July 26, 2020 11:05:46 PM

I'm good with it.

On Fri, Jul 24, 2020 at 3:11 PM <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> wrote:

Joe,

 

Please review to ensure you’re good with terms.

 

Thanks.

 

From: Zachary Wright <zwright@thethrashergroup.com> 
Sent: Friday, July 24, 2020 3:00 PM
To: lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
Cc: Daniel Ferrell <dferrell@thethrashergroup.com>; Jim Baldwin <jimbaldwin@bvu.net>;
Tim Lovelace <tlovelace@russell.k12.va.us>; 'Blevins, Joe'
<joe.blevins@dhcd.virginia.gov>
Subject: Updated and Signed agreements and Scope of Work Letter

 

Lonzo,

Please see the attached revised scope of work letter and signed engineering agreement for
the Cleveland Wastewater System PER.

 

Let me know if you have any questions or concerns.

 

Thanks,

 

Zachary D. Wright
Project Manager | The Thrasher Group, Inc.

office:   304-731-4054   | 800-273-6541

mobile:   304-476-4972

mailto:joe.blevins@dhcd.virginia.gov
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
mailto:zwright@thethrashergroup.com
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
mailto:dferrell@thethrashergroup.com
mailto:jimbaldwin@bvu.net
mailto:tlovelace@russell.k12.va.us
mailto:joe.blevins@dhcd.virginia.gov


mobile2:   304-932-2433   
155 Blue Angel Lane | Beaver, WV 25813

www.thethrashergroup.com

 

-- 

Joe Blevins
Program Manager
Program Administration and Assistance Office
Virginia Department of Housing 
     and Community Development
468 East Main Street, Suite 300 B
Abingdon, Virginia  24210
(276) 274-4539

How can DHCD support your community during these unprecedented times?  

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/covid-19  

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/cdbg/cdbg-covid-19-fact-sheet.pdf  

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/cdbg/cdbg-covid-19-response.pdf

http://www.thethrashergroup.com/
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/covid-19
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/cdbg/cdbg-covid-19-fact-sheet.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/cdbg/cdbg-covid-19-response.pdf


 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 1 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND ENGINEER 

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 

 
Owner and Engineer further agree as follows:   

ARTICLE 1 –  SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

1.01 Scope 

A. Engineer shall provide, or cause to be provided, the services set forth herein and in Exhibit A. 
All work will be performed in accordance with the applicable West Virginia Department of 

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT effective as of   (“Effective Date”) between 

Russell County Board of Supervisors (“Owner”) and 
The Thrasher Group, Inc. (“Engineer”). 
 
Owner's Project, of which Engineer's services under this Agreement are a part, is generally identified as follows: 
Cleveland Regional Sewage Treatment and Collections System Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) 
 
Other terms used in this Agreement are defined in Article 7.  

Engineer's services under this Agreement are generally identified as follows:   
 
Preparation of a PER to support submission of an application to the Virginia Department of Housing and Community 
Development (DHCD) Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program.  This agreement is for the Study and 
Report phase only.  Preliminary design, final design, bidding & negotiation, construction, resident project 
representative, post construction, and special services may be added at a later date if agreed up on by the Owner 
and the Engineer. 
 
This PER will contain a conceptual design with appropriate exhibits for each proposed alternative.  Each alternative 
will consider the following: 
a. New wastewater treatment plant or plants necessary for the system  
b. Any necessary lines needed to connect the new treatment plant(s) to the existing collection system 
c. Proposed updates for the existing collection system 
d. Proposed system extensions necessary for anticipated expansions 
 
Each alternative and recommended solution will provide the following itemized costs: 
a. Engineer's Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
b. Proposed allowances for contingencies  
c. the estimated total costs of design, and other professional services 
d. Based on information furnished by the Board, any other items and services necessary to estimate Total Project 
Costs 
 
Not Included in the Scope of this project is an Inflow & Infiltration Study.   Thrasher will use the Inflow & Infiltration 
being prepared for the Owner by others to complete/expand the PER. 
 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 2 

Environmental Protection requirements as outlined in Title 47, Series 31 – State Water 
Pollution Control Revolving Fund Rules.  All work will be in accordance with the sub-
agreement clauses attached to the back of the contract. 

ARTICLE 2 –  OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.01 General 

A. Owner shall have the responsibilities set forth herein and in Exhibit B. 

B. Owner shall pay Engineer as set forth in Article 4 and Exhibit C. 

C. Owner shall be responsible for all requirements and instructions that it furnishes to Engineer 
pursuant to this Agreement, and for the accuracy and completeness of all programs, 
reports, data, and other information furnished by Owner to Engineer pursuant to this 
Agreement.  Engineer may use and rely upon such requirements, programs, instructions, 
reports, data, and information in performing or furnishing services under this Agreement, 
subject to any express limitations or reservations applicable to the furnished items. 

D. Owner shall give prompt written notice to Engineer whenever Owner observes or otherwise 
becomes aware of:  

1.  any development that affects the scope or time of performance of Engineer’s services;  

2. the presence at the Site of any Constituent of Concern; or  

3. any relevant, material defect or nonconformance in: (a) Engineer’s services, (b) the Work, 
(c) the performance of any Constructor, or (d) Owner’s performance of its responsibilities 
under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 3 –  SCHEDULE FOR RENDERING SERVICES 

3.01 Commencement 

A. Engineer is authorized to begin rendering services as of the Effective Date. 

3.02 Time for Completion 

A. Engineer shall complete its obligations within a reasonable time.  Specific periods of time 
for rendering services, or specific dates by which services are to be completed, are provided 
in Exhibit A, and are hereby agreed to be reasonable. 

B. If, through no fault of Engineer, such periods of time or dates are changed, or the orderly 
and continuous progress of Engineer’s services is impaired, or Engineer’s services are 
delayed or suspended, then the time for completion of Engineer’s services, and the rates 
and amounts of Engineer’s compensation, shall be adjusted equitably.   

C. If Owner authorizes changes in the scope, extent, or character of the Project or Engineer’s 
services, then the time for completion of Engineer’s services, and the rates and amounts of 
Engineer’s compensation, shall be adjusted equitably. 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 3 

D. Owner shall make decisions and carry out its other responsibilities in a timely manner so as 
not to delay the Engineer’s performance of its services.   

E. If Engineer fails, through its own fault, to complete the performance required in this 
Agreement within the time set forth, as duly adjusted, then Owner shall be entitled, as its 
sole remedy, to the recovery of direct damages, if any, resulting from such failure. 

ARTICLE 4 –  INVOICES AND PAYMENTS 

4.01 Invoices 

A. Preparation and Submittal of Invoices:  Engineer shall prepare invoices in accordance with 
its standard invoicing practices and the terms of Exhibit C. Invoice must include breakdown 
of services provided.  Engineer shall submit its invoices to Owner on a monthly basis.  
Invoices are due and payable within 30 days of receipt.   

4.02 Payments 

A. Application to Interest and Principal:  Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to 
Engineer and then to principal.   

B. Failure to Pay:  If Owner fails to make any payment due Engineer for services and expenses 
within 30 days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then: 

1. amounts due Engineer will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month (or the maximum 
rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth day; and 

2. Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Owner, suspend services under 
this Agreement until Owner has paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses, and 
other related charges.  Owner waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such 
suspension. 

C. Disputed Invoices:  If Owner disputes an invoice, either as to amount or entitlement, then 
Owner shall promptly advise Engineer in writing of the specific basis for doing so, may 
withhold only that portion so disputed, and must pay the undisputed portion subject to the 
terms of Paragraph 4.01.   

D. Sales or Use Taxes:  If after the Effective Date any governmental entity takes a legislative 
action that imposes additional sales or use taxes on Engineer’s services or compensation 
under this Agreement, then Engineer may invoice such additional sales or use taxes for 
reimbursement by Owner. Owner shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced 
additional sales or use taxes; such reimbursement shall be in addition to the compensation 
to which Engineer is entitled under the terms of Exhibit C. 

ARTICLE 5 –  OPINIONS OF COST 

5.01 Opinions of Probable Construction Cost 

A. Engineer’s opinions (if any) of probable Construction Cost are to be made on the basis of 
Engineer’s experience, qualifications, and general familiarity with the construction industry.  



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 4 

However, because Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment, or 
services furnished by others, or over contractors’ methods of determining prices, or over 
competitive bidding or market conditions, Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that 
proposals, bids, or actual Construction Cost will not vary from opinions of probable 
Construction Cost prepared by Engineer.  If Owner requires greater assurance as to 
probable Construction Cost, then Owner agrees to obtain an independent cost estimate.  

5.02 Designing to Construction Cost Limit 

A. If a Construction Cost limit is established between Owner and Engineer, such Construction 
Cost limit and a statement of Engineer’s rights and responsibilities with respect thereto will 
be specifically set forth in Exhibit F to this Agreement. 

5.03 Opinions of Total Project Costs 

A. The services, if any, of Engineer with respect to Total Project Costs shall be limited to 
assisting the Owner in tabulating the various categories that comprise Total Project Costs.  
Engineer assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any opinions of Total Project Costs. 

ARTICLE 6 –  GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS 

6.01 Standards of Performance 

A. Standard of Care:  The standard of care for all professional engineering and related services 
performed or furnished by Engineer under this Agreement will be the care and skill 
ordinarily used by members of the subject profession practicing under similar circumstances 
at the same time and in the same locality.  Engineer makes no warranties, express or 
implied, under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with any services performed or 
furnished by Engineer.  

B. Technical Accuracy:  Owner shall not be responsible for discovering deficiencies in the 
technical accuracy of Engineer’s services.  Engineer shall correct deficiencies in technical 
accuracy without additional compensation, unless such corrective action is directly 
attributable to deficiencies in Owner-furnished information. 

C. Consultants:  Engineer may retain such Consultants as Engineer deems necessary to assist 
in the performance or furnishing of the services, subject to reasonable, timely, and 
substantive objections by Owner.   

D. Reliance on Others:  Subject to the standard of care set forth in Paragraph 6.01.A, Engineer 
and its Consultants may use or rely upon design elements and information ordinarily or 
customarily furnished by others, including, but not limited to, specialty contractors, 
manufacturers, suppliers, and the publishers of technical standards.   

E. Compliance with Laws and Regulations, and Policies and Procedures: 

1. Engineer and Owner shall comply with applicable Laws and Regulations. 

2. Engineer shall comply with any and all policies, procedures, and instructions of Owner that 
are applicable to Engineer's performance of services under this Agreement and that 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 5 

Owner provides to Engineer in writing, subject to the standard of care set forth in 
Paragraph 6.01.A, and to the extent compliance is not inconsistent with professional 
practice requirements. 

3. This Agreement is based on Laws and Regulations and Owner-provided written policies 
and procedures as of the Effective Date.  The following may be the basis for 
modifications to Owner’s responsibilities or to Engineer’s scope of services, times of 
performance, or compensation:  

a.  changes after the Effective Date to Laws and Regulations; 

b.  the receipt by Engineer after the Effective Date of Owner-provided written policies 
and procedures;  

c. changes after the Effective Date to Owner-provided written policies or procedures.  

F. Engineer shall not be required to sign any document, no matter by whom requested, that 
would result in the Engineer having to certify, guarantee, or warrant the existence of 
conditions whose existence the Engineer cannot ascertain.  Owner agrees not to make 
resolution of any dispute with the Engineer or payment of any amount due to the Engineer 
in any way contingent upon the Engineer signing any such document. 

G. The general conditions for any construction contract documents prepared hereunder are to 
be EJCDC® C-700 “Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract” (2013 
Edition), prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, unless expressly 
indicated otherwise in Exhibit J or elsewhere in this Agreement. 

H. Engineer shall not at any time supervise, direct, control, or have authority over any 
Constructor’s work, nor shall Engineer have authority over or be responsible for the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected or used by any 
Constructor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for security or safety 
at the Site, nor for any failure of a Constructor to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to that Constructor’s furnishing and performing of its work. Engineer shall not be 
responsible for the acts or omissions of any Constructor. 

I. Engineer neither guarantees the performance of any Constructor nor assumes responsibility 
for any Constructor’s, failure to furnish and perform the Work in accordance with the 
Construction Contract Documents.  

J. Engineer shall not be responsible for any decision made regarding the Construction Contract 
Documents, or any application, interpretation, clarification, or modification of the 
Construction Contract Documents, other than those made by Engineer or its Consultants. 

K. Engineer is not required to provide and does not have any responsibility for surety bonding 
or insurance-related advice, recommendations, counseling, or research, or enforcement of 
construction insurance or surety bonding requirements. 

L. Engineer’s services do not include providing legal advice or representation.   



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 6 

M. Engineer’s services do not include (1) serving as a “municipal advisor” for purposes of the 
registration requirements of Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act (2010) or the municipal advisor registration rules issued by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, or (2) advising Owner, or any municipal entity or 
other person or entity, regarding municipal financial products or the issuance of municipal 
securities, including advice with respect to the structure, timing, terms, or other similar 
matters concerning such products or issuances. 

N. While at the Site, Engineer, its Consultants, and their employees and representatives shall 
comply with the applicable requirements of Contractor's and Owner's safety programs of 
which Engineer has been informed in writing. 

6.02 Design Without Construction Phase Services 

A. Engineer shall be responsible only for those Construction Phase services expressly required 
of Engineer in Exhibit A, Paragraph A1.05.  With the exception of such expressly required 
services, Engineer shall have no design, Shop Drawing review, or other obligations during 
construction, and Owner assumes all responsibility for the application and interpretation of 
the Construction Contract Documents, review and response to Contractor claims, 
Construction Contract administration, processing of Change Orders and submittals, 
revisions to the Construction Contract Documents during construction, construction 
observation and review, review of Contractor’s payment applications, and all other 
necessary Construction Phase administrative, engineering, and professional services.  
Owner waives all claims against the Engineer that may be connected in any way to 
Construction Phase administrative, engineering, or professional services except for those 
services that are expressly required of Engineer in Exhibit A. 

6.03 Use of Documents 

A. All Documents are instruments of service, and Engineer shall retain an ownership and 
property interest therein (including the copyright and the right of reuse at the discretion of 
the Engineer) whether or not the Project is completed.  

B. If Engineer is required to prepare or furnish Drawings or Specifications under this 
Agreement, Engineer shall deliver to Owner at least one original printed record version of 
such Drawings and Specifications, signed and sealed according to applicable Laws and 
Regulations. 

C. Owner may make and retain copies of Documents for information and reference in 
connection with the use of the Documents on the Project.  Engineer grants Owner a limited 
license to use the Documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and for related uses 
of the Owner, subject to receipt by Engineer of full payment due and owing for all services 
relating to preparation of the Documents, and subject to the following limitations: 
(1) Owner acknowledges that such Documents are not intended or represented to be 
suitable for use on the Project unless completed by Engineer, or for use or reuse by Owner 
or others on extensions of the Project, on any other project, or for any other use or purpose, 
without written verification or adaptation by Engineer; (2) any such use or reuse, or any 
modification of the Documents, without written verification, completion, or adaptation by 
Engineer, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Owner’s sole risk and 
without liability or legal exposure to Engineer or to its officers, directors, members, 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 7 

partners, agents, employees, and Consultants; (3) Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless 
Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants 
from all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising out of or 
resulting from any use, reuse, or modification of the Documents without written 
verification, completion, or adaptation by Engineer; and (4) such limited license to Owner 
shall not create any rights in third parties. 

D. If Engineer at Owner’s request verifies the suitability of the Documents, completes them, or 
adapts them for extensions of the Project or for any other purpose, then Owner shall 
compensate Engineer at rates or in an amount to be agreed upon by Owner and Engineer. 

6.04 Electronic Transmittals  

A. Owner and Engineer may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, 
Documents, text, data, drawings, information, and graphics, in electronic media or digital 
format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website, in accordance with a 
mutually agreeable protocol.  

B. If this Agreement does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then 
Owner and Engineer may jointly develop such protocols.  

C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes 
no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items 
resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages, operating systems, or 
computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or 
from those established in applicable transmittal protocols. 

6.05 Insurance 

A. Engineer shall procure and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit G. Engineer shall cause 
Owner to be listed as an additional insured on any applicable general liability insurance 
policy carried by Engineer.   

B. Owner shall procure and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit G. Owner shall cause 
Engineer and its Consultants to be listed as additional insureds on any general liability 
policies carried by Owner, which are applicable to the Project. 

C. Owner shall require Contractor to purchase and maintain policies of insurance covering 
workers' compensation, general liability, motor vehicle damage and injuries, and other 
insurance necessary to protect Owner's and Engineer's interests in the Project.  Owner shall 
require Contractor to cause Engineer and its Consultants to be listed as additional insureds 
with respect to such liability insurance purchased and maintained by Contractor for the 
Project. 

D. Owner and Engineer shall each deliver to the other certificates of insurance evidencing the 
coverages indicated in Exhibit G.  Such certificates shall be furnished prior to 
commencement of Engineer’s services and at renewals thereafter during the life of the 
Agreement. 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 8 

E. All policies of property insurance relating to the Project, including but not limited to any 
builder’s risk policy, shall allow for waiver of subrogation rights and contain provisions to 
the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights 
of recovery against any insured thereunder or against Engineer or its Consultants. Owner 
and Engineer waive all rights against each other, Contractor, the Consultants, and the 
respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out 
of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by any builder’s risk policy 
and any other property insurance relating to the Project. Owner and Engineer shall take 
appropriate measures in other Project-related contracts to secure waivers of rights 
consistent with those set forth in this paragraph.  

F. All policies of insurance shall contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded 
will not be canceled or reduced in limits by endorsement, and that renewal will not be 
refused, until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to the primary insured. 
Upon receipt of such notice, the receiving party shall promptly forward a copy of the notice 
to the other party to this Agreement.  

G. At any time, Owner may request that Engineer or its Consultants, at Owner’s sole expense, 
provide additional insurance coverage, increased limits, or revised deductibles that are 
more protective than those specified in Exhibit G.  If so requested by Owner, and if 
commercially available, Engineer shall obtain and shall require its Consultants to obtain such 
additional insurance coverage, different limits, or revised deductibles for such periods of 
time as requested by Owner, and Exhibit G will be supplemented to incorporate these 
requirements. 

6.06 Suspension and Termination 

A. Suspension: 

1. By Owner:  Owner may suspend the Project for up to 90 days upon seven days written 
notice to Engineer.   

2. By Engineer:  Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Owner, suspend 
services under this Agreement if Owner has failed to pay Engineer for invoiced services 
and expenses, as set forth in Paragraph 4.02.B, or in response to the presence of 
Constituents of Concern at the Site, as set forth in Paragraph 6.10.D.  

B. Termination:  The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be 
terminated: 

1. For cause, 

a. by either party upon 30 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the 
other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party. 

b. by Engineer: 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 9 

1) upon seven days written notice if Owner demands that Engineer furnish or 
perform services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as a licensed 
professional; or  

2) upon seven days written notice if the Engineer’s services for the Project are 
delayed or suspended for more than 90 days for reasons beyond Engineer’s 
control, or as the result of the presence at the Site of undisclosed Constituents 
of Concern, as set forth in Paragraph 6.10.D. 

3) Engineer shall have no liability to Owner on account of such termination. 

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate under 
Paragraph 6.06.B.1.a if the party receiving such notice begins, within seven days of 
receipt of such notice, to correct its substantial failure to perform and proceeds 
diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of receipt thereof; 
provided, however, that if and to the extent such substantial failure cannot be 
reasonably cured within such 30 day period, and if such party has diligently 
attempted to cure the same and thereafter continues diligently to cure the same, 
then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in no case more than, 
60 days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

2. For convenience, by Owner effective upon Engineer’s receipt of notice from Owner.   

C. Effective Date of Termination:  The terminating party under Paragraph 6.06.B may set the 
effective date of termination at a time up to 30 days later than otherwise provided to allow 
Engineer to demobilize personnel and equipment from the Site, to complete tasks whose 
value would otherwise be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and 
uncompleted tasks, and to assemble Project materials in orderly files. 

D. Payments Upon Termination: 

1. In the event of any termination under Paragraph 6.06, Engineer will be entitled to invoice 
Owner and to receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in accordance 
with this Agreement and all Reimbursable Expenses incurred through the effective date 
of termination.  Upon making such payment, Owner shall have the limited right to the use 
of Documents, at Owner’s sole risk, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 6.03. 

2. In the event of termination by Owner for convenience or by Engineer for cause, Engineer 
shall be entitled, in addition to invoicing for those items identified in Paragraph 6.06.D.1, 
to invoice Owner and receive payment of a reasonable amount for services and expenses 
directly attributable to termination, both before and after the effective date of 
termination, such as reassignment of personnel, costs of terminating contracts with 
Engineer’s Consultants, and other related close-out costs, using methods and rates for 
Additional Services as set forth in Exhibit C. 

6.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Agreement is to be governed by the Laws and Regulations of the state in which the 
Project is located.  



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 10 

6.08 Successors, Assigns, and Beneficiaries 

A. Owner and Engineer are hereby bound and the successors, executors, administrators, and 
legal representatives of Owner and Engineer (and to the extent permitted by Paragraph 
6.08.B the assigns of Owner and Engineer) are hereby bound to the other party to this 
Agreement and to the successors, executors, administrators and legal representatives (and 
said assigns) of such other party, in respect of all covenants, agreements, and obligations of 
this Agreement. 

B. Neither Owner nor Engineer may assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under or interest 
(including, but without limitation, money that is due or may become due) in this Agreement 
without the written consent of the other party, except to the extent that any assignment, 
subletting, or transfer is mandated by law.  Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any 
written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from 
any duty or responsibility under this Agreement. 

C. Unless expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement: 

1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create, impose, or give rise to any duty 
owed by Owner or Engineer to any Constructor, other third-party individual or entity, or 
to any surety for or employee of any of them. 

2. All duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement will be for the sole 
and exclusive benefit of Owner and Engineer and not for the benefit of any other party.   

3. Owner agrees that the substance of the provisions of this Paragraph 6.08.C shall appear 
in the Construction Contract Documents. 

6.09 Dispute Resolution 

A. Owner and Engineer agree to negotiate all disputes between them in good faith for a period 
of 30 days from the date of notice prior to invoking the procedures of Exhibit H or other 
provisions of this Agreement, or exercising their rights at law.   

B. If the parties fail to resolve a dispute through negotiation under Paragraph 6.09.A, then 
either or both may invoke the procedures of Exhibit H.  If Exhibit H is not included, or if no 
dispute resolution method is specified in Exhibit H, then the parties may exercise their rights 
at law.   

6.10 Environmental Condition of Site 

A. Owner represents to Engineer that as of the Effective Date to the best of Owner’s 
knowledge no Constituents of Concern, other than those disclosed in writing to Engineer, 
exist at or adjacent to the Site.   

B. If Engineer encounters or learns of an undisclosed Constituent of Concern at the Site, then 
Engineer shall notify (1) Owner and (2) appropriate governmental officials if Engineer 
reasonably concludes that doing so is required by applicable Laws or Regulations. 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 11 

C. It is acknowledged by both parties that Engineer’s scope of services does not include any 
services related to unknown or undisclosed Constituents of Concern.  If Engineer or any 
other party encounters, uncovers, or reveals an undisclosed Constituent of Concern, then 
Owner shall promptly determine whether to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such 
condition or take any necessary corrective action. 

D. If investigative or remedial action, or other professional services, are necessary with respect 
to undisclosed Constituents of Concern, or if investigative or remedial action beyond that 
reasonably contemplated is needed to address a disclosed or known Constituent of 
Concern, then Engineer may, at its option and without liability for consequential or any 
other damages, suspend performance of services on the portion of the Project affected 
thereby until such portion of the Project is no longer affected.  

E. If the presence at the Site of undisclosed Constituents of Concern adversely affects the 
performance of Engineer’s services under this Agreement, then the Engineer shall have the 
option of (1) accepting an equitable adjustment in its compensation or in the time of 
completion, or both; or (2) terminating this Agreement for cause on seven days notice. 

F. Owner acknowledges that Engineer is performing professional services for Owner and that 
Engineer is not and shall not be required to become an "owner," “arranger,” “operator,” 
“generator,” or “transporter” of hazardous substances, as defined in the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), as amended, which are 
or may be encountered at or near the Site in connection with Engineer’s activities under 
this Agreement. 

6.11 Indemnification and Mutual Waiver 

A. Indemnification by Engineer:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, 
Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner, and Owner’s officers, directors, 
members, partners, agents, consultants, and employees, from losses, damages, and 
judgments (including reasonable consultants’ and attorneys’ fees and expenses) arising 
from third-party claims or actions relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, 
action, loss, damages, or judgment is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or 
death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), 
including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent 
act or omission of Engineer or Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, agents, 
employees, or Consultants. This indemnification provision is subject to and limited by the 
provisions, if any, agreed to by Owner and Engineer in Exhibit I, “Limitations of Liability." 

B. Indemnification by Owner:  Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its 
officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants as required by 
Laws and Regulations and to the extent (if any) required in Exhibit I, “Limitations of 
Liability.” 

C. Environmental Indemnification:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, 
Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, 
partners, agents, employees, and Consultants from all claims, costs, losses, damages, 
actions, and judgments (including reasonable consultants’ and attorneys fees and expenses) 
caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from a Constituent of Concern at, on, or 
under the Site, provided that (1) any such claim, cost, loss, damages, action, or judgment is 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 12 

attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of 
tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, 
and (2) nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity 
from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

D. No Defense Obligation:  The indemnification commitments in this Agreement do not include 
a defense obligation by the indemnitor unless such obligation is expressly stated. 

E. Percentage Share of Negligence:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations,  
a party’s total liability to  the other party and anyone claiming by, through, or under the 
other party for any  cost, loss, or damages caused in part by the negligence of the party and 
in part by the negligence of  the other party or any other negligent entity or individual, shall 
not exceed the percentage share that the party’s negligence bears to the total negligence 
of Owner, Engineer, and all other negligent entities and individuals. 

F. Mutual Waiver:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner and 
Engineer waive against each other, and the other’s employees, officers, directors, members, 
agents, insurers, partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, 
incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way 
related to this Agreement or the Project, from any cause or causes.   

6.12 Records Retention 

A. Engineer shall maintain on file in legible form, for a period of five years following completion 
or termination of its services, all Documents, records (including cost records), and design 
calculations related to Engineer’s services or pertinent to Engineer’s performance under this 
Agreement.  Upon Owner’s request, Engineer shall provide a copy of any such item to 
Owner at cost. 

6.13 Miscellaneous Provisions  

A. Notices:  Any notice required under this Agreement will be in writing, addressed to the 
appropriate party at its address on the signature page and given personally, by registered 
or certified mail postage prepaid, or by a commercial courier service.  All notices shall be 
effective upon the date of receipt. 

B. Survival:  All express representations, waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability 
included in this Agreement will survive its completion or termination for any reason. 

C. Severability:  Any provision or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under 
any Laws or Regulations shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall 
continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Engineer, which agree that the Agreement 
shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and 
enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the 
stricken provision. 

D. Waiver:  A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that 
provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this 
Agreement. 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 13 

E. Accrual of Claims:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, all causes of 
action arising under this Agreement shall be deemed to have accrued, and all statutory 
periods of limitation shall commence, no later than the date of Substantial Completion. 

ARTICLE 7 –  DEFINITIONS 

7.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in this Agreement (including the Exhibits hereto) terms (including the 
singular and plural forms) printed with initial capital letters have the meanings indicated in 
the text above, in the exhibits, or in the following definitions: 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of bids which 
clarify, correct, or change the bidding requirements or the proposed Construction 
Contract Documents. 

2. Additional Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer 
in accordance with Part 2 of Exhibit A of this Agreement. 

3. Agreement—This written contract for professional services between Owner and Engineer, 
including all exhibits identified in Paragraph 8.01 and any duly executed amendments. 

4. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 
Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and 
which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Construction Contract. 

5. Basic Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer in 
accordance with Part 1 of Exhibit A of this Agreement. 

6. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an 
addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Construction Contract 
Price or the Construction Contract Times, or other revision to the Construction Contract, 
issued on or after the effective date of the Construction Contract.  

7. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with 
the procedural requirements set forth in the Construction Contract, seeking an 
adjustment in Construction Contract Price or Construction Contract Times, or both; 
contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Construction 
Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Construction Contract 
Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with 
respect to the terms of the Construction Contract. 

8. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive material, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material 
of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to 
(a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 
U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (b) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 
U.S.C. §§5501 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 
et seq. (“RCRA”); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 14 

Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; 
or (g) any other federal, State, or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, 
code, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct 
concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

9. Construction Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner 
and Contractor concerning the Work. 

10. Construction Contract Documents—Those items designated as “Contract Documents” in 
the Construction Contract, and which together comprise the Construction Contract.   

11. Construction Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents. 

12. Construction Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall:  
(a) achieve milestones, if any, in the Construction Contract; (b) achieve Substantial 
Completion; and (c) complete the Work.  

13. Construction Cost—The cost to Owner of the construction of those portions of the entire 
Project designed or specified by or for Engineer under this Agreement, including 
construction labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding costs, and 
allowances for contingencies.  Construction Cost does not include costs of services of 
Engineer or other design professionals and consultants; cost of land or rights-of-way, or 
compensation for damages to property; Owner’s costs for legal, accounting, insurance 
counseling, or auditing services; interest or financing charges incurred in connection with 
the Project; or the cost of other services to be provided by others to Owner. Construction 
Cost is one of the items comprising Total Project Costs. 

14. Constructor—Any person or entity (not including the Engineer, its employees, agents, 
representatives, and Consultants), performing or supporting construction activities 
relating to the Project, including but not limited to Contractors, Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
Owner’s work forces, utility companies, other contractors, construction managers, testing 
firms, shippers, and truckers, and the employees, agents, and representatives of any or all 
of them.  

15. Consultants—Individuals or entities having a contract with Engineer to furnish services 
with respect to this Project as Engineer’s independent professional associates and 
consultants; subcontractors; or vendors.  

16. Contractor—The entity or individual with which Owner enters into a Construction 
Contract. 

17. Documents—Data, reports, Drawings, Specifications, Record Drawings, building 
information models, civil integrated management models, and other deliverables, 
whether in printed or electronic format, provided or furnished in appropriate phases by 
Engineer to Owner pursuant to this Agreement. 

18. Drawings—That part of the Construction Contract Documents that graphically shows the 
scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.   



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 15 

19. Effective Date—The date indicated in this Agreement on which it becomes effective, but 
if no such date is indicated, the date on which this Agreement is signed and delivered by 
the last of the parties to sign and deliver. 

20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement. 

21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 
Work but does not change the Construction Contract Price or the Construction Contract 
Times. 

22. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, 
authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

23. Owner—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement and for which 
Engineer's services are to be performed.  Unless indicated otherwise, this is the same 
individual or entity that will enter into any Construction Contracts concerning the Project. 

24. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, 
and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and 
start-up, and of which the services to be performed or furnished by Engineer under this 
Agreement are a part. 

25. Record Drawings—Drawings depicting the completed Project, or a specific portion of the 
completed Project, prepared by Engineer as an Additional Service and based on 
Contractor's record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work 
Change Directives, Field Orders, and written interpretations and clarifications, as 
delivered to Engineer and annotated by Contractor to show changes made during 
construction. 

26. Reimbursable Expenses—The expenses incurred directly by Engineer in connection with 
the performing or furnishing of Basic Services and Additional Services for the Project.  

27. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to 
assist Engineer at the Site during the Construction Phase.  As used herein, the term 
Resident Project Representative or "RPR" includes any assistants or field staff of Resident 
Project Representative. The duties and responsibilities of the Resident Project 
Representative, if any, are as set forth in Exhibit D.  

28. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 
such portion of the Work will be judged. 

29. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and 
submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether 
approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Construction Contract Documents. 

30. Site—Lands or areas to be indicated in the Construction Contract Documents as being 
furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 16 

easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of 
Contractor. 

31. Specifications—The part of the Construction Contract Documents that consists of written 
requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied 
to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable 
to the Work.  

32. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with 
any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.  

33. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part 
thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Construction Contract 
Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes 
for which it is intended. The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” 
as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

34. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor 
having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or 
equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor. 

35. Total Project Costs—The total cost of planning, studying, designing, constructing, testing, 
commissioning, and start-up of the Project, including Construction Cost and all other 
Project labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding costs, allowances 
for contingencies, and the total costs of services of Engineer or other design professionals 
and consultants, together with such other Project-related costs that Owner furnishes for 
inclusion, including but not limited to cost of land, rights-of-way, compensation for 
damages to properties, Owner’s costs for legal, accounting, insurance counseling, and 
auditing services, interest and financing charges incurred in connection with the Project, 
and the cost of other services to be provided by others to Owner.  

36. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof 
required to be provided under the Construction Contract Documents.  Work includes and 
is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary 
to produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and 
equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-
up, and commissioning, all as required by the Construction Contract Documents. 

37. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the effective 
date of the Construction Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 
ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 

38. Agency - Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD). 

B. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 



 

 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                             and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 17 

ARTICLE 8 –  EXHIBITS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

8.01 Exhibits Included: 

A. Exhibit A, Engineer’s Services.  

B. Exhibit B, Owner’s Responsibilities.  

C. Exhibit C, Payments to Engineer for Services and Reimbursable Expenses.  

D. Exhibit D, Duties, Responsibilities and Limitations of Authority of Resident Project 
Representative.  Not Used 

E. Exhibit E, Notice of Acceptability of Work.  

F. Exhibit F, Construction Cost Limit. Not Used 

G. Exhibit G, Insurance.   

H. Exhibit H, Dispute Resolution.  

I. Exhibit I, Limitations of Liability.  

J. Exhibit J, Special Provisions. Not Used 

K. Exhibit K, Amendment to Owner-Engineer Agreement.  

 
8.02 Total Agreement 

A. This Agreement, (together with the exhibits included above) constitutes the entire 
agreement between Owner and Engineer and supersedes all prior written or oral 
understandings.  This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or 
canceled by a written instrument duly executed by both parties. Amendments should be 
based whenever possible on the format of Exhibit K to this Agreement. 

8.03 Designated Representatives 

A. With the execution of this Agreement, Engineer and Owner shall designate specific 
individuals to act as Engineer’s and Owner’s representatives with respect to the services to 
be performed or furnished by Engineer and responsibilities of Owner under this Agreement.  
Such an individual shall have authority to transmit instructions, receive information, and 
render decisions relative to this Agreement on behalf of the respective party whom the 
individual represents.  

8.04 Engineer's Certifications 

A. Engineer certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, or coercive practices in 
competing for or in executing the Agreement.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 8.04: 





 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT A, consisting of 17 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated  
July 2020. 

Engineer’s Services 
 

Article 1 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties.   
 
Engineer shall provide Basic and Additional Services as set forth below. 
 
PART 1 – BASIC SERVICES 

A1.01 Study and Report Phase 

A. Engineer shall: 

1. Consult with Owner to define and clarify Owner’s requirements for the Project, including 
design objectives and constraints, space, capacity and performance requirements, 
flexibility, and expandability, and any budgetary limitations, and identify available data, 
information, reports, facilities plans, and site evaluations.   

a. If Owner has already identified one or more potential solutions to meet its Project 
requirements, then proceed with the study and evaluation of such potential 
solutions: N/A  

b. In addition, Engineer must identify, study and evaluate multiple potential alternative 
solutions potentially available to Owner, unless Owner and Engineer mutually agree 
with Agency concurrence that only one feasible solution exists. The number of 
alternative solutions should be appropriate to the specific project as concurred in by 
the Agency. 

2. Identify potential solution(s) to meet Owner’s Project requirements, as needed. 

3.  Study and evaluate the potential solution(s) to meet Owner’s Project requirements.  

4. Visit the Site, or potential Project sites, to review existing conditions and facilities, unless 
such visits are not necessary or applicable to meeting the objectives of the Study and 
Report Phase.  

5. Advise Owner of any need for Owner to obtain, furnish, or otherwise make available to 
Engineer additional Project-related data and information, for  Engineer’s use in the study 
and evaluation of potential solution(s) to Owner’s Project requirements, and preparation 
of a related report. 

6. After consultation with Owner, recommend to Owner the solution(s) which in Engineer’s 
judgment meet Owner’s requirements for the Project. 

7. Identify, consult with, and analyze requirements of governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction to approve the portions of the Project to be designed or specified by 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 2 

Engineer, including but not limited to mitigating measures identified in an environmental 
assessment for the Project. 

8.  Prepare a report (the “Report”) which will, as appropriate, contain schematic layouts, 
sketches, and conceptual design criteria with appropriate exhibits to indicate the agreed-
to requirements, considerations involved, and Engineer’s recommended solution(s). For 
each recommended solution Engineer will provide the following, which will be separately 
itemized:  opinion of probable Construction Cost; proposed allowances for 
contingencies; the estimated total costs of design, professional, and related services to 
be provided by Engineer and its Consultants; and, on the basis of information furnished 
by Owner, a tabulation of other items and services included within the definition of Total 
Project Costs.  

9. Advise Owner of any need for Owner to provide data or services of the types described 
in Exhibit B, for use in Project design, or in preparation for Contractor selection and 
construction.   

10. When mutually agreed, assist Owner in evaluating the possible use of building 
information modeling; civil integrated management; geotechnical baselining of 
subsurface site conditions; innovative design, contracting, or procurement strategies; or 
other strategies, technologies, or techniques for assisting in the design, construction, and 
operation of Owner’s facilities.  The subject matter of this paragraph shall be referred to 
in Exhibit A and B as “Project Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques.” 

11. If requested to do so by Owner, assist Owner in identifying opportunities for enhancing 
the sustainability of the Project, and pursuant to Owner’s instructions plan for the 
inclusion of sustainable features in the design.  

12. Use ASCE 38, “Standard Guideline for the Collection and Depiction of Existing Subsurface 
Utility Data” as a means to advise the Owner on a recommended scope of work and 
procedure for the identification and mapping of existing utilities.  

13. Develop a scope of work and survey limits for any topographic and other surveys 
necessary for design. 

14. Perform or provide the following other Study and Report Phase tasks or deliverables: 

Participate in up to two (2) meetings with funding and regulatory agencies to discuss 
the proposed project. Thrasher will amend the report based on comments received 
from the Board and regulatory agencies. 

15. Furnish [3] review copies of the Report and any other Study and Report Phase 
deliverables to Owner within 21  days of the Effective Date and review it with Owner.  
Within N/A  days of receipt, Owner shall submit to Engineer any comments regarding 
the furnished items. 

16. Revise the Report and any other Study and Report Phase deliverables in response to 
Owner’s comments, as appropriate, and furnish [ 3 ] written copies and one electronic 
copy of the revised Report and any other Study and Report Phase deliverables to the 
Owner within N/A  days of receipt of Owner’s comments. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 3 

B. Engineer’s services under the Study and Report Phase will be considered complete on the date 
when Engineer has delivered to Owner the revised Report and any other Study and Report 
Phase deliverables. 

A1.02 Preliminary Design Phase 

A. After acceptance by Owner and of the Report and any other Study and Report Phase 
deliverables; selection by Owner of a recommended solution; issuance by Owner of any 
instructions of for use of Project Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques, or for inclusion of 
sustainable features in the design; and indication by Owner of any specific modifications or 
changes in the scope, extent, character, or design requirements of the Project desired by 
Owner, (1) Engineer and Owner shall discuss and resolve any necessary revisions to Engineer’s 
compensation (through application of the provisions regarding Additional Services, or 
otherwise), or the time for completion of Engineer’s services, resulting from the selected 
solution, related Project Strategies, Technologies, or Techniques,  sustainable design 
instructions, or specific modifications to the Project, and (2) upon written authorization from 
Owner, Engineer shall:  

1. Prepare Preliminary Design Phase documents consisting of final design criteria, 
preliminary drawings, outline specifications, and written descriptions of the Project.  

2. In preparing the Preliminary Design Phase documents, use any specific applicable Project 
Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques authorized by Owner and Agency during or 
following the Study and Report Phase, and include sustainable features, as appropriate, 
pursuant to Owner’s instructions. 

3. Provide necessary field surveys and topographic and utility mapping for Engineer’s 
design purposes.  Comply with the scope of work and procedure for the identification 
and mapping of existing utilities selected and authorized by Owner pursuant to advice 
from Engineer based on ASCE 38, “Standard Guideline for the Collection and Depiction 
of Existing Subsurface Utility Data,” as set forth in Paragraph A1.01.A.12 above. If no such 
scope of work and procedure for utility mapping has been selected and authorized, then 
at a minimum the utility mapping will include Engineer contacting utility owners and 
obtaining available information. 

4. Visit the Site as needed to prepare the Preliminary Design Phase documents. 

5. Advise Owner if additional reports, data, information, or services of the types described 
in Exhibit B are necessary and assist Owner in obtaining such reports, data, information, 
or services. 

6. Continue to assist Owner with Project Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques that 
Owner has chosen to implement. 

7. Based on the information contained in the Preliminary Design Phase documents, prepare 
a revised opinion of probable Construction Cost, and assist Owner in tabulating the 
various cost categories which comprise Total Project Costs. 

8. Obtain and review Owner’s instructions regarding Owner’s procurement of construction 
services (including instructions regarding advertisements for bids, instructions to 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 4 

bidders, and requests for proposals, as applicable), Owner’s construction contract 
practices and requirements, insurance and bonding requirements, electronic 
transmittals during construction, and other information necessary for the finalization of 
Owner’s bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other construction 
procurement documents), and Construction Contract Documents. Also obtain and 
review copies of Owner’s design and construction standards, Owner’s standard forms, 
general conditions (if other than EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract, 2013 Edition), supplementary conditions, text, and related 
documents or content for Engineer to include in the draft bidding-related documents (or 
requests for proposals or other construction procurement documents), and in the draft 
Construction Contract Documents, when applicable.  

[Note to User: Some owners prefer to handle the preparation of bidding (procurement) 
and construction contract documents with little or no involvement by the Engineer (other 
than with respect to Engineer’s preparation or furnishing of the Drawings, Specifications, 
and other design and technical documents), relying either on Owner’s in-house staff and 
legal counsel for such services, or on third-parties such as a construction manager. When 
such is the case, the task item above, and related items in the Final Design Phase 
(Paragraph A1.03 below) and in Exhibit B, Owner’s Responsibilities, should be modified 
to fit the requirements of the specific project.] 

9. Perform or provide the following other Preliminary Design Phase tasks or deliverables:    
[            ] [List any such tasks or deliverables here.] 

       

10. Furnish [    ] review copies of the Preliminary Design Phase documents, opinion of 
probable Construction Cost, and any other Preliminary Design Phase deliverables to 
Owner within [    ] days of authorization to proceed with this phase, and review them 
with Owner.  Within [    ] days of receipt, Owner shall submit to Engineer any comments 
regarding the furnished items.  

11. Revise the Preliminary Design Phase documents, opinion of probable Construction Cost, 
and any other Preliminary Design Phase deliverables in response to Owner’s comments, 
as appropriate, and furnish to Owner [    ] copies of the revised Preliminary Design Phase 
documents, revised opinion of probable Construction Cost, and any other deliverables 
within [    ]  days after receipt of Owner’s comments. 

B. Engineer’s services under the Preliminary Design Phase will be considered complete on the 
date when Engineer has delivered to Owner the revised Preliminary Design Phase documents, 
revised opinion of probable Construction Cost, and any other Preliminary Design Phase 
deliverables.  

A1.03 Final Design Phase 

A. After acceptance by Owner of the Preliminary Design Phase documents, revised opinion of 
probable Construction Cost as determined in the Preliminary Design Phase, and any other 
Preliminary Design Phase deliverables, subject to any Owner-directed modifications or changes 
in the scope, extent, character, or design requirements of or for the Project, and upon written 
authorization from Owner, Engineer shall: 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 5 

1. Prepare final Drawings and Specifications indicating the scope, extent, and character of 
the Work to be performed and furnished by Contractor. 

2. Visit the Site as needed to assist in preparing the final Drawings and Specifications. 

3. Provide technical criteria, written descriptions, and design data for Owner’s use in filing 
applications for permits from or approvals of governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction to review or approve the final design; assist Owner in consultations with such 
authorities; and revise the Drawings and Specifications in response to directives from 
such authorities, as appropriate. 

4. Advise Owner of any recommended adjustments to the opinion of probable 
Construction Cost. 

5. After consultation with Owner, include in the Construction Contract Documents any 
specific protocols for the transmittal of Project-related correspondence, documents, 
text, data, drawings, information, and graphics, in electronic media or digital format, 
either directly, or through access to a secure Project website. Any such protocols shall 
be applicable to transmittals between and among Owner, Engineer, and Contractor 
during the Construction Phase and Post-Construction Phase, and unless agreed 
otherwise shall supersede any conflicting protocols previously established for 
transmittals between Owner and Engineer. 

6. Assist Owner in assembling known reports and drawings of Site conditions, and in 
identifying the technical data contained in such reports and drawings upon which 
bidders or other prospective contractors may rely. 

7. In addition to preparing the final Drawings and Specifications, assemble drafts of other 
Construction Contract Documents based on specific instructions and contract forms, 
text, or content  received from Owner. 

8. Prepare or assemble draft bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other 
construction procurement documents), based on the specific bidding or procurement-
related instructions and forms, text, or content received from Owner. 

9. Perform or provide the following other Final Design Phase tasks or deliverables:                [            
] [List any such tasks or deliverables here.]  

10.  Furnish for review by Owner, its legal counsel and Agency, and other advisors, [    ] copies 
of the final Drawings and Specifications, assembled drafts of other Construction Contract 
Documents, the draft bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other 
construction procurement documents), and any other Final Design Phase deliverables, 
within [    ] days of authorization to proceed with the Final Design Phase, and review them 
with Owner. Within [    ] days of receipt, Owner shall submit to Engineer any comments 
regarding the furnished items, and any instructions for revisions. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 6 

11. Revise the final Drawings and Specifications, assembled drafts of other Construction 
Contract Documents, the draft bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or 
other construction procurement documents), and any other Final Design Phase 
deliverables in accordance with comments and instructions from the Owner, as 
appropriate, and submit [    ] final copies of such documents to Owner within [    ] days 
after receipt of Owner’s comments and instructions. 

B. Engineer’s services under the Final Design Phase will be considered complete on the date when 
Engineer has delivered to Owner the final Drawings and Specifications, other assembled 
Construction Contract Documents, bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or 
other construction procurement documents), and any other Final Design Phase deliverables 
and final design phase deliverables have been accepted by Owner.  

C. In the event that the Work designed or specified by Engineer is to be performed or furnished 
under more than one prime contract, or if Engineer’s services are to be separately sequenced 
with the work of one or more prime Contractors (such as in the case of fast-tracking), Owner 
and Engineer shall, prior to commencement of the Final Design Phase, develop a schedule for 
performance of Engineer’s services during the Final Design, Bidding or Negotiating, 
Construction, and Post-Construction Phases in order to sequence and coordinate properly such 
services as are applicable to the work under such separate prime contracts.  This schedule is to 
be prepared and included in or become an amendment to Exhibit A whether or not the work 
under such contracts is to proceed concurrently. 

D. The number of prime contracts for Work designed or specified by Engineer upon which the 
Engineer’s compensation has been established under this Agreement is [    ].  If more prime 
contracts are awarded, Engineer shall be entitled to an equitable increase in its compensation 
under this Agreement. 

A1.04 Bidding or Negotiating Phase 

A. After acceptance by Owner of the final Drawings and Specifications, other Construction 
Contract Documents, bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other 
construction procurement documents), and the most recent opinion of probable Construction 
Cost as determined in the Final Design Phase, and upon written authorization by Owner to 
proceed, Engineer shall: 

1. Assist Owner in advertising for and obtaining bids or proposals for the Work, assist 
Owner in issuing assembled design, contract, and bidding-related documents (or 
requests for proposals or other construction procurement documents) to prospective 
contractors, and, where applicable, maintain a record of prospective contractors to 
which documents have been issued, attend mandatory pre-bid conferences, and receive 
and process contractor deposits or charges for the issued documents. 

2. Prepare and issue Addenda as appropriate to clarify, correct, or change the issued 
documents.  

3. Provide information or assistance needed by Owner in the course of any review of 
proposals or negotiations with prospective contractors. 

4. Consult with Owner as to the qualifications of prospective contractors. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 7 

5.  Consult with Owner as to the qualifications of subcontractors, suppliers, and other 
individuals and entities proposed by prospective contractors, for those portions of the 
Work as to which review of qualifications is required by the issued documents.  

6. The Engineer shall evaluate and determine the acceptability of "or equals" and 
substitute materials and equipment proposed by the prospective Contractors prior to 
award of contracts for the Work. Engineer shall issue a bid addendum for any and all 
approved "or equals" and substitutes. Review of substitutes and "or equals" shall be 
in accordance with the General Conditions of the Construction Contract and applicable 
Agency regulations. Services under this paragraph are subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph A2.02.A.2 of the Exhibit A.  

7. Attend the bid opening, prepare bid tabulation sheets to meet Owner’s schedule, and 
assist Owner in evaluating bids or proposals, assembling final contracts for the Work for 
execution by Owner and Contractor, and in issuing notices of award of such contracts. 

8. If Owner engages in negotiations with bidders or proposers, assist Owner with respect 
to technical and engineering issues that arise during the negotiations. 

9. Perform or provide the following other Bidding or Negotiating Phase tasks or 
deliverables: [            ] [List any such tasks or deliverables here.] 

a.   Upon award of the Construction Contract, the Engineer shall furnish to Owner five 
executed copies of the Contract Documents and one electronic copy in PDF format 
of the signed documents, including Drawings and Specifications. 

B. The Bidding or Negotiating Phase will be considered complete upon commencement of the 
Construction Phase or upon cessation of negotiations with prospective contractors (except as 
may be required if Exhibit F is a part of this Agreement). 

A1.05 Construction Phase 

A. Upon successful completion of the Bidding and Negotiating Phase, and upon written 
authorization from Owner, Engineer shall: 

1. General Administration of Construction Contract:  Consult with Owner and act as Owner’s 
representative as provided in the Construction Contract.  The extent and limitations of 
the duties, responsibilities, and authority of Engineer shall be as assigned in EJCDC® C-
700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (2013 Edition), prepared 
by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, or other construction general 
conditions specified in this Agreement. If Owner, or Owner and Contractor, modify the 
duties, responsibilities, and authority of Engineer in the Construction Contract, or modify 
other terms of the Construction Contract having a direct bearing on Engineer, then 
Owner shall compensate Engineer for any related increases in the cost to provide 
Construction Phase services. Engineer shall not be required to furnish or perform 
services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as a licensed professional. All of Owner’s 
instructions to Contractor will be issued through Engineer, which shall have authority to 
act on behalf of Owner in dealings with Contractor to the extent provided in this 
Agreement and the Construction Contract except as otherwise provided in writing. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 8 

2. Resident Project Representative (RPR):  Provide the services of an RPR at the Site to assist 
the Engineer and to provide more extensive observation of Contractor’s work.  Duties, 
responsibilities, and authority of the RPR are as set forth in Exhibit D.  The furnishing of 
such RPR’s services will not limit, extend, or modify Engineer’s responsibilities or 
authority except as expressly set forth in Exhibit D.  [If Engineer will not be providing the 
services of an RPR, then delete this Paragraph 2 by inserting the word “DELETED” after 
the paragraph title, and do not include Exhibit D as part of the Agreement.] 

3. Selection of Independent Testing Laboratory:  Assist Owner in the selection of an 
independent testing laboratory to perform the services identified in Exhibit B, Paragraph 
B2.01. 

4. Pre-Construction Conference:  Participate in and chair a pre-construction conference 
prior to commencement of Work at the Site. 

5. Electronic Transmittal Protocols:  If the Construction Contract Documents do not specify 
protocols for the transmittal of Project-related correspondence, documents, text, data, 
drawings, information, and graphics, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, 
or through access to a secure Project website, then together with Owner and Contractor 
jointly develop such protocols for transmittals between and among Owner, Contractor, 
and Engineer during the Construction Phase and Post-Construction Phase. 

6. Original Documents:  Maintain and safeguard during the Construction Phase at least one 
original printed record version of the Construction Contract Documents, including 
Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other design 
professionals in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.  Throughout the 
Construction Phase, make such original printed record version of the Construction 
Contract Documents available to Contractor and Owner for review. 

7. Schedules:  Receive, review, and determine the acceptability of any and all schedules that 
Contractor is required to submit to Engineer, including the Progress Schedule, Schedule 
of Submittals, and Schedule of Values. 

8. Baselines and Benchmarks:  As appropriate, establish baselines and benchmarks for 
locating the Work which in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to 
proceed. 

9. Visits to Site and Observation of Construction:  In connection with observations of 
Contractor’s Work while it is in progress: 

a. Make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction, 
as Engineer deems necessary, to observe as an experienced and qualified design 
professional the progress of Contractor’s executed Work.  Such visits and 
observations by Engineer, and the Resident Project Representative, if any, are not 
intended to be exhaustive or to extend to every aspect of the Work or to involve 
detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to 
Engineer in this Agreement and the Construction Contract Documents, but rather are 
to be limited to spot checking, selective sampling, and similar methods of general 
observation of the Work based on Engineer’s exercise of professional judgment, as 
assisted by the Resident Project Representative, if any.  Based on information 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 9 

obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer will determine in general if 
the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents, 
and Engineer shall keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work. 

b. The purpose of Engineer’s visits to the Site, and representation by the Resident 
Project Representative, if any, at the Site, will be to enable Engineer to better carry 
out the duties and responsibilities assigned to and undertaken by Engineer during 
the Construction Phase, and, in addition, by the exercise of Engineer’s efforts as an 
experienced and qualified design professional, to provide for Owner a greater degree 
of confidence that the completed Work will conform in general to the Construction 
Contract Documents and that Contractor has implemented and maintained the 
integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated in the Construction Contract Documents.  Engineer shall not, during such 
visits or as a result of such observations of the Work, supervise, direct, or have 
control over the Work, nor shall Engineer have authority over or responsibility for 
the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected 
or used by any Constructor, for security or safety at the Site, for safety precautions 
and programs incident to any Constructor’s work in progress, for the coordination of 
the Constructors’ work or schedules, nor for any failure of any Constructor to comply 
with Laws and Regulations applicable to  furnishing and performing of its work.  
Accordingly, Engineer neither guarantees the performance of any Constructor nor 
assumes responsibility for any Constructor’s failure to furnish or perform the Work, 
or any portion of the Work, in accordance with the Construction Contract 
Documents. 

c. The visits described in Article A1.05.A.9.a shall be at least monthly and the Engineer 
shall document all visits to the project with copies furnished to the Owner and 
Agency. 

10. Defective Work:  Reject Work if, on the basis of Engineer’s observations, Engineer 
believes that such Work is defective under the terms and standards set forth in the 
Construction Contract Documents. Provide recommendations to Owner regarding 
whether Contractor should correct such Work or remove and replace such Work, or 
whether Owner should consider accepting such Work as provided in the Construction 
Contract Documents. 

11. Compatibility with Design Concept:  If Engineer has express knowledge that a specific 
part  of the Work that is not defective under the terms and standards set forth in the 
Construction Contract Documents is nonetheless not compatible with  the design 
concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole,  then inform Owner of such 
incompatibility, and provide recommendations for addressing such Work. 

12. Clarifications and Interpretations:  Accept from Contractor and Owner submittal of all 
matters in question concerning the requirements of the Construction Contract 
Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), 
or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Construction Contract Documents. 
With reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision 
on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Construction 
Contract Documents.  



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 10 

13. Non-reviewable Matters:  If a submitted matter in question concerns the Engineer’s 
performance of its duties and obligations, or terms and conditions of the Construction 
Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work 
under the Construction Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, 
Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then 
Engineer will promptly give written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer will 
not provide a decision or interpretation. 

14.  Field Orders:  Subject to any limitations in the Construction Contract Documents, 
Engineer may prepare and issue Field Orders requiring minor changes in the Work. 

15. Change Orders and Work Change Directives:  Recommend Change Orders and Work 
Change Directives to Owner, as appropriate, and prepare Change Orders and Work 
Change Directives as required. 

16. Differing Site Conditions:  Respond to any notice from Contractor of differing site 
conditions, including conditions relating to underground facilities such as utilities, and 
hazardous environmental conditions. Promptly conduct reviews and prepare findings, 
conclusions, and recommendations for Owner’s use. 

17. Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals:  Review and approve or take other 
appropriate action with respect to Shop Drawings, Samples,  and other required 
Contractor submittals, but only for conformance with the information given in the 
Construction Contract Documents and compatibility with the design concept of the 
completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Construction Contract 
Documents.  Such reviews and approvals or other action will not extend to means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto.  Engineer shall meet any Contractor’s submittal schedule 
that Engineer has accepted. 

18. Substitutes and “Or-equal”:  Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or 
“or-equal” materials and equipment proposed by Contractor, but subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph A2.02.A.2 of this Exhibit A. Review of substitutes and "or 
equals" shall be in accordance with the General Conditions of the Construction 
Contract and applicable Agency regulations. 

19. Inspections and Tests: 

a. Receive and review all certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals required by 
Laws and Regulations or the Construction Contract Documents.  Engineer’s review of 
such certificates will be for the purpose of determining that the results certified 
indicate compliance with the Construction Contract Documents and will not 
constitute an independent evaluation that the content or procedures of such 
inspections, tests, or approvals comply with the requirements of the Construction 
Contract Documents.  Engineer shall be entitled to rely on the results of such 
inspections and tests. 

b. As deemed reasonably necessary, request that Contractor uncover Work that is to 
be inspected, tested, or approved.  



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 11 

c. Pursuant to the terms of the Construction Contract, require special inspections or 
testing of the Work, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

20. Change Proposals and Claims:  (a) Review and respond to Change Proposals.  Review 
each duly submitted Change Proposal from Contractor and, within 30 days after receipt 
of the Contractor’s supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, approve 
it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part.  Such actions shall be in writing, with 
a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If the Change Proposal does not involve the 
design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the 
Work, or other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties 
that the Engineer will not resolve the Change Proposal.  (b) Provide information or data 
to Owner regarding engineering or technical matters pertaining to Claims. 

21. Applications for Payment:  Based on Engineer’s observations as an experienced and 
qualified design professional and on review of Applications for Payment and 
accompanying supporting documentation: 

a. Determine the amounts that Engineer recommends Contractor be paid. Recommend 
reductions in payment (set-offs) based on the provisions for set-offs stated in the 
Construction Contract. Such recommendations of payment will be in writing and will 
constitute Engineer’s representation to Owner, based on such observations and 
review, that, to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief, 
Contractor’s Work has progressed to the point indicated, the Work is generally in 
accordance with the Construction Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of 
the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, to the 
results of any subsequent tests called for in the Construction Contract Documents, 
and to any other qualifications stated in the recommendation), and the conditions 
precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear to have been 
fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the  Work.  In the case of 
unit price Work, Engineer’s recommendations of payment will include final 
determinations of quantities and classifications of the Work (subject to any 
subsequent adjustments allowed by the Construction Contract Documents). 

b. By recommending payment, Engineer shall not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that observations made by Engineer to check the quality or quantity of 
Contractor’s Work as it is performed and furnished have been exhaustive, extended 
to every aspect of Contractor’s Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of 
the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this 
Agreement.  Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of 
recommending payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment including 
final payment will impose on Engineer responsibility to supervise, direct, or control 
the Work, or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of 
construction or safety precautions or programs incident thereto, or Contractor’s 
compliance with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s furnishing and 
performing the Work.  It will also not impose responsibility on Engineer to make any 
examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the money 
paid to Contractor by Owner; to determine that title to any portion of the Work, 
including materials or equipment, has passed to Owner free and clear of any liens, 
claims, security interests, or encumbrances; or that there may not be other matters 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 12 

at issue between Owner and Contractor that might affect the amount that should be 
paid. 

22. Contractor’s Completion Documents:  Receive from Contractor, review, and transmit to 
Owner maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, 
certificates or other evidence of insurance required by the Construction Contract 
Documents, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and Shop Drawings, Samples, 
and other data approved as provided under Paragraph A1.05.A.17.  Receive from 
Contractor, review, and transmit to Owner the annotated record documents which are 
to be assembled by Contractor in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents 
to obtain final payment.  The extent of Engineer’s review of record documents shall be 
to check that Contractor has submitted all pages. Receive from Contractor and review 
the annotated record documents which are to be assembled by Contractor in 
accordance with the Construction Contract Documents to obtain final payment. The 
Engineer shall prepare Record Drawings, and furnish such Record Drawings to Owner. 

23. Substantial Completion:  Promptly after notice from Contractor that Contractor 
considers the entire Work ready for its intended use, in company with Owner and 
Contractor, visit the Site to review the Work and determine the status of completion. 
Follow the procedures in the Construction Contract regarding the preliminary certificate 
of Substantial Completion, punch list of items to be completed, Owner’s objections, 
notice to Contractor, and issuance of a final certificate of Substantial Completion.  Assist 
Owner regarding any remaining engineering or technical matters affecting Owner’s use 
or occupancy of the Work following Substantial Completion. 

24. Other Tasks:  Perform or provide the following other Construction Phase tasks or 
deliverables: [            ] [List any such tasks or deliverables here.] 

 Upon Substantial Completion, the Engineer shall provide a copy of the Certificate 
 of Substantial Completion to the Agency. 

25. Final Notice of Acceptability of the Work:  Conduct a final visit to the Project to determine 
if the Work is complete and acceptable so that Engineer may recommend, in writing, 
final payment to Contractor.  Accompanying the recommendation for final payment, 
Engineer shall also provide a notice to Owner and Contractor in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit E (“Notice of Acceptability of Work”) that the Work is acceptable (subject to 
the provisions of the Notice and Paragraph A1.05.A.21.b) to the best of Engineer’s 
knowledge, information, and belief, and based on the extent of the services provided by 
Engineer under this Agreement. 

26. Standards for Certain Construction-Phase Decisions:  Engineer will render decisions 
regarding the requirements of the Construction Contract Documents, and judge the 
acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth in the 
Construction Contract for initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of 
the Work. In rendering such decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality 
to Owner or Contractor, and will not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in 
connection with any proceedings, interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or 
rendered in good faith. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 13 

B. Duration of Construction Phase:  The Construction Phase will commence with the execution of 
the first Construction Contract for the Project or any part thereof and will terminate upon 
written recommendation by Engineer for final payment to Contractors.  If the Project involves 
more than one prime contract as indicated in Paragraph A1.03.D, then Construction Phase 
services may be rendered at different times in respect to the separate contracts.  Subject to 
the provisions of Article 3, Engineer shall be entitled to an equitable increase in compensation 
if Construction Phase services (including Resident Project Representative services, if any) are 
required after the original date for completion and readiness for final payment of Contractor 
as set forth in the Construction Contract. 

A1.06 Post-Construction Phase 

A. Upon written authorization from Owner during the Post-Construction Phase, Engineer shall: 

1. Together with Owner, visit the Project to observe any apparent defects in the Work,  
make recommendations as to replacement or correction of defective Work, if any, or the 
need to repair of any damage to the Site or adjacent areas, and assist Owner in 
consultations and discussions with Contractor concerning correction of any such 
defective Work and any needed repairs. 

2. Together with Owner, visit the Project within one month before the end of the 
Construction Contract’s correction period to ascertain whether any portion of the Work 
or the repair of any damage to the Site or adjacent areas is defective and therefore 
subject to correction by Contractor. 

3. Perform or provide the following other Post-Construction Phase tasks or deliverables:   

The Engineer shall provide two hard copies and one electronic copy of the record 
drawings to the Owner. These documents shall be provided to the Owner within 60 days 
of Project Completion. A copy of the transmittal letter shall be submitted to the 
appropriate funding agencies. 

   [            ] [List any such tasks or deliverables here.] 

B. The Post-Construction Phase services may commence during the Construction Phase and, if 
not otherwise modified in this Exhibit A, will terminate twelve months after the 
commencement of the Construction Contract’s correction period.  [Deleted Sections A1.02-
1.05] 

PART 2 – ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

A2.01 Additional Services Requiring Owner’s Written Authorization 
 

A. If authorized in writing by Owner, Engineer shall provide Additional Services of the types listed 
below. These services are not included as part of Basic Services and will be paid for by Owner 
as indicated in Exhibit C. 

1. Preparation of applications and supporting documents (in addition to those furnished 
under Basic Services) for private or governmental grants, loans, or advances in 
connection with the Project; preparation or review of environmental assessments and 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 14 

impact statements; review and evaluation of the effects on the design requirements for 
the Project of any such statements and documents prepared by others; and assistance 
in obtaining approvals of authorities having jurisdiction over the anticipated 
environmental impact of the Project. 

2. Services to make measured drawings of existing conditions or facilities, to conduct tests 
or investigations of existing conditions or facilities, or to verify the accuracy of drawings 
or other information furnished by Owner or others. 

3. Services resulting from significant changes in the scope, extent, or character of the 
portions of the Project designed or specified by Engineer, or the Project’s design 
requirements, including, but not limited to, changes in size, complexity, Owner’s 
schedule, character of construction, or method of financing; and revising previously 
accepted studies, reports, Drawings, Specifications, or Construction Contract Documents 
when such revisions are required by changes in Laws and Regulations enacted 
subsequent to the Effective Date or are due to any other causes beyond Engineer’s 
control. 

4. Services resulting from Owner’s request to evaluate additional Study and Report Phase 
alternative solutions beyond those agreed to in Paragraph A1.01.A.1 and 2, but only if 
the Owner's request is made after completion of the Study and Report Phase. 

5. Services required as a result of Owner’s providing incomplete or incorrect Project 
information to Engineer. 

6. Providing renderings or models for Owner’s use, including services in support of building 
information modeling or civil integrated management. 

7. Undertaking investigations and studies including, but not limited to: 

a. detailed consideration of operations, maintenance, and overhead expenses; 

b. the preparation of feasibility studies (such as those that include projections of output 
capacity, utility project rates, project market demand, or project revenues) and cash 
flow analyses, provided that such services are based on the engineering and technical 
aspects of the Project, and do not include rendering advice regarding municipal 
financial products or the issuance of municipal securities; 

c. preparation of appraisals; 

d. evaluating processes available for licensing, and assisting Owner in obtaining process 
licensing;  

e. detailed quantity surveys of materials, equipment, and labor; and 

f. audits or inventories required in connection with construction performed or 
furnished by Owner. 

8. Furnishing services of Consultants for other than Basic Services. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 15 

9. Providing data or services of the types described in Exhibit B, when Owner retains  
Engineer to provide such data or services instead of Owner furnishing the same.  

10. Providing the following services: 

a. Services attributable to more prime construction contracts than specified in 
Paragraph A1.03.D. 

b. Services to arrange for performance of construction services for Owner by 
contractors other than the principal prime Contractor, and administering Owner’s 
contract for such services. 

11. Services during out-of-town travel required of Engineer, other than for visits to the Site 
or Owner’s office as required in Basic Services (Part 1 of Exhibit A). 

12. Preparing for, coordinating with, participating in and responding to structured 
independent review processes, including, but not limited to, construction management, 
cost estimating, project peer review, value engineering, and constructibility review 
requested by Owner; and performing or furnishing services required to revise studies, 
reports, Drawings, Specifications, or other documents as a result of such review 
processes. 

13. Preparing additional bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other 
construction procurement documents) or Construction Contract Documents for 
alternate bids or cost estimates requested by Owner for the Work or a portion thereof. 

14. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding, or renegotiating contracts for 
construction, materials, equipment, or services, except when such assistance is required 
to complete services required by Paragraph 5.02.A and Exhibit F. 

15. Preparing conformed Construction Contract Documents that incorporate and integrate 
the content of all Addenda and any amendments negotiated by Owner and Contractor. 

16. Providing Construction Phase services beyond the original date for completion and 
readiness for final payment of Contractor, but only if such services increase the total 
quantity of services to be performed in the Construction Phase, rather than merely 
shifting performance of such services to a later date. 

17. Preparing Record Drawings, and furnishing such Record Drawings to Owner.  

18. Supplementing Record Drawings with information regarding the completed Project, Site, 
and immediately adjacent areas obtained from field observations, Owner, utility 
companies, and other reliable sources. 

19. Conducting surveys, investigations, and field measurements to verify the accuracy of 
Record Drawing content obtained from Contractor, Owner, utility companies, and other 
sources; revise and supplement Record Drawings as needed. 

20. Preparation of operation, maintenance, and staffing manuals.  



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 16 

21. Protracted or extensive assistance in refining and adjusting of Project equipment and 
systems (such as initial startup, testing, and balancing). 

22. Assistance to Owner in training Owner’s staff to operate and maintain Project equipment 
and systems. 

23. Assistance to Owner in developing systems and procedures for (a) control of the 
operation and maintenance of Project equipment and systems, and (b) related 
recordkeeping. 

24. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for Owner in any litigation, 
arbitration, lien or bond claim, or other legal or administrative proceeding involving the 
Project. 

25. Overtime work requiring higher than regular rates. 

26. Providing construction surveys and staking to enable Contractor to perform its work 
other than as required under Paragraph A1.05.A.8; any type of property surveys or 
related engineering services needed for the transfer of interests in real property; and 
providing other special field surveys. 

27. Providing more extensive services required to enable Engineer to issue notices or 
certifications requested by Owner. 

28. Extensive services required during any correction period, or with respect to monitoring 
Contractor’s compliance with warranties and guarantees called for in the Construction 
Contract (except as agreed to under Basic Services). 

29. Other additional services performed or furnished by Engineer not otherwise provided for 
in this Agreement. 

A2.02 Additional Services Not Requiring Owner’s Written Authorization 

A. Engineer shall advise Owner that Engineer is commencing to perform or furnish the Additional 
Services of the types listed below.  For such Additional Services, Engineer need not request or 
obtain specific advance written authorization from Owner.  Engineer shall cease performing or 
furnishing such Additional Services upon receipt of written notice to cease from Owner. 

1. Services in connection with Work Change Directives and Change Orders to reflect 
changes requested by Owner. 

2. Services in making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the acceptance 
of substitute materials or equipment other than “or equal” items; services after the award 
of the Construction Contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of a 
proposed "or equal" or substitution which is found to be inappropriate for the Project; 
evaluation and determination of an excessive number of proposed "or equals" or 
substitutions, whether proposed before or after award of the Construction Contract. 

3. Services resulting from significant delays, changes, or price increases occurring as a direct 
or indirect result of materials, equipment, or energy shortages. 



 

Exhibit A – Engineer’s Services 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                         Page 17 

4. Additional or extended services arising from (a) the presence at the Site of any 
Constituent of Concern or items of historical or cultural significance, (b) emergencies or 
acts of God endangering the Work, (c) damage to the Work by fire or other causes during 
construction, (d) a significant amount of defective, neglected, or delayed Work, (e) 
acceleration of the progress schedule involving services beyond normal working hours, 
or (f) default by Contractor. 

5. Services (other than Basic Services during the Post-Construction Phase) in connection 
with any partial utilization of the Work by Owner prior to Substantial Completion. 

6. Evaluating unreasonable or frivolous requests for interpretation or information (RFIs), 
Change Proposals, or other demands from Contractor or others in connection with the 
Work, or an excessive number of RFIs, Change Proposals, or demands. 

7. Reviewing a Shop Drawing or other Contractor submittal more than three times, as a 
result of repeated inadequate submissions by Contractor. 

8. While at the Site, compliance by Engineer and its staff with those terms of Owner's or 
Contractor's safety program provided to Engineer subsequent to the Effective Date that 
exceed those normally required of engineering personnel by federal, State, or local 
safety authorities for similar construction sites. 



Exhibit B – Owner's Responsibilities 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                            and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                        Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT B, consisting of 3 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated 
July 2020. 

 
Owner’s Responsibilities 

 
Article 2 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties. 
 
B2.01 In addition to other responsibilities of Owner as set forth in this Agreement, Owner shall at its 

expense: 
 

A. Provide Engineer with all criteria and full information as to Owner’s requirements for the 
Project, including design objectives and constraints, space, capacity and performance 
requirements, flexibility, and expandability, and any budgetary limitations.  

B. Give instructions to Engineer regarding Owner’s procurement of construction services 
(including instructions regarding advertisements for bids, instructions to bidders, and requests 
for proposals, as applicable), Owner’s construction contract practices and requirements, 
insurance and bonding requirements, electronic transmittals during construction, and other 
information necessary for the finalization of Owner’s bidding-related documents (or requests 
for proposals or other construction procurement documents), and Construction Contract 
Documents.  Furnish copies (or give specific directions requesting Engineer to use copies 
already in Engineer’s possession) of all design and construction standards, Owner’s standard 
forms, general conditions (if other than EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract, 2013 Edition), supplementary conditions, text, and related documents 
and content for Engineer to include in the draft bidding-related documents (or requests for 
proposals or other construction procurement documents), and draft Construction Contract 
Documents, when applicable.  Owner shall have responsibility for the final content of (1) such 
bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other construction procurement 
documents), and (2) those portions of any Construction Contract other than the design (as set 
forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), and other engineering or technical matters; 
and Owner shall seek the advice of Owner’s legal counsel, risk managers, and insurance 
advisors with respect to the drafting and content of such documents. 

C. Furnish to Engineer any other available information pertinent to the Project including reports 
and data relative to previous designs, construction, or investigation at or adjacent to the Site. 

D. Following Engineer’s assessment of initially-available Project information and data and upon 
Engineer’s request, obtain, furnish, or otherwise make available (if necessary through title 
searches, or retention of specialists or consultants) such additional Project-related information 
and data as is reasonably required to enable Engineer to complete its Basic and Additional 
Services.  Such additional information or data would generally include the following: 

1. Property descriptions. 

2. Zoning, deed, and other land use restrictions. 

3. Utility and topographic mapping and surveys. 



 

 
Exhibit B – Owner's Responsibilities 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                   and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                  Page 2 

4. Property, boundary, easement, right-of-way, and other special surveys or data, including 
establishing relevant reference points. 

5. Explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site; geotechnical 
reports and investigations; drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site; hydrographic surveys, laboratory tests and inspections 
of samples, materials, and equipment; with appropriate professional interpretation of 
such information or data.  

6. Environmental assessments, audits, investigations, and impact statements, and other 
relevant environmental, historical, or cultural studies relevant to the Project, the Site, 
and adjacent areas. 

7. Data or consultations as required for the Project but not otherwise identified in this 
Agreement. 

E. Arrange for safe access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon public and private 
property as required for Engineer to perform services under the Agreement. 

F. Recognizing and acknowledging that Engineer's services and expertise do not include the 
following services, provide, as required for the Project: 

1. Accounting, bond and financial advisory (including, if applicable, “municipal advisor” 
services as described in Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act (2010) and the municipal advisor registration rules issued by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission), independent cost estimating, and insurance counseling 
services. 

2. Legal services with regard to issues pertaining to the Project as Owner requires, 
Contractor raises, or Engineer reasonably requests. 

3. Such auditing services as Owner requires to ascertain how or for what purpose 
Contractor has used the money paid. 

G. Provide the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all inspections, tests, and 
approvals of samples, materials, and equipment required by the Construction Contract 
Documents (other than those required to be furnished or arranged by Contractor), or to 
evaluate the performance of materials, equipment, and facilities of Owner, prior to their 
incorporation into the Work with appropriate professional interpretation thereof. Provide 
Engineer with the findings and reports generated by testing laboratories, including findings and 
reports obtained from or through Contractor. 

H. Provide reviews, approvals, and permits from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction 
to approve all phases of the Project designed or specified by Engineer and such reviews, 
approvals, and consents from others as may be necessary for completion of each phase of the 
Project. 



 

 
Exhibit B – Owner's Responsibilities 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                   and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                  Page 3 

I. Advise Engineer of the identity and scope of services of any independent consultants employed 
by Owner to perform or furnish services in regard to the Project, including, but not limited to, 
cost estimating, project peer review, value engineering, and constructibility review. 

J. If Owner designates a construction manager or an individual or entity other than, or in addition 
to, Engineer to represent Owner at the Site, define and set forth as an attachment to this 
Exhibit B the duties, responsibilities, and limitations of authority of such other party and the 
relation thereof to the duties, responsibilities, and authority of Engineer. 

K. If more than one prime contract is to be awarded for the Work designed or specified by 
Engineer, then designate a person or entity to have authority and responsibility for 
coordinating the activities among the various prime Contractors, and define and set forth the 
duties, responsibilities, and limitations of authority of such individual or entity and the relation 
thereof to the duties, responsibilities, and authority of Engineer as an attachment to this Exhibit 
B that is to be mutually agreed upon and made a part of this Agreement before such services 
begin. 

L. Inform Engineer in writing of any specific requirements of safety or security programs that are 
applicable to Engineer, as a visitor to the Site. 

M. Examine all alternative solutions, studies, reports, sketches, Drawings, Specifications, 
proposals, and other documents presented by Engineer (including obtaining advice of an 
attorney, risk manager, insurance counselor, financial/municipal advisor, and other advisors or 
consultants as Owner deems appropriate with respect to such examination) and render in 
writing timely decisions pertaining thereto. 

N. Inform Engineer regarding any need for assistance in evaluating the possible use of Project 
Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques, as defined in Exhibit A. 

O. Advise Engineer as to whether Engineer’s assistance is requested in identifying opportunities 
for enhancing the sustainability of the Project. 

P. Place and pay for advertisement for Bids in appropriate publications. 

Q. Furnish to Engineer data as to Owner’s anticipated costs for services to be provided by others 
(including, but not limited to, accounting, bond and financial, independent cost estimating, 
insurance counseling, and legal advice) for Owner so that Engineer may assist Owner in 
collating the various cost categories which comprise Total Project Costs. 

R. Attend and participate in the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-construction conferences, 
construction progress and other job related meetings, and Site visits to determine Substantial 
Completion and readiness of the completed Work for final payment.   

S. Authorize Engineer to provide Additional Services as set forth in Part 2 of Exhibit A of the 
Agreement, as required. 

T. Perform or provide the following: None 

 



 

 
Exhibit C –Compensation Packet BC-1: Basic Services (other than RPR) – Lump Sum Method of Payment 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                   and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                               Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT C, consisting of 2 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated July 
2020. 

 
Payments to Engineer for Services and Reimbursable Expenses 
COMPENSATION PACKET BC-1:  Basic Services – Lump Sum 
 
Article 2 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties: 
 
ARTICLE 2 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
C2.01 Compensation for Basic Services (other than Resident Project Representative) – Lump Sum Method 

of Payment 
 

A. Owner shall pay Engineer for Basic Services set forth in Exhibit A, except for services of 
Engineer’s Resident Project Representative, if any, as follows: 

1. A Lump Sum amount of $31,500 based on the following estimated distribution of 
compensation:       

a. Study and Report Phase $31,500          

b. Preliminary Design Phase $N/A 

c. Final Design Phase $ N/A 

d. Bidding and Negotiating Phase $ N/A 

e. Construction Phase $ N/A 

f. Post-Construction Phase $ N/A 

2. Engineer may alter the distribution of compensation between individual phases noted 
herein to be consistent with services actually rendered, but shall not exceed the total 
Lump Sum amount unless approved in writing by the Owner. 

3. The Lump Sum includes compensation for Engineer’s services and services of Engineer’s 
Consultants, if any.  Appropriate amounts have been incorporated in the Lump Sum to 
account for labor costs, overhead, profit, expenses (other than any expressly allowed 
Reimbursable Expenses), and Consultant charges.  

4. In addition to the Lump Sum, Engineer is also entitled to reimbursement from Owner for 
the following Reimbursable Expenses (see Appendix 1 for rates or charges): N/A. 

5. The portion of the Lump Sum amount billed for Engineer’s services will be based upon 
Engineer’s estimate of the percentage of the total services actually completed during the 
billing period. If any Reimbursable Expenses are expressly allowed, Engineer may also bill 
for any such Reimbursable Expenses incurred during the billing period. 



 

 
Exhibit C –Compensation Packet BC-1: Basic Services (other than RPR) – Lump Sum Method of Payment 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                   and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                               Page 2 

B. Period of Service:  The compensation amount stipulated in Compensation Packet BC-1 is 
conditioned on a period of service not exceeding ____ months.  If such period of service is 
extended, the compensation amount for Engineer's services shall be appropriately adjusted 
with concurrence of the Owner and Agency. 



 

Exhibit C – Compensation Packet AS-1:  Additional Services – 
Standard Hourly Rates Method of Payment. 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                    and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                 Page 1 

COMPENSATION PACKET AS-1:   
Additional Services – Standard Hourly Rates 

 
Article 2 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties: 
 
C2.05 Compensation for Additional Services – Standard Hourly Rates Method of Payment 
 
A. Owner shall pay Engineer for Additional Services, if any, as follows: 

1. General:  For services of Engineer’s personnel engaged directly on the Project pursuant 
to Paragraph A2.01 or A2.02 of Exhibit A, except for services as a consultant or witness 
under Paragraph A2.01.A.20, (which if needed shall be separately negotiated based on 
the nature of the required consultation or testimony) an amount equal to the cumulative 
hours charged to the Project by each class of Engineer’s personnel times Standard Hourly 
Rates for each applicable billing class for all Additional Services performed on the Project, 
plus related Reimbursable Expenses and Engineer’s Consultant’s charges, if any. 

B. Compensation For Reimbursable Expenses: 

1. For those Reimbursable Expenses that are not accounted for in the compensation for 
Basic Services under Paragraph C2.01 and are directly related to the provision of 
Additional Services, Owner shall pay Engineer at the rates set forth in Appendix 1 to this 
Exhibit C. 

2. Reimbursable Expenses include the expenses identified in Appendix 1 and the following 
categories:  transportation (including mileage), lodging, and subsistence incidental 
thereto; providing and maintaining field office facilities including furnishings and utilities; 
toll telephone calls, mobile phone charges, and courier charges; reproduction of reports, 
Drawings, Specifications, bidding-related or other procurement documents, 
Construction Contract Documents, and similar Project-related items; and Consultants’ 
charges. In addition, if authorized in advance by Owner, Reimbursable Expenses will also 
include expenses incurred for the use of highly specialized equipment. 

3. The amounts payable to Engineer for Reimbursable Expenses, if any, will be the 
Additional Services-related internal expenses actually incurred or allocated by Engineer, 
plus all invoiced external Reimbursable Expenses allocable to such Additional Services, 
the latter multiplied by a factor of 1.10. 

4. The Reimbursable Expenses Schedule will be adjusted annually (as of January 1) to 
reflect equitable changes in the compensation payable to Engineer.  

C. Other Provisions Concerning Payment for Additional Services: 

1. Whenever Engineer is entitled to compensation for the charges of Engineer’s 
Consultants, those charges shall be the amounts billed by Engineer’s Consultants to 
Engineer times a factor of 1.10. 



 

Exhibit C – Compensation Packet AS-1:  Additional Services – 
Standard Hourly Rates Method of Payment. 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                    and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                 Page 2 

2. Factors:  The external Reimbursable Expenses and Engineer’s Consultant’s Factors 
include Engineer’s overhead and profit associated with Engineer’s responsibility for the 
administration of such services and costs. 

3. To the extent necessary to verify Engineer’s charges and upon Owner’s timely request, 
Engineer shall make copies of such records available to Owner at NO cost. 



 

Exhibit D - Resident Project Representative. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                 and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                           Page 1 

This is Appendix 1 to EXHIBIT C, consisting of 3 pages, 
referred to in and part of the Agreement between 
Owner and Engineer for Professional Services dated      
July, 2020 
 

 

THE THRASHER GROUP, INC. 
STANDARD RATE SCHEDULE 

2020 RATES 
Hourly Rate Schedule and Reimbursable Expenses Schedule 

 
 

Engineering Services     

Sr. Project Manager $180.00 Hour 
Project Manager II $160.00 Hour 
Project Manager I  $130.00 Hour 
Project Coordinator $125.00 Hour 
Professional Engineer $150.00 Hour 
Sr. Project Engineer $145.00 Hour 
Project Engineer  $125.00 Hour 
Staff Engineer $100.00 Hour 
Sr. Engineering Technician $105.00 Hour 
Engineering Technician $95.00 Hour 
CAD Manager $125.00 Hour 
Sr. CAD Technician $105.00 Hour 
CAD Technician II $85.00 Hour 
CAD Technician I $65.00 Hour 

   
Architectural Services   
   

Licensed Architect $180.00 Hour 
Landscape Architect $125.00 Hour 
Project Architect $95.00 Hour 
Architecture Technician $65.00 Hour 

   
Environmental Services   
   

Sr. Environmental Project Manager $175.00 Hour 
Environmental Manager III $150.00 Hour 
Environmental Manager II $135.00 Hour 
Environmental Manager I $120.00 Hour 
Environmental Scientist II $110.00 Hour 
Environmental Scientist I $95.00 Hour 
Environmental Technician II $80.00 Hour 
Environmental Technician I $65.00 Hour 
Wildlife Biologist $95.00 Hour 

   
Survey Services   
   



 

Exhibit D - Resident Project Representative. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                 and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                           Page 2 

Professional Land Surveyor $150.00 Hour 
Senior Survey Manager $150.00 Hour 
Survey Project Manager $120.00 Hour 
Survey Field/Crew Supervisor $90.00 Hour 
1-Person Survey Crew $95.00 Hour 
2-Person Survey Crew $115.00 Hour 
3-Person Survey Crew $165.00 Hour 
811 Utility Manager $125.00 Hour 
Utility Locator $90.00 Hour 
Certified Programmist $150.00 Hour 
Stereo Compiler $90.00 Hour 
Orthophoto Tech $85.00 Hour 
Mapper/Data Processor $80.00 Hour 
UAS Flight Crew $140.00 Hour 
GISP $100.00 Hour 
GIS Technician $80.00 Hour 
CADD Technician II $85.00 Hour 
CADD Technician I $65.00 Hour 
Lidar Tech II $90.00 Hour 
Lidar Tech I $80.00 Hour 
Scanning Crew $120.00 Hour 
Pre-Con Road Video $130.00 Hour 

   
Construction Services   
   

E & S Construction Monitoring $95.00 Hour 
Sr. Construction Manager $125.00 Hour 
Construction Manager $110.00 Hour 
Senior Project Representative $85.00 Hour 
Project Representative $75.00 Hour 
Material Testing Tech $72.00 Hour 
2 Person I & I Crew (Includes equipment $130.00 Hour 
Safety Administrator  $120.00 Hour 
E&S Inspection (Does not include lodging) $85.00 Hour 

E&S Inspection (Does not include lodging; 
based on (6) 10 hour days) $850.00 Day 
Utility Inspector (Does not include lodging; 
based on (6) 10 hour days $850.00 Day 
Chief Inspector (Does not include lodging; 

based on (6) 10 hour days $1,250.00 Day 
Clerical $50.00 Hour 
Accounting $75.00 Hour 
   

Equipment   
   
Robot-GPS $125.00 Day 
ATV/UTV (Four Wheeler) $40.00 Day 
Drone $80.00 Day 
   

Laboratory Testing   
   



 

Exhibit D - Resident Project Representative. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                 and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                           Page 3 

Standard Proctor (ASTM D698) $150.00 Each 
Modified Proctor (ASTM D1557) $200.00 Each 
Atterberg Limits (ASTM D4318) $70.00 Each 
Hydrometer Analysis (ASTM D422) $275.00 Each 
Compression Testing (Concrete / Grout / 
Mortar Cubes / Co) $18.00 Each 
Compression Testing (Masonry Blocks) $45.00 Each 
Aggregate Gradation $120.00 Each 
#200Wash (ASTM D422) $45.00 Each 
Moisture Content (ASTM D2216) $30.00 Each 
Fireproofing Density $75.00 Each 
Soil Classification (ASTM D2487) $550.00 Each 
Soil Chemical Analysis (Pyrite) $50.00 Each 
Asphalt/Concrete Cores (Density, % Air 
Voids) $50.00 Each 
Equipment Fee $50.00 Day 
Administrative Work $25.00 Day 
Floor Flatness Equipment $100.00 Day 
Asphalt/Concrete Core Drill $300.00 Day 
   

Reproduction of Drawings   
   
Printed Copies (11” x 17”) $0.50 Sheet 
Printed Copies (22” x 34”) $1.10 Sheet 

* Reproduction in excess of the normal project requirement of three (3) sets of final construction 
drawings 
 
Miscellaneous Notes     

1)  Overtime rate of 1.5x applies after 40 hours, weekends, and Holidays. 

2)  Fees will be billed per schedule above for time the work is performed. Out of pocket expenses 
will be reimbursed at cost, and necessary mileage will be reimbursed at the federal rate in effect at 
the time work is performed. Per Diem is $55.00 per day per person for overnight stay. 
3)  Expert Witness Testimony required by Client will be billed at an hourly rate plus 20% for the 
Classification required. 

4)  Miscellaneous services and expenses required by the Engineer to complete specialty services 
required by the client and to expedite project delivery. Engineering Consultants, Geotechnical, Land 
& Right of Way Acquisition, Specialized Inspection Services, Environmental, Historical & Cultural 
Surveys, Timber Appraisals, etc. will be billed on a cost plus 15% basis. Hourly Rates are subject to 
overtime at a rate of 1.5x after 40 hours, weekends, and holidays. 
5)  Each project will be bid as a lump sum, not to exceed, based on a scope of work provided by 
respective project managers for the Client and agreed upon by both Parties. Rates may differ from 
the rate schedule provided, due to specific details outlined in the project scope. All out of scope 
work will be invoiced based on the rate schedule provided. 
6)  Rates are subject to periodic revision. 
 



 

Exhibit E – Notice of Acceptability of Work. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                          Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT E, consisting of 2 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated 
July 2020. 
 

 

 
 

NOTICE OF ACCEPTABILITY OF WORK 
 
PROJECT:  
 
OWNER: 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
 
OWNER’S CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT IDENTIFICATION: 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT:  
 
ENGINEER: 
 

NOTICE DATE: 
 
To:         
  Owner  
 
And  To:       
  Contractor 
 
From:           
  Engineer 
 

The Engineer hereby gives notice to the above Owner and Contractor that Engineer has recommended final 
payment of Contractor, and that the Work furnished and performed by Contractor under the above 
Construction Contract is acceptable, expressly subject to the provisions of the related Contract Documents, 
the Agreement between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services dated ______, and the following 
terms and conditions of this Notice: 

 
 
 



 

Exhibit E – Notice of Acceptability of Work. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                          Page 2 

 
CONDITIONS OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTABILITY OF WORK 

 
 The Notice of Acceptability of Work (“Notice”) is expressly made subject to the following terms and 
conditions to which all those who receive said Notice and rely thereon agree: 

 
1. This Notice is given with the skill and care ordinarily used by members of the engineering 

profession practicing under similar conditions at the same time and in the same locality. 

2. This Notice reflects and is an expression of the Engineer’s professional opinion. 

3. This Notice is given as to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, information, and belief as of 
the Notice Date.  

4. This Notice is based entirely on and expressly limited by the scope of services Engineer 
has been employed by Owner to perform or furnish during construction of the Project 
(including observation of the Contractor’s work) under Engineer’s Agreement with 
Owner, and applies only to facts that are within Engineer’s knowledge or could 
reasonably have been ascertained by Engineer as a result of carrying out the 
responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer under such Agreement. 

5. This Notice is not a guarantee or warranty of Contractor’s performance under the 
Construction Contract, an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the related 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to defective Work discovered after final 
inspection, nor an assumption of responsibility for any failure of Contractor to furnish 
and perform the Work thereunder in accordance with the Construction Contract 
Documents, or to otherwise comply with the Construction Contract Documents or the 
terms of any special guarantees specified therein. 

6. This Notice does not relieve Contractor of any surviving obligations under the 
Construction Contract, and is subject to Owner’s reservations of rights with respect to 
completion and final payment. 

 
  

By: 
 
 

  
 

Title: 

 
 
 

  
 

Dated: 

 
 
 

 



 

Exhibit G – Insurance. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                    and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                 Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT G, consisting of 3 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated 
July 2020. 

 
Insurance 
 
Paragraph 6.05 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties: 
 
G6.05 Insurance 

 
A. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.05.A and 6.05.B of the 

Agreement are as follows: 

1. By Engineer: 

a. Workers’ Compensation:  Statutory  

b. Employer’s Liability -- 

1) Bodily injury, each accident: $1,000,000 
2) Bodily injury by disease, each employee: $1,000,000 
3) Bodily injury/disease, aggregate: $1,000,000 

 
c. General Liability -- 

1) Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): $1,000,000 
2) General Aggregate:                 $2,000,000 

 
d. Excess or Umbrella Liability --   

1) Per Occurrence: $10,000,000 
2) General Aggregate: $10,000,000 

 
e. Automobile Liability --Combined Single Limit (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): 

 $1,000,000 
 

f. Professional Liability – 

1) Each Claim Made $5,000,000 
2) Annual Aggregate $5,000,000 

 
g. Other (specify):               

1)     Umbrella - Commercial  $5,000,000 

 

 



 

Exhibit G – Insurance. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                    and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                 Page 2 

2. By Owner: 

a. Workers’ Compensation:  Statutory  

b. Employer’s Liability -- 

1) Bodily injury, Each Accident $[            ] 
2) Bodily injury by Disease, Each Employee $[            ] 
3) Bodily injury/Disease, Aggregate  $[            ] 

 
c. General Liability -- 

1) General Aggregate:                 $[            ] 
2) Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): $[            ] 

  
 

d. Excess Umbrella Liability 

1) Per Occurrence: $[            ] 
2) General Aggregate: $[            ] 

 
e. Automobile Liability – Combined Single Limit (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): 

  $[            ] 
 

f. Other (specify):              $[            ] 

 
B. Additional Insureds: 

1. The following individuals or entities are to be listed on Owner’s general liability policies 
of insurance as additional insureds: 



 

Exhibit G – Insurance. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                    and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                 Page 3 

 
 
a. 

   
 
The Thrasher Group 

  Engineer 
 
 
b. 

  
 
 

  Engineer’s Consultant 
 
 
c. 

  
 
 

  Engineer’s Consultant 
d.   
  [other] 

 
2. During the term of this Agreement the Engineer shall notify Owner of any other 

Consultant to be listed as an additional insured on Owner’s general liability policies of 
insurance. 

3. The Owner shall be listed on Engineer’s general liability policy as provided in 
Paragraph 6.05.A. 



 

Exhibit H - Dispute Resolution. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                        and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                     Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT H, consisting of 1 pages, referred to 
in and part of the Agreement between Owner and 
Engineer for Professional Services dated July 2020. 

 
 

Dispute Resolution 
 

Paragraph 6.09 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties: 
 
H6.08 Dispute Resolution 
 

A. Mediation:  Owner and Engineer agree that they shall first submit any and all unsettled claims, 
counterclaims, disputes, and other matters in question between them arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement or the breach thereof (“Disputes”) to mediation by________.  Owner and Engineer 
agree to participate in the mediation process in good faith.  The process shall be conducted on a 
confidential basis, and shall be completed within 120 days.  If such mediation is unsuccessful in 
resolving a Dispute, then (1) the parties may mutually agree to a dispute resolution of their choice, 
or (2) either party may seek to have the Dispute resolved by a court of competent jurisdiction. 



 

 
Exhibit I - Limitations on Liability. 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                          and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                   Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT I, consisting of 2 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated 
July 2020.  

 
 

Limitations of Liability 
 

Paragraph 6.11 of the Agreement is supplemented to include the following agreement of the parties: 
 

A. Limitation of Engineer’s Liability 

1. Engineer’s Liability Limited to Amount of Engineer’s Compensation:  To 
the fullest extent permitted byLaws and Regulations, and 
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the total 
liability, in the aggregate, of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, 
members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants, to Owner and 
anyone claiming by, through, or under Owner for any and all claims, 
losses, costs, or damages whatsoever arising out of, resulting from, or 
in any way related to the Project or the Agreement from any cause or 
causes, including but not limited to the negligence, professional errors 
or omissions, strict liability, breach of contract, indemnity obligations, 
or warranty express or implied of Engineer or Engineer’s officers, 
directors, members, partners, agents, employees, or Consultants shall 
not exceed the total compensation received by Engineer under this 
Agreement. 

2. Exclusion of Special, Incidental, Indirect, and Consequential Damages:  
To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and 
notwithstanding any other provision in the Agreement, consistent with 
the terms of Paragraph 6.11, the Engineer and Engineer’s officers, 
directors, members, partners, agents, Consultants, and employees shall 
not be liable to Owner or anyone claiming by, through, or under Owner 
for any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, indirect, 
or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way 
related to this Agreement or the Project, from any cause or causes. ,  
including but not limited to:  

B. Indemnification by Owner:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its 
officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants 
from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but 
not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution 
costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, 
cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death 
or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), 
including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by 



 

 
Exhibit I - Limitations on Liability. 

EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 
Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

                                                                          and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                   Page 2 

any negligent act or omission of Owner or Owner’s officers, directors, 
members, partners, agents, employees, consultants, or others retained by or 
under contract to the Owner with respect to this Agreement or to the Project. 

 



 

Exhibit K – Amendment to Owner-Engineer Agreement. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                         and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                    Page 1 

This is EXHIBIT K, consisting of 2 pages, referred 
to in and part of the Agreement between Owner 
and Engineer for Professional Services dated 
July 2020.  

 
AMENDMENT TO OWNER-ENGINEER AGREEMENT 

Amendment No. _____ 
 

The Effective Date of this Amendment is: ______. 
 

Background Data  
  
 Effective Date of Owner-Engineer Agreement:  
 
 Owner: 
 
 Engineer: 
 
 Project: 
   
Nature of Amendment: [Check those that are applicable and delete those that are inapplicable.] 
 

____ Additional Services to be performed by Engineer 

____ Modifications to services of Engineer 

____ Modifications to responsibilities of Owner 

____ Modifications of payment to Engineer 

____ Modifications to time(s) for rendering services 

____ Modifications to other terms and conditions of the Agreement 

Description of Modifications: 

Here describe the modifications, in as much specificity and detail as needed.  Use an 
attachment if necessary. 

 
Agreement Summary: 
 
     Original agreement amount:    $_____________ 
     Net change for prior amendments:               $_____________ 
     This amendment amount:                  $_____________ 
     Adjusted Agreement amount:              $_____________ 
 
     Change in time for services (days or date, as applicable): ______ 
 
 



 

Exhibit K – Amendment to Owner-Engineer Agreement. 
EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services. 

Copyright © 2014 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  
                                                                         and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.                                                    Page 2 

The foregoing Agreement Summary is for reference only and does not alter the terms of the Agreement, 
including those set forth in Exhibit C. 
 
Owner and Engineer hereby agree to modify the above-referenced Agreement as set forth in this 
Amendment.  All provisions of the Agreement not modified by this or previous Amendments remain in 
effect.   

 
   
Owner:  Russell County Board of Supervisors                 Engineer:   The Thrasher Group, Inc 

 
 

By:   By:   
Print name: Lonzo Lester, MBA, CPC, VCO  Print name:  Daniel E. Ferrell, PE 
Title: Russell County Administrator  Title: Principal  
Date Signed:   Date Signed:  



CURTIS C. BROWN     JOHN NORTHON 
State Coordinator of Emergency Management  Deputy State Coordinator – Disaster Services 
and Chief Diversity & Inclusion Officer 
 

   ANDRES ALVAREZ 
  Deputy State Coordinator – Mission Support 

 
 
 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
Department of Emergency Management 

9711 Farrar Court, Suite 200 
North Chesterfield, Virginia 23236 

TEL 804.267.7600     TDD 804.674.2417     FAX 804.272.2046 

Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

 
July 10, 2020 

 
Mr. Lonzo Lester  
County Administrator 
Russell County 
137 Highland Drive 
Lebanon, VA 24266 
 
RE:  FY 2020 Local Emergency Management Performance Grant (LEMPG) 
 
Dear Mr. Lester: 
 
 The Virginia Department of Emergency Management (VDEM) is 
pleased to announce the allocation of a 2020 Local Emergency Management 
Performance Grant (LEMPG) CFDA 97.042 from the U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security (DHS) Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 
Appropriation authority for this program is The Department of Homeland 
Security Appropriations Act, 2020 (Public Law 116-6). Your locality has been 
allocated funding for: 
 
Project Title:  2020 Local Emergency Management Performance Grant 
(LEMPG) 
Federal Grant Allocation:  $7,500.00 
Subrecipient’s Required Cost Share/Match Amount:  $7,500.00 
Total Grant Award:  $15,000.00 
Obligation Period:  July 01, 2020 to June 30, 2021 
 
*This letter serves as notification of your allocation and is not an 
authorization to incur expenditures. Funds will be formally awarded to your 
locality through a Grant Agreement issued by VDEM upon its satisfactory 
review of your application package submission and approval of a budget 
application in VDEM’s Electronic Grants Management System (eGMS).* 
You must initiate these steps, described under Accessing Your Allocation, 
within 30 days from the date of this notification or funds will be re-allocated.  
If extenuating circumstances such as local board approval will prevent you from  

Lonzo Lester
Highlight



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

 
Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 2 of 7 
July 10, 2020 
 
meeting the 30 day deadline, please notify your Grant Administrator as soon as 
possible. 
 
OPT-Out Notice 
 
Complete and return this form via email to: vdemgrants@vdem.virginia.gov with the 
subject line: “OPT-Out Notice”, before August 09, 2020.  

 
I do not want to be a recipient of the LEMPG funds at this time, but reserve the right to 
enter the program next fiscal year. 

 
            Please note that your decision will not be made effective until August 09, 2020.   

 
 

PRINT Name: ___________________________________  
     

  
Signature: ____________________________  Date: _MM/DD/YYYY_ 
                 CITY/TOWN or COUNTY OFFICIAL 
 
Program Purpose 
 
 The purpose of the EMPG is to provide federal funds to states to assist in 
preparing for all hazards, as authorized by Section 662 of the Post Katrina 
Emergency Management Reform Act (6 U.S.C. § 762) and the Robert T. 
Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 5121 et 
seq.). Title VI of the Stafford Act authorizes DHS/FEMA to make grants for the 
purpose of providing a system of emergency preparedness for the protection of 
life and property in the United States from all hazards and to vest responsibility 
for emergency preparedness jointly in the federal government, states, and their 
political subdivisions. The federal government, through EMPG, provides 
direction, coordination, and guidance, and provides necessary assistance, as 
authorized in this title, to support a comprehensive all-hazards emergency 
preparedness system. 
 
 The FY 2020 LEMPG will provide federal funds to assist emergency 
management agencies to obtain the resources required to support 
implementation of the National Preparedness System and the National 
Preparedness Goal (the Goal) of a secure and resilient nation. Among the five 
basic homeland security missions noted in the DHS Quadrennial Homeland 
Security Review, LEMPG supports the goal to Strengthen National  
 

mailto:vdemgrants@vdem.virginia.gov


Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 3 of 7 
July 10, 2020 
 
Preparedness and Resilience. EMPG supports comprehensive, all-hazards 
emergency preparedness system by building and sustaining the core capabilities  
contained in the Goal. EMPG funding is used to support a whole community 
approach to strengthen a state’s or community’s emergency management 
program. Examples of tangible EMPG funded activities include: 
 

• Conducting risk assessments, assessing capabilities, identifying 
preparedness needs, and updating emergency plans; 

• Building or augmenting core capabilities; 
• Designing and conducting exercises that engage the whole community of 

stakeholders to validate core capabilities; 
• Conducting emergency management training; and 
• Providing funding support for emergency management personnel. 

 
 VDEM recognizes the critical role of emergency management at the 
local level. Strong local emergency management programs keep the 
Commonwealth safer, and allow state and local government to respond and 
recover effectively and efficiently when an emergency or disaster occurs. The 
objective of the LEMPG, then, is to support your locality’s efforts to develop 
and maintain a Comprehensive Emergency Management Program. 
 
Important Award Terms and Conditions 
 
Subrecipients must comply with the following federal requirements: 

• FY 2020 Emergency Management Performance Grant Program (EMPG) 
Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) 
Emergency Management Performance Grant Program NOFO 

• The Preparedness Grants Manual 
Preparedness Grants Manual 

• Department of Homeland Security Standard Terms and Conditions for 2020 
DHS Standard Terms and Conditions  

• 2 CFR Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
2 CFR Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements 

 
Cost Share/Match 
 

The federal share that is used towards the LEMPG Program budget must 
be at least 50 percent of the total budget. The subrecipient must equally 
match (cash or in-kind) the federal contribution pursuant to Sections 
611(j) and 613 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 
Assistance Act (Pub. L. No. 93-288), as amended, (42 U.S.C. §§ 5121et  

https://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/185907
https://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/185907
https://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/185907
https://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/178291
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/fy20_dhs_standard_terms_and_conditions_v10.1_dated_12-31-2019.pdf
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/fy20_dhs_standard_terms_and_conditions_v10.1_dated_12-31-2019.pdf
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=e02daaa551dec05bfb82ed9f85151c09&mc=true&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 4 of 7 
July 10, 2020 
 

seq.). Unless otherwise authorized by law, federal funds cannot be 
matched with other federal funds. FEMA administers cost matching  
requirements in accordance with 2 CFR §200.306 located at 
https://www.ecfr.gov. To meet matching requirements, the contributions 
must be verifiable, reasonable, allowable, allocable, and necessary under 
the grant program and must comply with all federal requirements and 
regulations. 

 
Management and Administration (M&A) 
 

Your local emergency management agency may retain and use up to five 
percent of the award for local management and administration purposes. 
M&A activities are those directly related to managing and administering 
LEMPG Program funds, such as financial management and monitoring. 
It should be noted that salaries of local emergency managers are not 
typically categorized as M&A, unless the local emergency management 
agency chooses to assign personnel to specific M&A activities. 

      
  Indirect (Facilities & Administrative [F&A]) Costs   

Indirect costs are allowable under this program, as described in 2 C.F.R. § 
200.414.  With the exception of recipients who have never received a negotiated, 
indirect cost rate as described in 2 C.F.R. § 200.414(f), recipients must have an 
approved indirect cost rate agreement with their cognizant Federal agency to 
charge indirect costs to this award.  A copy of the approved rate (a fully executed, 
agreement negotiated with the applicant’s cognizant Federal agency) is required at 
the time of application, and must be provided to FEMA before indirect costs are 
charged to the award.  
 

To access your allocation, you must complete the following steps within 30 
days from the date of this notification: 
 
Accessing Your Allocation 
  
Step 1:  Log in to the VDEM electronic Grants Management System (eGMS) at 
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/login.cfm to download your subaward acceptance 
documents from the home page. Re-upload all required forms to eGMS. Read how to 
upload required forms by clicking here to view the home page of your eGMS user 
account. Below is the list of required items that comprise the VDEM subaward 
acceptance package: 

• Application Checklist [cover sheet] 
• LEMPG Project Form [Only required for LEMPG subawards] 
• Online Budget (to be built and submitted in eGMS) 

https://www.ecfr.gov/
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/login.cfm
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/secure/welcome.cfm
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/login.cfm


Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 5 of 7 
July 10, 2020 

 
• Points of Contact (POC) Form 
• FEMA Environmental and Historic Preservation (EHP) Screening Form  

o All projects must comply with EHP requirements. Subrecipients 
must not obligate and/or expend any (federal and/or non-federal 
matching) funds on any project having the potential to impact 
environments planning and historical preservation resources 
without the prior approval of FEMA. For more information, 
please visit https://www.vaemergency.gov/grants/all-forms// or 
contact your Grants Administrator.   

• Grant Assurances Form                       
• FEMA 20-16C Form               
• SF-LLL – Certification Regarding Lobbying Form 
• *Work Elements Agreement – [*Only required for LEMPG subawards] 
• **Federally Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate Agreement – [**Only required if you 

intend to charge indirect costs. Must be valid for the period of performance and 
federally signed] 

 
Step 2:  Log in to the VDEM electronic Grants Management System (eGMS) at 
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/login.cfm to complete and submit a budget 
application for your allocation:   
 
Click on Grant Management, Budget Application, from the drop-down menu. 
Click the link named 2020 Local Emergency Management Performance Grant 
(LEMPG) to complete your budget application. Following review and approval 
of the budget by the Grants Administrator, notification will be sent through an 
eGMS automated message to the email address of the user. If you do not have 
access to eGMS, please contact your Grants Administrator. 
 
Reporting 
 
 Subrecipients are obligated to submit Quarterly Progress Reports as a 
condition of their subaward. Quarterly progress reports must be submitted via 
your eGMS account within  
15 days following the end of the quarter. The schedule for reporting is as 
follows: 
 

Timetable and Deadlines for LEMPG Progress Reporting: 
[Quarter 1 of 4] Time Period: July 1, 2020 to September 30, 2020 
Quarter 1 Report Due: On or Before October 15, 2020 
[Quarter 2 of 4] Time Period: October 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
Quarter 2 Report Due: On or Before January 15, 2021 
[Quarter 3 of 4] Time Period: January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 

https://www.vaemergency.gov/grants/all-forms/
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/login.cfm
https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/secure/welcome.cfm


Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 6 of 7 
July 10, 2020 

 
Quarter 3 Report Due: On or Before April 15, 2021 
 
[Quarter 4 of 4] Time Period: April 1, 2021 to June 30, 2021 
Quarter 4 Report Due: On or Before July 15, 2021 
 
LEMPG Final Progress Report: 
Due: On or Before July 31, 2021 
 

 Within 30 days following the end of the period of performance, 
subrecipients must upload a Final Progress Report detailing all accomplishments 
throughout the period of performance along with the completed Work Elements 
Final Report into their eGMS account. After these reports have been submitted, 
reviewed and approved by the Grants Office and Chief Regional Coordinators, a 
close-out notice will be issued which will indicate the period of performance as 
closed, list any remaining funds that will be deobligated, and address the record 
retention requirements for grant records. The subrecipient must return any funds 
that have been drawn down, but remain unliquidated in its financial records. 
 
Period of Performance Extensions 
Extensions to this program are allowed.  Extensions to the initial period of performance 
identified in the subaward will only be considered through formal, written requests 
addressed to VDEM, and must contain specific and compelling justifications as to why an 
extension is required.  Subrecipients are advised to coordinate with the Grant 
Administrator, as needed, when preparing an extension request.  All extension requests 
must address the following: 
 

1. Grant program, fiscal year, and subaward ID number in eGMS 
2. Reason for delay that must include details of the legal, policy, or operational 
    challenges that prevent the final outlay of awarded funds by the applicable      

deadline 
3. Current status of the activity/activities 
4. Approved period of performance termination date and new project completion 

date 
5. Amount of funds drawn down to date 
6. Remaining available funds, both Federal and non-Federal 
7. Budget outlining how remaining Federal and non-Federal funds will be 

expended 
8. Plan for completion, including milestones and timeframes for achieving each 
    milestone, and the position/person responsible for implementing the plan for 
    completion.  
 
 

https://www.ttegms.com/virginia/secure/welcome.cfm


Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Mr. Lonzo Lester  
Page 7 of 7 
July 10, 2020 

 
9. Certification that the activity/activities will be completed within the extended 
period of performance without any modification to the original Statement of 
Work, as described in the approved budget.    
       

Extension requests will be granted only due to compelling legal, policy, or operational 
            challenges. Extension requests will only be considered for the following reasons: 

• Contractual commitments by the grant recipient with vendors or subrecipients 
prevent completion of the project within the existing period of performance 

• The project must undergo a complex environmental review that cannot be 
completed within existing period of performance 
• Projects are long-term by design and therefore acceleration would compromise 

core programmatic goals 
• Where other special circumstances exist 

 
Recipients must submit all extension requests to VDEM via upload into eGMS no later 
than 90 days prior to June 30, 2021. 
 
Initiate the steps described under Accessing Your Allocation within 30 days 
from the date of this notification. If you have any questions regarding this 
award, please contact James Turner in the Grants Office at (804) 461-0022 or 
james.turner@vdem.virginia.gov . 
 
 
 Sincerely, 

       
             Cheryl Adkins 
             Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
CB/jt 
 
cc: Mr. Jess Powers, Emergency Management Coordinator  
 Mr. Ted Costin, Director of Regional Support, West Division 
 Mr. Timothy Estes, Chief Regional Coordinator, Region 4 

 
 

mailto:james.turner@vdem.virginia.gov




























 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Oris Christian   Carl Rhea 
At-Large  District 3  
 
Tim Lovelace  Rebecca Dye, Chairperson David Eaton 
District 1 District 6 District 4 
  
Lou Ann Wallace Steve Breeding, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 2 District 5 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

 

    

    

    

  

August 3, 2020 
 
To:  Board of Supervisors 
 
 From:  County Administrator 
 
Subj:  Oak Grove Community Center 
 
The following quotes includes the transportation of the school's modular facility (28X50) 
to the Oak Grove Community site, site construct ion, connection of the modular 
facilities, heat pump, or build modular facility addition:   

Transfer modular facility:   

Brothers Mobile Home Services -   $7,700 (Low Bid)                                        

Connect modular facility: Redbud Const. -  $8,475 (Low Bid) 
 
Site construction:  County & RC PSA -   $6,855 (County) 
(Site, Electrical, HVAC Conduit) 

Total Estimated Cost:   $23,030 

(or) 

Build (14X30) modular facility addition:   $14,750 (Low Bid) (foundation not incl.) 
 
Site construction:  County & RC PSA -   $6,855 (County) 
(Site, Electrical, HVAC Conduit) 

   Total Estimated Cost:   $21,605  
 
If you have any further questions, please let me know 
 
Sincerely, 
 
LONZO LESTER 
Lonzo Lester, MBA, CPC, VCO 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

























 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 June 4, 2020 
 

 
Mr. Lonzo Lester 
County Administrator 
Russell County 
P. O. Box 1208 
Lebanon, VA 24266 
 
RE: School Resource Officer/School Security Officer Grant Program--SRO 
 

Dear Mr. Lester: 
 

Congratulations on being a recipient of the above referenced grant program! Your DCJS grant 
award number is 21-D4168FR21 and was approved for a total award of $57,287. The project period 
is 07/01/2020 through 06/30/2021. 

 
Included with this letter is a Statement of Grant Award/Acceptance (SOGA). Please note hard 

copies of the General Special Conditions, as well as the Reporting Requirements and Projected Due 
Dates, are no longer included as part of the Grant Award Package. Instead, these documents have 
been combined and are now referred to as Conditions and Requirements and are posted online at 
https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/grants/grant-requirements.       

 
In addition to the General Special Conditions, there may be Specific Special Conditions related to 

your Grant Award. You are required to view these conditions online via the Grants Management 
Information System (GMIS) at https://grants.dcjs.virginia.gov under menu item View Status -> 
Special Conditions. If you have not previously done so, you must obtain a user name and password 
set up by your Finance Officer in order to use this web-based system. 

 
We will be happy to assist you in any way we can to assure your project’s success. To indicate 

your acceptance of the award and conditions, please sign the included SOGA and return it 
electronically within the next 60 days to grantsmgmt@dcjs.virginia.gov. If you have questions, 
contact (Michelle Miles) at (804) 225-1846 or via email at Michelle.Miles@dcjs.virginia.gov.  

 
Sincerely, 

 
 
      Shannon Dion 

https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/grants/grant-requirements
https://grants.dcjs.virginia.gov/
mailto:grantsmgmt@dcjs.virginia.gov
Lonzo Lester
Highlight



 

 
STATEMENT OF GRANT AWARD (SOGA) 

 
Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services 

1100 Bank Street, 12th Floor 
Richmond, Virginia  23219  

Project Director Project Administrator Finance Officer 
 
The Hon. Steve Dye 
Sheriff 
Russell County Sheriff's Office 
P. O. Box 338 
Lebanon, VA 24266 
(276) 889-8033 
sheriff@russellcountyva.us 

 
Mr. Lonzo Lester 
County Administrator 
Russell County 
P. O. Box 1208 
Lebanon, VA 24266 
(276) 889-8000 
lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us 

 
Ms. Alicia McGlothlin 
Treasurer 
Russell County 
P. O. Box 121 
Lebanon, VA 24266 
(276) 889-8028 
rctreas@bvunet.net 

 
*Please indicate your ICR in the space provided, if applicable. As the duly authorized 
representative, the undersigned, having received the Statement of Grant Awards (SOGA) and 
reviewing the Special Conditions, hereby accepts this grant and agree to the conditions and 
provisions of all other Federal and State laws and rules and regulations that apply to this award.  

      
Signature:  ______________________________  

        Authorized Official (Project Administrator) 
      

Title:   ______________________________ 
 
 
Date:   ______________________________ 

School Resource Officer/School Security Officer Grant Program--SRO 

Subgrantee: Russell     
DCJS Grant Number: 21-D4168FR21 
Grant Start Date: 07/01/2020   
Grant End Date:  06/30/2021 
 
Indirect Cost Rate: _____%  *If applicable 

 
Federal Funds:   $         0        
State General Funds:   $         0        
State Special Funds:  $43,693 
Local Match:   $13,594 
 
Total Budget:   $57,287 
 



 

DATE:    July 15, 2020 

TO:      Mr. Lonzo Lester, Administrator, Russell County Board of Supervisors 

         Members of the Russell County Board of Supervisors 

         Lebanon, Va 

FROM:    Highway Abundant Life Church 

         Pastor, Seth Shortridge, (276) 202-2981 

         1230 Redbud Hwy, Rosedale, VA    24280 

SUBJECT:  Permission for Pump and Haul Septic System 

 

 

 

Per our conversation on July 14, 2020, I am writing to ask the Russell County Board of Supervisors for approval to install 

a pump and haul septic system at our church located at 1230 Redbud Highway, Rosedale, VA.  We have recently purchased this church  

and have been working hard to do improvements.  Unfortunately, we do not have enough land to put in a full septic system on this property.   

        We have approximately 25 members with average time at the church being around 5 hours per week.  We would like to build two bathrooms  

        onto the church, if the pump and haul system meets your approval.  Mr. Mickey Ray, Building Inspector for Russell County, said we could apply   

        for building permits to build bathrooms once system was installed if approved.  We have contacted, David Kinder, (276) 971-1936, Rosedale,  

        VA, who works through the Russell County Health Dept.  He has drawn up drafts of location on property to place a 1500 gallon tank with an     

        alarm system to alert us to when tank needs to be pumped.  He said he would submit the necessary paperwork to your office and the Health    

        Department for necessary permits.   We realize that we would need certified personnel to install this system per regulations.   

        We want everything to be in legal standing with county regulations. 

        If you have any questions in regard to this request, please feel free to contact us at the above telephone number.  Thank you so very much 

        for your consideration in this matter and we would greatly appreciate any and all help towards your approval. 

        Sincerely, 

        Seth Shortridge, Pastor  

        Highway Abundant Life Church 

 

                 

 

Lonzo Lester
Highlight


































































































































	Authorization - Minutes BOS.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Authorization - Expenditures.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Board Appointments.pdf
	Staff Recommendation:

	Presentations - Attorney.pdf
	Meeting: 8/3/20        6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	Authorizing Resolution (Castlewood facilities bond assumption).pdf
	RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BOND OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $23,173.29 AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATED A...
	Section 3.8. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If the Bond has been mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delivery to the T...


	Drinking Water Master Financing Agreement (blacklined).DOCX.pdf
	MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT
	BETWEEN
	AND
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Virginia Resources Authority
	TABLE OF CONTENTS

	[To Be Updated]
	Page
	ARTICLE I
	ARTICLE II
	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	EXHIBITS
	Exhibit A - Form of Local Bonds
	MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE I
	“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.
	“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.
	“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.
	“Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.
	“Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time ...
	“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, if any, payable as set forth in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I.
	“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.
	“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.
	“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
	ARTICLE II
	(g) The issuance of the Local Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powe...
	(h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurr...
	(i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its...
	(j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the cre...
	(l) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.

	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Title: ___________________________________________
	EXHIBIT A
	FORM OF LOCAL BONDS
	EXHIBIT B
	Project DescriptionS
	EXHIBIT C
	Project BudgetS
	EXHIBIT D
	Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel
	EXHIBIT E
	FORM OF REQUISITION
	CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER
	FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT
	Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E
	This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalization terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Ag...
	The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, s...
	Loan Proceeds Remaining $ ____________________
	EXHIBIT F
	EXHIBIT G
	ORIGINAL FINANCING AGREEMENTS
	[To Be Provided]
	Prior Bonds:
	Existing Parity Bonds:
	EXHIBIT I
	EXHIBIT K
	AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS:
	Agreement
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	EXHIBIT A
	LOCAL ORIGINAL BONDS

	Authorizing Resolution (drinking water master financing agreement).pdf
	RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $12,058,187.38 AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS, AND PAYMENT OF THE BOND, AND AUTHORIZING RELATE...
	Section 3.8. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond.  If either of the Bonds has been mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver a new bond of like date and tenor in exchange and substitution for, and upon delive...


	Russell County PSA_Drinking Water Financing Agreement (WSL-020-18)_1....pdf
	FINANCING AGREEMENT
	BETWEEN
	AND
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Virginia Resources Authority
	Loan No. WSL-020-18
	TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
	ARTICLE I
	ARTICLE II
	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	EXHIBITS
	Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond
	FINANCING AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE I
	“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.
	“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.
	“Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.
	“Commitment Letter” means the commitment letter from the Authority to the Borrower, dated __________, 2019, and all extensions and amendments thereto.
	“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, payable as set forth in Section 6.1.
	“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.
	“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.
	“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
	ARTICLE II
	(g) The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will no...
	(h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurr...
	(i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its...
	(j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the cre...
	(m) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.

	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Title: ___________________________________________
	EXHIBIT A
	Form of Local Bond
	EXHIBIT B
	Project Description
	EXHIBIT C
	Project Budget
	WSL-020-18
	EXHIBIT D
	Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel
	EXHIBIT E
	REQUISITION FOR DISBURSEMENT
	CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER
	FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT
	Loan No. WSL-020-18
	This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agree...
	The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, s...
	SCHEDULE 1
	REQUISITION # ________
	BORROWER: THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	LOAN NUMBER:  WSL-020-18
	CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ______________________________
	TITLE: ______________________________________
	Total Loan Amount $_________________
	Previous Disbursements $_________________
	This Request $_________________
	Loan Proceeds Remaining $_________________
	EXHIBIT F
	Prior Bonds:
	Existing Parity Bonds:
	EXHIBIT H
	SUPPORT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS:
	Agreement
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 8/3/20         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):
	ATTACHMENTS:

	RC CARES Fund Account Balance .pdf
	Sheet1

	Rte 19 Resolution .pdf
	Resolution of Support

	Rte 58 Resolution .pdf
	Resolution of Support

	19 Superelevation Russell Co Estimate.pdf
	Totals for Workbook Entry
	Total Project Summary
	Alignment 1 Summary
	Alignment 1 Calculation
	Alignment 2  Summary
	Alignment 2 Calculation
	Alignment 3 Summary
	Alignment 3 Calculation
	Alignment 4 Summary
	Alignment 4 Calculation
	Alignment 5 Summary
	Alignment 6 Summary
	Alignment 6 Calculation
	MOT Ranking Criteria
	Field Data Collection
	Item Checklist
	Volume Matrix 

	58 SundownTurn Lanes Russell Co Estimate.pdf
	Instructions
	Totals for Workbook Entry
	Total Project Summary
	Alignment 1 Summary
	Alignment 1 Calculation
	Alignment 2  Summary
	Alignment 2 Calculation
	Alignment 3 Summary
	Alignment 3 Calculation
	Alignment 4 Summary
	Alignment 4 Calculation
	Alignment 5 Summary
	Alignment 5 Calculation

	Thrasher Contract.pdf
	ARTICLE 1 –  SERVICES OF ENGINEER
	1.01 Scope
	A. Engineer shall provide, or cause to be provided, the services set forth herein and in Exhibit A. All work will be performed in accordance with the applicable West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection requirements as outlined in Title 47,...


	ARTICLE 2 –  OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.01 General
	A. Owner shall have the responsibilities set forth herein and in Exhibit B.
	B. Owner shall pay Engineer as set forth in Article 4 and Exhibit C.
	C. Owner shall be responsible for all requirements and instructions that it furnishes to Engineer pursuant to this Agreement, and for the accuracy and completeness of all programs, reports, data, and other information furnished by Owner to Engineer pu...
	D. Owner shall give prompt written notice to Engineer whenever Owner observes or otherwise becomes aware of:
	1.  any development that affects the scope or time of performance of Engineer’s services;
	2. the presence at the Site of any Constituent of Concern; or
	3. any relevant, material defect or nonconformance in: (a) Engineer’s services, (b) the Work, (c) the performance of any Constructor, or (d) Owner’s performance of its responsibilities under this Agreement.



	ARTICLE 3 –  SCHEDULE FOR RENDERING SERVICES
	3.01 Commencement
	A. Engineer is authorized to begin rendering services as of the Effective Date.

	3.02 Time for Completion
	A. Engineer shall complete its obligations within a reasonable time.  Specific periods of time for rendering services, or specific dates by which services are to be completed, are provided in Exhibit A, and are hereby agreed to be reasonable.
	B. If, through no fault of Engineer, such periods of time or dates are changed, or the orderly and continuous progress of Engineer’s services is impaired, or Engineer’s services are delayed or suspended, then the time for completion of Engineer’s serv...
	C. If Owner authorizes changes in the scope, extent, or character of the Project or Engineer’s services, then the time for completion of Engineer’s services, and the rates and amounts of Engineer’s compensation, shall be adjusted equitably.
	D. Owner shall make decisions and carry out its other responsibilities in a timely manner so as not to delay the Engineer’s performance of its services.
	E. If Engineer fails, through its own fault, to complete the performance required in this Agreement within the time set forth, as duly adjusted, then Owner shall be entitled, as its sole remedy, to the recovery of direct damages, if any, resulting fro...


	ARTICLE 4 –  INVOICES AND PAYMENTS
	4.01 Invoices
	A. Preparation and Submittal of Invoices:  Engineer shall prepare invoices in accordance with its standard invoicing practices and the terms of Exhibit C. Invoice must include breakdown of services provided.  Engineer shall submit its invoices to Owne...

	4.02 Payments
	A. Application to Interest and Principal:  Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to Engineer and then to principal.
	B. Failure to Pay:  If Owner fails to make any payment due Engineer for services and expenses within 30 days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then:
	1. amounts due Engineer will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month (or the maximum rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth day; and
	2. Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Owner, suspend services under this Agreement until Owner has paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses, and other related charges.  Owner waives any and all claims against Engineer f...

	C. Disputed Invoices:  If Owner disputes an invoice, either as to amount or entitlement, then Owner shall promptly advise Engineer in writing of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold only that portion so disputed, and must pay the undisputed p...
	D. Sales or Use Taxes:  If after the Effective Date any governmental entity takes a legislative action that imposes additional sales or use taxes on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then Engineer may invoice such additional sa...


	ARTICLE 5 –  OPINIONS OF COST
	5.01 Opinions of Probable Construction Cost
	A. Engineer’s opinions (if any) of probable Construction Cost are to be made on the basis of Engineer’s experience, qualifications, and general familiarity with the construction industry.  However, because Engineer has no control over the cost of labo...

	5.02 Designing to Construction Cost Limit
	A. If a Construction Cost limit is established between Owner and Engineer, such Construction Cost limit and a statement of Engineer’s rights and responsibilities with respect thereto will be specifically set forth in Exhibit F to this Agreement.

	5.03 Opinions of Total Project Costs
	A. The services, if any, of Engineer with respect to Total Project Costs shall be limited to assisting the Owner in tabulating the various categories that comprise Total Project Costs.  Engineer assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any opinio...


	ARTICLE 6 –  GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS
	6.01 Standards of Performance
	A. Standard of Care:  The standard of care for all professional engineering and related services performed or furnished by Engineer under this Agreement will be the care and skill ordinarily used by members of the subject profession practicing under s...
	B. Technical Accuracy:  Owner shall not be responsible for discovering deficiencies in the technical accuracy of Engineer’s services.  Engineer shall correct deficiencies in technical accuracy without additional compensation, unless such corrective ac...
	C. Consultants:  Engineer may retain such Consultants as Engineer deems necessary to assist in the performance or furnishing of the services, subject to reasonable, timely, and substantive objections by Owner.
	D. Reliance on Others:  Subject to the standard of care set forth in Paragraph 6.01.A, Engineer and its Consultants may use or rely upon design elements and information ordinarily or customarily furnished by others, including, but not limited to, spec...
	E. Compliance with Laws and Regulations, and Policies and Procedures:
	1. Engineer and Owner shall comply with applicable Laws and Regulations.
	2. Engineer shall comply with any and all policies, procedures, and instructions of Owner that are applicable to Engineer's performance of services under this Agreement and that Owner provides to Engineer in writing, subject to the standard of care se...
	3. This Agreement is based on Laws and Regulations and Owner-provided written policies and procedures as of the Effective Date.  The following may be the basis for modifications to Owner’s responsibilities or to Engineer’s scope of services, times of ...
	a.  changes after the Effective Date to Laws and Regulations;
	b.  the receipt by Engineer after the Effective Date of Owner-provided written policies and procedures;
	c. changes after the Effective Date to Owner-provided written policies or procedures.


	F. Engineer shall not be required to sign any document, no matter by whom requested, that would result in the Engineer having to certify, guarantee, or warrant the existence of conditions whose existence the Engineer cannot ascertain.  Owner agrees no...
	G. The general conditions for any construction contract documents prepared hereunder are to be EJCDC® C-700 “Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract” (2013 Edition), prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, unless...
	H. Engineer shall not at any time supervise, direct, control, or have authority over any Constructor’s work, nor shall Engineer have authority over or be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected...
	I. Engineer neither guarantees the performance of any Constructor nor assumes responsibility for any Constructor’s, failure to furnish and perform the Work in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents.
	J. Engineer shall not be responsible for any decision made regarding the Construction Contract Documents, or any application, interpretation, clarification, or modification of the Construction Contract Documents, other than those made by Engineer or i...
	K. Engineer is not required to provide and does not have any responsibility for surety bonding or insurance-related advice, recommendations, counseling, or research, or enforcement of construction insurance or surety bonding requirements.
	L. Engineer’s services do not include providing legal advice or representation.
	M. Engineer’s services do not include (1) serving as a “municipal advisor” for purposes of the registration requirements of Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (2010) or the municipal advisor registration rules...
	N. While at the Site, Engineer, its Consultants, and their employees and representatives shall comply with the applicable requirements of Contractor's and Owner's safety programs of which Engineer has been informed in writing.

	6.02 Design Without Construction Phase Services
	A. Engineer shall be responsible only for those Construction Phase services expressly required of Engineer in Exhibit A, Paragraph A1.05.  With the exception of such expressly required services, Engineer shall have no design, Shop Drawing review, or o...

	6.03 Use of Documents
	A. All Documents are instruments of service, and Engineer shall retain an ownership and property interest therein (including the copyright and the right of reuse at the discretion of the Engineer) whether or not the Project is completed.
	B. If Engineer is required to prepare or furnish Drawings or Specifications under this Agreement, Engineer shall deliver to Owner at least one original printed record version of such Drawings and Specifications, signed and sealed according to applicab...
	C. Owner may make and retain copies of Documents for information and reference in connection with the use of the Documents on the Project.  Engineer grants Owner a limited license to use the Documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and for...
	D. If Engineer at Owner’s request verifies the suitability of the Documents, completes them, or adapts them for extensions of the Project or for any other purpose, then Owner shall compensate Engineer at rates or in an amount to be agreed upon by Owne...

	6.04 Electronic Transmittals
	A. Owner and Engineer may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, Documents, text, data, drawings, information, and graphics, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website, in...
	B. If this Agreement does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then Owner and Engineer may jointly develop such protocols.
	C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages...

	6.05 Insurance
	A. Engineer shall procure and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit G. Engineer shall cause Owner to be listed as an additional insured on any applicable general liability insurance policy carried by Engineer.
	B. Owner shall procure and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit G. Owner shall cause Engineer and its Consultants to be listed as additional insureds on any general liability policies carried by Owner, which are applicable to the Project.
	C. Owner shall require Contractor to purchase and maintain policies of insurance covering workers' compensation, general liability, motor vehicle damage and injuries, and other insurance necessary to protect Owner's and Engineer's interests in the Pro...
	D. Owner and Engineer shall each deliver to the other certificates of insurance evidencing the coverages indicated in Exhibit G.  Such certificates shall be furnished prior to commencement of Engineer’s services and at renewals thereafter during the l...
	E. All policies of property insurance relating to the Project, including but not limited to any builder’s risk policy, shall allow for waiver of subrogation rights and contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage...
	F. All policies of insurance shall contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or reduced in limits by endorsement, and that renewal will not be refused, until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given...
	G. At any time, Owner may request that Engineer or its Consultants, at Owner’s sole expense, provide additional insurance coverage, increased limits, or revised deductibles that are more protective than those specified in Exhibit G.  If so requested b...

	6.06 Suspension and Termination
	A. Suspension:
	1. By Owner:  Owner may suspend the Project for up to 90 days upon seven days written notice to Engineer.
	2. By Engineer:  Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Owner, suspend services under this Agreement if Owner has failed to pay Engineer for invoiced services and expenses, as set forth in Paragraph 4.02.B, or in response to the prese...

	B. Termination:  The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated:
	1. For cause,
	a. by either party upon 30 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating party.
	b. by Engineer:
	1) upon seven days written notice if Owner demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to Engineer’s responsibilities as a licensed professional; or
	2) upon seven days written notice if the Engineer’s services for the Project are delayed or suspended for more than 90 days for reasons beyond Engineer’s control, or as the result of the presence at the Site of undisclosed Constituents of Concern, as ...
	3) Engineer shall have no liability to Owner on account of such termination.

	c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate under Paragraph 6.06.B.1.a if the party receiving such notice begins, within seven days of receipt of such notice, to correct its substantial failure to perform and proceeds diligentl...

	2. For convenience, by Owner effective upon Engineer’s receipt of notice from Owner.

	C. Effective Date of Termination:  The terminating party under Paragraph 6.06.B may set the effective date of termination at a time up to 30 days later than otherwise provided to allow Engineer to demobilize personnel and equipment from the Site, to c...
	D. Payments Upon Termination:
	1. In the event of any termination under Paragraph 6.06, Engineer will be entitled to invoice Owner and to receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in accordance with this Agreement and all Reimbursable Expenses incurred through th...
	2. In the event of termination by Owner for convenience or by Engineer for cause, Engineer shall be entitled, in addition to invoicing for those items identified in Paragraph 6.06.D.1, to invoice Owner and receive payment of a reasonable amount for se...


	6.07 Controlling Law
	A. This Agreement is to be governed by the Laws and Regulations of the state in which the Project is located.

	6.08 Successors, Assigns, and Beneficiaries
	A. Owner and Engineer are hereby bound and the successors, executors, administrators, and legal representatives of Owner and Engineer (and to the extent permitted by Paragraph 6.08.B the assigns of Owner and Engineer) are hereby bound to the other par...
	B. Neither Owner nor Engineer may assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under or interest (including, but without limitation, money that is due or may become due) in this Agreement without the written consent of the other party, except to the extent ...
	C. Unless expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement:
	1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create, impose, or give rise to any duty owed by Owner or Engineer to any Constructor, other third-party individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee of any of them.
	2. All duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement will be for the sole and exclusive benefit of Owner and Engineer and not for the benefit of any other party.
	3. Owner agrees that the substance of the provisions of this Paragraph 6.08.C shall appear in the Construction Contract Documents.


	6.09 Dispute Resolution
	A. Owner and Engineer agree to negotiate all disputes between them in good faith for a period of 30 days from the date of notice prior to invoking the procedures of Exhibit H or other provisions of this Agreement, or exercising their rights at law.
	B. If the parties fail to resolve a dispute through negotiation under Paragraph 6.09.A, then either or both may invoke the procedures of Exhibit H.  If Exhibit H is not included, or if no dispute resolution method is specified in Exhibit H, then the p...

	6.10 Environmental Condition of Site
	A. Owner represents to Engineer that as of the Effective Date to the best of Owner’s knowledge no Constituents of Concern, other than those disclosed in writing to Engineer, exist at or adjacent to the Site.
	B. If Engineer encounters or learns of an undisclosed Constituent of Concern at the Site, then Engineer shall notify (1) Owner and (2) appropriate governmental officials if Engineer reasonably concludes that doing so is required by applicable Laws or ...
	C. It is acknowledged by both parties that Engineer’s scope of services does not include any services related to unknown or undisclosed Constituents of Concern.  If Engineer or any other party encounters, uncovers, or reveals an undisclosed Constituen...
	D. If investigative or remedial action, or other professional services, are necessary with respect to undisclosed Constituents of Concern, or if investigative or remedial action beyond that reasonably contemplated is needed to address a disclosed or k...
	E. If the presence at the Site of undisclosed Constituents of Concern adversely affects the performance of Engineer’s services under this Agreement, then the Engineer shall have the option of (1) accepting an equitable adjustment in its compensation o...
	F. Owner acknowledges that Engineer is performing professional services for Owner and that Engineer is not and shall not be required to become an "owner," “arranger,” “operator,” “generator,” or “transporter” of hazardous substances, as defined in the...

	6.11 Indemnification and Mutual Waiver
	A. Indemnification by Engineer:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner, and Owner’s officers, directors, members, partners, agents, consultants, and employees, from losses, damages, a...
	B. Indemnification by Owner:  Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants as required by Laws and Regulations and to the extent (if any) required in Exhibit I, “Li...
	C. Environmental Indemnification:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants from all claims, costs, los...
	D. No Defense Obligation:  The indemnification commitments in this Agreement do not include a defense obligation by the indemnitor unless such obligation is expressly stated.
	E. Percentage Share of Negligence:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations,  a party’s total liability to  the other party and anyone claiming by, through, or under the other party for any  cost, loss, or damages caused in part by the...
	F. Mutual Waiver:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner and Engineer waive against each other, and the other’s employees, officers, directors, members, agents, insurers, partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or en...

	6.12 Records Retention
	A. Engineer shall maintain on file in legible form, for a period of five years following completion or termination of its services, all Documents, records (including cost records), and design calculations related to Engineer’s services or pertinent to...

	6.13 Miscellaneous Provisions
	A. Notices:  Any notice required under this Agreement will be in writing, addressed to the appropriate party at its address on the signature page and given personally, by registered or certified mail postage prepaid, or by a commercial courier service...
	B. Survival:  All express representations, waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability included in this Agreement will survive its completion or termination for any reason.
	C. Severability:  Any provision or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any Laws or Regulations shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Engineer, which agree ...
	D. Waiver:  A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement.
	E. Accrual of Claims:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, all causes of action arising under this Agreement shall be deemed to have accrued, and all statutory periods of limitation shall commence, no later than the date of Substa...


	ARTICLE 7 –  DEFINITIONS
	7.01 Defined Terms
	A. Wherever used in this Agreement (including the Exhibits hereto) terms (including the singular and plural forms) printed with initial capital letters have the meanings indicated in the text above, in the exhibits, or in the following definitions:
	1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of bids which clarify, correct, or change the bidding requirements or the proposed Construction Contract Documents.
	2. Additional Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer in accordance with Part 2 of Exhibit A of this Agreement.
	3. Agreement—This written contract for professional services between Owner and Engineer, including all exhibits identified in Paragraph 8.01 and any duly executed amendments.
	4. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the C...
	5. Basic Services—The services to be performed for or furnished to Owner by Engineer in accordance with Part 1 of Exhibit A of this Agreement.
	6. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Construction Contract Price or the Construction Contract Times, or other revision to the Construct...
	7. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth in the Construction Contract, seeking an adjustment in Construction Contract Price or Construction Contract Times, or both; con...
	8. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive material, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pu...
	9. Construction Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and Contractor concerning the Work.
	10. Construction Contract Documents—Those items designated as “Contract Documents” in the Construction Contract, and which together comprise the Construction Contract.
	11. Construction Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Construction Contract Documents.
	12. Construction Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall:  (a) achieve milestones, if any, in the Construction Contract; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work.
	13. Construction Cost—The cost to Owner of the construction of those portions of the entire Project designed or specified by or for Engineer under this Agreement, including construction labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding cos...
	14. Constructor—Any person or entity (not including the Engineer, its employees, agents, representatives, and Consultants), performing or supporting construction activities relating to the Project, including but not limited to Contractors, Subcontract...
	15. Consultants—Individuals or entities having a contract with Engineer to furnish services with respect to this Project as Engineer’s independent professional associates and consultants; subcontractors; or vendors.
	16. Contractor—The entity or individual with which Owner enters into a Construction Contract.
	17. Documents—Data, reports, Drawings, Specifications, Record Drawings, building information models, civil integrated management models, and other deliverables, whether in printed or electronic format, provided or furnished in appropriate phases by En...
	18. Drawings—That part of the Construction Contract Documents that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.
	19. Effective Date—The date indicated in this Agreement on which it becomes effective, but if no such date is indicated, the date on which this Agreement is signed and delivered by the last of the parties to sign and deliver.
	20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement.
	21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Construction Contract Price or the Construction Contract Times.
	22. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.
	23. Owner—The individual or entity named as such in this Agreement and for which Engineer's services are to be performed.  Unless indicated otherwise, this is the same individual or entity that will enter into any Construction Contracts concerning the...
	24. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and start-up, and of which the services to be performed or furnished by Engi...
	25. Record Drawings—Drawings depicting the completed Project, or a specific portion of the completed Project, prepared by Engineer as an Additional Service and based on Contractor's record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, ...
	26. Reimbursable Expenses—The expenses incurred directly by Engineer in connection with the performing or furnishing of Basic Services and Additional Services for the Project.
	27. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer at the Site during the Construction Phase.  As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative or "RPR" includes any assistants or field st...
	28. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
	29. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, wheth...
	30. Site—Lands or areas to be indicated in the Construction Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for ...
	31. Specifications—The part of the Construction Contract Documents that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matte...
	32. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
	33. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Construction Con...
	34. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor.
	35. Total Project Costs—The total cost of planning, studying, designing, constructing, testing, commissioning, and start-up of the Project, including Construction Cost and all other Project labor, services, materials, equipment, insurance, and bonding...
	36. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Construction Contract Documents.  Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation...
	37. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the effective date of the Construction Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.
	38. Agency - Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD).

	B. Day:
	1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.



	ARTICLE 8 –  EXHIBITS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS
	8.01 Exhibits Included:
	A. Exhibit A, Engineer’s Services.
	B. Exhibit B, Owner’s Responsibilities.
	C. Exhibit C, Payments to Engineer for Services and Reimbursable Expenses.
	D. Exhibit D, Duties, Responsibilities and Limitations of Authority of Resident Project Representative.  Not Used
	E. Exhibit E, Notice of Acceptability of Work.
	F. Exhibit F, Construction Cost Limit. Not Used
	G. Exhibit G, Insurance.
	H. Exhibit H, Dispute Resolution.
	I. Exhibit I, Limitations of Liability.
	J. Exhibit J, Special Provisions. Not Used
	K. Exhibit K, Amendment to Owner-Engineer Agreement.

	8.02 Total Agreement
	A. This Agreement, (together with the exhibits included above) constitutes the entire agreement between Owner and Engineer and supersedes all prior written or oral understandings.  This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or cancele...

	8.03 Designated Representatives
	A. With the execution of this Agreement, Engineer and Owner shall designate specific individuals to act as Engineer’s and Owner’s representatives with respect to the services to be performed or furnished by Engineer and responsibilities of Owner under...

	8.04 Engineer's Certifications
	A. Engineer certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Agreement.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 8.04:
	1. "corrupt practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the selection process or in the Agreement execution;
	2. "fraudulent practice" means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the selection process or the execution of the Agreement to the detriment of Owner, or (b) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition;
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, the Effective Date of which is indicated on page 1.


	PART 1 – BASIC SERVICES
	A1.01 Study and Report Phase
	A. Engineer shall:
	B. Engineer’s services under the Study and Report Phase will be considered complete on the date when Engineer has delivered to Owner the revised Report and any other Study and Report Phase deliverables.

	A1.02 Preliminary Design Phase
	A. After acceptance by Owner and of the Report and any other Study and Report Phase deliverables; selection by Owner of a recommended solution; issuance by Owner of any instructions of for use of Project Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques, or fo...
	B. Engineer’s services under the Preliminary Design Phase will be considered complete on the date when Engineer has delivered to Owner the revised Preliminary Design Phase documents, revised opinion of probable Construction Cost, and any other Prelimi...

	A1.03 Final Design Phase
	A. After acceptance by Owner of the Preliminary Design Phase documents, revised opinion of probable Construction Cost as determined in the Preliminary Design Phase, and any other Preliminary Design Phase deliverables, subject to any Owner-directed mod...
	B. Engineer’s services under the Final Design Phase will be considered complete on the date when Engineer has delivered to Owner the final Drawings and Specifications, other assembled Construction Contract Documents, bidding-related documents (or requ...
	C. In the event that the Work designed or specified by Engineer is to be performed or furnished under more than one prime contract, or if Engineer’s services are to be separately sequenced with the work of one or more prime Contractors (such as in the...
	D. The number of prime contracts for Work designed or specified by Engineer upon which the Engineer’s compensation has been established under this Agreement is [    ].  If more prime contracts are awarded, Engineer shall be entitled to an equitable in...

	A1.04 Bidding or Negotiating Phase
	A. After acceptance by Owner of the final Drawings and Specifications, other Construction Contract Documents, bidding-related documents (or requests for proposals or other construction procurement documents), and the most recent opinion of probable Co...
	B. The Bidding or Negotiating Phase will be considered complete upon commencement of the Construction Phase or upon cessation of negotiations with prospective contractors (except as may be required if Exhibit F is a part of this Agreement).

	A1.05 Construction Phase
	A. Upon successful completion of the Bidding and Negotiating Phase, and upon written authorization from Owner, Engineer shall:
	B. Duration of Construction Phase:  The Construction Phase will commence with the execution of the first Construction Contract for the Project or any part thereof and will terminate upon written recommendation by Engineer for final payment to Contract...

	A1.06 Post-Construction Phase
	A. Upon written authorization from Owner during the Post-Construction Phase, Engineer shall:
	B. The Post-Construction Phase services may commence during the Construction Phase and, if not otherwise modified in this Exhibit A, will terminate twelve months after the commencement of the Construction Contract’s correction period.  [Deleted Sectio...


	PART 2 – ADDITIONAL SERVICES
	A. If authorized in writing by Owner, Engineer shall provide Additional Services of the types listed below. These services are not included as part of Basic Services and will be paid for by Owner as indicated in Exhibit C.
	A. Engineer shall advise Owner that Engineer is commencing to perform or furnish the Additional Services of the types listed below.  For such Additional Services, Engineer need not request or obtain specific advance written authorization from Owner.  ...
	A. Provide Engineer with all criteria and full information as to Owner’s requirements for the Project, including design objectives and constraints, space, capacity and performance requirements, flexibility, and expandability, and any budgetary limitat...
	B. Give instructions to Engineer regarding Owner’s procurement of construction services (including instructions regarding advertisements for bids, instructions to bidders, and requests for proposals, as applicable), Owner’s construction contract pract...
	C. Furnish to Engineer any other available information pertinent to the Project including reports and data relative to previous designs, construction, or investigation at or adjacent to the Site.
	D. Following Engineer’s assessment of initially-available Project information and data and upon Engineer’s request, obtain, furnish, or otherwise make available (if necessary through title searches, or retention of specialists or consultants) such add...
	E. Arrange for safe access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon public and private property as required for Engineer to perform services under the Agreement.
	F. Recognizing and acknowledging that Engineer's services and expertise do not include the following services, provide, as required for the Project:
	G. Provide the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all inspections, tests, and approvals of samples, materials, and equipment required by the Construction Contract Documents (other than those required to be furnished or arranged b...
	H. Provide reviews, approvals, and permits from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction to approve all phases of the Project designed or specified by Engineer and such reviews, approvals, and consents from others as may be necessary for compl...
	I. Advise Engineer of the identity and scope of services of any independent consultants employed by Owner to perform or furnish services in regard to the Project, including, but not limited to, cost estimating, project peer review, value engineering, ...
	J. If Owner designates a construction manager or an individual or entity other than, or in addition to, Engineer to represent Owner at the Site, define and set forth as an attachment to this Exhibit B the duties, responsibilities, and limitations of a...
	K. If more than one prime contract is to be awarded for the Work designed or specified by Engineer, then designate a person or entity to have authority and responsibility for coordinating the activities among the various prime Contractors, and define ...
	L. Inform Engineer in writing of any specific requirements of safety or security programs that are applicable to Engineer, as a visitor to the Site.
	M. Examine all alternative solutions, studies, reports, sketches, Drawings, Specifications, proposals, and other documents presented by Engineer (including obtaining advice of an attorney, risk manager, insurance counselor, financial/municipal advisor...
	N. Inform Engineer regarding any need for assistance in evaluating the possible use of Project Strategies, Technologies, and Techniques, as defined in Exhibit A.
	O. Advise Engineer as to whether Engineer’s assistance is requested in identifying opportunities for enhancing the sustainability of the Project.
	P. Place and pay for advertisement for Bids in appropriate publications.
	Q. Furnish to Engineer data as to Owner’s anticipated costs for services to be provided by others (including, but not limited to, accounting, bond and financial, independent cost estimating, insurance counseling, and legal advice) for Owner so that En...
	R. Attend and participate in the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-construction conferences, construction progress and other job related meetings, and Site visits to determine Substantial Completion and readiness of the completed Work for final pay...
	S. Authorize Engineer to provide Additional Services as set forth in Part 2 of Exhibit A of the Agreement, as required.
	T. Perform or provide the following: None
	A. Owner shall pay Engineer for Basic Services set forth in Exhibit A, except for services of Engineer’s Resident Project Representative, if any, as follows:
	B. Period of Service:  The compensation amount stipulated in Compensation Packet BC-1 is conditioned on a period of service not exceeding ____ months.  If such period of service is extended, the compensation amount for Engineer's services shall be app...
	A. Owner shall pay Engineer for Additional Services, if any, as follows:
	B. Compensation For Reimbursable Expenses:
	C. Other Provisions Concerning Payment for Additional Services:


	THE THRASHER GROUP, INC.
	STANDARD RATE SCHEDULE
	2020 RATES
	A. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.05.A and 6.05.B of the Agreement are as follows:
	B. Additional Insureds:
	A. Mediation:  Owner and Engineer agree that they shall first submit any and all unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes, and other matters in question between them arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach thereof (“Disputes”) to m...
	A. Limitation of Engineer’s Liability
	B. Indemnification by Owner:  To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants from and against any and all cla...





